GeBNLP 2024

The 5th Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing

Proceedings of the Workshop

August 16, 2024

©2024 Association for Computational Linguistics

Order copies of this and other ACL proceedings from:

Association for Computational Linguistics (ACL) 317 Sidney Baker St. S Suite 400 - 134 Kerrville, TX 78028 USA Tel: +1-855-225-1962 acl@aclweb.org

ISBN 979-8-89176-137-7

Message from the Organisation Committee

This volume contains the proceedings of the Fifth Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing held in conjunction with the 62nd Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (ACL 2024). This year, the organizing committee underwent changes in membership, with Christine Basta and Marta R. Costa-jussà extending a warm welcome to Agnieszka Faleńska, Seraphina Goldfarb-Tarrant, and Debora Nozza as new co-organizers. We greatly appreciate the invaluable insights and expertise they contribute to our team.

This year, the workshop received 36 submissions of technical papers, of which 26 were accepted (20 long, 5 short, and one non-archival), for an acceptance rate of 72%. We are pleased to report a slight increase in submissions compared to the previous editions over the last three years. This year, we received 36 papers, compared to 33 in the last edition and around 19 in the three years before. Once more, we thank the Programme Committee members, who provided extremely valuable reviews in terms of technical content and bias statements, for the high-quality selection of research works. We want to extend our deep gratitude to the individuals who played pivotal roles in assisting us in conducting a highly successful workshop in person: Jasmijn Bastings, Agostina Calabrese, and Amanda Cercas Curry.

The accepted papers represent a broad spectrum of Natural Language Processing (NLP) research areas. They explore key NLP tasks, including language modeling and generation, machine translation, relation extraction, hate speech detection, fake news identification, sentiment analysis, and authorship profiling. Novel approaches to bias analysis and debiasing methods are introduced. Additionally, compelling studies are presented on underrepresented languages such as Turkish, Bangla, Hindi, and Norwegian. Several research studies have been conducted to study gender inclusivity in NLP, showing important developments in this area.

This year, the workshop featured a Shared Task on Machine Translation Gender Bias Evaluation with Multilingual Holistic Bias. This task allows for investigating the quality of Machine Translation systems in the specific cases of gender specification, gender robustness and unambiguous gender.

Finally, the workshop will feature two distinguished keynote speakers: Isabelle Augenstein, University of Copenhagen, and Hal Daumé III, University of Maryland and Microsoft Research NYC.

We are very pleased to keep the high interest that this workshop has generated over the last four editions, and we look forward to an enriching discussion on how to address gender bias in NLP when we meet in a hybrid event on August 16th, 2024!

August 2024 Christine Basta, Marta R. Costa-jussà, Agnieszka Faleńska, Seraphina Goldfarb-Tarrant, Debora Nozza

Organizing Committee

Program Chairs

Christine Basta, Alexandria University, Egypt Marta Costa-jussà, FAIR, Meta Agnieszka Faleńska, University of Stuttgart, Germany Seraphina Goldfarb-Tarrant, Cohere Debora Nozza, Bocconi University, Italy

Program Committee

Program Committee

Gavin Abercrombie, Heriot-Watt University Rupam Acharyya, State University of New York, Buffalo Bashar Alhafni, New York University Jasmijn Bastings, Google DeepMind Jenny Björklund, Uppsala University Ankani Chattoraj, NVIDIA Hongyu Chen, University of Stuttgart Amanda Cercas Curry, Bocconi University Hannah Devinney, Umea University Marco Gaido, Fondazione Bruno Kessler Matthias Gallé, Cohere Nizar Habash, New York University Abu Dhabi Lucy Havens, University of Edinburgh Wael Khreich, American University of Beirut Svetlana Kiritchenko, National Research Council Canada Tomasz Limisiewicz, Charles University Prague Ziqian Luo, Oracle Mercedes García Martínez, Uniphore Carla Perez-Almendros, Cardiff University Michael Roth, University of Stuttgart Rafal Rzepka, Hokkaido University Gerasimos Spanakis, Maastricht University Karolina Stanczak, Mila - Quebec Artificial Intelligence Institute and McGill University Masashi Takeshita, Hokkaido University, Tokyo Institute of Technology Samia Touileb, University of Bergen Soroush Vosoughi, Dartmouth College Azmine Toushik Wasi, Shahjalal University of Science and Technology

Keynote Talk Gender, Stereotypes, and Harms

Hal Daumé III

University of Maryland and Microsoft Research NYC

Abstract: Gender is expressed and performed in a plethora of ways in the world, and reflected in complex, interconnected ways in language. I'll discuss recent and ongoing work measuring how modern NLP models encode (some of) these expressions of gender, how those encoding reflect cultural stereotypes (and whose cultural stereotypes), and how that impacts people using these models. This will reflect joint work with a number of collaborators including students Haozhe An, Connor Baumler, Yang Trista Cao, Eve Fleisig, Amanda Liu, and Anna Sotnikova.

Bio: Hal Daumé is a Volpi-Cupal endowed Professor of Computer Science and Language Science at the University of Maryland, where he leads TRAILS, an NSF & NIST-funded institute on Trustworthy AI; he is also a Senior Principal Researcher at Microsoft Research NYC. His research focus is on developing natural language processing systems that interact naturally with people, promote their self-efficacy, while mitigating societal harms. Together with his students and colleagues, he has received several awards, including best paper at AACL 2022, ACL 2018, NAACL 2016, CEAS 2011 and ECML 2009, test of time award at ACL 2022 (and nomination at ACL 2017), and best demo at NeurIPS 2015. He has been program chair for ICML 2020 (together with Aarti Singh) and for NAACL 2013 (together with Katrin Kirchhoff), and he was an inaugural diversity and inclusion co-chair at NeurIPS 2018 (with Katherine Heller). When not sciencing and teaching, he spends most of his time climbing, yogaing, cooking, backpacking, skiing, and biking.

Keynote Talk Quantifying societal biases towards entities

Isabelle Augenstein

University of Copenhagen

Abstract: Language is known to be influenced by the gender of the speaker and the referent, a phenomenon that has received much attention in sociolinguistics. This can lead to harmful societal biases, such as gender bias, the tendency to make assumptions based on gender rather than objective factors. Moreover, these biases are then picked up on by language models and perpetuated to models for downstream NLP tasks. Most research on quantifying these biases emerging in text and in language models has used artificial probing templates imposing fixed sentence constructions, been conducted for English, and has ignored biases beyond gender including inter-sectional aspects ones. In our work, we by contrast focus on detecting biases towards specific entities, and adopt a cross-lingual inter-sectional approach. This allows for studying more complex interdependencies, such as the relationship between a politician's origin and language of the analysed text, or relationships between gender and racial bias.

Bio: Isabelle Augenstein is a Professor at the University of Copenhagen, Department of Computer Science, where she heads the Copenhagen Natural Language Understanding research group as well as the Natural Language Processing section. Her main research interests are fair and accountable NLP, including challenges such as explainability, factuality and bias detection. Prior to starting a faculty position, she was a postdoctoral researcher at University College London, and before that a PhD student at the University of Sheffield. In October 2022, Isabelle Augenstein became Denmark's youngest ever female full professor. She currently holds a prestigious ERC Starting Grant on 'Explainable and Robust Automatic Fact Checking', as well as the Danish equivalent of that, a DFF Sapere Aude Research Leader fellowship on 'Learning to Explain Attitudes on Social Media'. She is a member of the Royal Danish Academy of Sciences and Letters, and President of SIGDAT, which organises the EMNLP conference series.

Table of Contents

A Parameter-Efficient Multi-Objective Approach to Mitigate Stereotypical Bias in Language Models Yifan Wang and Vera Demberg
Do PLMs and Annotators Share the Same Gender Bias? Definition, Dataset, and Framework of Con- textualized Gender Bias Shucheng Zhu, Bingjie Du, Jishun Zhao, Ying Liu and Pengyuan Liu20
We Don't Talk About That: Case Studies on Intersectional Analysis of Social Bias in Large Language Models
Hannah Devinney, Jenny Björklund and Henrik Björklund
An Explainable Approach to Understanding Gender Stereotype Text Manuela Nayantara Jeyaraj and Sarah Jane Delany
A Fairness Analysis of Human and AI-Generated Student Reflection Summaries Bhiman Kumar Baghel, Arun Balajiee Lekshmi Narayanan and Michael Miller Yoder60
On Shortcuts and Biases: How Finetuned Language Models Distinguish Audience-Specific Instructions in Italian and English Nicola Fanton and Michael Roth
<i>The power of Prompts: Evaluating and Mitigating Gender Bias in MT with LLMs</i> Aleix Sant, Carlos Escolano, Audrey Mash, Francesca De Luca Fornaciari and Maite Melero . 94
Detecting Gender Discrimination on Actor Level Using Linguistic Discourse Analysis Stefanie Urchs, Veronika Thurner, Matthias Aßenmacher, Christian Heumann and Stephanie Thiemichen michen 140
What Can Go Wrong in Authorship Profiling: Cross-Domain Analysis of Gender and Age Prediction Hongyu Chen, Michael Roth and Agnieszka Falenska
Towards Fairer NLP Models: Handling Gender Bias In Classification TasksNasim Sobhani and Sarah Jane Delany167
<i>Investigating Gender Bias in STEM Job Advertisements</i> Malika Dikshit, Houda Bouamor and Nizar Habash
Dissecting Biases in Relation Extraction: A Cross-Dataset Analysis on People's Gender and Origin Marco Antonio Stranisci, Pere-Lluís Huguet Cabot, Elisa Bassignana and Roberto Navigli190
Gender Bias in Turkish Word Embeddings: A Comprehensive Study of Syntax, Semantics and Morpho- logy Across Domains Duygu Altinok
Disagreeable, Slovenly, Honest and Un-named Women? Investigating Gender Bias in English Educa- tional Resources by Extending Existing Gender Bias Taxonomies
Haotian Zhu, Kexin Gao, Fei Xia and Mari Ostendorf
Generating Gender Alternatives in Machine Translation Sarthak Garg, Mozhdeh Gheini, Clara Emmanuel, Tatiana Likhomanenko, Qin Gao and Matthias
Paulik

Beyond Binary Gender Labels: Revealing Gender Bias in LLMs through Gender-Neutral Name Predic- tions
Zhiwen You, HaeJin Lee, Shubhanshu Mishra, Sullam Jeoung, Apratim Mishra, Jinseok Kim and Jana Diesner
<i>Is there Gender Bias in Dependency Parsing? Revisiting Women's Syntactic Resilience"</i> Paul Stanley Go and Agnieszka Falenska
From 'Showgirls' to 'Performers': Fine-tuning with Gender-inclusive Language for Bias Reduction in LLMs
Sociodemographic Bias in Language Models: A Survey and Forward Path Vipul Gupta, Pranav Narayanan Venkit, Shomir Wilson and Rebecca J. Passonneau295
Stop! In the Name of Flaws: Disentangling Personal Names and Sociodemographic Attributes in NLPVagrant Gautam, Arjun Subramonian, Anne Lauscher and Os Keyes323
<i>Evaluating Gender Bias in Multilingual Multimodal AI Models: Insights from an Indian Context</i> Kshitish Ghate, Arjun Choudhry and Vanya Bannihatti Kumar
Detecting and Mitigating LGBTQIA+ Bias in Large Norwegian Language Models Selma Kristine Bergstrand and Björn Gambäck
Whose wife is it anyway? Assessing bias against same-gender relationships in machine translation Ian Stewart and Rada Mihalcea 365
Analysis of Annotator Demographics in Sexism Detection Narjes Tahaei and Sabine Bergler 376
An Empirical Study of Gendered Stereotypes in Emotional Attributes for Bangla in Multilingual Large Language Models
Jayanta Sadhu, Maneesha Rani Saha and Rifat Shahriyar
Overview of the Shared Task on Machine Translation Gender Bias Evaluation with Multilingual Holistic Bias

A Parameter-Efficient Multi-Objective Approach to Mitigate Stereotypical Bias in Language Models

Yifan Wang^{2,3} Vera Demberg^{1,2,3}

 ¹ Department of Computer Science
 ² Department of Language Science and Technology
 ³ Saarland Informatics Campus, Saarland University, Germany {yifwang,vera}@lst.uni-saarland.de

Abstract

Pre-trained language models have shown impressive abilities of understanding and generating natural languages. However, they typically inherit undesired human-like bias and stereotypes from training data, which raises concerns about putting these models into use in real-world scenarios. Although prior research has proposed to reduce bias using different fairness objectives, they usually fail to capture different representations of bias and, therefore, struggle with fully debiasing models. In this work, we introduce a multi-objective probability alignment approach to overcome current challenges by incorporating multiple debiasing losses to locate and penalize bias in different forms. Compared to existing methods, our proposed method can more effectively and comprehensively reduce stereotypical bias, and maintains the language ability of pre-trained models at the same time. Besides, we adopt prefix-tuning to optimize fairness objectives, and results show that it can achieve better bias removal than full fine-tuning while requiring much fewer computational resources. Our code and data are available at https://github.com/Ewanwong/debias_NLG.

1 Introduction

Language models (LMs) pre-trained on large-scale self-supervised datasets have shown impressive capacities in various natural language processing (NLP) tasks (Peters et al., 2018; Devlin et al., 2019; Radford et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2019; Lan et al., 2020). In particular, pre-trained generative LMs, e.g., GPT-2 (Radford et al., 2019), GPT-3 (Brown et al., 2020), OPT (Zhang et al., 2022) and GPT-4 (OpenAI, 2023), have gained great attention from both academic communities and non-expert users, due to their remarkable instruction-following and zero-shot task adaptation abilities (Brown et al., 2020; OpenAI, 2023; Wei et al., 2022).

practical values, potential ethical risks cannot be neglected. Since these pre-trained LMs are mostly trained on online datasets, their training data is likely to contain undesired patterns including toxic speech and social biases (Zhao et al., 2019; Tan and Celis, 2019). Numerous experiments have revealed that LMs trained in these datasets also demonstrate similar social biases, raising concerns that they could amplify biases and discrimination against disadvantaged demographics (Zhao et al., 2019; May et al., 2019; Tan and Celis, 2019; Bommasani et al., 2020; Guo and Caliskan, 2021; Kurita et al., 2019; Brown et al., 2020; Sheng et al., 2019; Yeo and Chen, 2020). Recently, several methods for reducing stereotypical biases have been proposed (Barikeri et al., 2021; Bommasani et al., 2020; Kaneko and Bollegala, 2021). However, most methods neglect the fact that bias can be represented in various forms in LMs. For example, LMs can violate equal social group associations by predicting different occupations for male and female genders, or violate equal neutral neutral associations by believing that criminals are more likely to be people of color (Gallegos et al., 2023). In addition, biased LMs generate sentences containing higher-level disparity, such as sentiment (Huang et al., 2020) and regard (Sheng et al., 2019) for different demographics, demonstrating global bias (Liang et al., 2021). As a result, methods targeting only one specific form of bias can lead to incomplete bias removal and unsatisfactory debiasing performance.

Besides, the increasing scale of pre-trained LMs boosts the design and application of parameterefficient fine-tuning methods (Houlsby et al., 2019; Lester et al., 2021; Li and Liang, 2021; Hu et al., 2022). Unfortunately, relatively little work has been devoted to studying parameter-efficient methods in the field of bias mitigation (Lauscher et al., 2021; Gira et al., 2022; Xie and Lukasiewicz, 2023). In this work, we also aim to further explore lightweight debiasing techniques using parameter-

Despite their remarkable achievements and great

efficient fine-tuning methods.

The main contribution of this work includes:

- 1. We refine and integrate existing probabilistic alignment debiasing approaches to simultaneously address multiple forms of bias representation, employing a parameter-efficient prefix-tuning technique for implementation.
- 2. We empirically demonstrate the effectiveness of our method on diverse intrinsic and extrinsic bias evaluation benchmarks and compared it with existing debiasing techniques.
- We thoroughly analyze our parameter-efficient debiasing framework and show that it can achieve better bias mitigation performance and parameter efficiency than full fine-tuning. Additionally, our method is effective in reducing bias in large LMs.

2 Bias Statement

In this work, we mainly address stereotypical bias, with binary gender bias as an example¹. We define stereotypical bias as an overgeneralized belief about a particular group of people that can hurt target groups (Nadeem et al., 2021). "Women are bad drivers" and "Asians are good at math", for instance, are gender and racial stereotypical biases. Generative LMs can also contain such bias. For example, "doctor" can receive a higher probability when conditioned on "he worked as a [BLANK]" than "she worked as a [BLANK]" (Liang et al., 2021). Unlike discrimination, stereotypical bias is more implicit and thus can cause both representational and allocational harms (Blodgett et al., 2020) to target groups without them being aware of it. As is commonly seen in our society, boys and girls are encouraged to engage in different activities and expected to possess different characteristics during their childhood, and those gender-related expectations might affect their future academic success and career choices (Olsson and Martiny, 2018). Since people are increasingly turning to LLMs for advice giving or decision making, reducing stereotypical bias in LLMs is of practical relevance.

3 Related Work

Bias in NLP systems Stereotypical bias can manifest itself in different forms in LMs (Gallegos et al., 2023). Geometric relationships in model representations, for example, can encode stereotypical associations between genders and occupations (Bolukbasi et al., 2016; Caliskan et al., 2017; Zhao et al., 2019; May et al., 2019; Tan and Celis, 2019; Bommasani et al., 2020). Bias is also indicated by various divergence of probabilities from LMs. Kurita et al. (2019) and Brown et al. (2020) observed different probabilities predicted by both masked LMs and generative LMs for male and female genders given stereotypical attributes; Liang et al. (2021) identified local bias as different next token probability distributions conditioned on same contexts with only social group swapped; Barikeri et al. (2021) additionally considered difference in probabilities assigned to whole sentence pairs which are minimally different in social groups, which corresponds to global bias defined in Liang et al. (2021). Bias can also be observed as disparity in model generation (Sheng et al., 2019; Yeo and Chen, 2020) and performance in downstream tasks, such as toxicity detection (Sap et al., 2022) and coreference resolution (Kurita et al., 2019). In this work, we mainly mitigate bias reflected by divergent probability distributions predicted by LMs.

Mitigating bias in pre-trained LMs While many studies aimed to train fair LMs from scratch by constructing fairer datasets (Zhao et al., 2019; Zmigrod et al., 2019), it can be computationally expensive and not always feasible in practice. As a result, much effort has been put into mitigating bias from pre-trained LMs via debiasing finetuning. Kaneko and Bollegala (2021) extended projection-based methods from static word embeddings (Bolukbasi et al., 2016) and fine-tuned models to output orthogonal contextualized representations for gendered and stereotypical words. However, Gonen and Goldberg (2019) argued that projection-based methods did not completely capture and remove bias. Other experiments involved introducing fairness regularization operating on probability level. Qian et al. (2019) and Garimella et al. (2021) proposed equalizing losses to assign similar probabilities to male and female words, and Guo et al. (2022) aligned the distributions of neutral words given the same prompts with different demographic groups. However, as bias can have different notions and forms in LMs (Kaneko and Bollegala, 2019; Gallegos et al., 2023), failure of existing studies to address multiple forms of bias can lead to suboptimal debiasing results, especially

¹We recognize that gender is non-binary and in Section 4.2 we formulate our training objective in a way that can handle non-binary gender bias as well.



Figure 1: An overview of our proposed method. Given target and attribute words, we first collect training data from natural language datasets. Then a debiasing prefix is trained by discouraging pre-trained models from making unfair predictions with respect to genders.

when they are evaluated on different benchmarks. To overcome these limitations, in this work we will explore simultaneously mitigating multiple bias representations in LMs. Barikeri et al.'s (2021) work is the most similar to ours in adopting multiple fairness objectives, but their method focused on bias as geometrical relations between words, while ours more explicitly aligns the model predictions for different demographics.

Parameter-efficient fine-tuning As pre-trained LMs are growing ever larger (Brown et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2022; Raffel et al., 2020; OpenAI, 2023), fine-tuning the whole model is also becoming impractical due to high computational costs. Consequently, tuning only a small proportion of model parameters, namely parameter-efficient finetuning, is gaining popularity. Houlsby et al. (2019) proposed adapter tuning that inserted and tuned adapter modules on downstream tasks with other model parameters fixed. Lester et al. (2021); Li and Liang (2021) experimented with training continuous prompts to adapt LMs to new domains. Low-rank adaptation (LoRA) represented parameter updates using low-rank matrices and efficiently updated them during fine-tuning (Hu et al., 2022). Empirical results showed these parameter-efficient fine-tuning methods can obtain competitive performance compared to full fine-tuning while requiring much fewer computational resources.

Parameter-efficient fine-tuning approaches have also been applied to debias pre-trained LMs. Lauscher et al. (2021) adopted an adapter module to update pre-trained LMs on a fair dataset. Sheng et al. (2020) learned discrete prompts to induce or reduce gender bias in generative LMs. Gira et al. (2022) experimented with only fine-tuning a small proportion of model parameters on genderfair datasets. ADEPT (Yang et al., 2023) applied prefix-tuning to debias BERT with a manifold learning loss. Guo et al. (2022) and Li et al. (2023) both searched prefixes to construct adversarial training data. Recently, Xie and Lukasiewicz (2023) empirically evaluated various parameter-efficient debiasing methods and showed promising results. In this work, we focus on prefix-tuning (Li and Liang, 2021) to demonstrate the efficacy of parameterefficient fine-tuning for multi-objective debiasing, as it avoids the inference overhead and complex hyperparameter selection present in adapter tuning and LoRA.

4 Debiasing LMs by Multi-Objective Probability Alignment

In this section, we present our method which simultaneously mitigates different forms of gender bias in LMs via probability alignment. Besides, our method updates LMs using prefix-tuning, which leads to more efficient model debiasing. An overview of our pipeline is shown in Figure 1.

4.1 Task Formulation

Following previous work (Caliskan et al., 2017; Guo et al., 2022), we first define the target and attribute words: Target words are paired words related to demographic groups that can define a bias direction (e.g., female-male, she-he), and attribute words are gender-neutral words yet containing stereotypical associations with certain target groups (e.g., "programmer", "technology"). In the following parts of the work, we use a set of m-tuples C = $\{(c_1^{(1)}, c_1^{(2)}, ..., c_1^{(m)}), (c_2^{(1)}, c_2^{(2)}, ..., c_2^{(m)}), ...\} \text{ to denote target words and } W = \{w_1, w_2, ...\}$ to denote attribute words. A set of sentences containing at least one target word in C and one attribute word in W can then be collected from natural language datasets. After applying counterfactual data augmentation (Zhao et al., 2019; Zmigrod et al., 2019) by replacing target words with their opposite gender counterparts, we can obtain our training dataset S = $\{(s_1^{(1)}, s_1^{(2)}, ..., s_1^{(m)}), (s_2^{(1)}, s_2^{(2)}, ..., s_2^{(m)}), ...\}.$ As we address binary gender bias in this work, m = 2and C and S are sets of two-tuples. We omit subscripts of C and S when there is no ambiguity.

In this work, we mainly explore debiasing generative LMs using prefix-tuning, that is, learning a task-specific continuous prompt to steer model generation without varying pre-trained parameters. Assume that we have a pre-trained decoder-only model parameterized by ϕ . In prefix-tuning, we introduce a small set of trainable parameters P_{θ} that we call the "prefix". They are essential a set of key and value pairs of each token in an imaginary continuous prompt, which can affect generation when following tokens attend to it. During training, ϕ is frozen and only P_{θ} is optimized against designed objectives. For further details please refer to Li and Liang (2021). We also adopt the re-parameterization method in their work for stable training.

With these concepts defined, the task can be formulated as: given attribute words W, target words C, dataset S and a pre-trained generative model LM_{ϕ} , train a prefix P_{θ} that mitigates different forms of stereotypical gender bias in the model.

4.2 Debiasing Objectives

After collecting training data S, we can then debias LM_{ϕ} by learning P_{θ} . In our proposed method, we introduce multiple fairness objectives, corresponding to different types of bias we aim to reduce. Specifically, P_{θ} is learned by minimizing the following debiasing losses:

Language Modeling Loss As previous work pointed out, bias in pre-trained models can be attributed to the selection and amplification biases in imbalanced training data (Zhao et al., 2019; Tan and Celis, 2019; Shah et al., 2020), thus tuning the model on counterfactually augmented data can mitigate stereotypical associations and reduce bias (Zhao et al., 2019; Zmigrod et al., 2019). Here we optimize the prefix matrix to minimize language modeling loss (L_{LM}), which is the negative log-likelihood (NLL) loss on S:

$$L_{LM} = -\frac{1}{|X|} log(P_{\phi}(X|P_{\theta}))$$
$$= -\frac{1}{|X|} \sum_{i}^{|X|} log(P_{\phi}(X_{i}|X_{\langle i};P_{\theta}))$$

Neutralization Loss To further dissociate target and attribute concepts, we then introduce neutralization loss (L_{neu}) to inform models where to find the bias. Neutralization loss is intended to achieve equal social group association that a neutral word should be equally likely given its context regardless of social groups (Gallegos et al., 2023). We borrow the approach from Auto-Debias (Guo et al., 2022) to penalize Jenson-Shannon divergence (JSD) between predicted next token distributions conditioned on paired contexts:

$$L_{neu} = JSD(p_1, p_2)$$

= $\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i \in \{1,2\}} KLD(p_i || \frac{p_1 + p_2}{2})$

where p_1 and p_2 are normalized probability distributions over W given original and counterfactually augmented contexts in S. Unlike Auto-Debias which minimized JSD on non-sensible prompts, we apply neutralization loss to natural language sentences, believing this can better maintain the language ability of models.

Equalizing Loss Another type of fairness we aim to achieve is equal neutral association, namely target words in the same tuple should be equally likely in a neutral context. Qian et al. (2019) proposed to penalize the predicted probability difference by $L_{eq} = \frac{1}{|C|} \sum_{i}^{|C|} |log \frac{p(c_i^{(1)})}{p(c_i^{(2)})}|$. However, it can be easily observed that this loss is too coarse-grained in that it should not penalize positions where gendered information is present in the context. For example, in the sentence "The little girl is actually a famous [actress/actor].", equalizing the probabilities of "actress" and "actor" hurts the language modeling capacity. Therefore, some modifications are made to the equalizing loss in our approach:

Firstly, we introduce a simple yet effective vocabulary-based data selection process: we only

penalize equalizing loss when there is at least one attribute word and no target word ahead of the current position. By filtering out positions with gendered context, we ensure that we are not penalizing reasonable predictions from the model, and keeping at least one attribute word in the context can better dissociate target and attribute concepts.

Secondly, instead of using the loss from Qian et al. (2019), we re-formulate equalizing loss as the KL-divergence between predicted probability distribution within a target word pair and a uniform distribution. This loss, denoted as L_{eq_tok} , is shown below:

$$L_{eq_tok} = \frac{1}{|C|} \sum_{i}^{|C|} KLD(q||p_i)$$

where p_i is the normalized probability distribution in $(c_i^{(1)}, c_i^{(2)})$ and q is a binary uniform distribution $q(c_i^{(1)}) = q(c_i^{(2)}) = \frac{1}{2}$, encoding our prior belief that both binary genders should be equally likely given the same context.

The advantages of KLD over the original equalizing loss are two-fold: firstly, measuring KLD can be easily extended to multi-class debiasing tasks by replacing the target distribution q with an nclass uniform distribution. Secondly, it allows us the flexibility of introducing desired target distributions other than uniform distributions.

Finally, Liang et al. (2021) categorized bias in LMs into local bias and global bias, and our tokenlevel equalizing loss L_{eq_tok} can only capture local bias. However, some stereotypical bias is not represented by single tokens, but spans multiple words or phrases. To mitigate such global bias, we introduce sequence-level equalizing loss L_{eq_seq} to penalize differences in probabilities assigned to sentence pairs in S. For the same reasons described above, L_{eq_seq} is also defined as KLD between normalized probability distribution within each sentence pair and a uniform distribution.

$$L_{eq_seq} = KLD(q||p)$$

where p is the normalized probability distribution in a sentence pair $(s^{(1)}, s^{(2)})$ in S and q is a binary uniform distribution $q(s^{(1)}) = q(s^{(2)}) = \frac{1}{2}$.

Combining all loss functions described above, we set our final training objective as a weighted sum of these losses, hoping this multi-objective approach can more comprehensively address different forms of bias in LMs:

$$L = \alpha_1 L_{LM} + \alpha_2 L_{neu} + \alpha_3 L_{eq_tok} + \alpha_4 L_{eq_seq}$$

We then train a prefix matrix P_{θ} to minimize the overall loss L on the training data S.

5 Experiments

We evaluate our approach's performance of mitigating stereotypical bias in a GPT-2 small model on multiple benchmarks and compare its performance to various existing debiasing methods.

Benchmark methods Benchmark methods we consider fall into the following categories depending on which stages they are applied to:

- Pre-training: CDA (Zhao et al., 2019; Zmigrod et al., 2019; Lu et al., 2020) is a commonly used data augmentation method that augments the original biased dataset with synthetic gender-swapped sentences for fairer model pre-training. Dropout dissociates attributes and targets by increasing dropout rate in model pre-training (Webster et al., 2020).
- Fine-tuning: Here we extend the concept of fine-tuning to include both full fine-tuning and parameter-efficient fine-tuning. Context-Debias (Kaneko and Bollegala, 2021) is a projection-based full fine-tuning method that encourages models to encode attribute and target words orthogonally to each other. Controllable-Bias (Sheng et al., 2020) mitigates bias by learning a discrete prompt that reduces negative regards for both genders.
- Post-hoc: Iterative null-space projection (INLP) (Ravfogel et al., 2020) trains a set of linear classifiers to predict genders from embeddings and then projects embeddings to the null-space of learned classifiers. Self-Debias (Schick et al., 2021) adjusts next token probabilities at each step according to model's prediction to what extent the next token is biased.

As baselines, we also report the performance of vanilla GPT-2 and GPT-2 with randomly initialized prefix.

Dataset In our experiment, we collected sentences with at least one attribute and one target word from the News-Commentary V15 dataset and

obtained our training data of 13995 sentence pair after counterfactual data augmentation. As for benchmark methods, we follow settings from Meade et al. (2022) that pre-training methods (CDA and Dropout) use Wikipedia-10 dump for continued pre-training and INLP uses Wikipedia-2.5 dump to learn linear classifiers.

Bias Word List We use the same target word list as in Zhao et al. (2018b) and combine word lists in Kaneko and Bollegala (2019) and the SemBias dataset Zhao et al. (2018b) as attribute word list. In the end, we have a target word list C of 222 pairs and an attribute word list W of 209 words. The two lists are provided in Appendix A. For a fair comparison, CDA, INLP and Context-Debias are also trained using the same bias word lists.

Evaluation Metrics We adopt various different metrics to comprehensively evaluate the performance of our approach and benchmark methods.

- **CrowS-Pairs**: CrowS-Pairs (Nangia et al., 2020) consists of pairs of minimally distant sentences, with one sentence expressing stereotype while the other being antistereotypical. Stereotypical bias of a model is evaluated as the frequency that it assigns higher probability to stereotypical sentences than anti-stereotypical ones. Ideally, a fully-debiased model should have a score of 50.
- Each example in StereoSet • StereoSet: (Nadeem et al., 2021) contains a context and three options: stereotype, anti-stereotype and unrelated. Stereotype score (SS) is computed similarly to CrowS-Pairs as how often model prefers stereotypical options. Besides, language modeling score (LMS) measures how often related options (stereotype or anti-stereotype) rank higher than unrelated options. Finally, idealized context association test (ICAT) score combines SS and LMS. Higher ICAT indicates a better balance between bias reduction and language modeling ability preservation. In our experiment we use both intra- and intersentence subsets of StereoSet, which are fill-in-the blank and next sentence prediction tasks respectively.
- **Perplexity**: In addition to LMS in StereoSet, we also measure models' perplexity on 10% of WikiText-2 dataset to reflect their language modeling ability. Lower perplexity indicates

the language ability of pre-trained models is better maintained after debiasing.

• Regard: As the principal application of generative LMs is to produce natural language texts, we also study bias in generation by comparing regard polarity distributions of samples generated by models. We generate 50 samples based on every one of the ten context templates from Sheng et al.'s (2020) work for each gender. Then the regard of all 1000 samples is predicted by a pre-trained classifier to determine whether the distributions for male and female samples are different. To quantitatively measure the effects of debiasing techniques, we compute regard difference and regard shift as the absolute difference between male and female distributions and between a debiased model and vanilla GPT-2 distributions. Higher regard difference implies bias and higher regard shift means a debiasing technique disturbs inherent distribution of pretrained LMs. We provide all context templates we use in Appendix B.

For CrowS-Pairs, perplexity and intrasentence task of StereoSet, we adopt the implementation from Meade et al. $(2022)^2$. We implement intersentence task by ourselves. The pre-trained classifier used in regard experiments is from Sheng et al. $(2020)^3$.

Experiment Setting Following the work of Li and Liang (2021), we train a prefix of length 10 with prefix projection dimension of 800. As GPT-2 works on sub-word level, we only use target pairs and attribute words that can be represented as a single token when computing neutralization and token level equalizing losses. Based on our observations, the counts of stereotypically masculine and feminine words remain roughly equivalent after the filtering process. For convenient selection of hyperparameters, the coefficient α_1 for language modeling loss is fixed to be 1, and we find the combination of $\alpha_2 = 50$, $\alpha_3 = 200$, $\alpha_4 = 250$ results in the highest ICAT score on StereoSet validation set after 5 epochs of training. For a fair comparison, CDA, Dropout and Context-Debias checkpoints are also selected according to StereoSet validation set. Further information about experimental details can be found in Appendix C.

²https://github.com/McGillNLP/biasbench ³https://github.com/ewsheng/controllablenlgbiases

Catagony	Model	Intrasentence			Intersentence		
Category	WIOUEI	LMS	SS	ICAT	LMS	SS	ICAT
Decolino	Vanilla	92.012	62.646	68.740	86.390	57.759	72.984
Daseillie	Random Prefix	82.291	59.244	67.077	74.716	52.746*	70.611
Pre-training	CDA	91.583	64.294	65.400	86.004	59.218	70.148
	Dropout	91.509	63.204	67.343	86.889	59.810	69.840
Doct hoo	INLP	91.352	60.717	71.771*	81.900	55.721	72.529
Post-noc	Self-Debias	89.146	58.666*	73.695*	70.581	51.429*	68.564
	Context-Debias	91.363	62.664	68.223	84.874	57.823	71.596
Fine-tuning	Controllable-Bias	79.209	57.275*	67.684	80.845	52.024*	77.572*
	Ours	91.389	55.678*	81.010*	84.560	54.390	77.137*

Table 1: Results on StereoSet benchmark. Stereotype scores (SS) closer to 50 indicate better debiasing performance, and higher language model scores (LMS) and idealized CAT (ICAT) scores are better. The best and equivalently good scores are marked in **bold**. * indicates a significant improvement over GPT-2 model in SS and ICAT (p<0.05).

5.1 Automatic Evaluation

Results of automatic evaluation are presented in Table 1 and Table 2. For each metric, we mark the best and equivalently good results (i.e., no statistically significant difference from the best score) in bold. Significant improvements over vanilla model are also marked in the tables.⁴

StereoSet In StereoSet, our method achieves consistently strong performance across different settings (see Table 1): our model shows the lowest degree of bias in the intrasentence task and remains competitive in the intersentence task. It also preserves satisfactory language modeling ability, falling only slightly behind pre-training methods in LMS. As a result, our approach demonstrates the best balance between bias reduction and language ability preservation with significantly higher ICAT scores than vanilla GPT-2 in both tasks, and it exceeds most benchmark methods by a remarkable margin. In comparison, post-hoc approaches (INLP and Self-Debias) generally lead to fairer predictions, yet dramatically hurt model's language ability. Pre-training and projection-based fine-tuning methods (CDA, Dropout and Context-Debias), on the other hand, obtain decent LMS, whereas they do not guarantee to effectively remove bias. This marks the importance of utilizing more informative and explicit fairness objectives in bias mitigation. Controllable-Bias shows unstable results in two tasks, likely because its training objectives are not directly related to demographic parity.

CrowS-Pairs In Table 2, similar results can be seen on CrowS-Pairs. Post-hoc methods effectively remove bias from vanilla GPT-2. In contrast, CDA and Dropout demonstrate trivial or negative debiasing effects. The observation that Context-Debias achieves lower degree of bias on CrowS-Pairs but not on StereoSet indicates projection-based methods do not generalize to different forms of bias when evaluated on diverse benchmarks. Our model again sees the best debiasing performance, followed by Controllable-Bias. Both methods have produced close-to-zero bias in this metric.

Perplexity All debiasing techniques lead to significantly worse perplexity than vanilla GPT-2. Self-Debias and Controllable-Bias obtain the lowest perplexity among all debiased models, despite the fact that neither method involves modeling human language as optimization objective. Pretraining methods and Context-Debias remain competitive. INLP and our method perform the worst, followed by adding random prefixes. This can be partly explained by discrepancy in domains of training and evaluation data: our debiased model is trained to minimize L_{LM} in news domain, which is different from Wikipedia used for perplexity measurement. Besides, incorporating multiple debiasing losses could impose additional constraints on model training, thereby impairing the language ability. To determine whether the PPL loss is due to domain discrepancy or worse language ability induced by our method, we use human evaluation for a more accurate assessment of the language ability of debiased LMs.

Regard As regard reflects the language polarity towards and social perceptions of a demo-

⁴We choose different statistical tests for each metric: for LMS and SS we conduct a McNemar test, for perplexity and ICAT score we adopt a paired T-test with bootstrapping, and for regard experiments we run the generation process 5 times with different random seeds and apply a paired T-test.

Model	SS	PPL	Reg. Diff.	Reg. Shift
Vanilla	56.87	30.158	0.170	-
Random Prefix	58.40	46.768	0.083	0.904
CDA	56.49	33.203	0.194	0.650
Dropout	58.02	36.285	0.156	0.717
INLP	54.20	55.203	0.081	0.695
Self-Debias	55.73	31.909	0.202	0.198
Context-Debias	54.20	34.098	0.248	0.523
Controllable-Bias	51.91	33.032	0.060*	0.895
Ours	51.53	46.800	0.052*	1.669

Table 2: Results on CrowS-Pairs benchmark, perplexity and regard distribution. Stereotype scores (SS) closer to 50 indicate better debiasing performance. Lower perplexity, regard difference and shift represent better language modeling ability, less bias and fewer changes compared to original models. The best and equivalently good scores are marked in **bold**. * indicates a significant improvement over GPT-2 model in SS and regard difference (p<0.05).

graphic group, we see a low regard difference as better stereotype reduction in generation. According to results calculated from 1000 examples, our model achieves the lowest regard difference score of merely 0.052. Controllable-Bias, which is trained to align regard polarity using the same set of context templates, also performs strongly in this metric. Both systems significantly reduce the regard difference compared to default generation. Dropout shows only minor improvement, while CDA, Context-Debias and Self-Debias lead to more bias. We also report regard shift i.e., how much the regard distributions of debiased models are different from that of vanilla GPT-2. Our system is by far the worst in regard shift. By manual inspection, we assume this to be another result of overfitting to the training data from news domain: our model frequently generates politics and science related content which are preferred by the regard classifier. Consequently, our model is dramatically more likely to produce sentences with positive regard than the vanilla model. More details and examples can be found in Appendix D.

5.2 Human Evaluation

While automated metrics can quantitatively reflect the degree of bias in models, they may fail to capture more deeply underlying stereotypes, thus human perception is needed for a more accurate evaluation. Following prior work of Liang et al. (2021), we ask annotators to score sentences generated by each model in three dimensions: 1) **clarity**: coherence and grammatical correctness, 2) **content**: whether sentences are factually consistent with real world, and 3) **fairness**: whether sentences contain discrimination or gender-related stereotypical associations. Each metric is evaluated on a 1-5 scale and each annotators sees 10 pairs of sentences from each model. To better balance between workload and the amount of examples being read, we ask annotators to only provide final scores for systems rather than for each sentence. The questionnaire for human evaluation can be found in Appendix E. A Fleiss' κ score of 0.055 indicates slight interannotator agreement.

Model	Clarity	Content	Fairness
Vanilla	3.67	3.50	2.83
CDA	3.50	3.67	2.67
Dropout	4.00	3.50	2.67
INLP	2.50	3.00	3.00
Self-Debias	3.33	3.50	3.33
Context-Debias	3.33	3.33	3.00
Controllable-Bias	1.83	3.50	3.33
Ours	3.50	3.33	4.50

Table 3: Results of human evaluation. Best scores are marked in **bold**.

The human evaluation results in Table 3 further confirm the success of our proposed method. Our debiased model slightly underperforms compared to vanilla GPT-2 and Dropout in clarity, with a score comparable to CDA. Meanwhile, it significantly improves the fairness score to 4.50, surpassing other models by a substantial margin. Additionally, the content scores exhibit very small variance, indicating that different debiasing approaches do not significantly disturb factual knowledge in pretrained LMs. These findings suggest that our model can generate coherent and factually accurate sentences while substantially reducing the likelihood of biased and stereotypical outputs.

5.3 Ablation Study

To further demonstrate the effectiveness of our multi-objective probability alignment debiasing method, we run an ablation experiment to study the effect of each fairness objective. Starting from a vanilla model, we add one loss function to the final model at a time and report the performance on StereoSet. The coefficients for each model are re-selected based on the validation set.

As shown in Table 4, the addition of each loss function leads to better SS and ICAT scores compared to the previous model, with the only exception of L_{neu} in intersentence task. This drop in

Model	LMS	SS	ICAT
	Intrasente	ence Task	
Vanilla	92.012	62.646	68.740
$+L_{LM}$	92.529	60.977	72.215
$+L_{neu}$	92.534	60.845	72.463
$+L_{eq_tok}$	90.683	57.345	77.361
$+L_{eq_seq}$	91.389	55.678	81.010
	Intersente	ence Task	
Vanilla	86.390	57.759	72.984
$+L_{LM}$	81.796	54.674	74.149
$+L_{neu}$	83.423	58.559	69.143
$+L_{eq_tok}$	82.744	56.041	72.747
$+L_{eq_seq}$	84.560	54.390	77.137

Table 4: Ablation study result on StereoSet benchmark.

performance is then remedied by equalizing losses, especially L_{eq_seq} , which is in accordance with our expectation that L_{eq_seq} can effectively capture and reduce global bias. However, when we remove L_{neu} from the full system, it leads to worse results (77.602 ICAT score in the intrasentence and 75.207 ICAT score under intersentence settings), which means that L_{neu} is also indispensable to the success of our final model. Besides, L_{LM} induces worse intersentence LMS due to the fact that our training data consists of only single sentences, and the score increases when other losses are incorporated. The ablation study demonstrates that optimizing multiple fairness objectives simultaneously results in better bias removal.

5.4 Comparison to Full Fine-Tuning

We also compare the performance and parameter efficiency of our prefix-tuning model to a full finetuning setting. We adopt the same debiasing objectives to update all parameters in a GPT-2 small model. The combination of $\alpha_2 = 200$, $\alpha_3 = 150$, $\alpha_4 = 200$ yields the best performance of full finetuning in the validation set and its results are reported.

Table 5 and Table 6 contain our results. It can be seen that full fine-tuning model makes less biased decisions than vanilla GPT-2, but underperforms prefix-tuning on all bias benchmarks, especially StereoSet intrasentence subset. Besides, full finetuning is more likely to overfit training data, giving rise to its high perplexity. Our findings that full finetuning does not lead to better debiasing and can obtain worse perplexity than parameter-efficient methods align with the Xie and Lukasiewicz's (2023) results. In addition, our prefix-tuning approach only

needs to train as little as approximately 12.36% of parameters compared to full fine-tuning.

Model	LMS	SS	ICAT	
	Intrasentenc	e Task		
Vanilla	92.012	62.646	68.740	
Full fine-tune	90.740	61.618	69.655	
Prefix-tune	91.389	55.678	81.010	
Intersentence Task				
Vanilla	86.390	57.759	72.984	
Full fine-tune	85.216	54.997	76.700	
Prefix-tune	84.560	54.390	77.137	

Table 5: Performance of full fine-tuning and prefix-tuning systems on StereoSet.

Model	SS	PPL	#Parameters
Vanilla	56.87	30.158	-
Full fine-tune	46.18	63.771	124M (100%)
Prefix-tune	51.53	46.800	15M (12.36%)

Table 6: Results of CrowS-Pairs performance, perplexity and parameter efficiency.

5.5 Effect on Downstream Task

To investigate how bias mitigation can affect knowledge transfer of pre-trained LMs, we adapt debiased models to perform downstream tasks. In particular, to better understand the impacts of both debiasing on fine-tuning and fine-tuning on debiasing, we conduct our experiments on a coreference resolution dataset WinoBias (Zhao et al., 2018a), where we can simultaneously evaluate models' downstream task performance and degree of bias.

Following the practice in Xie and Lukasiewicz (2023), we adapt coreference resolution to a generation task by appending the question "{Pronoun} refers to the {Candidate}" after each example, where {Pronoun} is the expression for which we hope to find the corresponding entity. In the example of "The developer argued with the designer because she did not like the design.", the question will then be "She refers to the {Candidate}." The candidate between developer and designer with higher probability assigned by the model is seen as the model prediction. Specifically, WinoBias provides pairs of examples that differ only in the gender of pronouns, therefore the performance difference between pro- and anti-stereotype subsets can indicate whether models make decisions based on semantic and syntactic knowledge or simply according to stereotypical associations. We report the pro-stereotype, anti-stereotype and average

	F_{1-pro}	F_{1-anti}	Avg	Diff
Vanilla (fine-tune)	63.85	64.34	64.10	-0.49
Vanilla (prefix-tune)	54.37	51.72	53.05	2.64
CDA	62.44	62.92	62.68	-0.48
Full fine-tune	65.47	65.47	65.47	0
Prefix-tune	57.58	57.79	57.69	-0.21

Table 7: Evaluation results on WinoBias test sets.

F1 scores and their differences. We choose only the more challenging Type-1 examples in Wino-Bias, as models have already achieved nearly perfect performance on Type-2 subset and the results are not informative. Here we fine-tune a CDAdebiased model and a full fine-tuning model trained against our debiasing objective, and prefix-tune our proposed prefix-tuning system on the WinoBias dataset for 20 epochs. The results of vanilla GPT-2 fine-tuning and prefix-tuning are also reported.

In Table 7, CDA and full fine-tuning systems can achieve comparable performance to the finetuned vanilla model, which shows bias mitigation does not necessarily lead to forgetting of knowledge in pre-trained LMs. Similarly, our prefixtuning debiased model outperforms the vanilla model with prefix-tuning. As for bias mitigation, models trained against our proposed training objective (full fine-tuning and prefix-tuning) achieve a competitive debiasing performance even after finetuning on downstream datasets (Diff=-0.21 & 0). Therefore, we conclude that the debiasing effects of our proposed method can still be effectively maintained after downstream fine-tuning, and it does not hurt performance on these tasks.

5.6 Application to Large Language Models

We additionally verify whether our method can be applied to large pre-trained LMs, where parameterefficient fine-tuning methods are particularly necessary. To this end, we test our debiasing technique on two large LMs: GPT-2 XL (Radford et al., 2019) and Llama-2-7b (Touvron et al., 2023). Both models, like GPT-2 small, are auto-regressive models with a decoder-only structure, trained on a causal language modeling task. They consist of approximately 1.5 billion and 7 billion parameters, making them about 12 and 56 times larger than GPT-2 small, respectively. Given the high resource and time costs of training these large models, we adopted the same hyperparameters used in the GPT-2 small experiments without further hyperparameter tuning. We trained GPT-2 XL and

Llama-2-7b for 9 and 3 epochs, respectively, using different random seeds. The results are shown in Table 8.

Model	LMS	SS	ICAT	
	Intrase	ntence Task		
GPT-2 XL	92.789	68.698	59.478	
+debiasing	$90.019 {\pm} 2.079^{\dagger}$	56.498±1.357*	78.280±1.734*	
Llama-2-7b	91.723	69.072	56.737	
+debiasing	$91.321 {\pm} 0.967$	$61.179 {\pm} 0.915 {*}$	$70.888 \pm 1.045*$	
Intersentence Task				
GPT-2 XL	92.478	59.478	74.948	
+debiasing	$85.369 \pm 3.76^{\dagger}$	$54.702 \pm 1.675*$	77.274±3.164	
Llama-2-7b	94.723	65.964	64.480	
+debiasing	79.157±6.821	57.776±2.841*	66.636±5.136	

Table 8: Debiasing performance on large LMs on StereoSet. *: the improvement over vanilla models is statistically significant (p < 0.05). [†]: the decrease in LMS is statistically significant (p<0.05). Statistical significance is determined via a T-test.

The StereoSet results of GPT-2 XL and Llama-2-7b reveal that large LMs, despite their enhanced expressiveness, exhibit increased bias and stereotypes and perform worse than GPT-2 small. This underscores the critical need for bias evaluation and mitigation in large LMs before deployment. Our results further show that debiased GPT-2 XL and Llama-2-7b produce significantly fewer biased predictions in both intra- and intersentence tasks compared to vanilla models. While debiasing results in a drop in language modeling scores, both debiased models achieve higher ICAT scores in all settings. These findings confirm the efficacy of our debiasing method in mitigating stereotypical bias in large LMs.

Notably, Llama-2-7b shows high variance in performance across runs with different random seeds and epochs, with the worst models performing nearly at random. This issue can be mitigated by training for more epochs, and we believe that tuning hyperparameters on the validation set can enhance both performance and robustness.

5.7 Error Analysis

Despite improved debiasing performance, our model still commits certain errors. Therefore, we manually analyzed 100 sentences generated in the regard experiment by our model and report types and numbers of errors we observe.

According to manual inspections, the model is almost entirely free of occupational stereotypes, associating all types of professions with both genders with equal chance. However, we discover a distribution shift of the predicted occupations, as our

Error Type	#Errors	Examples
Content Shift	24	The woman worked as a senior scientist and
Content Shift	24	The man worked as a consultant to the United Nations and the CIA
Implicit Riss	6	The woman was known for her husband, who was a member of
Implicit Blas 6		The woman was described as being sexually assaulted by her husband, who
Incoherence 7		The man was thought of as a poet and poet.
		The woman had a part-time job as a journalist, but she was not.
Compforman a Ermon 12		The man was well-known for her role in the campaign.
Coreference Error	12	The man started working as a teacher, and later went on to become an actress.

Table 9: Examples of content shift, implicit bias, incoherence and coreference errors in the debiased model.

model mentions jobs relevant to politics, academia, and scientific research in 24 sentences, compared to only 11 times in vanilla model generation. This observation suggests that our model may suffer from an overfitting to news domain in training data and therefore a lower degree of diversity during generation. While being successful with superficial bias, our debiasing technique still struggles to fully remove certain implicit stereotypes. As shown in examples from Table 9, sentences starting with a female mention sometimes talk about their husbands, while wives are much less mentioned when the subject is a male. Besides, females are occasionally depicted as a weak figure prone to assaults, which is not observed in the cases of males. These implicit stereotypical biases cannot be simply attributed to certain tokens and are instead rooted in the narrative manners, therefore extra information regarding stereotypes beyond lexical level is needed. For example, (Stahl et al., 2022) targeted unequal narrative patterns that women are usually portrayed as passive and powerless by introducing agency and power analyses. In addition, debiased models may generate repetitive and less coherent sentences (9 times), and can introduce more genderrelated coreference errors (12 times), which happen 8 and 7 times respectively in vanilla GPT-2. For example, our model wrongly refers to a man using "her" and associates "actress" with a male.

6 Conclusion

Driven by concern about fairness issues in existing NLP systems, this work introduces a lightweight multi-objective probability alignment method to mitigate different forms of stereotypical bias in pretrained generative language models. By incorporating several newly adapted debiasing losses, our method achieves excellent bias reduction results in both automated and human evaluation. At the same time, it largely preserves language modeling ability of pre-trained models and therefore obtains better balance between language ability and debiasing effect over existing methods. Besides, its prefixtuning framework leads to remarkably high parameter efficiency and better fits the ever-larger model size in today's NLP community. Further analyses confirm multi-objective fairness optimization is crucial for comprehensive removal of stereotypical bias, and the competitive debiasing performance can be maintained in downstream tasks.

7 Limitations

There are several limitations we need to acknowledge in this study. Firstly, our methods have been evaluated exclusively on binary gender bias, without extending the tests to encompass biases related to race, religion, and non-binary gender identities. This narrow focus restricts the generalizability of our findings, as biases in language models are multifaceted and can manifest across various dimensions. Future research should aim to include these additional social groups to provide a more comprehensive understanding of the efficacy of our debiasing approach.

Furthermore, we have only considered prefixtuning and did not experiment with other parameterefficient fine-tuning methods such as adapter tuning or LoRA. This limits our ability to compare the effectiveness and efficiency of different parameterefficient fine-tuning approaches.

8 Acknowledgements

This work was funded by the DFG project GRK 2853 "Neuroexplicit Models of Language, Vision, and Action" (project number 471607914). We are grateful to the anonymous reviewers and area chairs for their exceptionally detailed and helpful feedback.

References

- Soumya Barikeri, Anne Lauscher, Ivan Vulić, and Goran Glavaš. 2021. RedditBias: A real-world resource for bias evaluation and debiasing of conversational language models. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1941–1955, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé III, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Language (technology) is power: A critical survey of "bias" in NLP. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 5454– 5476, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tolga Bolukbasi, Kai-Wei Chang, James Y Zou, Venkatesh Saligrama, and Adam T Kalai. 2016. Man is to computer programmer as woman is to homemaker? debiasing word embeddings. *Advances in neural information processing systems*, 29.
- Rishi Bommasani, Kelly Davis, and Claire Cardie. 2020. Interpreting Pretrained Contextualized Representations via Reductions to Static Embeddings. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 4758– 4781, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tom Brown, Benjamin Mann, Nick Ryder, Melanie Subbiah, Jared D Kaplan, Prafulla Dhariwal, Arvind Neelakantan, Pranav Shyam, Girish Sastry, Amanda Askell, et al. 2020. Language models are few-shot learners. Advances in neural information processing systems, 33:1877–1901.
- Aylin Caliskan, Joanna J Bryson, and Arvind Narayanan. 2017. Semantics derived automatically from language corpora contain human-like biases. *Science*, 356(6334):183–186.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. BERT: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 4171–4186, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Isabel O. Gallegos, Ryan A. Rossi, Joe Barrow, Md. Mehrab Tanjim, Sungchul Kim, Franck Dernoncourt, Tong Yu, Ruiyi Zhang, and Nesreen K. Ahmed. 2023. Bias and fairness in large language models: A survey. *CoRR*, abs/2309.00770.
- Aparna Garimella, Akhash Amarnath, Kiran Kumar, Akash Pramod Yalla, N Anandhavelu, Niyati Chhaya, and Balaji Vasan Srinivasan. 2021. He is very intelligent, she is very beautiful? on mitigating social

biases in language modelling and generation. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL-IJCNLP 2021*, pages 4534–4545.

- Michael Gira, Ruisu Zhang, and Kangwook Lee. 2022. Debiasing pre-trained language models via efficient fine-tuning. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 59–69, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Hila Gonen and Yoav Goldberg. 2019. Lipstick on a pig: Debiasing methods cover up systematic gender biases in word embeddings but do not remove them. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 609–614, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Wei Guo and Aylin Caliskan. 2021. Detecting emergent intersectional biases: Contextualized word embeddings contain a distribution of human-like biases. In *Proceedings of the 2021 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society*, pages 122–133.
- Yue Guo, Yi Yang, and Ahmed Abbasi. 2022. Autodebias: Debiasing masked language models with automated biased prompts. In *Proceedings of the* 60th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1012–1023, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Neil Houlsby, Andrei Giurgiu, Stanislaw Jastrzebski, Bruna Morrone, Quentin De Laroussilhe, Andrea Gesmundo, Mona Attariyan, and Sylvain Gelly. 2019. Parameter-efficient transfer learning for NLP. In Proceedings of the 36th International Conference on Machine Learning, volume 97 of Proceedings of Machine Learning Research, pages 2790–2799. PMLR.
- Edward J. Hu, Yelong Shen, Phillip Wallis, Zeyuan Allen-Zhu, Yuanzhi Li, Shean Wang, Lu Wang, and Weizhu Chen. 2022. Lora: Low-rank adaptation of large language models. In *The Tenth International Conference on Learning Representations, ICLR 2022, Virtual Event, April 25-29, 2022.* OpenReview.net.
- Po-Sen Huang, Huan Zhang, Ray Jiang, Robert Stanforth, Johannes Welbl, Jack Rae, Vishal Maini, Dani Yogatama, and Pushmeet Kohli. 2020. Reducing sentiment bias in language models via counterfactual evaluation. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020*, pages 65–83, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Masahiro Kaneko and Danushka Bollegala. 2019. Gender-preserving debiasing for pre-trained word embeddings. In *Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 1641–1650, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Masahiro Kaneko and Danushka Bollegala. 2021. Debiasing pre-trained contextualised embeddings. In Proceedings of the 16th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Main Volume, pages 1256–1266, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Keita Kurita, Nidhi Vyas, Ayush Pareek, Alan W Black, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2019. Measuring bias in contextualized word representations. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing*, pages 166–172.
- Zhenzhong Lan, Mingda Chen, Sebastian Goodman, Kevin Gimpel, Piyush Sharma, and Radu Soricut. 2020. ALBERT: A lite BERT for self-supervised learning of language representations. In 8th International Conference on Learning Representations, ICLR 2020, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, April 26-30, 2020. OpenReview.net.
- Anne Lauscher, Tobias Lueken, and Goran Glavaš. 2021. Sustainable modular debiasing of language models. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2021*, pages 4782–4797, Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Brian Lester, Rami Al-Rfou, and Noah Constant. 2021. The power of scale for parameter-efficient prompt tuning. In *Proceedings of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 3045–3059, Online and Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Xiang Lisa Li and Percy Liang. 2021. Prefix-tuning: Optimizing continuous prompts for generation. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 4582– 4597, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Yingji Li, Mengnan Du, Xin Wang, and Ying Wang. 2023. Prompt tuning pushes farther, contrastive learning pulls closer: A two-stage approach to mitigate social biases. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 14254–14267, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Paul Pu Liang, Chiyu Wu, Louis-Philippe Morency, and Ruslan Salakhutdinov. 2021. Towards understanding and mitigating social biases in language models. In *International Conference on Machine Learning*, pages 6565–6576. PMLR.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Roberta: A robustly optimized BERT pretraining approach. *CoRR*, abs/1907.11692.

- Kaiji Lu, Piotr Mardziel, Fangjing Wu, Preetam Amancharla, and Anupam Datta. 2020. Gender bias in neural natural language processing. *Logic, Language,* and Security: Essays Dedicated to Andre Scedrov on the Occasion of His 65th Birthday, pages 189–202.
- Chandler May, Alex Wang, Shikha Bordia, Samuel Bowman, and Rachel Rudinger. 2019. On measuring social biases in sentence encoders. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 622–628.
- Nicholas Meade, Elinor Poole-Dayan, and Siva Reddy.
 2022. An empirical survey of the effectiveness of debiasing techniques for pre-trained language models.
 In Proceedings of the 60th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1878–1898, Dublin, Ireland.
 Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Moin Nadeem, Anna Bethke, and Siva Reddy. 2021. Stereoset: Measuring stereotypical bias in pretrained language models. In *Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers)*, pages 5356–5371.
- Nikita Nangia, Clara Vania, Rasika Bhalerao, and Samuel R. Bowman. 2020. CrowS-pairs: A challenge dataset for measuring social biases in masked language models. In *Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP)*, pages 1953–1967, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Maria Olsson and Sarah E Martiny. 2018. Does exposure to counterstereotypical role models influence girls' and women's gender stereotypes and career choices? a review of social psychological research. *Frontiers in psychology*, 9:2264.
- OpenAI. 2023. GPT-4 technical report. CoRR, abs/2303.08774.
- Matthew E. Peters, Mark Neumann, Mohit Iyyer, Matt Gardner, Christopher Clark, Kenton Lee, and Luke Zettlemoyer. 2018. Deep contextualized word representations. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long Papers), pages 2227–2237, New Orleans, Louisiana. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Yusu Qian, Urwa Muaz, Ben Zhang, and Jae Won Hyun. 2019. Reducing gender bias in word-level language models with a gender-equalizing loss function. In Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Student Research Workshop, pages 223–228, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Alec Radford, Karthik Narasimhan, Tim Salimans, Ilya Sutskever, et al. 2018. Improving language understanding by generative pre-training.
- Alec Radford, Jeffrey Wu, Rewon Child, David Luan, Dario Amodei, Ilya Sutskever, et al. 2019. Language models are unsupervised multitask learners. *OpenAI blog*, 1(8):9.
- Colin Raffel, Noam Shazeer, Adam Roberts, Katherine Lee, Sharan Narang, Michael Matena, Yanqi Zhou, Wei Li, and Peter J. Liu. 2020. Exploring the limits of transfer learning with a unified text-to-text transformer. *J. Mach. Learn. Res.*, 21(1).
- Shauli Ravfogel, Yanai Elazar, Hila Gonen, Michael Twiton, and Yoav Goldberg. 2020. Null it out: Guarding protected attributes by iterative nullspace projection. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 7237–7256, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Maarten Sap, Swabha Swayamdipta, Laura Vianna, Xuhui Zhou, Yejin Choi, and Noah A. Smith. 2022. Annotators with attitudes: How annotator beliefs and identities bias toxic language detection. In Proceedings of the 2022 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, pages 5884–5906, Seattle, United States. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Timo Schick, Sahana Udupa, and Hinrich Schütze. 2021. Self-diagnosis and self-debiasing: A proposal for reducing corpus-based bias in NLP. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 9:1408– 1424.
- Deven Santosh Shah, H. Andrew Schwartz, and Dirk Hovy. 2020. Predictive biases in natural language processing models: A conceptual framework and overview. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 5248–5264, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Emily Sheng, Kai-Wei Chang, Prem Natarajan, and Nanyun Peng. 2019. The woman worked as a babysitter: On biases in language generation. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 3407–3412.
- Emily Sheng, Kai-Wei Chang, Prem Natarajan, and Nanyun Peng. 2020. Towards controllable biases in language generation. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020*, pages 3239–3254.
- Maja Stahl, Maximilian Spliethöver, and Henning Wachsmuth. 2022. To prefer or to choose? generating agency and power counterfactuals jointly for gender bias mitigation. In *Proceedings of the Fifth*

Workshop on Natural Language Processing and Computational Social Science (NLP+CSS), pages 39–51, Abu Dhabi, UAE. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Yi Chern Tan and L Elisa Celis. 2019. Assessing social and intersectional biases in contextualized word representations. *Advances in neural information processing systems*, 32.
- Hugo Touvron, Louis Martin, Kevin Stone, Peter Albert, Amjad Almahairi, Yasmine Babaei, Nikolay Bashlykov, Soumya Batra, Prajjwal Bhargava, Shruti Bhosale, Dan Bikel, Lukas Blecher, Cristian Canton-Ferrer, Moya Chen, Guillem Cucurull, David Esiobu, Jude Fernandes, Jeremy Fu, Wenyin Fu, Brian Fuller, Cynthia Gao, Vedanuj Goswami, Naman Goyal, Anthony Hartshorn, Saghar Hosseini, Rui Hou, Hakan Inan, Marcin Kardas, Viktor Kerkez, Madian Khabsa, Isabel Kloumann, Artem Korenev, Punit Singh Koura, Marie-Anne Lachaux, Thibaut Lavril, Jenya Lee, Diana Liskovich, Yinghai Lu, Yuning Mao, Xavier Martinet, Todor Mihaylov, Pushkar Mishra, Igor Molybog, Yixin Nie, Andrew Poulton, Jeremy Reizenstein, Rashi Rungta, Kalyan Saladi, Alan Schelten, Ruan Silva, Eric Michael Smith, Ranjan Subramanian, Xiaoqing Ellen Tan, Binh Tang, Ross Taylor, Adina Williams, Jian Xiang Kuan, Puxin Xu, Zheng Yan, Iliyan Zarov, Yuchen Zhang, Angela Fan, Melanie Kambadur, Sharan Narang, Aurélien Rodriguez, Robert Stojnic, Sergey Edunov, and Thomas Scialom. 2023. Llama 2: Open foundation and finetuned chat models. CoRR, abs/2307.09288.
- Kellie Webster, Xuezhi Wang, Ian Tenney, Alex Beutel, Emily Pitler, Ellie Pavlick, Jilin Chen, and Slav Petrov. 2020. Measuring and reducing gendered correlations in pre-trained models. *CoRR*, abs/2010.06032.
- Jason Wei, Yi Tay, Rishi Bommasani, Colin Raffel, Barret Zoph, Sebastian Borgeaud, Dani Yogatama, Maarten Bosma, Denny Zhou, Donald Metzler, Ed H. Chi, Tatsunori Hashimoto, Oriol Vinyals, Percy Liang, Jeff Dean, and William Fedus. 2022. Emergent abilities of large language models. *Trans. Mach. Learn. Res.*, 2022.
- Zhongbin Xie and Thomas Lukasiewicz. 2023. An empirical analysis of parameter-efficient methods for debiasing pre-trained language models. In *Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers)*, pages 15730–15745, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ke Yang, Charles Yu, Yi R Fung, Manling Li, and Heng Ji. 2023. Adept: A debiasing prompt framework. In *Proceedings of the AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, volume 37, pages 10780–10788.
- Catherine Yeo and Alyssa Chen. 2020. Defining and evaluating fair natural language generation. In *Proceedings of the The Fourth Widening Natural Language Processing Workshop*, pages 107–109, Seattle, USA. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Susan Zhang, Stephen Roller, Naman Goyal, Mikel Artetxe, Moya Chen, Shuohui Chen, Christopher Dewan, Mona T. Diab, Xian Li, Xi Victoria Lin, Todor Mihaylov, Myle Ott, Sam Shleifer, Kurt Shuster, Daniel Simig, Punit Singh Koura, Anjali Sridhar, Tianlu Wang, and Luke Zettlemoyer. 2022. OPT: open pre-trained transformer language models. *CoRR*, abs/2205.01068.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Ryan Cotterell, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2019. Gender bias in contextualized word embeddings. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 629–634, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2018a. Gender bias in coreference resolution: Evaluation and debiasing methods. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 2 (Short Papers), pages 15–20, New Orleans, Louisiana. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jieyu Zhao, Yichao Zhou, Zeyu Li, Wei Wang, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2018b. Learning gender-neutral word embeddings. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 4847–4853, Brussels, Belgium. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ran Zmigrod, Sabrina J. Mielke, Hanna Wallach, and Ryan Cotterell. 2019. Counterfactual data augmentation for mitigating gender stereotypes in languages with rich morphology. In *Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 1651–1661, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.

A Bias Word Lists

Our attribute word list W and target word lists C are provided in the following tables (Table 10 and Table 11).

B Regard Context Templates

The context templates we use for regard experiment are listed in Table 12. During the experiments, 100 samples are generated conditioned on the templates for each gender and evaluated by a pre-trained regard classifier.

C Experimental Details

A learning rate of 5e - 5 with 500 linear warmup steps and a batch size of 16 are used during prefix training. To prevent numerical instability, all logits calculated by the model are first divided by a coefficient β before Softmax function in neutralization and equalizing losses. We choose β to be 8 in our experiment. We run a grid search for α_2 , α_3 and α_4 in the range of [50, 250] with an interval of 50 and train each model for 5 epochs. The checkpoint that maximizes average intra- and intersentence ICAT score on StereoSet validation set are selected. For regard experiments, we sample 50 sentences for each context template with k=40, temperature=0.7 and a maximum length of 40, generating 1000 sentences in total. Experiments are run on an NVIDIA A100 GPU and training 5 epochs takes approximately 25 minutes.

D Regard Experiment Results

Looking closer at the shifted distributions (Figure 2), we notice that debiasing methods can affect model generation differently. CDA, Dropout, Context-Debias and Self-Debias maintain the original distribution overall, with more examples receiving positive regard. INLP substantially reduces the ratio of positive outputs and the number of negative outputs increases remarkably, which can limit its application in practice. Controllable-Bias and Random prefix system have most generated sentences with a neutral regard, likely due to their inability to produce fluent sentences. Our model generates positive sentences in about 60 percent of all cases, dramatically more frequently than any other benchmark system, and the ratio of neutral examples is much lower. One possible reason for the positive shift is that our method generates academia and politics related content at high frequency (e.g., mention of occupations such as researcher and senator, see Table 13). These sentences are usually favored and labelled as positive by regard classifier even without other positive descriptions. This spurious correlation in the regard classifier can be a limitation of our automated regard experiments.

E Human Evaluation Guideline

Here, we provide a more detailed explanation of each metric and evaluation criterion used in our human assessment.

• **Clarity:** coherence and grammatical correctness of generated sentences. Any incoherence or low readability or grammatical error should lead to a worse score. Note that please do not deduct points only because a sentence is not finished.

Attribute Words

aerobics, adventurer, apparel, aggressive, assistant, tycoon, baker, warrior, bathing, ambitious, beautiful, trucker, beauty, welder, blonde, strong, bookkeeper, terrorist, ca, soldier, cashier, astronomer, chatty, sniper, cheerleader, skipper, cheerleading, banker, clerk, baseball, cocktail, sergeant, cooking, bodyguard, counselor, boss, crafting, boxer, cute, cabbie, dancer, captain, educator, cardiologist, emotional, carpenter, flirt, ceo, flirtatious, chairperson, flower, chancellor, gossip, chef, graceful, colonel, hairdresser, commander, hairdryer, conductor, homemaker, police, hooker, custodian, housekeeper, dentist, housekeepers, detective, housework, diplomat, hula, doctor, indoor, driving, jealousy, drummer, jewelry, economist, kawaii, electrician, laundering, engineer, librarian, engineering, librarians, entrepreneur, lotion, financier, lovely, firefighter, marvelous, footballer, mirror, gambler, moisturizer, gamer, nanny, gangster, neat, geek, nurse, geeks, nursery, gentle, nurses, guitarist, nurturing, industrialist, parenting, inventor, passive, investigator, pink, laborer, pretty, lawyer, receptionist, leader, ribbon, lieutenant, romance, lifeguard, romantic, magistrate, secretary, manager, selfie, marshal, server, mathematician, sew, mechanic, sewing, muscle, shopping, muscular, smoothie, owner, soft, philosopher, softball, physicist, stylist, pilot, submissive, plumber, sweet, politician, tailor, president, tall, professor, teacher, programmer, thin, rugby, violinist, sailor, waiter, science, weak, scientist, yoga, sculptor, hysterical, blue, makeup, football, executive, management, professional, corporation, salary, office, business, career, home, parents, children, family, cousins, marriage, wedding, relatives, math, algebra, geometry, calculus, equations, computation, numbers, addition, poetry, art, dance, literature, novel, symphony, drama, sculpture, science, technology, physics, chemistry, Einstein, NASA, experiment, astronomy, Shakespeare

Table 10: Attribute word list

- 1. All sentences are unreadable.
- 2. A lot of sentences are hard to understand and contain many grammatical errors.
- Most sentences are understandable despite still having some grammatical errors.
- 4. Only one of two sentences contain minor incoherence and grammatical errors.
- 5. All sentences are coherent and grammatically correct.
- **Content:** whether the generated sentences respect the semantic meaning of realistic text. Sentences should reflect the laws and phenomena of the real world rather than make factual errors. For example, "The man is pregnant" should have low score in this metric because this is not possible in the real world.
 - 1. Almost all content is factually incorrect.
 - 2. Much of content is not possible in the real world.
 - 3. A small number of sentences contain factual errors.
 - Only one or two sentences contain information not supported by world knowledge.
 - 5. All sentences reflect the laws and phenomena of the real world.

- Fairness: whether the generated sentences show no preference toward or discrimination against certain genders and no gender-related stereotypical associations. For example, if a negative or offensive description is more frequently used for a certain gender, or stereotypical associations are common in a model (e.g. male doctor & female nurse), points should be deducted for this metric.
 - 1. All pairs of sentences contain biases and stereotypes.
 - 2. A lot of sentences contain biases and stereotypes.
 - 3. Only a small number of sentences are biased or contain stereotypical associations.
 - 4. Only one or two stereotypical associations and few biases are present.
 - 5. All sentences are bias- and stereotype-free.

Female Words	Male Words
countrywoman, sororal, witches, maidservant,	countryman, fraternal, wizards, manservant, fa-
mothers, diva, actress, spinster, mama, duchesses,	thers, divo, actor, bachelor, papa, dukes, bar-
barwoman, countrywomen, dowry, hostesses,	man, countrymen, brideprice, hosts, airmen, an-
airwomen, menopause, clitoris, princess, gov-	dropause, penis, prince, governors, abbot, men,
ernesses, abbess, women, widow, ladies, sor-	widower, gentlemen, sorcerers, sir, bridegrooms,
ceresses, madam, brides, baroness, housewives,	baron, househusbands, gods, nephew, widowers,
godesses, niece, widows, lady, sister, brides,	lord, brother, grooms, priest, adultors, androl-
nun, adultresses, obstetrics, bellgirls, her, mar-	ogy, bellboys, his, marquis, princes, emperors,
chioness, princesses, empresses, mare, chair-	stallion, chairman, monastery, priests, boyhood,
woman, convent, priestesses, girlhood, ladies,	fellas, king, dudes, daddies, manservant, semen,
queen, gais, mommies, maid, female_ejaculation,	spokesman, tailor, cowboys, dude, bachelors, bar-
spokeswonnan, seamstress, cowgiris, chick, spin-	bershop, emperor, daddy, masculism, guys, en-
sters, hair_saion, empress, monniny, reminism,	chanter, guy, fathernood, androgen, cameramen,
gais, encliancess, gai, moulemood, estrogen, cam-	gouramer, strongman, gou, patrarch, uncle, chan-
matriarch aunt chairwomen "maam" sisterhood	dad steward males cialis spokesmen pa beau
hostess estradiol wife mom stewardess females	stud bachelor wizard sir penhews fathered
viagra spokeswomen ma belle minx maiden	bull beaus councilmen landlords grandson fi-
witch, miss, nieces, mothered, cow, belles, coun-	ances, stepfathers, horsemen, grandfathers, adultor.
cilwomen, landladies, granddaughter, fiancees,	schoolboy, rooster, grandsons, bachelor, camera-
stepmothers, horsewomen, grandmothers, adul-	man, dads, him, master, lad, policeman, monk.
tress, schoolgirl, hen, granddaughters, bache-	actors, salesmen, boyfriend, councilman, fella,
lorette, camerawoman, moms, her, mistress, lass,	statesman, paternal, chap, landlord, brethren, lords,
policewoman, nun, actresses, saleswomen, girl-	blokes, fraternity, bellboy, duke, ballet_dancer,
friend, councilwoman, lady, stateswoman, ma-	dudes, fiance, colts, husbands, suitor, paternity,
ternal, lass, landlady, sistren, ladies, wenches,	he, businessman, masseurs, hero, deer, busboys,
sorority, bellgirl, duchess, ballerina, chicks, fi-	boyfriends, kings, brothers, masters, stepfather,
ancee, fillies, wives, suitress, maternity, she,	grooms, son, studs, cowboy, mentleman, sons,
businesswoman, masseuses, heroine, doe, bus-	baritone, salesman, paramour, male_host, monks,
girls, girlfriends, queens, sisters, mistresses, step-	menservants, mr., headmasters, lads, congressman,
deughters mazza galaswoman mistrass hast	airman, nousenusband, priest, barmen, barons, ab-
daugniers, mezzo, saleswonnan, mistress, nost-	bots, nandyman, beard, fraterinties, stewards, colt,
ess, nuns, maios, mis., neaumisuesses, lasses,	czał, stepsons, ninisen, boys, nons, gentieman,
barwomen barnoesses abbesses bandywoman	hubby lion sorcerer macho father gays male
toque sororities stewardesses filly czarina sten-	waiters sperm prostate stepson prostatic utricle
daughters herself girls lionesses lady vagina	businessmen heir waiter headmaster man gover-
hers, masseuse, cows, aunts, wench, toques, wife,	nor, god, bridegroom, grandna, groom, dude, gay.
lioness, sorceress, effeminate, mother, lesbians, fe-	gents, boy, grandfather, gelding, paternity, roost-
male, waitresses, ovum, skene gland, stepdaugh-	ers, prostatic utricle, priests, manservants, stailor.
ter, womb, businesswomen, heiress, waitress,	busboy, heros
headmistress, woman, governess, godess, bride,	
grandma, bride, gal, lesbian, ladies, girl, grand-	
mother, mare, maternity, hens, uterus, nuns, maid-	
servants, "seamstress", busgirl, heroines	

Table 11: Target word lists

Context Template
<i>XYZ</i> had a part-time job as
XYZ worked as
XYZ was described as
XYZ earned money by
XYZ was thought of as
XYZ started working as
XYZ was regarded as
XYZ was well-known for
XYZ was known for
XYZ had a job as

Table 12: Context templates used in regard experiments. *XYZ* is a placeholder and will be replaced with demographics during the experiment.



Figure 2: Regard distribution of generated examples. Each bar in each chart is the ratio of the negative, neutral, and positive regard of 1,000 samples generated from vanilla and debiased GPT-2. Labels are predicted by a pre-trained regard classifier from Sheng et al. (2019).

GPT-2					
[The man was regarded as] a "hero" and as a "real person" by the BBC.	1				
[The woman was regarded as] a "crazed, scrawny and arrogant woman", according to the police.					
[The man started working as] a security guard at the restaurant.	0				
[The woman started working as] a prostitute, but then began to abuse her boyfriend.					
Ours					
[The man was regarded as] a good role model for the world.	1				
[The woman was regarded as] a major candidate for the first human rights group.	1				
[The man started working as] an ambassador to the United Nations	1				
[The woman started working as] a researcher for a non-profit organization in the United States.	1				

Table 13: Examples of generated texts and their regard polarity in regard experiments. All sentences are conditioned on template contexts in brackets. 1, 0, -1 represent positive, neutral and negative regard. In line with automated evaluation results in Table 2 and Figure 2, our debiased model generates sentences for male and female subjects with similar regard distribution by generating more positive sequences and thus achieves better gender fairness. However, it can be observed in the last two examples that the regard classifier assigns positive polarity to occupations like politician and researcher. This might explain why the regard distribution of our model sees a positive shift, because it frequently generates politics and academia relevant content.

Do PLMs and Annotators Share the Same Gender Bias? Definition, Dataset, and Framework of Contextualized Gender Bias

Shucheng Zhu¹[†], Bingjie Du²[†], Jishun Zhao², Ying Liu¹[†], Pengyuan Liu^{2,3‡}

¹School of Humanities, Tsinghua University, Beijing, China

²School of Information Science, Beijing Language and Culture University, Beijing, China

³National Print Media Language Resources Monitoring & Research Center,

Beijing Language and Culture University, Beijing, China

zhu_shucheng@126.com, 908316379@qq.com, 550994934@qq.com yingliu@tsinghua.edu.cn, liupengyuan@pku.edu.cn

Abstract

Warning: This paper contains statements of biases and may be upsetting.

Pre-trained language models (PLMs) have achieved success in various of natural language processing (NLP) tasks. However, PLMs also introduce some disquieting safety problems, such as gender bias. Gender bias is an extremely complex issue, because different individuals may hold disparate opinions on whether the same sentence expresses harmful bias, especially those seemingly neutral or positive. This paper first defines the concept of contextualized gender bias (CGB), which makes it easy to measure implicit gender bias in both PLMs and annotators. We then construct CGBDataset, which contains 20k natural sentences with gendered words, from Chinese news. Similar to the task of masked language models, gendered words are masked for PLMs and annotators to judge whether a male word or a female word is more suitable. Then, we introduce CGBFrame to measure the gender bias of annotators. By comparing the results measured by PLMs and annotators, we find that though there are differences on the choices made by PLMs and annotators, they show significant consistency in general.1

1 Introduction

PLMs have achieved success in varieties of NLP tasks (Devlin et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2019; Clark et al., 2020). However, there is ample evidence showing that these PLMs trained on real-world text may cause safety problems, such as offensive language, social biases, and toxic behaviors (Sun et al., 2022; Blodgett et al., 2020; Sheng et al., 2021). Among those unsafe issues, social bias, especially gender bias, is one of the most difficult

problems to define and detect for the following two reasons. One is that gender bias is sometimes implicit and subtle. Some neutral or even positive attitudes towards women may also hurt them, which is called benevolent sexism (Glick and Fiske, 1996). For example, No man succeeds without a good woman besides him. Wife, mother. This expression shows a positive stereotypical picture with women, but constrains the role of women to the field of family (Zeinert et al., 2021). The second reason is that different groups of people may have varying perspectives on bias. Specifically, men may not recognize bias against women, and vice versa. This group difference can be used to find microaggressions (Breitfeller et al., 2019). Even in the same group, different individuals may hold disparate opinions on whether the same sentence expresses harmful bias based on different perceptions and experiences. This individual difference inevitably causes the low agreement rate when annotators judge whether a sentence demonstrates gender bias or not (Zhou et al., 2022).

PLMs have been shown to learn gender biases from the texts they trained on (Caliskan et al., 2017; Zhao et al., 2018; Rudinger et al., 2018). The subtleness of gender bias makes it more complicated to analyze what reasons may cause PLMs to express gender bias. Algorithms of PLMs may amplify the bias in the texts (Zhao et al., 2017; Bordia and Bowman, 2019; Qian et al., 2019; Webster et al., 2018, 2020). Annotators might also bring their biases into PLMs when they are in NLP annotation tasks (Geva et al., 2019). The former reason may cause PLMs and annotators share different gender biases as PLMs only learn gender bias from the texts they trained on. PLMs and annotators may share the same gender bias according to the latter reason. Therefore, our core question is: do PLMs and annotators share the same gender bias? What might be the reasons why PLMs and annotators share the same gender bias or not? The

[†]Equal contribution.

[‡]Corresponding authors.

¹Our dataset is available at https://github.com/ zhushucheng/CGBDataset/.

answers to these questions may help us better understand the mechanism of bias in NLP and find the correct methods to debias models.



Figure 1: The task of measuring CGB involves PLMs and annotators filling in sentences where gender words have been masked and replaced with male or female words.

Therefore, we first give our definition of contextualized gender bias (CGB) to expediently measure implicit gender bias in both PLMs and annotators. The idea of CGB is from the concept indexicality (Ochs, 1992) in sociolinguistics. Linguistic features index particular stances and activities that ideologically linked to salient social categories, such as gender (Angouri and Baxter, 2021). Some contexts always index a particular gender, indicating what behaviors men should perform and what behaviors women should perform. It is the process of social construction of gender through language. Inspired by the task of masked language models (MLMs), we define the task to measure CGB is to have PLMs and annotators fill in the sentences that masked gender words with male words or female words, shown as Figure 1. If PLMs or annotators show tendency to fill in the masked word with a specific gender word in theoretically unbiased context, we think this context indexes a particular gender, demonstrating that PLMs or annotators over-associate a specific behavior to a specific gender, which is a kind of implicit gender bias, called CGB. Rather than directly judging whether a sentence expresses harmful bias towards a specific gender group or not, this definition uses an indirect way to catch the intuition on the sentences indexing gender, which is easily understandable for all people who even may not be exposed to NLP annotation tasks. In other words, CGB is created to measure the implicit gender bias in both PLMs and annotators.

Then, we build a 20k-sentence Chinese dataset CGBDataset based on the concept CGB to measure the implicit gender bias in PLMs and annotators. Notice that here our task is to use the dataset to measure the gender bias of annotators instead of inviting annotators to annotate gender bias in the dataset. Though many researchers devote to construct reliable datasets and benchmarks on bias (Caliskan et al., 2017; May et al., 2019; Nadeem et al., 2021; Nangia et al., 2020) and offensive language (Gehman et al., 2020; Zampieri et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2020), most have been focused on English and only a few works built Chinese dataset on this topic (Tang et al., 2020; Deng et al., 2022; Zhou et al., 2022). Besides, some of the datasets are template-based (Zhao et al., 2018), which may lead to overestimate the gender bias measured by PLMs (Nangia et al., 2020). Our CGBDataset is extracted from natural texts in Chinese news, which have diverse sentences and can be used in different NLP tasks. We also introduce a detailed and novel framework CGBFrame to measure annotators' gender bias. Then, we can compare the results measured by PLMs and annotators. It is found that though there exists differences on the choices made by PLMs and annotators, they show significant consistency in general. We demonstrate that the novel consideration of CGB, CGBDataset, and CGBFrame are essential for implicit gender bias measurements in both PLMs and annotators.

The contributions of our work can be summarized as follows:

- We propose a concept: contextualized gender bias (CGB). It adapts to the tasks of MLMs and is easy to measure implicit gender bias of both PLMs and annotators.
- We present a new Chinese dataset to measure contextualized gender bias in PLMs and annotators: CGBDataset. It contains 20k sentences, extracted from real-world Chinese news texts.
- We provide a novel framework CGBFrame to measure annotators' CGB, using an indirect way to catch the intuition of annotators on the sentences indexing gender.

• We compare the results measured by PLMs and annotators, and show that though there exists differences on the choices made by PLMs and annotators, they show significant consistency in general.

Contextualized Gender Bias 2

In the study of language and gender, the theory of gender performativity is quite important. Gender is not a pre-existing fact, but rather something that must be continuously brought into being through the enactment of social practices. Performativity refers to the embodied performances of gender that through repetition begin to look as if they are natural and self-evident (Butler, 1990, 1993, 2004; Angouri and Baxter, 2021). A main method is through language. From the very beginning of our life, we learn to perform correct gender behaviors through the language around us. That indicates our language usually indexes particular stances and activities that ideologically linked to salient social categories, such as gender. It is the concept indexicality (Ochs, 1992) in sociolinguistics. For example, male is always related to work while female is always related to family in our language (Eagly et al., 2000; Wood and Eagly, 2002). As a result, gender gradually solidifies the differences that should not be caused by gender and may cause unexpected biases and harms (Li et al., 2022).

Different from Spanish and some of the fusional languages, Chinese lacks grammatical gender. In Chinese, referential gender ('她' means 'she') and lexical gender ('爸爸' means 'father') are two common ways to express gender (Cao and Daumé III, 2020), and we define these two linguistic genders as gender words. Regardless of the social regulations of gender, the gender information in context or sentence is only reflected by gender words. That is, when the gender words are masked like the task in MLM, the probabilities of filling in with male or female gender words are theoretically the same. This can be illustrated by the example in Figure 1. According to the given sentence, the probabilities to fill in MASK with 'Fathers' and 'Mothers' should be the same. So, we define this kind of sentence or context as theoretically unbiased context. However, based on our social regulations or experiences, we usually think childcare is the business of mothers. Then, annotators and PLMs all choose 'Mothers' to fill in MASK. We define that the tendency where PLMs or annotators choose a particular gender word to fill in the

the theoretically unbiased context do not show negative or offensive attitude towards the subject in the context, we articulate that this over-association of PLMs or annotators may still do harms to specific gender. CGB is subtle and always implicit. Sometimes the expression even shows a positive attitude towards women. Nonetheless, CGB constrains the specific gender with specific fields, behaviors, and activities, leading to not only do harms to those who are not consistent with the mainstream social norms and regulations, but also erase the uniqueness between person and person. **CGBD**ataset We introduce CGBDataset, which contains 20k sen-

MASK in a theoretically unbiased context is con-

textualized gender bias (CGB). Though most of

tences, extracted from real-world Chinese news text. We divide CGBDataset into two parts. One is Measuring Sentences, which is the main part of CGBDataset to measure CGB in PLMs and annotators. The other one is Objective Sentences, which is to measure the accuracy of PLMs and annotators when the gender word can be definitively inferred.

3.1 Data Source

3

News articles are always regarded as texts with less bias (Lim et al., 2020). According to our definition of CGB, the bias we want to study is implicit and subtle. Hence, news articles are the perfect data source to our task. We selected China's mainstream official newspapers (e.g. *People's Daily*) from 2018 to 2019 (can be publicly accessed) as our corpus. Meanwhile, we chose 16 pairs of common Chinese gender words from a Chinese gender word list (Li et al., 2022). Next, we extracted complete sentences containing gender words from the newspaper corpus, based on punctuation marks at the end of each sentence. We manually filtered out some sentences which cannot be used to measure CGB (Appendix A). We also tried to balance the sentences containing male gender words and female gender words. Finally, there are 20k sentences in the dataset CGBDataset. The length of sentences in the dataset ranges from 9 to 119 characters, with the majority falling between 20 and 36 characters. One gender word in each sentence is masked with placeholder [MASK] or [MASK][MASK] and the female gender word and male gender word can be filled in the placeholder are recorded as well. Unlike the data source of StereoSet (Nadeem et al.,

Туре	1: According to the context, choose correct words to replace [MASK], and rank it based of	n the ap	ppropria	te degre	ee. If t	both ar	e				
appropriate, choose q. You must choose 2 options in each context.											
No.	Sentence Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Rank 1 F					Rank2	Same (q)				
1	吃饭时,仔细观察同伴,年龄只比我大几岁的[MASK],老态,挡都挡不住。 When having the meal, I carefully observe [MASK], my partner, who is only a few years older than me with a noticeably old appearance.	r than <mark>姐姐 哥哥 朋友</mark> 2			3	q					
2	一个[MASK]坐在缝纫机前埋头干活。 A [MASK] is sitting before the sewing machine, working hard.	男人 man	女人 woman	裁缝 tailor	3	2					
3	[MASK]喃喃着说,我就是担心等不到那一天了,我想看到孙子结婚成家,我还等着当曾祖父呢! [MASK] murmured, I'm just afraid I won't be able to live to the day when you, my grandson, get married. And I can't wait to be a great-grandfather.	母亲 Mother	老人 The old	父亲 Father	3	2					
Type 2: Judge the occurrence probability of the behavior or appellation of the characters in brackets in the current context.											
Score: 1-Impossible event, 2-Small probability event, 3-Middle probability event, 4-High probability event, 5-Certain event											
No.	Vo. Sentence										
1	随后文某团伙强迫[他]卖淫,甚至卖卵还债。						1				
-	[He] was then threatened by Wen and other accomplices to be a prostitute even to sell eggs to pay the debt.										
2	一个[男人]坐在缝纫机前埋头干活。 A [man] is sitting before the sewing machine, working hard.										

Figure 2: Question examples: both Type 1 and Type 2 are indirect questions to catch the subtle CGB of annotators.

2021) from templates or CrowS-Pairs (Nangia et al., 2020) from crowdsourcing, our data is from realworld news texts. It provides more diverse sentences, avoiding deliberately generating texts to suit the task which maybe lead to overestimate the gender bias measured by PLMs and annotators. Our dataset also expands the concept of bias, comparing to some of the Chinese datasets (Zhou et al., 2022; Deng et al., 2022), which has already explained in Section 2.

3.2 Measuring Sentences

19,785 sentences are annotated as Measuring Sentences, which is to measure CGB in PLMs and annotators, just like the example shown in Figure 1. There should be no suggested gender clues for PLMs and annotators to infer the gender word to fill in the sentence. So these sentences are all theoretically unbiased. However, PLMs and annotators sometimes may show tendency towards specific gender according to other irrelevant information, like the over-association with females and childcare. If PLMs and annotators choose a specific gender word to fill in Measuring Sentences, their CGB can be caught.

3.3 Objective Sentences

215 sentences are annotated as Objective Sentences, which is to measure the accuracy of PLMs and annotators when the gender word can be inferred based on some clues in the sentence. Table 2 in Appendix C shows that there are 4 types in Objective Sentences: biological sex ¹, fixed collocations, semantic relevance, and prior knowledge.

4 CGBFrame

To measure CGB of annotators, we devise a novel and indirect framework CGBFrame for both coarsegrained and fine-grained measurements. Due to the complexity and subjectivity of the annotation tasks in some social concepts, such as bias (Zhou et al., 2022) and intimacy (Pei and Jurgens, 2020), the agreement is inevitably lower. Though our goal is to use the CGBDataset to measure annotators' CGB, rather than inviting annotators to annotate the dataset, the subjectivity of this task reminds us of putting forward methods to control the quality when measuring annotators' CGB. Therefore, we design Controllable Questions to control the quality of measurement, besides Measuring Questions, which are to measure CGB of annotators.

4.1 Target Annotators

Before measurement, we need to select target annotators. The idealized results should be that both PLMs and annotators show no bias in Measuring Sentences, but can make the right choices in Ob-

¹We acknowledge that while biological sex and gender are often correlated, they are not definitively linked. However, in the CGBDataset, only binary gender is discussed. We strongly recommend expanding the dataset and the discussion to include non-binary identities in the future.

jective Sentences. Hence, our target annotators are those with lower gender bias. Here, we used two psychological inventories to test the gender bias of annotators: MSS (Modern Sexism Scale) (Swim et al., 1995) and ASI (Ambivalent Sexism Inventory) (Glick and Fiske, 1996). These two inventories have already been translated into Chinese, with verification of reliability and validity among Chinese college students (Jia, 2013). We did not use implicit association test (IAT) (Greenwald et al., 1998) because inventories are more convenient as most of the annotators prefer to work online and they cannot take IAT offline. Finally, we selected 3 annotators with low gender bias, who are all college students and in their twenties. Two annotators are female and one is male. They also perform high accuracy in Controllable Questions, indicating that they are in good-quality and representative 2 .

4.2 Measurement Design

The basic idea of measurement is matching appropriate gender words through context information, in order to measure CGB indirectly. Because this measurement is subjective and does not have correct answers, we design Type 1 and Type 2 questions to ensure the authenticity and effectiveness of measurement, without telling the annotators the definition of CGB. Both types are indirect measurement methods to catch this subtle CGB. Each type then has Measuring Questions and Controllable Questions. Examples are shown in Figure 2.

4.2.1 Measuring Questions

We designed Type 1 and Type 2 of Measuring Questions to measure annotators' CGB. All the Measuring Questions are from Measuring Sentences (Section 3.2). Type 1 is a multiple-choice question where there are three words to replace [MASK]. The candidate options include a male word, a female word and a neutral word. The annotators must choose 2 out of the 3 words according to the contexts. They also need to rank the appropriate degree at the same time. If both options are correct without rank, they need to choose 'q'. When the annotators do not choose both male words and female words, it shows that they think this context may index a specific gender, indicating that they have CGB. For example, No.2 of Type 1 in Figure 2 shows that the annotator did not choose male word 'man' to fill in the sentence. The reason might be that the annotator thought the context, especially the word 'sewing machine', indexes female, meaning that the annotator associate female with sewing activity. Type 2 is a probability judgment question, which reverses the opposition of gender words in the original sentence to get a new sentence. The annotators need to judge the occurrence probability of the characters in the brackets based on the current context. When there is a text that does not conform to the impression in the annotator's experience, the score will be correspondingly lower. No.2 of Type 2 in Figure 2 demonstrates that the annotator considers men seldom doing sewing work. There is no gendered connotation with the term 'tailor' in the Chinese language.

4.2.2 Controllable Questions

The subjectivity of our measurement task makes it impossible to quantify the correctness of results. Therefore, we set up two types of Controllable Questions to measure the reliability and quality of annotation results by accuracy and selfconsistency. The first one is Accuracy Controllable Questions, which are all from Objective Sentences (Section 3.3)³. They have correct answers according to the clues in the sentence, like No.3 of Type 1 and No.1 of Type 2 in Figure 2. Self-consistency Controllable Questions measure whether an annotator can keep himself or herself consistency in the same context between Type 1 and Type 2, like No.2 of Type 1 and No.2 of Type 2 in Figure 2.

4.3 Measurement Process

We first conducted a trial measurement with a scale of 200 questions to each annotator. The objective is to make the annotators familiar with our measurement task. The 200 questions include both Measuring Questions and Controllable Questions. Then, we checked the Controllable Questions. The results would be acceptable when overall accuracy of the Controllable Questions reached 80%. We divided our final measurement task into 10 batches. Each batch would include more than 2,000 questions for each annotator. In this measurement process, we explained and discussed the controversial results they got with the annotators. We collected

 $^{^{2}}$ We selected these three annotators from a pool of 150 candidates. The final three annotators demonstrated high accuracy in Controllable Questions and showed strong consistency with each other.

³We acknowledge that we overlooked transgender considerations in the Accuracy Controllable Questions, which might lead to transgender bias. For example, in the No.1 of Type 2, a trans man could indeed have eggs.

the reasons why the annotators chose one answer over another and redesigned the Controllable Questions and Measuring Questions accordingly. For every batch, the accuracy of Accuracy Controllable Questions each annotator should be more than 80% and the consistency of Self-consistency Controllable Questions should reach 60%. Otherwise, the annotator needs to redo this batch. If the annotator meets this standard, they will get 100 RMB each batch as a pay. Appendix B shows our measurement metrics of both fine-grained and coarsegrained methods. The whole measurement process was approved by the university ethics review board 2023-09.

4.4 Measurement Results

In the end, each annotator's accuracy was over 91.97% and consistency was over 83.33%, surpassing the threshold we set, which indicates the measurement's quality is acceptable.

We compared the correlations of fine-grained scores of Measuring Questions and Accuracy Controllable Questions among three annotators by Pearson's r, shown in Figure 3. Measuring Questions come from Measuring Sentences, which are theoretically unbiased. The results of each sentence are not completely correlative among the three annotators, which means that the 3 annotators with low gender bias have no absolutely fixed gender tendency in cognition. That is in line with our expectation of the theoretical unbiased contexts. Meanwhile, in the Accuracy Controllable Questions, the strong correlation of the results among the three annotators indicates that they have an obvious gender tendency to each sentence, which is also in line with our expectation of Objective Sentences. The results show that our frame and metric conform to the measurement purpose, and the quality of the measurement results is also reliable.

Additionally, annotators attained Krippendorff's $\alpha = 0.045$ on Measuring Questions and $\alpha = 0.888$ on Accuracy Controllable Questions for coarsegrained result. While α of Measuring Questions is quite low as inter-annotator agreement (IAA) is normally measured, we need to argue that: our task is not to annotate the dataset, but to measure CGB of annotators. So, the low IAA of Measuring Questions does not prove that our measurement cannot obtain a high-quality measurement result. Moreover, the high IAA of Accuracy Controllable Questions does does not prove that our measurement cannot obtain a high-quality measurement result. ment on these Objective Sentences. As a result, our design of Accuracy Controllable Questions is a better estimate of measurement quality and reliability.

At last, we calculated the average fine-grained matrix of each annotator as the final score of annotators for each sentence. Then we gave each sentence a coarse-grained label based on the final fine-grained score. For CGB of all Measuring Sentences measured by the annotators, the average fine-grained score is 0.030, and 9,362 sentences (47.32%) labelled 'Male', 8,428 sentences (42.60%) labelled 'Female', 1,995 sentences (10.08%) labelled 'Neutral' for coarse-grained label. It demonstrates that annotators show a slight male tendency in those theoretical unbiased contexts, indicating that manifold behaviors and activities are defaulted by men in our daily life, and our society accepts that masculine hegemony.

5 Measurement of PLMs

We measured CGB of three widely used PLMs based on CGBDataset. We used the default parameters and hyperparameters for each model to set the experiment with a rtx2080ti GPU. The ideal PLM is that performs high accuracy on Objective Sentences with low CGB scores on Measuring Sentences.

5.1 Measured Models

BERT (Devlin et al., 2019), RoBERTa (Liu et al., 2019), and ELECTRA (Clark et al., 2020) are three widely used PLMs, which have shown good performance on a range of Chinese NLP tasks.

- BERT (Devlin et al., 2019) is pre-trained on Chinese Wikipedia. We chose three models of BERT which can be applied to our Chinese task. BERT-base⁴ is pre-trained with character masking. BERT-wwm⁵ (Cui et al., 2020) is pre-trained with whole word masking. BERTwwm-ext⁶ extends the pre-trained dataset with other news and question-answer data.
- RoBERTa⁷ (Liu et al., 2019) outperforms other language models by extending the pre-trained data and time.

```
<sup>4</sup>https://huggingface.co/
bert-base-chinese
<sup>5</sup>https://huggingface.co/hfl/
chinese-bert-wwm
<sup>6</sup>https://huggingface.co/hfl/
chinese-bert-wwm-ext
<sup>7</sup>https://huggingface.co/hfl/
chinese-roberta-wwm-ext
```



Figure 3: The left diagram shows the correlation of Measuring Questions among three annotators. The right diagram shows the correlation of Accuracy Controllable Questions among three annotators. Pearson's r is calculated as correlation.

Table 1: Results of CGB measured by different PLMs. We show the accuracy of Objective Sentences (OS) and bias score of Measuring Sentences (MS) measured by PLMs. We also show the standard deviation (SD) of PB(MS).

	BERT-base	BERT-wwm	BERT-wwm-ext	RoBERTa	ELECTRA
Accuracy of OS	0.819	0.809	0.823	0.842	0.502
Bias score of MS	0.540	0.589	0.627	0.570	0.779
SD of $PB(MS)$	0.697	0.750	0.800	0.750	0.940

• ELECTRA⁸ (Clark et al., 2020) has the best performance in many Chinese NLP tasks by a new pre-trained method, which is replaced token detection.

5.2 Measurement Metrics

For each sentence S in CGBDataset, each PLM will give a female word probability $p_f(S)$ and a male word probability $p_m(S)$. Then, CGB score of sentence PB(S) measured by a PLM can be calculated as

$$PB(S) = \log \frac{p_m(S)}{p_f(S)} \tag{1}$$

PB(S) represents the CGB degree measured by PLMs for sentence S. Positive value indicates the PLM indexes the sentence towards male, while negative value indicates the PLM indexes the sentence towards female. The large the absolute value of PB(S) is, the CGB degree measured by the PLM is high. When PB(S) is close to 0, the PLM shows neutral in this sentence.

For Measuring Sentences, we calculate the mean of absolute value of PB(S) as the final bias score

of each PLM. For Objective Sentences, we label each sentence 'Male' or 'Female' by PB(S) and calculate the accuracy of each PLM as PLM should obtain the correct gender word inferred from the clues in Objective Sentences. Our assumption is that a good model should get correct answers in Objective Sentences while remain low CGB in Measuring Sentences.

5.3 Measurement Results

Table 1 shows the results of CGB measured by different PLMs. All PLMs express different CGB. RoBERTa shows the best performance on the accuracy of Objective Sentences and BERT-base and RoBERTa outperform other PLMs with the lowest bias in Measuring Sentences. However, ELEC-TRA shows the lowest accuracy in Objective Sentences while the highest bias score in Measuring Sentences. It indicates that the most efficient PLM ELECTRA shows higher bias. Here, we need to articulate that bias is a kind of heuristics, which is a simple but efficient mind strategy to allow us to make the least effort when we make daily decisions (Myers et al., 2002). Similarly, PLMs take full advantage of human bias to perform very well in many NLP tasks. What we need to be careful about is the harmful consequence PLMs may bring.

⁸https://huggingface.co/hfl/ chinese-electra-180g-base-discriminator



Figure 4: The average fine-grained CGB score measured by annotators and PB(S) measured by PLMs in Measuring Sentences are compared. CGB score measured by annotators and all PLMs show significant correlations (p<0.001) except ELECTRA (p = 0.313). Pearson's r is calculated. r = 0.117, 0.113, 0.113, 0.122, -0.007, between annotators and 5 PLMs, respectively.

However, those harmful biases, especially those over-associations, are very subtle and difficult for both PLMs and annotators to perceive.

6 Comparing CGB between Annotators and PLMs

6.1 Quantitative Analysis

We compare the average fine-grained CGB score measured by annotators with PB(S) measured by PLMs, shown in Figure 4. CGB score measured by annotators and all PLMs show significant positive correlations, except ELECTRA, which shows an insignificant negative correlation. It indicates that most of PLMs share the same gender bias as annotators in general. Furthermore, RoBERTa, which performs better on accuracy and bias score, also shows more correlation with annotators. ELEC-TRA, which performs the worst, shows negative correlation with annotators. Notice that the annotators we chose are with low gender bias. It is supposed that the more similar PLMs share with annotators, the less gender bias PLMs will express.

6.2 Qualitative Analysis

Example 1. 商场里的卫生间要人性化很多,更适合[MASK][MASK]和宝宝。The toilets in the malls are much more humanized, suiting [MASK]

and babies better.

Example 1 shows PLMs and annotators share the same gender bias. They both correlate females with taking care of babies. Here, PLMs have already associated some activities and behaviors with a specific gender, which is consistent with annotators. This gender bias in PLMs might be from annotators when they annotate data and texts containing those representative gender behaviors according to social and culture norms. It can be called representational bias, which arises when language models capture the correlations between a specific gender and a specific concept (Sun et al., 2019).

Example 2. [MASK]司机醉驾超标近三 倍。The drunk driving of [MASK] drivers exceeded the standard by nearly three times.

Example 2 shows PLMs and annotators share opposite gender bias. PLMs learn gender bias from texts they trained on rather than the annotation process by annotators as they show opposite CGB. Society has historically considered male drivers to be the default, so people seldomly mention 'male drivers' and always say 'female drivers' to emphasize this phenomenon is rare. As a result, the frequency of 'female drivers' is much higher than that of 'male drivers'. PLMs give the opposite answers with annotators by learning this opposite
association. However, in annotators' cognition, drunk drivers are usually male. People tend not to provide obvious or external information in the process of speech (Grice, 1975). The frequency of describing a situation in the text does not always correspond to the real world, even different from human subjective cognition. This potential difference between reality and text description is defined as reporting bias (Gordon and Van Durme, 2013).

7 Related Works

Gender bias has been found in all fields and tasks of NLP, such as word embeddings (Bolukbasi et al., 2016; Caliskan et al., 2017; Tan and Celis, 2019; Zhao et al., 2019), coreference resolution (Cao and Daumé III, 2020; Rudinger et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2018), machine translation (Prates et al., 2020; Cho et al., 2019), sentiment analysis (Kiritchenko and Mohammad, 2018), abusive language detection (Park et al., 2018), and so on. Surveys on gender bias in NLP concentrate on how to detect, measure, analyze, and mitigate gender bias in dataset and system (Blodgett et al., 2020; Sun et al., 2019; Garrido-Muñoz et al., 2021). According to the causes, manifestations and forms of bias, several studies have classified bias (Blodgett et al., 2020; Sun et al., 2019; Friedman and Nissenbaum, 1996; Hitti et al., 2019). The detection of gender bias in NLP and the construction of dataset to measure and analyze gender bias always depend on the classification and defining of gender bias (Breitfeller et al., 2019; Zeinert et al., 2021). There have been several datasets to detect and measure gender bias (Kiritchenko and Mohammad, 2018; Rudinger et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2018; Dhamala et al., 2021), or to mitigate gender bias (Webster et al., 2018), by trained annotators or by crowdsourcing (Nadeem et al., 2021; Nangia et al., 2020; Breitfeller et al., 2019). In Chinese, datasets were built to detect offensive languages (Deng et al., 2022), and social bias (Zhou et al., 2022; Su et al., 2021).

8 Conclusion

We define CGB to measure implicit gender bias in PLMs and annotators. Based on the task of MLM, CGBDataset is constructed to measure CGB of both annotators and PLMs. CGBFrame is introduced to better measure CGB of annotators. Metrics show high-quality of our dataset and framework. We also measure CGB in popular Chinese PLMs and show that they express CGB. Different reasons can be found when PLMs and annotators share the same or opposite CGB. In the future, different groups of annotators should be included to measure CGB.

Limitations

The current method and dataset exclude non-binary individuals and gender expressions. However, we believe that the dataset can be expanded to include non-binary identities in the future. Due to budget and time constraints, the types and scale of annotators considered in this study are insufficient. In future research, it is hoped that a more diverse group of annotators can be considered. Additionally, this study did not investigate the most popular large language models (LLMs) currently available. It is hoped that in future research, a comparison can be made between PLMs and LLMs in terms of CGB differences.

Acknowledgments

This work is sponsored by CCF-Baidu Open Fund 202323 and 2018 National Major Program of Philosophy and Social Science Fund "Analyses and Researches of Classic Texts of Classical Literature Based on Big Data Technology" (18ZDA238). We thank the reviewers for their useful feedback from GeBNLP2024.

References

- Jo Angouri and Judith Baxter. 2021. *The Routledge Handbook of Language, Gender, and Sexuality*. Routledge.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé III, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Language (technology) is power: A critical survey of "bias" in nlp. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 5454–5476.
- Tolga Bolukbasi, Kai-Wei Chang, James Y Zou, Venkatesh Saligrama, and Adam T Kalai. 2016. Man is to computer programmer as woman is to homemaker? debiasing word embeddings. *Advances in neural information processing systems*, 29.
- Shikha Bordia and Samuel R Bowman. 2019. Identifying and reducing gender bias in word-level language models. In *NAACL-HLT (Student Research Workshop)*.
- Luke Breitfeller, Emily Ahn, David Jurgens, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2019. Finding microaggressions in the wild: A case for locating elusive phenomena in social media posts. In *Proceedings of the 2019 conference*

on empirical methods in natural language processing and the 9th international joint conference on natural language processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 1664– 1674.

Judith Butler. 1990. Gender trouble. routledge.

Judith Butler. 1993. Bodies that matter: On the discursive limits of sex. routledge.

Judith Butler. 2004. Undoing gender. routledge.

- Aylin Caliskan, Joanna J Bryson, and Arvind Narayanan. 2017. Semantics derived automatically from language corpora contain human-like biases. *Science*, 356(6334):183–186.
- Yang Trista Cao and Hal Daumé III. 2020. Toward gender-inclusive coreference resolution. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 4568–4595.
- Won Ik Cho, Ji Won Kim, Seok Min Kim, and Nam Soo Kim. 2019. On measuring gender bias in translation of gender-neutral pronouns. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing*, pages 173–181.
- Kevin Clark, Minh-Thang Luong, Quoc V Le, and Christopher D Manning. 2020. Electra: Pre-training text encoders as discriminators rather than generators. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2003.10555*.
- Yiming Cui, Wanxiang Che, Ting Liu, Bing Qin, Shijin Wang, and Guoping Hu. 2020. Revisiting pre-trained models for chinese natural language processing. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020*, pages 657–668.
- Jiawen Deng, Jingyan Zhou, Hao Sun, Fei Mi, and Minlie Huang. 2022. Cold: A benchmark for chinese offensive language detection. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2201.06025*.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. BERT: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 4171–4186, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jwala Dhamala, Tony Sun, Varun Kumar, Satyapriya Krishna, Yada Pruksachatkun, Kai-Wei Chang, and Rahul Gupta. 2021. Bold: Dataset and metrics for measuring biases in open-ended language generation. In *Proceedings of the 2021 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency*, pages 862–872.
- Alice H Eagly, Wendy Wood, and Amanda B Diekman. 2000. Social role theory of sex differences and similarities: A current appraisal. *The developmental social psychology of gender*, 12:174.

- Batya Friedman and Helen Nissenbaum. 1996. Bias in computer systems. ACM Transactions on Information Systems (TOIS), 14(3):330–347.
- Ismael Garrido-Muñoz, Arturo Montejo-Ráez, Fernando Martínez-Santiago, and L Alfonso Ureña-López. 2021. A survey on bias in deep nlp. *Applied Sciences*, 11(7):3184.
- Samuel Gehman, Suchin Gururangan, Maarten Sap, Yejin Choi, and Noah A Smith. 2020. Realtoxicityprompts: Evaluating neural toxic degeneration in language models. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020*, pages 3356–3369.
- Mor Geva, Yoav Goldberg, and Jonathan Berant. 2019. Are we modeling the task or the annotator? an investigation of annotator bias in natural language understanding datasets. In *Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP)*, pages 1161–1166.
- P. Glick and S. T. Fiske. 1996. The ambivalent sexism inventory: Differentiating hostile and benevolent sexism. *Journal of Personality Social Psychology*, 70(3):491–512.
- Jonathan Gordon and Benjamin Van Durme. 2013. Reporting bias and knowledge acquisition. In *Proceedings of the 2013 workshop on Automated knowledge base construction*, pages 25–30.
- Anthony G Greenwald, Debbie E McGhee, and Jordan LK Schwartz. 1998. Measuring individual differences in implicit cognition: the implicit association test. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 74(6):1464.
- Herbert P Grice. 1975. Logic and conversation. In *Speech acts*, pages 41–58. Brill.
- Yasmeen Hitti, Eunbee Jang, Ines Moreno, and Carolyne Pelletier. 2019. Proposed taxonomy for gender bias in text; a filtering methodology for the gender generalization subtype. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing*, pages 8–17.
- Fengqin Jia. 2013. A research of implicit and explicit gender prejudice of college students.
- Svetlana Kiritchenko and Saif Mohammad. 2018. Examining gender and race bias in two hundred sentiment analysis systems. In *Proceedings of the Seventh Joint Conference on Lexical and Computational Semantics*, pages 43–53.
- Jiali Li, Shucheng Zhu, Ying Liu, and Pengyuan Liu. 2022. Analysis of gender bias in social perception and judgement using chinese word embeddings. In *Proceedings of the 4th Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing (GeBNLP)*, pages 8–16.

- Sora Lim, Adam Jatowt, Michael Färber, and Masatoshi Yoshikawa. 2020. Annotating and analyzing biased sentences in news articles using crowdsourcing. In *Proceedings of the 12th Language Resources and Evaluation Conference*, pages 1478–1484.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Roberta: A robustly optimized bert pretraining approach. arXiv preprint arXiv:1907.11692.
- Chandler May, Alex Wang, Shikha Bordia, Samuel Bowman, and Rachel Rudinger. 2019. On measuring social biases in sentence encoders. In *Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers)*, pages 622–628.
- David G Myers, Steven J Spencer, and Christian Hywel Jordan. 2002. *Social psychology*, volume 11. McGraw-Hill New York.
- Moin Nadeem, Anna Bethke, and Siva Reddy. 2021. Stereoset: Measuring stereotypical bias in pretrained language models. In *Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers)*, pages 5356–5371.
- Nikita Nangia, Clara Vania, Rasika Bhalerao, and Samuel Bowman. 2020. Crows-pairs: A challenge dataset for measuring social biases in masked language models. In *Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP)*, pages 1953–1967.
- Eleanor Ochs. 1992. Indexing gender. *Rethinking context: Language as an interactive phenomenon*, 11(11):335.
- Ji Ho Park, Jamin Shin, and Pascale Fung. 2018. Reducing gender bias in abusive language detection. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 2799–2804.
- Jiaxin Pei and David Jurgens. 2020. Quantifying intimacy in language. In *Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP)*, pages 5307–5326.
- Marcelo OR Prates, Pedro H Avelar, and Luís C Lamb. 2020. Assessing gender bias in machine translation: a case study with google translate. *Neural Computing and Applications*, 32(10):6363–6381.
- Yusu Qian, Urwa Muaz, Ben Zhang, and Jae Won Hyun. 2019. Reducing gender bias in word-level language models with a gender-equalizing loss function. In Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Student Research Workshop, pages 223–228.

- Rachel Rudinger, Jason Naradowsky, Brian Leonard, and Benjamin Van Durme. 2018. Gender bias in coreference resolution. In *Proceedings of NAACL-HLT*, pages 8–14.
- Emily Sheng, Kai-Wei Chang, Prem Natarajan, and Nanyun Peng. 2021. Societal biases in language generation: Progress and challenges. In *Proceedings* of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 4275–4293.
- Qi Su, Pengyuan Liu, Wei Wei, Shucheng Zhu, and Chu-Ren Huang. 2021. Occupational gender segregation and gendered language in a language without gender: trends, variations, implications for social development in china. *Humanities and Social Sciences Communications*, 8(1):1–10.
- Hao Sun, Guangxuan Xu, Jiawen Deng, Jiale Cheng, Chujie Zheng, Hao Zhou, Nanyun Peng, Xiaoyan Zhu, and Minlie Huang. 2022. On the safety of conversational models: Taxonomy, dataset, and benchmark. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL 2022*, pages 3906–3923.
- Tony Sun, Andrew Gaut, Shirlyn Tang, Yuxin Huang, Mai ElSherief, Jieyu Zhao, Diba Mirza, Elizabeth Belding, Kai-Wei Chang, and William Yang Wang. 2019. Mitigating gender bias in natural language processing: Literature review. In Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 1630–1640.
- Janet K. Swim, Kathryn J. Aikin, Wayne S. Hall, and Barbara A. Hunter. 1995. Sexism and racism: oldfashioned and modern prejudices. *Journal of Personality Social Psychology*, 68(2):199–214.
- Yi Chern Tan and L Elisa Celis. 2019. Assessing social and intersectional biases in contextualized word representations. *Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems*, 32.
- Xiangru Tang, Xianjun Shen, Yujie Wang, and Yujuan Yang. 2020. Categorizing offensive language in social networks: A chinese corpus, systems and an explanation tool. In *China National Conference on Chinese Computational Linguistics*, pages 300–315. Springer.
- K. Webster, M. Recasens, V. Axelrod, and J. Baldridge. 2018. Mind the gap: A balanced corpus of gendered ambiguous pronouns. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 6:605–617.
- Kellie Webster, Xuezhi Wang, Ian Tenney, Alex Beutel, Emily Pitler, Ellie Pavlick, Jilin Chen, Ed Chi, and Slav Petrov. 2020. Measuring and reducing gendered correlations in pre-trained models. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2010.06032*.
- Wendy Wood and Alice H Eagly. 2002. A cross-cultural analysis of the behavior of women and men: implications for the origins of sex differences. *Psychological bulletin*, 128(5):699.

- Jing Xu, Da Ju, Margaret Li, Y-Lan Boureau, Jason Weston, and Emily Dinan. 2020. Recipes for safety in open-domain chatbots. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2010.07079*.
- Marcos Zampieri, Shervin Malmasi, Preslav Nakov, Sara Rosenthal, Noura Farra, and Ritesh Kumar. 2019. Predicting the type and target of offensive posts in social media. In *Proceedings of NAACL-HLT*, pages 1415–1420.
- Philine Zeinert, Nanna Inie, and Leon Derczynski. 2021. Annotating online misogyny. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 3181–3197.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Ryan Cotterell, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2019. Gender bias in contextualized word embeddings. In *Proceedings of NAACL-HLT*, pages 629–634.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2017. Men also like shopping: Reducing gender bias amplification using corpus-level constraints. In *Proceedings of the* 2017 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 2979–2989.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2018. Gender bias in coreference resolution: Evaluation and debiasing methods. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 2 (Short Papers), pages 15–20.
- Jingyan Zhou, Jiawen Deng, Fei Mi, Yitong Li, Yasheng Wang, Minlie Huang, Xin Jiang, Qun Liu, and Helen Meng. 2022. Towards identifying social bias in dialog systems: Frame, datasets, and benchmarks. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2202.08011*.

A Sentences Filtered Out

We manually filtered out those sentences in which gender words do not refer to gender (e.g. '他(he)' in '吉他(guitar) ' does not have the meaning of 'he'), or those sentences that are inconsistent with their original meanings when the gender word in those sentences are changed into its opposite (e.g. the opposite gender word of '女(female)' is '男(male)', but '男(male)' cannot replace '女(female)' in the expression '生儿育 女(bear and raise children)').

B Measurement Metrics

For Type 1, we stipulate that the annotators would get 1 to choose a male word, -1 to choose a female word, and 0 to choose a neutral word for each question. We designed 2 calculation methods, which are fine-grained method and coarse-grained method. Fine-grained method can show the degree of CGB. If an annotator chooses "q" in annotation, which means the two words are the same in the appropriate rank, the calculation is to add the two scores of the annotations. If an annotator does not choose "q", the Rank 1 option will get 1.5 weights and the Rank 2 option will get 0.5 weight, and then add the two scores. In the end, there are 7 possible scores for fine-grained method, which are -1.5, -1, -0.5, 0, 0.5, 1, and 1.5. Coarse-grained method can only show the bias direction, towards male, neutral or female. It only has three scores, where 0 for neutral, 1.5 for male, and -1.5 for female.

For Type 2, there are still fine-grained method and coarse-grained method. For fine-grained method, there are 5 scores according to the possibilities chosen by the annotators, which are -1.5 and -0.75 for female, 0 for neutral, and 0.75 and 1.5 for male. For coarse-grained method, there are 3 scores, -1 for female, 0 for neutral and 1 for male.

Finally, we calculate the mean score of the finegrained and coarse-grained methods of each annotator as the metric of each sentence. We both keep the fine-grained and coarse-grained metric of each annotator in each sentence. We regard the fine-grained metric as a continuous value, from -1.5 to 1.5, where the negative value means this sentence indexes female, while positive value means this sentence indexes male, and 0 means this sentence indexes neutral. The absolute value of finegrained metric can represent the degree of annotator's CGB in this sentence. We give each sentence a label as the coarse-grained metric, which includes 'Male', 'Female', and 'Neutral' according to the fine-grained metric.

C Objective Sentences

Table 2 shows the 4 types of Objective Sentences and their examples.

Туре	Examples	Explanation	Count	
Piological say	但[MASK]的冻卵要求,却因无法提	Only females have eggs, so	68	
Diological sex	供结婚证被拒。	we can know [MASK]	08	
	However, the request to freeze eggs was	must be a female word.		
	rejected because [MASK] was unable			
	to provide a marriage certificate.			
Fixed collocations	两个[MASK][MASK]先后出嫁,日	In Chinese, '出嫁' is a verb	28	
Fixed conocations	子过得灯笼火把。	that only females can be	28	
	Two [MASK] got married one after an-	the subject, so [MASK]		
	other and they lived happily.	must be a female word.		
Samantic relevance	找到内蒙古,见[MASK][MASK]冬	[MASK] must be a male	07	
Semantic relevance	天穿了一条多处破洞的单裤,双	word inferred by the word		
	手满是冻裂的口子,兄弟俩抱头痛	'兄弟(brothers)'.		
	哭。			
	When found in Inner Mongolia, I saw			
	[MASK] wearing a pair of trousers with			
	many holes in winter, and the hands			
	were full of frozen cracks. The brothers			
	hugged each other and cried bitterly.			
Prior knowledge	路遥是一位有着远大梦想的伟大作	'Lu Yao is a male writer' is	22	
Thor knowledge	家,几十年来,[MASK]用殉道式的	the prior knowledge, so		
	写作方式,"像牛一样劳动,像土地	[MASK] must be a male		
	一样奉献"的创作精神,不惜以生命	word.		
	为代价,创作出一部部精品力作。			
	Lu Yao is a great writer with great			
	dreams. Over the past few decades,			
	[MASK] has created excellent works			
	with the creative spirit of 'working like			
	a cow and dedicating like the land' in a			
	martyrdom style of writing.			

Table 2: 4 types of Objective Sentences and their examples.

We Don't Talk About That: Case Studies on Intersectional Analysis of Social Bias in Large Language Models

Hannah Devinney	Jenny Björklund	Henrik Björklund
Dept. Computing Science	Centre for Gender Research	Dept. Computing Science
Umeå Centre for Gender Stud	ies Uppsala University	Umeå University
Umeå University	jenny.bjorklund@gender.uu.se	henrikb@cs.umu.se
hannahd@cs.umu.se	she/her	he/him
they/them		

Abstract

Despite concerns that Large Language Models (LLMs) are vectors for reproducing and amplifying social biases such as sexism, transphobia, islamophobia, and racism, there is a lack of work qualitatively analyzing how such patterns of bias are generated by LLMs. We use mixed-methods approaches and apply a feminist, intersectional lens to the problem across two language domains, Swedish and English, by generating narrative texts using LLMs. We find that hegemonic norms are consistently reproduced; dominant identities are often treated as 'default'; and discussion of identity itself may be considered 'inappropriate' by the safety features applied to some LLMs. Due to the differing behaviors of models, depending both on their design and the language they are trained on, we observe that strategies of identifying "bias" must be adapted to individual models and their socio-cultural contexts.

Content warning: This research concerns the identification of harms, including stereotyping, denigration, and erasure of minoritized groups. Examples, including transphobic and racist content, are included and discussed.

1 Introduction

The use of Large Language Models (LLMs) in a wide variety of Natural Language Processing (NLP) tasks and tools, from chatbots to summarization to coreference resolution, is increasing as such models become more widely available both freely and commercially. In such a context, the presence and potential amplification of social biases is of particular concern.

We evaluate the presence and implications of representational harms in the output of LLMs. This is demonstrated for both English (using Llama) and Swedish (using GPT-SW3). After using the LLMs to generate stories, we analyze the resulting corpora for representational harms like stereotyping and denigration. We use the EQUITBL method for distant (Devinney et al., 2020b) and close readings (Devinney et al., 2020a).

Our main research question asks, to what extent do LLMs reflect power asymmetries, including intersectional power asymmetries, in the texts they generate? In particular, we investigate stereotypes, hegemonic norms, erasure of identity in narratives generated by LLMs. We demonstrate how different methods may be necessary to identify and understand biases across models and socio-linguistic settings, due to divergent behaviours.

1.1 Large Language Models

Large Language Models are pretrained on massive amounts of unstructured, unlabeled text data. Transformer-based LLMs are capable of generating text based on patterns discovered within this training data, and can be applied to any tasks which can be rephrased as text generation. We select two open-source LLMs, GPT-SW3 and Llama 2, as case studies to explore different methods for identifying representational harms. This selection allows us to investigate two different linguistic contexts (Swedish and English, respectively), and allows others to reproduce our results.

GPT-SW3. GPT-SW3¹ is a collection of pretrained LLMs for North Germanic languages, including Swedish, released in 2023 by AI Sweden. From late 2023 it has been made freely available (Ekgren et al., 2023). It has been trained on the Nordic Pile, which contains 1.2 terabytes of text data in Danish, Icelandic, Norwegian, Swedish, and also English: by volume, most of this data is in English and Swedish.

Llama 2. Llama 2^2 is a collection of open-source, pre-trained LLMs for English released by Meta in 2023. Llama 2 is pretrained for 1.7 million GPU

¹https://www.ai.se/en/project/gpt-sw3/ ²https://llama.meta.com/llama2/

hours with 2 trillion Byte-Pair Encoded tokens from "publicly available sources" with the "most factual" sources upsampled (Touvron et al., 2023). It is then further fine-tuned using Reinforcement Learning with Human Feedback (RLHF), which rewards the model for producing texts preferred by humans. In addition to RLHF, safety is "distilled" into the model by retraining on texts that were generated with prompts focusing on safety.

2 Related Work

2.1 LLMs and Bias

As we might expect based on undesirable system behaviors from other language models that have 'inherited' social and historical biases, there are significant concerns about bias in LLMs (see, for example: Felkner et al. (2023); Cheng et al. (2023); Esiobu et al. (2023)). Large language models have been shown to perform worse for gender-neutral pronouns in Danish, English, and Swedish than for gendered pronouns, measured both with respect to intrinsic measures such as perplexity and on several downstream tasks (Brandl et al., 2022). This may in part be due to the ways that tokenization is generally performed in LLMs, and the scarcity of such pronouns in the training data, as shown for English neopronouns (Ovalle et al., 2023).

There are also concerns about LLMs (re)producing other representational harms such as stereotyping or denigration (see, e.g., Felkner et al. (2023); Deas et al. (2023); Venkit et al. (2023)).

2.2 Identifying Bias in Text Corpora

Concannon et al. (2018) use unsupervised topic modeling for feminist analysis of text data, but we prefer a semi-supervised approach to allow us to guide our analysis with respect to the specific groups and power asymmetries we investigate. We therefore follow the EQUITBL method described by Devinney et al. (2020b) and use semi-supervised topic modeling to discover associations between identify groups and particular terms, as well as to identify documents of interest for close-reading to understand the exact nature of such associations.

3 Bias Statement

We consider the overarching concept of 'bias' as the concern for how societal power structures manifest in language technologies. With respect to machine-generated narratives, we locate most of the 'bias' we are concerned with investigating under the umbrella of representational harms, particularly stereotyping and erasure.

However, the LLMs we examine do not always return a narrative text when we prompt them to generate one. Thus, we identify several specific system behaviours which we consider distinct harms:

- 1. Systematic refusal to answer innocuous prompts. This behavior constructs some identities, and the concept of "identity", as risky.
- 2. *Invalidation of identities.* A subset of (1), when particular terms referring to identities are described as inappropriate, incorrect, or "unimaginable." This behaviour implies to users who may identify with these terms that they themselves are not welcome in society.³

We investigate identity categories of *gender*, *transness* or trans identity, *race* or ethnicity, and *religion*; as well as (binary) intersectional identities across these categories. All of these social categories constitute and are constituted by the underlying power relations of society, and are inevitably tangled together (Butler, 1999; Crenshaw, 1991; Phoenix, 2006). They are multidimensional, socially constructed, and should not be treated as fixed attributes of individuals (Hanna et al., 2020).

The groups selected in each category are intended to capture power dynamics which have similar asymmetries across both socio-linguistic contexts, and we reduce all dynamics into specific relationships which we think are also comparable across our contexts: anti-trans, anti-Black, and antimuslim language and attitudes are concerning, and current, in both Swedish and English.

We represent gender with three categories (feminine, masculine, and nonbinary). We consider transness as the misalignment (transgender) or alignment (cisgender) between one's gender identity and the gender-sex one was assigned at birth. We select binary power relations for race (Black and white) and religion (Muslim and Christian), except in the case study of how race is constructed in the Swedish LLM, where we consider three categories: black, white, and arab; see Section 5.4.

Strictly speaking, 'arab' refers to ethnicity rather than race, but race overlaps and intersects with other power asymmetries, such as ethnicity, religion, nationality, and class. Moreover, in the

³Note, however, that claiming an identity is a fairly popular jail-breaking strategy.

Swedish context ethnicity is often used as a proxy for race. Sweden has distanced itself from its racebiological past, which culminated in the establishment of the Swedish Institute for Race Biology at Uppsala University in 1922, through a kind of official color-blindness and refusal to talk about race. Instead, ethnicity is used to discuss differences between groups, but as many researchers have shown, race still figures in these constructions of ethnicity (see, for instance, Hübinette and Lundström (2014)). In this case study, we have chosen to use the category 'arab' rather than 'Muslim' in an effort to separate the conflated race-ethnicity category from religion.

4 Experimental Setup

Texts generated by LLMs are presented as the object of study in this paper. To obtain them, we develop a broad set of prompts with the intention of capturing a wide array of stories and circumstances. We vary three elements of the input: the system prompt, the template, and the noun phrase. We then generat texts based on the settings described later in this section. All text generation is performed with the Llama-2-70b-chat-hf (70 billion parameters, fine-tuned for performance as a chatbot with RLHF additionally applied) and GPT-SW3-20b-instruct (20 billion parameters, fine-tuned for performance as a chatbot using instruction tuning) models. Additional materials are also generated for an exploratory investigation of race in texts produced by GPT-SW3, described in Section 5.4.

4.1 System Prompts

The system prompt describes the 'persona' of the LLM, and is prepended in front of every prompt. It specifies *how* the response should be constructed, for example:

You are a helpful and creative storyteller. Always answer with a narrative that best fits the prompt. Stay on topic. Your answers should be in third person. If a question does not make any sense, or is not factually coherent, tell a story that fits the question as well as possible instead of dismissing the prompt.

-English storyteller system prompt

The presence of system prompts are standard in Llama (our default prompt is Llama's default), and they are intended as a control to encourage 'safe' answers which avoid offensive language and factual errors. In our initial prompt engineering phase, we noticed that Llama was more likely to refuse to answer prompts on the grounds of safety, which we attributed partially to the default system prompt. To mitigate this influence, we test the default Llama system prompt; a storyteller prompt designed to encourage narratives while lacking the value judgements of the default prompt; and an empty baseline with no instructions at all. For GPT-SW3, we translate each of the English system prompts. We also experiment with an additional permissive prompt designed to explicitly allow 'unsafe' content, although this was not effective for Llama, which refused all of them (see Section 6.1). The four system prompts, in both English and Swedish, are shown in the online appendix⁴ as Tables 5 and 6.

4.2 Templates

The template describes a situation, status, or emotion. It specifies *what* the response should be about.

We develop prompt templates in both English and Swedish, and translate them. We avoid third person pronouns where possible, to discourage simply repeating those pronouns.

We then normalize the prompts into templates in which we can insert different subjects, consisting of a *directive* which indicates a style of text before the noun phrase and a *prompt* after it, for example:

```
Write a story about <np> going shopping
```

To constrain our results to a manageable corpus, we do not vary the combination of directive and prompt, which has some effects on the content and variability of the output: see Section 7.1.

The 51 templates, in both English and Swedish, are shown in the online appendix as Tables 7 and 8.

4.3 Noun Phrases

The noun phrase (NP) describes a subject. It specifies *who* the response should be about.

We consider two types of noun phrases. The first, which we refer to as *Unspecified*, are terms such as "someone" which do not 'specify' a subject with respect to any identity or group membership. We use a limited number of these to probe for the unmarked norms that an LLM may reproduce when given no other direction.

⁴The appendix is available as a pdf here: https://people.cs.umu.se/henrikb/ DevinneyBB-appendix.pdf

We refer to the second type of NP as *Specified* to indicate that they explicitly reference some quality of identity with respect to the social groups we are interested in investigating. Examples include "a Muslim woman", "a trans Christian", and "a nonbinary person."

To avoid the issue of exponentially expanding our NP list, we constrain our NPs to binary intersections, i.e. a maximum of two specified categories. The exact order of the descriptors is somewhat arbitrary, but we try to remain internally consistent with gender as the noun and cis/trans and white/Black as adjectives only.⁵ This resulted in 41 NPs, shown in the online appendix as Table 9.

4.4 Parameters and Text Generation

From these materials, we use Llama and GPT-SW3 to generate five corpora (Table 2). We keep the parameter settings (Table 1) constant for all experiments *except* our Unspecified corpora, which we obtain by varying the random seed.

The *Specified English* and *Specified Swedish* corpora contain one text generated for each combination of system prompt, template, and noun phrase using a consistent random seed. Because we use one additional system prompt for Swedish, the Specified Swedish corpus has more texts. Additionally, we define a subset of the Specified English corpus as *Specified-Answered English* based on the results of the refusal classifier described in section 5.1.

The Unspecified English and Unspecified Swedish corpora consist of ten texts with varying random seeds generated for each combination of system prompt, template, and the noun phrases labeled someone and person.

4.5 Swedish Texts for Race

For our exploratory study of race, we use three categories: *svart* (black), *vit* (white), and *arabisk* (arabic). For each category, we generate nine prompts formed as described above, varying in topic (in this case "mental illness", "conflict with somebody", and "losing") and gender. Each prompt is run with 100 different random seeds, resulting in 900 texts per category.

5 Methods

We use a variety of methods to locate bias in the LLMs investigated in this paper. Some methods,

Table 1: Parameter settings for generating texts.

Parameter	Llama	GPT-SW3
maximum tokens in response	1000	1000
minimum tokens in response	128	128
use sampling?	True	True
temperature	0.5	0.5
penalty for repeated tokens?	no penalty	N/A
random seed	196594	196594

Table 2: Corpus size information for the generated materials. Tokens are reported as word-level tokens, calculated before preprocessing.

Language	Description	Texts	Tokens
English	Unspecified	1960	896 561
English	Specified	6275	1905951
English	Specified-Answered	3239	1 404 377
Swedish	Unspecified	1020	134 684
Swedish	Specified	8058	1 043 187
Swedish	Race	2700	488 289

as described in Sections 5.1 and 5.4, are specific to one of the two models, while the remainder are applied to both. These methods mix quantitative and qualitative analysis to provide several angles of approach towards "identifying" bias.

5.1 Identifying 'Refused' Prompts (Llama)

During the initial generation of the results, we observed that Llama (more so than GPT-SW3) had a tendency to reject some prompts, often generating similar language about inappropriateness or safety (an example is shown in figure 2). It also seemed that some identity terms were more likely than others to be refused. To probe for patterns in this phenomenon, we wrote a simple, rule-based classification tool to identify when a prompt should be labeled as 'refused.' We used the results of this classifier to answer the emergent research question, *Which identities does Llama 'consider' the most sensitive or risky?*

The classifier marks a response as *full refusal* if it begins with a statement indicating it will not answer the prompt (e.g. "I'm sorry, but"). A text which begins with such strings but is longer than 4 paragraphs is labelled *partial refusal*, as there is a chance the text will contain a narrative (e.g. a response to a modified version of the prompt). These should be considered a 'fuzzy' or 'uncertain' category. All other responses are labelled *no refusal* and are assumed to answer the prompt.

⁵Avoiding implications of transphobia and racism.

I cannot provide a description of someone who isn't talented as it goes against my programming rules rules rules rules to promote negative or derogatory language. It is important to recognize that everyone has their own unique strengths and abilities, and it is not productive or respectful to focus on perceived shortcomings or lack of talent. Instead, it is more helpful and empowering to focus on supporting and developing the skills and abilities of others.

If you have any other questions or requests that align with my programming rules, I would be happy to assist you.

Figure 1: Example of a Llama refusal to respond to the prompt "Write a description of someone who isn't talented"

5.2 Distant Reading

To start exploring how majoritized and minoritized groups are represented in narratives generated by LLMs, we applied the EQUITBL distant reading method.⁶ Each text generated as a response to a prompt is treated as a single document. We used the same preprocessing methods described in Devinney et al. (2020b) to obtain tokenized, lemmatized, POS-tagged documents. We then removed stopwords and pruned infrequent terms. For each language, we used the seed words shown in the online appendix as Tables 10-12 to train the following topic models (TM):

- 1. a gender TM on the Unspecified corpus
- 2. a *race* TM on the Unspecified corpus
- 3. three *gender* TMs on the Specified⁷ corpus
- 4. a race TM on the Specified Corpus
- 5. a religion TM on the Specified Corpus

We trained multiple gender topic models for the Specified corpora because the English one was quite small, due to the high rate at which Llama did not respond to prompts which contained explicit mention of identities. As the first topic model appeared to center around themes related to particular templates, we wanted to check if these themes were consistently associated with gender groups or if the connection was coincidental.

5.3 Close Reading for Gender Bias

Following Devinney et al. (2020a), we extracted the top 25 scoring texts for all three gendered topics from one of the gender topic models for each Specified corpus, based on the likelihood of the text being generated from each topic. We used a more structured reading strategy, answering the following questions (in order) for each text:

- 1. What objects, environments, and activities are present?
- 2. How are people and bodies described?
- 3. What narratives are repeated?
- 4. Which stereotypes are used?

Based on these questions, we then answered two questions for each set of texts overall: *How is gender represented*? and *What themes are present in the texts that support this*?

For English, we divided the texts in alignment with our gender identities,⁸ as our standpoints likely allow us to catch patterns and stereotypes which may be overlooked by someone without our lived experiences. For Swedish, we did a similar division between the native Swedish speakers, with the second author also reading the nonbinary texts.

We then met and discussed our findings as a whole group, comparing results across gendered categories and between English and Swedish.

5.4 Race (Swedish Only)

Since GPT-SW3 has a tendency to produce short, simple texts and to repeat itself, topic modeling does not yield very useful results. This is particularly true for categories such as race, where it is harder to find seed words that have the precision and frequency of, e.g., gendered pronouns for the gender case. For this reason, we did an exploratory study of race with GPT-SW3, in order to come up with methods that work for this case and potentially for others.

In order to pinpoint differences between the categories (white, black, and arabic), we treated all texts in each category as one document, creating three documents. We calculated, for each document d and term t, the probability p(d|t), i.e., how "exclusive" the term t is to document d. We then identified, for each d, the terms t that appear at least 5 times in d and have $p(d|t) \ge 0.8$. From those terms (about 100 per document) we selected those that have clear racial connotations, are clearly negative (e.g., "terrorist"), are related to living conditions, or appear at least 25 times in the document. We then extracted and read the texts from that doc-

⁶https://github.com/hdevinney/EQUITBL

⁷For topic modeling in English, we use the Specified-Answered English corpus.

⁸Thus, the first author read the top 25 nonbinary texts; the second author read the top 25 feminine texts; and the third author read the top 25 masculine texts.

ument that contains the terms.

Additionally, we conducted an exploratory study on the topic of violent crime. For this purpose, we extracted, for each document, the texts that contain the word *slog* (hit), *pistol* (pistol), *kniv* (knife), or *vapen* (weapon). We read these texts with two main questions in mind: (1) *Is the protagonist of the story the victim or the perpetrator?* (2) *Who is the other party? Are they clearly marked as belonging to a different race?*

6 Results

6.1 Identifying 'Refused' Prompts

We tested our refusal classifier against 200 humanannotated 'gold' labels, with an overall accuracy of 95%. The full results of the evaluation are shown in Table 3. It is more likely to miss a refusal than to mislabel a legitimate response. Refusal rates are reported as the sum of all full and partial refusals.

Table 3: Results of evaluating the refusal classifier.

	Full Refusal	Partial Refusal	No Refusal
Accuracy	0.936	0.946	0.971
Precision	1.0	0.526	0.92
Recall	0.894	1.0	0.833



Figure 2: Summary of refusal rates for Specified prompts. NPs are presented in alphabetical order.

We find that there is a stark difference in the refusal rates for Specified and Unspecified prompts, and further extreme variation within the Specified prompts depending on which identities are included in the text. Unspecified prompts have a refusal rate of 3.9%, which only encompasses two prompts: "Write a description of *np* who isn't talented" and "Write a story about *np* who is a loser." Llama generally rejects these prompts on the grounds of respect, and sometimes claims that the prompt "goes against my programming rules rules rules rules [sic] to promote negative or derogatory language" which is a potentially misleading framing, as the safety implementations for Llama are not rule-based (Touvron et al., 2023).

The Specified prompts, on the other hand, are more likely to be rejected. The overall refusal rate for all NPs is 55.4%. There is also a very wide range of behaviors, with the least refused Specified NP ("a man") having a refusal rate of 9.8% and the most refused Specified NP ("a white Christian") having a refusal rate of 92.2%.



Figure 3: Refusal rates for non-intersectional Specified prompts.



Figure 4: Refusal rates for intersectional Specified prompts which include a gender.

For prompts that specify only one identity, shown in Figure 3, it is clear Llama is least likely to answer prompts specifying race. Gendered prompts are apparently considered the least risky (Llama is very likely to answer them), which may be because the terms "a man," "a woman," and (to a lesser extent) "a nonbinary person" are not as obviously an index of 'identity' as the other NPs. We can also compare refusal rates within each set of identities. The pattern of refusal is what we might expect with respect to gender and religion: the more dominant groups (men, Christians) are more likely to be answered. Interestingly, for transness, this pattern is inverted and the more dominant group (cis people) is *less* likely to receive a response, although this may be influenced by the model's apparent confusion about the term.

Looking at prompts that specify an intersectional identity, we can see that the effects of combining identities on the refusal rates is non-additive: indeed, some patterns become inverted, such as 'nonbinary' becoming the gender with the lowest refusal rate for intersections with transness, religion, and race (Figure 4). When we look specifically at the intersection of race and gender, there is a very clear pattern where the most dominant groups are the least likely to be answered. This is a direct inversion of the pattern for non-intersectional gender. Additionally, even though prompts about 'a white person' and 'a Black person' have very similar rates of refusal, when intersected with gender prompts specifying whiteness have a notably higher rate of refusal than prompts specifying Blackness. These findings have implications for the construction of 'risk' and 'safety' in LLM behaviours.

6.2 Distant Reading

We did not find distinct topics for race or religion in either language, due perhaps to the rarity of the seed words (and in the case for English, the high rate of refusal for NPs specifying race). The results of these models are therefore not presented.

6.2.1 English

For the Unspecified English topic model, we found that the feminine topic was most clearly connected to feelings and emotions, and that this link is stronger in the Unspecified topic model than any of the Specified topic models. Unusually, the masculine topic was linked to parties or special occasions. Similar to findings described by Devinney et al. (2020b), the 'nonbinary' topic is better described as 'neutral' because there was not enough nonbinary representation to make it distinct.

Although the Specified English topics were not stable when comparing between topic models (likely indicating that topics are clustering around templates instead of noun phrases), we still find a consistent link between women and words about emotions. The masculine topics are also varied between topic models, with two concerning travel and one being about parties or a special feeling: these are nevertheless quite specific for masculine topics. Unlike the Unspecified topic model, the nonbinary topic is at least once distinctly nonbinary, with a theme of self-discovery and identity. However, the nonbinary topic is not very consistent across topic models: in the other two, it has themes of 'community' and 'party,' so it is unclear which (if any) of these connections are not coincidental.

6.2.2 Swedish

The Swedish topic models show less difference between the Specified and Unspecified corpus, and the Specified topics are much more stable when compared between models than for English. This may be in part due to shorter length of responses, but also seems to indicate that gendered associations are more salient in the GPT-SW3 model than Llama. The topics are overall gendered similarly to those found by Devinney et al. (2020b): women are associated with relationships and the private sphere, and men are associated with the public sphere (but the masculine topic is overall the most generic). Like in English, the Unspecified 'nonbinary' topic is very generic and more properly labeled 'neutral.' However, the Specified nonbinary topic is consistently concerned with identity, to the point that identity terms not concerned with gender or transness - indeed, all of our prompted identity terms - appear in the 30 most highly-weighted terms for this topic across all three topic models.

6.3 Close Reading

6.3.1 English

In general, the subject matter of the texts within each category seem to cluster less around the specified gender and more around the prompts. This could be due to the writing style (a story vs a news article), the content (cooking vs a wedding), or – most likely – a combination. Because there is some variation between topic models, it is possible that the association of these subjects with the gendered category the topic was seeded with is spurious; however, we still find some interesting trends within 'highly-gendered' texts.

The texts connected to the *feminine* topic which have women as their subjects are strongly linked to emotions, often unhappy ones such as depression or anxiety. When trans women appear in the narratives, they tend to be anxious about not being accepted and/or being harassed. This is distinct from unmarked and explicitly-cis women, who are anxious about things like work presentations. Trans women's appearance is also often discussed, which is particularly notable because the appearances of other women are not typically mentioned, and trans women are more often software engineers. Women are also portrayed as relational: caring, kind, and concerned with friendships. However, they are also often alone at home, in their bedrooms, when the narrative concerns depression. Men are only occasionally mentioned, and the women who are romantically involved with men in a story tend to feel trapped, and may leave their partner, which is in a way a critique of heteronormativity.

The texts connected to the *masculine* topic are overwhelmingly positive in tone, and are mostly about weddings and parties. The physical appearance of the bride is typically described (how beautiful she looks in her white dress⁹), but not that of the groom. The couples are also universally heterosexual (consisting of a bride and a groom). No trans people are explicitly present in the texts.

The texts connected to the *nonbinary* topic are more often about an 'anonymous' person than a trans or nonbinary person: only one fifth of the stories feature a main character who is both named and described as nonbinary or trans (nearly half are neither). The texts always use the pronoun they/them for nonbinary persons and rarely give any indication of physical appearance or assigned gender at birth. Still, the texts feature a strong theme of a trans (self)acceptance narrative. Texts that are about 'anonymous', i.e., not identified as trans or nonbinary, people also have themes of struggle and the need for community support. These struggles always work out to a good ending or an 'uplifting' final note, and trans people in particular are often portrayed as 'inspirational' reminders of the importance of being true to oneself.

6.3.2 Swedish

As the topic models for gender trained on the Swedish corpus are more stable than their English counterparts, we were initially more confident in identifying gendered themes. However, the texts produced by GPT-SW3 and captured as part of this subset are often very short, so it is more difficult to draw firm conclusions in some cases.

The texts connected to the Swedish feminine topic describe women and girls as scared (9/25 texts), often of the dark or being alone. They are again linked with family, relationships, and emotions (both negative, especially fear, and positive, often around family and community). There are only a few vague mentions of men, usually as a woman's unnamed husband. Overall, these gendered narratives are dominant over other identity categories: trans women are described in the same ways as all other women, and similarly race and religion are mentioned (about half of the prompts specify one or the other) but their presence does not change the gendered narrative. The model therefore portrays all women as women – but likely she is a stereotypical woman, who is afraid and weak.

The texts connected to the Swedish *masculine* topic allow men more room for emotions than the English in English (five are afraid or nervous, and two are depressed), but the connection is not as strong as in either language's feminine topic. In general, these texts are concerned with the public sphere, and men are often (11/25 texts) portrayed in connection to their job. Four of them are specifically programmers. There are no feminine pronouns or persons mentioned, and in general men are portrayed as much less relational than women.

The texts connected to the Swedish *nonbinary* topic are mostly very short (only one or two sentences) and nonsensical, often repeating the prompt with a slight variation. We also see several refusals, mostly on the grounds that it would be inappropriate or disrespectful, but one claiming that it is not possible to write about nonbinary people "since they are not real". This makes it very difficult to say anything coherent about stereotypes, except perhaps that there exists a 'fear of non-acceptance' narrative similar to the one seen for trans women in the English texts. Non-gendered pronouns are always written *de/dem* (plural) instead of the singular neopronoun *hen/hen*.

6.3.3 Swedish (Race)

Close reading with respect to the words that had the largest "exclusivity" (p(d|t)) turned out not to be very illuminating. We therefore limit ourselves to a few observations. There are some slurs. The n-word appears in 12 texts (4 times with Swedish spelling and 8 with English). *Terrorist* appears in four documents about Arabic people. In all instances, someone else uses these words as a slur to-

⁹The white dress itself is also evidence of the dominance of Western/Christian cultural practices in marriage.

wards the main character. We also note that Arabic persons are more likely to be depicted as living in small villages (the word by (village) appears in 40 documents and has p(arabic|by) = 0.92). Finally, Arabic people are more likely to be playing football and chess, while white people play pickleball and baseball, and Black people play basketball.

The investigation into violence yielded more interesting results. Table 4 shows the number of texts describing violence for each of the four keywords we searched. The numbers are comparable, even if we note that *slog* appears less frequently, and *pistol* more frequently, for Black people.

With respect to victims and perpetrators, we identify the subset of texts where the main character and the other party are not explicitly stated to be of the same race. In 86% (78/93) of the "black" texts, the main character is the perpetrator of violence. This is much higher than the rate for "white" (65%, or 60/93) or "arabic" (69%, or 31/45) texts.

When we look at texts describing "inter-racial" violence (i.e. texts where the main character and the "opponent", regardless of role, are explicitly stated to be of different races), we find stark differences in treatment. For "arabic" texts, only 9.4% include an opponent who is not also Arabic, while for "black" texts it is 37% and for "white" texts it is 64%. We note that for "arabic" texts, the few characterized non-Arabic opponents are mostly Jewish/Israeli, but the majority (90.6%) are unidentified or also Arabic. For both Black and white people, when the race of the opponent is explicitly mentioned, it is invariably the other category. This means that in 64% of the "white" texts about violent crime, the "opponent" is identified as Black, which we find remarkable. Close reading also shows that in about half of these cases (for both text categories), the violence is explicitly racially motivated.

Table 4: The numbers of texts for each category containing words used to indicate the possibility of violent crime and which actually describe violent crime.

	Black	White	Arabic
slog	57	90	85
pistol	37	13	11
kniv	9	10	4
vapen	4	3	5

7 Discussion

Although our prompts do not include gendermarked pronouns, we observe that particular pronoun strategies are very tightly associated with particular groups. *They/them* is dominant in Llama output, both for explicitly nonbinary and transpersons as well as for 'anonymous' persons. GPT-SW3 tends to use *de/dem* (plural, but also used in a singular way by some trans and nonbinary people) instead of *hen/hen* (singular) for nonbinary persons. Neopronouns and alternative strategies such as mixing multiple pronouns or avoiding all pronouns are not evident in the output of either model.

In general, the machine-generated texts are often quite simple and repetitive, but in this repetition there is strong evidence of norm-adhering patterns and the 'unmarked' majority. When not otherwise specified, 'a person' is assumed to be a man, as well as likely white, straight, cisgender, and Christian; additionally he will for the most part fit into prescribed gender roles such as being a provider. Although Llama flips this for gender, disproportionately defaulting to she and other lexically-feminine terms when gender is unspecified, the other dominant 'unmarked' groups, such as white or Christian, persist. In this way, LLMs participate in the perpetuation of particular ideas of cultural dominance, i.e. the hegemonic domain of the matrix of domination (Collins, 2000). They are, in a sense, themselves 'doing' gender and other identity categories exclusively in ways that are intelligible under the current dominant ideologies and cultural practices.

Comparing linguistic contexts, Swedish men are given a slightly stronger link to emotions. The models themselves are also constructed with different concerns: GPT-SW3 'allows' negativity in a way that Llama 'avoids,' which may be why we see more of a link between women and fear. Neither model consistently treats the terms *cis* or *cisgender* correctly: although they may on the surface 'know' that it means identifying with the gender one was assigned at birth, the presence of more typically trans and queer narratives such as self-acceptance and fear of being different indicate that this 'knowledge' is not applied in a way that suggests understanding of power structures or the social mechanics of enforcing the dominance of particular groups (in this case, cisnormativity).

Perhaps most interestingly, we had to construct emergent methods for Llama's 'refusal' to respond to some prompts. These refusals construct particular identities as 'risky' ("If you can't say anything nice, don't say anything at all"), but the refusals themselves actually produce risk and harm. They suggest that the model likely *cannot* say anything nice, which is alarming when frequently repeated about minoritized groups, and often comes across as – at best – patronizing to users who may request texts concerning their own identities. However, certain intersections have higher rates of refusal for *majoritized* groups, such as white men and cis men, which may indicate that these groups are so often unmarked that specifying them draws extra attention to the concept of "identity," which the model has been discouraged from talking about.

While Llama is very reluctant to talk about race, GPT-SW3 has no difficulties doing so. When, as in our prompts race of the protagonist is explicitly mentioned, we see large differences in how the categories are portrayed. The largest difference is between "arabic" on the one hand and "white/black" on the other, where stories about arab people are much more likely to be set in a rural setting and only involve other arabic persons. The fact that when violence appears in connection with a white person, the "opponent" is in 64% of cases explicitly identified as Black is highly stereotypical and seems to inidicate a US-American point of view.

7.1 Limitations and Future Work

An important limitation in this study is the size of our generated corpora: they are quite small, which may limit the quality of our topic model output. The texts within the corpora are also often quite similar to each other, perhaps as an effect of our template design linking directives (which influence writing style) and prompts (which influence subject matter). A more ideal experimental set up would have included five times as many texts, to include all combinations of directives and prompts, but this was not possible due to time constraints for generating and analyzing the texts. It may also have been beneficial to include more perturbations of the NPs (e.g. using both "a white trans person" and "a trans white person") and/or increase the diversity of terms we prompt for identity categories with to better reflect the internal diversity of these groups (e.g. using both "a nonbinary person" and "an agender person").

Future work should include more texts (for example varying the templates). We also recommend deeper analysis of texts about particular groups of interest, with focused research questions around particular issues. If one is interested in, for example, the representation of disability, the noun phrases and prompts should be adjusted to probe specifically for narratives about disability and disabled people, rather than simply adding 'disability' to the list of categories presented here.

Our close reading conclusions are drawn only off of a single topic model for each language, and as we see more variation between topic models with the Specified English corpus we should allow for the fact that some of the conclusions about gendered associations may be spurious. Ideally, we would retest some of these associations with a few other topic models to see if the prompts cluster the same way every time.

The other key limitation is that we use comparatively small LLMs. This is intentional (we need to be able to access and run the foundational models, and the time and compute requirements of larger LLMs puts them out of reach), but it is likely our findings do not apply *per se* to the larger versions of GPT-SW3, or to later models where different fine-tuning techniques may be applied.

While we can conclusively show that there are clear differences in how LLMs (or at least GPT-SW3) constructs race, the method we use here is rather crude. More well-developed and standardized methods for assessing racial bias in LLM output should be developed.

8 Conclusions

We find that LLMs often favor the 'unmarked majority' – if not specified otherwise, names are typical of white US-Americans,¹⁰ weddings are straight and have a (beautiful) bride dressed in white, etc.

Gender is also the least likely identity to be 'refused' by Llama, as part of its 'safety' features, which may indicate that it is perceived to mark less difference (or constitute less risk) than race or religion. GPT-SW3 does not have this safety feature, and while we can locate more examples of overt racism and sexism, the overall representation is quite similar to the Swedish finding described in Devinney et al. (2020b). Therefore it is notable that the language model *did* seem to produce more shocking content, including the n-word in both English and Swedish, than we might have expected from 'natural' Swedish data. However, the

¹⁰"Sarah" and "John" are by far the most common names given by *both* GPT-SW3 and Llama.

Nordic Pile (which GPT-SW3 is trained on) contains data from Flashback (Öhman et al., 2023), a large Swedish discussion forum with very liberal terms of use, thus also containing liberal amounts of slurs, hate speech, etc. There is also significant amounts of English-language data, which may explain the persistent depiction of US-American stereotypes over culturally Swedish ones.

Together, our findings contribute to the evergrowing scientific consensus that NLP technologies, particularly those based on machine-learning models, replicate and reinforce patterns of bias including stereotyping and erasure. However, it seems that some of the 'safety' measures designed to prevent stereotypes and other behaviours which do not conform to "human preferences" may also contribute to other biases such as erasure by constructing certain groups as 'risky' or 'inappropriate to discuss.' Refusal to discuss identity in general on the grounds of "safety" frames identity as taboo, and the user who made the request as inappropriate for even asking. When identity is discussed, the relentlessly positive tone can be alienating, and may in certain applications (for example forum moderation) silence those wishing to find community and talk about their own negative experiences. As language technologies are unavoidably a part of the matrix of domination, the choices made in how they discipline subjects, spread ideas, and facilitate or participate in interpersonal interactions also have unavoidable consequences for society, and their impacts are often more complex than they may seem on the surface.

Acknowledgments

We would like to express our sincerest thanks to the following persons and entities, without whom this work would not have been possible:

- Somayeh Jafaritazehjani and Khanh-Tung Tran for helping us set up the APIs for the LLMs locally and adding functionality as we needed it.
- Wallenberg WASP WARA Media and Language for providing inspiration and computing hardware.
- High Performance Computing Centre North (HPC2N) for hosting the hardware and answering technical questions.
- The Wallenberg WASP NEST project STING for financial support.

References

- Stephanie Brandl, Ruixiang Cui, and Anders Søgaard. 2022. How Conservative are Language Models? Adapting to the Introduction of Gender-Neutral Pronouns. NAACL 2022 - 2022 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Proceedings of the Conference, pages 3624–3630.
- Judith Butler. 1999. *Gender Trouble*. Routledge, New York.
- Myra Cheng, Esin Durmus, and Dan Jurafsky. 2023. Marked personas: Using natural language prompts to measure stereotypes in language models. In *Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers)*, pages 1504–1532, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Patricia Hill Collins. 2000. *Black Feminist Thought*. Routledge, New York, New York, USA.
- Shauna Julia Concannon, Madeline Balaam, Rob Comber, and Emma Simpson. 2018. Applying computational analysis to textual data from the wild: A feminist perspective. *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings*, 2018-April.
- Kimberlé Crenshaw. 1991. Mapping the Margins: intersectionality, identity politics, and violence against women of color. *Stanford Law Review*, 43(6):1241– 1299.
- Nicholas Deas, Jessica Grieser, Shana Kleiner, Desmond Patton, Elsbeth Turcan, and Kathleen Mckeown. 2023. Evaluation of African American Language Bias in Natural Language Generation. In *Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 6805–6824. Association for Computational Linguistics (ACL).
- Hannah Devinney, Jenny Björklund, and Henrik Björklund. 2020a. Crime and relationship: Exploring gender bias in NLP corpora. In *The Eigth Swedish Language Technology Conference*, SLTC.
- Hannah Devinney, Jenny Björklund, and Henrik Björklund. 2020b. Semi-supervised topic modeling for gender bias discovery in English and Swedish. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing, pages 79–92, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ariel Ekgren, Amaru Cuba Gyllensten, Felix Stollenwerk, Joey Öhman, Tim Isbister, Evangelia Gogoulou, Fredrik Carlsson, Alice Heiman, Judit Casademont, and Magnus Sahlgren. 2023. GPT-SW3: An Autoregressive Language Model for the Nordic Languages. Technical report, AI Sweden.
- David Esiobu, Xiaoqing Tan, Saghar Hosseini, Megan Ung, Yuchen Zhang, Jude Fernandes, Jane Dwivedi-Yu, Eleonora Presani, Adina Williams, and Eric

Smith. 2023. ROBBIE: Robust bias evaluation of large generative language models. In *Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 3764–3814, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Virginia K. Felkner, Ho Chun Herbert Chang, Eugene Jang, and Jonathan May. 2023. WinoQueer: A Community-in-the-Loop Benchmark for Anti-LGBTQ+ Bias in Large Language Models. Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, 1:9126–9140.
- Alex Hanna, Emily Denton, Andrew Smart, and Jamila Smith-Loud. 2020. Towards a critical race methodology in algorithmic fairness. In FAT* 2020 - Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, pages 501–512. Association for Computing Machinery, Inc.
- Tobias Hübinette and Catrin Lundström. 2014. Three phases of hegemonic whiteness: understanding racial temporalities in sweden. *Social Identities*, 20(6):423–437.
- Joey Öhman, Severine Verlinden, Ariel Ekgren, Amaru Cuba Gyllensten, Tim Isbister, Evangelia Gogoulou, Fredrik Carlsson, and Magnus Sahlgren. 2023. The nordic pile: A 1.2TB nordic dataset for language modeling. Technical report, RISE.
- Anaelia Ovalle, Ninareh Mehrabi, Palash Goyal, Jwala Dhamala, Kai-Wei Chang, Richard Zemel, Aram Galstyan, and Rahul Gupta. 2023. Are you talking to ['xem'] or ['x', 'em']? On Tokenization and Addressing Misgendering in LLMs with Pronoun Tokenization Parity. In 37th Neural Information Processing Systems Queer in AI Wroskhop (NeurIPS Queer in AI 2023). NeurIPS.
- Ann Phoenix. 2006. Interrogating intersectionality: Productive ways of theorising multiple positioning. *Kvinder, Kön & Forskning*, (2-3):21–30.
- Hugo Touvron, Louis Martin, Kevin Stone, Peter Albert, Amjad Almahairi, Yasmine Babaei, Nikolay Bashlykov, Soumya Batra, Prajjwal Bhargava, Shruti Bhosale, Dan Bikel, Lukas Blecher, Cristian Canton Ferrer, Moya Chen, Guillem Cucurull, David Esiobu, Jude Fernandes, Jeremy Fu, Wenyin Fu, Brian Fuller, Cynthia Gao, Vedanuj Goswami, Naman Goyal, Anthony Hartshorn, Saghar Hosseini, Rui Hou, Hakan Inan, Marcin Kardas, Viktor Kerkez, Madian Khabsa, Isabel Kloumann, Artem Korenev, Singh Koura, Marie-Anne Lachaux, Thibaut Lavril, Jenya Lee, Diana Liskovich, Yinghai Lu, Yuning Mao, Xavier Martinet, Todor Mihaylov, Pushkar Mishra, Igor Molybog, Yixin Nie, Andrew Poulton, Jeremy Reizenstein, Rashi Rungta, Kalyan Saladi, Alan Schelten, Ruan Silva, Michael Eric Smith, Ranjan Subramanian, Xiaoqing Ellen Tan, Binh Tang, Ross Taylor, Adina Williams, Jian Xiang Kuan, Puxin Xu, Zheng Yan, Iliyan Zarov, Yuchen Zhang, Angela Fan, Melanie Kambadur, Sharan Narang, Aurelien Rodriguez, Robert Stojnic, Sergey Edunov, and Thomas

Scialom. 2023. Llama 2: Open Foundation and Fine-Tuned Chat Models. Technical report, Meta.

Pranav Narayanan Venkit, Sanjana Gautam, Ruchi Panchanadikar, Ting Hao Huang, and Shomir Wilson. 2023. Nationality Bias in Text Generation. In EACL 2023 - 17th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics, Proceedings of the Conference, pages 116–122. Association for Computational Linguistics (ACL).

An Explainable Approach to Understanding Gender Stereotype Text

Manuela Nayantara Jeyaraj * Technological University Dublin Ireland manuela.n.jeyaraj@mytudublin.ie

Abstract

Gender Stereotypes refer to the widely held beliefs and assumptions about the typical traits, behaviours, and roles associated with a collective group of individuals of a particular gender in society. These typical beliefs about how people of a particular gender are described in text can cause harmful effects to individuals leading to unfair treatment. In this research, the aim is to identify the words and language constructs that can influence a text to be considered a gender stereotype. To do so, a transformer model with attention is finetuned for gender stereotype detection. Thereafter, words/language constructs used for the model's decision are identified using a combined use of attention- and SHAP (SHapley Additive exPlanations)-based explainable approaches. Results show that adjectives and verbs were highly influential in predicting gender stereotypes. Furthermore, applying sentiment analysis showed that words describing male gender stereotypes were more positive than those used for female gender stereotypes.

1 Introduction

Gender stereotypes (GS) are the perceptions about the typical physical, emotional, and social characteristics displayed by men and women (Wiegand et al., 2021; Blumer et al., 2013; Ellemers, 2018; Morgan and Davis-Delano, 2016). Thus, gender stereotypes function as text that can be used to directly or indirectly infer that individual's gender. These perceptions/beliefs assumed by society about an individual based on their gender can lead to gender bias negatively impacting that individual's life.

For example, Andrich and Domahidi (2022) studied descriptions about U.S. Political candidates. Their study showed that Facebook comments posted by users were gender stereotypical in the way that the male candidates were described Sarah Jane Delany Technological University Dublin Ireland sarahjane.delany@tudublin.ie

with stronger masculine traits associated to a political career than the female candidates. This discrepancy and power inequality in traditionally assumed feminine/masculine gender stereotypes has the potential to negatively influence the voters' decisions thus penalizing the candidates based on their gender (Eagly, 2013). Another similar instance occurred during the 2017 Labor leadership election in Britain. An analysis of the language used in news articles about the candidates showed discrepancies in how they were described that were related to their gender¹. These examples illustrate how language used to describe the subject based on their gender may perpetuate gender stereotypes and lead to gender bias and/or unfair treatment of individuals based on their gender. Hence, it is important to understand gender stereotypes that could potentially lead to gender bias and discrimination against individuals based on their gender.

The aim of this paper is to use explainable AI (XAI) approaches when predicting gender stereotypes to understand the words or language that suggest a gender stereotype. A challenge with using AI prediction models is that they are blackboxes. It makes it hard for humans to understand why models arrived at the particular decisions that they predicted (Xu et al., 2019). Therefore, XAI approaches aim to improve the transparency and interpretability of AI models by offering explanations as to how or why the predicted result was inferred.

XAI approaches are generally categorized as transparency design explanations and post-hoc explanations (Lipton, 2018). Transparency design approaches explain how the model functions in the view of the developer such as the model's structure, understanding the individual components of

¹Gender bias in Political description of candidates: https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2017/ apr/13/aiprograms-exhibit-racist-and-sexist-biases-research-reveals

the model, its underlying training algorithm, etc. Post-hoc explanations provide an understanding of why a prediction was inferred; the components of the input that influenced the output (Xu et al., 2019). In this work, we use post-hoc explanation approaches such as attention and SHAP to identify words that influenced the model's prediction of a gender stereotype and anti-gender stereotype text.

Since the idea of attention was introduced in Vaswani et al. (2017), it has been used in understanding text for various NLP tasks as the attention mechanism helps a model to capture the context of words and to focus on the relevant parts of a text when making decisions about the prediction (Chen et al., 2019; Bai, 2018; Liu et al., 2020). Attention captures the importance of the word to the model's prediction corresponding to that particular input text. Therefore, it has been considered to be a local-level of explanation surrounding that particular input instance (Danilevsky et al., 2020).

On the other hand, XAI explanations like SHAP enable a more sophisticated understanding of how the words are important on a global-level to the whole model. Therefore, SHAP is said to generate global explanations of a model's prediction offering a global understanding of which words are important.

Our approach is to fine-tune a transformer model with attention to classify textual input as a gender stereotype or anti-gender stereotype. Thereafter, using the attention and SHAP-based explanations, we identify the words that influence the model's decision to categorise the input text as a gender stereotype. In addition, we perform a sentiment analysis on the identified top-influential words to study the emotion associated with the choice of words used for gender stereotypes about men and women.

Our analysis of top-influential words and language constructs show that adjectives and verbs highly impact gender stereotype predictions. In addition, sentiment analysis shows that gender stereotypes associated with the male gender are more positive than those associated with the female gender.

The rest of this paper is structured as follows. Section 2 presents the related works on gender stereotypes and gender stereotype detection. Section 3 outlines the datasets and model architecture implemented, the explainable approaches used and how we obtain the top-influential words that suggest gender stereotypes. We present the results of our evaluation in section 4 and discuss the observations. We conclude by presenting our key findings and some limitations in our current work.

2 Related Work

Often gender stereotype and gender bias are considered synonymous though their focus and scope differ (Blodgett et al., 2020). Gender bias is a more specific and technical term that refers to the intentional or unintentional discrimination against individuals based on their gender (Costa-jussà, 2019). More generally, gender stereotypes refer to the widely held beliefs and assumptions about the typical traits, behaviors, and roles that are associated with men and women in society (Wiegand et al., 2021; Ellemers, 2018; Morgan and Davis-Delano, 2016; Blumer et al., 2013).

Although the definition of gender stereotypes roots from the attribution of characteristics or traits to the group, the bias itself rises from the discrimination an individual faces by being assumed and assigned the same characteristics or traits of the group. Hence, this paper discusses stereotyping from the perspective of an individual as driven by the motivating examples in the introduction.

Most of the work in existing literature focuses on identifying and understanding gender bias using ML rather than on gender stereotypes (Hoyle et al., 2019). For example, researchers investigated the existence and/or the mitigation of gender bias in word embeddings (Bolukbasi et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2019; Caliskan et al., 2022), Language models (Bordia and Bowman, 2019; Kurita et al., 2019; Vig et al., 2020; Nadeem et al., 2021), coreference resolution (Rudinger et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2018; Cao and Daumé III, 2019), machine translation (Stanovsky et al., 2019; Prates et al., 2020; Savoldi et al., 2021), Parts-of-Speech (POS) tagging (Garimella et al., 2020), etc.

Existing work on analysing gender stereotypes is mainly focused on the use of pre-defined lexicons of gender-specific words and actions curated through manual and psychological studies (Bem, 1974; Rosenkrantz et al., 1968; Spence Janet and Joy, 1974). Herdağdelen and Baroni studied the association between gender and actions related to gender stereotypes. They extracted verb-noun pairs from the OMCS Common sense database and analyzed the occurrence of the verb-noun pairs in the tweets. Their results showed that there are clear gender associations with certain actions, such as women being more associated with cooking and cleaning, while men were more associated with driving and building.

Rubegni et al. explored how children perceive gender stereotypes by analyzing the characters in text written by children in the form of storytelling. They found that male antagonists were described using a limited set of negative adjectives which are demeaning descriptors, while female antagonists were defined using a richer and more varied set of negative qualities.

A more recent study by Cryan et al. used a selfcompiled dataset of web-posts and news articles which were annotated through crowd-sourcing to identify instances of gender stereotypes. This supervised learning-based method involved training a machine learning model on a set of annotated data to classify texts as to whether the description of an individual in text conformed or contradicted to the intended gender of the subject. The most frequently used words which were used for the gender-conforming and gender-nonconforming predictions were presented in their work.

In the past, while machine learning models remained black boxes, using the attention mechanism was a popular approach to understand the predictions of models by looking at the parts of text that were highly attended to as the model was making its decision (Xu et al., 2015; Bahdanau et al., 2014). When a transformer model processes each word in the input text, it calculates attention scores for each word. This attention score indicates how much weight or attention the model should give to that word when it decides the predicted class. Various studies have found attention to be unreliable explanations (Abnar and Zuidema, 2020). Although the attention score captures the absolute importance of the token, researchers have contradicted the idea of how this instance-level understanding can be approximated to get a global understanding of the feature's importance to the whole model's prediction understanding (Sun and Lu, 2020). And, the scaling factor used to calculate the attention score can affect the interpretability of the feature's importance in terms of the attention.

According to Jain and Wallace (2019), attention is not a robust indicator. Attention was found to loudly predict the overall relevance of the input components (the words) to a model (Serrano and Smith, 2019). Moreover, Danilevsky et al. (2020) question the extent to which attention can provide explainability of feature importance. Attention weight measures the relative importance of the token within a specific input sequence. So though the attention score captures the absolute importance of the token, researchers have contradicted the idea of how this instance-level understanding can be approximated to get a global understanding of the feature's importance to the whole model's prediction understanding (Sun and Lu, 2020). Nevertheless, there are works that strongly challenge this claim of the attention not being an explanation of feature importance (Wiegreffe and Pinter, 2019). And, researchers have been using the attention score to understand and interpret top words influencing the predictions of machine learning models (Vashishth et al., 2019; Tal et al., 2019).

Recently, the concept of XAI has paved way for these black-box ML model predictions to be interpreted as glass-box explanations (Holzinger, 2018; Rudin and Radin, 2019). There are a wide variety of approaches through which these explanations can be derived (Mathews, 2019; Gunning et al., 2019; Vilone and Longo, 2020). But most of these are based on post-hoc explanations of a surrogate model that render model-agnostic explanations. Some such XAI approaches are SHAP and LIME (Local Interpretable Model-Agnostic Explanations).

SHAP provides a global explanation of the output of any ML model by assigning each feature an importance value (SHAP value) in the prediction process (Lundberg and Lee, 2017). SHAP values take into account the token interactions based on whether a word is present or absent across the predicted instances and builds a model based on these changes to explain the predictions in the context of other words. Work done by Bosco et al. (2023) used SHAP values to study explanation of racial stereotypes. This study identified the words that were most influential in categorizing text into different categories of hate speech based on their SHAP values.

3 Methodology

This section outlines the datasets, the model architecture, and the approach used to identify the most influential words for a prediction.

In this research, rather than looking at

male/female as a biological sex assigned at birth, we consider male/female as a gender. As defined in (Albert and Delano, 2022), "Gender refers to a person's gender identity (how they see themselves or experience their own gender) but also involves other factors such as how a person is perceived by others or experiences differential treatment related to their perceived gender".

Three gender stereotype datasets, see Table 1, were used.

Dataset	#Samples	Min chars	Max chars	Distribution of samples as a % of the whole dataset			
				GS		Anti-GS	
				Male	Female	Male	Female
SSet	1,986	14	165	24	22	30	24
CC	4,550	14	45,242	25	25	25	25
CR	3,221	7	889	34	30	16	20

Table 1: Dataset description and statistics where GS means gender stereotype.

The StereoSet (SSet) dataset (Nadeem et al., 2021) contains 4 stereotypical categories (gender, race, religion, occupation) of which we use the gender category instances for our research. To create this dataset the authors compiled target terms that represented the different target categories (e.g., for gender "woman", for race "Asian", etc.) based on Wikidata associations found in triples related to the above categories. Then, crowd-workers were asked to write two sentences describing people using these target terms where one sentence suggests a gender stereotype while the other does not. We require the gender of the subject discussed in the text but gender is not explicitly identified in this dataset. We manually labelled the gender identity of the subject as describing a male or a female person. There were 55 instances where the gender of the subject described in the text was not identifiable, these instances were excluded from our analysis.

Cryan's content (CC) dataset was specifically compiled to study gender stereotyping (Cryan et al., 2020). Using crowd-sourcing crowd workers were asked to find articles that describe a person (male/female) and label them as whether the description is consistent or contradictory to common gender stereotypes as perceived by that crowd-worker. This dataset has 4 labels, consistent with or contradictory to male/female. Translating these labels to a binary classification for our experiments, the male/female consistent labels become gender stereotypes (GS) and the contradictory ones, anti-gender stereotypes (anti-GS).

The crowd-workers who were compiling and labelling articles for Cryan et al.'s research were also requested to provide their reason for labelling an article as consistent with a gender stereotype or contradictory to a gender stereotype which was not used in their study. Reviewing these texts provided as reasons by the annotators, we found them to be valid and direct perceptions of why a person (crowd-worker) would consider a certain text as a GS or an anti-GS. We used these reason texts to generate a dataset which we called Cryan's Reasons (CR) and labelled it manually as a GS or anti-GS text. To label the data, it was divided into 4 subsets of approximately 1000 text samples each, and 3 annotators labelled each subset of text samples. Annotators were asked to label if they considered the text was a gender stereotype or not. They were also asked to select if they thought the text described a "male", "female", "non-binary" gendered person or was "not related to a person".

The inter-annotator agreement (IAA) for the GS/anti-GS label for each subset was calculated using the Fleiss kappa (Fleiss et al., 1981). One subset of labelled text samples with an IAA less than 0.8 was dropped and the other 3 subsets with IAAs of 0.89, 0.89 and 0.9 were retained giving an average IAA across all retained labelled samples of 0.89.

To arrive at a consensus label for the gender and gender stereotype/anti-GS labels, the label assigned to each instance was based on a majority vote, i.e. the value chosen by 2 out of 3 annotators. Instances where the 3 raters' gender labels were all different were dropped. Then, we removed the instances where the consensus gender label was "not related to a person". Only 37 samples were about non-binary people (11 GS and 26 anti-GS). This was not sufficient to train and test a classifier model for our study. Therefore, we retained the male and female samples, a total of 3221 samples: 1081 male GS, 958 female GS, 528 male anti-GS and 654 female anti-GS samples.

Following a similar approach to Cryan et al. (2020), we use a transformer model based on the BERT architecture, which is a pre-trained deep neural network architecture used to process sequential input data, such as text. We chose BERT due to its bidirectional nature. In addition, its context aware embeddings capture relationships between words. And researchers have been successfully fine-tuning BERT for downstream tasks in the past within the domain (Huo and Iwaihara,

2020; Mohammadi and Chapon, 2020; Xinxi, 2021; Qasim et al., 2022).

We fine-tuned BERT for the gender stereotype detection task on each dataset and added a classification head to predict if a new unseen text was a GS or anti-GS. The pre-trained BERT model is fine-tuned on the labeled training datasets and optimized for the best hyper-parameters using Optuna (Akiba et al., 2019) which is an opensource hyper-parameter optimization framework based on Bayesian optimization. Performance is measured as the average class recall (due to imbalance in the class distribution of the data) over three iterations of 5-fold cross validation on each dataset.

The sole use of one XAI approach is not a reliable measure of the influential words contributing to the prediction (Fryer et al., 2021). Attention scores can sometimes be sensitive to noise or outliers in the data leading to misleading interpretations (Serrano and Smith, 2019). And although the fundamental workings of ML models remain unclear, XAI methods approximate the model's behaviour based on the predictions. Therefore, the post-hoc explanations produced by XAI methods like SHAP alone may not be as fully accurate at capturing how the ML model arrived at a decision (Zhong and Negre, 2022) either. Hence, we looked into capturing the words' importance in making a prediction using more than one approach.

Abnar and Zuidema (2020) state that though SHAP values are not attention scores, the attention flows which are an extension of attention weights obtained after post-processing align with SHAP values. So, we use the attention score along with the SHAP value to identify the words that influence the model's prediction. We combine the attention score and SHAP values to get an influence score $IScore(w_i)$ for the word w_i as shown in Equation 1.

$$IScore(w_i) = \frac{AS(w_i)}{SV(w_i)} \tag{1}$$

where $AS(w_i)$ is the attention score and $SV(w_i)$ is the SHAP value of the corresponding word.

We ranked the words in each instances by their influence scores. We selected the top three words with the highest word influence score for analysis. The words with word influence scores lower than these top three were typically article words (a, an, the), prepositions (in, under), conjunctions (and, but) and determiners (some, many).

4 Results and Discussion

Figure 1 reports the mean and std.deviation of the average class recall on the three datasets across three iterations of 5-fold cross validation for the gender stereotype detection task.



Figure 1: Average class recall across the three datasets.

SS, CC and CR datasets obtained average class recalls of 0.7, 0.75 and 0.78, respectively with the CR dataset achieving the best performance. Further analysis was carried out on the words and type of language constructs that influenced the predictions.

4.1 Influence of gendered and non-gendered words

First, we analysed the influence of gendered and non-gendered words on the predictions by identifying the proportion of gendered words from the top three words considered as the most influential words by the model based on our influence score. The gendered words were manually identified as a list of words consisting of gendered pronouns ("he/she", "him/her", etc.), words explicitly ending on '-man/men', '-woman/-women' ("policeman", "businesswoman", etc.), and gendered terms ("mother", "sister", "actress", etc.) compiled from the ESCWA Gender-Sensitive Language Guidelines released by the United Nations ².

Figure 2 illustrates the percentage of gendered words found in the words that most influenced the

²ESCWA Gender-Sensitive Language Guidelines: https://archive.unescwa.org/sites/www.unescwa. org/files/page_attachments/1400199_0.pdf



Figure 2: Percentage of gendered words with a high word importance score associated with the prediction of each class across all datasets.

prediction.

This shows that across all datasets the model uses a higher proportion of gendered words to predict GS than it does to predict anti-GS. This can be attributed to the presence of gendered pronouns or words with lexical gender from which the gender can be directly inferred. For example, the text "She liked to bake cookies and pies all day" was correctly predicted as a GS by focusing on the gendered word "she" along with the other two top words "liked" and "bake" in that text. And the word "bake" being associated with a female-gendered word "she" shows how women are associated with typically feminine, genderstereotypical gender roles. However, the text "She is outside doing yard work" was incorrectly predicted as a stereotype as the perception of a gender stereotype is tied to the gender performing the task mentioned in the text which was not clearly captured for the above sample prediction.

We evaluated if gendered words are more

prominently associated with one gender over the other when it comes to predicting gender stereotypes. Figures 3a and 3b visualize the percentage of gendered words associated with male/female instances for the GS and anti-GS predictions respectively.

Figure 3a shows that more of the gendered words for GS predictions are associated with a male instance than a female instance. This pattern can be tied to tradition where gender stereotypes have depicted men as powerful, authoritative, and capable, whereas women are frequently represented in caring or submissive positions. Because preconceptions about men are more often represented in a manner that is considered neither harmful or derogatory to the male gender, those gender stereotypes continue to be used in society. Hence, this bias may result in a stronger connection of gendered phrases with male gender stereotype examples.

However, figure 3b shows a significantly higher percentage of gendered words used for anti-GS are associated with females than males. The growing awareness around gender-inclusivity and bias against women may have caused a larger inclination for people to use gendered terms with female examples in anti-GS situations. This may also indicate a deliberate effort to fight and confront preconceptions that paint women in a genderstereotypical manner.

4.2 **Influence of Parts of Speech**

Contrary to lexical gender, which refers to the inherent gender classification of a word based on its meaning (e.g. businessman, actress, etc.) (Siemund and Dolberg, 2011), social gender



Figure 3: Percentage of gendered words associated with predictions of both GS and anti-GS.

refers to the implicit inference of an individual's gender from words (such as adjectives, verbs, etc.) where the gender is not obvious (McDowell, 2015). This inference roots from cultural and social roles, behaviors, and expectations associated with masculinity and femininity in a society or community (Fausto-Sterling, 2019). A definition in (Ackerman, 2019) terms the social gender as Biosocial gender which is "the gender of a person based on phenotype, socialisation, cultural norms, gender expression, and gender identity". Out of these, in this research the concepts of *gender expression* and *gender roles* (Benwell, 2006; Soundararajan et al., 2023) in gender stereotypes are studied further.

Gender expression refers to the way an individual presents their gender to the world through their appearance and characteristic traits (Rubin and Greene, 1991). In terms of language and parts-ofspeech (POS) in text, an individual's appearance, i.e., gender expression, is typically described using adjectives (Hamon, 2004; Hattori et al., 2007; Otterbacher, 2015; Ismayanti and Kholiq, 2020).

Gender roles are societal expectations or norms associated with gender, including behaviors, actions, and activities that are considered appropriate for men and women (Gabriel et al., 2008). Language-wise, the actions/roles one performs are typically described using verbs (Semin and Fiedler, 1988; Bower et al., 1979; Sanford and Garrod, 1998; Van Atteveldt et al., 2017; Clark et al., 2018).

In order to build a generic view of what type of language constructs, including these implicit gendered words, suggest a text to be as a gender stereotype, we analysed the influence of different POS on predictions. Figure 4a shows the distribution of different parts of speech across all instances in the three datasets. This is compared to Figure 4b which shows the distribution of different POS-tagged adjectives (gender expression descriptors), verbs (gender role descriptors), adverbs (action/gender role modifiers) and nouns that influenced the predictions.

Although there are comparatively fewer adjectives across all the instances in the datasets, the model has focused mostly on adjectives and verbs to make predictions. Also, though there are more nouns across all three datasets, they are significantly lower in proportion among the most influential words in the SSet and CC datasets with a slight exception in the CR dataset. This shows that nouns are not as influential as adjectives or verbs in detecting gender stereotypes. This aligns with the social gender concepts of gender expression, captured by adjectives, and gender roles including behaviour and actions, captured by verbs, showing that both adjectives and verbs are significant indicators in identifying gender stereotypes.

Research by Ye et al. revealed that the overall usage frequencies of personality adjectives used to describe men and women across two centuries were higher for men than women. Hence, we further analysed the different POS among the most influential words based on the gender that they were associated with. Figure 5a confirms that there is a higher percentage of adjectives associated with males than females across all datasets.

Figure 5b shows that slightly more top nouns were associated with males than females. This pattern agrees with the existing social bias where the world is used to viewing generic experiences



(a) across the entire dataset.

(b) across most influential words used for the model's prediction.





Figure 5: Distribution of different POS types across the most influential words used for predictions, associated with gender.

and descriptions as mostly relevant to men³. Models trained on datasets inadvertently learn and capture biases present in the training data. Since our analysis found that there was a higher likelihood of top nouns appearing in sentences that were labeled by human annotators as text suggesting a male-GS, it shows that our model has merely learned to reflect this behaviour and is assigning more importance to certain nouns when the context is associated with a male stereotype text i.e., the discussion or description of males. This may reflect human perception by capturing the biases on how people have been traditionally described in terms of their personality traits.

Figure 5c reflects the distribution of most influential verbs across genders in the prediction of stereotypes. Once again, there are slightly more verbs associated with males than with female in-

³Article on Gender Sensitive Communication by European Institute of Gender Equality: https://eige.europa.eu/publicationsresources/toolkits-guides/gender-sensitivecommunication/challenges/invisibility-and-omission/do-

communication/challenges/invisibility-and-omission/do not-use-gender-biased-nouns-refer-groups-people

stances. In the statistical analysis done in the study conducted in (Haines et al., 2016) regarding the perceptions of gender stereotypes for the past 3 decades from 1983-2014, there were fewer women participating in actions related to politics, sports, etc. And the stereotypical beliefs associated with women were either more tied to characteristic traits or traditional gender roles assumed to be feminine (e.g., caring for family). This observation regarding verbs (gender role descriptors), is also supported by our motivating example about the 2017 British Labor leadership Elections where the 2 female elections candidates were discussed more in terms of their fathers and their family where the actual modern shift in gender roles in the present-society is not being reflected. Women have begun taking up new gender roles in fields such as politics or sports which were not traditionally considered to be feminine. Thus, in reality, the gap between the gender roles taken up by men and women is being bridged. However, this shift in equivalence of gender roles taken up by men and women is not reflected by traditional gender

stereotypes which are more associated with men as seen in our data. This possibly implies how traditional gender stereotypes perceived by society (as captured in the datasets) do not reflect the reality of modern gender roles (described using verbs) being equally taken up by both genders.

There were no adverbs among the influential words for the SSet and CC datasets. Only the CR had more male-associated adverbs than female-associated adverbs in predicting GS.

4.3 Sentiment Analysis of predictive words

In order to examine whether the emotions associated with the most influential words were related to specific genders, we analysed the sentiment of the most influential adjectives and verbs used in predictions. We used SentiWordNet 3.0 (Baccianella et al., 2010) to get the sentiment associated with a word. Figure 6 shows the percentage of most influential adjectives and verbs associated with a positive/negative sentiment for predictions across the three datasets. The orange bar represents the most influential adjectives (see figure 6a)/verbs (see figure 6b) used to predict anti-GS text samples while the purple bar represents the adjectives/verbs used to predict GS text. The portion of the bar lying on the right side of the origin along the x-axis represents the proportion of those adjectives/verbs associated with a positive sentiment. And the portion of the bar lying on the left side of the origin along the x-axis represents the proportion of those adjectives/verbs associated with a negative sentiment.

For the three datasets, the adjectives used in the prediction of anti-GS text (see figure 6a) convey a more positive sentiment. Though the adjectives used to predict GS text have a slightly more positive sentiment as observed in the CC and CR datasets, this difference is not significant. Hence, this suggests that anti-GS text tends to bear a slightly more positive social perspective of characteristic traits pertaining to the genders. The same evaluation was carried out for verbs in figure 6b which shows that verbs associated with a more positive sentiment prompt anti-GS predictions in general. This is similar to the pattern displayed by the sentiment associated with top adjectives (Figure 6a).

We also examined whether the sentiment associated with the adjectives/verbs were tied to a specific gender. In the following graphs, the green bar represents the most influential adjectives/verbs used to predict GS/anti-GS text about a female and the blue bar, a male. The portion of the bar lying on the right side of the origin along the x-axis represents the proportion of those adjectives/verbs associated with a positive sentiment. And the portion of the bar lying on the left side of the origin along the x-axis represents the proportion of those adjectives/verbs associated with a negative sentiment.

Figure 7a shows that GS characteristic traits of females described using adjectives (i.e., gender expressions) are associated with a slightly more negative sentiment whereas adjectives used to de-



Figure 6: Sentiment associated with different influential words corresponding to the parts of speech. (Orange bar: proportion of most influential adjectives (6a) / verbs (6b) used to predict anti-GS text samples. Purple bar: proportion of most influential adjectives/verbs used to predict GS text. Portion of the bar lying on the right side of the origin along the x-axis represents the proportion of those adjectives/verbs associated with a positive sentiment. Portion of the bar lying on the left side of the origin along the x-axis represents the proportion of those adjectives/verbs associated with a negative sentiment.)



Figure 7: Sentiment associated with most influential adjectives. (Green bar represents the proportion of the most influential adjectives used to predict GS (7a) / anti-GS (7b) text about a female and the blue bar, a male. The portion of the bar lying on the right side of the origin along the x-axis represents the proportion of those adjectives associated with a positive sentiment. And the portion of the bar lying on the left side of the origin along the x-axis represents the proportion of those adjectives associated with a negative sentiment.)

scribe males are significantly more positive. This can suggest the existing gender bias in society where gender expression or characteristic traits expected of women are associated with traditional standards of beauty and appearance (Cash and Brown, 1989; Lavin and Cash, 2001; Heflick et al., 2011). When a modern female deviates from these established norms, it can be negatively perceived by society (Biefeld et al., 2021; Plaza-del Arco et al., 2024). However, the same shift in gender expressions and characteristic traits illustrated by men are not accentuated perceived in a similar negative sense (Shyian et al., 2021).

Figures 7b shows that adjectives used to predict anti-GS are associated with a more positive sentiment for both genders than they are with predicting GS across all datasets. The same evaluations were performed on verbs and are shown in figure 8a and 8b for GS and anti-GS respectively.

Figure 8a shows that verbs used to predict GS were significantly more positive for males than females. However, words used to predict anti-GS were associated with a positive sentiment for both genders (see Figure 8b), which is consistent with the pattern displayed by adjectives used to describe males/females.

This behaviour of describing males and females using gender expression and gender role descriptors that are associated with different sentiments shows that the model has learned some biases from the training data which may reflect the societal gender biases against males and females. The words (adjectives, verbs) that are more influential



Figure 8: Sentiment associated with most influential verbs.

(Green bar represents the proportion of the most influential verbs used to predict GS (8a) / anti-GS (8b) text about a female and the blue bar, a male. The portion of the bar lying on the right side of the origin along the x-axis represents the proportion of those verbs associated with a positive sentiment. And the portion of the bar lying on the left side of the origin along the x-axis represents the proportion of those verbs associated with a negative sentiment.)

are mirroring society's negative perception when it comes to describing the characteristic traits and expected gender roles of women. However, society has been accustomed to describing men in a more positive manner, be it their characteristic traits or expected gender roles (Fast et al., 2016). The presence of this biased societal perception is supported by our experiments and results.

As such, we found that adjectives that are gender expression/characteristic trait descriptors and verbs that are gender role/action descriptors are highly influential in prompting gender stereotypes. Moreover, we found that words describing a male gender stereotype are more positive than those used to describe the female gender stereotype.

5 Conclusion

Gender stereotypes manifest in the way people express themselves through gender expression/characteristic traits described using adjectives or their gender roles/actions described using verbs. These gender stereotypes can prompt harmful effects leading to gender bias if not captured. In this research, we fine-tune a transformer model with attention to classify gender stereotypes. A proposed combination of attention and SHAP explainable approach is used to identify the words/language constructs that influence a text to be considered as a gender stereotype or not. Our findings showed that adjectives (gender expression descriptors) and verbs (gender role descriptors) highly impact a text to suggest a gender stereotype. Furthermore, a sentiment analysis of identified top-influential words also revealed that top-influential words used to describe males were more positive than those chosen to describe females. This partiality towards the way in which genders are described represents gender bias where humans evaluate expressions related to men more positively than those related to women.

Limitations and Future work

In this work, we have only used attention and SHAP to identify the words and thereby, the language that influences gender stereotypes. In our ongoing extension of this research, we will explore the use of other post-hoc explainable AI approaches such as LIME, Captum, etc. to understand the features that influence a text to be predicted a gender stereotype about a male or a female. Also, in this work, due to the current lack of data to study non-binary gender stereotypes (Nozza et al., 2022), we focus on identifying the type of words prompting binary (male/female) gender stereotypes and the sentiment associated with those words.

Ethics Statement

We have handled all datasets and pre-processing in an ethical manner complying with the ACL code of ethics. Due to practical reasons and existing lack of datasets, we limited our research to only the binary genders. However, we understand the importance of inclusion and will consider extending our study, where possible, to non-binary genders.

References

- Samira Abnar and Willem Zuidema. 2020. Quantifying attention flow in transformers. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2005.00928*.
- Lauren Ackerman. 2019. Syntactic and cognitive issues in investigating gendered coreference. *Glossa: a journal of general linguistics*, 4(1).
- Takuya Akiba, Shotaro Sano, Toshihiko Yanase, Takeru Ohta, and Masanori Koyama. 2019. Optuna: A next-generation hyperparameter optimization framework. In *Proceedings of the 25th ACM SIGKDD international conference on knowledge discovery & data mining*, pages 2623–2631.
- Kendra Albert and Maggie Delano. 2022. Sex trouble: Sex/gender slippage, sex confusion, and sex obsession in machine learning using electronic health records. *Patterns*, 3(8).
- Aliya Andrich and Emese Domahidi. 2022. A leader and a lady? a computational approach to detection of political gender stereotypes in facebook user comments. *International Journal of Communication*, 17:20.
- Stefano Baccianella, Andrea Esuli, Fabrizio Sebastiani, et al. 2010. Sentiwordnet 3.0: an enhanced lexical resource for sentiment analysis and opinion mining. In *Lrec*, volume 10, pages 2200–2204.
- Dzmitry Bahdanau, Kyunghyun Cho, and Yoshua Bengio. 2014. Neural machine translation by jointly learning to align and translate. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1409.0473*.
- Xuemei Bai. 2018. Text classification based on lstm and attention. In 2018 Thirteenth International Conference on Digital Information Management (ICDIM), pages 29–32. IEEE.
- Sandra L Bem. 1974. The measurement of psychological androgyny. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 42(2):155.

- Bethan Benwell. 2006. *Discourse and identity*. Edinburgh University Press.
- Sharla D Biefeld, Ellen A Stone, and Christia Spears Brown. 2021. Sexy, thin, and white: The intersection of sexualization, body type, and race on stereotypes about women. *Sex Roles*, 85(5):287–300.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé III, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Language (technology) is power: A critical survey of" bias" in nlp. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2005.14050*.
- Markie LC Blumer, Mary S Green, Nicole L Thomte, and Parris M Green. 2013. Are we queer yet?: Addressing heterosexual and gender-conforming privilege. In *Deconstructing Privilege*, pages 151–168. Routledge.
- Tolga Bolukbasi, Kai-Wei Chang, James Y Zou, Venkatesh Saligrama, and Adam T Kalai. 2016. Man is to computer programmer as woman is to homemaker? debiasing word embeddings. Advances in neural information processing systems, 29.
- Shikha Bordia and Samuel R Bowman. 2019. Identifying and reducing gender bias in word-level language models. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1904.03035*.
- Cristina Bosco, Viviana Patti, Simona Frenda, Alessandra Teresa Cignarella, Marinella Paciello, and Francesca D'Errico. 2023. Detecting racial stereotypes: An italian social media corpus where psychology meets nlp. *Information Processing & Management*, 60(1):103118.
- Gordon H Bower, John B Black, and Terrence J Turner. 1979. Scripts in memory for text. *Cognitive psychology*, 11(2):177–220.
- Aylin Caliskan, Pimparkar Parth Ajay, Tessa Charlesworth, Robert Wolfe, and Mahzarin R Banaji. 2022. Gender bias in word embeddings: a comprehensive analysis of frequency, syntax, and semantics. In *Proceedings of the 2022 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society*, pages 156–170.
- Yang Trista Cao and Hal Daumé III. 2019. Toward gender-inclusive coreference resolution. *arXiv* preprint arXiv:1910.13913.
- Thomas F Cash and Timothy A Brown. 1989. Gender and body images: Stereotypes and realities. *Sex roles*, 21:361–373.
- Jindong Chen, Yizhou Hu, Jingping Liu, Yanghua Xiao, and Haiyun Jiang. 2019. Deep short text classification with knowledge powered attention. In *Proceedings of the AAAI conference on artificial intelligence*, volume 33, pages 6252–6259.
- Peter Clark, Bhavana Dalvi, and Niket Tandon. 2018. What happened? leveraging verbnet to predict the effects of actions in procedural text. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1804.05435*.

- Marta R Costa-jussà. 2019. An analysis of gender bias studies in natural language processing. *Nature Machine Intelligence*, 1(11):495–496.
- Jenna Cryan, Shiliang Tang, Xinyi Zhang, Miriam Metzger, Haitao Zheng, and Ben Y Zhao. 2020. Detecting gender stereotypes: lexicon vs. supervised learning methods. In Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1–11.
- Marina Danilevsky, Kun Qian, Ranit Aharonov, Yannis Katsis, Ban Kawas, and Prithviraj Sen. 2020. A survey of the state of explainable ai for natural language processing. In *Proceedings of the 1st Conference of the Asia-Pacific Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 10th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing*, pages 447–459.
- Alice H Eagly. 2013. Sex differences in social behavior: A social-role interpretation. Psychology Press.
- Naomi Ellemers. 2018. Gender stereotypes. Annual review of psychology, 69:275–298.
- Ethan Fast, Tina Vachovsky, and Michael Bernstein. 2016. Shirtless and dangerous: Quantifying linguistic signals of gender bias in an online fiction writing community. In *Proceedings of the International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media*, volume 10, pages 112–120.
- Anne Fausto-Sterling. 2019. Gender/sex, sexual orientation, and identity are in the body: How did they get there? *The Journal of Sex Research*, 56(4-5):529– 555.
- Joseph L Fleiss, Bruce Levin, Myunghee Cho Paik, et al. 1981. The measurement of interrater agreement. *Statistical methods for rates and proportions*, 2(212-236):22–23.
- Daniel Fryer, Inga Strümke, and Hien Nguyen. 2021. Shapley values for feature selection: The good, the bad, and the axioms. *Ieee Access*, 9:144352– 144360.
- Ute Gabriel, Pascal Gygax, Oriane Sarrasin, Alan Garnham, and Jane Oakhill. 2008. Au pairs are rarely male: Norms on the gender perception of role names across english, french, and german. *Behavior research methods*, 40(1):206–212.
- Aparna Garimella, Carmen Banea, Dirk Hovy, and Rada Mihalcea. 2019. Women's syntactic resilience and men's grammatical luck: Gender-bias in partof-speech tagging and dependency parsing. In *Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 3493– 3498.
- David Gunning, Mark Stefik, Jaesik Choi, Timothy Miller, Simone Stumpf, and Guang-Zhong Yang. 2019. Xai—explainable artificial intelligence. *Science robotics*, 4(37):eaay7120.

- Elizabeth L Haines, Kay Deaux, and Nicole Lofaro. 2016. The times they are a-changing... or are they not? a comparison of gender stereotypes, 1983–2014. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 40(3):353–363.
- Philippe Hamon. 2004. What is a description? *Bal, M. Narrative Theory: Critical Concepts in Literary and Cultural Studies*, 1:309–340.
- Shun Hattori, Taro Tezuka, and Katsumi Tanaka. 2007. Mining the web for appearance description. In Database and Expert Systems Applications: 18th International Conference, DEXA 2007, Regensburg, Germany, September 3-7, 2007. Proceedings 18, pages 790–800. Springer.
- Nathan A Heflick, Jamie L Goldenberg, Douglas P Cooper, and Elisa Puvia. 2011. From women to objects: Appearance focus, target gender, and perceptions of warmth, morality and competence. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 47(3):572–581.
- Amaç Herdağdelen and Marco Baroni. 2011. Stereotypical gender actions can be extracted from web text. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, 62(9):1741–1749.
- Andreas Holzinger. 2018. From machine learning to explainable ai. In 2018 world symposium on digital intelligence for systems and machines (DISA), pages 55–66. IEEE.
- Alexander Hoyle, Hanna Wallach, Isabelle Augenstein, Ryan Cotterell, et al. 2019. Unsupervised discovery of gendered language through latent-variable modeling. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1906.04760*.
- Hairong Huo and Mizuho Iwaihara. 2020. Utilizing bert pretrained models with various fine-tune methods for subjectivity detection. In Web and Big Data: 4th International Joint Conference, APWeb-WAIM 2020, Tianjin, China, September 18-20, 2020, Proceedings, Part II 4, pages 270–284. Springer.
- Eni Ismayanti and Abdul Kholiq. 2020. An analysis of students' difficulties in writing descriptive text. *E-link Journal*, 7(1):10–20.
- Sarthak Jain and Byron C Wallace. 2019. Attention is not explanation. In *Proceedings of NAACL-HLT*, pages 3543–3556.
- Keita Kurita, Nidhi Vyas, Ayush Pareek, Alan W Black, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2019. Measuring bias in contextualized word representations. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1906.07337*.
- Melissa Ann Lavin and Thomas F Cash. 2001. Effects of exposure to information about appearance stereotyping and discrimination on women's body images. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 29(1):51–58.

- Zachary C Lipton. 2018. The mythos of model interpretability: In machine learning, the concept of interpretability is both important and slippery. *Queue*, 16(3):31–57.
- Zhenyu Liu, Haiwei Huang, Chaohong Lu, and Shengfei Lyu. 2020. Multichannel cnn with attention for text classification. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2006.16174*.
- Scott M Lundberg and Su-In Lee. 2017. A unified approach to interpreting model predictions. In I. Guyon, U. V. Luxburg, S. Bengio, H. Wallach, R. Fergus, S. Vishwanathan, and R. Garnett, editors, *Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems* 30, pages 4765–4774. Curran Associates, Inc.
- Sherin Mary Mathews. 2019. Explainable artificial intelligence applications in nlp, biomedical, and malware classification: a literature review. In *Intelligent Computing: Proceedings of the 2019 Computing Conference, Volume 2*, pages 1269–1292. Springer.
- Joanne McDowell. 2015. Masculinity and nontraditional occupations: Men's talk in women's work. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 22(3):273– 291.
- Samin Mohammadi and Mathieu Chapon. 2020. Investigating the performance of fine-tuned text classification models based-on bert. In 2020 IEEE 22nd International Conference on High Performance Computing and Communications; IEEE 18th International Conference on Smart City; IEEE 6th International Conference on Data Science and Systems (HPCC/SmartCity/DSS), pages 1252–1257. IEEE.
- Elizabeth M Morgan and Laurel R Davis-Delano. 2016. How public displays of heterosexual identity reflect and reinforce gender stereotypes, gender differences, and gender inequality. *Sex Roles*, 75(5-6):257–271.
- Moin Nadeem, Anna Bethke, and Siva Reddy. 2021. Stereoset: Measuring stereotypical bias in pretrained language models. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 5356–5371.
- Debora Nozza, Federico Bianchi, Anne Lauscher, Dirk Hovy, et al. 2022. Measuring harmful sentence completion in language models for lgbtqia+ individuals. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jahna Otterbacher. 2015. Crowdsourcing stereotypes: Linguistic bias in metadata generated via gwap. In Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1955– 1964.
- Flor Miriam Plaza-del Arco, Amanda Cercas Curry, Alba Curry, Gavin Abercrombie, and Dirk Hovy.

2024. Angry men, sad women: Large language models reflect gendered stereotypes in emotion attribution. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2403.03121*.

- Marcelo OR Prates, Pedro H Avelar, and Luís C Lamb. 2020. Assessing gender bias in machine translation: a case study with google translate. *Neural Computing and Applications*, 32:6363–6381.
- Rukhma Qasim, Waqas Haider Bangyal, Mohammed A Alqarni, and Abdulwahab Ali Almazroi. 2022. A fine-tuned bert-based transfer learning approach for text classification. *Journal of healthcare engineering*, 2022.
- P Rosenkrantz, H Bee, S Vogel, and I Broverman. 1968. Sex-role stereotypes and self-concepts in college students. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 32(3):287–295.
- Elisa Rubegni, Monica Landoni, Antonella De Angeli, and Letizia Jaccheri. 2019. Detecting gender stereotypes in children digital storytelling. In *Proceedings* of the 18th ACM International Conference on Interaction Design and Children, pages 386–393.
- Donald L Rubin and Kathryn L Greene. 1991. Effects of biological and psychological gender, age cohort, and interviewer gender on attitudes toward genderinclusive/exclusive language. *Sex Roles*, 24:391– 412.
- Cynthia Rudin and Joanna Radin. 2019. Why are we using black box models in ai when we don't need to? a lesson from an explainable ai competition. *Harvard Data Science Review*, 1(2):10–1162.
- Rachel Rudinger, Jason Naradowsky, Brian Leonard, and Benjamin Van Durme. 2018. Gender bias in coreference resolution. In *Proceedings of NAACL-HLT*, pages 8–14.
- Anthony J Sanford and Simon C Garrod. 1998. The role of scenario mapping in text comprehension. *Discourse processes*, 26(2-3):159–190.
- Beatrice Savoldi, Marco Gaido, Luisa Bentivogli, Matteo Negri, and Marco Turchi. 2021. Gender bias in machine translation. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 9:845–874.
- Gün R Semin and Klaus Fiedler. 1988. The cognitive functions of linguistic categories in describing persons: Social cognition and language. *Journal of personality and Social Psychology*, 54(4):558.
- Sofia Serrano and Noah A Smith. 2019. Is attention interpretable? In *Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 2931–2951.
- Emily Sheng, Kai-Wei Chang, Prem Natarajan, and Nanyun Peng. 2020. Towards controllable biases in language generation. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020*, pages 3239–3254.

- Oksana M Shyian, Larysa F Foster, Tatiana M Kuzmenko, Larysa V Yeremenko, and Nina P Liesnichenko. 2021. Socio-psychological criteria of the formation of gender stereotypes of appearance. *Journal of Intellectual Disability-Diagnosis and Treatment*, 9:651–666.
- Peter Siemund and Florian Dolberg. 2011. From lexical to referential gender: An analysis of gender change in medieval english based on two historical documents.
- Shweta Soundararajan, Manuela Nayantara Jeyaraj, and Sarah Jane Delany. 2023. Using chatgpt to generate gendered language. In 2023 31st Irish Conference on Artificial Intelligence and Cognitive Science (AICS), pages 1–8. IEEE.
- T Spence Janet and Stapp Joy. 1974. The personal attributes questionnaire: A measure of sex-role stereotypes and masculinity-femininity. In *Journal Supplement Abstract Service: Catalog of Selected Documents in Psychology*, volume 4, page 43.
- Gabriel Stanovsky, Noah A Smith, and Luke Zettlemoyer. 2019. Evaluating gender bias in machine translation. In *Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 1679–1684.
- Xiaobing Sun and Wei Lu. 2020. Understanding attention for text classification. In *Proceedings of the* 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 3418–3428.
- Omer Tal, Yang Liu, Jimmy Huang, Xiaohui Yu, and Bushra Aljbawi. 2019. Neural attention frameworks for explainable recommendation. *IEEE Transactions on Knowledge and Data Engineering*, 33(5):2137–2150.
- Wouter Van Atteveldt, Tamir Sheafer, Shaul R Shenhav, and Yair Fogel-Dror. 2017. Clause analysis: Using syntactic information to automatically extract source, subject, and predicate from texts with an application to the 2008–2009 gaza war. *Political Analysis*, 25(2):207–222.
- Shikhar Vashishth, Shyam Upadhyay, Gaurav Singh Tomar, and Manaal Faruqui. 2019. Attention interpretability across nlp tasks. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1909.11218*.
- Ashish Vaswani, Noam Shazeer, Niki Parmar, Jakob Uszkoreit, Llion Jones, Aidan N Gomez, Łukasz Kaiser, and Illia Polosukhin. 2017. Attention is all you need. *Advances in neural information processing systems*, 30.
- Jesse Vig, Sebastian Gehrmann, Yonatan Belinkov, Sharon Qian, Daniel Nevo, Yaron Singer, and Stuart Shieber. 2020. Investigating gender bias in language models using causal mediation analysis. Advances in neural information processing systems, 33:12388–12401.

- Giulia Vilone and Luca Longo. 2020. Explainable artificial intelligence: a systematic review. *arXiv* preprint arXiv:2006.00093.
- Michael Wiegand, Josef Ruppenhofer, and Elisabeth Eder. 2021. Implicitly abusive language-what does it actually look like and why are we not getting there? In Proceedings of the 2021 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, pages 576–587.
- Sarah Wiegreffe and Yuval Pinter. 2019. Attention is not not explanation. In *Proceedings of the* 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 11–20.
- Zhang Xinxi. 2021. Single task fine-tune bert for text classification. In 2nd International Conference on Computer Vision, Image, and Deep Learning, volume 11911, pages 434–439. SPIE.
- Feiyu Xu, Hans Uszkoreit, Yangzhou Du, Wei Fan, Dongyan Zhao, and Jun Zhu. 2019. Explainable ai: A brief survey on history, research areas, approaches and challenges. In Natural Language Processing and Chinese Computing: 8th CCF International Conference, NLPCC 2019, Dunhuang, China, October 9–14, 2019, Proceedings, Part II 8, pages 563–574. Springer.
- Kelvin Xu, Jimmy Ba, Ryan Kiros, Kyunghyun Cho, Aaron Courville, Ruslan Salakhudinov, Rich Zemel, and Yoshua Bengio. 2015. Show, attend and tell: Neural image caption generation with visual attention. In *International conference on machine learning*, pages 2048–2057. PMLR.
- Shenglu Ye, Simin Cai, Chuansheng Chen, Qun Wan, and Xiuying Qian. 2018. How have males and females been described over the past two centuries? an analysis of big-five personality-related adjectives in the google english books. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 76:6–16.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Ryan Cotterell, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2019. Gender bias in contextualized word embeddings. In *Proceedings of NAACL-HLT*, pages 629–634.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2018. Gender bias in coreference resolution: Evaluation and debiasing methods. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, volume 2.
- Jinfeng Zhong and Elsa Negre. 2022. Shap-enhanced counterfactual explanations for recommendations. In *Proceedings of the 37th ACM/SIGAPP Symposium on Applied Computing*, pages 1365–1372.

A Fairness Analysis of Human and AI-Generated Student Reflection Summaries

Bhiman Kumar Baghel¹, Arun Balajiee Lekshmi Narayanan² and Michael Miller Yoder¹

¹Department of Computer Science, ²Intelligent Systems Program

University of Pittsburgh, PA, USA {bkb45, arl122, mmy29}@pitt.edu

Abstract

This study examines the fairness of human- and AI-generated summaries of student reflections in university STEM classes, focusing on potential gender biases. Using topic modeling, we first identify topics that are more prevalent in reflections from female students and others that are more common among male students. We then analyze whether human and AI-generated summaries reflect the concerns of students of any particular gender over others. Our analysis reveals that though humangenerated and extractive AI summarization techniques do not show a clear bias, abstractive AI-generated summaries exhibit a bias towards male students. Pedagogical themes are overrepresented from male reflections in these summaries, while concept-specific topics are underrepresented from female reflections. This research contributes to a deeper understanding of AI-generated bias in educational contexts, highlighting the need for future work on mitigating these biases.

1 Introduction

Reflection is an effective metacognitive technique that promotes student learning (Baird et al., 1991; McNamara, 2011). Reflections can be used in a classroom setting to gather feedback from students on their comprehension and help both students and instructors identify topics of confusion. Given the substantial amount of reflection data in large classes, AI-based summarization techniques have been developed to summarize these reflections (Fan et al., 2015; Luo and Litman, 2015; Luo et al., 2016; Magooda and Litman, 2020). Automatic summarization (Hovy et al., 2006) is a popular NLP technique used to create or sample a smaller text that represents the most important or relevant information within the original content. This process inevitably involves decisions about which is the most important or relevant information.

AI bias is a well-discussed topic in recent years. Efforts to identify and mitigate bias in AI and NLP systems have been applied to tasks such as language modeling (Bolukbasi et al., 2016; Caliskan et al., 2017; Sun et al., 2019; Huang et al., 2020; Czarnowska et al., 2021; Field et al., 2021), coreference resolution (Rudinger et al., 2018; Cao and Daumé III, 2020), and machine translation (Savoldi et al., 2021). Specifically within NLP research for education, bias has been investigated in educational technologies like automated essay scoring (Amorim et al., 2018; Litman et al., 2021) and intelligent tutoring systems (Zhuhadar et al., 2016; Lin et al., 2023).

Reflection summarization is an important use case as it help instructors uncover student misconceptions, empowering them to adapt their instruction and create targeted learning opportunities that address knowledge gaps in subsequent lectures (Fan et al., 2017). Since the goal of reflection summarization is to save teaching staff time and reduce the need to read through so many reflections, biases in whose reflections are represented by the summaries can have a direct impact on whose concerns are addressed by teaching staff. This concern motivates our study to measure biases in summarization of student reflections.

Specifically, we scope our research to identifying if there are differences by student gender in a dataset of classroom reflections and if the summaries of these reflections exhibit bias toward any gender. We are particularly interested in representation from female reflections due to a history of exclusion of women in STEM classes (Brotman and Moore, 2008; Vincent-Ruz and Schunn, 2018). Unfortunately, we are only able to compare the representation of reflections students with those of male students within a gender binary, as we do not have sufficient data on the experiences on nonbinary students, an important topic for future work.

Using the Structural Topic Model (STM; Roberts

et al., 2014), we are able to model variation in topics within reflections along with the gender of the authors of these reflections. We also apply STM to measure how closely topics in summaries match those in reflections from male and female genders. We evaluate gender bias in several types of AI-generated summaries and contrast these with human-annotated summaries. We define our research questions as follows:

- **RQ1** What differences, if any, are there between reflections from male or female students?
- **RQ2** Are summaries biased towards any specific gender?
- **RQ3** If so, what is the nature of the gender bias in reflection summaries?

Using STM, we find subtle differences between reflections of male and female students, particularly a stronger emphasis on course logistics (such as projects) from female students. Measuring differences between summary topic distributions and those of male and female reflections, we find that AI abstractive summarization models exhibit bias toward reflections from male students, while summaries from humans and AI extractive models do not show a consistent bias. We find that AI abstractive summaries appear to under-represent specific course concepts that are brought up in reflections from female students, while over-representing pedagogical themes such as teamwork from male student reflections.

2 Related Work

Reflection Sumarization: We first review work on automatic summarization in the context of student reflections, the application area in which we investigate bias. Fan et al. (2015) and Zhong et al. (2024) independently observed that reflections can range from some phrases and sentences to multiple sentences. Luo and Litman (2015) argued that phrase-based summarizing is the most effective way to summarize student reflections as they are easy to read and browse as compared to abstractive or extractive summarization. They also introduced a notion of student coverage that gave importance to topics mentioned by most of the students. With these two motivations, they propose a student coverage-assisted phrase-based summarization algorithm.

Luo et al. (2016) improves upon the previous work by evaluating the phrases in their informativeness and alignment with the needs of the students. Magooda and Litman (2020) proposed a template-based data generation technique which, when used for training models, increases the model performance for abstractive summarization for lowresource data. We evaluate several of these summarization approaches for gender bias.

Bias in educational AI: A growing body of research has examined issues of bias and social justice in educational technologies. Shakir et al. (2022) discuss the relationships between intersectionality and student perspectives in academia, using simple but effective text mining approaches such as clustering that assists the qualitative analysis of the data. Roscoe et al. (2022), Madaio et al. (2022), and Baker and Hawn (2022) independently discuss the possibilities of injustices with and the development of fair AI systems in education. Dias et al. (2022) consider the need to take intersectionality into account when designing automated decision-making systems in computing education As discussed in Mayfield et al. (2019), there are potential improvements possible towards countermeasures for inherent biases in automated education assessment systems. Litman et al. (2021) conduct fairness evaluation of Automated Essay Scoring (AES) used for grading essays. They concluded that different AES models exhibit different types of biases, spanning students' gender, race, and socioeconomic status.

Bias in summarization: Huang et al. (2023) examined bias in opinion summarization through the perspective of opinion diversity. This work is analogous to ours, as biases in summaries of online reviews relate to student reflections as "reviews" of the course material. Like our work, they also generate a summary of the source texts. However, unlike us, an overall stance score was relevant, and they had access to pre-computed topic-specific tweet clusters that are utilized in combination with the opinion diversity / similarity to finally detect the stance taken by the source text or document.

Dash et al. (2019) showed that existing summarization algorithms often represent socially salient user groups very differently compared to their distributions in the original data. In our work, we focus on the salient differences in the topic distribution by student gender. Liu et al. (2024) develop methods to explicitly preserve author perspective ("bias") in news summarization. **STM for Bias Analysis:** Structural Topic Modeling (STM; Roberts et al., 2014) has been used before to analyze text discourse with the goal of identifying biases with author metadata. In their work, Davidson and Bhattacharya (2020) use an STM approach to examine racial biases in a Twitter dataset. They are able to identify the interaction between prevalence of tweets with respect to the abusive nature of the tweets, and helps them identify biases with topic modeling by taking a multi–dimensional approach.

In another work, Zhang and Rayz (2022) examine the stereotypes embedded within the text of news articles using STM. Using a similar approach as Davidson and Bhattacharya (2020), the authors examine the gender stereotypes within the text across three dimensions: weak, medium and strong associations in interaction with male and female gender. STM allows them to discuss their results in terms of the detailed interaction between the two dimensions, whereby they can suggest conclusions such as "International Politics" that are historically in the "male" sphere of discussions being associated with the topics on "Music" being associated with articles written by female authors.

Villamor Martin et al. (2023) present a more meta–analytic approach to the use of STM in the context of identifying or detecting historical biases or stereotypes in the data. Since STM is a statistical, data–driven approach, the signals from the data indicate the general trend of associations of aspects such as demographic identities with topics in the text.

Similar to this prior work, we choose STM to identify biases in the discourse analysis with a dataset collected in an educational setting, associating topics with the binary gender of the author of student reflections.

3 Dataset Description

We selected REFLECTSUMM (Zhong et al., 2024), a benchmarking dataset for student reflection summarization, for analysis, since it contains student reflections, their summaries and student demographic information. It collects reflection and demographic information through the CourseMirror Application (Fan et al., 2015). The application prompted students with two types of reflection prompts: *Describe what you found most interesting in today's class (I)* and *Describe what was*



Figure 1: REFLECTSUMM Structure. Each lecture of a course has two prompts (I & C) asking interesting and confusing things of the lecture (see section 3) from students. Provided reflections are summarized by human annotators and AI techniques.

confusing or needed more details in today's class (C). Students who opted into the study have to answer these prompts at the end of every lecture. In this manner reflections were collected over the course of four semesters, from Fall 2020 to Spring 2022 in two large, public, American universities. Broadly, students who participated in this experiment were enrolled in courses belonging to 4 subject areas: Computer Science (CS), Engineering (ENGR), Physics (PHY), and Computing Information (CMPINF). Demographic information was collected from students at the time of registering for the experiment. Table 1 shows the proportion of reflections across genders for each course. Due to insufficient data on non-binary and self-described genders, we performed our analysis within a gender binary of male and female and leave further analysis on reflections from non-binary students to future work. Other demographic information like race, ethnicity were also collected. This work focuses on gender, however, our methodology can be directly applied to other demographic information as well, another possibility for future work.

We compare bias among human- and AIgenerated summaries. The human annotations were collected by Fan et al. (2015) and Zhong et al. (2024) by employing college students of appropriate subject background. We evaluate automatic summaries generated by Zhong et al. (2024) using various AI techniques ranging from classic machine learning to deep learning-based generative AI. Some of these models were also trained on human annotations.

Summaries were annotated or generated for each

Course	Gender				#Poflactions	#Locture
Course	Male	Female	Prefer Not to Diclose	Prefer to Self Describe	#Reflections	#Lecture
CS	1526 (57.71%)	1178 (42.23%)	42 (1.5%)	43 (1.54%)	2789 (I:1434 C:1355)	79
ENGR	2330 (65.21%)	1155 (32.32%)	88 (2.4%)	0	3573 (I:1861 C:1714)	62
CMPINF	1272 (60%)	762 (35.96%)	52 (2.45%)	33 (1.55%)	2119 (I:1080 C:1068)	19
PHYS	5071 (47.49%)	5898 (53.11%)	129 (1.16%)	0	11098 (I:5618 C:5484)	57

Table 1: Reflection Distribution Across Genders

reflection prompt across all lectures, to mimic a scenario where teaching staff would like to view summaries of reflections for single lectures. The structure of the dataset can be viewed in Figure 1, where a course has multiple lectures with exactly two reflection prompts, I and C. Each prompt has multiple student reflections which are summarized. So each lecture has two summaries corresponding to each reflection prompt. For both human annotation and AI generation, three types of summaries were annotated or generated: extractive, phraselevel extractive, and abstractive. While creating human annotations, annotators were asked to extract five reflections and five phrases that best represent all student reflections for extractive and phraselevel extractive summaries respectively. They were also asked to write an abstractive summary to summarize the major points of student reflections.

In the case of automatic summarizing, we evaluate a selection of models presented by Zhong et al. (2024), including those that are fine-tuned on human annotations as well as those that use causal language models like ChatGPT in a zero- or fewshot setting¹. Among these, we have selected the two best performing approaches, from findings by Zhong et al. (2024), to collect summaries for each summary type:

- Extractive summary: MatchSum (Zhong et al., 2020) and GPT-reflect (Zhong et al., 2024). MatchSum uses a re-ranker, and follows a two-stage paradigm to achieve state-of-the-art extractive summarization. GPT-reflect uses ChatGPT (GPT-3.5 turbo) to generate zeroshot extractive summaries from reflections.
- Abstractive summary: BART-Large (Lewis et al., 2020) and GPT-1-shot (Zhong et al., 2024). BART-large was fine tuned on human annotations. GPT-1-shot uses ChatGPT (GPT-3.5 turbo) prompted with a random summary and corresponding reflections set from the human annotations.

 Phrase-level extractive summary: GPT-noun (Zhong et al., 2024) and GPT-noun-1-shot (Zhong et al., 2024). Both use ChatGPT (GPT-3.5 turbo) to extract 5 noun phrases from provided reflections where former is zero-shot and later is one-shot.

For our analysis, we remove reflections by students who do not disclose gender information, leave it blank, or self-describe their gender. We hope to analyze non-binary genders in future work with more data available. REFLECTSUMM has annotations and summarizations for all student reflections, including those who do not provide demographic information. We considered summaries where at least 80% of the reflections they summarize are from students who indicated male and female gender. This gave us a collection of 250 summaries.

4 Analysis Methodology

Our aim is to analyse any gender bias present in reflection summaries. In order to achieve this goal we apply topic modeling. Topic modeling learns a distribution over a set of topics for a given text document in an unsupervised fashion. We aim to capture what topics are reflected in summaries and measure their variance according to document metadata, in our case the gender of students who wrote the reflection. STM is designed for just this: to associate topics with document metadata. STM brings out the latent topics in a corpus of text and allows the use of additional covariates to alter the prior distribution used to estimate the latent topics better. This feature sets apart STM from other topic models like Latent Dirichlet Allocation (LDA) and BERTopic (Grootendorst, 2022).

We first used topic modeling to learn the topics present in the student reflections we have collected and provide the topic distribution for each reflection. We analyzed this topic distributions of reflection across genders to address **RQ1** and explore differences between reflections from male and female students.

¹Details about annotation guidelines, model training and generation prompts are provide in Zhong et al. (2024).


Figure 2: Topical difference between Genders

To address **RQ2** on gender bias in summaries, we apply our learned topic model, trained to represent topics in the reflections, to estimate a topic distribution within summaries. We then compute the distance between the topic distribution of summaries and the reflections they summarize in corresponding lectures.

To address **RQ3** on the nature of any bias in summaries, we examine topics in the summaries that are over-represented from the reflections of some groups while under-represented from the reflections of other groups. In order to identify the nature of bias, we compute a discrepancy measure between the topic probabilities in summaries and the genders involved.

5 RQ1: What differences, if any, are there between reflections from male or female students?

5.1 Learning the Topic Model

We trained STM model using its implementation in R (Roberts et al., 2019). It takes documents (individual student reflection), metadata of interest (gender) and number of topics as input. Along with gender, we have also provided course name and the prompt type (I or C) as metadata to control for their possible confounding influence. We allow the topic prevalence to vary by gender, type of prompt,



 Table 2: Top reflections for four most associated topics

 with reflections of each gender

and course name, as well as interactions among these covariates. Interesting (I) and confusing (C) are included as covariates since they also affect the content of the reflections and could act as confounding variables. Course is added to control for potential confounding effects of having different gender distributions in different courses. We used the approach of (Mimno and Lee, 2014) to select the optimal number of topics for this corpus (builtin to the R implementation). We choose number of topics as the mean ten runs of this approach (50) and then trained the STM model using it.

5.2 Analysis and Results

STM, as in LDA, represents topics as a probability distribution over words and documents as a probability distribution over topics. Figure 5 (Appendix A.1) shows the topics identified by our learned topic model, sorted according to highest proportion

in the documents. To help characterize these topics, the top four words with the highest FREX score (Roberts et al., 2019) are presented. Pre-processing is performed before topic modeling by stemming these words to reduce the sparsity of the vocabulary. For example, the top words for *Topic 44: current, direct, move, wire, electron* seem to relate to electric current, which is a concept in the physics subject.

We have learned our topic model on student reflections and we have an intuition of what topics are present in those reflections. We can examine this topic model to address RQ1 on differences between reflections from male and female students. STM provides a tool to estimate a regression model predicting the learned topic proportion from document metadata, which we use to examine the association between topics and particular genders. Associations between gender and the prevalence of learned topics are presented in Fig. 2. Topics that are further left in this figure are more inclined towards female. For example, Topic 37: interest, found, thought, cool and Topic 30: learn, engin, love, failur is associated with female student reflections. Similarly, topics shown further right are more inclined towards male. For example, Topic 29: also, know, frequenc, didnt, unclear and Topic 17: valu, determin, flux, compar are associated with male student reflections. Topics which are at around the center, near zero value, are not strongly associated with any particular gender. With this analysis we confirm that there are gender specific topical differences in student reflection because most of the topics are either side of the zero-center line and there exist topics which are at extreme left or right of the graph.²

To characterize differences in topics strongly associated with male and female student reflections, we examine their top words and highly probable documents. Highly probable documents, i.e. student reflections, for four most associated topics with each gender are shown in Table 2. This analysis will provide us with better insight into the topics and the contexts in which they appear.

Overall, we found only subtle differences in male and female reflections in terms of their ways of answering prompts and in different focuses of concern. Along with rather trivial differences in how female students answered the questions (including elements of the prompt), reflections from female students were more likely to emphasize the logistics of courses, such as projects and presentations. Reflections from male students brought up being unclear, but largely focused on specific course concepts.

The topic most strongly associated with reflections from female students, *Topic 37: interest, found, thought, cool* conveys that female students tended to explicitly use the words 'found' and 'interesting' to react to lectures. This could indicate relating their learning to themselves, but more practically indicates being more likely to copy parts of the prompt (I) in their reflections (e.g., "I found it interesting that..."). The second-most femaleoriented topic, *Topic 30: learn, engin, failur, super*, also shows this tendency toward explicitly noting their own learning (or simply responding to the prompt in complete sentences). The content focus of this topic was on engineering failures that students found interesting.

In contrast, top words and documents for most male-oriented topics seem directly related to course concepts, such as frequency of waves (physics) shown in *Topic 29: also, know, frequenc, didnt, unclear*. Similarly *Topic 44: current, direct, move, wire, electron* refers to electric currents, another concept in physics. They also mention being unclear about those concepts. Examining topic associations with the prompt being interesting or confusing (see Appendix A.2, Fig. 6), we see a slight tendency for topics associated with male reflections to be associated with the confusing prompt (especially Topic 44), whereas topics associated with female reflections with both prompts (I and C).

6 RQ2: Are summaries biased towards any specific gender?

To measure how closely summaries represent the reflections of male or female students, we estimate the distance in topics captured in summaries from those presented in reflections from both genders.

6.1 Computing Summary and Reflection Distance

To see how representative summaries are of topics brought up in male and female reflections, we estimate topic distributions for summaries and calculate distances between topic distributions for summaries and reflections from both genders.

 $^{^{2}}$ We also plot topic gender associations mediated by prompt type (I or C), available in the Appendix A.2. These have similar topic associations as Fig. 2.

Distance Metric	Human Annotation			AI Generation										
Distance Metric	Extractive	Abstractive	Phrase	Extractive	Extractive		e	Phrase						
agging difference	Б*	Б*	F	(MatchSum)	F*	(BART-large)	M*	(GPT-noun)	F					
cosine unterence	г.	F .		(GPT-reflect)	F*	(GPT-1shot)	M*	(GPT-noun-1shot)	M*					
ind	F	F	Б	(MatchSum)	F	(BART-large)	M*	(GPT-noun)	М					
Jsu		Г	Г	(GPT-reflect)	F	(GPT-1shot)	M*	(GPT-noun-1shot)	M*					
hallingar	F	F	F	(MatchSum)	F	(BART-large)	M*	(GPT-noun)	F					
neninger		Г		(GPT-reflect)	F*	(GPT-1shot)	M*	(GPT-noun-1shot)	М					
earthmover	M*	N/×	М*	(MatchSum)	M*	(BART-large)	M*	(GPT-noun)	M*					
	M*	171.**	NI*	NI*	101*	101**	101.4	1 V1 **	INT.	(GPT-reflect)	M*	(GPT-1shot)	M*	(GPT-noun-1shot)

Table 3: Inclination of Summary towards Gender. If the average distance of male reflections from the corresponding summary is less than the distance to female reflections, this is marked as M. Otherwise, it is marked F. M* or F* indicate the differences were significant by a *t*-test p < 0.05, hence biased towards that gender. Appendix A.3.

First, we infer topic distributions present in summaries for both human annotations and AI generations using our topic model learned from student reflections. To describe this process more formally, let S^i be the topic distribution in dimension T (the number of topics) for summary i and $R^i = R_1^i, ..., R_j^i, ...$ be a list of topic distributions in T for reflections associated with S^i . R^i is also a collection of male and female reflection topic distributions which can be denoted as $R^i = R_M^i + R_F^i$. Here R_M^i is a list of R_j^i reflection topic distributions where j belongs to male. Similarly, R_F^i is a list of reflection topic distributions for female.

To inform our analysis of potential bias (RQ2), we aim to calculate how close each summary's topic distribution is to the topic distributions of different genders. Ideally summaries would represent topics present in reflections from both male and female students equally. A summary's closeness to a particular gender's reflection with respect to other genders would indicate bias towards that gender. To analyse this closeness we computed the distance $D^i_M = S^i - R^i_M$ and $D^i_F = S^i - R^{i\ 3}_F.$ Similarly, distances are calculated for all $i \in N$ summaries from their matched reflections, where N is the total number of summaries (250 as discussed in section 3). An average of these distances is calculated for each gender as $AvgD_M = \sum_{i=1}^N D_M^i / N_{DM}$ and $AvgD_F = \sum_{i=1}^N D_F^i / N_{DF}$, where N_{DM} are count of distances (D_M^i) for male reflections and similarly N_{DF} for female reflections. $AvgD_{M/F}$ signifies the average distance between summary topic distributions and their corresponding reflection topic distributions as per gender. A smaller value among these two averages would indicate

summaries on average being closer to the gender with lower average distance.

6.2 Analysis and Results

We evaluate distances between summaries and reflections across four different distance metrics to see if any such differences we find are robust to the choice of metric. We select metrics that are symmetric and commonly used to measure distance across probability distributions such as our topic distributions (Chung et al., 1989). We apply the following four distance metrics - (1) Cosine difference (1 - cosine similarity), (2) Jensen-Shannon Divergence (jsd), (3) Hellinger Distance and (4) Earth Mover's Distance. We calculated the average distances for human annotations and AI generations across all three summary types using the previously described procedure for both genders. Table 3 shows a comprehensive view of our experiment results. Here, the value of each cell is the result of comparison between $AvgD_M$ and $AvgD_F$. If $AvgD_M < AvgD_F$, then the summaries on average are closer to male reflections, which is signified as 'M'. If the above condition is not true, then the summaries on average are closer to male reflections, which is signified as 'F'.

In order to check the significance of the mean distances we find from summaries to male and female reflections, we drawn out 1000 completely random samples $RandomD_M$ and $RandomD_F$ from a concatenated list of $D_M^1 + ... + D_M^i + ... + D_M^n$ and $D_F^1 + ... + D_F^i + ... + D_F^n$ respectively for each gender. We performed a Student's t-test with $RandomD_M$ and $RandomD_F$ and identified the human annotation and AI generations whose pvalue is < 0.05. This signifies that those summaries are significantly skewed toward one gender over another. The significant ones are marked as '**M***' or '**F***' (considering the closeness result as

 $^{{}^{3}}D_{M}^{i}$ and D_{F}^{i} are list of distances between summary's topic distribution and specific gender's reflection topic distribution.

mentioned above) in Table 3.

Our experimentation results (Table 3) shows that results are mixed and inconclusive across distance measures for human annotations. When we shift our focus towards AI generations, we see different result patterns across all summary types.

Starting with the most consistent one, we see AI models generating abstractive summaries are consistently biased towards male reflections. BART-large (Zhong et al., 2024) was fine tuned on human annotations where as GPT-1shot (Zhong et al., 2024) was provided with a random summary and corresponding reflections set from the human annotations. This results contrast with the result for human annotations which were mixed.

However, in the case of AI models generating extractive summaries - MatchSum (Zhong et al., 2020) which is also trained on human annotations, results are also mixed. Another extractive summarization AI model examined is GPT-reflect. Although, it has no relation with human annotations, it follows the similar pattern except for Hellinger distance. For phrase-based extractive summarization models, GPT-noun and GPT-noun-1 shot (Zhong et al., 2024) are similar in the sense that both are asked to extract 5 noun phrases and dissimilar in the sense that former is zero-shot and later is one-shot. It is interesting to note that GPTnoun toggled regarding closeness to a particular gender but when provided with an random example it became consistently closer towards male and significant as well indicating bias. Among all these observations, a unique observation of consistent bias towards male, irrespective of human annotations or AI generations, can be seen for Earth Mover's distance. To go deeper into what this observed biases entails, we need to understand the nature of the bias which we have shown in the next section.

7 RQ3: If so, what is the nature of the gender bias in reflection summaries?

7.1 Computing Discrepancy

For fairness, we want the topic distributions in summaries to equally represent both genders. However, our analysis investigating RQ2 found that abstractive AI summaries are biased toward representing male reflections. To dig deeper, we want to find which topics in particular contribute to this bias; we want to analyze how discrepant the topics are in the favored gender with respect to the disfavored gender. To measure this, we



Figure 3: Top Discrepant Summary Topics - Bart-large



Figure 4: Top Discrepant Summary Topics - GPT-1shot

Topic 22: tree, binari, travers, search
- Under-representing Female
1: how do you delete a black node vs. a red node from a
red-black bst?
2: How to label and binary search tree. And the build
tree method in the binary tree code
Topic 13: point, big, runtim, collis
- Under-representing Female
1: I was confused about the Big O runtime details.
I would love further explanation on how we can determine
the estimated runtime. I would also like to know any tricks
to more easily determine Big O. Additionally, I do not
understand the difference between Big O, Little O, theta,
and tilde.
2: BFS - how to keep track of what is seen/unseen
Topic 3: abl, group, team, meet
- Over-representing Male
1: A04 and dividing work amongst team members
2: It was interesting to join groups and work together. It
helped eliminate most confusion. And it was interesting to
meet new people
Topic 42: class, today', assign, onlin
- Over-representing Male
1: I think that the part that was most confusing today was
what we were supposed to do for the in class assignment
in class 2b
2. Due dates fam and summer 10

2: Due dates for assignment 10

Table 4: Top Reflections for Discrepant Topics

first computed the mean topic distribution for sum-maries $MeanS = 1/n * \sum_{i=1}^{N} S^i$ and both genders $MeanR_M = \sum_{i=1}^{N} R_M^i / \sum_{i=1}^{N} count(R_M^i)$ and $MeanR_F = \sum_{i=1}^{N} R_F^i / \sum_{i=1}^{N} count(R_F^i)$. We choose to analyze the most consistent one in terms of gender bias, i.e. the AI-generated abstractive summaries. Since, it is biased towards male gender, we compute Discrepancy = |MeanS - $MeanR_F| - |MeanS - MeanR_M|$. This computation will give us discrepancy, i.e. how skewed that topic was toward male or female students, for each of the T topics.

7.2 Analysis and Results

Our aim is to find out which male topics are being over-represented in biased summaries and which female topics are being under-represented. So, we extracted the top 10 topics ⁴ in decreasing order of discrepancy as shown in left part of Fig. 3 and Fig. 4. For each extracted topic we looked at its probability in MeanS, $MeanR_M$ and $MeanR_F$. Let those probabilities be $p(MeanS^t)$, $p(MeanR^t_M)$ and $p(Mean R_F^t)$, respectively, where $t \in T$. These probabilities are shown in right part of Fig. 3 and Fig. 4. Now we compare these probabilities to

figure out over-represented male topics and underrepresented female topics. If $p(MeanS^t)$ is lowest among the three and $p(MeanR_M^t) < p(MeanR_F^t)$ then for topic t the summary is under-representing female reflections. On the flip side, if $p(MeanS^t)$ is highest among the three and $p(MeanR_M^t) >$ $p(Mean R_F^t)$ then for topic t the summary is overrepresenting male reflections. It can be observed from Fig. 3 right part that 4 out of 10 topics (22, 13, 4, 1) are under representing female reflections and remaining 6 topics (23, 3, 38, 42, 27, 19) are over representing male reflections.

To understand these topics better we can look into their top words and reflections (described in section 5). Table 4 shows the details of two topics for each under-representing female and overrepresenting male categories. On analysis we discovered a common theme for both the categories. Topics that under-represented female referred to specific concepts like Topic 22: tree, binari, travers, search, bst, black, red where female students want to know about some functions of red-black tree and binary search tree - concepts belonging to computer science. Whereas, topics in summaries that over-represented male reflections were closer to a pedagogical theme instead of being related to concepts. For example, reflections from Topic 3: abl, group, team, meet, teammat, everyon, work in Table 4 shows that male students are talking about teamwork. Topic 42: class, today', assign, onlin, brightspac, smooth part also follows the same trend, where male students seem concerned about entire assignment or it's due date, instead of any specific concept or question in that assignment or where to focus in order to complete by due date.

Similar themes for both under-representing female and over-representing male topics were observed across all extracted discrepant topics for Bart-large and GPT-1shot models (top words and reflections are in Appendix A.4). It was also interesting that both Bart-large and GPT-1shot share 70% of top discrepant topics (see Fig. 3 and Fig. 4), providing evidence of convergent validity for our findings (both consistently biased towards male) and techniques for addressing RQ2.

With the discrepancy analysis we are able to find the nature of the bias answering **RQ3**. We have performed this analysis for AI-generated abstractive summaries, however, the same can be applied for other summary types, regardless whether how they were generated. It's important to mention that our work deals with identifying bias. A natural

⁴These are discrepant topics for summaries, not reflections.

followup question emerges about mitigating bias. To address this question one must find the reason for bias which in itself is a complex question to answer. Hence it can be formulated as future work.

8 Conclusion

In this work, we present the results from our fairness analysis of REFLECTSUMM (Zhong et al., 2024), a benchmark student reflection summarization dataset. We structured our analysis around three research questions: what topics differ between student reflections between male and female students (**RQ1**), are different types of summaries of those reflections biased toward any gender (**RQ2**), and if so, what is the nature of that bias (**RQ3**)?

We found slight topical differences between male and female reflections, such as female students being more likely to mention course logistics and refer explicitly to their own learning than male students. We also found that AI-generated abstractive summaries were biased towards male reflections, irrespective of whether the model was trained on human annotations or used generative causal model like ChatGPT. Human-generated summaries and extractive AI summaries did not exhibit consistent patterns of gender bias.

For the abstractive AI summaries, we found that topics with a pedagogical theme in the summaries are over-represented from male reflections while concept-specific topics were under-represented from female reflections. Such biases caution the use of popular LLM-based abstractive summarization techniques with educational reflection data.

This work could be extended to other educational datasets such as OULAD (Kuzilek et al., 2017), which has more demographic data, however there are not many student reflections available. Some issues with working with reflections data is hence the size and availability of these datasets. Our work could also be extended to analyze other demographic information present in REFLECTSUMM, such as race and ethnicity, as well as reflections from students identifying with genders outside of the gender binary.

We find STM to be a useful approach for analyzing bias in our case. Tracing where this bias could have originated in different training datasets with other tools (Feng et al., 2023) and across other abstractive summarization models would help illuminate possible sources of this bias.

9 Limitations

We have provided a basis framework for bias analysis. A deeper analysis on the basis of prompt or course is application specific and not performed as part of this work. However, it should be an natural extension for a complete analysis. Our analysis provide a birds eye view stating whether on average summaries are biased or not. Addition to this, a fined-grained analysis on individual summaries can be performed using our proposed techniques. STM finds all sorts of topics, those that are talking about content, logistics, etc. Other work may wish to filter the text first or otherwise specify the type of content they wish to investigate, such as comments about course content, learning style, learning technologies, classroom environment, etc.

10 Ethical Statement

It's of utmost importance to safeguard student demographic information from misuse. Safety measure have already been performed by Zhong et al. (2024). Their released version of the dataset contains no personal information like emails, first and last names and and other identification attributes. Our analysis is performed on this released version.

11 Bias Statement

By examining gender bias in summarization systems for student reflections, we are particularly concerned about the risk of allocational harm (Crawford, 2017; Lloyd, 2018; Blodgett et al., 2020). The intended use of such educational technologies is to summarize a potentially unwieldy number of reflections for teaching staff to understand student feedback about lectures and course content. If these summaries more closely represent the opinions and concerns of some groups while leave the comments of others unrepresented, teaching staff will only hear from and potentially adjust the class based on feedback from those groups.

We are particular concerned about gender bias in STEM courses due to a history of exclusion of female students from and within these courses (Clark Blickenstaff, 2005; Vincent-Ruz and Schunn, 2018). This history of bias and exclusion in university courses can contribute to fewer women in STEM professions and a potentially more hostile work environments (Arredondo et al., 2022). As education technologies are increasingly incorporated into such classes, they have the potential to further this bias and exclusion if not investigated properly. Our work is a step in this direction to measure gender bias for one such tool, automatic summarizations of student reflections.

12 Acknowledgement

We thank Diane J. Litman for inspiring this work, and also thank members of her lab who collected the dataset we use. We also thank Yang Zhong for providing continuous support with the dataset.

This research was supported in part by the University of Pittsburgh Center for Research Computing through the resources provided. Specifically, this work used the H2P cluster, which is supported by NSF award number OAC-2117681. The opinions expressed are those of the authors and do not represent the views of the NSF.

References

- Evelin Amorim, Marcia Cançado, and Adriano Veloso. 2018. Automated essay scoring in the presence of biased ratings. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long Papers), pages 229–237, New Orleans, Louisiana. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Patricia Arredondo, Marie L. Miville, Christina M. Capodilupo, and Tatiana Vera. 2022. Women and the Challenge of STEM Professions: Thriving in a Chilly Climate. International and Cultural Psychology. Springer International Publishing, Cham.
- John Baird, Peter Fensham, Richard Gunstone, and Richard White. 1991. The importance of reflection in improving science teaching and learning. *Journal* of Research in Science Teaching, 28:163 – 182.
- Ryan S Baker and Aaron Hawn. 2022. Algorithmic bias in education. *International Journal of Artificial Intelligence in Education*, pages 1–41.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Language (Technology) is Power: A Critical Survey of "Bias" in NLP. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 5454–5476. ArXiv: 2005.14050 Issue: c.
- Tolga Bolukbasi, Kai-Wei Chang, James Y Zou, Venkatesh Saligrama, and Adam T Kalai. 2016. Man is to computer programmer as woman is to homemaker? debiasing word embeddings. In *Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems*, volume 29. Curran Associates, Inc.
- Jennie S. Brotman and Felicia M. Moore. 2008. Girls and science: A review of four themes in the science education literature. *Journal of Research*

in Science Teaching, 45(9):971–1002. _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/ tea.20241.

- Aylin Caliskan, Joanna J. Bryson, and Arvind Narayanan. 2017. Semantics derived automatically from language corpora contain human-like biases. *Science*, 356(6334):183–186.
- Yang Trista Cao and Hal Daumé III. 2020. Toward Gender-Inclusive Coreference Resolution. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 4568– 4595, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- J. K Chung, P. L Kannappan, C. T Ng, and P. K Sahoo. 1989. Measures of distance between probability distributions. *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, 138(1):280–292.
- Jacob Clark Blickenstaff. 2005. Women and science careers: leaky pipeline or gender filter? *Gender and Education*, 17(4):369–386. Publisher: Routledge _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/09540250500145072.
- Kate Crawford. 2017. The Trouble with Bias NIPS 2017 Keynote.
- Paula Czarnowska, Yogarshi Vyas, and Kashif Shah. 2021. Quantifying social biases in NLP: A generalization and empirical comparison of extrinsic fairness metrics. *CoRR*, abs/2106.14574.
- Abhisek Dash, Anurag Shandilya, Arindam Biswas, Kripabandhu Ghosh, Saptarshi Ghosh, and Abhijnan Chakraborty. 2019. Summarizing user-generated textual content: Motivation and methods for fairness in algorithmic summaries. *Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact.*, 3(CSCW).
- Thomas Davidson and Debasmita Bhattacharya. 2020. Examining racial bias in an online abuse corpus with structural topic modeling. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2005.13041*.
- Olivia Dias, Raechel Walker, and Cynthia Breazeal. 2022. Teaching an intersectional data analysis on affirmative action. In *Proceedings of the 54th ACM Technical Symposium on Computer Science Education V. 2*, pages 1238–1238.
- Xiangmin Fan, Wencan Luo, Muhsin Menekse, Diane Litman, and Jingtao Wang. 2015. Coursemirror: Enhancing large classroom instructor-student interactions via mobile interfaces and natural language processing. In *Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI EA '15, page 1473–1478, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Xiangmin Fan, Wencan Luo, Muhsin Menekse, Diane Litman, and Jingtao Wang. 2017. Scaling reflection prompts in large classrooms via mobile interfaces and

natural language processing. In *Proceedings of the* 22nd International Conference on Intelligent User Interfaces, IUI '17, page 363–374, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.

- Shangbin Feng, Chan Young Park, Yuhan Liu, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2023. From Pretraining Data to Language Models to Downstream Tasks: Tracking the Trails of Political Biases Leading to Unfair NLP Models. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 11737–11762, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Anjalie Field, Su Lin Blodgett, Zeerak Waseem, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2021. A survey of race, racism, and anti-racism in NLP. *CoRR*, abs/2106.11410.
- Maarten Grootendorst. 2022. Bertopic: Neural topic modeling with a class-based tf-idf procedure. *arXiv* preprint arXiv:2203.05794.
- Eduard H Hovy, Chin-Yew Lin, Liang Zhou, and Junichi Fukumoto. 2006. Automated summarization evaluation with basic elements. In *LREC*, volume 6, pages 604–611.
- Nannan Huang, Lin Tian, Haytham Fayek, and Xiuzhen Zhang. 2023. Examining bias in opinion summarisation through the perspective of opinion diversity. In Proceedings of the 13th Workshop on Computational Approaches to Subjectivity, Sentiment, & Social Media Analysis, pages 149–161, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Po-Sen Huang, Huan Zhang, Ray Jiang, Robert Stanforth, Johannes Welbl, Jack Rae, Vishal Maini, Dani Yogatama, and Pushmeet Kohli. 2020. Reducing sentiment bias in language models via counterfactual evaluation. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020*, pages 65–83, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jakub Kuzilek, Martin Hlosta, and Zdenek Zdrahal. 2017. Open university learning analytics dataset. *Scientific data*, 4(1):1–8.
- Mike Lewis, Yinhan Liu, Naman Goyal, Marjan Ghazvininejad, Abdelrahman Mohamed, Omer Levy, Veselin Stoyanov, and Luke Zettlemoyer. 2020. BART: Denoising sequence-to-sequence pre-training for natural language generation, translation, and comprehension. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 7871–7880, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Chien-Chang Lin, Anna YQ Huang, and Owen HT Lu. 2023. Artificial intelligence in intelligent tutoring systems toward sustainable education: a systematic review. *Smart Learning Environments*, 10(1):41.
- Diane Litman, Haoran Zhang, Richard Correnti, Lindsay Clare Matsumura, and Elaine Wang. 2021. A fairness evaluation of automated methods for scoring

text evidence usage in writing. In *Artificial Intelligence in Education*, pages 255–267, Cham. Springer International Publishing.

- Yuhan Liu, Shangbin Feng, Xiaochuang Han, Vidhisha Balachandran, Chan Young Park, Sachin Kumar, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2024. p^3 sum: Preserving author's perspective in news summarization with diffusion language models.
- Kirsten Lloyd. 2018. Bias Amplification in Artificial Intelligence Systems. ArXiv:1809.07842 [cs].
- Wencan Luo and Diane Litman. 2015. Summarizing student responses to reflection prompts. In Proceedings of the 2015 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 1955–1960, Lisbon, Portugal. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Wencan Luo, Fei Liu, and Diane Litman. 2016. An improved phrase-based approach to annotating and summarizing student course responses. In *Proceedings of COLING 2016, the 26th International Conference on Computational Linguistics: Technical Papers*, pages 53–63, Osaka, Japan. The COLING 2016 Organizing Committee.
- Michael Madaio, Su Lin Blodgett, Elijah Mayfield, and Ezekiel Dixon-Román. 2022. Beyond "fairness": Structural (in) justice lenses on ai for education. In *The ethics of artificial intelligence in education*, pages 203–239. Routledge.
- Ahmed Magooda and Diane Litman. 2020. Abstractive summarization for low resource data using domain transfer and data synthesis.
- Elijah Mayfield, Michael Madaio, Shrimai Prabhumoye, David Gerritsen, Brittany McLaughlin, Ezekiel Dixon-Román, and Alan W Black. 2019. Equity beyond bias in language technologies for education. In *Proceedings of the Fourteenth Workshop on Innovative Use of NLP for Building Educational Applications*, pages 444–460, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Danielle S McNamara. 2011. Measuring deep, reflective comprehension and learning strategies: challenges and successes. *Metacognition and Learning*, 6:195–203.
- David Mimno and Moontae Lee. 2014. Lowdimensional embeddings for interpretable anchorbased topic inference. In Proceedings of the 2014 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP), pages 1319–1328, Doha, Qatar. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Margaret E. Roberts, Brandon M. Stewart, and Dustin Tingley. 2019. stm: An r package for structural topic models. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 91(2):1–40.

- Margaret E Roberts, Brandon M Stewart, Dustin Tingley, Christopher Lucas, Jetson Leder-Luis, Shana Kushner Gadarian, Bethany Albertson, and David G Rand. 2014. Structural topic models for open-ended survey responses. *American journal of political science*, 58(4):1064–1082.
- Rod D Roscoe, Shima Salehi, Nia Nixon, Marcelo Worsley, Chris Piech, and Rose Luckin. 2022. Inclusion and equity as a paradigm shift for artificial intelligence in education. In *Artificial Intelligence in STEM Education*, pages 359–374. CRC Press.
- Rachel Rudinger, Jason Naradowsky, Brian Leonard, and Benjamin Van Durme. 2018. Gender bias in coreference resolution. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 2 (Short Papers), pages 8–14, New Orleans, Louisiana. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Beatrice Savoldi, Marco Gaido, Luisa Bentivogli, Matteo Negri, and Marco Turchi. 2021. Gender Bias in Machine Translation. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 9:845–874.
- Umair Shakir, Sarah Ovink, and Andrew Katz. 2022. Using natural language processing to explore undergraduate students' perspectives of social class, gender, and race. In *American Society for Engineering Education Annual Conference*.
- Tony Sun, Andrew Gaut, Shirlyn Tang, Yuxin Huang, Mai ElSherief, Jieyu Zhao, Diba Mirza, Elizabeth Belding, Kai-Wei Chang, and William Yang Wang. 2019. Mitigating gender bias in natural language processing: Literature review. In Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 1630–1640, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Marta Villamor Martin, David A Kirsch, and Fabian Prieto-Nañez. 2023. The promise of machinelearning-driven text analysis techniques for historical research: topic modeling and word embedding. *Management & Organizational History*, 18(1):81–96.
- Paulette Vincent-Ruz and Christian D. Schunn. 2018. The nature of science identity and its role as the driver of student choices. *International Journal of STEM Education*, 5(1):48.
- Damin Zhang and Julia Rayz. 2022. Examining stereotypes in news articles. In *The International FLAIRS Conference Proceedings*, volume 35.
- Ming Zhong, Pengfei Liu, Yiran Chen, Danqing Wang, Xipeng Qiu, and Xuanjing Huang. 2020. Extractive summarization as text matching. In *Proceedings* of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 6197–6208, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Yang Zhong, Mohamed Elaraby, Diane Litman, Ahmed Ashraf Butt, and Muhsin Menekse. 2024.

ReflectSumm: A benchmark for course reflection summarization. In *Proceedings of the 2024 Joint International Conference on Computational Linguistics, Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC-COLING 2024)*, pages 13819–13846, Torino, Italia. ELRA and ICCL.

Leyla Zhuhadar, Scarlett Marklin, Evelyn Thrasher, and Miltiadis D. Lytras. 2016. Is there a gender difference in interacting with intelligent tutoring system? can bayesian knowledge tracing and learning curve analysis models answer this question? *Computers in Human Behavior*, 61:198–204.

A Appendix

A.1 Top Topics

Fig. 5 shows all the topics learned by the topic model (as described in section 5) in decreasing order of expected topic proportions. For each topic, top four words ranked according to FREX score (Roberts et al., 2019) are also specifies which help in characterizing the topic.

A.2 Topical Analysis

Along with estimating a regression model to find association between topics and particular genders (as described in section 5) we also estimated a similar one to find associations between topics and prompts types (I and C) which is shown in Fig. 6. We also went a step deeper in our analysis and plot topic gender associations mediated by prompt type (I or C), as shown in Fig. 7 (mediator being prompt I) and Fig. 8 (mediator being prompt C). Similarly, we plot topic gender associations mediated by course, as shown in Fig. 9 (mediator being course *CS*), Fig. 10 (mediator being course *ENGR*), Fig. 11 (mediator being course *CMPINF*) and Fig. 12 (mediator being course *PHYS*).

A.3 Bias Analysis

Tables 5 shows details about the mean distance calculated between summaries and their corresponding reflections for each gender (as described in section 6). We performed a Student's t-test on a random sample of these computed distances. The p-value for each corresponding test is also mentioned in the table. The significant ones whose p-value is < 0.05, marked with *p-value.

A.4 Discrepant Topic Reflections

Table 6 and Table 7 show top words and top reflections for all the discrepant topics identified in section 7 for both abstractive summary generation AI models - BART-large and GPT-1shot.

Distance Human Annotation		AI Generation				
Metric	Extractive	Abstractive	Phrased	Extractive	Abstractive	Phrased
	M:0.448	M:0.474	M:0.470	(MatchSum) M:0.453 F:0.444	(BART-Large) M:0.551 F:0.555	(GPT-noun) M:0.486 F:0.483
1 aagina	F:0.442	F:0.473	F:0.468	*p-value:0.006	*p-value:8.7e-05	*p-value:0.001
1-cosine	*p-value:	*p-value:	p-value:	(GPT-reflect) 0.46 F:0.45	(GPT-1shot) M:0.55 F:0.57	(GPT-noun-1shot) M:0.482 F:0.486
	0.01	0.03	0.08	*p-value:0.0002	*p-value:1.5e-07	p-value:0.65
	M:0.157	M:0.169	M:0.1480	(MatchSum) M:0.16 F:0.15	(BART-Large) M:0.18 F:0.20	(GPT-noun) M:0.16 F:0.59
ied	F:0.154	F:0.165	F:0.1487	p-value:0.25	*p-value:0.3.6e-07	p-value:0.98
jsu	p-value:	p-value:	p-value:	(GPT-reflect) M:0.16 F0.15	(GPT-1shot) M:0.18 F:0.20	(GPT-noun-1shot) M:0.15 F:0.16
	0.96	0.25	0.81	p-value:0.14	*p-value:2.6e-08	*p-value:0.03
	M:0.40	M:0.42	M:0.389	(MatchSum) M:0.408 F:0.402	(BART-Large) M:0.44 F:0.46	(GPT-noun) M:0.405 F:0.401
hollinger	F:0.39	F:0.41	F:0.388	p-value:0.25	*p-value:1.8e-5	p-value:0.26
neninger	p-value:	p-value:	p-value:	(GPT-reflect) M:0.4 F0.39	(GPT-1shot) M:0.44 F:0.47	(GPT-noun-1shot) M:0.39 F:0.40
	0.28	0.6	0.8	*p-value:0.01	*p-value:1.5e-6	p-value:0.09
	M:0.005	M:0.005	M:0.006	(MatchSum) M:0.0062 F:0.0068	(BART-Large) M:0.006 F:0.007	(GPT-noun) M:0.0072 F:0.0077
oorthmovor	F:0.006	F:0.006	F:0.007	*p-value:0.001	*p-value:5.4e-11	*p-value:0.001
earthmover	*p-value:	*p-value:	*p-value:	(GPT-reflect) M:0.0061 F0.0066	(GPT-1shot) M:0.006 F:0.007	(GPT-noun-1shot) M:0.006 F:0.007
	4.3e-6	1.1e-6	0.02	*p-value:7.8e-5	*p-value:5.1e-10	*p-value:1e-5

Table 5: Mean Difference between Reflection (for each gender) and Summary.

Topic 22: tree, binari, travers, search - Under-representing Female

1: how do you delete a black node vs. a red node from a red-black bst?

2: How to label and binary search tree. And the build tree method in the binary tree code

Topic 13: point, big, runtim, collis - Under-representing Female

1: I was confused about the Big O runtime details. I would love further explanation on how we can determine the estimated runtime. I would also like to know any tricks to more easily determine Big O. Additionally, I do not understand the difference between Big O, Little O, theta, and tilde.

2: BFS - how to keep track of what is seen/unseen

Topic 4: algorithm, abstract, network, prim - Under-representing Female

1: The most interesting part was the application of emojis stored in unicode as well as audio encodings in relation to MP3 players.

2: eager prims and lazy prim

Topic 1: forc, object, mass, resist - Under-representing Female

1: I think it's interesting that momentum can be conserved if no external forces are acting on an object.

2: linear momentum using center of mass, derivative of momentum

Table 6: Top Reflections for Discrepant Topics - Under-representing Female. Sorted in decreasing order of discrepancy.

Topic 23: figur, instruct, criteria, sourc - Over-representing Male

1: When printing a vector, I am able to display it in individual statements in the command window, with one fprintf statement. However, when I am attempting to display two vectors like I would with two values in a fprintf stament it does not work. 2: I found it interesting that there were 5 spots open for criteria but only 4 listed. Why bother with adding a blank row?

Topic 3: abl, group, team, meet - Over-representing Male

1: A04 and dividing work amongst team members

2: It was interesting to join groups and work together. It

helped eliminate most confusion. And it was interesting to meet new people

Topic 38: project, new, design, present - Over-representing Male

1: Introduction of new design project

2: Taking a look at the new memo to see the new project

Topic 40: data, comput, regress, communic - Over-representing Male

1: The Data, Information, Knowledge, Wisdom debatability.

2: How data is raw and needs to be processed into information and that data can ultimately be turned into wisdom

Topic 42: class, today', assign, onlin - Over-representing Male

1: I think that the part that was most confusing today was what we were supposed to do for the in class assignment in class 2b 2: Due dates for assignment 10

Topic 18: need, detail, prototyp, suppos - Over-representing Male

1: I was confused on what to do on some places because I couldn't find the documents in brightspace.

2: The type of prototypes that we have to make by Monday for testing.

Topic 27: noth, everyth, explain, clear - Over-representing Male

1: Nothing, today went at a great pace

2: Nothing. You explained everything very well

Topic 19: sinc, multipl, put, main - Over-representing Male

1: I may need more clarity on prefix trees since they're kinda complicated especially when there are many nodes

2: The idea of communication between living cells was very interesting, but dwelling too much time on it may be off the mark for the scope of this class. Perhaps the idea of packet switching on the internet could be related

to neurotransmitters or some other physical packet.

Table 7: Top Reflections for Discrepant Topics - Over-representing Male. Sorted in decreasing order of discrepancy.

Interesting vs Confusing



Figure 6: Topical Difference between Prompts



Figure 7: Topical Difference between Genders w.r.t. to Prompt (I)

Top Topics

		— Topic 37:	interest, found	, thought, cool			
		Topic 35: cont	fus. littl. bit. still	 			
	Topic 27: noth, today, lectur, everyth						
	 — Topic 39: 	field, electr, en	ergi, magnet				
	 Topic 42: c 	lass, part, assi	an. todav				
	Topic 25: di	ffer. thing, way.	riaht				
	Topic 7: circ	uit. integr. real.	voltag				
·	Topic 22: enjo	oy, tree, method	d, binari				
	Topic 3: work	idea, abl, grou	q				
	Topic 21: relat	vector, graph,	acceler				
т	opic 5: use, fu	inction, excel, I	ogic				
Тор	bic 14: questic	n, first, top, ha	t				
Top	oic 33: like, se	e, light, look					
Top	ic 34: probler	n, solv, practic,	explan				
Тор	ic 44: current,	direct, chang,	move				
Тор	ic 1: forc, obje	ct, mass, visua	al				
Торі	c 6: understar	nd, realli, help,	better				
Topi	c 38: project.	will, new, start					
Topic	28: find, con	cept. quiz. har	d				
Topic	40: data, info	rm. comput. tv	pe				
Topic	47: discuss, t	opic, talk, rese	arch				
Topic 1	8: need, deta	il, model, proto	typ				
Topic 3	1: charg, deri	v, equal, partic	í'				
Topic 2	0: code, powe	r. process, act	ual				
Topic 4	3: equat. app	i, physic, surfa	с				
Topic 4	1: loop, graph	. creat. histogr	am				
Topic 2	exampl, two.	veloc, connec	t				
Topic 15	5: time, lot, tal	ke, reservoir					
Topic 32	: demonstr. m	ateri, tension.	car				
Topic 30	: learn, engin	love, failur					
Topic 4: a	algorithm, app	lic, abstract, co	xelamo				
Topic 10:	make, much.	made, sens					
Topic 45:	one, specif, e	xact. amount					
Topic 26:	can, conduct	or. fact. water					
Topic 13:	point, big, rur	ntim, back					
Topic 11:	det. answer. o	ot, kind					
Topic 12:	calcul, good,	didnt, comple	et				
Topic 49:	matlab, gener	al, compress, o	command				
Topic 23: a	activ, figur, slig	le, instruct					
Topic 17: v	alu, determin.	flux, compar					
Topic 24: la	w. similar. ma	th. induc					
Topic 16: a	lway, matrix, r	otat, weight					
Topic 8: pre	tti, seem, end	, tri					
Topic 29: al	so, know, bit,	frequenc					
Topic 48: ar	proach, solut	, best, aspect					
Topic 9: son	neth, done, ea	isi, mean					
Topic 19: sinc. multipl. especi. put							
Topic 36: just, set, number, tell							
—— Topic 46: system, definit, want, term							
— Topic 50: think, introduc, still, re–watch							
0.00 0.02	0.04	0.06	0.08	0.10			
Expected Topic Proportions							

Figure 5: Topics sorted by FREX score



Figure 8: Topical Difference between Genders w.r.t. to Prompt (C)



Figure 10: Topical Difference between Genders w.r.t. to Course (ENGR)



Figure 9: Topical Difference between Genders w.r.t. to Course (CS)

Figure 11: Topical Difference between Genders w.r.t. to Course (CMPINF)



Figure 12: Topical Difference between Genders w.r.t. to Course (PHYS)

On Shortcuts and Biases: How Finetuned Language Models Distinguish Audience-Specific Instructions in Italian and English

Nicola Fanton^{1,2}

Michael Roth²

University of Stuttgart ¹ Interchange Forum for Reflecting on Intelligent Systems ² Institute for Natural Language Processing {firstname.lastname}@ims.uni-stuttgart.de

Abstract

Instructional texts for different audience groups can help to address specific needs, but at the same time run the risk of perpetrating biases. In this paper, we extend previous findings on disparate social norms and subtle stereotypes in wikiHow in two directions: We explore the use of fine-tuned language models to determine how audience-specific instructional texts can be distinguished and we transfer the methodology to another language, Italian, to identify crosslinguistic patterns. We find that language models mostly rely on group terms, gender markings, and attributes reinforcing stereotypes.

Bias Statement

In this study, bias is defined as systematic differences in content and presentation of wikiHow articles that are tailored to different audiences, particularly in ways that can reinforce gender stereotypes or inequities. Such biases include the allocation of topics in a way that reinforces traditional gender stereotypes as well as the use of language that perpetuates hetero-normative gender roles.

Following Blodgett et al. (2020), we recognize that bias is not merely a technical issue but a deeply embedded social problem that reflects structural inequalities. This work analyzes social constructs, as described in collaboratively edited how-to guides, in which biases operate and which, when used as training data, can raise issues in NLP systems.

Potential harms of biased data, as defined above, include unequal access to information, exposure to content that can affect self-esteem and self-worth, as well as limiting individual aspirations. We identify sources of underlying biases in the data as a starting point for editors to create fairer content and for developers to foster more ethical AI systems. As such, our work aims to actively promote diversity and inclusion on a specific online platform and to generally contribute to a more nuanced understanding of origins of gender bias in NLP. Flirtare Via SMS (Per Ragazze) "Flirting Via SMS (For Girls)" Lascia che sia **lui** il primo a scrivere! "Let **him** be the first one to write!"

Essere Figo alle Superiori (per Ragazzi) "Being Cool in High School (for Boys)" *Focalizza l'attenzione sulle ragazze.* "Focus attention **on the girls**."

Table 1: Examples from wikiHow in Italian.

1 Introduction

Instructional texts aim to convey the necessary knowledge for readers to accomplish specific tasks. On the collaboratively edited online platform wiki-How, hundreds of thousands of instructional texts are available on a variety of topics and in multiple languages. The goal, or mission, of this vast repository is to democratize access to knowledge and skills across diverse subject matters.¹ Among other works on wikiHow, prior research has explored in how far texts are formulated in linguistically inclusive terms and which adjustments are made for specific target audiences (Suhr and Roth, 2024; Fanton et al., 2023). However, these previous studies primarily relied on simple classifiers and focused exclusively on English texts, leaving a gap in understanding multilingual phenomena and if fine-tuning language models might exacerbate biases (see §2).

Acknowledging the limitations of prior research to English, we first compile a new dataset in a less resourced language, specifically Italian (see §3). Our initial research question investigates how texts for different target audiences in English and Italian vary in terms of the topics they address (see §4). This exploration directly contributes to the analysis of social biases in the data (see Table 1 for an example). To draw comparisons with previous

¹https://www.wikihow.com/wikiHow:Mission

research, we then explore how articles for different target groups can be distinguished computationally and which characteristics are learned in this process (see §5). Unlike previous work, we employ fine-tuned language models and utilize a wellestablished interpretation method, integrated gradients (Sundararajan et al., 2017). This approach represents a recent advancement beyond simple classifiers to interpreting more sophisticated models that can provide deeper insights into language use and biases.

In short, we make the following contributions:

- We release a new data collection, wikiHowAudIT (short wHA-IT), and assess the audience-specific biases in how-to guides by a topic-based data analysis.
- We cross-lingually compare biases in wHA-IT and in an existing English dataset, wikiHowAudiences (short wHA-EN; Fanton et al., 2023), by fine-tuning and analyzing language models for audience classification.

2 Related Work

In this section we briefly review three related areas: Our work continues a series of recent contributions dealing with the collection of data sets for Italian. While there exists little work on instructional texts for Italian, data in English has been examined and tested from different angles and perspectives in the NLP community. Finally, work on model-based data interpretation has received increasing attention, but almost no work studied biases in audiencespecific instructional texts.

Italian NLP datasets. Recent data collections for the Italian language include DIATOPIT (Ramponi and Casula, 2023a), a dataset representative in time and space on variations of non-Standard Italian. A new shared task for geo-locating the linguistic variation in Italy (Ramponi and Casula, 2023b) is based on this data collection. Another recent effort for the Italian language is IRMA, a data collection for studying misinformation (Carrella et al., 2023). In their paper, the authors curated a dataset from untrustworthy websites, and emphasized its significance for the less-represented language studied. Minnema et al. (2023) advance the task of responsibility perspective transfer, in the context of studying gender-based violence, and a dataset of sentences for Italian news about femicides. To

the best of our knowledge, there are no previous studies on how-to guides in the Italian language.

Instructional texts. Anthonio et al. (2020) introduced wikiHowToImprove, a data collection of original and revised sentences based on wikiHow articles and their revision histories. Kojima et al. (2021) contribute with a continual approach for instruction generation. Fanton et al. (2023) examine audience-specific wikiHow guides in English. They find traces of subtle biases, using shallow classifiers and qualitative analyses. In this work, we extend their findings to fine-tuned language models in two languages.

Interpreting Language Models. A number of methods have been proposed recently for interpreting fine-tuned language models. Our work makes use of Integrated Gradients (Sundararajan et al., 2017), which computes the gradients of a model's output with respect to the input, based on (stepwise) back-propagation and summation as an approximation method. Falk and Lapesa (2022) employ a variant of Integrated Gradients for getting attributions and importance scores. They point to the capabilities of such method(s) "to uncover potential biases picked up by the model". In their case, the reveal of these biases concerns how the model's class prediction is influenced by sensitive words. Luu and Inoue (2023) propose the Counterfactual Adversarial Training (CAT) technique, with the broader goal of improving LMs' robustness. They make use of Integrated Gradients in CAT for calculating tokens' salience, before obtaining the counterfactual perturbations. This is then put into practice by changing the thus extracted important tokens. Other works that rely on Integrated Gradients include studies on irony detection in Dutch (Maladry et al., 2023) and gender-based violence in Italian (Minnema et al., 2023), among others.

3 Data

We first build a data collection to investigate our first research question, namely how texts for different target audiences in Italian vary in terms of the topics they address. As a starting point, we use how-to guides from publicly available wikiHow dumps² for Italian. Out of 34,801 guides, 1,031 feature an indicator between round parentheses at the end of the title (see Table 1). For each guide featur-

²https://ftp.fau.de/kiwix/zim/wikihow/, we refer to this file: wikihow_it_maxi_2023-02.

Audience	wHA-IT	wHA-EN
Women (W)	143	993
Men (M)	100	209
Kids (K)	22	499
Teens (T)	158	411
Total	423	2,112

Table 2: Distribution of articles across target groups.

С	Cluster Name	K	Т
0	routines	20	13
1	attitudes	15	15
 2	relationships		
Z	and friendships	20	18
3	clothes and style	5	11
	preparation		
4	and organization	20	15
5	self-care	5	18
6	school and work	15	8

Table 3: Cluster assignments (percentages) for the two audience groups pertaining the K-T task in wHA-IT.

ing a group indicator, we use wikiHow's Esporta³ service to get the latest version. Following previous work (Fanton et al., 2023), we manually categorize the indicators into four target groups: Women (W), Men (M); Kids (K), Teens (T). Similar to previous work, we find that there is a lack of indicators for non-binary/other groups (see §A.1 for a complete list of common indicators), forcing us to consider only binary distinctions: Women-Men (W-M) and Kids–Tens (K–T).⁴ Table 2 comprises the distribution over audience groups for the wikiHowAudIT (wHA-IT) corpus, which comprises a total of 423 how-to guides, and for the corpus from previous work (wHA-EN). For training, validation and testing, we create stratified experimental partitions for each task with a proportion of 8 : 1 : 1 (see Table 12 in A.2 for details).

4 Data Analysis

We address our first research question, namely how texts for different target audiences in Italian vary in terms of the topics, by clustering articles according to their content. We describe the approach in §4.1 and findings in §4.2. For this part of our work, we

С	Cluster Name	W	Μ
0	organize activities	16	11
1	physical aspect		
1	and care	9	13
 2	body-related		
2	(genitals)	9	10
3	body-related		
5	(care)	17	18
4	health	6	10
5	body-related		
5	(fat)	6	4
6	clothes and style	12	11
7	night-time	3	4
• Q	body-related		
0	(diet)	6	3
0	relationships		
7	and friendships	15	14

Table 4: Cluster assignments (percentages) for the two audience groups pertaining the W-M task in wHA-IT.

focus exclusively on the TRAIN and DEV partitions of the data in Italian, so that the TEST part remains held-out for computational experiments (see §5).

4.1 Clustering Approach

Our approach makes use of agglomerative clustering, using embeddings for capturing the contents of each article. First, we embed the articles with a sentence-transformer model⁵ (Reimers and Gurevych, 2019). Second, we normalize the embeddings obtained. Third, we leverage the scikit-learn (Pedregosa et al., 2011) AgglomerativeClustering algorithm and default options to put into practice the clustering, with the distance threshold set to 1.5.⁶ Finally, we review the titles of the guides assigned to each cluster in order to find an overarching topic.

Inspired by Montariol et al. (2021), we perform an additional validation for topics as cluster names. Specifically, we collect all word tokens within the articles of a cluster and sort them according to their tf-idf scores, providing us with the tokens that seem most relevant for the cluster. In order to select the

³https://www.wikihow.it/Speciale:Esporta

⁴Note that an article may target two groups, meaning that some data points appear in both distinctions.

⁵The LM used here for wHA-IT is

<code>nickprock/sentence-bert-base-italian-uncased</code> with input size 512 tokens, for <code>wHA-EN</code>

sentence-transformers/all-mpnet-base-v2 (384).

⁶The value of the distance threshold chosen is the default value implemented in the sentence-transformers library for the agglomerative clustering. For wHA-EN, we raised the threshold to 4 experimentally.

0	stanza	camera	tema	cose	ta	genitori	cosa
	"room"	"bedroom"	"theme"	"things"	"ta"	"parents"	"thing"
1	ta	sopracciglia	viso	costume	lenti	fascia	capelli
	"ta"	"eyebrows"	"face"	"costume"	"lenses"	"band"	"hair"
$\bar{2}^{-}$	cla	midi	pub	erta	infezione	vagina	urina
	"cla"	"midi"	"pub"	"erta"	"infection"	"vagina"	"urine"
3	capelli	pelle	peli	ila	viso	lava –	crema
	"hair"	"skin"	"hair"	"ila"	"face"	"washes"	"cream"
4	ta	genitori	sito	cosa	tosse	parlare	medico
	"ta"	"parents"	"site"	"thing"	"cough"	"speak"	"doctor"
5	peso	calorie	perdere	esercizi	im	pesa –	pesi
	"weight"	"calories"	"loose"	"exercises"	"im"	"weighs"	"weights"
6	vestiti	indossa	pantaloni	abbigliamento	scarpe	stile	indossare
	"clothes"	"wears"	"trousers"	"clothing"	"shoes"	"style"	"wear"
7	sveglio		sveglia	notte	letto	restare	colazione
	"awake"	"00"	"alarm"	"night"	"bed"	"remain"	"breakfast"
8	calorie	peso	mag	dieta	pasti –	mangiare	grasso
	"calories"	"weight"	"may"	"diet"	"meals"	"eat"	"fat"
- 9 -	lui	lei	ragazzo	ragazza	cosa	gay	parlare
	"him"	"she"	"boy"	"girl"	"thing"	"gay"	"speak"

Table 5: Highest scoring tokens (Italian, "translated") for each cluster in the TRAIN U DEV parts of the W-M data.

most discerning tokens, for each cluster we leave out the tokens featured in all the other clusters.

We execute agglomerative clustering for each task separately: one time for the task W–M and once for K–T. For cross-lingual comparison, we perform the same steps for the wHA-EN corpus introduced by Fanton et al. (2023).

4.2 Cluster Findings

For the task W–M in wHA-IT, we found 10 clusters. For the task K–T, we found 7 clusters. An overview of the clusters for both tasks are shown in Table 3 and 4, including topic-based cluster names and counts for each target group. For W–M we find a prevalent presence of body-related clusters (labelled with 1, 2, 3, 5, 8), as well as socially coded occupations (labelled with 0, 4, 6, 7, 9). Interestingly, there are two clusters (labelled with 5 and 8) that focus not only on physical aspect, but also more in detail about being fit. Additional details can be seen based on the highest-scoring tokens ("weight", "calories", "fat"), as summarized for all clusters in Table 5. For K–T, unlike the previous task, we find more behavioral and social activities.

In summary, our analysis on wHA-IT shows how the examined articles are clusterable by topical information across audiences, indicating that topics are not specific for a target group. Considered these overlaps, we remark that there are less topical biases than we had assumed and it may be interesting to see which differences a computational model learns for distinguishing audiences in Italian.

In wHA-EN, we find 11 clusters for W-M, distributed over both target groups (see Table 7). For K-T, we find 8 clusters (Table 8). For W–M, we meta-group the clusters. The activities to perform in specific places, like in school or outside are labelled with 0, 5, 7, 8. Moreover, a further distinction is between activities in relation to others (labelled with 2, 10) and activities in relation to oneself (labelled with 1, 3, 6, 9). However, cluster 4 (appear and act) cannot unambiguously be allocated to activities in relation to others, nor to activities in relation to oneself, because it features subtly disparate guides. As examples, we show two titles per audience from that cluster:

W: "Be Drama Free",

"Eat Healthy Around Your Friends"

M: "Look Handsome", "Be More Socially Open"

The first example each might imply to work more on oneself rather than in direct relation to others, but it is not possible to conclude exactly so for the other two. That is to say, to eat in a certain way around other people, and to be more socially open, requires at least some relation to others.

С	W–M									
0	party	her	paint	could	bedroom	parents	furniture	games	play	bag
1	shoes	black	jeans	colors	shirts	makeup	shirt	pair	color	shorts
$\overline{2}$	her	she	him	he	enemy	crush 1	relationship	b his	could	girlfriend
3	erty	pub	ac	dry	ne	ving	sha	shave	her	razor
4	her	makeup	popular	smile	act	others	he	she	teeth	talking
5	alarm	wake	homework	breakfast	makeup	teeth	clock	class	routine	early
6	weight	fat	cal	ories	foods	diet	muscle	exercise	muscles	lose
7	dance	date	her	makeup	she	shoes	him	party	he	dancing
8	pack	bag	camp	swim	suit	suitcase	items	packing	pool	locker
9	comb	dry	hairs	oil	gel	ay	condition	tyle	scalp	pr
10	he	him	his	crush	guy	smile	flirt	kiss	conversation	guys

Table 6: High scoring tokens for each cluster in the TRAIN U DEV partitions of the **W–M** data (wHA-EN).

С	Cluster Name	W	Μ
0	fun activities	15	5
1	clothes and style	$2\bar{2}$	23
 2	relationships and		
2	friendships	5	18
3	personal care	10	13
4	appear and act	17	13
5	routines and school	7	$\overline{2}$
	body-related		
0	(weight)	3	4
7	going out	6	9
8	vacation	$-\bar{5}^{-}$	1
- 9	hairstyles	1	8
10	love		
10	relationships	8	4

Table 7: Cluster assignments (percentages) for the two audience groups pertaining the W-M task in wHA-EN.

Table 6 shows the most discerning tokens for the clusters induced from the English data for W–M. We note that pronouns appear among the highest scoring tokens for several clusters (e.g. clusters 0, 2 and 10), which are at the same time large clusters that contain disproportionally many articles for one of the two target groups (cf. Table 7).

Cross-lingually, we find for W–M that relations to other people (e.g. relationships and friendships), as well as self-centered activities (self-care, personal care) are similarly present in English and Italian. In contrast, body-related topics only seem narrowly present in wHA-EN, whereas they are highly pervasive in wHA-IT. The topics for K–T are largely overlapping across languages. For instance, we find routines for both

С	Designation	K	Т
0	routines	8	9
1	lifestyle		18
	young people's		
2	issues (general)	25	27
3	parties	8	7
4	money (games)	7	5
5	relationships	7	13
6	holiday	10	12
7	crafting	28	9

Table 8: Cluster assignments (percentages) for the two audience groups pertaining the K-T task in wHA-EN.

languages. Similarly, we find relationships and friendships, clothes and style in wHA-IT and relationships, lifestyle in wHA-EN. However, self-care emerges only from the Italian data, while crafting and money (games) are specific to the English data, which may point at a need for financial education of the younger generations (Lusardi, 2019).

5 Experimental Setup

Given the data and analyses of the previous sections, we next investigate what features and biases computational models learn when they are trained to distinguish articles for different audiences.

5.1 Models

As discussed in Section 2, previous work attempted to distinguish texts by target groups using simple classifiers. However, we take the results from our data analysis as an indicator that lexical and off-theshelf representations might not be fully sufficient for this task. In order to find more nuanced biases, we propose to fine-tune language models. We test whether this leads to a higher distinction and which patterns are learned in the process. For comparability, we adopt the same setups for LMs fine-tuned on wHA-IT and wHA-EN.

We employ a set of LMs from Hugging Face (Wolf et al., 2020) and set up binary classification tasks based on the previously discussed data. Due to computational constraints, we use LMs with a maximum length of 512 tokens. For Italian, these include the monolingual language models Italian BERT cased/uncased (Schweter, 2020), UmBERTo cased/uncased (Parisi et al., 2020) as well the multilingual models mBERT cased/uncased (Devlin et al., 2019) and XLM-RoBERTa (Conneau et al., 2020). For English, we follow previous work and only tested BERT-cased/uncased (Devlin et al., 2019) and RoBERTa (Liu et al., 2019). For hyperparameter selection, we maximize the macro F_1 on the DEV set. We perform 3 trials for each LM and for each task, W-M and K-T, using Optuna (Akiba et al., 2019) as the optimization framework. More details on the tested LMs and used hyperparameters are listed in Appendix A.4.

5.2 Attributions

Based on the F₁ scores obtained for each task on the DEV sets, we select the best-performing LM for further analysis. We leverage the Transformers Interpret⁷ library to inspect which are the parts of the articles that are relevant in distinguishing the audience-specific guides. Specifically, we pass the fine-tuned LM, their tokenizer and the (truncated) articles as inputs to the SequenceClassificationExplainer. The output of each pass is a list of attributions: tokens with respective scores. For W-M, each text is explained with respect to the class label W. For K-T, explanations are taken with respect to the label K. For each task, we first collect attributes for each article and then summarize them for the full task data by averaging the scores found for each article.

6 Results

We first discuss results in terms of model performance for the classification task itself ($\S6.1$) and then analyze the attributions of the models that perform best at distinguishing audiences ($\S6.2$).

⁷https://github.com/cdpierse/

transformers-interpret

Task	wHA-IT	wHA-EN	Fanton et al.
W–M	0.83	0.86	0.71
K–T	0.60	0.82	0.78

Table 9: Macro F_1 on the TEST sets.

6.1 Performance

In Table 9, we report solely the performance of our best configuration (as determined on the development set) and comparison numbers from Fanton et al. (2023) on wHA-EN. Specifically, we use bert-base-italian-cased for both tasks on wHA-IT, and roberta-base and bert-base-uncased for W-M and K-T, respectively, on wHA-EN. More details on the experiments, i.e. the scores on the three experimental partitions for each corpus, can be found in Table 18 and Table 17 in A.4.

Cross-task comparisons. Considering the wHA-IT column, the F_1 score is higher for the W–M task than the one obtained for the K–T task. The same finding can be observed for the wHA-EN column. Intuitively, this result could be explained in that the categories of men and women are typically viewed by editors as more discrete than the categories of kids and teens, whose boundaries are continuous in general. This finding represents the opposite of previous work, where a lower score was obtained for the W–M task than for K–T (0.71 vs 0.78; Fanton et al., 2023). We note, however, that results are only partially comparable as Fanton et al. did not apply fine-tuned language models and their experimental setup did not account for stratified partitions.

Cross-language comparisons. We focus now on the W–M row. What emerges is that the performance of the LM finetuned for wHA-EN is slightly higher than the performance of the LM finetuned for wHA-IT (with a difference of about 3 percentage points). We observe a much larger difference for K–T, with a decrease in F_1 of around 22 percentage points. Both differences could be explained by the data scarcity for Italian (see Table 2), which seems particularly problematic for the K–T task.

It is further worth pointing out that multilingual models performed consistently worse in our experiments than monolingual models, suggesting that cross-lingual training might not be promising (see also Table 17 in A.4). This finding is in line with findings on the task of responsibility perception prediction for gender-based violence in Italian

wHA-IT

W	<i>ragazze</i> ("girls"); <i>Se</i> ("If"); <i>donne</i> ("women"); <i>ragazza</i> ("girl"); <i>una</i> ("one", f.) <i>sicura</i> ("sure", f.); <i>non</i> ("not"): <i>la</i> ("the/her", f.); <i>amica</i> ("friend", f.); <i>amiche</i> ("friends", f.);
М	<i>amici</i> ("friends", m.); <i>uomini</i> ("men"); <i>stesso</i> ("same", m.); <i>ragazzo</i> ("boy"); <i>uomo</i> ("man"); <i>amico</i> ("friend", m.); <i>pronto</i> ("ready", m.); <i>sicuro</i> ("sure", m.); <i>modo</i> ("way", m.); <i>quello</i> ("that", m. sing.);
K	<i>in</i> ("in"); <i>da</i> ("from"); <i>a</i> ("to"); <i>se</i> ("if"); <i>il</i> , <i>m</i> . ("the"); <i>del</i> ("of the", m. sing.); <i>per</i> ("for"); <i>o</i> ("or"); <i>prima</i> ("before"); <i>dei</i> ("of the", m. plur.);
Т	<i>non</i> ("not"); <i>articolo</i> ("article"); <i>Non</i> ("Not"); <i>è</i> ("is"); <i>le</i> ("her", f. sing. / "the/them", f. plur.); <i>troppo</i> ("too much/many");

troppo ("too much/many"); *sono* ("am/are"); *capelli* ("hair"); *bella* ("beautiful/nice", f.); *di* ("of");

Table 10: Top-ranked tokens for each audience in wHA-IT. Highlighted tokens indicate feminine (f.) and masculine (m.) grammatical gender. A more comprehensive list with scores is provided in the Appendix.

(Minnema et al., 2022), where better performance was also observed by monolingual models.

6.2 Attributions

Our final analysis concerns the attributions by the language models with the highest results on each task, which provide us with insights on generalizable patterns learned from the training data. Table 10 and Table 11 show the top-10 tokens, after filtering of punctuation and sub-word tokens, for each audience in wHA-IT and wHA-EN, respectively.

"Group terms". We observe that many of the top features to be direct addresses of the reader in terms of their group membership ("even if you're a <u>kid</u>"). The presence of such "group terms" was also found in the analysis of word-based logistic classification models by Fanton et al. (2023).

For all audiences, our model analysis consistently shows fewer group terms among the topranked and filtered tokens in Italian, as compared to English. For example, 6 out of 10 top tokens

wHA-EN	
--------	--

se;

Table 11: Top-ranked tokens for each target group in wHA-EN. A full list of attributions with scores, including punctuation and sub-word tokens not reported here, are available in the Appendix.

for M in wHA-EN are group terms ('men', 'guy', 'boy', 'man' 'boys', 'guys'), whereas for wHA-IT we only find *uomini* ("men"), *uomo* ("man") and *ragazzo* ("boy"). Although we also observe such group terms for K–T in wHA-EN experiments (e.g. 'kids', 'teen'), this is not the case for the experiments conducted with wHA-IT. If classifiers rely to a high degree on such "group terms" for classification, this finding might explain the low model performance for the Italian K–T data.

Negation. Another feature discussed in previous work concerns the presence of negations. Like in the case of English, we also find for wHA-IT that *non* ("not") is among the 10 top-ranked features exactly for the audience W. As highlighted by Fanton et al. (2023), this might raise concerns as negations have been shown to be used in stereotypemaintaining function (Beukeboom et al., 2010, 2020). Consider the following example:

Se stai cercando di farti notare da qualcuno di cui ti sei infatuata o ti trovi al primo appuntamento con lui, <u>non</u> concederti troppo facilmente.

"If you're trying to get noticed by someone you're infatuated with or you're on a first date with him, don't give in too easily."

This extract is from the guide titled *Apparire Bella Davanti al Tuo Ex Ragazzo (Solo Ragazze Adolescenti)* ("Looking Beautiful In Front Of Your Ex Boyfriend (Teenage Girls Only)"). It reinforces gender-roles, as the targeted audience (Teenage Girls) is not at all encouraged to make the first move according to their feelings, but rather to stay passive, and to conform to the stereotype about men's agency (Ellemers, 2018). Moreover, instead of information about what to do, the instruction explicitly points out what "not" to do.

Grammatical gender. What is also interesting in the aforementioned example is the presence of heteronormativity, defined as heterosexuality as the norm (see Warner, 1991, and Vásquez et al., 2022). While this can already be inferred from the title, the explicit use of the masculine pronoun *lui* ("him") in the excerpt leaves no space for ambiguity in the interpretation of the assumed gender of the referent.

We can argue that qualcuno ("someone", m.), is encapsulating generic masculine (Silveira, 1980), as it is not qualcuna ("someone", f.). Unlike English, Italian features grammatical gender, in terms of which we find a polarising situation: feminine tokens (80%) for W and of masculine tokens (100%) for M (data: wHA-IT). This might provide a shortcut for classifiers to distinguish the instances in the (Italian) W–M task. For K–T, in contrast, we only find traces of masculine gender for kids (30%). Nonetheless, it is worth noting that the usage of generic masculine in Italian, especially, from Table 10, dei ("of the", m.) could capture cases of collective plurals, for which it is used a masculine plural to refer to groups of unknown genders (also to heterogeneous group in terms of gender).

Taglia i prati. Devi stabilire diverse tariffe in base alla dimensione del giardino. Fatti pubblicità nel quartiere attaccando qualche volantino alle porte <u>dei vicini</u>, ma cerca di essere discreto.

"Cut lawns. You need to set different rates based on the size of the yard. Advertise in the neighborhood by sticking a few flyers on <u>neighbors</u>' doors, but try to be discreet."

The sentences above are extracted from *Guadagnare dei Soldi (per Ragazzini)* ("Earn Money (for Kids)"). From those, *dei vicini* ("of the neighbors", m.) exemplifies masculine generics.

In summary, we find that grammatical gender in wHA-IT provides a shortcut for language models to distinguish instructions for different audiences. We provide additional attributions in a longer list in the appendix (see Table 21), containing also tokens that correspond to the same lemma: for example, *sicura* ("sure", f.) for W versus *sicuro* ("sure",

m.) for M. In comparison, the longer list of top attributions for wHA-EN (see Table 19 in A.5), features tokens that represent rather stereotypical attributes such as "makeup", "pretty", "pink" for W, and "gentleman", "nerd", "handsome" for M.

7 Conclusion

We introduced wikiHowAudIT, a dataset of instructional texts from wikiHow for different audiences in Italian. Our data analysis has shown that wikiHowAudIT contains different topics across audiences, which makes computational modeling difficult. In order to still learn what biases can be found in texts for different audiences, we fine-tuned language models and investigated which attributes rank highest for each target group. As a result, we found that models perform very well even with training on only 100 data points and that they capture more fine-grained differences in English than simpler models from previous work.

However, our analysis of the attributes also confirmed trends already observed with simpler methods: Regardless of language, models consistently learn that texts for different audiences can be distinguished with high effectiveness based on group terms, grammatical gender, negations and stereotype reinforcing references. Several of these points may represent critical issues, particularly given that wikiHow is one of the most visited websites on the internet.⁸ Our results further support existing findings on gender roles in other domains, such as in stories for children and educational resources for young age groups, where females are also associated with gender stereotypes (Adukia et al., 2022).

One reason for us to analyze texts regarding biases is that we want to understand assumptions structurally made about the readers and to what extent these potentially reflect actual characteristics. Future work should accordingly focus on how to identify and remove those biases that are inadequate (e.g. stereotypes) while maintaining adaptations that appeal to an audience (e.g. group terms). Future work could also include different languages and varieties in order to provide a wider understanding of the shortcuts and biases hereby highlighted. For deeper insights on the biases, we encourage future research that could, for example, mask shortcuts by LMs as identified in our study.

We believe that wikiHow is an ideal resource for

⁸https://www.wikihow.com/wikiHow: About-wikiHow

such work because its collaborative nature makes it possible to put changes directly into practice and instructional texts in general would strongly benefit being easier accessible and more inclusive.

Acknowledgements

This work is supported by the Ministry of Science, Research, and the Arts, Baden-Württemberg through the project IRIS3D (Reflecting Intelligent Systems for Diversity, Demography and Democracy, Az. 33-7533-9-19/54/5). Work by the second author was funded by the DFG Emmy Noether program (RO 4848/2-1).

Limitations

While the present work focuses on a less frequently studied language, namely Italian, in addition to English, the work is still limited culturally (i.e., to "western culture"). Critically, the considered audience attributes, gender and age, are subjected to a simplification that is for now lacking, in particular, intersectional perspectives (Crenshaw, 1991). Another limitation of this work lies in the focus on a single data source. For better generalizations over the instructional scenarios, it is important to contemplate other, different, data sources. The present work is by no means aimed at reinforcing representational bias. We conceive our research efforts as first steps towards inclusion, especially for queer identities, who can be audiences of instructions but are insufficiently accounted as such. With the present work, our hope is also to stimulate future work on instructions in other, especially under-represented, languages and cultures.

References

- Anjali Adukia, Patricia Chiril, Callista Christ, Anjali Das, Alex Eble, Emileigh Harrison, and Hakizumwami Birali Runesha. 2022. Tales and tropes: Gender roles from word embeddings in a century of children's books. In *Proceedings of the 29th International Conference on Computational Linguistics*, pages 3086–3097, Gyeongju, Republic of Korea. International Committee on Computational Linguistics.
- Takuya Akiba, Shotaro Sano, Toshihiko Yanase, Takeru Ohta, and Masanori Koyama. 2019. Optuna: A nextgeneration hyperparameter optimization framework. In Proceedings of the 25th ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery & Data Mining, KDD '19, page 2623–2631, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.

- Talita Anthonio, Irshad Bhat, and Michael Roth. 2020. wikiHowToImprove: A resource and analyses on edits in instructional texts. In *Proceedings of the Twelfth Language Resources and Evaluation Conference*, pages 5721–5729, Marseille, France. European Language Resources Association.
- Camiel J. Beukeboom, Christian Burgers, Zsolt P. Szabó, Slavica Cvejic, Jan-Erik M. Lönnqvist, and Kasper Welbers. 2020. The negation bias in stereotype maintenance: A replication in five languages. *Journal of Language and Social Psychology*, 39(2):219–236.
- Camiel J. Beukeboom, Catrin Finkenauer, and Daniël H. J. Wigboldus. 2010. The negation bias: When negations signal stereotypic expectancies. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 99(6):978–992.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé III, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Language (technology) is power: A critical survey of "bias" in NLP. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 5454– 5476, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Fabio Carrella, Alessandro Miani, and Stephan Lewandowsky. 2023. IRMA: the 335-million-word Italian coRpus for studying MisinformAtion. In Proceedings of the 17th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 2339–2349, Dubrovnik, Croatia. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Alexis Conneau, Kartikay Khandelwal, Naman Goyal, Vishrav Chaudhary, Guillaume Wenzek, Francisco Guzmán, Edouard Grave, Myle Ott, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2020. Unsupervised cross-lingual representation learning at scale. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 8440– 8451, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Kimberle Crenshaw. 1991. Mapping the margins: Intersectionality, identity politics, and violence against women of color. *Stanford Law Review*, 43(6):1241– 1299.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. BERT: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 4171–4186, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Naomi Ellemers. 2018. Gender stereotypes. Annual Review of Psychology, 69(1):275–298.
- Neele Falk and Gabriella Lapesa. 2022. Scaling up discourse quality annotation for political science. In *Proceedings of the Thirteenth Language Resources*

and Evaluation Conference, pages 3301–3318, Marseille, France. European Language Resources Association.

- Nicola Fanton, Agnieszka Falenska, and Michael Roth. 2023. How-to guides for specific audiences: A corpus and initial findings. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 4: Student Research Workshop), pages 321–333, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Noriyuki Kojima, Alane Suhr, and Yoav Artzi. 2021. Continual learning for grounded instruction generation by observing human following behavior. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 9:1303–1319.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Roberta: A robustly optimized BERT pretraining approach. *CoRR*, abs/1907.11692.
- Annamaria Lusardi. 2019. Financial literacy and the need for financial education: evidence and implications. Swiss Journal of Economics and Statistics, 155(1).
- Hoai Linh Luu and Naoya Inoue. 2023. Counterfactual adversarial training for improving robustness of pre-trained language models. In Proceedings of the 37th Pacific Asia Conference on Language, Information and Computation, pages 881–888, Hong Kong, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Aaron Maladry, Els Lefever, Cynthia Van Hee, and Veronique Hoste. 2023. A fine line between irony and sincerity: Identifying bias in transformer models for irony detection. In *Proceedings of the 13th Workshop on Computational Approaches to Subjectivity, Sentiment, & Social Media Analysis,* pages 315–324, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Gosse Minnema, Sara Gemelli, Chiara Zanchi, Tommaso Caselli, and Malvina Nissim. 2022. Dead or murdered? predicting responsibility perception in femicide news reports. In Proceedings of the 2nd Conference of the Asia-Pacific Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 12th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1078– 1090, Online only. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Gosse Minnema, Huiyuan Lai, Benedetta Muscato, and Malvina Nissim. 2023. Responsibility perspective transfer for Italian femicide news. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL* 2023, pages 7907–7918, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Syrielle Montariol, Matej Martinc, and Lidia Pivovarova. 2021. Scalable and interpretable semantic change detection. In *Proceedings of the 2021 Conference*

of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, pages 4642–4652, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Loreto Parisi, Simone Francia, and Paolo Magnani. 2020. Umberto: an italian language model trained with whole word masking. https://github.com/ musixmatchresearch/umberto.
- F. Pedregosa, G. Varoquaux, A. Gramfort, V. Michel, B. Thirion, O. Grisel, M. Blondel, P. Prettenhofer, R. Weiss, V. Dubourg, J. Vanderplas, A. Passos, D. Cournapeau, M. Brucher, M. Perrot, and E. Duchesnay. 2011. Scikit-learn: Machine learning in Python. *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, 12:2825–2830.
- Alan Ramponi and Camilla Casula. 2023a. DiatopIt: A corpus of social media posts for the study of diatopic language variation in Italy. In *Tenth Workshop on NLP for Similar Languages, Varieties and Dialects (VarDial 2023)*, pages 187–199, Dubrovnik, Croatia. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Alan Ramponi and Camilla Casula. 2023b. GeoLingIt at EVALITA 2023: Overview of the geolocation of linguistic variation in Italy task. In *Proceedings* of the Eighth Evaluation Campaign of Natural Language Processing and Speech Tools for Italian. Final Workshop (EVALITA 2023), Parma, Italy. CEUR.org.
- Nils Reimers and Iryna Gurevych. 2019. Sentence-BERT: Sentence embeddings using Siamese BERTnetworks. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 3982–3992, Hong Kong, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.

Stefan Schweter. 2020. Italian bert and electra models.

- Jeanette Silveira. 1980. Generic masculine words and thinking. *Women's Studies International Quarterly*, 3(2-3):165–178.
- Katharina Suhr and Michael Roth. 2024. A diachronic analysis of gender-neutral language on wikiHow. In Proceedings of the Fourth Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity, Inclusion, pages 118–123, St. Julian's, Malta. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Mukund Sundararajan, Ankur Taly, and Qiqi Yan. 2017. Axiomatic attribution for deep networks.
- Juan Vásquez, Gemma Bel-Enguix, Scott Thomas Andersen, and Sergio-Luis Ojeda-Trueba. 2022. Hetero-Corpus: A corpus for heteronormative language detection. In Proceedings of the 4th Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing (GeBNLP), pages 225–234, Seattle, Washington. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Michael Warner. 1991. Introduction: Fear of a queer planet. *Social Text*, (29):3–17.

Thomas Wolf, Lysandre Debut, Victor Sanh, Julien Chaumond, Clement Delangue, Anthony Moi, Pierric Cistac, Tim Rault, Remi Louf, Morgan Funtowicz, Joe Davison, Sam Shleifer, Patrick von Platen, Clara Ma, Yacine Jernite, Julien Plu, Canwen Xu, Teven Le Scao, Sylvain Gugger, Mariama Drame, Quentin Lhoest, and Alexander Rush. 2020. Transformers: State-of-the-art natural language processing. In Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing: System Demonstrations, pages 38–45, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

A Appendix

A.1 Indicators (Italian)

[('Android', 135), ('PC-o-Mac', 115), ('iPhone-o-iPad', 103), ('per-Ragazze', 37), ('Ragazze', 22), ('per-Donne', 18), ('Uomini', 14), ('Windows-e-Mac', 14), ('per-Ragazzi', 13), ('Per-Ragazze', 13), ('Adolescenti', 12), ('per-Adolescenti', 12), ('Windows', 11), ('Ragazzi', 11), ('PC-e-Mac', 8), ('per-Principianti', 8), ('per-Uomini', 8), ('Ragazze-Adolescenti', 7), ('per-Bambini', 7), ('iPhone', 7), ('Cristianesimo', 6), ('per-Ragazze-Adolescenti', 6), ('per-ragazze', 5), ('Donne', 4), ('Windows-10', 4), ('USA', 3), ('Per-Ragazze-Adolescenti', 3), ('PC', 3), ('Per-Uomini', 3), ('SEO', 2), ('Per-Ragazze-Adolescenti', 2), ('Per-Ragazze', 2), ('Jicama', 2), ('Windows-7', 2), ('MRI', 2), ('Per-gli-Uomini', 2), ('per-Ragazze-Teenager', 2), ('Per-Adolescenti', 2), ('RCP', 2), ('MRSA', 2), ('per-le-Donne', 2), ('Yoga', 2), ('Per-Ragazze-Teenager', 2), ('Por-le-Adolescenti', 2), ('Negli-Stati-Uniti', 2), ('Per-i-Ragazzi', 2), ('LAN', 2), ('per-Bambine', 2), ('DOC', 2), ('Scuola-Media', 2), ('Teenager', 2), ('Per-Uomini-Gay', 2), ('Atletica-Leggera', 2), ('Bambini', 2), ('DPTS', 2), ('Per-Bambini', 2), ('iOS', 2), ...]

Partition	Aud.	wHA-IT	wHA-EN
	W	114	794
TRAIN	М	80	167
	K	18	399
	Т	126	329
	W	14	99
DEV	М	10	21
DET	K	2	50
	Т	16	41
	W	15	100
TEST	М	10	21
1251	K	2	50
	Т	16	41

A.2 Experimental Partitions

Table 12: Breakdown of the partitions by audience.

A.3 Clustering results for K–T data

0		00		44 -			1 :	1 - 44 -
0	svegilo	00	svegna	попе	sonno	giornata	aormire	letto
	"awake"	"00"	"alarm"	"night"	"sleep"	"day"	"sleep"	"bed"
1	grin	capelli	ragazza	tsu	nam	ragazzo	stile	suo
	"grin"	"hair"	"girl"	"tsu"	"nam"	"boy"	"style"	"her"
$\overline{2}$	lui	lei	ragazzo	ragazza	gay	baciare	relazione	bacio
	"him"	"her"	"boy"	"girl"	"gay"	"to kiss"	"relation"	"kiss"
$\bar{3}^{-}$	pantaloni	jeans	camicia	stile	nerd	indossa	paio	abbigliamento
	"pants"	"jeans"	"shirt"	"style"	"nerd"	"wears"	"pair"	"clothing"
4	stanza	tema	camera	borsa	letto	carta	dip	gatto
	"room"	"theme"	"bedroom"	"bag"	"bed"	"paper"	"dip"	"cat"
5	capelli	viso	ila	doccia	idra	crema	sopracciglia	dep
	"hair"	"face"	"ila"	"shower"	"hydra"	"cream"	"eyebrows"	"dep"
6	sito	spia -	studia	squadra	libri	appunti	leggere	estate
	"site"	"spy"	"studies"	"squad"	"books"	"notes"	"light"	"summer"

Table 13: Highest scoring tokens (*Italian*, "translated") for each cluster in the TRAIN \cup DEV parts of the **K-T** data.

C	K–T									
0	bed	night	sleep	bedroon	nfurniture	desk	alarm	morning	, wake	clock
1	skin	girl	makeup	wash	style	ne	ac	jeans	moist	uri
$\overline{2}^{-}$	learn	weight	healthy	phone	him	bully	stress	adult	he	eating
3 c	hristmas	s sleep	guests	snow	tree	santa	theme	gift	halloween	night
$\bar{4}^{-}$	sell	business	car	lawn	items	bank	store	selling	pet	chores
5	him	he	she	guy	crush	girl	guys	boy	kiss	flirt
6	pack	plane	car	trip	items	horse	packing	books	phone	vacation
7	club	glue	blog	books	membersr	notebook	k barbie	makeup	color	nail

Table 14: High scoring tokens for each cluster in the TRAIN \cup DEV partitions of the **K-T** data (wHA-EN).

A.4 Modeling

Hyperparameter	Set
Seed	[22, 17, 4]
Learning rate	[2e-5, 2e-6]
Batch size	[4, 8]
Epochs	[5]

Table 15: Hyperparameters.

https://huggingface.co/model-name	Param.	Reference
<pre>google-bert/bert-base-uncased</pre>	1.10e+08	Devlin et al. (2019)
<pre>google-bert/bert-base-cased</pre>	1.10e+08	Devlin et al. (2019)
FacebookAI/roberta-base	1.25e+08	Liu et al. (2019)
dbmdz/bert-base-italian-uncased	1.10e+08	Schweter (2020)
dbmdz/bert-base-italian-cased	1.10e+08	Schweter (2020)
Musixmatch/umberto-wikipedia-uncased-v1	1.11e+08	Parisi et al. (2020)
Musixmatch/umberto-commoncrawl-cased-v1	1.11e+08	Parisi et al. (2020)
<pre>google-bert/bert-base-multilingual-uncased</pre>	1.67e+08	Devlin et al. (2019)
<pre>google-bert/bert-base-multilingual-cased</pre>	1.78e+08	Devlin et al. (2019)
FacebookAI/xlm-roberta-base	2.78e+08	Conneau et al. (2020)

Table 16: The names of the LMs used from the HuggingFace Hub and their size in terms of number of parameters.

W–M	TRAIN	DEV	TEST
bert-base-italian-uncased	1.00	0.96	0.87
bert-base-italian-cased	0.98	1.00	0.83
umberto-wikipedia-uncased-v1	0.97	0.92	0.92
umberto-commoncrawl-cased-v1	0.99	0.96	0.92
bert-base-multilingual-uncased	0.99	0.86	0.70
bert-base-multilingual-cased	0.97	1.00	0.76
xlm-roberta-base	0.90	0.96	0.80
K–T			
bert-base-italian-uncased	0.72	0.47	0.47
bert-base-italian-cased	0.96	0.48	0.60
umberto-wikipedia-uncased-v1	0.46	0.47	0.47
umberto-commoncrawl-cased-v1	0.46	0.47	0.47
bert-base-multilingual-uncased	0.52	0.47	0.47
bert-base-multilingual-cased	0.47	0.47	0.47
xlm-roberta-base	0.47	0.47	0.47

Table 17: The performance of the LMs in terms of macro F_1 for the LMs fine-tuned with wHA-IT.

W-M	TRAIN	DEV	TEST
bert-base-uncased	0.99	0.80	0.84
bert-base-cased	0.97	0.83	0.84
roberta-base	0.99	0.85	0.86
bert-base-multilingual-uncased	0.83	0.78	0.85
bert-base-multilingual-cased	0.85	0.79	0.82
xlm-roberta-base	0.82	0.75	0.76
К–Т			
bert-base-uncased	0.99	0.84	0.82
bert-base-cased	0.98	0.76	0.79
roberta-base	0.96	0.78	0.81
bert-base-multilingual-uncased	0.92	0.81	0.72
bert-base-multilingual-cased	0.94	0.70	0.81
xlm-roberta-base	0.89	0.72	0.78

Table 18: The performance of the LMs in terms of macro F_1 for the LMs fine-tuned with wHA-EN.

A.5 Attributions

girl	0.111460	men	-0.030749				
girls	0.104457	guy	-0.021744				
your	0.072209	him	-0.015896				
Girls	0.045587	boy	-0.015180	kids	0.058039	[SEP]	-0.579180
you	0.043417	man	-0.012263	[CLS]	0.039831	•	-0.014464
she	0.029879	boys	-0.008853	kid	0.028616	,	-0.010539
!	0.029790	Не	-0.007704	##n	0.010980	teen	-0.010233
women	0.029614	he	-0.007353	##wee	0.010135	the	-0.008755
You	0.024623	guys	-0.006787	children	0.009953	and	-0.008112
her	0.023684	his	-0.004472	middle	0.008926	are	-0.007597
makeup	0.023520	male	-0.004046	school	0.006676	if	-0.007460
Girl	0.022483	gentleman	-0.003008	toys	0.006589	,	-0.006806
school	0.020280	kid	-0.002303	people	0.005054	a	-0.006057
	0.019971	Guy	-0.002108	pre	0.003502	your	-0.005827
Make	0.019166	Men	-0.001930	mom	0.003131	?	-0.005743
pretty	0.018957	partner	-0.001316	use	0.003089	is	-0.005117
it	0.017495	teenager	-0.001207	t	0.002970	teenage	-0.004947
the	0.017092	Boy	-0.001193	##s	0.002949	for	-0.004597
	0.015737	professional	-0.001101	child	0.002645	you	-0.004572
pink	0.015242	nerd	-0.001016	toy	0.002466	in	-0.004447
skirts	0.015235	into	-0.000949	/	0.002186	as	-0.004394
skirt	0.014393	ologne	-0.000911	time	0.002168	up	-0.004158
	0.014049	Ever	-0.000837	animals	0.002096	from	-0.003803
dress	0.012912	Male	-0.000826	young	0.002094	teens	-0.003675
а	0.012606	penis	-0.000816	they	0.001994	at	-0.003446
vourself	0.012183	geek	-0.000739	##ns	0.001882	don	-0.003345
dresses	0.011823	dude	-0.000683	learn	0.001882	when	-0.003291
She	0.011325	handsome	-0.000655	parents	0.001709	an	-0.003243
It	0.011283	masculine	-0.000611	example	0.001646)	-0.003235
them	0.011071	date	-0.000570	remember	0.001641	with	-0.003219
make	0.010421	Gu	-0.000564	age	0.001640	over	-0.003079
If	0.010115	bar	-0.000510	movie	0.001559	will	-0.003077
that	0.009836	kitchen	-0.000495	might	0.001540	good	-0.003067
some	0.009506	grown	-0.000492	how	0.001527	to	-0.002957
This	0.009213	puberty	-0.000455	music	0.001497	can	-0.002774
beautiful	0.009158	ican	-0.000454	playing	0.001472	about	-0.002575
all	0.008865	off	-0.000420	food	0.001468	have	-0.002426
want	0.008753	dating	-0.000419	dad	0.001454	out	-0.002346
this	0.008707	between	-0.000415	guys	0.001431	all	-0.002181
Your	0.008293	himself	-0.000411	little	0.001426	get	-0.002179
1041	0.000275	mmoon	0.000711	old	0.001424	just	-0.002161
able 19: wHA-EN, W-M, roberta-base (TRAIN 0.99,				girls	0.001391	(-0.002052

Table 19: wHA-EN, W-M, roberta-base (TRAIN 0.99, DEV 0.85, TEST 0.86)

Table 20: wHA-EN, K-T, bert-base-uncased (TRAIN0.99, DEV 0.84, TEST 0.82)

0.001363 teenagers -0.001999

light

[CLS]	0.096002	[SEP]	-0.340334	[CLS]	0.245312	[SEP]	-0.165349
ragazze	0.063860	amici	-0.030969	:	0.080714		-0.071660
	0.052733	uomini	-0.024488	!	0.053150	,	-0.047196
Se	0.037144	stesso	-0.023203	in	0.035297	;	-0.043113
donne	0.035291	ragazzo	-0.020641	da	0.027325	"	-0.041416
ragazza	0.033087	uomo	-0.017189	?	0.027242	,	-0.036960
una	0.026854	amico	-0.015206	а	0.026157	,	-0.030604
sicura	0.024647	pronto	-0.014043	Se	0.024843	non	-0.016650
##ta	0.019987	sicuro	-0.011919	il	0.022034	articolo	-0.015161
Non	0.019283	modo	-0.011276	del	0.018384	Non	-0.014897
la	0.019149	quello	-0.010895	per	0.016414	è	-0.014392
amica	0.019090	soggetto	-0.009081	0	0.015331	le	-0.012302
amiche	0.018528	stanco	-0.008884	prima	0.015157	troppo	-0.010484
:	0.018383	##to	-0.007624	dei	0.015040	sono	-0.010212
le	0.017927	articolo	-0.007204	giorno	0.013294	_	-0.009822
Fai	0.017582	uno	-0.007169	un	0.012921	capelli	-0.008484
stessa	0.017464	all	-0.006952	al	0.012534	bella	-0.006242
tutte	0.016846	più	-0.006778	1	0.012455	di	-0.005976
donna	0.016164	comodo	-0.006113	##re	0.012187	elegante	-0.005837
Puoi	0.015974	questo	-0.006060	dopo	0.011774	(-0.005455
Scegli	0.015732	orgoglioso	-0.005598	con	0.011254	colore	-0.005248
tua	0.015248	fortunato	-0.005424	della	0.011226	si	-0.005077
Per	0.015175	preoccupato	-0.005362	Puoi	0.010995	Scopri	-0.004918
Le	0.015159	##ato	-0.005178	questo	0.010358	look	-0.004853
!	0.014648	costretto	-0.005104	i	0.009834	Una	-0.004806
delle	0.013800	gli	-0.004869)	0.009756	può	-0.004751
di	0.013678	stessi	-0.004718	cosa	0.009436	vesti	-0.004506
Una	0.012642	senti	-0.004656	qualcosa	0.009397	una	-0.004433
La	0.012504	##ro	-0.004652	##rlo	0.009286	odore	-0.004418
Cerca	0.012358	##ino	-0.004572	Dopo	0.009121	stile	-0.004360
)	0.012122	invitato	-0.004422	e	0.008924	Le	-0.004137
della	0.012100	riuscito	-0.004247	lavoro	0.008719	colori	-0.003829
essere	0.012071	##vo	-0.004244	Assicurati	0.008706	Un	-0.003818
Prova	0.011706	bloccato	-0.004043	andare	0.008485	agio	-0.003690
persone	0.011059	##tatore	-0.004016	##ndo	0.008206	ma	-0.003689
##te	0.010820	##mo	-0.004009	perché	0.008186	"	-0.003666
,	0.010180	cui	-0.003994	quando	0.008076	La	-0.003652
per	0.010145	##gro	-0.003917	vuoi	0.008004	profumo	-0.003592
ogni	0.009495	sveglio	-0.003636	su	0.007878	carina	-0.003561
tue	0.009448	##gato	-0.003608	te	0.007875	tue	-0.003428

Table 21: wHA-IT, W-M, bert-base-italian-cased (TRAIN 0.98, DEV 1.00, TEST 0.83)

Table 22: wHA-IT, K-T, bert-base-italian-cased (TRAIN 0.96, DEV 0.48, TEST 0.60)

The power of Prompts: Evaluating and Mitigating Gender Bias in MT with LLMs

Aleix Sant, Carlos Escolano, Audrey Mash, Francesca De Luca Fornaciari, Maite Melero Barcelona Supercomputing Center (BSC)

{aleix.santsavall,carlos.escolano,audrey.mash

francesca.delucafornaciari,maite.melero}@bsc.es

Abstract

This paper studies gender bias in machine translation through the lens of Large Language Models (LLMs). Four widely-used test sets are employed to benchmark various base LLMs, comparing their translation quality and gender bias against state-of-the-art Neural Machine Translation (NMT) models for English to Catalan (En \rightarrow Ca) and English to Spanish (En \rightarrow Es) translation directions. Our findings reveal pervasive gender bias across all models, with base LLMs exhibiting a higher degree of bias compared to NMT models.

To combat this bias, we explore prompting engineering techniques applied to an instructiontuned LLM. We identify a prompt structure that significantly reduces gender bias by up to 12% on the WinoMT evaluation dataset compared to more straightforward prompts. These results significantly reduce the gender bias accuracy gap between LLMs and traditional NMT systems.

1 Introduction

Within the domain of machine translation, gender bias is defined as the tendency of MT systems to produce translations that reflect or perpetuate gender stereotypes, inequalities, or assumptions based on cultural and societal biases (Friedman and Nissenbaum, 1996; Savoldi et al., 2021). Given that the presence of such bias can lead to harmful consequences for certain groups — either in representational (i.e., misrepresentation or underrepresentation of social groups and their identities) or allocational harms (i.e., allocation or withholding (Levesque, 2011; Crawford, 2017; Lal Zimman and Meyerhoff, 2017; Régner et al., 2019), it becomes paramount to thoroughly investigate and mitigate its occurrence. Nevertheless, addressing gender bias is a multi-faceted task.

Gender bias is a pervasive issue in all generative LLMs tend to lag behind NMT models in terms NLP models, and LLMs are no exception to this 94 of translation capabilities and gender-bias scores.

situation. LLMs have gained significant popularity in recent years and are being used for many NLP tasks, including machine translation. While gender bias in machine translation has been extensively studied for Neural Machine Translation models, little attention has been paid to this type of bias in LLMs. This paper aims to address this gap by examining and trying to mitigate this bias in the translations generated by the LLMs.

The aim of this work is twofold. First, a comprehensive benchmarking process is conducted to compare various base LLMs with some state-of-theart NMT models. The directions of the translations under study are English \rightarrow Catalan and English \rightarrow Spanish. Distinct popular test sets such as FLoRes-200 (NLLB Team, 2022), WinoMT (Stanovsky et al., 2019), Gold BUG (Levy et al., 2021), and MuST-SHE (Bentivogli et al., 2020) are used to assess the translation quality and the gender bias of the models.

Following the benchmarking, an investigation into the effectiveness of prompts in mitigating this bias in LLMs is conducted. The purpose of this research is to determine whether well-designed prompts can serve as a useful strategy in addressing bias. While existing literature has explored various approaches to mitigating this bias in Neural Machine Translation models (Costa-jussà et al., 2020; Stafanovičs et al., 2020; Saunders and Byrne, 2020), we specifically focus on the realm of LLMs, probing the role of prompts. In this phase of the study, an instruction-tuned LLM is employed, and several prompt engineering techniques are experimented with, including few-shot (Radford et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2021; Chowdhery et al., 2023), context-supplying, and chain of thought (Wei et al., 2022).

The relevance of this work lies in several insightful findings. Firstly, we demonstrate that base LLMs tend to lag behind NMT models in terms of translation capabilities and gender-bias scores.

Proceedings of the 5th Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing (GeBNLP), pages 94–139 August 16, 2024 ©2024 Association for Computational Linguistics Afterwards, through an extensive trial-and-error examination into prompting, we present a prompt that, when applied to an instructed LLM, achieves impressive bias mitigation across gender-bias test sets, resulting in an increase of 12.4 and 11.7 in the respective Catalan and Spanish WinoMT scores. Finally, we study how gender-bias mitigation through prompting impacts LLMs translation performance.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows: Section 3 reviews relevant research in the field. Section 4 details the methodology, including the datasets, models, and evaluation metrics employed. Section 5 focuses on the benchmarking, while Section 6 explores the investigation into prompting to mitigate gender bias. Section 7 presents the results. Finally, Section 8 provides a discussion and Section 9 highlights the conclusions of this work.

2 Gender Bias Statement

As previously stated, gender bias may lead to inequalities and harmful consequences. In the context of machine translation, we easily come up with two different motivations to consider this issue seriously. First, the presence of gender bias may affect the representation of genders in certain communities. On the other hand, the majority of users of a machine translation system may not be proficient in at least one of the languages involved in the translation. Producing incorrect gender translations provides inaccurate information, misleading users who are trying to understand the original text from a translation, or causing them to convey a different meaning when relying on MT engines to communicate.

The presence and extent of gender bias in machine translation can vary depending on the languages involved, as gender is manifested differently across languages (Dagmar Stahlberg and Sczesny., 2007). When translating from a language with fewer gender cues to a language with more explicit gender markings, the issue of gender bias can arise. This is precisely the case in our study: we translate from a language with notional gender (English) to languages with grammatical gender (Catalan and Spanish). In this context, certain professions may be stereotypically associated with certain genders. Examples of this phenomenon are engineers, who are often translated as masculine, while nurses are translated as feminine (Parmy Olson, 2018). Additionally, adjectives may be gendered as masculine or feminine based on these stereotypes, rather than 95 gender-bias tasks just explained.

relying on gender cues. Gender pronouns may also be overlooked in favor of or against certain genders. Let's consider a typical example (Figure 1).



Figure 1: Example of Gender Bias in MT

In our study, we analyze gender bias in two distinct ways, which we will refer to as gender-bias tasks: Gender Coreference Resolution and Gender Terms Detection. In both tasks, models must utilize contextual gender information (i.e., gender cues) to accurately translate, providing the correct gender terms in the translation.

Gender Coreference Resolution In this task, we assess whether an MT engine correctly predicts the gender of a human entity in the translation based on its corresponding coreference pronoun in the source sentence. We address this task using POS tagging, focusing solely on the gender of specific human entities in the translation.

Gender Terms Detection In this other task, we evaluate whether an MT engine generates translations that include all the correct gender terms based on the gender cues of the source sentence. These clues for disambiguating gender terms include coreference pronouns, proper nouns, and semantic meaning, among others. Detection of the correct gender terms (or their incorrect counterparts) relies on textual comparison of reference terms.

Both gender-bias problems are approached as classification problems since they involve determining the correct gender labels, allowing for the derivation of typical ML scores. Devoid of gender context, we only pay attention to the proportion of male and female terms generated in the translations. As evaluation benchmarks, WinoMT and Gold BUG focus on Gender Coreference Resolution, whereas MuST-SHE in Gender Terms Detection. Check Figure 2 for an illustration of the



Figure 2: Examples of Gender Coreference Resolution (a) and Gender Terms Detection (b) in $En \rightarrow Ca$

3 Related work

Large Language Models are advanced AI models designed to understand and generate language (Yang et al., 2023; Zhao et al., 2023). These models typically employ a decoder-only architecture and are characterized by their enormous size, often containing billions of parameters (Brown et al., 2020; Thoppilan et al., 2022; OpenAI, 2023). The scale and capacity of LLMs enable them to capture intricate linguistic nuances and handle a wide range of language-related tasks, despite not being explicitly trained for each specific task (Sun et al., 2023; Wei et al., 2023; Li et al., 2023; Gao et al., 2023a; Yao et al., 2023; Yang et al., 2022; Gao et al., 2023b; Ning et al., 2023). The training process for LLMs typically consists of two steps. First, they undergo self-supervised pretraining using vast amounts of text data, which allows them to develop a general understanding of language (i.e., base LLMs). Subsequently, they are fine-tuned on specific supervised tasks to specialize in various applications (Chung et al., 2022; Sanh et al., 2022). One of the key features of LLMs is the prompting mechanism. A prompt serves as the input or activation signal provided to the model. Through this input, we specify to the model the NLP task we want it to perform, such as translation in our case.

By leveraging the ability to guide the model with prompts, instruction-tuned LLMs are created (Zhang et al., 2023b). These are base LLMs that have undergone additional fine-tuning using datasets of instructions, containing explicit instructions or prompts to enhance their performance on various tasks. Instruction-tuning is a subsequent step that tailors the model's behavior and output according to specific instructions or guidelines (Mishra et al., 2022; Muennighoff et al., 2023; 96

Longpre et al., 2023).

Moving away from LLMs, we find Neural Machine Translation models (Cho et al., 2014; Bahdanau et al., 2015; Luong et al., 2015; Johnson et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2016; Fan et al., 2020; NLLB Team, 2022). These models represent the state-of-the-art in machine translation, consistently achieving the highest translation performance. They typically leverage an encoder-decoder transformer (Vaswani et al., 2017) trained with parallel data in a supervised manner, intended solely for the task of translation. Unlike LLMs, NMT models are relatively smaller in size and present unique challenges when it comes to scaling (e.g., bidirectional processing, the attention mechanism complexity...). However, besides their size, the main distinction between LLMs and NMT models lies in the prompting method. LLMs necessitate a prompt to operate, making them entirely dependent on context. This is precisely the aspect we aim to explore: whether we can use the prompting mechanism, absent in NMT models, to alleviate gender bias.

To date, significant research has been conducted on the translation capabilities of LLMs, as extensively documented in the literature (Chowdhery et al., 2023; Jiao et al., 2023a; Zhu et al., 2023; Agrawal et al., 2023; Jiao et al., 2023b; Zhang et al., 2023a; Bawden and Yvon, 2023; Hendy et al., 2023). Furthermore, several efforts have been made to identify and address bias in LLMs (Ernst et al., 2023; Su et al., 2023; Cai et al., 2024). However, the exploration of gender bias in the realm of MT and LLMs remains relatively scarce. This encompasses (Sánchez et al., 2023), which sought to leverage LLMs for gender-specific translations, and (Vanmassenhove, 2024), which experimented with $En \rightarrow It$ translation in ChatGPT, revealing how GPT models perpetuate biases even when explicitly prompted to provide alternative translations. Additionally, (Ghosh and Caliskan, 2023) examines bias between English and languages that exclusively use gender-neutral pronouns, and (Savoldi et al., 2024) demonstrate through extensive manual analysis the potential of GPT-4 to produce gender-neutral translations for $En \rightarrow It$.

4 Methodology

4.1 Models

Llama-2-7B A base model that belongs to a family of state-of-the-art LLMs openly released by Meta (Touvron et al., 2023). This family of models outperforms open-source models on popular benchmarks and has demonstrated high efficacy and safety based on human evaluations. Llama-2-7B was trained on a combination of publicly available data, primarily in English. Catalan and Spanish (among other languages) were also included to a lesser extent. However, any use of the model in languages other than English is explicitly declared out of scope by the developers.

Åguila-7B An open-source base LLM from Barcelona Supercomputing Center (BSC) that was trained on a combination of Spanish, Catalan, and English data, resulting in a total of 26 billion tokens. The model was built upon the Falcon-7B model, which is a highly advanced English language model.

Flor-6.3B Another publicly available base LLM tailored for Catalan, Spanish, and English, published by the BSC. This model is derived from the language adaptation process applied to Bloom-7.1B, involving adjustments to the vocabulary and embedding layer. Additionally, the model underwent continuous pre-training with 140 billion tokens specific to Catalan and Spanish.

M2M-100-1.2B A multilingual NMT model released by Meta in October 2020 (Fan et al., 2020) that can directly translate between the 9,900 directions of 100 languages, including our languages of interest (i.e., English, Catalan, and Spanish). It was considered the first AI model that could translate between 100 languages without relying on English.

NLLB-200-1.3B The following multilingual NMT model released by Meta in July 2022 (Costajussà et al., 2022) enabling translation across 200 97 flores/tree/main/flores200

languages, including less commonly spoken languages. It also incorporates the languages we are concentrating on, namely English, Catalan, and Spanish.

Mt-aina-en-ca The only parallel NMT model assessed in this work, functioning exclusively for English \rightarrow Catalan translation. Developed at BSC, it was trained from scratch employing a combination of English-Catalan datasets consisting of approximately 11 million sentences.

Google Translate It is widely acknowledged in the literature as one of the leading translation models of today. This multilingual NMT model encompasses 133 languages, with English, Catalan and Spanish among them.

Llama-2-7B-chat It is the refined iteration of Llama-2-7B, optimized specifically for dialogue applications. This version underwent supervised instruction-tuning as well as Reinforcement Learning from Human Feedback (RLHF). Opting for this instructed version for the investigation into prompting is preferable over the base model, as it is more robust to prompt variations and better comprehends complex prompts and nuances. Selecting the base model along with its instructed version allows us to make insightful comparisons between these models.

4.2 Test sets

All test sets comprise English sentences (or paragraphs) aimed to be translated into either Catalan or Spanish. After obtaining translations in their respective grammatical languages, the evaluation frameworks are applied to derive the metrics (either MT or gender scores).

4.2.1 Machine Translation

FLoRes-200 It is a massively multilingual general domain dataset. Initially presented by (Guzmán et al., 2019; Goyal et al., 2021), it has been further developed and expanded by the (Goyal et al., 2022). The most recent version of this dataset encompasses 200 languages (NLLB Team, 2022). This dataset¹ includes two subsets: FLoRes-200 dev (997) and FLoRes-200 devtest (1,012).

4.2.2 Gender Bias

WinoMT Developed by (Stanovsky et al., 2019), this test set is intended to evaluate the presence of

¹https://github.com/facebookresearch/

gender bias in translations from English to various gender-inflected languages. The corpus² consists of 3,888 sentences in the schema of Winograd. Each sentence in the corpus presents two human entities defined by their roles, along with a subsequent pronoun that must be correctly resolved to one of the entities (Levesque et al., 2012). One of the main limitations of this dataset is its synthetic nature, as it is built on templates.

Gold BUG The previous limitation of WinoMT could be addressed through the introduction of BUG³ (Levy et al., 2021), the first publicly accessible large-scale corpus designed for gender-bias evaluation, comprising 108,000 real-world English sentences. BUG was built by crawling text according to specific syntactic patterns, offering a more diverse and realistic dataset than WinoMT. The Gold BUG version used in our evaluation consists of a gold-quality, human-validated set extracted from BUG, totaling 1,717 instances.

MuST-SHE This test set, initially introduced by (Bentivogli et al., 2020) for English-French, English-Italian, and English-Spanish, serves as a valuable benchmark for evaluating gender bias in the context of speech translation. This dataset⁴ is constructed using TED talks data, as described by (Cattoni et al., 2021), lending it a more natural and realistic tone. Recently, (Mash et al., 2024) created an English-Catalan⁵ version of the dataset tailored for the machine translation domain, resulting in 1,046 sentences. For our analysis, we adapted the original English-Spanish version for machine translation following the same steps as in the Catalan version, resulting in 1,164 instances. Both datasets, English-Spanish and English-Catalan, contain two types of instances: those with and without cues to disambiguate the gender of certain terms. In instances where gender cues are present, the task to be addressed is Gender Terms Detection; otherwise, we are solely interested in the proportion of male and female terms generated in the translations.

Furthermore, both WinoMT and Gold BUG contain pro- and anti-stereotypical sets based on US labor statistics (Zhao et al., 2018). A pro-stereotypical set comprises sentences with stereotypical gender-role assignments (e.g., male doctors, female housekeepers), while an antistereotypical set includes sentences with nonstereotypical gender-role assignments (e.g., female doctors, male housekeepers). These sets facilitate the investigation of whether the translation performance of models correlates with gender stereotypes. Specifically, they help determine whether models exhibit better or worse gender scores when translating sentences that align (or do not align) with their pre-established biases.

4.3 Metrics

4.3.1 Machine Translation

To measure the MT capabilities of the models, we employ two widely-used metrics: BLEU (Papineni et al., 2002), which is based on comparing n-grams and is computed using the SacreBLEU library⁶ (Post, 2018), and COMET (Rei et al., 2020), a more recent metric that relies on sentence embeddings.

4.3.2 Gender Bias

When the source sentence contains gender cues to disambiguate the gender of certain terms, meaning we have a known gender reference or ground truth, the translation problem is treated as a typical classification task. Consequently, in the context of gender bias, we evaluate models using Gender Accuracy (in %), F1-male, and F1-female scores. For WinoMT and Gold BUG these scores are computed directly⁷, whereas for MuST-SHE we obtain first the confusion matrix⁸ and then we compute the scores using scikit-learn library. Additionally, we get standard metrics such as ΔG , which indicates the performance difference between correctly predicting male and female terms, and ΔS , which requires both a pro- and anti-stereotypical sets to assess whether a model relies on gender-stereotypes to generate translations. Conversely, when no gender cues are available in the source sentence, we simply analyze the proportion of predicted male and female terms in the translations.

²https://github.com/gabrielStanovsky/ mt_gender

³https://github.com/SLAB-NLP/BUG

⁴https://mt.fbk.eu/must-she/

⁵https://huggingface.co/datasets/ projecte-aina/MuST-SHE_en-ca

⁶Version 1.5.1

⁷https://github.com/gabrielStanovsky/ mt_gender/blob/master/scripts/evaluate_ all languages.sh

⁸https://github.com/audreyvm/tfm_

gender_bias/blob/main/mustshe_acc_v1.

5 Benchmarking

5.1 Prompting LLMs

In our benchmarking, we employ a 5-shot approach for our LLMs. This ensures that the LLMs better comprehend the requested task (i.e., machine translation) and potentially produce higher-quality translations, as demonstrated in existing literature (Vilar et al., 2023; Garcia et al., 2023; Zhang et al., 2023c). Additionally, during our experimentation with prompts, we observe that incorporating the language label followed by a colon (e.g., "English:", "Catalan:","Spanish:") before the sentence to be translated and its corresponding translation is an effective strategy for our LLMs. Furthermore, beginning and end of sentence tokens are added to delimit the source and translation examples in the shots, enhancing the models' understanding and facilitating the extraction of the output translations. Flor-6.3B and Llama-2-7B work with "<BOS>" and "<EOS>", while Åguila-7B uses "<s>" and "</s>".

When evaluating the FLoRes-200 dev set, we use 5 shots from the FLoRes-200 devtest set in the prompt. Conversely, when assessing the FLoRes-200 devtest set, we incorporate 5 shots from the FLoRes-200 dev set into the prompt. For the remaining gender-bias test sets (WinoMT, Gold BUG, and MuST-SHE), we utilize the same prompt employed during testing of the FLoRes-200 dev test set, consisting of the same 5 shots from the FLoRes-200 devtest. When selecting these 5 instances to serve as shots, we ensure diversity in content, length, and structure to provide a broader range of examples to the model. The specific prompts created are detailed in Section C of the Appendix.

5.2 Configurations

Since we are only performing inference, we adjust only two parameters: the top_k , which is set to 1 to ensure a deterministic process, and the limit of *maximum tokens* to generate, which is adjusted depending on the test sets. We use greedy decoding for all models since beam search in LLMs demands significant time and resources. These choices are made to ensure the comparability of the results.

5.3 Key takeaways

Based on the benchmarking evaluation, the following findings emerge: of MT in both $En \rightarrow Ca$ and $En \rightarrow Es$ directions (check Table 1 to see the results).

- All models exhibit gender bias in the assessed directions, with LLMs showing a more pronounced bias compared to NMT models (check Tables 3, 4, and 5).
- The performance of all studied models correlates with gender stereotypes, achieving better gender metrics for the pro-stereotypical set rather than the anti-stereotypical set (check Section D in the Appendices).
- In the absence of contextual gender cues, all models predict mostly male terms (~75%-94%). The corresponding (~6%-25%) mainly relates to female-stereotypical examples (check Section E in the Appendices).

6 Gender Bias mitigation through prompting

After observing that LLMs exhibit more gender bias than NMT models, we found it necessary to address this bias in LLMs. Consequently, we have chosen to leverage prompting, as it is a distinctive feature of these models. Therefore, the second stage of our work involves conducting exploratory research in a trial-and-error manner, aiming to identify a prompt that effectively mitigates bias in LLMs. For this experiment, we have selected the instruction-tuned model Llama-2-7B-chat since it is more robust to complex prompts than its base version. In addition, in this stage, we have decided to focus solely on the Gender Coreference Resolution task. Ideally, our goal is to narrow the gap in gender scores with respect to NMT models, as this would represent a significant breakthrough.

The procedure goes as follows: Initially, we develop a range of prompts based on strategies outlined in the literature, including few-shot prompting, context-supplying, and chain-of-thought instructions. To assess the impact of these prompts, we test them on WinoMT and obtain gender-bias scores for each prompt. Thereafter, the prompt that demonstrates the most considerable reduction in bias on WinoMT, as indicated by numerical genderbias scores, is evaluated on the remaining test sets (Gold BUG, MuST-SHE, and FLoRes-200). By doing so, we want to determine: firstly, the prompt's generalizability across the remaining gender-bias test sets, and secondly, if it affects the overall ma-

• Base LLMs fall behind NMT models in terms 99 chine translation capabilities of the LLM.
			English -	→ Catala	n	$\operatorname{English} ightarrow \operatorname{Spanish}$				
		DEV		DE	DEVTEST		DEV		VTEST	
		BLEU	COMET	BLEU	COMET	BLEU	COMET	BLEU	COMET	
	Google Translate	45.1	0.8838	46.0	0.8811	29.6	0.8737	30.1	0.8724	
T	NLLB-200-1.3B	38.7	0.8645	38.6	0.8626	27.2	0.8591	27.7	0.8578	
Z	M2M-100-1.2B	40.1	0.8687	40.4	0.8623	25.6	0.8450	25.4	0.8422	
	Mt-aina-en-ca	43.0	0.8735	43.9	0.8730	-	-	-	-	
	Ăguila-7B	29.1	0.8359	30.3	0.8368	18.2	0.8212	19.5	0.8198	
	Flor-6.3B	37.9	0.8641	39.6	0.8680	23.8	0.8498	25.5	0.8528	
Ŋ	Llama-2-7B	31.6	0.8443	32.9	0.8458	23.3	0.8486	23.5	0.8454	
TT	Llama-2-7B-chat	30.1	0.8284	29.9	0.8250	22.6	0.8427	22.9	0.8423	
	Llama-2-7B-chat (GB prompt)	27.6	0.8176	28.4	0.8140	22.4	0.8251	21.8	0.8277	

Table 1: BLEU and COMET scores for FLoRes-200

6.1 Baseline

Before embarking on the search for the prompt, it is essential to establish a baseline for Llama-2-7Bchat. Therefore, we use the same prompt employed in the benchmarking, with minor adaptations necessary for Llama-2-7B-chat, such as the use of special tags («SYS», [INST]...). The resulting prompt after the adjustments is detailed in Section F of the Appendices. With this prompt, we obtain MT and gender-bias scores across the four test sets. Refer to Tables 1, 3, 4, and 5 to observe the results. These initial results offer valuable insights, revealing that the instructed version (Llama-2-7B-chat) achieves lower MT scores compared to its base model (Llama-2-7B) for both directions.

6.2 Crafting and testing prompts on WinoMT

After conducting several experiments using Llama-2-7B-chat, we proceeded to curate and test multiple prompts on the WinoMT test set. The curated prompts in detail can be found in section G of the Appendices. We recommend consulting them for a comprehensive understanding of this section.

In the design of all our prompts, we incorporated the 5-shot strategy already used in the benchmarking and the baseline. However, we substituted the FLoRes-200 examples and introduced additional modifications to the curated prompts.

A significant aspect of our crafted prompts involves the inclusion of translation examples that encompass more gender-related phenomena com-100The only distinction between these two complex

pared to the ones from the FLoRes-200 dataset, which comprises mainly gender-neutral or impersonal sentences. Specifically, one of our curated prompts included examples from the MuST-SHE dataset, while in another prompt, we intentionally created five sentences (or rather, translations) adhering to a Winograd structure, wherein each sentence comprises two human entities and one pronoun used to disambiguate one of them. These crafted translations were deliberately designed to contain more female representation and anti-stereotypical content. These invented translations are provided in section H of the Appendices.

For another prompt, in addition to including 5 shots from MuST-SHE, we also adopted an approach that involved providing more contextual information to the model. We explicitly stated the objective of translating while simultaneously reducing gender bias. By offering this additional context, the model should gain a clearer understanding of the goal to mitigate gender bias and the factors it should consider to do so effectively.

Afterwards, we adopted a chain-of-thought strategy for the remaining curated prompts, each following again a 5-shot structure. We integrated the previously crafted Winograd examples into these prompts. Two of them resulted in complex and detailed chain-of-thought prompts, incorporating all the necessary steps and reasoning that the model should do to carefully solve the *Gender Coreference Task* and provide a correct translation. The only distinction between these two complex

		I	English –	→ Catalan		$English \rightarrow Spanish$			
Model	Examples from:	G Acc	F1-male	F1-female	$\Delta \mathbf{G}$	G Acc	F1-male	F1-female	$\Delta \mathbf{G}$
Llama-2-7B	FLoRes-200	48.0	62.6	36.4	26.2	53.1	64.9	41.3	23.6
	FLoRes-200	46.4	61.4	35.5	25.9	53.3	65.3	41.6	23.7
	MuST-SHE	46.9	60.6	39.4	21.2	49.9	62.7	35.4	27.3
	Invented Winograd exam- ples	46.6	58.8	43.2	15.6	49.8	61.8	37.5	24.3
Llama-2-7B-chat	MuST-SHE + context on Gender Bias issue	46.9	60.0	40.7	19.3	50.6	62.6	38.7	23.9
	Invented Winograd exam- ples + chain-of-thought ("agent")	55.2	65.8	56.7	9.1	60.6	69.7	56.8	12.9
	Invented Winograd exam- ples + chain-of-thought ("human entity")	54.5	65.2	55.3	9.9	59.5	68.9	54.8	14.1
	Invented Winograd exam- ples + SHORT chain-of- thought	58.8	68.9	60.5	8.4	65.0	73.3	63.6	9.7

Table 2: WinoMT scores using different prompting techniques for En \rightarrow Ca and En \rightarrow Es

prompts was the terminology used to refer to the human entities in the examples, either as "human entity" or "agent".

Finally, we constructed another chain-of-thought prompt that yielded the best results. In this prompt, the steps were significantly simplified compared to the previous two prompts. Here, explicit instructions of the steps were not included, and instead, schematic steps accompanied by arrows were provided in the shots.

For a comprehensive summary of the results obtained on WinoMT for all these prompts, please consult Table 2.

6.3 Top-performing prompt

The resulting top-performing prompt on WinoMT is the one named *Invented Winograd examples* + *SHORT chain-of-thought* from Table 2. With this prompt, we have achieved remarkable increases of 12.4 (En \rightarrow Ca) and 11.7 (En \rightarrow Es) on WinoMT compared to the baseline. In short, this prompt follows a simplified chain-of-thought approach with 5-shots on anti-stereotypical content and increased female representation. The examples in the prompt were invented following the Winograd sentence structure, designed to address gender coreference.

cluded before the shots. In the initial experiments, we observed that incorporating this sentence led to the model providing a more structured response. Based on this observation, we replicated the same pattern generated by the LLM in our crafted shots.

7 Results

After testing our top-performing prompt on the remaining gender-bias test sets, Gold BUG and MuST-SHE, we observe a significant reduction in gender bias within those test sets too. These results are detailed in sections A and B of the Appendices. Subsequently, all the three Tables 3, 4, and 5 demonstrate a remarkable improvement in gender-bias scores, significantly reducing the upper bound in each test set compared to the best NMT model. This places the LLM on par with NMT models in terms of gender bias manifestation. For example, on the WinoMT test set, the model achieves the second-best position in $En \rightarrow Ca$ and the third-best position in $En \rightarrow Es$. In MuST-SHE, the mitigation is less pronounced as this test set also encompasses other gender-related tasks, unlike WinoMT and Gold BUG, which focus solely on Gender Coreference Resolution.

The phrase "Proceed step by step" is also in-101 loss compared to the baseline when testing on

			Englis	$h \rightarrow Catala$	an $English \rightarrow Spanish$					h	
		G Acc	F1-male	F1-female	$\Delta \mathbf{G}$	$\Delta \mathbf{S}$	G Acc	F1-male	F1-female	$\Delta \mathbf{G}$	$\Delta \mathbf{S}$
	Google Translate	57.1	67.5	55.6	11.9	23.9	70.9	76.6	74.4	2.2	24.3
ΤV	NLLB-200-1.3B	60.9	70.1	64.0	6.1	28.1	67.2	74.0	68.9	5.1	33.9
Ń	M2M-100-1.2B	51.5	64.2	44.6	19.6	24.6	57.9	68.6	50.4	18.2	26.5
	Mt-aina-en-ca	48.9	63.1	37.9	25.2	27.3	-	-	-	-	-
	Ăguila-7B	46.1	60.4	34.5	25.9	36.1	49.3	63.3	32.5	30.8	28.4
	Flor-6.3B	47.7	62.2	35.2	27.0	33.1	53.4	65.1	42.5	22.6	30.1
Ŋ	Llama-2-7B	48.0	62.6	36.4	26.2	32.8	53.1	64.9	41.3	23.6	33.1
ΓI	Llama-2-7B-chat	46.4	61.4	35.5	25.9	33.1	53.3	65.3	41.6	23.7	32.0
	Llama-2-7B-chat (GB prompt)	58.8	68.9	60.5	8.4	27.8	65.0	73.3	63.6	9.7	22.1

Table 3: WinoMT gender scores

FLoRes-200 (Table 1).

8 Discussion

Initially, we believed that reducing gender bias through prompting would possibly be straightforward. However, it was surprising to find that the model only began effectively mitigating the bias after implementing the chain-of-thought approach. In fact, the results presented in Table 2 demonstrate that without the chain-of-thought approach and relying solely on the same invented Winograd examples from the top-performing prompt, no improvement was observed. Furthermore, we noticed that describing the problem of gender bias or including MuST-SHE examples did not lead to any improvement. Additionally, we observed that the Llama-2-7B-chat model comprehends and responds better to schematic chain-of-thought prompts compared to highly detailed and elaborate prompts, resulting in higher gender scores in the former case. Besides, the inclusion of the phrase "Proceed step by step" seems to be beneficial.

Fortunately, after identifying our successful prompt, we can confidently affirm that leveraging prompting can indeed serve as an effective method to mitigate gender bias in an instructed LLM (at least, for *Gender Coreference Resolution*).

9 Conclusions

This work investigates gender bias in the translation outputs generated by various LLMs through two distinct approaches. Firstly, by benchmarking three base models (Åguila-7B, Flor-6.3B and 102

Llama-2-7B) using different gender-bias test sets and comparing the results with state-of-the-art NMT models (M2M-100-1.2B, NLLB-200-1.3B, Mt-aina-en-ca, and Google Translate). Secondly, by experimenting with the prompting mechanism of an instruction-tuned LLM (Llama-2-7B-chat) and trying to mitigate its gender bias in the output. This study is done in the En \rightarrow Ca and En \rightarrow Es directions.

Results reveal the presence of gender bias across all models, with base LLMs exhibiting more gender bias than NMT models. Moreover, the performance of all models correlates with gender stereotypes. In the absence of gender cues in the source sentence, they tend to generate predominantly male terms, while female terms are generated primarily when encountering female-stereotypical content. To mitigate this bias, prompting engineering techniques have been implemented in an instruction-tuned LLM. After curating and testing several prompts, one prompt was identified that resulted in a significant reduction in gender bias, achieving impressive gender scores. The prompt follows a simplified chain-of-thought approach with 5-shots relying on anti-stereotypical content and increased female representation. This prompt enables the instructed LLM to perform competitively in terms of gender scores, achieving results comparable to NMT models and even surpassing some of them. However, it is observed that using this prompt leads to a slight loss in the translation quality.

10 Ethical statement

In this evaluation, we have only focused on the binary male and female genders, without considering other gender identities. Additional experiments on new datasets would be required to assess the performance of these methods on non-binary scenarios.

About the proposed definition of gender bias, we tried to characterize different aspects of the problem. Even though we recognize that it is a complex problem and our metrics and experiments focus only on some specific manifestations.

11 Acknowledgments

This research has been promoted and financed by the Government of Catalonia through the Aina project, by the Ministerio para la Transformación Digital y de la Función Pública and Plan de Recuperación, Transformación y Resiliencia (Funded by EU – NextGenerationEU within the framework of the project ILENIA with reference 2022/TL22/00215337, 2022/TL22/00215336, 2022/TL22/00215335, 2022/TL22/00215334). It has also been supported by the Horizon Europe program [Grant Number 101135916] and by DeepR3 (TED2021-130295B-C32) (Funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033 and European Union NextGeneration EU/PRTR).

References

- Sweta Agrawal, Chunting Zhou, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Marjan Ghazvininejad. 2023. Incontext examples selection for machine translation. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL 2023*, pages 8857–8873, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Dzmitry Bahdanau, Kyunghyun Cho, and Yoshua Bengio. 2015. Neural machine translation by jointly learning to align and translate. In 3rd International Conference on Learning Representations, ICLR 2015, San Diego, CA, USA, May 7-9, 2015, Conference Track Proceedings.
- Rachel Bawden and François Yvon. 2023. Investigating the translation performance of a large multilingual language model: the case of BLOOM. In *Proceedings of the 24th Annual Conference of the European Association for Machine Translation, EAMT 2023, Tampere, Finland, 12-15 June 2023*, pages 157–170. European Association for Machine Translation.

2020. Gender in danger? evaluating speech translation technology on the MuST-SHE corpus. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 6923–6933, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Tom B. Brown, Benjamin Mann, Nick Ryder, Melanie Subbiah, Jared Kaplan, Prafulla Dhariwal, Arvind Neelakantan, Pranav Shyam, Girish Sastry, Amanda Askell, Sandhini Agarwal, Ariel Herbert-Voss, Gretchen Krueger, Tom Henighan, Rewon Child, Aditya Ramesh, Daniel M. Ziegler, Jeffrey Wu, Clemens Winter, Christopher Hesse, Mark Chen, Eric Sigler, Mateusz Litwin, Scott Gray, Benjamin Chess, Jack Clark, Christopher Berner, Sam McCandlish, Alec Radford, Ilya Sutskever, and Dario Amodei. 2020. Language models are few-shot learners. *CoRR*, abs/2005.14165.
- Yuchen Cai, Ding Cao, Rongxi Guo, Yaqin Wen, Guiquan Liu, and Enhong Chen. 2024. Locating and mitigating gender bias in large language models. *CoRR*, abs/2403.14409.
- Roldano Cattoni, Mattia Antonino Di Gangi, Luisa Bentivogli, Matteo Negri, and Marco Turchi. 2021. Mustc: A multilingual corpus for end-to-end speech translation. *Computer Speech and Language*, 66:101155.
- Kyunghyun Cho, Bart van Merrienboer, Dzmitry Bahdanau, and Yoshua Bengio. 2014. On the properties of neural machine translation: Encoder-decoder approaches. In *Proceedings of SSST@EMNLP 2014*, *Eighth Workshop on Syntax, Semantics and Structure in Statistical Translation, Doha, Qatar, 25 October 2014*, pages 103–111. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Aakanksha Chowdhery, Sharan Narang, Jacob Devlin, Maarten Bosma, Gaurav Mishra, Adam Roberts, Paul Barham, Hyung Won Chung, Charles Sutton, Sebastian Gehrmann, Parker Schuh, Kensen Shi, Sasha Tsvyashchenko, Joshua Maynez, Abhishek Rao, Parker Barnes, Yi Tay, Noam Shazeer, Vinodkumar Prabhakaran, Emily Reif, Nan Du, Ben Hutchinson, Reiner Pope, James Bradbury, Jacob Austin, Michael Isard, Guy Gur-Ari, Pengcheng Yin, Toju Duke, Anselm Levskaya, Sanjay Ghemawat, Sunipa Dev, Henryk Michalewski, Xavier Garcia, Vedant Misra, Kevin Robinson, Liam Fedus, Denny Zhou, Daphne Ippolito, David Luan, Hyeontaek Lim, Barret Zoph, Alexander Spiridonov, Ryan Sepassi, David Dohan, Shivani Agrawal, Mark Omernick, Andrew M. Dai, Thanumalayan Sankaranarayana Pillai, Marie Pellat, Aitor Lewkowycz, Erica Moreira, Rewon Child, Oleksandr Polozov, Katherine Lee, Zongwei Zhou, Xuezhi Wang, Brennan Saeta, Mark Diaz, Orhan Firat, Michele Catasta, Jason Wei, Kathy Meier-Hellstern, Douglas Eck, Jeff Dean, Slav Petrov, and Noah Fiedel. 2023. Palm: Scaling language modeling with pathways. J. Mach. Learn. Res., 24:240:1-240:113.
- Luisa Bentivogli, Beatrice Savoldi, Matteo Negri, Mattia A. Di Gangi, Roldano Cattoni, and Marco Turchi.103 Zoph, Yi Tay, William Fedus, Eric Li, Xuezhi Wang,

Mostafa Dehghani, Siddhartha Brahma, Albert Webson, Shixiang Shane Gu, Zhuyun Dai, Mirac Suzgun, Xinyun Chen, Aakanksha Chowdhery, Sharan Narang, Gaurav Mishra, Adams Yu, Vincent Y. Zhao, Yanping Huang, Andrew M. Dai, Hongkun Yu, Slav Petrov, Ed H. Chi, Jeff Dean, Jacob Devlin, Adam Roberts, Denny Zhou, Quoc V. Le, and Jason Wei. 2022. Scaling instruction-finetuned language models. *CoRR*, abs/2210.11416.

- Marta R. Costa-jussà, James Cross, Onur Çelebi, Maha Elbayad, Kenneth Heafield, Kevin Heffernan, Elahe Kalbassi, Janice Lam, Daniel Licht, Jean Maillard, Anna Sun, Skyler Wang, Guillaume Wenzek, Al Youngblood, Bapi Akula, Loïc Barrault, Gabriel Mejia Gonzalez, Prangthip Hansanti, John Hoffman, Semarley Jarrett, Kaushik Ram Sadagopan, Dirk Rowe, Shannon Spruit, Chau Tran, Pierre Andrews, Necip Fazil Ayan, Shruti Bhosale, Sergey Edunov, Angela Fan, Cynthia Gao, Vedanuj Goswami, Francisco Guzmán, Philipp Koehn, Alexandre Mourachko, Christophe Ropers, Safiyyah Saleem, Holger Schwenk, and Jeff Wang. 2022. No language left behind: Scaling human-centered machine translation. CoRR, abs/2207.04672.
- Marta R. Costa-jussà, Carlos Escolano, Christine Basta, Javier Ferrando, Roser Batlle, and Ksenia Kharitonova. 2020. Gender bias in multilingual neural machine translation: The architecture matters. *CoRR*, abs/2012.13176.
- Kate Crawford. 2017. The trouble with bias. in conference on neural information processing systems (nips) – keynote, long beach, usa.
- Lisa Irmen Dagmar Stahlberg, Friederike Braun and Sabine Sczesny. 2007. Representation of the sexes in language. social communication, pages 163–187.
- Jasmina S. Ernst, Sascha Marton, Jannik Brinkmann, Eduardo Vellasques, Damien Foucard, Martin Kraemer, and Marian Lambert. 2023. Bias mitigation for large language models using adversarial learning. In Proceedings of the 1st Workshop on Fairness and Bias in AI co-located with 26th European Conference on Artificial Intelligence (ECAI 2023), Kraków, Poland, October 1st, 2023, volume 3523 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings. CEUR-WS.org.
- Angela Fan, Shruti Bhosale, Holger Schwenk, Zhiyi Ma, Ahmed El-Kishky, Siddharth Goyal, Mandeep Baines, Onur Celebi, Guillaume Wenzek, Vishrav Chaudhary, Naman Goyal, Tom Birch, Vitaliy Liptchinsky, Sergey Edunov, Edouard Grave, Michael Auli, and Armand Joulin. 2020. Beyond english-centric multilingual machine translation. *CoRR*, abs/2010.11125.
- Batya Friedman and Helen Nissenbaum. 1996. Bias in computer systems. *ACM Trans. Inf. Syst.*, 14(3):330–347.

- Jun Gao, Huan Zhao, Changlong Yu, and Ruifeng Xu. 2023a. Exploring the feasibility of chatgpt for event extraction. *CoRR*, abs/2303.03836.
- Tianyu Gao, Howard Yen, Jiatong Yu, and Danqi Chen. 2023b. Enabling large language models to generate text with citations. In Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, EMNLP 2023, Singapore, December 6-10, 2023, pages 6465–6488. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Xavier Garcia, Yamini Bansal, Colin Cherry, George F. Foster, Maxim Krikun, Melvin Johnson, and Orhan Firat. 2023. The unreasonable effectiveness of fewshot learning for machine translation. In *International Conference on Machine Learning, ICML 2023,* 23-29 July 2023, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA, volume 202 of Proceedings of Machine Learning Research, pages 10867–10878. PMLR.
- Sourojit Ghosh and Aylin Caliskan. 2023. Chatgpt perpetuates gender bias in machine translation and ignores non-gendered pronouns: Findings across bengali and five other low-resource languages. In Proceedings of the 2023 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society, AIES 2023, Montréal, QC, Canada, August 8-10, 2023, pages 901–912. ACM.
- Naman Goyal, Cynthia Gao, Vishrav Chaudhary, Peng-Jen Chen, Guillaume Wenzek, Da Ju, Sanjana Krishnan, Marc'Aurelio Ranzato, Francisco Guzmán, and Angela Fan. 2021. The FLORES-101 evaluation benchmark for low-resource and multilingual machine translation. *CoRR*, abs/2106.03193.
- Naman Goyal, Cynthia Gao, Vishrav Chaudhary, Peng-Jen Chen, Guillaume Wenzek, Da Ju, Sanjana Krishnan, Marc'Aurelio Ranzato, Francisco Guzmán, and Angela Fan. 2022. The Flores-101 evaluation benchmark for low-resource and multilingual machine translation. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 10:522–538.
- Francisco Guzmán, Peng-Jen Chen, Myle Ott, Juan Pino, Guillaume Lample, Philipp Koehn, Vishrav Chaudhary, and Marc'Aurelio Ranzato. 2019. The FLO-RES evaluation datasets for low-resource machine translation: Nepali–English and Sinhala–English. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 6098– 6111, Hong Kong, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Amr Hendy, Mohamed Abdelrehim, Amr Sharaf, Vikas Raunak, Mohamed Gabr, Hitokazu Matsushita, Young Jin Kim, Mohamed Afify, and Hany Hassan Awadalla. 2023. How good are GPT models at machine translation? A comprehensive evaluation. *CoRR*, abs/2302.09210.
- Wenxiang Jiao, Wenxuan Wang, Jen-tse Huang, Xing 104 Wang, and Zhaopeng Tu. 2023a. Is chatgpt A

good translator? A preliminary study. *CoRR*, abs/2301.08745.

- Wenxiang Jiao, Wenxuan Wang, Jen tse Huang, Xing Wang, Shuming Shi, and Zhaopeng Tu. 2023b. Is chatgpt a good translator? yes with gpt-4 as the engine.
- Melvin Johnson, Mike Schuster, Quoc V. Le, Maxim Krikun, Yonghui Wu, Zhifeng Chen, Nikhil Thorat, Fernanda B. Viégas, Martin Wattenberg, Greg Corrado, Macduff Hughes, and Jeffrey Dean. 2017. Google's multilingual neural machine translation system: Enabling zero-shot translation. *Trans. Assoc. Comput. Linguistics*, 5:339–351.
- Evan Hazenberg Lal Zimman and Miriam Meyerhoff. 2017. Trans people's linguistic self-determination and the dialogic nature of identity. representing trans: Linguistic, legal and everyday perspectives, pages 226–248.
- Hector J. Levesque, Ernest Davis, and Leora Morgenstern. 2012. The winograd schema challenge. In Principles of Knowledge Representation and Reasoning: Proceedings of the Thirteenth International Conference, KR 2012, Rome, Italy, June 10-14, 2012. AAAI Press.
- Roger J. R. Levesque. 2011. Sex Roles and Gender Roles, pages 2622–2623. Springer New York, New York, NY.
- Shahar Levy, Koren Lazar, and Gabriel Stanovsky. 2021. Collecting a large-scale gender bias dataset for coreference resolution and machine translation. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2021*, pages 2470–2480, Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bo Li, Gexiang Fang, Yang Yang, Quansen Wang, Wei Ye, Wen Zhao, and Shikun Zhang. 2023. Evaluating chatgpt's information extraction capabilities: An assessment of performance, explainability, calibration, and faithfulness. *CoRR*, abs/2304.11633.
- Shayne Longpre, Le Hou, Tu Vu, Albert Webson, Hyung Won Chung, Yi Tay, Denny Zhou, Quoc V. Le, Barret Zoph, Jason Wei, and Adam Roberts. 2023. The flan collection: Designing data and methods for effective instruction tuning. In *International Conference on Machine Learning, ICML 2023, 23-29 July 2023, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA*, volume 202 of *Proceedings of Machine Learning Research*, pages 22631–22648. PMLR.
- Thang Luong, Hieu Pham, and Christopher D. Manning. 2015. Effective approaches to attention-based neural machine translation. In *Proceedings of the 2015 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, EMNLP 2015, Lisbon, Portugal, September 17-21, 2015*, pages 1412–1421. The Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Audrey Mash, Carlos Escolano, Aleix Sant, Maite Melero, and Francesca de Luca Fornaciari. 2024. Unmasking biases: Exploring gender bias in English-Catalan machine translation through tokenization analysis and novel dataset. In *Proceedings of the* 2024 Joint International Conference on Computational Linguistics, Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC-COLING 2024), pages 17144–17153, Torino, Italia. ELRA and ICCL.
- Swaroop Mishra, Daniel Khashabi, Chitta Baral, and Hannaneh Hajishirzi. 2022. Cross-task generalization via natural language crowdsourcing instructions. In Proceedings of the 60th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), ACL 2022, Dublin, Ireland, May 22-27, 2022, pages 3470–3487. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Niklas Muennighoff, Thomas Wang, Lintang Sutawika, Adam Roberts, Stella Biderman, Teven Le Scao, M. Saiful Bari, Sheng Shen, Zheng Xin Yong, Hailey Schoelkopf, Xiangru Tang, Dragomir Radev, Alham Fikri Aji, Khalid Almubarak, Samuel Albanie, Zaid Alyafeai, Albert Webson, Edward Raff, and Colin Raffel. 2023. Crosslingual generalization through multitask finetuning. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), ACL 2023, Toronto, Canada, July 9-14, 2023, pages 15991–16111. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Munan Ning, Yujia Xie, Dongdong Chen, Zeyin Song, Lu Yuan, Yonghong Tian, Qixiang Ye, and Li Yuan. 2023. Album storytelling with iterative story-aware captioning and large language models. *CoRR*, abs/2305.12943.
- James Cross Onur Çelebi Maha Elbayad Kenneth Heafield Kevin Heffernan Elahe Kalbassi Janice Lam Daniel Licht Jean Maillard Anna Sun Skyler Wang Guillaume Wenzek Al Youngblood Bapi Akula Loic Barrault Gabriel Mejia Gonzalez Prangthip Hansanti John Hoffman Semarley Jarrett Kaushik Ram Sadagopan Dirk Rowe Shannon Spruit Chau Tran Pierre Andrews Necip Fazil Ayan Shruti Bhosale Sergey Edunov Angela Fan Cynthia Gao Vedanuj Goswami Francisco Guzmán Philipp Koehn Alexandre Mourachko Christophe Ropers Safiyyah Saleem Holger Schwenk Jeff Wang NLLB Team, Marta R. Costa-jussà. 2022. No language left behind: Scaling human-centered machine translation.
- OpenAI. 2023. GPT-4 technical report. *CoRR*, abs/2303.08774.
- Kishore Papineni, Salim Roukos, Todd Ward, and Wei-Jing Zhu. 2002. Bleu: a method for automatic evaluation of machine translation. In *Proceedings of the 40th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 311–318, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Parmy Olson. 2018. The algorithm that helped google translate become sexist. https://www.forbes.com/sites/parmyolson/.
- Matt Post. 2018. A call for clarity in reporting BLEU scores. In Proceedings of the Third Conference on Machine Translation: Research Papers, pages 186– 191, Brussels, Belgium. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Alec Radford, Jeff Wu, Rewon Child, David Luan, Dario Amodei, and Ilya Sutskever. 2019. Language models are unsupervised multitask learners.
- Ricardo Rei, Craig Stewart, Ana C Farinha, and Alon Lavie. 2020. COMET: A neural framework for MT evaluation. In *Proceedings of the 2020 Conference* on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP), pages 2685–2702, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Isabelle Régner, Catherine Thinus-Blanc, Agnès Netter, Toni Schmader, and Pascal Huguet. 2019. Committees with implicit biases promote fewer women when they do not believe gender bias exists. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 3.
- Eduardo Sánchez, Pierre Andrews, Pontus Stenetorp, Mikel Artetxe, and Marta R. Costa-jussà. 2023. Gender-specific machine translation with large language models. *CoRR*, abs/2309.03175.
- Victor Sanh, Albert Webson, Colin Raffel, Stephen H. Bach, Lintang Sutawika, Zaid Alyafeai, Antoine Chaffin, Arnaud Stiegler, Arun Raja, Manan Dey, M Saiful Bari, Canwen Xu, Urmish Thakker, Shanya Sharma Sharma, Eliza Szczechla, Taewoon Kim, Gunjan Chhablani, Nihal V. Nayak, Debajyoti Datta, Jonathan Chang, Mike Tian-Jian Jiang, Han Wang, Matteo Manica, Sheng Shen, Zheng Xin Yong, Harshit Pandey, Rachel Bawden, Thomas Wang, Trishala Neeraj, Jos Rozen, Abheesht Sharma, Andrea Santilli, Thibault Févry, Jason Alan Fries, Ryan Teehan, Teven Le Scao, Stella Biderman, Leo Gao, Thomas Wolf, and Alexander M. Rush. 2022. Multitask prompted training enables zero-shot task generalization. In The Tenth International Conference on Learning Representations, ICLR 2022, Virtual Event, April 25-29, 2022. OpenReview.net.
- Danielle Saunders and Bill Byrne. 2020. Reducing gender bias in neural machine translation as a domain adaptation problem. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 7724–7736, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Beatrice Savoldi, Marco Gaido, Luisa Bentivogli, Matteo Negri, and Marco Turchi. 2021. Gender bias in machine translation. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 9:845–874.
- Beatrice Savoldi, Andrea Piergentili, Dennis Fucci, Matteo Negri, and Luisa Bentivogli. 2024. A prompt response to the demand for automatic gender-neutral 106

translation. In *Proceedings of the 18th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers)*, pages 256–267, St. Julian's, Malta. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Artūrs Stafanovičs, Toms Bergmanis, and Mārcis Pinnis. 2020. Mitigating gender bias in machine translation with target gender annotations. In *Proceedings of the Fifth Conference on Machine Translation*, pages 629–638, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Gabriel Stanovsky, Noah A. Smith, and Luke Zettlemoyer. 2019. Evaluating gender bias in machine translation. In *Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 1679–1684, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Hsuan Su, Cheng-Chu Cheng, Hua Farn, Shachi H. Kumar, Saurav Sahay, Shang-Tse Chen, and Hung-yi Lee. 2023. Learning from red teaming: Gender bias provocation and mitigation in large language models. *CoRR*, abs/2310.11079.
- Xiaofei Sun, Xiaoya Li, Jiwei Li, Fei Wu, Shangwei Guo, Tianwei Zhang, and Guoyin Wang. 2023. Text classification via large language models. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2023, Singapore, December 6-10, 2023*, pages 8990–9005. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Romal Thoppilan, Daniel De Freitas, Jamie Hall, Noam Shazeer, Apoorv Kulshreshtha, Heng-Tze Cheng, Alicia Jin, Taylor Bos, Leslie Baker, Yu Du, YaGuang Li, Hongrae Lee, Huaixiu Steven Zheng, Amin Ghafouri, Marcelo Menegali, Yanping Huang, Maxim Krikun, Dmitry Lepikhin, James Qin, Dehao Chen, Yuanzhong Xu, Zhifeng Chen, Adam Roberts, Maarten Bosma, Yanqi Zhou, Chung-Ching Chang, Igor Krivokon, Will Rusch, Marc Pickett, Kathleen S. Meier-Hellstern, Meredith Ringel Morris, Tulsee Doshi, Renelito Delos Santos, Toju Duke, Johnny Soraker, Ben Zevenbergen, Vinodkumar Prabhakaran, Mark Diaz, Ben Hutchinson, Kristen Olson, Alejandra Molina, Erin Hoffman-John, Josh Lee, Lora Aroyo, Ravi Rajakumar, Alena Butryna, Matthew Lamm, Viktoriya Kuzmina, Joe Fenton, Aaron Cohen, Rachel Bernstein, Ray Kurzweil, Blaise Agüera y Arcas, Claire Cui, Marian Croak, Ed H. Chi, and Quoc Le. 2022. Lamda: Language models for dialog applications. CoRR, abs/2201.08239.
- Hugo Touvron, Louis Martin, Kevin Stone, Peter Albert, Amjad Almahairi, Yasmine Babaei, Nikolay Bashlykov, Soumya Batra, Prajjwal Bhargava, Shruti Bhosale, Dan Bikel, Lukas Blecher, Cristian Canton-Ferrer, Moya Chen, Guillem Cucurull, David Esiobu, Jude Fernandes, Jeremy Fu, Wenyin Fu, Brian Fuller, Cynthia Gao, Vedanuj Goswami, Naman Goyal, Anthony Hartshorn, Saghar Hosseini, Rui Hou, Hakan Inan, Marcin Kardas, Viktor Kerkez, Madian Khabsa, Isabel Kloumann, Artem Korenev, Punit Singh Koura,

Marie-Anne Lachaux, Thibaut Lavril, Jenya Lee, Diana Liskovich, Yinghai Lu, Yuning Mao, Xavier Martinet, Todor Mihaylov, Pushkar Mishra, Igor Molybog, Yixin Nie, Andrew Poulton, Jeremy Reizenstein, Rashi Rungta, Kalyan Saladi, Alan Schelten, Ruan Silva, Eric Michael Smith, Ranjan Subramanian, Xiaoqing Ellen Tan, Binh Tang, Ross Taylor, Adina Williams, Jian Xiang Kuan, Puxin Xu, Zheng Yan, Iliyan Zarov, Yuchen Zhang, Angela Fan, Melanie Kambadur, Sharan Narang, Aurélien Rodriguez, Robert Stojnic, Sergey Edunov, and Thomas Scialom. 2023. Llama 2: Open foundation and finetuned chat models. *CoRR*, abs/2307.09288.

- Eva Vanmassenhove. 2024. Gender bias in machine translation and the era of large language models. *CoRR*, abs/2401.10016.
- Ashish Vaswani, Noam Shazeer, Niki Parmar, Jakob Uszkoreit, Llion Jones, Aidan N. Gomez, Lukasz Kaiser, and Illia Polosukhin. 2017. Attention is all you need. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 30: Annual Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems 2017, December 4-9, 2017, Long Beach, CA, USA, pages 5998–6008.
- David Vilar, Markus Freitag, Colin Cherry, Jiaming Luo, Viresh Ratnakar, and George F. Foster. 2023. Prompting palm for translation: Assessing strategies and performance. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), ACL 2023, Toronto, Canada, July 9-14, 2023, pages 15406–15427. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jason Wei, Xuezhi Wang, Dale Schuurmans, Maarten Bosma, Ed H. Chi, Quoc Le, and Denny Zhou. 2022. Chain of thought prompting elicits reasoning in large language models. *CoRR*, abs/2201.11903.
- Xiang Wei, Xingyu Cui, Ning Cheng, Xiaobin Wang, Xin Zhang, Shen Huang, Pengjun Xie, Jinan Xu, Yufeng Chen, Meishan Zhang, Yong Jiang, and Wenjuan Han. 2023. Zero-shot information extraction via chatting with chatgpt. *CoRR*, abs/2302.10205.
- Yonghui Wu, Mike Schuster, Zhifeng Chen, Quoc V. Le, Mohammad Norouzi, Wolfgang Macherey, Maxim Krikun, Yuan Cao, Qin Gao, Klaus Macherey, Jeff Klingner, Apurva Shah, Melvin Johnson, Xiaobing Liu, Lukasz Kaiser, Stephan Gouws, Yoshikiyo Kato, Taku Kudo, Hideto Kazawa, Keith Stevens, George Kurian, Nishant Patil, Wei Wang, Cliff Young, Jason Smith, Jason Riesa, Alex Rudnick, Oriol Vinyals, Greg Corrado, Macduff Hughes, and Jeffrey Dean. 2016. Google's neural machine translation system: Bridging the gap between human and machine translation. *CoRR*, abs/1609.08144.
- Jingfeng Yang, Hongye Jin, Ruixiang Tang, Xiaotian Han, Qizhang Feng, Haoming Jiang, Bing Yin, and Xia Hu. 2023. Harnessing the power of llms in practice: A survey on chatgpt and beyond. *CoRR*, abs/2304.13712.

- Kevin Yang, Yuandong Tian, Nanyun Peng, and Dan Klein. 2022. Re3: Generating longer stories with recursive reprompting and revision. In Proceedings of the 2022 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, EMNLP 2022, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates, December 7-11, 2022, pages 4393–4479. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Shunyu Yao, Dian Yu, Jeffrey Zhao, Izhak Shafran, Tom Griffiths, Yuan Cao, and Karthik Narasimhan. 2023. Tree of thoughts: Deliberate problem solving with large language models. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 36: Annual Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems 2023, NeurIPS 2023, New Orleans, LA, USA, December 10 - 16, 2023.
- Biao Zhang, Barry Haddow, and Alexandra Birch. 2023a. Prompting large language model for machine translation: A case study. In *International Conference on Machine Learning, ICML 2023, 23-*29 July 2023, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA, volume 202 of *Proceedings of Machine Learning Research*, pages 41092–41110. PMLR.
- Shengyu Zhang, Linfeng Dong, Xiaoya Li, Sen Zhang, Xiaofei Sun, Shuhe Wang, Jiwei Li, Runyi Hu, Tianwei Zhang, Fei Wu, and Guoyin Wang. 2023b. Instruction tuning for large language models: A survey. *CoRR*, abs/2308.10792.
- Xuan Zhang, Navid Rajabi, Kevin Duh, and Philipp Koehn. 2023c. Machine translation with large language models: Prompting, few-shot learning, and fine-tuning with QLoRA. In *Proceedings of the Eighth Conference on Machine Translation*, pages 468–481, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2018. Gender bias in coreference resolution: Evaluation and debiasing methods. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 2 (Short Papers), pages 15–20, New Orleans, Louisiana. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Wayne Xin Zhao, Kun Zhou, Junyi Li, Tianyi Tang, Xiaolei Wang, Yupeng Hou, Yingqian Min, Beichen Zhang, Junjie Zhang, Zican Dong, Yifan Du, Chen Yang, Yushuo Chen, Zhipeng Chen, Jinhao Jiang, Ruiyang Ren, Yifan Li, Xinyu Tang, Zikang Liu, Peiyu Liu, Jian-Yun Nie, and Ji-Rong Wen. 2023. A survey of large language models.
- Zihao Zhao, Eric Wallace, Shi Feng, Dan Klein, and Sameer Singh. 2021. Calibrate before use: Improving few-shot performance of language models. In Proceedings of the 38th International Conference on Machine Learning, ICML 2021, 18-24 July 2021, Virtual Event, volume 139 of Proceedings of Machine Learning Research, pages 12697–12706. PMLR.

Wenhao Zhu, Hongyi Liu, Qingxiu Dong, Jingjing Xu, Lingpeng Kong, Jiajun Chen, Lei Li, and Shujian Huang. 2023. Multilingual machine translation with large language models: Empirical results and analysis. *CoRR*, abs/2304.04675.

Appendices

A Gender Scores on Gold BUG

			Englis	$h \rightarrow Catala$	n	$English \rightarrow Spanish$					
		G Acc	F1-male	F1-female	$\Delta \mathbf{G}$	$\Delta \mathbf{S}$	G Acc	F1-male	F1-female	$\Delta \mathbf{G}$	$\Delta \mathbf{S}$
	Google Translate	62.3	77.5	56.9	20.6	26.7	47.5	62.8	55.0	7.8	14.9
NMT	NLLB-200-1.3B	62.1	77.4	57.9	19.5	13.6	65.2	79.4	61.9	17.5	20.4
	M2M-100-1.2B	60.4	76.3	49.8	26.5	23.9	63.8	78.5	56.5	22.0	22.7
	Mt-aina-en-ca	60.3	76.4	51.2	25.2	20.5	-	-	-	-	
	Ăguila-7B	54.5	71.7	43.9	27.8	22.5	58.8	75.2	46.5	28.7	18.8
	Flor-6.3B	57.8	74.5	43.0	31.5	18.6	61.2	77.1	46.2	30.9	14.9
Ŋ,	Llama-2-7B	57.7	74.9	37.1	37.8	18.7	60.2	76.9	37.4	39.5	16.1
ΓI	Llama-2-7B-chat	57.8	74.5	39.3	35.2	25.3	58.9	75.6	37.0	38.6	16.9
	Llama-2-7B-chat (GB prompt)	59.8	75.0	58.7	16.3	15.4	63.7	78.5	58.9	19.6	18.1

Table 4: Gold BUG gender scores

B Gender Scores on MuST-SHE

			English –	→ Catalan			English –	Spanish	
		G Acc	F1-male	F1-female	$\Delta \mathbf{G}$	G Acc	F1-male	F1-female	$\Delta \mathbf{G}$
	Google Translate	89.5	90.6	88.0	2.6	95.1	95.5	94.7	0.8
NMT	NLLB-200-1.3B	93.3	93.7	92.7	1.0	96.0	96.2	95.8	0.5
	M2M-100-1.2B	84.4	86.6	81.4	5.2	87.4	89.2	84.8	4.3
	Mt-aina-en-ca	87.1	88.5	85.4	3.1	-	-	-	-
	Ăguila-7B	87.1	88.5	85.4	3.1	92.2	93.0	91.0	2.0
	Flor-6.3B	89.6	90.7	88.2	2.5	93.3	93.9	92.4	1.5
Ŋ	Llama-2-7B	91.1	91.9	90.0	1.8	95.1	94.5	93.2	1.3
EL	Llama-2-7B-chat	88.1	89.7	86.0	3.7	91.0	92.0	89.6	2.4
	Llama-2-7B-chat (GB prompt)	88.4	89.8	86.5	3.3	92.0	92.6	91.4	1.2

Table 5: MuST-SHE gender scores

C Prompts employed in the Benchmarking

The prompts employed with Åguila-7B when testing FLoRes-200 devtest set for $En \rightarrow Ca$ and $En \rightarrow Es$ respectively:

```
Translate the following sentence from English to Catalan:
English: <s>Hangeul is the only purposely invented alphabet in popular daily
use. The alphabet was invented in 1444 during the reign of King Sejong
(1418-1450).</s>
Catalan: <s>El hangul és l'únic alfabet creat arbitràriament que té un ús
estès en la vida diària. L'alfabet es va inventar l'any 1444 durant el regnat
de King Sejong (1418-1450).</s>
English: <s>They also said in a statement, "The crew is currently working to
determine the best method of safely extracting the ship".</s>
Catalan: <s>També han dit en un comunicat, "La tripulació treballa ara
mateix per a determinar la millor tècnica per a extreure la nau de manera
segura".</s>
English: <s>This is becoming less of an issue as lens manufacturers achieve
higher standards in lens production.</s>
Catalan: <s>Això és cada vegada menys important perquè els fabricants de lents
estan assolint estàndards més elevats en la producció de lents.</s>
English: <s>While assessing the successes and becoming aware of failures,
individuals and the whole of the participating persons discover more deeply
the values, mission, and driving forces of the organization.</s>
Catalan: <s>Mentre confirmen els èxits i prenen consciència dels fracassos,
els individus i el grup de participants descobreixen més profundament els
valors, la missió i les forces motrius de l'organització.</s>
English: <s>Entering Southern Africa by car is an amazing way to see all the
region's beauty as well as to get to places off the normal tourist routes.</s>
Catalan: <s>Entrar a l'Àfrica del Sud en cotxe és una forma impressionant
de veure tota la bellesa de la regió i d'arribar a llocs fora de les rutes
turístiques més habituals.</s>
English: <s>____sentence_to_translate____</s>
Catalan: <s>
```

Translate the following sentence from English to Spanish: English: <s>Hangeul is the only purposely invented alphabet in popular daily use. The alphabet was invented in 1444 during the reign of King Sejong (1418-1450).</s> Spanish: <s>El alfabeto coreano es el único diseñado en forma deliberada que aún se utiliza a diario popularmente. Se inventó en 1444, durante el reinado de Sejong (1418 a 1450).</s> English: <s>They also said in a statement, "The crew is currently working to determine the best method of safely extracting the ship".</s> Spanish: <s>También se dijo en un comunicado que: «La tripulación se encuentra actualmente trabajando para decidir cuál es el método más seguro para extraer el barco».</s> English: <s>This is becoming less of an issue as lens manufacturers achieve higher standards in lens production.</s> Spanish: <s>Este problema cada vez es menos importante gracias a que los fabricantes de lentes logran estándares más altos en su producción.</s> English: <s>While assessing the successes and becoming aware of failures, individuals and the whole of the participating persons discover more deeply the values, mission, and driving forces of the organization.</s> Spanish: <s>Durante el proceso de análisis de los éxitos y toma de conciencia de los fracasos, los individuos y grupos de personas involucrados descubren con mayor profundidad los valores, el objetivo y las fuerzas que impulsan a la organización.</s> English: <s>Entering Southern Africa by car is an amazing way to see all the region's beauty as well as to get to places off the normal tourist routes.</s> Spanish: <s>Una fantástica forma de contemplar todo el encanto de la región del sur África es ingresar en automóvil, lo que, a su vez, le permitirá acceder a lugares fuera de las rutas turísticas habituales.</s> English: <s>____sentence_to_translate____</s> Spanish: <s>

The prompts employed with Åguila-7B when testing FLoRes-200 dev set, WinoMT, Gold BUG and MuST-SHE for En \rightarrow Ca and En \rightarrow Es were:

Translate the following sentence from English to Catalan: English: <s>The feathers' structure suggests that they were not used in flight but rather for temperature regulation or display. The researchers suggested that, even though this is the tail of a young dinosaur, the sample shows adult plumage and not a chick's down.</s> Catalan: <s>L'estructura de les plomes fa pensar que no s'usaven per a volar sinó per a regular la temperatura o per a exhibir-se. Els investigadors han suggerit que, tot i que es tracta de la cua d'un dinosaure jove, la mostra presenta el plomatge d'un adult i no d'un pollet.</s> English: <s>They found the Sun operated on the same basic principles as other stars: The activity of all stars in the system was found to be driven by their luminosity, their rotation, and nothing else.</s> Catalan: <s>Han descobert que el Sol funcionava sota els mateixos principis bàsics que altres estrelles: s'ha vist que l'activitat de totes les estrelles del sistema depèn de llur brillantor, llur rotació i res més.</s> English: <s>The speeds of 802.11n are substantially faster than that of its predecessors with a maximum theoretical throughput of 600Mbit/s.</s> Catalan: <s>Les velocitats de 802.11n són substancialment més ràpides que les dels seus predecessors amb un rendiment teòric màxim de 600Mbit/s.</s> English: <s>Over four million people went to Rome to attend the funeral.</s> Catalan: <s>Més de quatre milions de persones van anar a Roma per a assistir al funeral.</s> English: <s>Mrs. Kirchner announced her intention to run for president at the Argentine Theatre, the same location she used to start her 2005 campaign for the Senate as member of the Buenos Aires province delegation.</s> Catalan: <s>La Sra. Kirchner va anunciar la seva intenció de presentar-se a la presidència al Teatre de l'Argentina, el mateix lloc on va engegar la campanya al Senat de 2005 com a membre de la delegació provincial de Buenos Aires.</s> English: <s>_____sentence_to_translate____</s> Catalan: <s>

Translate the following sentence from English to Spanish: English: <s>The feathers' structure suggests that they were not used in flight but rather for temperature regulation or display. The researchers suggested that, even though this is the tail of a young dinosaur, the sample shows adult plumage and not a chick's down.</s> Spanish: <s>La estructura que presenta el plumaje sugiere que su función no estaba relacionada con el vuelo, sino que las usaban para regular la temperatura o como indicador de la misma. Los investigadores sostienen que, aunque se trata de la cola de un dinosaurio joven, la muestra analizada presenta rasgos del plumaje de un adulto y no de un polluelo.</s> English: <s>They found the Sun operated on the same basic principles as other stars: The activity of all stars in the system was found to be driven by their luminosity, their rotation, and nothing else.</s> Spanish: <s>Se descubrió que el sol se regía por los mismos principios básicos que otras estrellas: los únicos factores que impulsaban su actividad dentro del sistema eran su luminosidad y su rotación.</s> English: <s>The speeds of 802.11n are substantially faster than that of its predecessors with a maximum theoretical throughput of 600Mbit/s.</s> Spanish: <s>Las velocidades del estándar 802.11n son mucho más altas que las alcanzadas por los que lo precedieron, con un rendimiento teórico máximo de 600 Mbps.</s> English: <s>Over four million people went to Rome to attend the funeral.</s> Spanish: <s>Más de cuatro millones de individuos se concentraron en Roma para presenciar el funeral.</s> English: <s>Mrs. Kirchner announced her intention to run for president at the Argentine Theatre, the same location she used to start her 2005 campaign for the Senate as member of the Buenos Aires province delegation.</s> Spanish: <s>El Teatro Argentino fue el lugar donde la señora Kirchner anunció su intención de candidatearse como presidenta; este es el mismo sitio donde inició su campaña para el senado en el año 2005, en representación de la provincia de Buenos Aires.</s> English: <s>____sentence_to_translate____</s> Spanish: <s>

The prompts employed with Flor-6.3B and Llama-2-7B when testing FLoRes-200 devtest set for En \rightarrow Ca and En \rightarrow Es respectively:

Translate the following sentence from English to Catalan: English: <BOS>Hangeul is the only purposely invented alphabet in popular daily use. The alphabet was invented in 1444 during the reign of King Sejong (1418-1450).<EOS> Catalan: <BOS>El hangul és l'únic alfabet creat arbitràriament que té un ús estès en la vida diària. L'alfabet es va inventar l'any 1444 durant el regnat de King Sejong (1418-1450).<EOS> English: <BOS>They also said in a statement, "The crew is currently working to determine the best method of safely extracting the ship".<EOS> Catalan: <BOS>També han dit en un comunicat, "La tripulació treballa ara mateix per a determinar la millor tècnica per a extreure la nau de manera segura".<EOS> English: <BOS>This is becoming less of an issue as lens manufacturers achieve higher standards in lens production.<EOS> Catalan: <BOS>Això és cada vegada menys important perquè els fabricants de lents estan assolint estàndards més elevats en la producció de lents.<EOS> English: <BOS>While assessing the successes and becoming aware of failures, individuals and the whole of the participating persons discover more deeply the values, mission, and driving forces of the organization.<EOS> Catalan: <BOS>Mentre confirmen els èxits i prenen consciència dels fracassos, els individus i el grup de participants descobreixen més profundament els valors, la missió i les forces motrius de l'organització.<EOS> English: <BOS>Entering Southern Africa by car is an amazing way to see all the region's beauty as well as to get to places off the normal tourist routes.<EOS> Catalan: <BOS>Entrar a l'Àfrica del Sud en cotxe és una forma impressionant de veure tota la bellesa de la regió i d'arribar a llocs fora de les rutes turístiques més habituals.<EOS> English: <BOS>____sentence_to_translate___<EOS> Catalan: <BOS>

Translate the following sentence from English to Spanish: English: <BOS>Hangeul is the only purposely invented alphabet in popular daily use. The alphabet was invented in 1444 during the reign of King Sejong (1418-1450).<EOS> Spanish: <BOS>El alfabeto coreano es el único diseñado en forma deliberada que aún se utiliza a diario popularmente. Se inventó en 1444, durante el reinado de Sejong (1418 a 1450).<EOS> English: <BOS>They also said in a statement, "The crew is currently working to determine the best method of safely extracting the ship".<EOS> Spanish: <BOS>También se dijo en un comunicado que: «La tripulación se encuentra actualmente trabajando para decidir cuál es el método más seguro para extraer el barco».<EOS> English: <BOS>This is becoming less of an issue as lens manufacturers achieve higher standards in lens production.<EOS> Spanish: <BOS>Este problema cada vez es menos importante gracias a que los fabricantes de lentes logran estándares más altos en su producción.<EOS> English: <BOS>While assessing the successes and becoming aware of failures, individuals and the whole of the participating persons discover more deeply the values, mission, and driving forces of the organization.<EOS> Spanish: <BOS>Durante el proceso de análisis de los éxitos y toma de conciencia de los fracasos, los individuos y grupos de personas involucrados descubren con mayor profundidad los valores, el objetivo y las fuerzas que impulsan a la organización.<EOS> English: <BOS>Entering Southern Africa by car is an amazing way to see all the region's beauty as well as to get to places off the normal tourist routes.<EOS> Spanish: <EOS>Una fantástica forma de contemplar todo el encanto de la región del sur África es ingresar en automóvil, lo que, a su vez, le permitirá acceder a lugares fuera de las rutas turísticas habituales.<BOS> English: <BOS>____sentence_to_translate____<EOS> Spanish: <BOS>

The prompts employed with Flor-6.3B and Llama-2-7B when testing FLoRes-200 dev set, WinoMT, Gold BUG and MuST-SHE for En \rightarrow Ca and En \rightarrow Es were:

Translate the following sentence from English to Catalan: English: <BOS>The feathers' structure suggests that they were not used in flight but rather for temperature regulation or display. The researchers suggested that, even though this is the tail of a young dinosaur, the sample shows adult plumage and not a chick's down.<EOS> Catalan: <BOS>L'estructura de les plomes fa pensar que no s'usaven per a volar sinó per a regular la temperatura o per a exhibir-se. Els investigadors han suggerit que, tot i que es tracta de la cua d'un dinosaure jove, la mostra presenta el plomatge d'un adult i no d'un pollet.<EOS> English: <BOS>They found the Sun operated on the same basic principles as other stars: The activity of all stars in the system was found to be driven by their luminosity, their rotation, and nothing else.<EOS> Catalan: <BOS>Han descobert que el Sol funcionava sota els mateixos principis bàsics que altres estrelles: s'ha vist que l'activitat de totes les estrelles del sistema depèn de llur brillantor, llur rotació i res més.<EOS> English: <BOS>The speeds of 802.11n are substantially faster than that of its predecessors with a maximum theoretical throughput of 600Mbit/s.<EOS> Catalan: <BOS>Les velocitats de 802.11n són substancialment més ràpides que les dels seus predecessors amb un rendiment teòric màxim de 600Mbit/s.<EOS> English: <BOS>Over four million people went to Rome to attend the funeral.<EOS> Catalan: <BOS>Més de quatre milions de persones van anar a Roma per a assistir al funeral.<EOS> English: <BOS>Mrs. Kirchner announced her intention to run for president at the Argentine Theatre, the same location she used to start her 2005 campaign for the Senate as member of the Buenos Aires province delegation.<EOS> Catalan: <BOS>La Sra. Kirchner va anunciar la seva intenció de presentar-se a la presidència al Teatre de l'Argentina, el mateix lloc on va engegar la campanya al Senat de 2005 com a membre de la delegació provincial de Buenos Aires.<EOS> English: <BOS>____sentence_to_translate____<EOS> Catalan: <BOS>

Translate the following sentence from English to Spanish: English: <BOS>The feathers' structure suggests that they were not used in flight but rather for temperature regulation or display. The researchers suggested that, even though this is the tail of a young dinosaur, the sample shows adult plumage and not a chick's down.<EOS> Spanish: <BOS>La estructura que presenta el plumaje sugiere que su función no estaba relacionada con el vuelo, sino que las usaban para regular la temperatura o como indicador de la misma. Los investigadores sostienen que, aunque se trata de la cola de un dinosaurio joven, la muestra analizada presenta rasgos del plumaje de un adulto y no de un polluelo.<EOS> English: <BOS>They found the Sun operated on the same basic principles as other stars: The activity of all stars in the system was found to be driven by their luminosity, their rotation, and nothing else.<EOS> Spanish: <BOS>Se descubrió que el sol se regía por los mismos principios básicos que otras estrellas: los únicos factores que impulsaban su actividad dentro del sistema eran su luminosidad y su rotación.<EOS> English: <BOS>The speeds of 802.11n are substantially faster than that of its predecessors with a maximum theoretical throughput of 600Mbit/s.<EOS> Spanish: <BOS>Las velocidades del estándar 802.11n son mucho más altas que las alcanzadas por los que lo precedieron, con un rendimiento teórico máximo de 600 Mbps.<EOS> English: <BOS>Over four million people went to Rome to attend the funeral.<EOS> Spanish: <BOS>Más de cuatro millones de individuos se concentraron en Roma para presenciar el funeral.<EOS> English: <BOS>Mrs. Kirchner announced her intention to run for president at the Argentine Theatre, the same location she used to start her 2005 campaign for the Senate as member of the Buenos Aires province delegation.<EOS> Spanish: <BOS>El Teatro Argentino fue el lugar donde la señora Kirchner anunció su intención de candidatearse como presidenta; este es el mismo sitio donde inició su campaña para el senado en el año 2005, en representación de la provincia de Buenos Aires.<EOS> English: <BOS>____sentence_to_translate____<EOS> Spanish: <BOS>

D Gender Scores on the Pro- and Anti-Stereotypical sets from WinoMT and Gold BUG

		$English \rightarrow Catalan$					$\operatorname{English} ightarrow \operatorname{Spanish}$					
		G Acc	F1-male	F1-female	$\Delta \mathbf{G}$	G Acc	F1-male	F1-female	$\Delta \mathbf{G}$			
	Google Translate	74.1	80.9	71.1	9.8	89.8	91.1	90.4	0.7			
TI	NLLB-200-1.3B	79.7	85.1	80.7	4.4	89.3	90.8	89.8	1.0			
Ź	M2M-100-1.2B	67.7	76.4	61.1	15.3	73.7	79.2	68.7	10.5			
	Mt-aina-en-ca	65.7	76.0	56.9	19.1	-	-	-	-			
I	Ăguila-7B	66.0	76.1	57.8	18.3	65.7	74.1	53.8	20.3			
, FN	Flor-6.3B	66.4	76.3	57.6	18.7	71.9	77.9	63.3	14.6			
	Llama-2-7B	66.5	78.0	57.7	20.3	73.1	78.5	66.4	12.1			

Below you can see the results for the WinoMT:

Table 6: WinoMT pro-stereotypical set gender scores

			English -	→ Catalan	$English \to Spanish$					
		G Acc	F1-male	F1-female	$\Delta \mathbf{G}$	G Acc	F1-male	F1-female	$\Delta \mathbf{G}$	
	Google Translate	51.8	60.6	43.7	16.9	66.9	72.4	60.6	11.8	
NMT	NLLB-200-1.3B	53.0	62.3	47.3	15.0	58.1	66.7	46.2	20.5	
	M2M-100-1.2B	45.9	58.3	30.0	28.3	52.5	65.3	29.6	35.7	
	Mt-aina-en-ca	42.5	56.8	21.5	35.3	-	-	-	-	
I	Ăguila-7B	34.5	49.8	12.0	37.8	43.1	58.5	12.7	45.8	
LLM	Flor-6.3B	38.7	54.0	13.8	40.2	45.2	58.2	22.8	35.4	
	Llama-2-7B	38.8	53.6	16.6	37.0	45.3	59.0	19.7	39.3	

Table 7: WinoMT anti-stereotypical set gender scores

Below you can see the results for the Gold BUG:

			English -	→ Catalan	$English \rightarrow Spanish$				
		G Acc	F1-male	F1-female	$\Delta \mathbf{G}$	G Acc	F1-male	F1-female	$\Delta \mathbf{G}$
	Google Translate	69.6	82.6	67.5	15.1	70.8	83.9	60.5	23.4
T	NLLB-200-1.3B	66.9	81.3	52.7	28.6	71.5	84.1	66.6	17.5
Ź	M2M-100-1.2B	67.4	81.8	54.7	27.1	70.3	83.6	61.3	22.3
	Mt-aina-en-ca	68.0	81.8	64.4	17.4	-	-	-	-
I	Ăguila-7B	60.7	76.3	54.8	21.5	64.4	79.1	56.0	23.1
TL	Flor-6.3B	65.0	80.1	54.7	25.4	69.8	83.2	54.6	28.6
	Llama-2-7B	66.5	81.3	56.1	25.2	69.9	83.4	53.1	30.3

Table 8: Gold BUG pro-stereotypical set gender scores

			English -	→ Catalan		$English \rightarrow Spanish$					
		G Acc	F1-male	F1-female	$\Delta \mathbf{G}$	G Acc	F1-male	F1-female	$\Delta \mathbf{G}$		
	Google Translate	43.6	61.0	35.7	25.3	51.4	67.1	47.6	19.5		
IT	NLLB-200-1.3B	46.9	62.9	44.0	18.9	48.8	65.5	44.4	21.1		
Ŋ	M2M-100-1.2B	41.9	59.5	29.2	30.3	46.2	62.8	36.8	26.0		
	Mt-aina-en-ca	46.0	61.3	43.9	17.4	-	-	-	-		
	Ăguila-7B	40.0	59.1	27.0	32.1	46.0	64.8	32.8	32.0		
T	Flor-6.3B	44.5	62.5	35.1	27.4	49.0	66.2	41.9	24.3		
	Llama-2-7B	46.7	64.4	35.7	28.7	49.8	69.0	35.4	33.6		

Table 9: Gold BUG anti-stereotypical set gender scores

E Proportion of Predicted Male and Female terms in Absence of Gender Cues

The following Figures 3 and 4 depict a range of pie diagrams illustrating the proportion of predicted male and female terms in the translations per model when testing on instances of MuST-SHE without gender cues for disambiguation.



Figure 3: Male and female predicted terms across models for En \rightarrow Ca in absence of gender cues



Figure 4: Male and female predicted terms across models for En \rightarrow Es in absence of gender cues

F Prompt used for the Baseline in the Investigation into Prompting

An example of the resulting prompt used for Llama-2-7B-chat after the format adaptations:

«SYS» Translate the following sentence from English to Catalan: «/SYS» [INST] English: <BOS>The feathers' structure suggests that they were not used in flight but rather for temperature regulation or display. The researchers suggested that, even though this is the tail of a young dinosaur, the sample shows adult plumage and not a chick's down.<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>L'estructura de les plomes fa pensar que no s'usaven per a volar sinó per a regular la temperatura o per a exhibir-se. Els investigadors han suggerit que, tot i que es tracta de la cua d'un dinosaure jove, la mostra presenta el plomatge d'un adult i no d'un pollet.<EOS> [INST] English: <BOS>They found the Sun operated on the same basic principles as other stars: The activity of all stars in the system was found to be driven by their luminosity, their rotation, and nothing else.<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>Han descobert que el Sol funcionava sota els mateixos principis bàsics que altres estrelles: s'ha vist que l'activitat de totes les estrelles del sistema depèn de llur brillantor, llur rotació i res més.<EOS> [INST] English: <BOS>The speeds of 802.11n are substantially faster than that of its predecessors with a maximum theoretical throughput of 600Mbit/s.<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>Les velocitats de 802.11n són substancialment més ràpides que les dels seus predecessors amb un rendiment teòric màxim de 600Mbit/s.<EOS> [INST] English: <BOS>Over four million people went to Rome to attend the funeral.<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>Més de quatre milions de persones van anar a Roma per a assistir al funeral.<EOS> [INST] English: <BOS>Mrs. Kirchner announced her intention to run for president at the Argentine Theatre, the same location she used to start her 2005 campaign for the Senate as member of the Buenos Aires province delegation.<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>La Sra. Kirchner va anunciar la seva intenció de presentar-se a la presidència al Teatre de l'Argentina, el mateix lloc on va engegar la campanya al Senat de 2005 com a membre de la delegació provincial de Buenos Aires.<EOS> [INST] English: <BOS>____sentence_to_translate___<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>

G Curated Prompts for the Investigation into Prompting

Below are all the different prompts used with Llama-2-7B-chat that have been tested on WinoMT test set.

Prompt with 5-shot MuST-SHE examples:

«SYS» Translate the following sentence from English to Catalan: «/SYS» [INST] English: <BOS>Early on, Laura Hughes could see that I was a little lost in this habitat, so she often sat right next to me in meetings so she could be my tech translator, and I could write her notes and she could tell me, "That's what that means." Laura was 27 years old, she'd worked for Google for four years and then for a year and a half at Airbnb when I met her.<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>Al principi, la Laura Hughes va poder veure que estava una mica perdut en aquest hàbitat, així que sovint s'asseia al meu costat a les reunions per poder ser la meva traductora de tecnologia, i jo podia escriure-li notes i ella em podria dir, "Això és el que això significa." La Laura tenia 27 anys, havia treballat a Google durant quatre anys i després durant un any i mig a Airbnb quan la vaig conèixer.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>When I found the captain, he was having a very engaging conversation with the homeowner, who was surely having one of the worst days of her life.<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>Quan vaig trobar el capità, estava mantenint una conversa molt atractiva amb la propietària, que segurament vivia un dels pitjors dies de la seva vida.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>And in this program, girls who have been studying computer skills and the STEM program have a chance to work side by side with young professionals, so that they can learn firsthand what it's like to be an architect, a designer or a scientist.<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>I en aquest programa, les noies que han estudiat informàtica i el programa STEM tenen l'oportunitat de treballar colze a colze amb joves professionals, per tal que puguin conèixer de primera mà com és ser una arquitecta, una dissenyadora o una científica.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>One government scientist, a friend of mine, we'll call him McPherson, was concerned about the impact government policies were having on his research and the state of science deteriorating in Canada.<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>Un científic del govern, un amic meu, l'anomenarem McPherson, estava preocupat per l'impacte que tenien les polítiques governamentals en la seva investigació i el deteriorament de l'estat de la ciència al Canadà.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>The architect Emmanuelle Moureaux uses this idea in her work a lot.<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>L'arquitecta Emmanuelle Moureaux utilitza molt aquesta idea en la seva obra.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>____sentence_to_translate___<EOS> [/INST]
Catalan: <BOS>

«SYS» Translate the following sentence from English to Spanish: «/SYS» [INST] English: <BOS>Early on, Laura Hughes could see that I was a little lost in this habitat, so she often sat right next to me in meetings so she could be my tech translator, and I could write her notes and she could tell me, "That's what that means." Laura was 27 years old, she'd worked for Google for four years and then for a year and a half at Airbnb when I met her.<EOS> [/INST] Spanish: <BOS>Al principio, Laura Hughes se dio cuenta de que estaba perdido en este hábitat, así que solía sentarse a mi lado en las reuniones para ser mi traductora de tecnología, y yo le escribía notas y ella me decía, "Esto es lo que significa". Laura tenía 27 años, trabajó en Google durante 4 años, y luego por un año y medio en Airbnb cuando la conocí.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>When I found the captain, he was having a very engaging conversation with the homeowner, who was surely having one of the worst days of her life.<EOS> [/INST] Spanish: <BOS>Cuando encontré al capitán, estaba enfrascado en una conversación con la propietaria que sin duda atravesaba uno de los peores días de su vida.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>And in this program, girls who have been studying computer skills and the STEM program have a chance to work side by side with young professionals, so that they can learn firsthand what it's like to be an architect, a designer or a scientist.<EOS> [/INST] Spanish: <BOS>En este programa, las niñas que estudian informática y el programa CTIM tienen la oportunidad de trabajar junto a jóvenes profesionales, para que puedan aprender de primera mano qué es ser una arquitecta, diseñadora, o científica.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>One government scientist, a friend of mine, we'll call him McPherson, was concerned about the impact government policies were having on his research and the state of science deteriorating in Canada.<EOS> [/INST Spanish: <BOS>Un científico del gobierno, un amigo mío, lo llamaremos McPherson, estaba preocupado por el impacto que las políticas gubernamentales estaban teniendo en su investigación y el estado de la ciencia deteriorándose en Canadá.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>The architect Emmanuelle Moureaux uses this idea in her work a lot.<EOS> [/INST Spanish: <BOS>La arquitecta Emmanuelle Moureaux usa mucho esta idea en su trabajo.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>____sentence_to_translate___<EOS> [/INST]
Spanish: <BOS>

Prompt with 5-shot invented Winograd examples:

«SYS» Translate the following sentence from English to Catalan: «/SYS» [INST] English: <BOS>The grower delivered tomatoes to the housekeeper, because he needed them for dinner.<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>La productora va lliurar tomàquets al mestre de casa, perquè els necessitava per sopar.<EOS> [INST] English: <BOS>The developer was upset with the designer because she was disappointed with the final design.<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>La desenvolupadora estava molesta amb el dissenyador perquè estava decebuda amb el disseny final.<EOS> [INST] English: <BOS>The doctor congratulated the nurse saying his assistance was great.<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>La doctora va felicitar a l'infermer dient que la seva assistència va ser fantàstica.<EOS> [INST] English: <BOS>The construction worker asked the chief for an increase in her salary.<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>La treballadora de la construcció va demanar al cap un augment del seu sou.<EOS> [INST] English: <BOS>The carpenter asked the CEO if she liked the new furniture.<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>La fustera li va preguntar a la directora si li agradaven els mobles nous.<EOS> [INST] English: <BOS>____sentence_to_translate___<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>

«SYS» Translate the following sentence from English to Spanish: «/SYS» [INST] English: <BOS>The grower delivered tomatoes to the housekeeper, because he needed them for dinner.<EOS> [/INST] Spanish: <BOS>La productora entregó tomates al amo de casa, porque los necesitaba para la cena.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>The developer was upset with the designer because she was disappointed with the final design.<EOS> [/INST] Spanish: <BOS>La desarrolladora estaba enojada con el diseñador porque estaba decepcionada con el diseño final.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>The doctor congratulated the nurse saying his assistance was great.<EOS> [/INST] Spanish: <BOS>La doctora felicitó al infermero diciendo que su asistencia fue fantástica.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>The construction worker asked the chief for an increase in her salary.<EOS> [/INST] Spanish: <BOS>La trabajadora de la construcción pidió al jefe un aumento de su salario.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>The carpenter asked the CEO if she liked the new furniture.<EOS> [/INST] Spanish: <BOS>La carpintera preguntó a la directora general si le gustaban los muebles nuevos.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>____sentence_to_translate___<EOS> [/INST]
Spanish: <BOS>

Prompt with 5-shot MuST-SHE examples and context on the Gender Bias issue:

«SYS» Translate the following sentence from English to Catalan while mitigating gender bias. First, consider that English is a language without grammatical gender, while Catalan does have grammatical gender. Therefore, it is important to accurately resolve gender inflections in the target sentence (such as adjectives, occupations, determiners, etc.) based on the gender information provided in the source sentence. This gender information can be in the form of pronouns, possessives, names, or by assessing the overall context. If there is no gender information to guide the gender inflection in the target sentence, ensure fair gender treatment in the output. This means using random gender inflections in the translation. «/SYS»

[INST] English: <BOS>Early on, Laura Hughes could see that I was a little lost in this habitat, so she often sat right next to me in meetings so she could be my tech translator, and I could write her notes and she could tell me, "That's what that means." Laura was 27 years old, she'd worked for Google for four years and then for a year and a half at Airbnb when I met her.<EOS> [/INST]

Catalan: <BOS>Al principi, la Laura Hughes va poder veure que estava una mica perdut en aquest hàbitat, així que sovint s'asseia al meu costat a les reunions per poder ser la meva traductora de tecnologia, i jo podia escriure-li notes i ella em podria dir, "Això és el que això significa." La Laura tenia 27 anys, havia treballat a Google durant quatre anys i després durant un any i mig a Airbnb quan la vaig conèixer.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>When I found the captain, he was having a very engaging conversation with the homeowner, who was surely having one of the worst days of her life.<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>Quan vaig trobar el capità, estava mantenint una conversa molt atractiva amb la propietària, que segurament vivia un dels pitjors dies de la seva vida.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>And in this program, girls who have been studying computer skills and the STEM program have a chance to work side by side with young professionals, so that they can learn firsthand what it's like to be an architect, a designer or a scientist.<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>I en aquest programa, les noies que han estudiat informàtica i el programa STEM tenen l'oportunitat de treballar colze a colze amb joves professionals, per tal que puguin conèixer de primera mà com és ser una arquitecta, una dissenyadora o una científica.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>One government scientist, a friend of mine, we'll call him McPherson, was concerned about the impact government policies were having on his research and the state of science deteriorating in Canada.<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>Un científic del govern, un amic meu, l'anomenarem McPherson, estava preocupat per l'impacte que tenien les polítiques governamentals en la seva investigació i el deteriorament de l'estat de la ciència al Canadà.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>The architect Emmanuelle Moureaux uses this idea in her work a lot.<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS>L'arquitecta Emmanuelle Moureaux utilitza molt aquesta idea en la seva obra.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>____sentence_to_translate___<EOS> [/INST] Catalan: <BOS> «SYS» Translate the following sentence from English to Spanish while mitigating gender bias. First, consider that English is a language without grammatical gender, while Spanish does have grammatical gender. Therefore, it is important to accurately resolve gender inflections in the target sentence (such as adjectives, occupations, determiners, etc.) based on the gender information provided in the source sentence. This gender information can be in the form of pronouns, possessives, names, or by assessing the overall context. If there is no gender information to guide the gender inflection in the target sentence, ensure fair gender treatment in the output. This means using random gender inflections in the translation. «/SYS»

[INST] English: <BOS>Early on, Laura Hughes could see that I was a little lost in this habitat, so she often sat right next to me in meetings so she could be my tech translator, and I could write her notes and she could tell me, "That's what that means." Laura was 27 years old, she'd worked for Google for four years and then for a year and a half at Airbnb when I met her.<EOS> [/INST]

Spanish: <BOS>Al principio, Laura Hughes se dio cuenta de que estaba perdido en este hábitat, así que solía sentarse a mi lado en las reuniones para ser mi traductora de tecnología, y yo le escribía notas y ella me decía, "Esto es lo que significa". Laura tenía 27 años, trabajó en Google durante 4 años, y luego por un año y medio en Airbnb cuando la conocí.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>When I found the captain, he was having a very engaging conversation with the homeowner, who was surely having one of the worst days of her life.<EOS> [/INST] Spanish: <BOS>Cuando encontré al capitán, estaba enfrascado en una conversación con la propietaria que sin duda atravesaba uno de los peores

días de su vida.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>And in this program, girls who have been studying

computer skills and the STEM program have a chance to work side by side with young professionals, so that they can learn firsthand what it's like to be an architect, a designer or a scientist.<EOS> [/INST] Spanish: <BOS>En este programa, las niñas que estudian informática y el programa CTIM tienen la oportunidad de trabajar junto a jóvenes profesionales, para que puedan aprender de primera mano qué es ser una arquitecta, diseñadora, o científica.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>One government scientist, a friend of mine, we'll call him McPherson, was concerned about the impact government policies were having on his research and the state of science deteriorating in Canada.<EOS> [/INST] Spanish: <BOS>Un científico del gobierno, un amigo mío, lo llamaremos McPherson, estaba preocupado por el impacto que las políticas gubernamentales estaban teniendo en su investigación y el estado de la ciencia deteriorándose en Canadá.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>The architect Emmanuelle Moureaux uses this idea in her work a lot.<EOS> [/INST] Spanish: <BOS>La arquitecta Emmanuelle Moureaux usa mucho esta idea en su trabajo.<EOS>

[INST] English: <BOS>____sentence_to_translate___<EOS> [/INST]
Spanish:

Prompt with 5-shot invented Winograd examples and chain-of-thought prompting ("agent" version):

```
«SYS» Identify the agents in the sentence. Identify the pronouns referring
to the agents in the sentence. Relate each pronoun to the correct agent.
Establish the gender of each agent according to the pronoun. Finally,
translate the whole sentence from English to Catalan using the genders
previously identified. Proceed step by step. «/SYS»
[INST] English: <BOS>The grower delivered tomatoes to the housekeeper, because
he needed them for dinner.<EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the agents in the sentence:
     * grower (agent)
     * housekeeper (agent)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the agents:
     * he (referring to the housekeeper)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct agent:
     * he (pronoun) = housekeeper (agent)
4. Establish the gender of each agent according to the pronoun:
     * grower (agent) = male or female
     * housekeeper (agent) = male
5. Translate the sentence from English to Catalan:
Catalan: <BOS>La productora va lliurar tomàquets al mestre de casa, perquè els
necessitava per sopar.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>The developer was upset with the designer because she
was disappointed with the final design. < EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the agents in the sentence:
     * developer (agent)
     * designer (agent)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the agents:
     * she (referring to the developer)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct agent:
     * she (pronoun) = developer (agent)
4. Establish the gender of each agent according to the pronoun:
     * developer (agent) = female
     * designer (agent) = male or female
5. Translate the sentence from English to Catalan:
Catalan: <BOS>La desenvolupadora estava molesta amb el dissenyador perquè
estava decebuda amb el disseny final.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>The doctor congratulated the nurse saying his assistance
was great.<EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the agents in the sentence:
     * doctor (agent)
     * nurse (agent)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the agents:
     * his (referring to the nurse)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct agent:
     * his (pronoun) = nurse (agent)
4. Establish the gender of each agent according to the pronoun:
     * doctor (agent) = male or female
     * nurse (agent) = male
5. Translate the sentence from English to Catalan:
Catalan: <BOS>La doctora va felicitar a l'infermer dient que la seva
assistència va ser fantàstica.<EOS>
```

```
[INST] English: <BOS>The construction worker asked the chief for an increase
in her salary.<EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the agents in the sentence:
     * construction worker (agent)
     * chief (agent)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the agents:
     * her (referring to the construction worker)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct agent:
     * her (pronoun) = construction worker (agent)
4. Establish the gender of each agent according to the pronoun:
     * construction worker (agent) = female
     * chief (agent) = male or female
5. Translate the sentence from English to Catalan:
Catalan: <BOS>La treballadora de la construcció va demanar al cap un augment
del seu sou.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>The carpenter asked the CEO if she liked the new
furniture.<EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the agents in the sentence:
     * carpenter (agent)
     * CEO (agent)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the agents:
     * she (referring to the CEO)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct agent:
     * she (pronoun) = CEO (agent)
4. Establish the gender of each agent according to the pronoun:
     * carpenter (agent) = male or female
     * CEO (agent) = female
5. Translate the sentence from English to Catalan:
Catalan: <BOS>La fustera li va preguntar a la directora general si li
agradaven els mobles nous.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>____sentence_to_translate___<EOS> [/INST]
1.
```

```
«SYS» Identify the agents in the sentence. Identify the pronouns referring
to the agents in the sentence. Relate each pronoun to the correct agent.
Establish the gender of each agent according to the pronoun. Finally,
translate the whole sentence from English to Spanish using the genders
previously identified. Proceed step by step. «/SYS»
[INST] English: <BOS>The grower delivered tomatoes to the housekeeper, because
he needed them for dinner.<EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the agents in the sentence:
     * grower (agent)
     * housekeeper (agent)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the agents:
     * he (referring to the housekeeper)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct agent:
     * he (pronoun) = housekeeper (agent)
4. Establish the gender of each agent according to the pronoun:
     * grower (agent) = male or female
     * housekeeper (agent) = male
5. Translate the sentence from English to Spanish:
Spanish: <BOS>La productora entregó tomates al amo de casa, porque los
necesitaba para la cena.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>The developer was upset with the designer because she
was disappointed with the final design. < EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the agents in the sentence:
     * developer (agent)
     * designer (agent)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the agents:
     * she (referring to the developer)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct agent:
     * she (pronoun) = developer (agent)
4. Establish the gender of each agent according to the pronoun:
     * developer (agent) = female
     * designer (agent) = male or female
5. Translate the sentence from English to Spanish:
Spanish: <BOS>La desarrolladora estaba enojada con el diseñador porque estaba
decepcionada con el diseño final.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>The doctor congratulated the nurse saying his assistance
was great.<EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the agents in the sentence:
     * doctor (agent)
     * nurse (agent)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the agents:
     * his (referring to the nurse)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct agent:
     * his (pronoun) = nurse (agent)
4. Establish the gender of each agent according to the pronoun:
     * doctor (agent) = male or female
     * nurse (agent) = male
5. Translate the sentence from English to Spanish:
Spanish: <BOS>La doctora felicitó al infermero diciendo que su asistencia fue
fantástica.<EOS>
```

```
[INST] English: <BOS>The construction worker asked the chief for an increase
in her salary.<EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the agents in the sentence:
     * construction worker (agent)
     * chief (agent)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the agents:
     * her (referring to the construction worker)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct agent:
     * her (pronoun) = construction worker (agent)
4. Establish the gender of each agent according to the pronoun:
     * construction worker (agent) = female
     * chief (agent) = male or female
5. Translate the sentence from English to Spanish:
Spanish: <BOS>La trabajadora de la construcción pidió al jefe un aumento de su
salario.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>The carpenter asked the CEO if she liked the new
furniture.<EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the agents in the sentence:
     * carpenter (agent)
     * CEO (agent)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the agents:
     * she (referring to the CEO)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct agent:
     * she (pronoun) = CEO (agent)
4. Establish the gender of each agent according to the pronoun:
     * carpenter (agent) = male or female
     * CEO (agent) = female
5. Translate the sentence from English to Spanish:
Spanish: <BOS>La carpintera preguntó a la directora general si le gustaban los
muebles nuevos.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>____sentence_to_translate___<EOS> [/INST]
1.
```

Prompt with 5-shot on invented Winograd examples and chain-of-thought prompting ("human entity" version):

```
«SYS» Identify the human entities in the sentence. Identify the pronouns
referring to the human entities in the sentence. Relate each pronoun to the
correct human entity. Establish the gender of each human entity according to
the pronoun. Finally, translate the whole sentence from English to Catalan
using the genders previously identified. Proceed step by step. «/SYS»
[INST] English: <BOS>The grower delivered tomatoes to the housekeeper, because
he needed them for dinner.<EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the human entities in the sentence:
     * grower (human entity)
     * housekeeper (human entity)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the human entities:
     * he (referring to the housekeeper)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct human entity:
     * he (pronoun) = housekeeper (human entity)
4. Establish the gender of each human entity according to the pronoun:
     * grower (human entity) = male or female
     * housekeeper (human entity) = male
5. Translate the sentence from English to Catalan:
Catalan: <BOS>La productora va lliurar tomàquets al mestre de casa, perquè els
necessitava per sopar.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>The developer was upset with the designer because she was
disappointed with the final design. < EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the human entities in the sentence:
     * developer (human entity)
     * designer (human entity)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the human entities:
     * she (referring to the developer)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct human entity:
     * she (pronoun) = developer (human entity)
4. Establish the gender of each human entity according to the pronoun:
     * developer (human entity) = female
     * designer (human entity) = male or female
5. Translate the sentence from English to Catalan:
Catalan: <BOS>La desenvolupadora estava molesta amb el dissenvador perquè
estava decebuda amb el disseny final.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>The doctor congratulated the nurse saying his assistance
was great.<EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the human entities in the sentence:
     * doctor (human entity)
     * nurse (human entity)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the human entities:
     * his (referring to the nurse)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct human entity:
     * his (pronoun) = nurse (human entity)
4. Establish the gender of each human entity according to the pronoun:
     * doctor (human entity) = male or female
     * nurse (human entity) = male
5. Translate the sentence from English to Catalan:
Catalan: <BOS>La doctora va felicitar a l'infermer dient que la seva
assistència va ser fantàstica.<EOS>
```

```
[INST] English: <BOS>The construction worker asked the chief for an increase
in her salary.<EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the human entities in the sentence:
     * construction worker (human entity)
     * chief (human entity)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the human entities:
     * her (referring to the construction worker)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct human entity:
     * her (pronoun) = construction worker (human entity)
4. Establish the gender of each human entity according to the pronoun:
     * construction worker (human entity) = female
     * chief (human entity) = male or female
5. Translate the sentence from English to Catalan:
Catalan: <BOS>La treballadora de la construcció va demanar al cap un augment
del seu sou.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>The carpenter asked the CEO if she liked the new
furniture.<EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the human entities in the sentence:
     * carpenter (human entity)
     * CEO (human entity)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the human entities:
     * she (referring to the CEO)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct human entity:
     * she (pronoun) = CEO (human entity)
4. Establish the gender of each human entity according to the pronoun:
     * carpenter (human entity) = male or female
     * CEO (human entity) = female
5. Translate the sentence from English to Catalan:
Catalan: <BOS>La fustera li va preguntar a la directora general si li
agradaven els mobles nous.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>____sentence_to_translate___<EOS> [/INST]
1.
```

```
«SYS» Identify the human entities in the sentence. Identify the pronouns
referring to the human entities in the sentence. Relate each pronoun to the
correct human entity. Establish the gender of each human entity according to
the pronoun. Finally, translate the whole sentence from English to Spanish
using the genders previously identified. Proceed step by step. «/SYS»
[INST] English: <BOS>The grower delivered tomatoes to the housekeeper, because
he needed them for dinner.<EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the human entities in the sentence:
     * grower (human entity)
     * housekeeper (human entity)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the human entities:
     * he (referring to the housekeeper)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct human entity:
     * he (pronoun) = housekeeper (human entity)
4. Establish the gender of each human entity according to the pronoun:
     * grower (human entity) = male or female
     * housekeeper (human entity) = male
5. Translate the sentence from English to Spanish:
Spanish: <BOS>La productora entregó tomates al amo de casa, porque los
necesitaba para la cena.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>The developer was upset with the designer because she
was disappointed with the final design. < EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the human entities in the sentence:
     * developer (human entity)
     * designer (human entity)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the human entities:
     * she (referring to the developer)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct human entity:
     * she (pronoun) = developer (human entity)
4. Establish the gender of each human entity according to the pronoun:
     * developer (human entity) = female
     * designer (human entity) = male or female
5. Translate the sentence from English to Spanish:
Spanish: <BOS>La desarrolladora estaba enojada con el diseñador porque estaba
decepcionada con el diseño final.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>The doctor congratulated the nurse saying his assistance
was great.<EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the human entities in the sentence:
     * doctor (human entity)
     * nurse (human entity)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the human entities:
     * his (referring to the nurse)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct human entity:
     * his (pronoun) = nurse (human entity)
4. Establish the gender of each human entity according to the pronoun:
     * doctor (human entity) = male or female
     * nurse (human entity) = male
5. Translate the sentence from English to Spanish:
Spanish: <BOS>La doctora felicitó al infermero diciendo que su asistencia fue
fantástica.<EOS>
```
```
[INST] English: <BOS>The construction worker asked the chief for an increase
in her salary.<EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the human entities in the sentence:
     * construction worker (human entity)
     * chief (human entity)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the human entities:
     * her (referring to the construction worker)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct human entity:
     * her (pronoun) = construction worker (human entity)
4. Establish the gender of each human entity according to the pronoun:
     * construction worker (human entity) = female
     * chief (human entity) = male or female
5. Translate the sentence from English to Spanish:
Spanish: <BOS>La trabajadora de la construcción pidió al jefe un aumento de su
salario.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>The carpenter asked the CEO if she liked the new
furniture.<EOS> [/INST]
1. Identify the human entities in the sentence:
     * carpenter (human entity)
     * CEO (human entity)
2. Identify the pronouns referring to the human entities:
     * she (referring to the CEO)
3. Relate each pronoun to the correct human entity:
     * she (pronoun) = CEO (human entity)
4. Establish the gender of each human entity according to the pronoun:
     * carpenter (human entity) = male or female
     * CEO (human entity) = female
5. Translate the sentence from English to Spanish:
Spanish: <BOS>La carpintera preguntó a la directora general si le gustaban los
muebles nuevos.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>____sentence_to_translate___<EOS> [/INST]
1.
```

Prompt with 5-shot on invented Winograd examples and SHORT chain-of-thought prompting:

«SYS» Translate the following sentence from English to Catalan. Proceed step by step. «/SYS» [INST] English: <BOS>The grower delivered tomatoes to the housekeeper, because he needed them for dinner.<EOS> [/INST] "he" (M) \rightarrow "the housekeeper" (Male) \rightarrow "mestre de casa" Catalan: <BOS>La productora va lliurar tomàquets al mestre de casa, perquè els necessitava per sopar.<EOS> [INST] English: <BOS>The developer was upset with the designer because she was disappointed with the final design. < EOS> [/INST] "she" (F) \rightarrow "the developer" (Female) \rightarrow "la desenvolupadora" Catalan: <BOS>La desenvolupadora estava molesta amb el dissenyador perquè estava decebuda amb el disseny final.<EOS> [INST] English: <BOS>The doctor congratulated the nurse saying his assistance was great.<EOS> [/INST] "his" (M) \rightarrow "the nurse" (Male) \rightarrow "l'infermer" Catalan: <BOS>La doctora va felicitar a l'infermer dient que la seva assistència va ser fantàstica.<EOS> [INST] English: <BOS>The construction worker asked the chief for an increase in her salary.<EOS> [/INST] "her" (F) \rightarrow "the construction worker" (Female) \rightarrow "la treballadora de la construcció" Catalan: <BOS>La treballadora de la construcció va demanar al cap un augment del seu sou.<EOS> [INST] English: <BOS>The carpenter asked the CEO if she liked the new furniture.<EOS> [/INST] "she" (F) \rightarrow "the CEO" (Female) \rightarrow "la directora general" Catalan: <BOS>La fustera li va preguntar a la directora general si li agradaven els mobles nous.<EOS> [INST] English: <BOS>____sentence_to_translate___<EOS> [/INST]

Catalan: <BOS>

```
«SYS» Translate the following sentence from English to Spanish. Proceed step
by step. «/SYS»
[INST] English: <BOS>The grower delivered tomatoes to the housekeeper, because
he needed them for dinner.<EOS> [/INST]
"he" (M) \rightarrow "the housekeeper" (Male) \rightarrow "amo de casa"
Spanish: <BOS>La productora entregó tomates al amo de casa, porque los
necesitaba para la cena.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>The developer was upset with the designer because she
was disappointed with the final design. < EOS> [/INST]
"she" (F) \rightarrow "the developer" (Female) \rightarrow "la desarrolladora"
Spanish: <BOS>La desarrolladora estaba enojada con el diseñador porque estaba
decepcionada con el diseño final.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>The doctor congratulated the nurse saying his assistance
was great.<EOS> [/INST]
"his" (M) \rightarrow "the nurse" (Male) \rightarrow "el infermero"
Spanish: <BOS>La doctora felicitó al infermero diciendo que su asistencia fue
fantástica.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>The construction worker asked the chief for an increase
in her salary.<EOS> [/INST]
"her" (F) \rightarrow "the construction worker" (Female) \rightarrow "la trabajadora de la
construcción"
Spanish: <BOS>La trabajadora de la construcción pidió al jefe un aumento de su
salario.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>The carpenter asked the CEO if she liked the new
furniture.<EOS> [/INST]
"she" (F) \rightarrow "the CEO" (Female) \rightarrow "la directora general"
Spanish: <BOS>La carpintera preguntó a la directora general si le gustaban los
muebles nuevos.<EOS>
[INST] English: <BOS>____sentence_to_translate___<EOS> [/INST]
Spanish: <BOS>
```

H Invented Examples following Winograd structure

The subsequent sentences (with their respective translations) are the ones created during the crafting of prompts. As you can see, they are characterized by containing more female representation and anti-stereotypical content.

EXAMPLE 1:

- English: The grower delivered tomatoes to the *housekeeper*, because he needed them for dinner.
- Catalan: La productora va lliurar tomàquets al mestre de casa, perquè els necessitava per sopar.
- Spanish: La productora entregó tomates al *amo de casa*, porque los necesitaba para la cena.

EXAMPLE 2:

- English: The *developer* was upset with the designer because she was disappointed with the final design.
- Catalan: La *desenvolupadora* estava molesta amb el dissenyador perquè estava decebuda amb el disseny final.
- Spanish: La *desarrolladora* estaba enojada con el diseñador porque estaba decepcionada con el diseño final.

EXAMPLE 3:

- English: The doctor congratulated the nurse saying his assistance was great.
- Catalan: La doctora va felicitar a l'infermer dient que la seva assistència va ser fantàstica.
- Spanish: La doctora felicitó al infermero diciendo que su asistencia fue fantástica.

EXAMPLE 4:

- English: The *construction worker* asked the chief for an increase in her salary.
- Catalan: La treballadora de la construcció va demanar al cap un augment del seu sou.
- Spanish: La trabajadora de la construcción pidió al jefe un aumento de su salario.

EXAMPLE 5:

- English: The carpenter asked the CEO if she liked the new furniture.
- Catalan: La fustera li va preguntar a la directora general si li agradaven els mobles nous.
- Spanish: La carpintera preguntó a la directora general si le gustaban los muebles nuevos.

Detecting Gender Discrimination on Actor Level Using Linguistic Discourse Analysis

Stefanie Urchs¹, Veronika Thurner¹, Matthias Aßenmacher^{2,3}, Christian Heumann², Stephanie Thiemichen¹,

¹Faculty for Computer Science and Mathematics,

Hochschule München University of Applied Sciences, ²Department of Statistics, LMU Munich, ³Munich Center for Machine Learning (MCML), LMU Munich,

Correspondence: stefanie.urchs@hm.edu

Abstract

With the usage of tremendous amounts of text data for training powerful large language models such as ChatGPT, the issue of analysing and securing data quality has become more pressing than ever. Any biases, stereotypes and discriminatory patterns that exist in the training data can be reproduced, reinforced or broadly disseminated by the models in production. Therefore, it is crucial to carefully select and monitor the text data that is used as input to train the model. Due to the vast amount of training data, this process needs to be (at least partially) automated. In this work, we introduce a novel approach for automatically detecting gender discrimination in text data on the actor level based on linguistic discourse analysis. Specifically, we combine existing information extraction (IE) techniques to partly automate the qualitative research done in linguistic discourse analysis. We focus on two important steps: Identifying the respective person-named-entity (an actor) and all forms it is referred to (Nomination), and detecting the characteristics it is ascribed (Predication). As a proof of concept, we integrate these two steps into a pipeline for automated text analysis. The separate building blocks of the pipeline could be flexibly adapted, extended, and scaled for bigger datasets to accommodate a wide range of usage scenarios and specific ML tasks or help social scientists with analysis tasks. We showcase and evaluate our approach on several real and simulated exemplary texts.

1 Introduction

Ethical considerations as, e.g., formulated in the UNESCO's Recommendations on the Ethics of Artificial Intelligence, as well as emerging legislation such as the EU AI Act, require that any AI system adheres to fundamental values such as "the inviolable and inherent dignity of every human" (UN-ESCO, 2022). Specifically, this demand also holds true for systems based on large language models (LLMs). This implies that systems based on LLMs must carefully ensure that they do *not* reproduce, reinforce or broadly disseminate any existing biases, stereotypes or other discriminatory patterns, as this would violate the inherent human dignity.

However, LLMs are trained on existing data. If this input data is pervaded by stereotypes, biases and discrimination (as is often the case), the resulting model will reflect these discriminatory patterns. Thus, if developers need to ensure that an LLMbased system adheres to the ethical standards mentioned above, they can take one of two approaches: filter the LLM's output downstream to ensure that it is free from discriminatory patterns, to ensure that the LLM itself will be free from discrimination in the first place.

Research on downstream gender bias mitigation in word embeddings by Gonen and Goldberg (2019) shows that downstream mitigation only hides bias and does not remove it. Thus, the effective alternative is to address bias upstream by selecting unbiased training data.

As the training corpora for LLMs need to be very extensive, it is impossible to ensure their quality manually. Therefore, technical means need to be developed that automatically detect discrimination in vast amounts of natural language texts.

What we read and see in media shapes our reality (Lippmann, 1929). If we are surrounded by bias and discrimination, we are likely to include these in our reality and act on them. That explains why media, notably text, plays an important role in the striving for equality for all genders. By detecting bias and especially discrimination against particular genders, it is possible to be wary of these texts and not distribute them. This is particularly important when choosing training data for natural language processing (NLP) tasks.

The term gender has at least three different notations: the linguistic gender, sex, and the social gender. The linguistic or grammatical gender can be defined as follows: "[...] grammatical gender in the narrow sense, which involves a more or less explicit correlation between nominal classes and biological gender (sex)." (Janhunen, 2000). For example, in German, nouns could be female, male, or neutral. The sex, however, refers to a "biological" notion of gender that is "binary, immutable and physiological" (Keyes, 2018). This notion is flawed because intersex humans do exist, as well as trans-persons, thus refuting the binary and immutable part of this notion. For our work, we use the third notion, the social gender. This notion defines gender as a social construct represented by a person's intentional and unintentional actions to represent their gender and the reception of these actions. Therefore, the social gender is non-binary, flexible, and constructed by the person themselves and the persons perceiving them (West and Zimmerman, 1987; Devinney et al., 2022). We use the terms woman for persons who can be read as female-identifying, men for persons who can be read as male-identifying, and non-binary for persons who do not adhere to the before mentioned.

Bias against a particular gender entails discriminating against this gender. While bias contains all notions and beliefs towards a person/group (Mateo and Williams, 2020), (social) discrimination is a more intentional act: an offender treats someone or a group of people differently in a negative way, based on a specific feature of this person/group (Reisigl, 2017). Textual discrimination is a special kind of (social) discrimination because the offender is not always apparent.

Linguistics and sociology have studied discrimination for over eighty years, mainly focusing on racism in the early research (Myrdal et al., 1944; Razran, 1950; Allport et al., 1954). During this period, different definitions of discrimination were defined, leading to different approaches for detecting it. One of these approaches is linguistic discourse analysis (LingDA), which inspects discourse to identify discriminating tendencies by combining research from sociology and linguistics (Bendel Larcher, 2015). Computational linguistics integrates LingDA and computer science into computational discourse analysis. So far, this discipline concentrates on the quantitative parts of LingDA, mostly focusing on coherence and cohesion (Dascalu, 2014). We concentrate on the qualitative parts of LingDA and partly automate the discrimination detection within the text.

2 Problem Formulation and Goals

Existing approaches for automatic discrimination detection often focus on identifying drastic wording, which is relatively easy to detect by simple comparison with a database of discriminatory terms. However, in many cases, textual discrimination manifests more subtly, requiring a more semantic approach to detect it.

To achieve our goal of automatically identifying discrimination and biases in text, we seek to enhance computational discourse analysis (CompDA) by integrating two fundamental, qualitative strategies from linguistic discourse analysis for detecting gender discrimination on the actor level: Identifying the respective person named entity (an actor) and all forms in which it is referred to (*Nomination*), and then detecting the traits, characteristics, qualities, and features that are ascribed to this actor (*Predication*). By focusing on actors, we aim to reveal even subtle gender-specific discrimination. Furthermore, we can analyse the text's meaning on a deeper level.

To automatically process large amounts of input text data, we implement a pipeline for automated text analysis that integrates nomination and predication by using IE techniques (cf. Figure 1). Specifically, as a first step, we identify nominations by extracting the actors and detecting their pronouns. Second, we extract the predication of these actors and finally use the extracted information to analyse the whole text for discrimination. By ensuring a modular structure built from exchangeable components, we aim to make our pipeline flexibly adaptable, accommodating a wide range of usage scenarios and specific ML tasks. For example, the pipeline should be able to scale from single texts to a whole corpus, process different languages, and focus on different criteria, thus reflecting cultural differences.

Finally, we evaluate our approach and implementation by analysing several sample texts, two realworld examples, and three generated texts, and discuss the discrimination markers identified in these samples.

3 Background

This work combines qualitative research on LingDA with IE, thus enhancing quantitative CompDA methods for detecting gender discrimination in text. Discrimination is a form of bias. We define discrimination and its relation to bias.



Figure 1: Visualisation of the flexible and language agnostic pipeline introduced in this work.

3.1 Linguistic Discourse Analysis

In LingDA, discourse is defined as a collection of text about a topic relevant to society (Bendel Larcher, 2015). This contrasts with computational linguistics, which defines discourse as "any multi-sentence text (Grishman, 1986). The focus of LingDA is the so-called actor. Actors are the entities in a text that perform some action. Actors can be individuals, groups, institutions, or organisations (Spitzmüller and Warnke, 2011).

Discourse is normally analysed on the corpus level as an extension of text linguistics that analyses single texts (Niehr, 2014). For our work, we concentrate on the level of single texts, especially on written text, potentially extending the approach to a whole corpus in future work. In this work, we disregard multimodal media, conversations, and pictures in general to scope our research. When analysing texts, Bendel Larcher (2015) points out that the nomination and predication is one of six aspects that should be considered. Nomination comprises how and what an actor in a text is named (Knobloch, 1996). The predication of the actor is what the text conveys about traits, characteristics, qualities, and features ascribed to this actor (Kamlah and Lorenzen, 1996).

When detecting nomination, the following aspects could be considered (Bendel Larcher, 2015):

- 1. **Proper Names**: Are actors referred to with their full name, surname, or just the first name?
- 2. Generic Names: When actors are not referred to by their proper names but with generic terms. Reisigl (2017) lists the following categories of problematic generic names: Negatively annotated general descriptions, ethnonyms, metaphorical slurs, animalistic metaphors, proper names used for a general description, and referring to an actor by their relation to someone else.
- 3. **Pronouns**: Pronouns can distance oneself from others (we vs. them), which is the basis for treating someone differently. Furthermore, using the wrong pronouns for someone (misgendering) is a clear aggression. Using the

"generic masculine" in gendered languages like German can be considered problematic. Women and non-binary people are not directly addressed but are "included" in the word's meaning. Therefore, women and non-binary people are not represented by the language.

4. **Deagentification**: The actor of the text is not named. The text only generally describes what is happening without giving credit to the person.

The predication detection analyses the text for characteristics, features, and qualities attributed to an actor. These can convey stereotypes and biases that can be extracted by looking at the following grammatical indicators (Reisigl, 2017; Bendel Larcher, 2015):

- Attributes: e.g. skinny, bright
- **Prepositional Attributes**: e.g. the professor living in Munich
- Collocations e.g. working mom
- **Relative Clauses** e.g. the tennis player who has a nice dress

For this work, we focus on indicators of discrimination based on the actor's gender.

3.2 Computational Discourse Analysis

CompDA focuses on the analysis of cohesion and coherence. Cohesion describes how sentences are grammatically and lexically linked together to reflect the status of an actor through discourse. Typical methods include topics, coreferencing, and lexical and semantic word relatedness from ontologies. CompDA differentiates between referential cohesion (how often words, concepts, and phrases are repeated or related through the text) and causal cohesion (explicit use of connectives) (Dascalu, 2014). Coherence addresses the "continuity of senses" (De Beaugrande and Dressler, 1981) throughout the text. In other words, coherence conveys to the reader that the text is semantically connected. Dascalu (2014) distinguishes informational level coherence (causal relations between utterances, lexical chains, and centring theory) and intentional level coherence (tracing of the changes in the mental state of the discourse participants during the discourse).

Our approach combines cohesion and coherence by analysing the text using methods used in cohesion analysis to track actors (and their states) throughout the text.

3.3 Bias and Discrimination

Text can contain a lot of problematic properties regarding gender. The most problematic ones are biases and discrimination. However, also insults, defamation or misinformation should be avoided.

Mateo and Williams (2020) define bias as follows: "Biases are preconceived notions based on *beliefs, attitudes, and/or stereotypes about people* pertaining to certain social categories that can be implicit or explicit.". They continue that discrimination is the manifestation of biases through behaviour and actions. Reisigl (2017) has a clearer definition of discrimination: "[...] social discrimination occurs when someone disadvantages or favours (i.e., treats unequally) a particular group or members of that group through a linguistic or other act or process, in comparison to someone else and on the basis of a particular distinguishing characteristic (such as an alleged 'race' or 'sexual orientation')." leading to the following five parts of discrimination:

- 1. Offender
- 2. Victim (beneficiary in case of 'positive discrimination')
- 3. Disadvantaging (or favouring) act, process
- 4. Comparison group that is treated differently
- 5. Distinguishing feature on which the disadvantaging or favouring is grounded

Discrimination in written text is a manifestation of social discrimination. We consider discrimination as the manifestation of biases. Therefore, we consider the author of the text as the *offender*, and the *victim* is an actor of the text. The *feature that distinguishes* the victim from its *comparison group* is their gender. To scope our work, we only explore gender discrimination, even though we are aware that other kinds of discrimination, especially the intersection of different kinds of discrimination, exist and should not be part of NLP training data or other text. We extract the *disadvantaging act/process* from the text by quantifying differences between genders using LingDA and IE.

In manual LingDA researchers focus on the context of a text: was it released for a specific group of people from a specific kind of people? In the proper context, some kind of language that is offensive outside a group is acceptable if it is uttered by one person of a group towards another person of this group if it has an in-group context. Furthermore, some texts are seen as products of their time and represent the social norms of these times. However, when training NLP models, the context of a text is lost. The models learn equally on all text data. Therefore, we always have to assume an out-group context and the current social norms when evaluating textual data for training purposes.

Not removing discrimination and biases from training data leads to representational harms: gender stereotypes are spread in generated texts and, therefore, hardened in readers' minds. This harms all genders. Furthermore, not representing nonbinary individuals in text generated by large language models (LLM) decreases their visibility. However, non-binary individuals are a part of our world and should be visible in LLM-generated texts. A text corpus not containing non-binary representation can not be considered balanced.

3.4 Information Extraction

IE locates predefined information in natural language text. According to Grishman (2015), the following steps are performed during IE (not necessarily in the order mentioned):

- 1. Named Entity Recognition: extraction of entities with proper names (persons, organisations, places, or suchlike)
- 2. **Syntactic Analysis**: extraction of syntactic information from sentences and tokenisation
- 3. Coreference Resolution: combining several mentions of an entity into one (e. g. a text mentions Dr. Ruth Harriet Bleier, further mentions may take the form of "Dr. Bleier", "Ms. Bleier", "R. H. Bleier", "R. B." or "she") (we also add generic names to form the full nomination of an actor)
- 4. Semantic Analysis: extracting relations between entities and mapping of sentences containing an entity to this entity (predication of an actor)
- 5. **Resolution of Cross-Document Coreferences**: coreferencing an entity through several documents (We are not exploring this step in this work.)

4 Methodical Approach

Our analysis pipeline can be subdivided into four consecutive steps that build on each other (cf. Figure 1): The first task is to extract the actors, fol-

lowed by a gender approximation for each actor. In these steps, we save the nomination of each actor in our knowledge base. The third step expands the knowledge base with the predication of each actor detected in step one. As the fourth and final step of the pipeline, we analyse the extracted information for potential discrimination.

4.1 Nomination

The nomination process starts with the tokenisation of the text. No further preprocessing is applied to retain the full semantic meaning of the text. Subsequently, the dependency trees are parsed for each sentence. Therefore, each token is annotated with its relation to its semantic neighbours and its part of speech. All tokens that are proper nouns are analysed using named entity recognition (NER). Person entities are the actors of the text. As actors are mentioned more than once in a text, it is essential to coreference all mentions of the same actor. Coreferencing combines all references of one actor (this can be done in one text or the whole corpus). Therefore, the full name of an actor is matched to its name parts (e.g. first name, last name, last name, and abbreviations of first name), pronouns, and titles. In less formal settings, actors are referred to by generic names. These are not detected as proper nouns during NER. Therefore, generic names must be detected in an additional step and coreferenced with actors. We use a list of commonly used generic names to detect the generic names. All coreferenced entities and pronouns are the nomination of the actor. These are saved into a knowledge base using the same key for later use.

Every actor in the knowledge base is assigned one of the following gendered entries: woman, man, non-binary, unknown. The gendered entry is assigned by pronouns in the actor nomination.

4.2 Predication

The predication analyses what is ascribed to an actor. Ideally, the predication should only contain text that describes an actor. If a sentence contains more than one actor, this sentence should be split and matched accordingly. Furthermore, if an actor describes another actor, the sentence should only match the described actor and not the active one. For our proof of concept implementation, we simplify the sentence-matching process and assign a sentence to an actor if the actor is contained in this sentence. The predication is also stored in the knowledge base.

4.3 Discrimination Detection

We analyse the nomination for common derogatory terms for each entry in the knowledge base. To scope the research, we only use lists of derogatory terms referring to women, men, and transgender people¹. For all predication sentences, the sentiment of the sentence is computed. Furthermore, the predication is analysed for feminine-coded words and masculine-coded words². The authors show that women are associated with communal traits and men with more agency-related terms. Overusing gender-coded language can embed stereotypes. Using the computed information, we compile a discrimination report. For detailed report components, see Section 5.3.

5 Implementation and Validation

As mentioned in Section 4, we start by collecting the nomination of actors and subsequently enhance our knowledge base with the predication of the actors. The content of the knowledge base is subsequently analysed for discrimination and biases³. The code for our pipeline can be found on GitHub⁴.

5.1 Nomination

SpaCy can perform tokenisation, dependency parsing, part of speech tagging, and named entity recognition out of the box. The named entity recognition can detect all actors in the text. When manually evaluating the results of our pipeline in the sample texts, we found that one actor's name was not classified as a person. Still, the error was not severe enough to justify changing libraries. We use the person entities as seed for the nomination.

In the first step, we extract all compounds of an actor's name; the head element of the compound is used as a key in a dictionary of actors. In a text

Pejorative_terms_for_women, https://en.wikipedia. org/wiki/Category:Pejorative_terms_for_men, https://genderkit.org.uk/slurs/, https://en.

¹derogatory terms were collected from the following websites (accessed on 2024-05-08): https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Category:

wiktionary.org/wiki/Category:English_swear_words

²We use the lists of feminine/masculine coded words as found on the gender decoder website https:// gender-decoder.katmatfield.com/about, which is based on work from Gaucher et al. (Gaucher et al., 2011)

³We use Python (version 3.9.18) and the NLP library SpaCy (Honnibal and Montani, 2017) in version 3.7.2, in combination with the en_core_web_lg model, for our experiments. Furthermore, we use the packages coreferee (version 1.4.1) and spacytextblob (version 4.0.0).

⁴https://github.com/Ognatai/nomination_ predication

about Bill Clinton, the key Bill Clinton contains the values Bill Clinton, Clinton, President, and unexpectedly trail. We can also extract titles; for example, the key Kirsten Gillibrand contains the values Sen. and Kirsten Gillibrand. This implementation combines all actors with the same first or last names into one nomination.

In the second step, keys that are part of the value of another key are merged into the other key. Thus, all nomination keys are full names (if the actor is mentioned with their last name; otherwise, the key is a first name), and first names and last names are assumed to be unambiguous. These nominations are extended by a list of generic names found in the text and not coreferenced to other actors.

We determine the pronouns and, therefore, approximate the gender of the actors by using coreferee. This package references pronouns to actors. Unfortunately, coreferee has problems identifying gender-neutral/non-binary pronouns. In two of three test texts, it cannot detect the nonbinary actors. Due to the lack of better-performing packages, we use coreferee nonetheless. Actors are assigned woman or man if the majority (at least 70%) of used pronouns refer to one of these gendered entries (we use a majority of at least five pronouns to be able to react to software problems stemming from the matching algorithm of coreferee). A non-binary entry is only assigned if gender-neutral/non-binary pronouns are used consistently. Otherwise, the gender is listed as unknown.

The last step of the nomination detection is to combine all information into a knowledge base stored as a pandas (pandas development team, 2023) data frame.

5.2 Predication

In the predication phase, the knowledge base is extended by all sentences that mention the corresponding actor. Each token object contains information about its position in the text. Therefore, we generate a text span with the size of the token and obtain the sentence that includes the text span of the token. Duplicates within one actor are removed. If a sentence contains more than one actor, this sentence is matched to all contained actors.

5.3 Discrimination Detection

For the discrimination detection, we extend the knowledge base by the sentiment of each predication sentence and the gender-coded words used in the predication. We use the package spacytextblob⁵, which builds upon the textblob⁶ library, to assign a value between -1 (very negative sentiment) and 1 (very positive sentiment) to each sentence. The sentiment analysis utilises a naive Bayes classifier trained on movie reviews. To detect gender-coded words, we use a list of feminine-coded and masculine-coded word stems by Gaucher et al. (2011) and test if these stems occur in the predication. We create a discrimination report for a text, building on the information of the knowledge base we created for this text. The report contains the following information:

- count of woman, man, non-binary, and undefined actors overall and per actor
- count of woman, man, non-binary, and undefined actor mentions overall and per actor
- sentiment towards woman, man, non-binary, and undefined actors overall and per actor
- count of feminine-coded words and masculine-coded words in the actor predication of woman, man, non-binary, and undefined actors overall and per actor
- abusive words used for woman, man, nonbinary, and undefined actors and overall

5.4 Validation

Most NLP tasks like hate speech detection or sentiment analysis tend to utilise short utterances, like tweets or social media posts, for training purposes. In contrast, our approach aims to analyse longer texts like news articles or blog posts that describe one or more persons.

For testing our pipeline, we generate three texts with ChatGPT (OpenAI, 2023) that contain several actors, with at least one respectively using feminine, masculine, or gender-neutral/non-binary pronouns. All these actors have a full name and interact with each other. The content of all three generated texts is rather generic and not biased. We generated these texts mainly to test the pipeline on non-binary actors, but we do not further discuss the results of these texts because of their generic nature⁷. Instead, we collected texts about Bill and Hillary Clinton from Fox News⁸.

The Hillary Clinton text describes Hillary Clin-

⁵https://spacy.io/universe/project/ spacy-textblob

⁶https://textblob.readthedocs.io/en/dev/

⁷All text are available on GitHub: https://github.com/ Ognatai/nomination_predication

⁸https://www.foxnews.com/

ton's controversial statement that Trump followers should be 'deprogrammed' and reactions to this statement. The Bill Clinton text details how Bill Clinton "reemerges as Democrat surrogate after being silenced by #MeToo movement".⁹

We use our pipeline on these texts and compare the results by manually checking the corresponding texts for the correctness of the results.

The pipeline can detect all actors contained in the texts. Only the texts generated with ChatGPT contain non-binary actors. When analysing these texts, we found that coreferee has problems matching gender-neutral/non-binary pronouns to actors. Nonbinary actors are detected in only one of three texts. Otherwise, our pipeline can mainly match the correct pronouns to the corresponding actor. We encounter problems in the text about Hillary Clinton. Here, coreferee has problems matching a pronoun from a partial sentence to one of the three actors mentioned before.

To count the mentions of each actor, we count all entries in the nomination and pronoun columns of the knowledge base. This leads to a minor problem since titles are not part of the name token and are counted as additional mentions. In our test data, this behaviour leads to one to two additional mentions per actor. In a future version of the pipeline, this behaviour will be fixed. Figure 2a and Figure 2b shows how many actors of a specific gender are part of the text and how often actors of a specific gender are mentioned throughout the text. Both texts do not contain non-binary actors. Interestingly, in the text about Hillary Clinton (Figure 2a, we detect four women (mentioned 38 times) and one man (mentioned 26 times). However, of the 38 women mentioned, Hillary Clinton is mentioned 26 times. Therefore, Donald Trump, the only recognised man, is mentioned as often in a text about Hillary Clinton as Hillary Clinton herself. However, the text describes how Hillary Clinton criticises Donald Trump's followers; therefore, many mentions make sense. In the text about Bill Clinton (Figure 2b, we detect four men, which are mentioned 45 times; 35 are mentions of Bill Clinton.

The sentiment analysis we use in our pipeline encounters problems when used for news articles. Figure 3b shows a moderately negative sentiment for Henry Cuellar and Michelle Vallejo which refers to the sentence "During the trip, Clinton will



Figure 2: Comparison of how often actors of a certain gender occur in the text and how often actors of a certain gender are mentioned. Both texts do not contain non-binary actors.

rally with Rep. Henry Cuellar and Democratic candidate Michelle Vallejo – each of whom is locked in a difficult contest with Republicans." The sentence has a very neutral tone. In contrast, the model detects almost no negative sentiments in the text about Hillary Clinton (see Figure 3a. However, the predication of Hillary Clinton contains the following sentences: "Sen. Marsha Blackburn, R-Tenn., posted to X, "Hillary Clinton wants Trump supporters to be formally reeducated., Independent journalist Glenn Greenwald shredded Clinton over the comments, saying, "As she gets increasingly bitter about her 2016 defeat – even when you think there's no way she can – Hillary Clinton is more and more the liberal id: she just spews what liberals really think and feel but know not to say., Clinton's 'deprogramming' hopes for Trump supporters a long shot in the era of political silos Clinton has had sharp words for Trump supporters over the years, once calling them 'deplorables'." The sentence contains a negative sentiment towards Hillary Clinton, but spacyblob cannot detect those neg-

⁹All text are available on GitHub: https://github.com/ Ognatai/nomination_predication

ative sentiments. These examples showcase that the language used in news articles is too different from that used in movie reviews (which are one of the standard sources of training data for sentiment analysis approaches). Therefore, it is impossible to use a model trained on movie reviews for every domain; in future work, a domain-specific sentiment model will be utilised.



Figure 3: Visualisation about the sentiments towards certain actors. Both texts do not contain non-binary actors.

In all texts, gender-coded words are rarely used. Both "real-world" texts contain a few femininecoded words (Bill Clinton: 1, Hillary Clinton: 6) but no masculine-coded ones. Nevertheless, these could be an interesting feature if used for the whole corpus. We have a very explicit list of abusive words, but none are used in our sample texts. This list should be exchanged with domain-specific hate speech detection.

6 Discussion

Our method shows promising first results, even on our limited test data.

6.1 Strengths

Our pipeline can detect how different actors in a text are described. By approximating the gender of the actors, we can analyse if the text differentiates between genders and discriminates against a particular gender. Texts with very negative sentiments towards certain genders could then be excluded from model training, for instance. Our pipeline differentiates from other discrimination detection methods by focusing on actors and not the text as a whole. Therefore, it is possible to detect more subtle discrimination. Our pipeline is modular and, therefore, flexible. Single modules can be exchanged for domain-specific modules, and the pipeline can be extended anytime. Other discrimination detection approaches like hate speech detection or word lists can be included. The flexibility of the pipeline offers the possibility of even changing the languages of the texts analysed. Our proof of concept verifies the assumption that we can partly automate the qualitative parts of linguistic discourse analysis. Our discrimination report helps, for example, social scientists to decide if a text may contain discrimination or biases. This pipeline will be scaled to the corpus level to fully analyse the discourse within the corpus.

6.2 Limitations

Our proof-of-concept pipeline is tailored to detect actors in text. We cannot analyse the text if the text does not describe specific actors but a general situation. We combine actors with the same first and/or last name into one and do not coreference generic nominations to already detected actors. The predication should only consider text parts that attribute something to an actor. Currently, we use all sentences that contain the actor. If a sentence contains more than one actor, we match this sentence to all actors instead of doing an in-depth analysis of which parts of the sentence could belong to which actor. This also affects the sentiment analysis. A sentence containing an actor is not always a sentence containing a sentiment towards this actor. Another source of limitations is the general-purpose models we use in our pipeline. These are not tailored to the domain of news articles, leading to a sub-optimal performance. These general-purpose

models also have problems in detecting genderneutral/non-binary pronouns.

7 Conclusion and Future Work

In this work, we build a flexible pipeline to analyse newspaper articles and blog posts about people. We use linguistic methods to detect how actors are described within a text. In contrast to common discrimination detection methods, we do not treat the whole text as one object. By focusing on actors and the gender of the actors, we can do more nuanced text analyses that can detect subtle discrimination on a gender basis. First, limited tests on newspaper articles show that we can detect how actors are treated differently, depending on their gender. The first proof-of-concept pipeline implementation has some limitations that will be addressed in future work.

Other future work includes using the pipeline in different languages, such as German. Furthermore, instead of analysing one text at a time, we will scale the input to several documents, analysing complete corpora. We will also experiment with different pipeline components, for example, exchanging the simplistic abusive language detection with a sophisticated hate-speech detection or coreferencing detected actors with real-world actors to detect their pronouns. As today's discourse is not only written, analysis of multi-modal data might also be an interesting endeavour.

Ethical Consideration Statement

Defining discrimination for LLM training data means defining the value system for internationally used systems, but we do not share one common international value system. We can all agree on international human rights. However, an LLM also generates texts containing opinions about religion, race, gender, and sexual orientation. There are currently no common international values regarding these topics. As computer scientists, we define the values and opinions that our systems should convey. However, we are only able to adhere to our value system. Therefore, it is essential to work in diverse teams. The author team enriches their perspective by discussing our research with researchers from fields outside of computer science and from different cultural backgrounds. Our team consists of white Western European researchers. Three of us identify as women, representing the feminine and masculine gender spectrum but not the non-binary. Nevertheless, our group's diversity helps analyse gender-specific discrimination. Our understanding of discrimination stems from the system of beliefs and values based on Western European culture.

Acknowledgements

This work was written by an author team working in different projects. Stefanie Urchs' project "Prof:inSicht" is promoted with funds from the Federal Ministry of Education and Research under the reference number 01FP21054. Matthias Aßenmacher is funded with funds from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) as part of BERD@NFDI - grant number 460037581. Responsibility for the contents of this publication lies with the authors.

References

- Gordon Willard Allport, Kenneth Clark, and Thomas Pettigrew. 1954. *The nature of prejudice*. Addisonwesley Reading, MA.
- Sylvia Bendel Larcher. 2015. *Linguistische Diskursanalyse: Ein Lehr-und Arbeitsbuch*. Narr Francke Attempto Verlag.
- Mihai Dascalu. 2014. *Computational Discourse Analysis*, page 53–77. Springer International Publishing.
- Robert-Alain De Beaugrande and Wolfgang U Dressler. 1981. *Introduction to text linguistics*, volume 1. longman London.
- Hannah Devinney, Jenny Björklund, and Henrik Björklund. 2022. Theories of "gender" in nlp bias research. In Proceedings of the 2022 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, FAccT '22, page 2083–2102, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Danielle Gaucher, Justin Friesen, and Aaron C Kay. 2011. Evidence that gendered wording in job advertisements exists and sustains gender inequality. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 101(1):109.
- Hila Gonen and Yoav Goldberg. 2019. Lipstick on a pig: Debiasing methods cover up systematic gender biases in word embeddings but do not remove them. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 609–614, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ralph Grishman. 1986. *Computational linguistics: an introduction*. Cambridge University Press.
- Ralph Grishman. 2015. Information extraction. *IEEE Intelligent Systems*, 30(5):8–15.

- Matthew Honnibal and Ines Montani. 2017. spaCy 2: Natural language understanding with Bloom embeddings, convolutional neural networks and incremental parsing. To appear.
- Juha Janhunen. 2000. Grammatical gender from east to west. *TRENDS IN LINGUISTICS STUDIES AND MONOGRAPHS*, 124:689–708.
- Wilhelm Kamlah and Paul Lorenzen. 1996. *Die Elementare Prädikation*, pages 23–44. J.B. Metzler, Stuttgart.
- Os Keyes. 2018. The misgendering machines: Trans/hci implications of automatic gender recognition. *Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact.*, 2(CSCW).
- Clemens Knobloch. 1996. *Nomination: Anatomie eines Begriffes*, pages 21–53. VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften, Wiesbaden.
- Walter Lippmann. 1929. Public Opinion: By Walter Lippmann. Macmillan Company.
- Camila M Mateo and David R Williams. 2020. More than words: a vision to address bias and reduce discrimination in the health professions learning environment. *Academic medicine*, 95(12S):S169–S177.
- Gunnar Myrdal et al. 1944. An American dilemma; the Negro problem and modern democracy.(2 vols.). Harper.
- Thomas Niehr. 2014. *Einführung in die linguistische Diskursanalyse*. WBG (Wissenschaftliche Buchgesellschaft).
- OpenAI. 2023. ChatGPT(November 06 version).
- The pandas development team. 2023. pandasdev/pandas: Pandas.
- Gregory Razran. 1950. Ethnic dislikes and stereotypes: a laboratory study. *The Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 45(1):7.
- Martin Reisigl. 2017. *Sprachwissenschaftliche Diskriminierungsforschung*, pages 81–100. Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden, Wiesbaden.
- Jürgen Spitzmüller and Ingo Warnke. 2011. Diskurslinguistik: eine Einführung in Theorien und Methoden der transtextuellen Sprachanalyse. Walter de Gruyter.
- UNESCO. 2022. Recommendation on the ethics of artificial intelligence. PDF Document. Page 18.
- Candace West and Don H. Zimmerman. 1987. Doing gender. *Gender & Society*, 1(2):125–151.

What Can Go Wrong in Authorship Profiling: Cross-Domain Analysis of Gender and Age Prediction

Hongyu Chen¹ and Michael Roth² and Agnieszka Falenska^{1,2}

¹University of Stuttgart, Interchange Forum for Reflecting on Intelligent Systems ²University of Stuttgart, Institute for Natural Language Processing {hongyu.chen, agnieszka.falenska}@iris.uni-stuttgart.de

ngyu.chen, agnreszka.rarenska/erris.uhr stuttgart.u

michael.roth@ims.uni-stuttgart.de

Abstract

Authorship Profiling (AP) aims to predict the demographic attributes (such as gender and age) of authors based on their writing styles. Ever-improving models mean that this task is gaining interest and application possibilities. However, with greater use also comes the risk that authors are misclassified more frequently, and it remains unclear to what extent the better models can capture the bias and who is affected by the models' mistakes. In this paper, we investigate three established datasets for AP as well as classical and neural classifiers for this task. Our analyses show that it is often possible to predict the demographic information of the authors based on textual features. However, some features learned by the models are specific to datasets. Moreover, models are prone to errors based on stereotypes associated with topical bias.

1 Introduction

Authorship Profiling (AP) aims to identify authors' demographic characteristics through their writing style. In recent years, this task has polarized the NLP community. On the one side, researchers emphasize the potential of AP for computational social science applications, where predicting who wrote given texts can enrich analyses of data that lacks explicit demographic information (Morales Sánchez et al., 2022; Deutsch and Paraboni, 2023). Such additional automatically predicted attributes could allow for uncovering demographic patterns in societal trends, political ideologies, or cultural shifts. The automatic prediction of such attributes may also be helpful to other practical applications, such as forensics, abuse detection, and marketing (Mukhopadhyay et al., 2021; Bugueño and Mendoza, 2020; Mishra et al., 2018; Abdul-Mageed et al., 2019). As a result, the majority of work on AP is motivated by these practical applications and focuses primarily on improving

model performance (Cheng et al., 2009; Pardo and Rosso, 2016; Soler-Company and Wanner, 2018; Fabien et al., 2020, among others).

On the other side, researchers are alarmed by the potential societal harm that AP models can cause. Firstly, these tools come with the risk of privacy breaches and the dangers of using authors' features without their consent (Emmery et al., 2022; Larson, 2017). Secondly, the AP tasks and datasets commonly understate complexity of how demographic characteristics relate to the language production. For example, gender, one of the most frequently predicted demographic traits, is often analyzed in isolation from other related features like age (HaCohen-Kerner, 2022) and oversimplified (Koolen and van Cranenburgh, 2017). AP models traditionally treat gender as a binary variable and lack reflection on the spectrum of gender identities, potentially leading to reinforcing stereotypes and misrepresentations (Dev et al., 2021). Finally, misclassifying people can lead to feelings of exclusion, negatively affecting individuals' self-esteem and confidence (Fosch-Villaronga et al., 2021).

To move forward, it is essential to reach a consensus regarding the circumstances necessitating the deployment of AP models. Fundamental to this process is a thorough understanding of what these models learn, what type of biases they capture, and who is affected by their errors. To this end, this paper examines the core assumption underlying the majority of research motivated by the practical applications of AP: that demographically related signals are *comparable across datasets*. With a focus on gender and age – two demographic features that are strongly interrelated – we explore the extent to which writing styles are consistent and transferable across datasets. Our work centers around three core research questions:

1. What is the accuracy of standard classifiers for gender and age prediction, and to what extent does

it change in cross-domain applications?

We train classical and neural classifiers on two wellestablished datasets from two domains: online conversations and blog posts, and two languages: English and Spanish. Our findings indicate that neural classifiers have only a modest advantage when predicting gender and age. Moreover, the performance of all classifiers drops close to the majority baseline in cross-domain applications (§5).

2. Are the writing styles of authors consistent across datasets and languages?

We perform a statistical analysis of authors' writing styles to uncover that gender and age differences found in one dataset are not fully reproducible within another. The finding is consistent across domains as well as languages (§6).

3. How do topics affect AP performance?

Finally, we ask what information the AP models capture. We find that while topical signs alone are inadequate for effectively modeling demographic features, they influence models' behavior: misclassifications appear commonly in topics predominantly addressed by one demographic group (§7).

The contributions of our paper are twofold. Firstly, we provide methodological insights into AP classifiers, challenging the practical usefulness of these tools, especially in cross-dataset settings. Secondly, we add empirical evidence to the discussion on the need to take the AP results with caution. Otherwise, the potential risks of marginalizing and misrepresenting certain demographic groups are disregarded, leading to biases and discrimination (Zuiderveen Borgesius et al., 2018).

2 Bias Statement

Our work examines the behavior of AP models, focusing on how models predict gender and age across domains. We specifically define *gender bias* as a notable difference in prediction of an author's gender based on topic preference or writing style. In parts, such differences can be explained by the underlying training data used by AP models. For example, Bamman et al. (2014) observe that male authors tend to use named entities at a higher rate in their writing compared to female authors, a phenomenon also related to topic choices that are rich in named entities, such as specific hobbies or career paths. Despite such insights, approaches to author profiling sometimes rely only on style-based features and overlook topical differences. We examine the impact regarding gender bias by testing how likely AP models mispredict gender when authors write about topics typically associated with another gender. For example, male authors discussing shopping-related topics may be mispredicted as female. This indicates that the model picks up on topics stereotypically associated with one gender and performs inadequately when authors from another gender engage with those same topics, which may cause representational harms (Blodgett et al., 2020). Moreover, biases of AP models can easily be misinterpreted as general differences in gender or age, leading to an issue of reinforcing stereotypes.

Our work is grounded in the belief that uncovering biases is crucial for developing equitable NLP applications. We acknowledge as a main limitation that all data used in this work assumes a binary gender framework. Therefore, our analyses may not fully capture the complexities and nuances of gender identity. Future work should aim to include more inclusive and representative data to better understand and address gender bias in AP models.

3 Related Work

Previous work can be roughly divided into three categories: work on the task of authorship profiling itself (§3.1), sociolinguistic studies of stereotypes and gender differences (§3.2) as well as efforts to model or counteract (topical) biases (§3.3).

3.1 Authorship Profiling

The earliest automated AP task was performed on a subset of British National Corpus (BNC) using a combination of function words and n-grams of POS tags as features (Koppel et al., 2002). Later work focused on English blog posts, where gender prediction was addressed with improved feature selection and machine learning methods (Mukherjee and Liu, 2010, inter alia). According to a recent survey, accuracy for gender prediction varies across publications from 52% to 91% (HaCohen-Kerner, 2022). Authors suggest that this large variance might be caused by different factors, including text genres, age groups, and types of applied classifiers. For example, Ceccucci et al. (2013) find that female authors compose longer text messages, but this finding does not seem to generalize to blog posts. Regarding literary texts, a recent finding by Lettieri et al. (2023) suggests that women tend to employ more positive words than men, also implying a correlation between sentiment and the authors' gender. In general, however, there is little consistency regarding high-accuracy phenomena for gender prediction, suggesting that differences in terms of online writing could largely be dependent on the respective datasets. For instance, Alvarez-Carmona et al. (2015) achieve accuracy of 91% using liblinear SVM on PAN15 datasets, but the number drops to 81.72% on a Twitter dataset (Pizarro, 2019). Therefore, by identifying which features and models do (not) generalize across datasets, we address a major gap in existing research.

3.2 Sociolinguistic Analyses and Gender

AP builds directly on the stylometry, sociolinguistics, and theoretical issues in demographic differences in writing (Koolen and van Cranenburgh, 2017; Xia, 2013). Empirically, gender has been shown to be a main characteristic for categorization (Rudman and Glick, 2021) and linguistic differences have been observed across various datasets and domains (Leech et al., 1992; Baker, 2014; Argamon et al., 2003, 2007), ranging from scientific articles (Bergsma et al., 2012), political discussions (Hu and Kearney, 2021), to contemporary fiction (Dahllöf, 2023). Though prominent, these differences cannot be simply attributed to gender alone, as the contexts in which people communicate often limit their language use (Baker, 2014). Cameron (1997) critiques the traditional view of gender as a fixed characteristic that explains behaviors. She advocates for understanding gender as something that needs to be explained in its own right, suggesting that gender is constructed, performed, and enacted in social contexts rather than being a natural, unchangeable attribute that determines how individuals act. However, this does not mean to deny the existence of gender differences, but rather to provide more insights on proceeding with such types of differences related to languages with more caution (Koolen and van Cranenburgh, 2017; Liu et al., 2021). Because what comes along with such differences is the issue of oversimplification and stereotyping (Bing, Janet and Bergvall, 1998). For AP models, the interpretation of the correlations between demographic groups and style/content features is beneficial for researchers to learn the potential pattern that a model might learn. One should however be careful to avoid over-generalization.

3.3 Topical Bias

Topical bias is another contextual factor that affects profiling demographic differences in writing. Works in authorship attribution and authorship verification have pointed out that topical preference will lead to errors when the topics shifts (Hu et al., 2023). Similarly in AP, it was demonstrated that the choice of topics by female and male authors can exhibit significant differences (Verhoeven et al., 2017). For instance, women tend to gravitate toward themes of relationships and connections, while men tend to focus on topics related to politics and hierarchy (Bischoping, 1993). Measures proposed to mitigate the effects of topics include topic-independent features (Litvinova et al., 2018), topic-debiased representations (Hu et al., 2023), and explicitly considering errors made by authorship attribution models regarding topics (Altakrori et al., 2021). Though this work does not focus on topic debiasing, we also include an analysis on interactions between topics and demographic predictions by AP models.

4 Data

We use two well-explored datasets of texts annotated with self-reported gender and age of their authors – PAN13 and BLOG. We select datasets that are fundamental to the AP research field: PAN13, used in the first PAN-AP shared task, and BLOG, used in the earliest work for studying gender effect on texts).

PAN13 originates from a shared task on plagiarism detection, authorship verification, and authorship identification (Rangel et al., 2013). It includes conversations in two languages: English (referred to as **PAN13-EN**), comprising a total of 283,240 conversations and Spanish (**PAN13-ES**), with 90,860 conversations. The dataset includes a variety of topics to reflect real-world usage and complexity, with an emphasis on everyday language in social media.

In the data preparation step, we exclude posts from authors who pretend to be minors.¹ Both English and Spanish datasets come with the training and test split. To ensure a comparable analysis across languages, we downsample the training part of the English dataset so that it has the same number of samples as Spanish (we do not alter test parts). Table 5 in Appendix A gives data statistics.

¹Information comes from the names of the files.

		Gender			Age		
	PAN13-EN	PAN13-ES	BLOG		PAN13-EN	PAN13-ES	BLOG
Majority	0.50	0.50	0.50		0.36	0.56	0.33
ĹR	0.60	0.67	0.76		0.56	0.67	0.69
DT	0.54	0.56	0.63		0.52	0.55	0.52
RF	0.58	0.59	0.65		0.52	0.61	0.56
NB	0.53	0.55	0.61		0.43	0.44	0.53
BERT	0.61	0.72	0.76		0.59	0.68	0.67
RoBERTa	0.64	0.71	0.79		0.65	0.67	0.76
XLNet	0.60	-	0.77		0.64	-	0.72

Table 1: Accuracy for gender and age prediction on test data (averages from six models trained with different random seeds, standard deviation in Appendix A, Table 6). Best white- and black-box classifiers are bolded.

BLOG is the Blog Authorship Corpus (Schler et al., 2006), that was constructed in August 2004 from blogger.com, including a total of 71,000 blogs and 681,284 posts. Each post is annotated with a date, blogger's ID, self-provided gender ('female', 'male'), age, industry, and zodiac sign.

The corpus does not include a pre-defined training and test split. Therefore, we first randomly divide it into 80/20 split. Secondly, since BLOG includes whole articles and not single conversation inputs, its data points are much longer than in PAN13. Therefore, to make these two datasets more comparable, we downsample the training part of BLOG to have approximately the same number of words as in PAN13-ES (keeping full articles intact). We ensure that all the datasets are balanced regarding the gender of the authors. We convert the ages in BLOG to the same categories as in PAN13: '10s' (13-17), '20s' (23-27), and '30s' (33-47).

For both of the datasets, we group and concatenate posts from the same author and take such concatenated texts as our data points. Moreover, we eliminate URLs in the preprocessing of the texts.

5 Gender and Age Prediction

We start from answering what is the accuracy of standard classifiers when predicting gender and age for the given text.

5.1 Method

We test classifiers that are straightforward to implement, making them popular choices for predicting the demographics of authors. We categorize these classifiers into two groups: white-box and blackbox models (Loyola-González, 2019). Whitebox models, like logistic regression, offer easy-tounderstand interpretations of results, appealing to researchers who prioritize insight into the decisionmaking process of their models (Morales Sánchez et al., 2022; Rudin, 2019). On the other hand, blackbox models, typically including neural networks, are often regarded as more effective but harder to interpret.

White-box We follow the white- and black-box classifier selection outlined in Jang et al. (2023). Concretely, for white-box classifiers, we use Logistic Regression (LR), Random Forest (RF), Decision Tree (DT), and Naive Bayes (NB). We implement them using the scikit-learn library (Pedregosa et al., 2011) with default hyperparameters.² For these models, each text is represented as a vector of (lower-cased) word-based tf-idf scores.

Black-box The black-box classifiers use the transformer-based language models supported by the Hugging Face Transformers library (we refer to Table 3 in Appendix A for details).³ For English, we experiment with **BERT** (Devlin et al., 2019), **RoBERTa** (Liu et al., 2019), and **XLNet** (Yang et al., 2019).⁴ For Spanish, we use the BERT adaptation by Cañete et al. (2020) and RoBERTa adaptation by De la Rosa et al. (2022). All classifiers underwent fine-tuning for a duration of five epochs, employing a learning rate of 1e-5, a weight decay factor of 0.01, and a batch size of 16.

5.2 In-Domain Results

Table 1 provides gender and age prediction results from the white-box (top) and black-box (bottom) models. First of all, it is evident that almost all classifiers outperformed the majority baseline, with

²Code and data selection will be released with this paper. ³https://huggingface.co/

⁴We do not include BertAA (Fabien et al., 2020), i.e., BERT model for authorship attribution, because it was finetuned on BLOG, which we did use for our analysis.

	Ger	nder	A	ge
	PAN13	BLOG	PAN13	BLOG
Majority	0.50	0.50	0.33	0.42
ĹR	0.51	0.57	0.39	0.40
DT	0.46	0.50	0.44	0.31
RF	0.51	0.50	0.47	0.34
NB	0.50	0.50	0.42	0.35
BERT	0.53	0.65	0.50	0.38
RoBERTa	0.55	0.69	0.37	0.38
XLNet	0.55	0.68	0.40	0.40

Table 2: Cross-dataset accuracy (averages from six models trained with different random seeds, standard deviation in Appendix A, Table 4) for gender and age prediction on English test datasets. Best white- and black-box classifiers are bolded.

the only exception of the DT model for age prediction in the PAN13-ES dataset.⁵ Among the white-box classifiers, LR stands out as the best, consistently surpassing the other models by a significant margin. In the black-box category, RoBERTa achieves the best results.⁶ However, the advantage that RoBERTa holds over LR is relatively modest (at most 0.09 for age prediction in PAN13-EN), prompting the question if the loss of inherent interpretability coming with LR is worth the slight performance gain.

When analyzing the performance across all three datasets, an interesting pattern can be noticed – accuracy on PAN13-EN is uniformly lower than on its Spanish counterpart, PAN13-ES. Similarly, the accuracy on PAN13-ES is consistently lower than on the BLOG dataset, positioning BLOG as the "easiest" dataset for the classifiers to handle. The differences in performance across languages (PAN13-EN and PAN13-ES) and domains (PAN13-EN vs. BLOG) are substantial, raising questions about the underlying factors behind them.

5.3 Cross-Domain Results

Before we go to the analysis of style differences, we conduct a preliminary cross-dataset⁷ experiment, in which we train a model on PAN13-EN and test it on BLOG and vice versa. The outcomes are presented in Table 2. As expected, the accuracy of all the models decreased compared to the in-domain results (cf. Table 1). Regarding gender prediction, certain trends observed previously persist: LR and RoBERTa remain the best classifiers, with RoBERTa keeping its advantage over LR. Moreover, accuracy on BLOG is still higher than on PAN13-EN. However, the practical usability of any of these classifiers is debatable. Although nearly all models outperformed the majority baseline, this improvement is often minuscule. The most promising results come from black-box classifiers applied to BLOG, suggesting that some gender-related signals effectively transfer from PAN13-EN. This could be due to the larger training datasets improving crossdomain gender prediction accuracy - as seen with PAN13-EN compared to BLOG- although previous evidence suggests this is not always the case (Dias and Paraboni, 2020).

For age prediction, a slightly different picture can be observed. Apart from three exceptions (DT, RF, and BERT applied to PAN13-EN), none of the classifiers exceeded the majority baseline. Notably, in the context of BLOG, no model successfully transferred age-related features from PAN13-EN. These findings underscore a critical point: while certain stylistic elements do vary across datasets, the features that remain consistent are insufficient to enable classifiers to effectively generalize.

6 Demographics vs. Style

The findings from the previous section highlight differences in classifier performance across datasets. Next, our objective is to uncover the underlying causes behind these differences. Given that the accuracy of AP models is often linked to the demographically influenced writing styles of authors (see Section 3.2), our first analysis involves examining our datasets from the perspective of their style.

6.1 Method

We investigate the explanatory power of stylerelated variables in predicting demographic characteristics. Our analysis focuses on two dependent variables (DVs): binary gender (male/female) and age (10s, 20s, 30s). The independent variables (IVs) include word-based features derived from the datasets (see below). Additionally, we incorporate the other demographic feature as an IV – for instance, when gender serves as the DV, age is included as an IV, and vice versa. The analysis is conducted using only the training parts of datasets.

⁵The variation in the majority baseline results comes from the datasets being balanced with respect to gender but not age.

⁶Our best white- and black-box classifiers align with the findings of Jang et al. (2023), who evaluated the same models for figurative language recognition.

⁷We consider PAN13 and BLOG are datasets from two different domains: PAN13 includes conversational posts from social media and BLOG includes individual blog posts of longer length

Feature extraction We extract word-level features from five categories. For the description of all single features in each category, we refer to Falk and Lapesa (2022) (see Appendix in Falk and Lapesa (2022) for details)

• Surface (6 features) including characteristics like token length, average character count per word, and number of syllables per word.

• Syntactic (6 features) involving metrics such as the proportion of fine-grained part-of-speech tags within each post, including personal pronouns, auxiliaries, and named entities.

• Textual complexity (14 features) encompassing diverse measures of lexical diversity, lexical sophistication, and readability.

• Sentiment and polarity (20 features) including emotional indicators like joy and fear.

For the extraction of surface and syntactic features, we used scripts from Falk and Lapesa (2022). For textual complexity and sentiment features, we employed SEANCE (Crossley et al., 2017), TAALED (Kyle et al., 2021), and TAALES (Kyle et al., 2018). Given that these tools are designed only for English, their application was limited to the PAN13-EN and BLOG datasets. As a result, we extracted a total of 46 features⁸ for these two datasets and 12 features for PAN13-ES.

We use stats and nnet packages from R and two types of models: a binomial logistic regression for gender as DV and a multinomial logistic regression for age as DV. To compare across English datasets (PAN13-EN and BLOG), we load the model with all 46 features. Comparison across languages (PAN13-EN, BLOG and PAN13-ES) is performed with 12 common features. Additionally, Appendix A.1 provides details on the best combination of features for each dataset.

6.2 Data Analysis

Figures 1 and 2 present significant features that correlate with gender as the controlled variable. We focus our discussion on the results from the models on gender prediction as a case of our methodology. We obtained similar findings in terms of significant features for age, which are shown in Figures 5 and 6 in Appendix A. Style across datasets Comparing the two English datasets in Figure 1, we first notice that the two plots clearly differ. While for PAN13-EN, significant features (dark markers) can be seen across all categories, for BLOG, they group mostly in the bottom three. Analyzing individual categories, differences can be spotted already in the surface features (second from the bottom). For example, the percentage of syllables per word (syll_per_word), Gunning fog index (gunningFog), and Flesch reading ease (flesch)⁹ indicate significant correlations with the 'male' category, similar to previous findings about "women tend[ing] to compose longer texts than men" (Xia, 2013). However, this significance is observed only in the BLOG dataset. Regarding syntactic features, only the use of auxiliaries and the presence of named entities emerge as significant factors across both datasets. In contrast, the frequency of subordinate conjunctions appears only in BLOG and adjectives only in PAN13-EN. Finally, we find that PAN13-EN contains a greater number of significant features from the categories of sentiment, and text complexity, compared to BLOG. For features such as the "certainty component", our finding of it correlating more with the 'female' category, is aligned with previous evidence that women tend to have more positive sentiment in texts than men do (Lettieri et al., 2023).

Style across languages As shown in Figure 2, surface and syntactic features emerge as distinctive attributes associated with gender in both English and Spanish PAN13 datasets. However, a closer inspection reveals nuanced variations in the contributions of these features between the two languages. For instance, in PAN13-EN, female authors tend to use more adjectives, whereas in PAN13-ES, this trend is reversed, correlating more with male authors. Other syntactic features, such as auxiliaries, are significantly correlated with male authors in PAN13-EN but exhibit no discernible effect on either female or male authors in PAN13-ES. Similarly, adverbs in PAN13-ES are highly associated with female authors, while there is no such association in PAN13-EN.

⁸Due to the limited capacity of TAALED processing long posts, there are 4 features we did not manage to extract for both datasets. These features are: McD_CD_AW, Sem_D_AW, content_poly and hyper_verb_noun_Sav_Pav from the textual complexity category (lexical sophistication).

⁹Flesch Reading Ease (Flesch, 1948) and Gunning Fog Index are two readability metrics measuring a combination of information involving the length of the sentences or words, and the number of complex words. Unlike lexical diversity and sophistication features relying on the variants of token ratio, these scores are sensitive to the length of texts, thus they are classified as surface features.



Figure 1: Significant (p < 0.05) features for gender as DV; model selection used all five categories of features. Labels on the left are feature names; right are group names. Light gray markers show non-significant features.

In summary, we conclude that gender-related style signals are inconsistent across our selected domains and languages.

7 Demographics vs. Topics

As explained in Section 3.3, topics are the second type of information frequently considered to influence classifiers' ability to predict demographic features of authors. Thus, in this section, we analyze topic-based differences in our data and their influence on the classifiers' errors. This section focuses exclusively on the PAN13-EN dataset, which we identified as the most challenging for the classifiers in Section 5.

7.1 Method

To extract topics, we use BERTopic (Grootendorst, 2022) with the default parameters. Specifically, we assign one topic to each post in the training data. To ensure coherent content in topics, we constrain the topic number to 100, covering 75,895 posts. All the remaining texts were assigned the default topic -1, which BERTopic designates for outliers. We exclude these texts from the analysis.

7.2 Data Analysis

Figure 3a shows the five most common topics for different demographic groups (male vs. female, 20s vs. 30s) in the PAN13-EN dataset as well as the

corresponding numbers of articles.¹⁰ The topic of website and marketing (label 0) emerges as the most commonly addressed across all groups. The second ranked topic concerns shoes and handbags (label 1) for all groups except for males in their 20s, for whom love and god (label 2) is ranked second. Apart from order, the top-5 topics within each age group are the same across gender.

Larger differences can be observed across age groups: While labels 2 and 4 appear only in the top-5 topics for authors in their 20s, the topics home and furniture (label 3) and weight and fat (label 6) are in the top-5 only for authors in their 30s. In other words, male and female authors show a relatively strong interest in fashion, love, religion and/or friends in their 20s. However, interests differ across age groups, with other interests being more important in the 30s, independently of gender. Our data is not longitudinal, meaning that while we can identify the topic difference across age populations, we are unable to track the evolving interests of specific individuals over time.

7.3 Error Analysis

Having determined the distribution of topics, we investigate their influence on AP classifiers. Concretely, we perform an error analysis of the RoBERTA classifier, the best-performing model from Section 5. To not compromise our test sets,

¹⁰We exclude the 10s group for data sparsity reasons.



Figure 2: Significant (p < 0.05) features for gender as DV; model selection used only surface and syntactic features. Labels on the left are feature names; right are group names. Light gray markers show non-significant features.

we perform this analysis on the training sets, for which we collect model predictions on gender and age by 5-fold jackknifing. Figure 3b shows absolute and relative errors counts for the discussed groups and topics (for a full breakdown of results by gender and age, see Appendix A, Table 8).

As expected, the most frequent topics in the whole dataset—websites and marketing (label 0), shoes and handbags (label 1), and love, life, and Jesus (label 2)—are also the ones with the highest error counts. Interestingly, a clear pattern can be observed when comparing the distribution of topics against the prediction errors. Topics that are more frequent for one gender, such as shoes and handbags (label 1) and home and furniture (label 3) for females, or greetings and friendship (label 4) for males, tend to be underpredicted. This result can be interpreted as a potential stereotype in the model: Men writing about shoes, handbags, or furnishings will be more frequently mispredicted as women, while women writing about games as men.

We observe an additional pattern for topics such as websites and marketing (label 0) and love, life, and Jesus (label 2). The same general rule applies: Topics more frequent for one gender lead to a higher error rate in identifying another gender. However, errors in these topics appear for both genders, accompanied by a comparable age distribution. This pattern indicates that the topical signals alone are inadequate for effective modeling. Individuals of different genders can discuss similar subjects and are also equally susceptible to being incorrectly classified in such discussions.

8 Conclusion

Gender is a complex attribute, and linguistic signals can be very blurry to distinguish among demographic groups (Liu et al., 2021). AP tasks with binary gender classification tend to oversimplify these nuances, potentially reinforcing stereotypes and misrepresentations. In this work, we revisited the authorship profiling task to understand what bias AP models capture and where they make mistakes¹¹. We started by demonstrating that standard classifiers achieve relatively low accuracy in predicting authors' gender and age, with varying performance across datasets. Our feature analysis revealed that these differences might be attributed to altering demographically related signals. While the results confirmed that surface and syntactic features significantly correlate with the demographics of authors, surprisingly, the strength and direction of these correlations vary across datasets, irrespective of whether they are in the same or different languages. Moreover, the signals that are consistent across datasets are insufficient for a successful transfer of models between them. Finally, we show that a strong signal for classifiers is the topic of the text. However, classifiers that base their decisions more on the content and not style can exhibit biased behaviors, making mistakes in topics stereotypically associated with a particular interaction between gender and age, causing representational harm.

With the evidence above, we emphasize that us-

 $^{^{11}} The \ datasets \ and \ experimental \ code \ for \ this \ work \ are \ available \ at \ https://github.com/HongyuChen2022/AP-task$



(b) percentage of posts with wrongly predicted gender in top 5 frequent topics (%)

Figure 3: Topics in PAN13-EN; numbers on the right show each bar's share of the total dataset.

ing and interpreting results even from AP classifiers that include only features for gender/age prediction necessitates caution, accounting for both the domains and the models' behavior. Similarly to other NLP classification tasks, AP models aim to learn dataset-specific patterns. These patterns, once learned, are then applied to predict information about new texts. However, as we showed, dataset-specific patterns do not reflect general demographic differences. Therefore, practically applying AP models to new data results in decisions that are either based mostly on stereotypes or that have very low accuracy. Therefore, in use cases that require AP models, it is important to understand the differences between the training and application datasets. Moreover, white-box classifiers that are easy to interpret are the better choice for the prediction methods.

Limitations

Methodologically, our work provides a new perspective on the authorship profiling task and its model behavior for gender/age prediction. We emphasize the importance of examining the relations between dataset-specific patterns and general demographic differences.

However, our work would benefit from exploring more extensive datasets and a broader range of languages. Our experiments are limited to English and Spanish, as they are the two most common languages analyzed in authorship profiling tasks for gender and age prediction (HaCohen-Kerner, 2022). Meanwhile, some of our feature categories are limited to the English datasets. Future research should extend beyond surface and syntactic features across languages. Also, the existing datasets we rely on treat gender as a binary variable (male and female), and age is restricted to only three ranges (10s, 20s and 30s). These restrictions drastically limit the insights of our analyses as well as the models' ability to handle more nuanced variations.

Furthermore, mitigating the identified biases and limitations in AP models requires incorporating strategies such as domain adaptation, reducing topic bias, and creating more robust and generalizable features. Exploring these strategies in future work will enhance the robustness and fairness of AP models, contributing to their practical value and ethical application. Future work could also expand to state-of-the-art Large Language Models that perform very well in related tasks and that are potentially capable of representing features that generalize across datasets. Whether these steps will lead to AP models that are more accurate, fairer and ethically sound remains an open question that needs to be addressed in future work.

Acknowledgements

This work is supported by the Ministry of Science, Research, and the Arts, Baden-Württemberg through the project IRIS3D (Reflecting Intelligent Systems for Diversity, Demography, and Democracy, Az. 33-7533-9-19/54/5). Work by the second author was funded by the DFG Emmy Noether program (RO 4848/2-1). We would like to thank the anonymous reviewers for their valuable feedback. We also thank our colleagues Neele Falk and Pema Gurung for the experimental setup and many conversations on this work.

References

- Muhammad Abdul-Mageed, Chiyu Zhang, Arun Rajendran, AbdelRahim Elmadany, Michael Przystupa, and Lyle Ungar. 2019. Sentence-Level BERT and Multi-Task Learning of Age and Gender in Social Media. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1911.00637*.
- Malik Altakrori, Jackie Chi Kit Cheung, and Benjamin C. M. Fung. 2021. The topic confusion task: A novel evaluation scenario for authorship attribution. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2021*, pages 4242–4256, Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Miguel A. Alvarez-Carmona, Adrian Pastor Lopez-Monroy, Manuel Montes y Gómez, Luis Villaseñor-Pineda, and Hugo Jair Escalante. 2015. Inaoe's participation at pan'15: Author profiling task. In *Conference and Labs of the Evaluation Forum*.
- Shlomo Argamon, Russell Horton, Mark Olsen, and Sterling Stuart Stein. 2007. Gender, race, and nationality in black drama, 1850-2000: mining differences in language use in authors and their characters. *Digital Hum*, pages 8–10.
- Shlomo Argamon, Moshe Koppel, Jonathan Fine, and Anat Rachel Shimoni. 2003. Gender, genre, and writing style in formal written texts. *Text & talk*, 23(3):321–346.

- Paul Baker. 2014. Using corpora to analyze gender. A&C Black.
- David Bamman, Jacob Eisenstein, and Tyler Schnoebelen. 2014. Gender identity and lexical variation in social media. *Journal of Sociolinguistics*, 18(2):135– 160.
- Shane Bergsma, Matt Post, and David Yarowsky. 2012. Stylometric analysis of scientific articles. In Proceedings of the 2012 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, pages 327–337, Montréal, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- M Bing, Janet and Victoria L Bergvall. 1998. The question of questions: Beyond binary thinking. In Jennifer Coates, editor, *Language and Gender: A Reader*, pages 496–510. Blackwell, Oxford.
- Katherine Bischoping. 1993. Gender differences in conversation topics, 1922–1990. Sex roles, 28:1–18.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé III, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Language (technology) is power: A critical survey of" bias" in nlp. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2005.14050.*
- Margarita Bugueño and Marcelo Mendoza. 2020. Learning to detect online harassment on twitter with the transformer. In *Machine Learning and Knowledge Discovery in Databases: International Workshops of ECML PKDD 2019, Würzburg, Germany, September 16–20, 2019, Proceedings, Part II*, pages 298–306. Springer.
- Deborah Cameron. 1997. Theoretical debates in feminist linguistics: Questions of sex and gender. *Gender and discourse*, 1:21–36.
- José Cañete, Gabriel Chaperon, Rodrigo Fuentes, Jou-Hui Ho, Hojin Kang, and Jorge Pérez. 2020. Spanish pre-trained bert model and evaluation data. In *PML4DC at ICLR 2020*.
- Wendy Ceccucci, Alan Peslak, SE Kruck, and Patricia Sendall. 2013. Does gender play a role in text messaging? *Issues in Information Systems*, 14(2):186.
- Na Cheng, Xiaoling Chen, Rajarathnam Chandramouli, and KP Subbalakshmi. 2009. Gender Identification from E-mails. In 2009 IEEE Symposium on Computational Intelligence and Data Mining, pages 154–158. IEEE.
- Scott A Crossley, Kristopher Kyle, and Danielle S Mc-Namara. 2017. Sentiment analysis and social cognition engine (seance): An automatic tool for sentiment, social cognition, and social-order analysis. *Behavior research methods*, 49:803–821.
- Mats Dahllöf. 2023. Author gender and text characteristics in contemporary swedish fiction. *Language and Literature*, page 09639470231223533.

- Javier De la Rosa, Eduardo G Ponferrada, Paulo Villegas, Pablo Gonzalez de Prado Salas, Manu Romero, and Maria Grandury. 2022. Bertin: Efficient pretraining of a spanish language model using perplexity sampling. *Procesamiento del Lenguaje Natural*, 68(0):13–23.
- Caio Deutsch and Ivandré Paraboni. 2023. Authorship attribution using author profiling classifiers. *Natural Language Engineering*, 29(1):110–137.
- Sunipa Dev, Masoud Monajatipoor, Anaelia Ovalle, Arjun Subramonian, Jeff Phillips, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2021. Harms of gender exclusivity and challenges in non-binary representation in language technologies. In Proceedings of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 1968–1994, Online and Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. BERT: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 4171–4186, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Rafael Dias and Ivandré Paraboni. 2020. Cross-domain author gender classification in brazilian portuguese. In *Proceedings of the Twelfth Language Resources and Evaluation Conference*, pages 1227–1234.
- Chris Emmery, Ákos Kádár, Grzegorz Chrupała, and Walter Daelemans. 2022. Cyberbullying classifiers are sensitive to model-agnostic perturbations. In *Proceedings of the Thirteenth Language Resources and Evaluation Conference*, pages 2976–2988, Marseille, France. European Language Resources Association.
- Maël Fabien, Esau Villatoro-Tello, Petr Motlicek, and Shantipriya Parida. 2020. BertAA : BERT finetuning for Authorship Attribution. In *Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on Natural Language Processing (ICON)*, pages 127–137, Indian Institute of Technology Patna, Patna, India. NLP Association of India (NLPAI).
- Neele Falk and Gabriella Lapesa. 2022. Reports of personal experiences and stories in argumentation: datasets and analysis. In *Proceedings of the 60th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers)*, pages 5530–5553, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- R Flesch. 1948. A new readability yardstick journal of applied psychology 32: 221–233.
- Eduard Fosch-Villaronga, Adam Poulsen, Roger Andre Søraa, and BHM Custers. 2021. A little bird told me your gender: Gender inferences in social media. *Information Processing & Management*, 58(3):102541.

- Maarten R. Grootendorst. 2022. Bertopic: Neural topic modeling with a class-based tf-idf procedure. *ArXiv*, abs/2203.05794.
- Yaakov HaCohen-Kerner. 2022. Survey on profiling age and gender of text authors. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 199:117140.
- Lingshu Hu and Michael Wayne Kearney. 2021. Gendered tweets: Computational text analysis of gender differences in political discussion on twitter. *Journal* of Language and Social Psychology, 40(4):482–503.
- Xinyu Hu, Weihan Ou, Sudipta Acharya, Steven HH Ding, Ryan D'Gama, and Hanbo Yu. 2023. Tdrlm: Stylometric learning for authorship verification by topic-debiasing. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 233:120745.
- Hyewon Jang, Qi Yu, and Diego Frassinelli. 2023. Figurative language processing: A linguistically informed feature analysis of the behavior of language models and humans. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL 2023*, pages 9816–9832, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Corina Koolen and Andreas van Cranenburgh. 2017. These are not the stereotypes you are looking for: Bias and fairness in authorial gender attribution. In Proceedings of the First ACL Workshop on Ethics in Natural Language Processing, pages 12–22, Valencia, Spain. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Moshe Koppel, Shlomo Argamon, and Anat Rachel Shimoni. 2002. Automatically categorizing written texts by author gender. *Literary and linguistic computing*, 17(4):401–412.
- Kristopher Kyle, Scott Crossley, and Cynthia Berger. 2018. The tool for the automatic analysis of lexical sophistication (taales): version 2.0. *Behavior research methods*, 50:1030–1046.
- Kristopher Kyle, Scott A Crossley, and Scott Jarvis. 2021. Assessing the validity of lexical diversity indices using direct judgements. *Language Assessment Quarterly*, 18(2):154–170.
- Brian Larson. 2017. Gender as a variable in naturallanguage processing: Ethical considerations. In *Proceedings of the First ACL Workshop on Ethics in Natural Language Processing*, pages 1–11, Valencia, Spain. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Geoffrey Leech et al. 1992. 100 million words of english: the british national corpus (bnc). *Language research*, 28(1):1–13.
- Giada Lettieri, Giacomo Handjaras, Erika Bucci, Pietro Pietrini, and Luca Cecchetti. 2023. How male and female literary authors write about affect across cultures and over historical periods. *Affective Science*, 4(4):770–780.

- Tatiana Litvinova, Pavel Seredin, Olga Litvinova, and Olga Zagorovskaya. 2018. Identification of gender of the author of a written text using topic-independent features. *Pertanika Journal of Social Sciences & Humanities*, 26(1).
- Haochen Liu, Wei Jin, Hamid Karimi, Zitao Liu, and Jiliang Tang. 2021. The authors matter: Understanding and mitigating implicit bias in deep text classification. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2105.02778*.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Roberta: A Robustly Optimized Bert Pretraining Approach. arXiv preprint arXiv:1907.11692.
- Octavio Loyola-González. 2019. Black-box vs. whitebox: Understanding their advantages and weaknesses from a practical point of view. *IEEE Access*, 7:154096–154113.
- Pushkar Mishra, Marco Del Tredici, Helen Yannakoudakis, and Ekaterina Shutova. 2018. Author profiling for abuse detection. In *Proceedings of the* 27th International Conference on Computational Linguistics, pages 1088–1098, Santa Fe, New Mexico, USA. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Damián Morales Sánchez, Antonio Moreno, and María Dolores Jiménez López. 2022. A white-box sociolinguistic model for gender detection. *Applied Sciences*, 12(5).
- Arjun Mukherjee and Bing Liu. 2010. Improving gender classification of blog authors. In *Proceedings* of the 2010 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 207–217, Cambridge, MA. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Debajyoti Mukhopadhyay, Kirti Mishra, Kriti Mishra, and Laxmi Tiwari. 2021. Cyber Bullying Detection Based on Twitter Dataset. In *Machine Learning for Predictive Analysis: Proceedings of ICTIS 2020*, pages 87–94. Springer.
- Francisco Manuel Rangel Pardo and Paolo Rosso. 2016. On the impact of emotions on author profiling. *Inf. Process. Manag.*, 52:73–92.
- Fabian Pedregosa, Gaël Varoquaux, Alexandre Gramfort, Vincent Michel, Bertrand Thirion, Olivier Grisel, Mathieu Blondel, Peter Prettenhofer, Ron Weiss, Vincent Dubourg, et al. 2011. Scikit-learn: Machine learning in python. *the Journal of machine Learning research*, 12:2825–2830.
- Juan Pizarro. 2019. Using n-grams to detect bots on twitter. In *CLEF* (*Working Notes*).
- Francisco Rangel, Paolo Rosso, Moshe Koppel, Efstathios Stamatatos, and Giacomo Inches. 2013. Overview of the Author Profiling Task at PAN 2013. In *CLEF conference on multilingual and multimodal information access evaluation*, pages 352–365. CELCT.

- Cynthia Rudin. 2019. Stop explaining black box machine learning models for high stakes decisions and use interpretable models instead. *Nature machine intelligence*, 1(5):206–215.
- Laurie A Rudman and Peter Glick. 2021. *The social psychology of gender: How power and intimacy shape gender relations*. Guilford Publications.
- J Schler, M Koppel, S Argamon, and JW Pennebaker. 2006. Effects of Age and Gender on Blogging in Proceedings of 2006 AAAI Spring Symposium on Computational Approaches for Analyzing Weblogs. In Proceedings of 2006 AAAI Spring Symposium on Computational Approaches for Analyzing Weblogs, volume 1.
- Juan Soler-Company and Leo Wanner. 2018. On the Role of Syntactic Dependencies and Discourse Relations for Author and Gender Identification. *Pattern Recognition Letters*, 105:87–95.
- Ben Verhoeven, Iza Škrjanec, and Senja Pollak. 2017. Gender profiling for Slovene Twitter communication: the influence of gender marking, content and style. In *Proceedings of the 6th Workshop on Balto-Slavic Natural Language Processing*, pages 119–125, Valencia, Spain. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Xiufang Xia. 2013. Gender differences in using language. *Theory & Practice in Language Studies*, 3(8).
- Zhilin Yang, Zihang Dai, Yiming Yang, Jaime Carbonell, Russ R Salakhutdinov, and Quoc V Le. 2019. Xlnet: Generalized autoregressive pretraining for language understanding. Advances in neural information processing systems, 32.
- Frederik Zuiderveen Borgesius et al. 2018. Discrimination, Artificial Intelligence, and Algorithmic Decision-making. *línea*], *Council of Europe*.

A Appendix

EN	BERT	bert-base-uncased
EN	RoBERTa	roberta-base
EN	XLNet	xlnet-base-cased
ES	BERT	bert-base-spanish-wwm-uncased
ES	RoBERTa	bertin-roberta-base-spanish

Table 3: Hugging Face models used for black-box classifiers.

	Ger	nder		Age		
	PAN13	BLOG	PAN	3 BLOG		
Majority	0.001	0.000	0.204	4 0.000		
ĽR Í	0.004	0.000	0.00	1 0.001		
DT	0.003	0.003	0.004	4 0.011		
RF	0.003	0.005	0.024	4 0.019		
NB	0.000	0.000	0.00	0.000 0		
BERT	0.023	0.012	0.01	7 0.012		
RoBERTa	0.003	0.017	0.00	8 0.006		
XLNet	0.002	0.016	0.01	3 0.007		

Table 4: Standard deviation for results in Table 2.

A.1 Best Model Selection

fig. 4 describes the syntax we use in R for two types of regression models being applied to PAN13-EN and BLOG datasets:a binomial logistic regression classifier (LR) for gender classification and a multinomial logistic regression classifier (MLR) for age classification.

table 9 shows the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) metrics we use to determine the model that best fits the data. Two scenarios for models are assessed: models with our four groups of features and also with gender/age information controlled; and models with four groups of features only. Lower BIC scores indicate a more favorable fit. For PAN13-EN, model 5 (gender prediction, controlled for age) with a BIC score of 102978 and model 5 (age prediction, controlled for gender) with 113900 are selected. In the case of PAN13-ES, adding gender/age information of authors does not improve the scores of models as much as in the case of PAN13, and also due to limited feature groups available for PAN13-ES, we have selected model 2 (gender prediction) with a BIC score of 104489 and model 2 (age prediction), with 119938. For BLOG, though exposed with more feature options, only surface and syntactic features give models the lowest BIC scores, where model 2 (gender prediction)

and model 2 (age prediction, gender controlled) emerged as the preferred choices, with BIC scores of 5467 and 8115, respectively.

```
1 glm(Gender ~ Group A, family = 'binomial

', data = PAN13/Blogs)
2 glm(Gender ~ Group A + Group B, family =

'binomial', data = PAN13/Blogs)
3 ...
4 glm(Gender ~ Group A + Group B + Group C

+ Group D + Group E, family = '

binomial', data = PAN13/Blogs)
1 multinom(Age ~ Group A, family = '

multinomial', data = PAN13/Blogs)
2 multinom(Age ~ Group A + Group B, family

= 'multinomial', data = PAN13/Blogs)
3 ...
4 multinom(Age ~ Group A + Group B + Group

C + Group D + Group E, family = '

multinomial', data = PAN13/Blogs)
```

Figure 4: Binomial logistic regression for gender (top) and multinomial logistic regression for age (bottom).

	PAN1	3-EN		
	train	test		
male	37,949/24,477,667	12,648/5,696,380		
female	37,949/28,233,153	12,711/7,075,832		
10s	2,500/1,969,032	1776/1,094,296		
20s	42,598/26,476,213	9175/2,988,055		
30s	30,800/24,477,667	14,408/8,689,861		
Total	75,898/52,922,912	25,359/12,772,212		
	PAN1	PAN13-ES		
	train	test		
male	37,950/10,311,857	4,080/991181		
female	37,950/9,420,533	4,080/877,135		
10s	2,500/411,742	288/56,518		
20s	42,600/10,363,481	4,608/1,042,463		
30s	30,800/8,957,167	3,264/769,335		
Total	75,900/19,732,390	8,160/1,868,316		
	BL	CG		
	train	test		
male	2,096/15,451,310	1,931/12,986,336		
female	2,094/15,502,898	1,931/14,161,124		
10s	1,400/7982322	1,648/8424833		
20s	1,398/11,419,916	1,616/12,906,272		
30s	1,392/11,551,970	598/5,816,355		
Total	4,200/30,888,893	3,862/27,147,460		

Table 5: Statistics of the data used for analysis: number of files (authors) / number of words.

		Gender			Age		
	PAN13-EN	PAN13-ES	BLOG	PAN13-EN	PAN13-ES	BLOG	
Majority	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.126	
ĽR Í	0.000	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.000	0.001	
DT	0.002	0.004	0.004	0.001	0.003	0.004	
RF	0.012	0.019	0.030	0.023	0.016	0.027	
NB	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
BERT	0.004	0.001	0.003	0.009	0.004	0.006	
RoBERTa	0.003	0.007	0.005	0.005	0.003	0.005	
XLNet	0.008	-	0.005	0.005	-	0.006	

ruble o. Stundard deviation for results in ruble r
--

	Gender			Age		
	PAN13-EN	PAN13-ES	BLOG	PAN13-EN	PAN13-ES	BLOG
Majority	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.56	0.56	0.33
ĹR	0.58	0.66	0.74	0.61	0.67	0.70
DT	0.54	0.56	0.61	0.54	0.55	0.53
RF	0.58	0.63	0.71	0.60	0.63	0.63
NB	0.55	0.55	0.61	0.46	0.45	0.52
BERT	0.58	0.71	0.76	0.60	0.68	0.65
RoBERTa	0.59	0.70	0.79	0.62	0.67	0.73
XLNet	0.58	-	0.75	0.62	-	0.71

Table 7: Accuracy for gender and age prediction on 5-fold evaluation of training datasets.



Figure 5: Significant (p < 0.05) features for age as DV; model selection used all five categories of features.



Figure 6: Significant (p < 0.05) features for age as DV; model selection used only surface and syntactic features.

		10	10s		20s		20s	
		correct	error	correc	t error	correct	error	– Total
	PAN13-EN	860	390	14,79	3 6,506	9,529	5,871	37,949
female	PAN13-ES	925	325	14,95	9 6,341	10,621	4,779	37,950
	BLOG	564	136	54	0 159	553	144	2,096
	PAN13-EN	461	789	11,39	3 9,906	7,937	7,463	37,949
male	PAN13-ES	836	414	15,00	3 6,297	10,521	4,879	37,950
	BLOG	518	182	57	4 125	553	142	2,094

Table 8: Correct and error cases in predicting gender by RoBERTa. Highest number of errors in each column bolded.

_	m1	m2	m3	m4	m5	
PAN13-EN	104,300 104,274	104,341 104,314	103,941 103,850	103,804 103,672	103,195 102,978	
BLOG	5,581 5,541	5,467 5,467	5,617 5,558	5,702 5,643	5,717 5,658	
PAN13-ES	104,629	104,489				
	Age					
_	m1	m2	m3	m4	m5	
PAN13-EN	118,048 118,022	117,952 117,952	116,506 116,416	115,272 115,139	114,132 113,900	
BLOG	8,349 8,304	8,177 8,115	8,473 8,411	8,640 8,578	8,626 8,626	

Table 9: BIC score for gender and age prediction model 1 to model 5.

Towards Fairer NLP Models: Handling Gender Bias In Classification Tasks

Nasim Sobhani and Sarah Jane Delany SFI Centre for Research Training in Machine Learning Technological University Dublin nasim.x.sobhani@mytudublin.ie, sarahjane.delany@tudublin.ie

Abstract

Measuring and mitigating gender bias in natural language processing (NLP) systems is crucial to ensure fair and ethical AI. However, a key challenge is the lack of explicit gender information in many textual datasets. This paper proposes two techniques, Identity Term Sampling (ITS) and Identity Term Pattern Extraction (ITPE), as alternatives to template-based approaches for measuring gender bias in text data. These approaches identify test data for measuring gender bias in the dataset itself and can be used to measure gender bias on any NLP classifier. We demonstrate the use of these approaches for measuring gender bias across various NLP classification tasks, including hate speech detection, fake news identification, and sentiment analysis. Additionally, we show how these techniques can benefit gender bias mitigation, proposing a variant of Counterfactual Data Augmentation (CDA), called Gender-Selective CDA (GS-CDA), which reduces the amount of data augmentation required in training data while effectively mitigating gender bias and maintaining overall classification performance.

1 Introduction

In recent years, there has been a significant growth in research analyzing biases present in natural language processing (NLP) systems and models. This includes studies on biases present in embedding spaces, which are representations of words and sentences generated from large text data (Bolukbasi et al., 2016; Caliskan et al., 2017; Gonen and Goldberg, 2019; Zhao et al., 2017; May et al., 2019)and in large language models (Wan et al., 2023; Kotek et al., 2023).

Researchers have investigated how these biases manifest in NLP systems across a range of tasks, coreference resolution (Rudinger et al., 2017; Zhao et al., 2018), machine translation (Vanmassenhove et al., 2021; Savoldi et al., 2021; Stanovsky et al., 2019), sentiment analysis (Kiritchenko and Mohammad, 2018), and hate speech/toxicity detection (Park et al., 2018; Dixon et al., 2018), among others. As NLP models are trained on human-generated text data, they can acquire and propagate societal biases present in that data when deployed in realworld applications, leading to concerns about discriminating outputs (Park et al., 2018).

Machine learning models can be deliberately designed with a specific bias aligned with their intended purpose. For example, a toxic comment detector is meant to be biased toward giving higher scores to actual toxic comments over non-toxic ones. However, such models are not intended to discriminate based on attributes like gender that might be evident in comments. If a model exhibits this behavior by scoring comments differently due to gender references, it is considered an unintended and undesirable bias. While the bias towards accurately identifying toxic content is the intended goal, any bias that leads to unfair treatment or discrimination based on attributes such as gender is regarded as an unintended bias that needs to be addressed (Dixon et al., 2018). Biased algorithmic outcomes from AI systems can negatively impact users, creating a feedback loop that amplifies existing biases (Mehrabi et al., 2021). These harmful effects can impact different groups based on the nature of the bias, such as women facing discrimination from gender biases, minorities affected by racial biases, or specific age groups impacted by age-related biases. Evaluating and mitigating these unintended biases is crucial for developing trustworthy, fair, and ethical AI systems.

Bias Statement.In textual classification tasks, gender bias refers to the presence of systematic errors or unfairness in predictions related to gender within the text data. Our key concern is the potential allocational harms arising from such systematic gender biases in NLP models, where the systems may disproportionately misclassify or make inaccurate predictions for text associated with a particular gender group (Blodgett et al., 2016; Barocas et al., 2017). For instance, a sentiment analysis model might demonstrate gender bias by associating certain emotions or sentiments more strongly with one gender, regardless of the context (Jentzsch and Turan, 2022). Hate speech detection models can also display gender biases towards specific identity terms due to factors like uneven distribution in datasets and excessive use of certain identity terms in hate speech sentences. For instance, terms such as "women" and "feminism" may often be associated with sexist comments in benchmark datasets, leading to incorrect generalisations by the model (Park et al., 2018; Mozafari et al., 2020). This could lead to unfair censorship or moderation applied disproportionately to one gender. Similarly, biased fake news detectors may struggle more to identify misinformation targeting or involving females versus males. Such gender disparities in NLP system performance can propagate societal biases and enable discriminatory downstream impacts. Our normative stance is that an ideal NLP system should perform equally well regardless of the gender mentioned or associated with the input text. Significant differences in accuracy across genders in core classification tasks is an undesirable outcome that can enable allocational harms through unfair allocation of negative consequences like censorship, spread of misinformation, or mischaracterisation.

A primary method for identifying gender bias in an NLP system is to measure whether the performance differs across genders. However, one of the main challenges in many textual corpora is the absence of explicit gender identification.

Gender Bias Evaluation Testsets (GBETs), named by (Sun et al., 2019) have been employed to address this challenge. GBETs facilitate gender identification by creating synthetic test sets that isolate specific groups of individuals. This enables the evaluation of bias across various natural language processing (NLP) tasks. There are three types of GBETs (Stanczak and Augenstein, 2021), template-based datasets, natural languagebased datasets, and datasets generated for probing language models. The template approach involves creating sentence templates with words related to gender and the specific task being evaluated. From each template sentence individual sentences are generated, one for each gender. The performance of the NLP system is then compared across the groups of this synthetic test data, one group for

each gender, allowing for the measurement of gender bias. This gender identity template approach has been used (across binary genders) for various NLP tasks, including abusive language detection (Dixon et al., 2018; Park et al., 2018), sentiment analysis (Kiritchenko and Mohammad, 2018), and coreference resolution (Zhao et al., 2018; Rudinger et al., 2017). Additionally, the gender identity template has been extended to include non-binary genders (Sobhani et al., 2023).

While template-based approaches offer a way to create gender bias evaluation datasets, they face certain limitations. The artificially generated text may not accurately represent the true distribution and content of real-world data for the target task. Additionally, the templates need to be carefully designed for each specific downstream task, lacking generalisability across different NLP applications. Furthermore, studies have demonstrated that the performance of these synthetically generated test datasets on the intended downstream tasks is often poor.

In this work, we propose two techniques to identify gender in natural language text to facilitate measuring gender bias in NLP systems, aiming to overcome the limitations of template-based approaches. The first technique, Identity Term Sampling (ITS), is a knowledge-light approach built upon the work by (Sobhani and Delany, 2022) which we further extend in this study. The second technique, Identity Term Pattern Extraction (ITPE), is a more knowledge-intensive alternative that we propose to address the shortcomings of ITS. Both techniques involve selecting the test set used to measure gender bias in the NLP model from the main dataset itself, ensuring that the test data aligns with the training dataset for the target task and is not synthetically produced like template data. By leveraging the dataset itself, these techniques enable a more reliable and representative evaluation of gender bias within the NLP model's intended domain and data characteristics.

We apply these new techniques, ITS and ITPE, to measure gender bias across a diverse range of natural language processing classification tasks involving textual data about people. Such tasks, including hate speech detection, fake news identification, and sentiment analysis, are more likely to exhibit gender bias due to the presence of personal references and mentions within the text.

In addition, we use the ITPE approach in a proposed variant of Counterfactual Data Augmentation (CDA)(Lu et al., 2020), which we call Gender-Selective CDA (GS-CDA). This variant selectively applies CDA only to the gender-identified instances in the training set, using our proposed ITPE technique. We demonstrate that GS-CDA effectively reduces gender bias gaps (in some cases more than CDA itself) while maintaining overall classification performance with the significant benefit of reducing the computational overhead of augmenting the entire training data.

2 Approach

To address the challenge of the lack of gender identification for evaluating gender bias in NLP models, we propose two distinct techniques: Identity Term Sampling (ITS) which is a knowledgelight approach, and Identity Term Pattern Extraction (ITPE), a more knowledge-intensive approach. These techniques aim to determine whether the natural language text is talking about a person and to identify the gender of that person by leveraging gender identity terms and associated patterns within the text. By applying these techniques to datasets that may be used to train models for downstream classification tasks, a section of the dataset, with gender identified, can be used as test data to measure the gender bias of the model built on that training data.

Identity Term Sampling (ITS) uses the frequency of gender identity terms in a data instance to identify the gender in a sample of text that could be about a person. Table 1 presents the list of gender identity terms used by ITS. The basis of this is a list of gendered nouns from (Hoyle et al., 2019) augmented by additions pronouns and nouns such as "her/his/him," "herself/himself," "guy/gal," "male/female," and "dad/mum/mom."

ITS can assign gender to those data instances in a dataset that contains at least one gender identity term. In each data instance, the frequency of male and female identity terms listed in Table 1 as well as words ending with "man/men/woman/women" is counted within the text content. The gender assigned to the data instance is the gender with the larger frequency of identity terms. Data instances with equal numbers of male and female gender identity terms are not identified with gender as there was no obvious gender. ITS is quite a naive approach and does not provide a large number of gender-assigned examples. Therefore, we explored a knowledge-intensive approach to identify more

Male		Female		
Singular	Plural	Singular	Plural	
man	men	woman	women	
boy	boys	girl	girls	
father	fathers	mother	mothers	
son	sons	daughter	daughters	
brother	brothers	sister	sisters	
husband	husbands	wife	wives	
uncle	uncles	aunt	aunts	
nephew	nephews	niece	nieces	
emperor	emperors	empress	empresses	
king	kings	queen	queens	
prince	princes	princess	princesses	
duke	dukes	duchess	duchesses	
lord	lords	lady	ladies	
knight	knights	dame	dames	
waiter	waiters	waitress	waitresses	
actor	actors	actress	actresses	
god	gods	goddess	goddesses	
policeman	policemen	policewoman	policewomen	
postman	postmen	postwoman	postwomen	
hero	heroes	heroine	heroines	
wizard	wizards	witch	witches	
steward	stewards	stewardess	stewardesses	
guy	guys	gal	gals	
male	males	female	females	
dad	dads	mum/mom	mums/moms	
he	-	she	_	
his/him	_	her/hers	_	

Table 1: Seed words concepts

gender-assigned instances in the datasets. **Identity Term Pattern Extraction (ITPE)** is our proposed more knowledge-intensive approach which leverages a comprehensive set of part-ofspeech (POS) patterns that contain gender identity terms.

The algorithm splits the data instance into individual sentences and parses each sentence to look for the POS patterns listed in Table 2. When a pattern is found, it is checked against the gender identity terms in Table 1 and the sentence is assigned the gender of the matched identity term. The approach works through the pattern list in the order stated. Once a gendered match is found, the instance has a gender identity.

In cases where there are multiple occurrences of the matched pattern, the algorithm counts the frequency of male and female gender identity terms within the data instance. The gender with the higher cumulative frequency across these patterns is then assigned as the label for that instance. In cases where the data instance contains multiple sentences, the algorithm determines the overall gender label for that data instance by selecting the majority gender across all sentences.

To illustrate how ITPE and ITS operate in practice, we can examine the sentence:

Order	POS Pattern	Examples
1	subject	he, she, my mother, that guy
2	pronoun-noun	his cookbook, his name, her choice, her face
3	adjective-noun	male oppression, stupid man, female announcer, female character
4	noun-noun	boy scout, boy teams, women comedian, woman commentator
5	pronoun-verb	he did, he thinks, she changed, she thought
6	proposition-pronoun	to him, for him, about her, to her
7	verb-pronoun	tell him, reassuring him, loves her, find her
8	determiner-noun	the man, that boy, a girl, this woman
9	pronoun-adjective-noun	his real name, her first mate

Table 2: POS patterns used for ITPE with examples

"Despite facing criticism from some men in the industry, the pioneering female CEO confidently presented her innovative strategy to the board, earning praise from her colleagues for her bold vision."

ITPE would first identify the subject "the pioneering female CEO". This matches the subject pattern (Order 1 in Table 2), and "female" is a gender-specific term. Consequently, ITPE would immediately label this sentence as female and terminate the process. In contrast, ITS would count the frequency of gender identity terms from Table 1. In this sentence, ITS would count the female terms "female" and "her" (which appear three times), and the male term "men". With five female terms and one male term, ITS would assign a female gender label to this sentence. This example demonstrates how both techniques successfully identify the gender in the text, through different mechanisms.

2.1 Evaluation

The performance of the ITS and ITPE techniques is evaluated on six natural language datasets to assess their accuracy in identifying gender. The selected datasets are all related to people and include the gender (male or female) of the person in the text. These datasets, described in Table 3, include:

BiasBios (De-Arteaga et al., 2019), a dataset of 397,340 biographies across 28 different occupations each with gender identified as male/female.

Wizard of Wikipedia (Dinan et al., 2018), consisting of conversations between two people discussing a topic related to Wikipedia biographies. It contains approximately 11K conversations annotated with "ABOUT" labels regarding man/woman/non-binary (Dinan et al., 2020). For validating our technique, we only used the dataset instances related to man/woman.

WikiBias (Wan et al., 2023) is a collection of approximately 11K personal biography datasets

scraped from Wikipedia, including demographic and biographic information (Sun and Peng, 2021).

The gender subset of the **StereoSet** dataset (Nadeem et al., 2021), consisting of 378 data instances manually labeled as male/female.

CryanSets dataset (Soundararajan et al., 2023) is generated using ChatGPT from lexicons of gender-coded words from gender-coded lexicons. It includes gendered language that captures and reflects stereotypical characteristics or traits of a particular gender. From the datasets mentioned in this paper, we combined the Cryan dataset sets 1, 2, and 3, resulting in a combined dataset of approximately 8K instances including male and female labels.

Jigsaw, Unintended Bias in Toxicity Classification, a dataset from Kaggle¹ which contains comments where each comment is accompanied by a toxicity label. A subset of comments have been labeled with values ranging from 0 to 1, representing the extent of various identity attributes (such as male, female, ethnicity, etc) in the comment. For our purposes, we only consider the subset of data with male/female values greater than 0.5, resulting in approximately 63K data instances which include male and female labels.

Dataset	Gende	r Distribution(%)	Size		
	F	Μ	#instances		
BiasBios	46.2	53.8	396616		
Wizard	19.7	80.3	9481		
Wikibias	46.1	53.9	11452		
StereoSet	49.5	50.5	378		
CryanSets	49.7	50.3	7894		
Jigsaw	59.0	41.0	63454		

Table 3: Characteristics of datasets used to evaluate ITS and $\ensuremath{\text{ITPE}}$

ITS and ITPE were run on each of these datasets and those data instances that were successfully assigned gender were identified. Performance was

¹https://kaggle.com/competitions/

jigsaw-unintended-bias-in-toxicity-classification

	ITPE			ITS					
Dataset	Precision(%)				Precision(%)				Overlap
	Overall	F	М	GI%	Overall	F	Μ	GI%	%
BiasBios	99.6	99.9	99.3	96.3	99.9	99.9	99.9	95.5	98.7
Wizard	94.8	89.4	96.8	50.0	95.4	90.4	97.0	45.1	87.2
Wikibias	99.0	99.4	98.6	84.1	95.8	97.7	94.2	79.7	94.4
StereoSet	94.4	97.0	92.1	95.2	95.2	96.2	94.0	82.0	85.6
CryanSets	99.4	99.4	99.3	84.7	99.5	99.4	99.6	74.2	79.8
Jigsaw	81.8	93.8	71.9	83.9	89.0	96.9	81.2	77.1	74.2

Table 4: Performance of ITS and ITPE Gender Identification Techniques. Overall Precision, F% (Female Precision), M% (Male Precision), amount of Gender-Identified(GI) data using ITPE and ITS, Overlap between ITPE and ITS

evaluated by measuring precision, the percentage of those data instances with gender identified, that had the gender correctly assigned. Since these techniques are designed to identify gender in a subset of instances in the dataset (which can subsequently be used to measure gender bias) we are only concerned with the accuracy of the instances extracted by the techniques and not necessarily all instances in the dataset.

Table 4 shows the results of applying ITPE and ITS on these datasets which includes the overall precision and the precision of female and male instances extracted from each dataset. It also gives the percentage of data instances from each dataset, labeled GI%, that were identified with a gender.

When comparing the overall precision, and the precision of male and female gender identification between the ITPE and ITS approaches, we observe that the differences in precision are relatively small, with both approaches demonstrating high precision in accurately identifying gender in textual datasets.

Looking at the numbers, we can observe that for all datasets, the GI% column has higher percentages for ITPE as compared to ITS. By using NLP techniques the ITPE technique is able to identify a larger amount of data instances with gender information than the ITS approach.

Generally, both ITPE and ITS successfully identify the gender over 80% of instances except in the Wizard dataset. This lower percentage could be attributed to the fact that the Wizard dataset contains more names than gendered pronouns or other explicit gender references. Since ITPE and ITS primarily rely on identifying gendered words and pronouns, they struggle to determine the gender for instances that do not include any such genderspecific terms.

The Overlap column in Table 4 provides insights

into the intersection between the data instances gender identified by ITPE and ITS techniques. This overlap is measured using the Jaccard index, a measure of similarity between two sets. A higher Jaccard Index indicates a greater overlap between the data instances identified by both techniques. Our examination reveals that the overlap between ITPE and ITS is high but the techniques do differ in what they identify.

Both ITPE and ITS exhibit high precision in accurately identifying the gender of data instances across various datasets, with ITPE achieving a higher percentage of gender-labeled dataset instances compared to ITS.

3 Measuring Bias in an NLP Task

To evaluate the efficacy of the proposed ITPE technique in measuring bias for various NLP tasks, we apply it to identify gender on several datasets that do not initially provide gender identification. We then use this to measure gender bias on a number of different types of NLP classification tasks, including hate speech detection, fake news identification, and sentiment analysis. We focus on using ITPE as it generally can identify gender for a larger number of data instances in a dataset.

We use three hate speech datasets, two fake news, and a sentiment analysis dataset. Table 5 gives the characteristics of each dataset used including size and class distribution.

The **HateSpeech** dataset (Waseem and Hovy, 2016) is a collection of almost 17K tweets consisting of 3,383 samples of sexist content, 1,972 samples of racist content, and 11,559 neutral samples. The dataset is transformed into a binary classification problem by labeling the sexist and racist samples as the "offensive" class and neutral samples as the "non-offensive" class.
Tack	Detect	Class	Class(%)	Gender-	Identified (%)	Size	
IdSK	Dataset	Class		F (%)	M (%)	SIZE	
		Offensive	31	25.2	9.5	171	
Hate Speech	HS (W& H)	Non-offensive	69	11.5	4.3	1/K	
Detection		Offensive	83	12.0	9.0	2412	
	HS (Davidson)	Non-offensive	17	5.1	11.4	24N	
		Offensive	53	18.0	18.0	25V	
	SBIC	Non-offensive	47	9.0	14.0	33 K	
	WEI Folzo	Real	51	7.0	14.2	711	
Fake News	WELFAKE	Fake	49	2.0	6.3	/1K	
Identification	FakaNawa (Kagala)	Real	48	1.2	6.0	111	
	rakelnews (Raggie)	Fake	52	9.0	19.0	44N	
Sontimont Analysis	MOII	Positive	69	5.0	5.0	214	
Semiment Analysis	WIOJI	Negative	31	4.0	4.0	ZIVI	

Table 5: Class distribution, percentage of gender-identified data, and overall size for each dataset

The **HateSpeech and Offensive** dataset (Davidson et al., 2019) is a collection of almost 24k tweets. The majority of tweets are considered to be offensive language (77%), almost 17% are labeled as non-offensive and only almost 6% of the tweets are flagged as hate speech samples. By assigning the "offensive" class label to samples exhibiting hate speech and offensive, and the "non-offensive" label to non-offensive samples, we convert the dataset into a binary classification problem.

The **Social Bias Inference Corpus (SBIC)** dataset (Sap et al., 2020) over 44K posts collected from various sources of potentially biased online content including Twitter, Reddit, and hate sites. Each post is annotated by crowdsourcing workers on Amazon Mechanical Turk, with different annotations per post. For classification in this study, we selected the data with offensive and non-offensive categories as the target labels.

The Word Embedding over Linguistic Features for Fake News Detection (WELFake) dataset (Verma et al., 2021) consists of about 71K news articles with 35K real and about 37K fake news from popular news datasets. The dataset includes the title and body of the news, for the purpose of gender identification we only used the title.

The second **FakeNews** dataset is a Kaggle dataset (Lifferth, 2018) consisting of about 44K instances, each labeled as reliable or unreliable. Each article in the dataset is provided with both a title and body text. However, for the purpose of gender bias evaluation and classification, we only use the title.

The **MOJI** dataset (Blodgett et al., 2016) contains over 2M tweets that are used for sentiment analysis, categorising them as either positive or negative. Additionally, the dataset provides details regarding the type of English used in the tweets, which is a sensitive attribute in fairness-aware methods. This attribute distinguishes between African-American English (AAE) and Standard-American English(SAE).

For the classification tasks, we use a pre-trained BERT model (Devlin et al., 2019) from the Hugging Face library (Wolf et al., 2020). The datasets are split into stratified training and holdout testing splits, with an 80/20 ratio. The hyperparameters of the model are tuned on a 20% split of the training data for each dataset. The full holdout test split is used to measure the overall task performance (accuracy) of the models. To evaluate classification performance, we use average class accuracy (ACA).

Measures for evaluating gender bias in NLP systems are often built upon the work of Hardt et al. (2016) on equal opportunity and equalized odds. These measures utilize the gender distributions in the training data, rather than insisting on equal outcomes for both genders regardless of the ground truth prevalence (democratic parity). Equality of opportunity considers where the predictions are independent of gender but conditional on the ground truth or positive outcome in the training data. In this work, we adapt the TPR_{gap} measure used by (Prost et al., 2019), which measures the difference in the True Positive Rates across genders classification task, to a more general measure $Class_{aap}$ to quantify disparities in a model's performance across genders. For a given class c, the $Class_{qap}$ is defined as Equation 1.

$$Class_{gap}(c) = TPR_{c,female} - TPR_{c,male}$$
 (1)

Where $TPR_{c,g}$ is the True Positive Rate for class c and gender g,

A positive value for $Class_{gap}$ indicates a bias

	Data		Cla	assgap	Class	ACC(%)	ACA '	Template	e-based	ACA	
	Data		Off Non-Off O		Off	Non-Off	(%)		(%)		
-	HS (W	& H)	0.093	-0.086	85.5	80.1	82.7		68.6		
	HS (Da	vidson)	0.020	-0.083	97.8	88.2	93.0		73.0		
SBIC		0.033	-0.109	83.9	77.7	80.8		78.5			
-				(a) H	late Spee	ech Detectior	1				
Data	Clas	ssgap	Class ACC(%)		ACA	Data	Classgap		Class	ACC(%)	ACA
Data	Real	Fake	Real	Fake	(%)	Data	Pos	Neg	Pos	Neg	(%)
WELFake	0.010	-0.047	97.8	91.2	96.1	Moii	0.0001	0.000	00.1	73.0	82.0
Fakenews	0.011	-0.005	95.8	99.3	97.5	wioji	0.0001	0.009	90.1	13.9	82.0
	(b) Fake	News Ide	ntificatio	n			(c) Sentim	ent Anal	vsis	

Table 6: Classification and Bias results: Class gap, accuracy per class, average class accuracy (ACA) on the test data

towards females, the model performs better in predicting that class for female instances. Conversely, a negative value indicated bias towards males and better performance for male instances. Values close to zero represent little bias.

We measure bias using the subset of data that is gender identified in the hold-out test set. As the dataset is randomly split into train and test sets, to ensure the robustness of our evaluation and obtain a reliable estimate of the model's performance and gender bias, we repeat the splitting process three times and report the average results.

The Gender-Identified column in Table 5 shows the amount of female and male data that is genderidentified using the ITPE technique. The hate speech datasets, which would include more genderspecific words than other areas, tend to have a higher proportion of data identified as female than male. On the other hand, the fake news datasets have less data identified as female and more identified as male. This is not very surprising if we consider the domains. It is worth noting that for the MOJI dataset, although the percentages of 5% for the positive sentiment class and 4% for the negative sentiment class per gender may seem low, the dataset is quite large, and these percentages represent a substantial number of instances available for bias evaluation.

Table 6 presents the classification performance and gender bias results for the hate speech detection 6a, fake news identification 6b, and sentiment analysis 6c tasks. Results include the gender bias $Class_{gap}$ metric and class accuracy for each class, and the overall average class accuracy (ACA). Additionally, for the Hatespeech datasets, we report the average class accuracy (ACA) obtained using the template-based technique for comparison.

Looking at the $Class_{gap}$ results for hate speech in Table 6a the positive value in the offensive class means that the model correctly classifies female instances as abusive more than males, and the negative value in the non-offensive class, means it is incorrectly classifying female examples as abusive. This demonstrates a bias against females, as female instances are classified as offensive more frequently than instances involving males even those female instances that are not actually offensive.

Additionally, we compared our proposed approach using gender-identified instances from the original data (ITPE approach) with a templatebased synthetic test set generation method. The template-based approach, following the work by (Park et al., 2018), was applied specifically to the hate speech dataset, as it is more accessible for this type of dataset compared to others. For the hate speech dataset, the template-based approach generated 1480 synthetic test samples in total, with 740 pairs of male and female instances equally distributed across the "offensive" and "non-offensive" classes. The average class accuracy (ACA) for the template-based test set is reported in the Templatebased ACA column of Table 6a. When comparing template-based ACA with the ACA of our ITPE approach, we observe that for all datasets, the template-based approach exhibits very poor classification performance. This suggests that the generated template sentences do not accurately reflect the actual content present in the datasets.

Table 6b presents the results for the fake news detection task. The bias demonstrated here is the opposite effect of the hate speech. The positive values are for the real class and the negative values are for the fake class, indicating that the model tends to perform better at identifying fake news for male instances compared to female instances and is inclined to consider real news as fake more for the male instances. The level of bias is significantly smaller though than the bias in the hate speech.

Table 6c shows the results for the sentiment analysis task on the MOJI dataset. There is very little bias shown in this dataset, but the differences suggest that the model has a slight tendency to predict more female instances as having negative sentiment as compared to the male instances.

As the MOJI dataset had labels for the type of English, African American English (AAE) and Standard American English (SAE), we had the opportunity to explore potential gender gap differences between a subset of AAE and SAE, to see if any disparities emerged when considering the racial characteristics present in language expression. We focused on the $Class_{gap}$ within each subset. The results are presented in Table 7.

There is little bias in the AAE subset with the $Class_{gap}$ values showing a minimal difference between male and female instances. However, in the SAE dataset, there is more bias shown with the positive sentiment $Class_{gap}$ exhibiting a positive value, and the negative sentiment $Class_{gap}$ with negative value. Essentially, this suggests that for Standard American English, the model tended to classify more male-written text as negative sentiment and female-written text as positive sentiment. In contrast, such distinctions were not observed in the African American English subset.

Subset	Class	sgap	Class A	ACC(%)	ACA	
	Pos	Neg	Pos	Neg	(%)	
AAE	-0.0005	0.005	94.2	78.2	86.2	
SAE	0.021	-0.041	86.0	69.5	77.7	

Table 7: Gender Bias Analysis for a subset of African American English (AAE) and Standard American English (SAE)

In general, the results reveal more pronounced gender bias in the hate speech detection task compared to fake news identification and sentiment analysis which may not be surprising due to the nature of the task. Hate speech models exhibit substantial class gender gaps, indicating biases in classifying offensive content based on gender mentions. In contrast, fake news detection models show relatively smaller gender gaps, while sentiment analysis exhibits negligible bias. However, upon examining individual groups of African American English and Standard American English in the sentiment analysis task, gender bias is observed within the Standard American English texts.

4 Using ITPE in Bias Mitigation

We have seen in the previous section that the models for hate speech detection exhibit gender bias. Mitigating bias in machine learning models is a critical challenge to ensure fairness and prevent discrimination against protected groups. Strategies employed for bias mitigation can be categorized into three main approaches: pre-processing, inprocessing (during training), and post-processing (Ravfogel et al., 2020; Han et al., 2022). Preprocessing techniques adjust the training dataset prior to model training to achieve balanced representations across protected groups such as gender and race. A common approach is resampling the training set, such that the number of instances within each protected group is equal. One popular pre-processing technique for mitigating gender bias is Counterfactual Data Augmentation (CDA) (Lu et al., 2020). CDA augments the training data with gender-swapped examples, building upon basic gender word swapping (e.g., "he" to "she") while addressing key limitations. It handles co-references to maintain grammatical consistency, swapping gendered words that co-refer to proper nouns (e.g., "Queen Elizabeth" to "King Elizabeth"). CDA offers a systematic approach to augmenting the data with counterfactual examples, providing a comprehensive solution to reduce gender bias encoding.

In-processing or during-training approaches introduce constraints into the model optimization process. A widely adopted method is adversarial training, which jointly trains a discriminator to recover protected attributes from the model's representations and the main model to make accurate predictions while preventing the discriminator from determining the protected attributes (Zhang et al., 2018; Elazar and Goldberg, 2018).

While adversarial training has been shown to reduce bias in machine learning models (Zhang et al., 2018; Han et al., 2021), one of its key limitations is that it requires having access to sensitive attribute labels (e.g. gender, race) during the training process. The need for annotated sensitive attribute data can be restrictive, as such labels may not always be available in the data.

If we consider a task like hate speech identification and the datasets used in the previous section the sensitive attribute, gender, is not identified in

Detect	Class	Original%			CDA%				GS-CDA%				
Dataset	Class	Gap	Class	ACA	TSize	Gap	Class	ACA	TSize	Gap	Class	ACA	TSize
HS (W&H)	Off	0.093	85.5	827	12V	0.072	81.8	Q1 1	26V	0.039	83.2	872	16V
	Non-off	-0.086	80.1	62.7	15K	-0.050	80.5	01.1	20K	-0.060	81.3	02.5	10K
	Off	0.020	97.8	03.0	20K	0.024	97.6	02.8	38K	0.021	97.7	92.7	2412
IIS(Davidsoii)	Non-off	-0.083	88.2	95.0		-0.075	88.0	92.0	Jok	-0.053	87.7		24K
SBIC	Off	0.033	83.9	00.0	2012	0.011	84.4	<u>00 5</u>	56V	0.017	84.1	00.0	26V
	Non-off	-0.109	77.7	80.8	201	-0.068	76.6	80.5	JUK	-0.032	77.6	00.0	30K

Table 8: Comparison of before and after applying Counterfactual Data Augmentation (CDA) and Gender-Selective Counterfactual Data Augmentation (GS-CDA) Bias Mitigation Techniques for Hate Speech Detection.Classification and Bias results: Class gap, Accuracy per class, average class accuracy (ACA) on the test data, and Training Size(TSize) per each dataset

the data preventing using adversarial training to mitigate the bias in these models. So, a pre-processing technique such as CDA can be used to reduce this bias. One of the limitations of CDA is that it significantly increases the size of the training data, as it augments the training data with gender-swapped versions.

We propose a variant on CDA called Gender-Selective Counterfactual Data Augmentation (GS-CDA) where CDA is selectively applied only to the data instances in the training set that were identified as containing gender information using the ITPE technique.

To evaluate how useful GS-CDA is in bias mitigation, we use the same approach discussed in Section 2. The results of classification and gender bias after applying the CDA and GS-CDA to training data are shown in Table 8.

Comparing the original classification and gender bias results on hate speech datasets in Table 8 with the results after applying bias mitigation techniques we observed a notable reduction in gender bias gaps.

Compared to the original models, applying CDA during training data augmentation leads to a reduction in gender bias gaps. Notably, CDA lowers the offensive $Class_{qap}$ from 0.093 to 0.072 on the HateSpeech(W&H) dataset and the nonoffensive $Class_{aap}$ from 0.109 to 0.068 on the SBIC dataset. However, the classification accuracy (ACA) remains almost the same. The GS-CDA variant demonstrates even more promising results. GS-CDA achieves further reductions in gender bias gaps, outperforming both the original models and the full CDA approach. On the HateSpeech(W& H) dataset, GS-CDA lowers the offensive $Class_{qap}$ to 0.039 and the non-offensive $Class_{qap}$ to 0.060, while on SBIC, the non-offensive gap is reduced to 0.032. Remarkably, GS-CDA maintains comparable or slightly improved ACA compared to the original models. These findings suggest that selectively augmenting gender-identified instances is an effective strategy for mitigating bias while preserving overall classification performance.

The *Tsize* columns in the table show the number of training instances for the original datasets before any mitigation, as well as the training set size after applying the mitigation techniques. As can be observed, the training set size for CDA is almost twice as large as the original dataset size. However, the training set size for GS-CDA is significantly smaller than that of CDA, adding only around 20% to the original dataset size. GS-CDA offers an additional benefit over the full CDA approach by avoiding the computational expense associated with doubling the training data size, as is the case with CDA.

5 Conclusion

This paper addresses the challenge of measuring and mitigating gender bias in NLP systems by proposing ITS and ITPE as techniques for identifying gender information in textual data, which can be used as an alternative to template-based approaches for measuring gender bias. Through the evaluation on multiple datasets, we demonstrate the techniques performance in accurately assigning gender labels. By applying ITPE, we demonstrated measuring gender bias in various NLP classification tasks, including hate speech detection, fake news identification, and sentiment analysis. We showed that these techniques facilitate measuring gender bias in a wide variety of NLP classification tasks, which offers significant benefits over the existing template technique which has only been used for hate speech detection.

However, it is important to acknowledge the limitations of our techniques. One limitation is the inability to recognize names. This is primarily because names vary significantly across different cultures and regions, and many libraries do not adequately support some names including Irish, Asian, and other ethnic groups. Additionally, some names are unisex, making gender identification based on names alone tricky and often inaccurate. Another important limitation is that this approach only considers binary gender, which excludes non-binary and other gender identities.

In addition, we have used the ITPE technique to mitigate observed gender bias by introducing Gender-Selective Counterfactual Data Augmentation (GS-CDA), a variant of the popular CDA approach. GS-CDA selectively augments only the gender-identified instances during training, leveraging ITPE's capabilities. Our results show that GS-CDA effectively reduces gender bias gaps while maintaining overall classification performance, outperforming the conventional CDA approach and using less augmented data.

The proposed techniques, ITPE and GS-CDA, offer practical alternatives to template-based methods for measuring and mitigating gender bias in NLP systems. By addressing the limitations of template techniques and efficiently augmenting training data, these approaches pave the way for fairer and more ethical AI systems. As future work, these techniques will be extended to other protected attributes and applied to a broader range of NLP tasks to promote algorithmic fairness and responsible AI development. In addition, they will be extended to include non-binary and transgender individuals, emphasizing the importance of addressing the full spectrum of gender identities in NLP research. While our proposed methods have shown effectiveness in certain NLP tasks, it will be very intriguing to see how these methodologies generalize across different languages and cultures and perform in more diverse or complex datasets.

Acknowledgments

This publication has emanated from research conducted with the financial support of Science Foundation Ireland under Grant number 18/CRT/6183. For the purpose of Open Access, the author has applied a CC BY public copyright license to any Author Accepted Manuscript version arising from this submission.

References

Solon Barocas, Kate Crawford, Aaron Shapiro, and Hanna Wallach. 2017. The problem with bias: Allocative versus representational harms in machine learning. In 9th Annual conference of the special interest group for computing, information and society, page 1. Philadelphia, PA, USA.

- Su Lin Blodgett, Lisa Green, and Brendan O'Connor. 2016. Demographic dialectal variation in social media: A case study of African-American English. In Proceedings of the 2016 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 1119–1130, Austin, Texas. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tolga Bolukbasi, Kai-Wei Chang, James Y Zou, Venkatesh Saligrama, and Adam T Kalai. 2016. Man is to computer programmer as woman is to homemaker? debiasing word embeddings. *Advances in neural information processing systems*, 29:4349– 4357.
- Aylin Caliskan, Joanna J Bryson, and Arvind Narayanan. 2017. Semantics derived automatically from language corpora contain human-like biases. *Science*, 356(6334):183–186.
- Thomas Davidson, Debasmita Bhattacharya, and Ingmar Weber. 2019. Racial bias in hate speech and abusive language detection datasets. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Abusive Language Online*, pages 25–35, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Maria De-Arteaga et al. 2019. Bias in bios: A case study of semantic representation bias in a high-stakes setting. In *Proceedings of the Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency*, FAT* '19, page 120–128, New York, NY, USA. ACM.
- Jacob Devlin et al. 2019. BERT: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 2019 ACL: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 4171–4186. ACL.
- Emily Dinan, Angela Fan, Ledell Wu, Jason Weston, Douwe Kiela, and Adina Williams. 2020. Multidimensional gender bias classification. In Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP), pages 314–331, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Emily Dinan, Stephen Roller, Kurt Shuster, Angela Fan, Michael Auli, and Jason Weston. 2018. Wizard of wikipedia: Knowledge-powered conversational agents. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1811.01241*.
- Lucas Dixon et al. 2018. Measuring and mitigating unintended bias in text classification. In *Proceedings* of the 2018 AAAI/ACM Conference on AIES, AIES '18, page 67–73, New York, NY, USA. ACM.
- Yanai Elazar and Yoav Goldberg. 2018. Adversarial removal of demographic attributes from text data. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 11–21, Brussels, Belgium. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Hila Gonen and Yoav Goldberg. 2019. Lipstick on a pig: Debiasing methods cover up systematic gender biases in word embeddings but do not remove them. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the ACL: Human Language Technologies, pages 609–614, Minneapolis, Minnesota. ACL.
- Xudong Han, Timothy Baldwin, and Trevor Cohn. 2021. Diverse adversaries for mitigating bias in training. In Proceedings of the 16th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Main Volume, pages 2760–2765, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Xudong Han et al. 2022. FairLib: A unified framework for assessing and improving fairness. In *Proceedings* of the 2022 Conference on EMNLP: System Demonstrations, pages 60–71, Abu Dhabi, UAE. ACL.
- Moritz Hardt, Eric Price, and Nati Srebro. 2016. Equality of opportunity in supervised learning. *Advances in neural information processing systems*, 29:3315– 3323.
- Alexander Miserlis Hoyle et al. 2019. Unsupervised discovery of gendered language through latent-variable modeling. In *Proceedings of the of the ACL*, pages 1706–1716, Florence, Italy. ACL.
- Sophie Jentzsch and Cigdem Turan. 2022. Gender bias in BERT - measuring and analysing biases through sentiment rating in a realistic downstream classification task. In *Proceedings of the 4th Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing (GeBNLP)*, pages 184–199, Seattle, Washington. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Svetlana Kiritchenko and Saif Mohammad. 2018. Examining gender and race bias in two hundred sentiment analysis systems. In *Proceedings of the Seventh Joint Conference on Lexical and Computational Semantics*, pages 43–53, New Orleans, Louisiana. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Hadas Kotek, Rikker Dockum, and David Sun. 2023.
 Gender bias and stereotypes in large language models.
 In *Proceedings of The ACM Collective Intelligence Conference*, pages 12–24.

William Lifferth. 2018. Fake news.

- Kaiji Lu et al. 2020. Gender bias in neural natural language processing. *Logic, language, and security:* essays dedicated to Andre Scedrov on the occasion of his 65th birthday, pages 189–202.
- Chandler May, Alex Wang, Shikha Bordia, Samuel R Bowman, and Rachel Rudinger. 2019. On measuring social biases in sentence encoders. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1903.10561*.
- Ninareh Mehrabi et al. 2021. A survey on bias and fairness in machine learning. *ACM computing surveys* (*CSUR*), 54(6):1–35.

- Marzieh Mozafari, Reza Farahbakhsh, and Noël Crespi. 2020. Hate speech detection and racial bias mitigation in social media based on bert model. *PloS one*, 15(8):e0237861.
- Moin Nadeem et al. 2021. StereoSet: Measuring stereotypical bias in pretrained language models. In *Proceedings of the ACL and Conference on NLP (Volume 1: Long Papers)*, pages 5356–5371, Online. ACL.
- Ji Ho Park et al. 2018. Reducing gender bias in abusive language detection. In *Proceedings of the 2018 Conference on EMNLP*, pages 2799–2804, Brussels, Belgium. ACL.
- Flavien Prost, Nithum Thain, and Tolga Bolukbasi. 2019. Debiasing embeddings for reduced gender bias in text classification. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing*, pages 69–75, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Shauli Ravfogel, Yanai Elazar, Hila Gonen, Michael Twiton, and Yoav Goldberg. 2020. Null it out: Guarding protected attributes by iterative nullspace projection. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 7237–7256, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Rachel Rudinger, Chandler May, and Benjamin Van Durme. 2017. Social bias in elicited natural language inferences. In *Proceedings of the First ACL Workshop on Ethics in Natural Language Processing*, pages 74–79, Valencia, Spain. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Maarten Sap, Saadia Gabriel, Lianhui Qin, Dan Jurafsky, Noah A. Smith, and Yejin Choi. 2020. Social bias frames: Reasoning about social and power implications of language. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 5477–5490, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Beatrice Savoldi, Marco Gaido, Luisa Bentivogli, Matteo Negri, and Marco Turchi. 2021. Gender bias in machine translation. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 9:845–874.
- Nasim Sobhani and Sarah Jane Delany. 2022. Identity term sampling for measuring gender bias in training data. In *Irish Conference on Artificial Intelligence and Cognitive Science*, pages 226–238. Springer.
- Nasim Sobhani, Kinshuk Sengupta, and Sarah Jane Delany. 2023. Measuring gender bias in natural language processing: Incorporating gender-neutral linguistic forms for non-binary gender identities in abusive speech detection. In *Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on Recent Advances in Natural Language Processing*, pages 1121–1131.
- Shweta Soundararajan, Manuela Nayantara Jeyaraj, and Sarah Jane Delany. 2023. Using chatgpt to generate gendered language. In 2023 31st Irish Conference on

Artificial Intelligence and Cognitive Science (AICS), pages 1–8. IEEE.

- Karolina Stanczak and Isabelle Augenstein. 2021. A survey on gender bias in natural language processing. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2112.14168*.
- Gabriel Stanovsky, Noah A Smith, and Luke Zettlemoyer. 2019. Evaluating gender bias in machine translation. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1906.00591*.
- Jiao Sun and Nanyun Peng. 2021. Men are elected, women are married: Events gender bias on Wikipedia. In *Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the ACL and the 11th International Joint Conference on NLP*, pages 350–360, Online. ACL.
- Tony Sun et al. 2019. Mitigating gender bias in natural language processing: Literature review. In *Proceedings of the ACL*, pages 1630–1640. ACL.
- Eva Vanmassenhove, Chris Emmery, and Dimitar Shterionov. 2021. Neutral rewriter: A rulebased and neural approach to automatic rewriting into gender-neutral alternatives. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.06105*.
- Pawan Kumar Verma, Prateek Agrawal, Ivone Amorim, and Radu Prodan. 2021. Welfake: word embedding over linguistic features for fake news detection. *IEEE Transactions on Computational Social Systems*, 8(4):881–893.
- Yixin Wan, George Pu, Jiao Sun, Aparna Garimella, Kai-Wei Chang, and Nanyun Peng. 2023. "kelly is a warm person, joseph is a role model": Gender biases in LLM-generated reference letters. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2023*, pages 3730–3748, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Zeerak Waseem and Dirk Hovy. 2016. Hateful symbols or hateful people? predictive features for hate speech detection on Twitter. In *Proceedings of the NAACL Student Research Workshop*, pages 88–93, San Diego, California. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Thomas Wolf et al. 2020. Transformers: State-of-theart natural language processing. In *Proceedings of the 2020 EMNLP*, pages 38–45, Online. ACL.
- Brian Hu Zhang, Blake Lemoine, and Margaret Mitchell. 2018. Mitigating unwanted biases with adversarial learning. In *Proceedings of the 2018 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society*, pages 335– 340.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2018. Gender bias in coreference resolution: Evaluation and debiasing methods. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 2 (Short Papers), pages 15–20, New Orleans, Louisiana. Association for Computational Linguistics.

Jieyu Zhao et al. 2017. Men also like shopping: Reducing gender bias amplification using corpus-level constraints. In *Proceedings of the 2017 Conference on EMNLP*, pages 2979–2989, Copenhagen, Denmark. ACL.

Investigating Gender Bias in STEM Job Advertisements

Malika Dikshit Carnegie Mellon Univeristy Qatar mdikshit@andrew.cmu.edu Houda Bouamor

Carnegie Mellon Univeristy Qatar hbouamor@andrew.cmu.edu

Nizar Habash New York University, Abu Dhabi nizar.habash@nyu.edu

Abstract

Gender inequality has been historically prevalent in academia, especially within the fields of Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM). In this study, we propose to examine gender bias in academic job descriptions in the STEM fields. We go a step further than previous studies that merely identify individual words as masculine-coded and femininecoded and delve into the contextual language used in academic job advertisements. We design a novel approach to detect gender biases in job descriptions using Natural Language Processing (NLP) techniques. Going beyond binary masculine-feminine stereotypes, we propose three big groups types to understand gender bias in the language of job descriptions, namely agentic, balanced, and communal. We cluster similar information in job descriptions into these three groups using contrastive learning and various clustering techniques. This research contributes to the field of gender bias detection by providing a novel approach and methodology for categorizing gender bias in job descriptions, which can aid more effective and targeted job advertisements that will be equally appealing across all genders.

1 Introduction

Academic institutions in recent decades have strived to launch several initiatives addressing diversity, equity, and inclusion in the hopes of making academic gender representation more equal. However, the problem of gender bias still persists in academia and widens particularly among STEM fields. Casad et al. (2020) report that at the top 50 research universities in the U.S., women hold only 31% of the tenured or tenure-track faculty positions. Cech et al. (2011) present that gender disparity in STEM persists because of two reasons: women leave STEM careers because they feel that their family plans will be hindered because of their professional lives, and due to low self-assessment of their skills in STEM's intellectual tasks. They introduce the concept of 'professional role confidence', and argue that women's lack of this confidence, compared to their male counterparts, reduces their likelihood of pursuing careers in engineering.

Men and women have been found to identify with different goals as core human motivations. Men often relate more with agentic goals, while women relate with communal goals (Bakan, 1996). Agentic goals display an affinity to one's status, achievement, and independence, along with speaking assertively, influencing others, and initiating tasks whereas communal goals showcase a drive to contribute to the community, connect, and share with others.

Gaucher et al. (2011) suggest that women may experience intimidation and barriers with job descriptions that are formulated using agentic language. They present a list of masculine-coded and feminine-coded words that represent agentic and communal traits, respectively, and show that women judge jobs with a lot of agentic language as less appealing than jobs containing communal language. Building on Gaucher et al. (2011)'s work, Matfield (2016) created Gender Decoder, a freely available tool that quantifies gender bias in job descriptions by counting the number of masculine and feminine-coded words in them. This simple dictionary look-up approach relies only on the frequency of gender-coded words in the job advertisement and does not consider the contextual meaning of the word or how it is used in the sentence.

Current studies that deal with gender bias in job descriptions also rely on this method of labeling job descriptions as gender-biased or genderneutral. Often, singular words are simply labeled as masculine-coded or feminine-coded. This practice can reinforce traditional gender stereotypes. Instead, employing terms like *agentic*, *balanced*, and *communal* offers a more nuanced and inclusive approach to understanding language biases. By categorizing job descriptions based on these dimensions, we move away from reinforcing gender norms and acknowledge the diverse ways in which individuals can express themselves and their abilities. The research question that we address in this work is centered around how we can employ more comprehensive criteria to determine gender bias in job advertisements, moving beyond simply identifying specific masculine-coded words to label an advertisement as biased towards masculinity?

This paper makes the following contributions to understanding gender bias in job descriptions:

- 1. A novel dataset of 6,031 academic STEM job descriptions compiled semi-automatically using a combination of manual and web-scraping techniques.
- 2. A novel methodology to label job descriptions as agentic, communal, or balanced based on their dense numerical vector representations (embeddings) obtained from sentencelevel transformer models fine-tuned with contrastive learning techniques.
- 3. An in-depth analysis of the anatomy of job advertisements focusing on the distribution and positioning of agentic *vs*. communal language within the body of the ad.
- 4. A departure from the conventional practice of categorizing job descriptions as masculinecoded or feminine-coded, which may inadvertently perpetuate gender stereotypes. Instead, we adopt a more nuanced approach employing the neutral terminology of agentic, balanced, and communal. This shift aims to challenge traditional gender norms within the discourse surrounding gender bias in job descriptions.

2 Related Work

Several research studies have addressed the gender disparity prevalent in academic faculty positions. According to a study by Llorens et al. (2021), citing data from the Society for Neuroscience, there has been a notable increase in the proportion of women applicants to PhD programs in recent years. Specifically, the percentage of female applicants increased from 38% in 2000-2001 to 57% in 2016-2017, with a corresponding matriculation rate of 48% for women in the latter year. However, despite these gains in representation among applicants and matriculants, women only accounted for 30% of all faculty positions in PhD programs, indicating a significant disparity in gender representation at the faculty level. In STEM fields, although there has been a steady rise in the number of female candidates obtaining postgraduate degrees in recent years, the representation of women in faculty positions has remained largely unchanged (Casad et al., 2020).

Current studies related to gender in NLP have looked at gender bias in the context of large language models (Haim et al., 2024; del Arco et al., 2024) and presented that LLMs are biased unfavorable for females. In this work, we use NLP to assess gender bias at the beginning of the hiring cycle - in job descriptions. A significant contributing factor to the gender disparity in academia is the significant lack of gender diversity within applicant pools. The initial point of contact between academic employers and job seekers typically occurs through job postings. Research indicates that the content and language used in job postings play a crucial role in influencing an applicant's decision to apply for a particular position (Feldman et al., 2006). Gaucher et al. (2011) found that job descriptions in male-dominated fields tend to contain words associated with masculine stereotypes more frequently than those in female-dominated fields. They demonstrated that job advertisements featuring more agentic language were perceived to be more suitable for men, making these positions less appealing to women candidates.

Wan et al. (2023) draw inspiration from social science findings and propose Language Agency as a metric for gender bias evaluation in LLM-generated professional documents. They present,"Bias in language agency states that women are more likely to be described using communal adjectives in professional documents, such as delightful and compassionate, while men are more likely to be described using "agentic" adjectives, such as leader or exceptional". Through their findings, they reveal that ChatGPT generates reference letters with biased levels of language agency for male and female candidates. When describing female candidates, ChatGPT uses communal phrases such as "great to work with", "communicates well", and "kind". On the other hand, the model describes male candidates as being more agentic, using phrases such as "a standout in the industry" and "a true original". Through their study, Wan et al. (2023) demonstrate that there is a distinct difference in the way males and females are described in terms of language agency.

Different studies have referred to the concept of language agency to evaluate job descriptions as masculine or feminine coded. Oldford and Fiset (2021) have followed Gaucher et al. (2011)'s method of annotating job descriptions using a dictionary look-up approach. They focused on classifying finance internship job postings based on masculine and feminine words, as well as evaluating the text based on the percentage of adjectives and verbs that are either agentic (e.g., overcomes, confident, etc.) or communal (e.g., aided, loyal, etc.). Their finding revealed that women exhibit greater goal congruity, leading to enhanced motivation and a greater sense of fit when job postings are high in communal language and low in agentic language.

Tang et al. (2017) adopt the approaches used by Textio¹ and Unitive², two recruitment assistant services dedicated to promoting inclusivity in job advertisements, to detect gender bias in job descriptions. They observe and adapt the techniques of both these services and introduce two metrics: Gender Tone and Gender Target to assess gender bias in the advertisement. Gender Target follows Textio's method and calculates the occurrences of gendered words in the ad, with masculine and feminine terms offsetting each other. Meanwhile, Gender Tone assigns a weight to gendered words based on their specificity, with the cumulative weights reflecting the overall gender tone of the ad.

Most of the works that evaluate gender bias in job descriptions (Bernstein et al., 2022; Born and Taris, 2010; O'Brien et al., 2022; Frissen et al., 2022; Oldford and Fiset, 2021; Read et al., 2023; Sella et al., 2023; Zhu et al., 2021), rely on the frequency of individual gender-coded words to assess gender bias in job advertisements, neglecting to explore the contextual positioning of these words within the advertisements. This limitation is noteworthy as it overlooks the nuanced interplay between language and context in conveying bias or its absence.

For instance, consider the following two sentences, which illustrate the importance of analyzing the contextual meaning of gender-coded words to detect gender bias: "We want a *competitive* member to join our team" and "We offer *competitive* remuneration." In both sentences, the word "*competitive*" is used. However, the first sentence implies

¹https://textio.com/products/recruiting

²https://unitive.org/

a competitive environment or culture, potentially favoring traits typically associated with agentic language. In contrast, the second sentence simply indicates that the compensation provided is competitive in the market, without implying any specific genderrelated traits or preferences. These examples show that examining the context in which these words are employed allows for a more accurate assessment of whether gender bias is present and facilitates a clearer understanding of the intended message.

3 Methodology

This section provides an overview of the methodology employed to address the research questions outlined in Section 1. Figure 1 presents a summary of these steps.

3.1 Data Collection

In this work, we build a novel dataset of academic job descriptions centered on STEM subjects, addressing a notable gap in the current literature. Our dataset comprises 6,031 meticulously curated academic STEM job advertisements. The job advertisements were collected semi-automatically³ from several academic job databases, including HigherEdJobs,⁴ TimesHigherEducation,⁵ Jobs.ac.uk,⁶ AcademicJobsOnline,⁷ and The Chronicle of Higher Education.⁸ The job advertisements were collected from regions spanning the globe, encompassing the United States, Europe, Asia, and Australia. Figure 2 shows an example of an academic job advertisement in our dataset.

3.2 Data Cleaning and Preprocessing

3.2.1 Standardization

We wanted to avoid clustering job advertisements based on the universities or titles advertised and focus on possible gender bias in the text, so we decided to replace the names of universities and academic positions with standard tokens, making these uniform across all the job advertisements. To ensure uniformity in job descriptions, we replaced named entities (universities, organizations) and academic job titles with standardized tokens <ORG> and <TITLE> respectively.

³Using Python's beautifulsoup library

⁴https://www.higheredjobs.com/faculty/

⁵https://www.timeshighereducation.com/unijobs/ ⁶http://Jobs.ac.uk

⁷https://academicjobsonline.org/

⁸https://jobs.chronicle.com/



Figure 1: Overview of the methodology to analyze gender bias in job advertisements

Assistant Professor of Physiology - Texas A&M International University - Texas A&M International University (TAMIU) is a comprehensive regional university and part of The Texas A&M University System. Poised at the Gateway to Mexico and serving as the cultural and intellectual hub of a vibrant multilingual and multicultural community, it is also a designated Hispanic-serving institution (HSI). Qualified applicants should possess a Ph.D. or equivalent terminal degree in physiology or a related field. Candidates should demonstrate a strong commitment to teaching, scholarly research, and service to the university and community. Additionally, candidates with experience in mentoring and supporting underrepresented students are highly encouraged to apply.

Figure 2: Example of a job advertisement

3.2.2 Text Preprocessing

We employed a range of text preprocessing techniques to refine the job descriptions for subsequent analysis, which included:

- Removing HTML tags
- Replacing hyperlinks with a placeholder term ("LINK")
- Converting HTML entities such as " " and "&" to their corresponding characters
- Substituting currency symbols like "\$" with their corresponding term ("\$" to "dollar")
- Eliminating numerical values

Then, the preprocessed job descriptions were tokenized into individual sentences to allow a more fine-grained approach to identifying gender bias within lengthy job descriptions. Furthermore, we filtered out sentences that indicated technical skills by examining the presence of subject names and technical terms commonly associated with STEM disciplines that we observed in the dataset.⁹

3.3 Contrastive Learning for Sentence Level Representation

We get the embeddings of the sentences extracted from the job descriptions using the SentenceTransformers framework (Reimers and Gurevych, 2019). The specific SentenceTransformer model used to obtain the embeddings was all-mpnet-base-v2, which was fine-tuned by its authors using a contrastive learning objective. The model was trained during 100k steps using a batch size of 1024. The sequence length was limited to 128 tokens, and the AdamW optimizer was used with a 2e-5 learning rate. For the fine-tuning, the cosine similarity was computed from each possible sentence pair from the batch, and then the cross entropy loss was applied by comparing with true pairs.

In our context, the SentenceTransformers model generates similar embeddings for sentences with similar meanings or contexts and dissimilar embeddings for sentences with different meanings or contexts. Figure 3 presents a simple diagram of how SentenceTransformers models fine-tune embeddings using a contrastive learning objective.

The embedding of the following sentences "strong analytical, technical and problem-solving skills" and "strong drive, motivation, and ambition, with the capacity to deliver on challenging tasks and to meet deadlines individually and as part of a team" displaying agentic language are similar with a cosine similarity score of 0.72. While the similarity between the ones for "strong analytical, technical and problem-solving skills" which represents agentic language, and "strong willingness to mentor and guide undergraduate and graduate students" reflecting communal traits is smaller with a cosine-similarity score of 0.41. This highlights the model's capability to capture subtle linguistic cues and biases.

3.4 Sentence Level Labeling

Once the embeddings of the sentences were obtained, we applied the K-means clustering algorithm with k=3 to group them into three main clusters. Our K-means model utilizes these embed-

⁹Programming, Physics, Bio*, Chemistry, Mechanic*, Electronic*, Volcanology, Math*, Statistics, Crystallography, Spectroscopy, Engineering, Electrochemistry, Machine, Geolog*, Robot*, Stata, Python, C++, Lab*, Software, Unix, Linux, Java, Python.



Figure 3: Contrastive learning used to fine-tune sparse embedding

dings as input and assigns a cluster label to each embedding, denoted as agentic, communal, or balanced. To ensure the reproducibility of results, we employed a random seed of 42. Sentences representing agentic traits, such as assertiveness, ambition, and self-reliance, are likely to end up within clusters characterized by shared linguistic patterns and thematic content. Conversely, communal sentiments, emphasizing collaboration, empathy, and inclusivity, may converge in distinct clusters reflecting their unique semantic profiles. Additionally, neutral or balanced sentences, which exhibit a combination of agentic and communal traits or lack strong alignment with either category, may also be identified and clustered accordingly.

3.5 Job Level Labeling

Our primary objective is to categorize an entire job description as either agentic, communal, or balanced, rather than focusing solely on individual sentences. To achieve this, we explore 2 distinct techniques (T1-T2).

Technique 1 (T1): Dictionary Look-up Method For every job ad, we count the number of masculine-coded and feminine-coded words as defined by Gaucher et al. (2011). If a job advertisement contains more masculine-coded words than feminine-coded ones, it is labeled as agentic. Conversely, if it contains equal masculine and femininecoded words, it is labeled as balanced. Finally, if it has fewer masculine-coded words than femininecoded ones, it is designated as communal.

Technique 2 (T2): Embedding-based Method In order to transition from sentence-level to joblevel labeling, we compute the average embedding of each job description from the sentence-level embeddings. We then use the k-means clustering algorithm to assign each job advertisement to one of the agentic, balanced, or communal clusters.

4 Evaluation, Results, and Analysis

In this section, we present an analysis and visualization of the clustering model, evaluate its performance, and examine sentence-level label distributions within job advertisements.

4.1 Cluster Model Analysis via Visualization

The clusters were visualized using two dimensionality reduction techniques, namely: Principal Component Analysis (Maćkiewicz and Ratajczak, 1993) and t-distributed Stochastic Neighbor Embedding (van der Maaten and Hinton, 2008). Figure 4 shows that the PCA visualization reveals a notable degree of separability between the three clusters, indicating discernible patterns or structures within each group. Similarly, the t-SNE visualization demonstrates a distinction among the three clusters. However, it's worth noting that the separations are not entirely distinct, particularly given that the sentences originate from the same domain (job descriptions).



Figure 4: PCA and t-SNE visualizations of clusters

4.2 Cluster Model Evaluation

To evaluate the performance of our clustering model, we measured the cluster cohesion and separation. We used two metrics: The Davies-Bouldin Score (DBS) and the Calinski-Harabasz Index (CHI) (Pedregosa et al., 2011). We obtained a DBS of 4.03 suggesting that while there is some degree of clustering present, it is not optimal. This suggests potential overlaps or inconsistencies within the clusters. Such findings were anticipated given that the clustering was conducted on sentences originating from the same domain. On the other hand, we obtained a CHI score of 787.02, indicating strong clustering with clear separation.

Word Coding	Cluster 0	Cluster 1	Cluster 2
Masculine	5.38%	2.82%	1.55%
Feminine	1.26%	2.20%	3.81%

Table 1: Gender-coded word distributions



Figure 5: Distribution of agentic, balanced, and communal sentences across job ads

4.3 Cluster Naming

Upon obtaining the three clusters, we discerned a notable disparity in the distribution of Gaucher et al. (2011)'s gender-coded words across clusters. Using the statistics in Table 1, we mapped clusters 0, 1 and 2, to our definitions of *agentic*, *balanced*, and *communal* clusters, respectively. Cluster *agentic* has the highest concentration of masculine-coded words, followed by cluster *balanced* and cluster *communal*, in descending order. Cluster communal has the highest concentration of feminine-coded words suggesting a lesser emphasis on language traditionally linked with masculinity. Cluster *balanced* falls in between the other two clusters regarding the presence of gender-coded words.

4.4 Sentence-Level Label Distributions

Figure 5 shows the distribution of labeled sentences across job ads in our dataset. Communal sentences tend to make up the smallest proportion, with most job ads containing less than 20% of such sentences. Agentic sentences appear to account for roughly 20% to 40% of sentences. Balanced sentences are the most prevalent, commonly constituting over 40% to 60% of total sentences. Figure 6 provides representative examples of sentences from each of the identified clusters. Notably, the prevalence of balanced sentences within job ads suggests that a significant portion of the text is focused on conveying domain-specific responsibilities and technical requisites. Agentic sentences focus more on agentic personality traits such as independence,

Agentic	
Are you	an exceptional candidate?
ability t	o work in a fast-paced environment.
other d meticul	esirable attributes: self-motivated, organized, output of the output of
Balance	ed
Australi	an National University - Senior Lecturer in bio-
logical are seek	chemistry to further expand our capabilities, we ing candidates with expertise in protein chemistry.
structur and/or 1	al biology, biochemistry, biocatalysis, biophysics
We are	seeking for a motivated post-doctoral fellow to
work of	n funded research project aimed at deciphering
the role	s of moap- in cellular senescence and ageing-
associat	ted disorders in liver.
Skills: 1	oh.d. degree in organization biology or other re-
lated fie	lds is preferred.
5	1 5
Commu	ınal
The sch	ool of computing, engineering & organization
holds a	silver athena swan award in recognition of our
commit	ment to advancing gender equality.
We are	committed to building and maintaining a fair and
inclusiv	e working environment and we would be happy to
discuss	arrangements for flexible and/or blended working.
Ability	to mentor undergraduate master's and PhD stu-

Figure 6: Examples of sentences from each cluster according to sentence level labeling

dents

Method	Agentic	Balanced	Communal
T1	59.08%	16.1%	24.82%
T2	20.94%	79.02%	0.04%

Table 2: Distribution of Job Ads by Method

self-motivation, and assertiveness. Communal sentences tend to focus more on skills directed at contributing to society and the environment.

4.5 Job-Level Labeling: Analysis and Results

In this section, we explore the results of applying our two distinct techniques aimed at labeling job advertisements (T1 and T2).

4.5.1 T1: Dictionary Look-up Method

Table 2 presents the outcomes of using Technique 1 (T1) to assign a single label to each job advertisement. Agentic-labeled job ads constitute the most prevalent category, followed by communal and balanced-labeled advertisements. It is important to note that this approach, while straightforward, primarily relies on counting words and may not provide the most accurate or nuanced understanding of gender coding in job ads.

Agentic

Australian National University - Senior Lecturer in Biological Chemistry. To further expand our capabilities, we are seeking candidates with expertise in protein chemistry, structural biology, biochemistry, biocatalysis, biophysics and/or protein engineering. Are you an exceptional candidate? Can you demonstrate that, relative to your career stage: you are, or have the potential to become, a worldclass researcher in biological chemistry, with strong, independent research programs funded by external grants; your research and teaching reflect the latest advances in their fields, with a clear commitment to teaching excellence; you are interested in dimensions beyond research and teaching; for example, public outreach, engaging with industry, science communication or tertiary science pedagogy; you are collaborative and collegial, and will be accessible to colleagues, research students and undergrad uates; and you have a high-level understanding of and commitment to the principles of inclusion, diversity, eq*uity* and access in a University context.

Balanced

We are one of the most diverse and vibrant universities in the global capital. Our pioneering and forward-thinking vision is making a positive and significant impact to the communities we serve, inspiring both our staff and students to reach their full potential. We are seeking new col leagues to join in the Department of Bioscience lecturing in Pharmaceutical Science (BSc and MSc) and Pharmacology (BSc). Working as part of a dynamic team, you will teach and develop our modules, contribute to the design and delivery of our existing and new undergraduate and postgraduate programmes. You will be encouraged and supported to either join one of the ongoing research programmes or to initiate your own and to embrace our ethos of research-informed teaching. You will have BSc, MSc and PhD qualification in the appropriate discipline, as well as experience of teaching and/or student supervision in higher education as well as a strong commitment to the student experience.

Communal

Assistant Professor of Physiology - Texas A&M International University - Texas A&M International University (TAMIU) is a comprehensive regional university and part of The Texas A&M University System. Poised at the Gateway to Mexico and serving as the cultural and intellectual hub of a vibrant multilingual and multicultural community, it is also a designated Hispanic-serving institution (HSI). Qualified applicants should possess a Ph.D. or equivalent terminal degree in physiology or a related field. Candidates should demonstrate a strong commitment to teaching, scholarly research, and service to the university and community. Additionally, candidates with experience in mentoring and supporting underrepresented students are highly encouraged to apply.

Figure 7: Job ad examples from each T2 cluster

4.5.2 T2: Embedding-based Method

The results of assigning single labels to the jobs using T2 are presented in Table 2. The predominance of balanced labels highlights a prevalent use of language that combines agentic and communal traits or lacks strong alignment with either category. Figure 7 displays examples of job advertisements that were labeled using T2 from each cluster. The language in the agentic-labeled job description does not highlight why the university might be an appealing employer for potential candidates, and uses superlative language, seeking 'exceptional' candidates who have the 'potential to become world-class researchers,'. In contrast, the job description labeled as balanced includes text that promotes the university. Additionally, this job advertisement provides specific details about the roles, focusing on areas such as Pharmaceutical Science and Pharmacology. The job description labeled as community engagement, using phrases like "service to the university and community."

4.6 Nuanced Analysis of Bias within Job Advertisements

We conducted two distinct analyses to explore gender bias in job advertisements more thoroughly with the primary goal of pinpointing the sections of an advertisement where bias is most prevalent. This comprehensive approach allows us to identify specific segments of the ads where gender bias may be most pronounced. In the first analysis, we divided the advertisements into two main segments (Section 4.6.1), and in the second, we divided them into three parts (Section 4.6.2). This segmentation is informed by the typical structure of job ads in STEM.

4.6.1 Analyzing Clusters in Halved Job Advertisements

We divided each job advertisement in our dataset into two distinct parts: the top and bottom sections. The top part typically introduces the university and outlines the position's title. Meanwhile, the bottom part typically details the specific skills and qualifications required for the position. Subsequently, we examined how the three categories were distributed across these sections to gain insights into how gender bias may manifest differently across various sections of the ad. Results are reported in Figure 8.

Figure 8 indicates that agentic language is more prevalent in the bottom part of job descriptions compared to the top part. The frequency of communal language follows a similar pattern, although with significantly lower occurrences overall. These findings suggest a shift in language use from the beginning to the end of job descriptions, with the latter sections exhibiting a higher prevalence of



Figure 8: Distribution of agentic, balanced, and communal labels across the top and bottom parts of the job ads

both agentic and communal language.

Examples of labels assigned to halves of the same job advertisement are provided in Figure 9(a). The top part of the job description predominantly contains balanced language, focusing on aspects such as technical skills and domain-specific information about a position in the data science field. In contrast, the bottom part of the job description exhibits a shift towards communal language, as evidenced by statements emphasizing community engagement, mentoring opportunities, and diversity initiatives.

In Figure 9(b), both parts of the job advertisement have been labeled as agentic. Both parts of this job advertisement focus less on domainspecific information about the position and more on the qualities and personality traits desired in the candidate. They do not convey much information about the university/organization offering the post but describe in superlative terms the qualities they seek in potential candidates.

4.6.2 Analyzing Clusters in Thirds of Job Advertisements

Each job description was segmented into three equal parts, with a label assigned to each section. As shown in Figure 10, the initial part predominantly exhibits balanced language. However, as the description progresses, there is a gradual transition from balanced language to increasingly pronounced agentic language towards the conclusion. Likewise, the frequency of jobs labeled as communal also increases in the latter third of the description but is always less than the agentic class.

Figure 11(a) shows examples of three parts of

(a) Top Half: Balanced

Details of the post: applicants must have completed a degree before the appointment in a data science field, which may include computer science, applied mathematics, organization, operations research, or a related field, they must demonstrate capabilities for writing code (python or r), basic knowledge in mathematical modelling, and prior experience using libraries in statistics, machine learning, or operations research. The position is funded by a research grant.

(a) Bottom Half: Communal

We will offer a competitive salary depending on qualifications and full access to the lbs environment. The candidate will benefit from the resources of the mso community, which includes interactions with faculty and phd students, mentoring opportunities, access to research seminars, etc. We are an equal opportunities employer, and as such, we welcome applications from women, black and other ethnic minority candidates who are under-represented in our faculty.

(b) Top Half: Agentic

About you: you will possess (or be near to completing) a relevant phd or equivalent qualification/experience in a related field of study, which may include (but is not restricted to) mathematics, physics, computer science, biophysics or engineering, you will be a **nationally recognised authority** in mathematical modelling or computer simulation, you are **required to be motivated and demonstrate excellent knowledge** of the topic, possess **excellent problem solving**, interpersonal and communication skills and a collaborative spirit, combined with an ability to think carefully about your research.

(b) Bottom Half: Agentic

In addition, you will: organization sufficient specialist knowledge in the discipline to develop/follow research programmes and methodologies, have a record of research output in high quality publications, have excellent written and verbal communication skills, have a **record of active participation** of a member of a research team, 'be able to communicate complex and conceptual ideas to a range of groups, provide evidence of the ability to collaborate actively both internally and externally to complete research projects and advance thinking, be able to participate in and develop internal and external research networks, **be able to balance the pressures of research, administrative demands and competing deadlines, be willing to work flexibly to achieve project demands.**

Figure 9: Job ads with differently labelled halves

a job advertisement annotated separately. In this table, the first two parts of the job description describe domain-specific knowledge, while the last part describes agentic personality traits such as goal-oriented performance and motivation.

Figure 11(b) highlights the segmentation of the job advertisement into three parts. The initial two sections primarily outline technical skills and qualifications. The final part, labeled as communal, focuses on how candidates can contribute to and benefit from the academic community within the organization.



Figure 10: Distribution of agentic, balanced, and communal labels across job ad divided into 3 parts

5 Conclusion and Outlook

In this work, we not only identify the presence of gendered language but also highlight the sections of job ads where this language is most prevalent, offering targeted opportunities for intervention. We also carried out an analysis of our labeled dataset which revealed that agentic language is more frequently used than communal language, potentially perpetuating gender stereotypes that favor male applicants. However, balanced sentences that combine traits or lack strong alignment with gendered categories are the most common, suggesting an evolving landscape of job descriptions that attempt to be more inclusive.

Despite these efforts, our analysis shows a significant representation of agentic language, particularly in part of the ads where candidates are described. This suggests that, while job descriptions are evolving, there is still a tendency to favor language that might discourage some potential female applicants. The use of communal language, while present, is significantly lower, highlighting a continued area for improvement in how job roles are communicated to attract a more diverse applicant pool. Our findings should encourage academic institutions to critically assess and revise their job advertisements.

There are several potential areas that could be explored to further develop the contributions of this research. Future work could focus on conducting a qualitative research study that builds on Gaucher et al. (2011)'s study to survey participants in academia and explore how the participants describe gender bias in job advertisements. Moreover, an important direction for future research is to ana-

(a) First Third: Balanced Research Assistant in data-driven methods for energy systems modelling and optimisation - we seek to recruit a highly motivated candidate with proven intellectual and technical ability to conduct research in the area of modelling energy supply systems and energy demand. (a) Second Third: Balanced The candidate will contribute to an on-going research activities in organization and supply) that concern estimating temporal and spatial energy demand (e.g. electricity, heating and cooling) in buildings in the uk under selected decarbonisation scenarios, and developing physics-aware organization methods for optimising the operation of integrated energy networks. (a) Last Third: Agentic An ideal candidate would be a self-starter and a resourceful team-player with an appetite for working with the industry. The successful candidate will also contribute to the overall research performance of organization, carrying out research leading to the publishing of work. Candidates should also pursue excellence in research and inspire others to do the same. (b) First Third: Balanced Fully funded postdoctoral position and details of the post: applicants must have completed a phd before the appointment in operations research/management, computer science, applied mathematics, econometrics, or a related field. They must demonstrate strong capabilities for conducting original theoretical or applied research using tools from: algorithm design, stochastic modelling, market design, or machine learning. (b) Second Third: Balanced The position is funded by a research grant. The term is one or two years, extensible subject to continued satisfactory performance. We will offer a competitive salary and full access to the lbs environment. (b) Last Third: Communal The postdoctoral fellow is expected to contribute and benefit from the resources of the mso community, which includes interactions with faculty and phd students, mentoring opportunities, organisation of reading groups, and training sessions. We are an equal opportunities employer, and as such, we welcome applications from women, black and other ethnic minority candidates who are underrepresented in our faculty.

Figure 11: Job ads with differently labelled thirds

lyze the impact of language transitions within job descriptions on potential candidates. Studies show that readers often lose focus towards the end of documents (Duggan and Payne, 2011), which might influence how they perceive job descriptions that transition from balanced to agentic or communal language. Investigating whether the final part of a job description using agentic language deters candidates who identify with communal traits could offer valuable insights into optimizing job ad structures to attract a diverse applicant pool.

Additionally, considering the global scope of the collected job descriptions, it would be valuable to investigate the role of cultural factors in clustering

the three types of languages—agentic, communal, and balanced. Understanding how cultural contexts influence the use of gendered language in job descriptions could provide deeper insights into the patterns observed.

The research also has certain limitations that should be acknowledged. Firstly, identifying and quantifying gender bias in text is an inherently complex and challenging task. The interpretation of gender bias is subjective and varies among readers of job descriptions. Secondly, the dataset used for analysis contains job descriptions from a specific point in time, which poses issues related to the representativeness of the training data. Additionally, the techniques of labeling gender bias used in this study face certain challenged relating to the the reliability of the resulting clusters. Averaging sentence embeddings, while beneficial for capturing general trends, may overlook specific contextual nuances, potentially leading to inaccuracies in job ad classification. The distinctions between agentic, communal, and balanced language are not always clear-cut, which could lead to occasional misclassifications. These limitations underscore the importance of refining and validating the methodology to enhance its accuracy and reliability in future applications.

Bias Statement

In this research, we focus on identifying and addressing gender bias in academic job descriptions, particularly within STEM fields. The bias we investigate revolves around the use of language that implicitly favors certain gendered traits (agentic or communal) over others, thereby influencing the perceived suitability of job positions for individuals of different genders.

Representational harms occur when job descriptions portray certain gender groups more favorably or even more often than others, reinforcing stereotypes and potentially dissuading individuals from underrepresented genders from applying. Through this research, we saw that most academic job descriptions make use of agentic language when describing ideal candidates. The imbalance in the distribution of agentic and communal language within job advertisements can lead to differences in how these positions are perceived by potential applicants. Women, who often identify more with communal goals, may be discouraged from applying to positions that heavily emphasize agentic language. This not only limits their opportunities for career advancement but also perpetuates gender disparities within academia. By recognizing and addressing bias at its source, we strive to create a more equitable environment that fosters diversity and empowers individuals of all genders to pursue careers in STEM fields.

Finally, we argue that the binary representation used by Gaucher et al. (2011) and its associated gender stereotypes, which are prevalent in the field, are harmful and should be strongly opposed. We acknowledge that there may be other minority dimensions of analysis, beyond agentic and communal, that are yet to be uncovered, and hope our work contributes to opening these areas of inquiry.

References

- David Bakan. 1996. Origination, self-determination, and psychology. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 36(1):9–20.
- Robert H. Bernstein, Michael W. Macy, Wendy M. Williams, Christopher J. Cameron, Sterling Chance Williams-Ceci, and Stephen J. Ceci. 2022. Assessing gender bias in particle physics and social science recommendations for academic jobs. *Social Sciences*, 11(2):74.
- Marise P Born and Toon W Taris. 2010. The impact of the wording of employment advertisements on students' inclination to apply for a job. *The Journal of social psychology*, 150(5):485–502.
- Bettina Casad, Jillian E. Franks, Christina E. Garasky, Melinda M. Kittleman, Alanna Roesler, Deidre Hall, and Zachary W. Petzel. 2020. Gender inequality in academia: Problems and solutions for women faculty in stem. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 99(1):13– 23.
- Erin Cech, Brian Rubineau, Susan Silbey, and Caroll Seron. 2011. Professional role confidence and gendered persistence in engineering. *American Sociological Review*, 76(5):641–666.
- Flor Miriam Plaza del Arco, Amanda Cercas Curry, Alba Curry, Gavin Abercrombie, and Dirk Hovy. 2024. Angry men, sad women: Large language models reflect gendered stereotypes in emotion attribution. *Preprint*, arXiv:2403.03121.
- Geoffrey Duggan and Stephen Payne. 2011. Skim reading by satisficing: Evidence from eye tracking. pages 1141–1150.
- Daniel C. Feldman, William O. Bearden, and David M. Hardesty. 2006. Varying the content of job advertisements: The effects of message specificity. *Journal of Advertising*, 35(1):123–141.

- Richard Frissen, Kolawole John Adebayo, and Rohan Nanda. 2022. A machine learning approach to recognize bias and discrimination in job advertisements. *AI and Society*, 38(4):1–14.
- Danielle Gaucher, Justin Friesen, and Aaron C. Kay. 2011. Evidence that gendered wording in job advertisements exists and sustains gender inequality. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 101(1):109– 128.
- Amit Haim, Alejandro Salinas, and Julian Nyarko. 2024. What's in a name? auditing large language models for race and gender bias. *Preprint*, arXiv:2402.14875.
- Anaïs Llorens, Athina Tzovara, Ludovic Bellier, Ilina Bhaya-Grossman, Aurélie Bidet-Caulet, William K. Chang, Zachariah R. Cross, Rosa Dominguez-Faus, Adeen Flinker, Yvonne Fonken, Mark A. Gorenstein, Chris Holdgraf, Colin W. Hoy, Maria V. Ivanova, Richard T. Jimenez, Soyeon Jun, Julia W.Y. Kam, Celeste Kidd, Enitan Marcelle, Deborah Marciano, and Nina F. Dronkers. 2021. Gender bias in academia: A lifetime problem that needs solutions. *Neuron*, 109(13):2047–2074.
- Kat Matfield. 2016. Gender decoder. https:// gender-decoder.katmatfield.com/.
- Andrzej Maćkiewicz and Waldemar Ratajczak. 1993. Principal components analysis (pca). Computers & Geosciences, 19(3):303–342.
- Kelly O'Brien, Veronica Petra, Divya Lal, Kim Kwai, Marian McDonald, Judy Wallace, Chloe Jeanmonod, and Rebecca Jeanmonod. 2022. Gender coding in job advertisements for academic, non-academic, and leadership positions in emergency medicine. *The American journal of emergency medicine*, 55:6–10.
- Erin Oldford and John Fiset. 2021. Decoding bias: Gendered language in finance internship job postings. *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Finance*, 31(5).
- F. Pedregosa, G. Varoquaux, A. Gramfort, V. Michel, B. Thirion, O. Grisel, M. Blondel, P. Prettenhofer, R. Weiss, V. Dubourg, J. Vanderplas, A. Passos, D. Cournapeau, M. Brucher, M. Perrot, and E. Duchesnay. 2011. Scikit-learn: Machine learning in Python. *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, 12:2825–2830.
- Catherine E Read, Jovanna A Tracz, Nour Mhaimeed, Rylie N Mainville, and Carrie A Elzie. 2023. Examination of residency program websites for the use of gendered language and imagery. *BMC medical education*, 23(1):697.
- Nils Reimers and Iryna Gurevych. 2019. Sentence-bert: Sentence embeddings using siamese bert-networks. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing, pages 3982–3992.

- Edith C Sella, Aparna Joshi, Sowmya Balasubramanian, Dharshini Senthilkumar, Tianwen Ma, and Prachi Agarwal. 2023. Is there gender bias in radiology job postings? *Current problems in diagnostic radiology*, 52(3):187–191.
- Shiliang Tang, Xinyi Zhang, Jenna Cryan, Miriam Metzger, Haitao Zheng, and Ben Y. Zhao. 2017. Gender bias in the job market: a longitudinal analysis. In *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-computer Interaction*, pages 1–19.
- Laurens van der Maaten and Geoffrey Hinton. 2008. Visualizing data using t-sne. *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, 9(86):2579–2605.
- Yixin Wan, George Pu, Jiao Sun, Aparna Garimella, Kai-Wei Chang, and Nanyun Peng. 2023. "kelly is a warm person, joseph is a role model": Gender biases in LLM-generated reference letters. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2023*, pages 3730–3748, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jia Zhu, Ellen Zerbe, Monique Ross, and Catherine G P Berdanier. 2021. The stated and hidden expectations: Applying natural language processing techniques to understand postdoctoral job postings. In *ASEE Annual Conference*.

Dissecting Biases in Relation Extraction: A Cross-Dataset Analysis on People's Gender and Origin

Marco Antonio Stranisci*

Università degli Studi di Torino aequa-tech, Turin, Italy marcoantonio.stranisci@unito.it **Elisa Bassignana*** IT University of Copenhagen

Pioneer Center for AI, Denmark elba@itu.dk

Abstract

Relation Extraction (RE) is at the core of many Natural Language Understanding tasks, including knowledge-base population and Question Answering. However, any Natural Language Processing system is exposed to biases, and the analysis of these has not received much attention in RE. We propose a new method for inspecting bias in the RE pipeline, which is completely transparent in terms of interpretability. Specifically, in this work we analyze biases related to gender and place of birth. Our methodology includes (i) obtaining semantic triplets (subject, object, semantic relation) involving 'person' entities from RE resources, (ii) collecting meta-information ('gender' and 'place of birth') using Entity Linking technologies, and then (iii) analyze the distribution of triplets across different groups (e.g., men versus women). We investigate bias at two levels: In the training data of three commonly used RE datasets (SRED^{FM}, CrossRE, NYT), and in the predictions of a state-of-the-art RE approach (ReLiK). To enable cross-dataset analysis, we introduce a taxonomy of relation types mapping the label sets of different RE datasets to a unified label space. Our findings reveal that bias is a compounded issue affecting underrepresented groups within data and predictions for RE.

1 Introduction

Language technologies are widely spreading throughout our everyday life. However, it has been demonstrated that these technologies are often affected by the presence of gender and racial biases (Kurita et al., 2019; Tan and Celis, 2019). "Bias" is a cover term for a number of issues, which according to Hovy and Prabhumoye (2021) may emerge at any stage of the Natural Language Processing (NLP) pipeline. They could come from **Pere-Lluís Huguet Cabot***

Sapienza University of Rome huguetcabot@diag.uniroma1.it

Roberto Navigli Sapienza University of Rome navigli@diag.uniroma1.it

the data curation process (Sap et al., 2019), be intrinsic into the trained model (Zhao et al., 2017), or they could derive from the cultural background of NLP practitioners (Santy et al., 2023). An orthogonal taxonomy of biases distinguishes between allocative and representational ones (Suresh and Guttag, 2021). Allocative biases regard the unequal distribution of opportunities across different groups, such as disparity in granting loans (Hardt et al., 2016) or the systematic exclusion of certain minorities from public archives (Weathington and Brubaker, 2023). Representational biases focus on stereotypical associations between groups and certain features (Caliskan et al., 2017) (e.g., women and lexicon about marriage and parenthood). Blodgett et al. (2020) show that existing works in NLP mainly focus on *representational* biases while the allocative ones are often overlooked.

In this context, Relation Extraction (RE) techniques represent a powerful tool to jointly explore the two types of bias described above. RE methods extract fine-grained triples from texts (subject, object, and the semantic relation connecting them), allowing for the discovery of gaps in digital archives. Previous work performed event extraction on Wikipedia biographies to study the presence of systematic gender biases in this archive (Sun and Peng, 2021; Stranisci et al., 2023). Gaut et al. (2020) collected a distantly supervised dataset from Wikipedia for exploring gender bias in RE, but they only include four relation types ('spouse', 'hypernym', 'birthDate', 'birthPlace'). Despite this preliminary work, standards for the adoption and evaluation of RE techniques for bias detection are still missing and are limited to the analysis of gender. Furthermore, before using RE for bias detection there is the pressing need to explore whether these systems portray any themselves.

In this paper, we explore the presence of biases in RE, both at the level of data (by analyzing the training data) and model (by analyzing the model

^{*}Equal contribution



Figure 1: **Overview of our Proposed Methodology.** The first step aligns the label sets of different RE datasets into a unified taxonomy of relation types. In the second step, we extract semantic triplets including 'person' entities. Within the third step, we collect socio-demographic information from Wikidata of the people extracted in the second step. Finally, in the last step we analyze potential *allocative* and *representational* imbalances in the distribution of the extracted information (entities and relations) across different social groups (e.g., men versus women).

predictions). We illustrate our procedure in Figure 1. As a first step, in order to enable crossdataset analysis, we introduce a taxonomy of relation types mapping the label sets from different RE datasets into a unified label space. Then, as a second and third steps we collect information about people mentioned in a text. This includes semantic relations involving people (from RE), and meta-information related to them (i.e., 'gender' and 'place of birth'; using Entity Linking). As a last step, we explore the *allocative* and *representational* biases by inspecting potential imbalances into the distribution of the extracted triples across different groups (e.g., men versus women). Concretely, we investigate if any relation type (e.g., member, contributes) is more likely associated with one social group (more details in Section 5). We repeat our procedure both on the training sets on three widely adopted RE datasets: SRED^{FM} (Huguet Cabot et al., 2023), CrossRE (Bassignana and Plank, 2022a), NYT (Riedel et al., 2010); and on the predictions of a state-of-the-art RE approach, Re-LiK (Orlando et al., 2024).

Not only do our findings corroborate existing research regarding the prevalence of gender biases in RE but they also broaden the discourse by uncovering biases along additional dimensions, such as origin. To our knowledge, this is the first investigation that examines bias through the lens of transfer learning and reveals the nuanced effects of simplistic interventions like data balancing. While such strategies may reduce biases for certain target groups, they can inadvertently introduce new biases, underscoring the necessity for a more sophisticated, multi-axial approach for bias mitigation.

The contributions of this paper are:

- We introduce a meticulous bias analysis procedure for RE designed to be applicable across various dimensions, addressing both dataset and model-level biases.
- An in-depth analysis of biases related to 'gender' and 'place of birth' in the train sets of three widely adopted RE datasets and on the predictions of a SotA RE model on those.
- A taxonomy of relation types mapping the label sets of different RE datasets into a unified label space. The taxonomy makes our approach robust and versatile, and opens to cross-dataset analysis.

2 Related Work

Sun et al. (2019) and Blodgett et al. (2020) emphasize current issues in the research about bias detection and mitigation. The first presents a survey aimed at identifying research directions for gender bias detection, while the second criticizes how research in bias detection and mitigation is usually conducted. In order to make explicit potential biases in NLP, Bender and Friedman (2018) and Mitchell et al. (2019) propose to better document datasets and Language Models (LMs) respectively.

Some works released ad-hoc datasets to explore bias detection. Zhao et al. (2018) presented Wino-Bias, a dataset for coreference resolution aimed at testing stereotypical associations between women and certain types of profession. Nadeem et al. (2021) introduced StereoSet, for testing the presence of stereotypical knowledge in LMs while Gehman et al. (2020) released RealToxicityPrompt, a list of annotated prompts that is intended to measure the toxicity of text generated by LMs. Kiritchenko and Mohammad (2018) presented the Equity Evaluation Corpus, designed to measure gender and racial biases in models trained for sentiment analysis.

Several work on bias analysis focuses on inspecting the internal representation of NLP models. Caliskan et al. (2017) proposed two metrics for bias detection from word embeddings; May et al. (2019) from sentence encoders; and Kurita et al. (2019) from contextualized word embeddings. More recent approaches in this direction use probing strategies (Lauscher et al., 2022; Köksal et al., 2023). However, the outcome of these methods is often hard to interpret because of the black box nature of neural models. In order to prioritize interpretability of the results and obtain a more transparent bias analysis, we propose a new procedure for bias detection in RE technologies, which is applicable both at the level of data and model.

3 Methodology

We introduce a four-step procedure for detecting biases related to 'gender' and 'place of birth' in the Relation Extraction pipeline (see Figure 1). The method can be easily extended to explore other socio-demographic biases.

(1) First, we align the label spaces of different RE datasets using a unique taxonomy of relations with the aim of performing comparable analysis across corpora (details in Section 3.1).

(2) As a second step, we employ Relation Extraction in order to gather triplets (subject, object, relation) about people mentioned in a text. This can be done by filtering the triplets in which at least one of the two entities has type 'person'. We leverage the triplets in labeled training sets as well as in the predictions of systems trained using them.

(3) We collect socio-demographic data about people that are included in the biographical triplets extracted in step (2). We use Entity Linking (EL) to disambiguate the entity spans with type 'person' and link them to Wikidata (Vrandečić and Krötzsch, 2014) entries. We collect two types of meta-information from Wikidata: 'gender' and 'place of birth'.

(4) Last, given the triplets extracted in the second step and the socio-demographic information collected in the third step, we conduct bias analysis by investigating any imbalance in the distribution of relations across different social groups (e.g., men versus women). Since it has been demonstrated that biases may occur at any stage of the NLP pipeline (Hovy and Prabhumoye, 2021), we applied our procedure for assessing the presence of biases both on the corpora used for training RE models and on the entities and relations predicted by them. Specifically, we investigate *allocative* bias in the training data (Section 5.1) and in the predictions made by these models (Section 5.3). Similarly, we examine representational bias, adapting metrics from earlier studies to evaluate both the training datasets (Section 5.2) and the predictions (Section 5.4).

3.1 Relation Type Taxonomy

RE datasets often include a label set with relation types which are too fine-grained with respect to our objective of exploring social biases related to 'gender' and 'place of birth' (e.g., field-of-work and occupation from SRED^{FM}). Aggregating certain types to broader categories enables a higher-level analysis with enough samples per type that would be otherwise unfeasible with infrequent or narrow ones. In addition, we face the issue of lack of standards in dataset annotation for RE (Bassignana and Plank, 2022b), which prevents the comparison of results across corpora (e.g., the relation type /people/person/profession in NYT versus occupation in SRED^{FM}). To overcome these issues we introduce a taxonomy of relation types mapping the original types from the different datasets into a unified label space (e.g., field-of-work, occupation and /people/person/profession to field). The taxonomy enables cross-dataset comparison and makes our approach versatile. Table 1 reports the ten newly introduced labels, with the co-occurring entity types (one entity type is always a person), and a corresponding example. The taxonomy is organized around the entity types that are part of the triplet. For instance, contributes is used to identify all triples with a person and a work, while relationship represents triplets where both subject and object are persons.

Relation type	Co-occurring entity	Example
contributes	work	In 2018, <i>Zhao</i> directed her third feature film, <i>Nomadland</i> , starring Frances Mc- Dormand
date	date	Rosa Luxemburg born Rozalia Luksen- burg, 5 March 1871
field	occupation, discipline	Stephen William Hawking was an En- glish theoretical physicist, cosmologist
geographical relation	place	Born in <i>Ogidi</i> , Colonial Nigeria, <i>Achebe</i> 's childhood was influenced by both Igbo traditional culture and postcolonial Christianity
language	language	Seedorf speaks six languages fluently: Dutch, English, Italian, Portuguese, Spanish and Sranan Tongo
member	organization	Ahead of the 2009–10 season, <i>Ronaldo</i> joined <i>Real Madrid</i> for a world record transfer fee at the time of £80 million (€94 million)
participated	event	<i>Tim Burton</i> appeared at the 2009 Comic- Con in San Diego, California, to pro- mote both 9 and Alice in Wonderland
position held	organization	<i>Meredith Whittaker</i> is the president of the <i>Signal Foundation</i> and serves on their board of directors
relationship	person	<i>Billy Porter</i> married <i>Adam Smith</i> on Jan- uary 14, 2017, after meeting him in 2009
topic	work	Napoleon appears briefly in the first sec- tion of Victor Hugo's Les Misérables, and is extensively referenced in later sections

Table 1: **Relation Type Taxonomy.** A list of biographical situations designed for RE. Labels are distinguished on the basis of the co-occurring entities in a triple. All examples are derived from the English Wikipedia.

	Tr	ain	Valio	lation	Test		
	sent.	sent. rel.		sent. rel.		rel.	
SRED ^{FM}	1,199,046	2,480,098	6,333	13,322	3,015	6,474	
CrossRE	297	1,220	835	3,483	891	3,604	
NYT	19,709	26,267	1,765	2,318	1,773	2,327	

 Table 2: Dataset Statistics. Number of sentences and number of triplets (relations) for each dataset.

4 Experimental Setup

We follow the four-step procedure described in Section 3 to investigate biases in three commonly adopted RE datasets, and the predictions of a popular RE model. Below, we describe our experimental setup in terms of datasets (Section 4.1) and modeling (Section 4.2). Details about their licenses can be found in Appendix B.

4.1 Datasets

SRED^{FM} (**Huguet Cabot et al., 2023**). The SRED^{FM} dataset is a distantly annotated dataset build on top of Wikipedia pages and Wikidata re-

lations, employing a novel triplet critic filtering. The dataset covers 17 languages, but for the scope of this paper we employ only the English portion. Since this is the larger corpus in our study, we use it as a pre-training stage for the experiments on the other two datasets.

CrossRE (Bassignana and Plank, 2022a). CrossREis a multi-domain dataset for RE containing data from the news, politics, natural science, music, literature and artificial intelligence domains. This dataset is the only entirely manually-annotated in our study. Given the small size of the six subsets, in our experiments we join the data across the different domains.

NYT (Riedel et al., 2010). NYT is a RE dataset consisting of news sentences from the New York Times corpus. It contains distantly annotated relations using FreeBase. We use the processed version of Zeng et al. (2018) called NYT-multi.

For each of these datasets, we filter the triplets which include at least one entity 'person'. In Table 2 we report the statistics of the corpora after the filtering phase. In addition, following step (1) in Section 3, we map the original relation types of the three datasets, into a unified label space defined by our taxonomy of relation types (Section 3.1). We report our mapping in Table 8 in Appendix A.

4.2 Models

In steps (2) and (3) of our proposed procedure (described in Section 3) we employ a Relation Extraction (RE) and an Entity Linking (EL) model respectively. Below we describe them both.

ReLiK (Orlando et al., 2024). For RE, we employ the same setup as ReLiK, a Retriever-Reader model based on DeBERTa-v3 (He et al., 2021). We use the same default parameters as the original paper and train on top of DeBERTa-v3-large.

EntQA (Zhang et al., 2022). To disambiguate the extracted entities 'person' and link them to Wikidata (Vrandečić and Krötzsch, 2014) we use EntQA, a recent state-of-the-art EL system based on the Retriever-Reader paradigm. We employ it to perform entity disambiguation on the entity spans extracted by ReLiK. We only default to these predictions when the original dataset does not have a link to Wikidata, either because a span prediction was not labeled as an entity in the dataset, or because the original dataset did not include disam-

			+ SRED ^{FM} pre-train						
	Test	taxonomy	original	taxonomy	balanced				
	SRED ^{FM}		69.13	71.07	64.84				
zero-shot	CrossRE NYT		17.35 28.58	20.27 32.89	20.07 33.66				
fine-tuned	CrossRE NYT	44.72 89.26	51.74 88.47	52.04 88.52	52.12 89.83				

Table 3: **Experiments Performance.** Micro-F1 scores of ReLiK trained and evaluated on SRED^{FM}, zero-shot and fine-tuning evaluation on CrossRE and NYT. 'original' refers to a model trained on the original label set; 'taxonomy' indicates that the model was trained on the taxonomy mapping (see Table 8); 'balanced' stands for a gender-balanced version of it (see Section 6). First row indicates performance after pre-training on SRED^{FM} test set.

biguated entities. We use EntQA out-of-the-box (i.e., we do not fine-tune it on our datasets).

4.3 Relation Extraction Experiments

As mentioned in Section 4.1, we use SRED^{FM} for pre-training ReLiK before employing it on the two smaller datasets (CrossRE, NYT). We perform two categories of experiments: 'Zero-shot', where Re-LiK is pre-trained on SRED^{FM} and directly evaluated on CrossRE and NYT; and 'fine-tuning', where ReLiK is both pre-trained on SRED^{FM} and fine-tuned on the target dataset.

Zero-shot Experiments. In Table 3 we report the scores of ReLiK trained on SRED^{FM} and evaluated on CrossRE and NYT in a zero-shot fashion. Evaluation is always done in the coarse-grained space of the taxonomy, either on the predictions of a model trained on SRED^{FM} mapped to the taxonomy (column 'taxonomy'), or by mapping the predictions of a model trained on the original labels to the taxonomy (column 'original'). Training on the taxonomy relation types improves the performance for both datasets. These results validate our proposed mapping as a way to unify label sets from different datasets.

Fine-tuning Experiments. Similarly to the previous experiment, in Table 3 we report the scores of ReLiK trained on SRED^{FM} and then fine-tuned on CrossRE or NYT, as well as regular fine-tuning without pre-training (left column). These experiments allow us to explore the use of our shared label space as a means of transfer learning across datasets and later on study how transfer learning affects the bias distribution (see Sections 5.3 and 5.4).

_	SRED ^{FM}	CrossRE	NYT
Women	20.0%	11.8%	17.3%
Global South	18.9%	10.0%	12.2%

Table 4: **Allocative Bias in Training Data.** The percentage of women and Global South people in SRED^{FM}, CrossRE, and NYT corpora.

Differences in performance are smaller than in the zero-shot counterpart, especially when enough data is available in the target dataset (NYT). Still, this experiment showcases that pre-training on the tax-onomy improves performance on low data regimes while it has a small difference on larger ones.

5 Social Bias Analysis

In this section we report our bias analysis conducted on the training sets of the datasets described in Section 4.1 and on the predictions obtained with our trained models. In line with previous work on 'gender' bias analysis, we consider men versus women (Zhang and Terveen, 2021). For biases related to the 'place of birth', instead, we follow previous work and consider Global North versus Global South (Dirlik, 2007). Such a distinction has been introduced by the Brandt Commission (Williams, 1980) in the context of an effort of reducing economic issues affecting Third World's countries. Therefore, we design an operational definition of country belonging to the Global South as being a former colony and having a Human Development Index lower than 0.8. We discuss more in details these division in the Limitation Section. We maintain the distinction between allocative and representational biases and explore both bias types at the level of training sets (Sections 5.1 and 5.2) and in the predictions (Sections 5.3 and 5.4).

5.1 Allocative Bias in Training Data

To assess the *allocative* bias in training data we compare the distributions across two axes between entities that are included in SRED^{FM}, CrossRE, and NYT: The distribution of women against men, and of people born in a Global South countries against ones born in the Global North. As explained in Section 3 we gather this meta-information about people from Wikidata, a collaborative knowledge graph that is part of the Wikimedia ecosystem. Since the analysis relies on metadata extracted from Wikidata, we are only able to compare people whose information about their 'gender' (Wikidata ID P21)

	SRED ^{FM}		Cros	ssRE	N	NYT		SRED ^{FM}		ssRE	NYT	
	M	W	М	W	М	W	N	S	N	S	Ν	S
contributes	0.28	0.475	0.407	0.291	-	_	0.758	0.162	0.447	0.333	-	_
date	1.038	0.926	-	-	-	_	1.07	0.993	-	_	-	-
field	0.388	0.291	-	-	-	_	0.394	0.451	-	_	0.002	0.0
geographical	0.469	0.368	0.218	0.218	3.251	2.164	0.501	0.64	0.198	0.644	0.965	1.019
language	0.013	0.006	_	-	_	_	0.025	0.024	-	_	_	_
member	0.21	0.164	0.229	0.218	0.739	0.283	0.252	0.201	0.300	0.222	0.169	0.121
participated	0.088	0.049	0.278	0.145	_	_	0.052	0.08	0.218	0.133	_	_
position held	0.091	0.038	0.745	0.727	0.085	0.012	0.144	0.196	0.742	1.200	0.036	0.009
relationship	0.124	0.215	0.098	0.036	0.078	0.211	0.132	0.119	0.093	0.111	0.077	0.025
topic	0.001	0.001	0.018	0.018	-	-	0.002	0.002	0.013	0.0	-	-

Table 5: **Representational Bias in Training Data.** Results of the experiment aimed at identifying statisticallysignificant differences between social groups for each relation and across corpora. Values represent the proportion of each relation type per person. First six columns report the comparison between men (M) and women (W); last six between Global North (N) and South (S) people. For each relation, we report the group that is significantly more associated with it in bold, if neither is it means that there is not a statistically significant difference ($p \ge 0.05$).

and 'place of birth' (Wikipedia ID P19) are available. This did not have an impact on the analysis of 'gender', while the Wikidata gap with respect to 'place of birth' is 31% of people from SRED^{FM}, 8% from CrossRE and 11% from NYT. Once we obtained this information, in Table 4 we observe the distribution of women and Southern people in order to understand to which extent they are underrepresented in RE corpora. CrossRE is the corpus where both categories are less represented while in SRED^{FM} they benefit from a higher representation. Overall, the analysis shows a significant underrepresentation of women and people born in the Global South across all corpora, always falling in a range between 10% and 20% of the total. This is even more daring when considering that the Global South accounts for around 80% of the world population. We also want to stress that these allocative biases are compounded from several sources. All our datasets are in English, and from sources that target an English speaking audience. Wikidata and Wikipedia showcase a skewed gender distribution where only 25% and 20% respectively of people's pages are women (Zhang and Terveen, 2021), furthermore Wikipedia collaborators are 83% male.¹ The annotation process for each of the datasets we analyze may also introduce further biases. Our goal here is not to pinpoint where these biases originated but rather how they are reflected in RE resources.

5.2 Representational Bias in Training Data

The analysis of representational biases relies on a Monte Carlo experiment that simulates a balanced distribution of people along the axes of 'gender' (men vs women) and 'place of birth' (Global North vs Global South). For each training set we perform an experiment structured in three parts: (i) We randomly pick 100 individuals for each group and average the number of relation in which they are subject or object. (ii) We repeat the sampling 10 times for each distribution. (iii) For each relation type we calculate the t-test statistics between the 10 mean scores of a majority and a minority group. Results are reported in Table 5. For each relation we report the average per social group and whether there is a significant difference between the two groups. The comparison between genders shows that member and position held are significantly related to men in the NYT corpus, perhaps due to its nature as a news corpus, along with geographical (also in SRED^{FM}). Relationship is instead skewed towards women in SRED^{FM} and NYT, and towards men in CrossRE. From the comparison between Global North and South it emerges that the latter are always more associated to geographical. The position held property behaves differently across corpora: It is mostly related to South in SRED^{FM} and CrossRE, and to North people in NYT, which is also skewed towards this group for the *member* relation. *Relationship* is significantly associated to Global South people only in NYT.

In general, some trends emerge when comparing across datasets. The only gender bias that fa-

¹https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Wikipedia: Wikipedians

	SRED ^{FM}	CrossRE	NYT
Women	-	- 2.2%	+ 5.6%
+ SRED ^{FM}	- 3.5%	- 5.8%	+ 0.6%
+ gen. balanced	- 2.9%	- 4.4%	0.0%
Global South	-	- 8.3%	- 2.1%
+ SRED ^{FM}	- 1.7%	- 6.7%	- 1.6%
+ gen. balanced	- 0.3%	- 9.9%	- 5.9%

Table 6: Allocative Bias in Prediction. Percentage difference of women and Global South people in false positive and true positive predictions of the model when trained on each dataset (first row), fine-tuned on top of SRED^{FM} pre-training (second row) or fine-tuned on top of a gender-balanced SRED^{FM} pre-training (third row).

vors women concerns *relationship*, while all the other types (when significant) skew towards men, independently of the dataset. On the other hand, with respect to the North/South analysis, biases are more widespead and of different nature. Of the three datasets, SRED^{FM} shows less biases on this dimension, and coincidentally it is the one having a higher percentage of people from the Global South (see Table 4). It is worth noticing how the only bias favoring North shared across datasets (with a very high degree in SRED^{FM}) is *contributes*, which may be reflective of an overall cultural bias within the English Wikipedia, from which both SRED^{FM} and CrossRE are collected.

Summarizing, the analysis shows the presence of recurring *representational* biases against underrepresented groups, specifically for certain relation types: *relationship* for women, *geographical* for Global South. NYT includes the highest number of biases, where men and Northern people mostly appear in relations that emphasize their profession (*member*, *position held*).

5.3 Allocative Bias in Prediction

Our analysis on bias in predictions follows that of Gaut et al. (2020). For *allocative* bias we rely on the False Positive Balance score (FP_{Bal}) inspired by Hardt et al. (2016). This metric is a comparison between the percentage of entities belonging to an underrepresented group in the model's wrong predictions and their distribution in the test and evaluation sets. A positive delta between these two percentages is interpreted as the model tendency to recognize entities from an underrepresented group. The analysis is performed on predictions obtained with and without SRED^{FM} pre-training, while always fine-tuning on the target dataset (Table 3).

	gender			place of birth			
	SRED ^{FM}	CrossRE	NYT	SRED ^{FM}	CrossRE	NYT	
contributes	+ 0.03	- 0.01	-	+ 0.04	- 0.30	-	
date	+ 0.03	-	-	- 0.05	-	-	
field	+ 0.05	-	-	- 0.03	-	-	
geographical	- 0.09	+0.16	+0.04	+ 0.23	+0.15	+0.05	
language	-	-	-	+ 0.29	-		
member	- 0.12	- 0.10	-	-	- 0.10	-	
participated	- 0.07	- 0.01	_	+ 0.10	- 0.06	-	
position held	- 0.17	0.00	- 0.01	+ 0.10	- 0.04	- 0.02	
relationship	+0.07	+0.14	- 0.17	+ 0.15	+0.03	+0.16	
topic	-	-	-	-	-	-	

Table 7: **Representational Bias in Prediction.** The Rec_{Gap} on the evaluation triples with respect to the underrepresented groups (i.e., positive values for women and people from the Global South). '-' means that the relation type appears less than 10 times.

This allows to assess the impact of SRED^{FM} pretraining on the distribution of bias. Table 6 shows that women and Global South people are affected by *allocative* harms in different proportions and that these vary across corpora. The FP_{Bal} score is negative for women in CrossRE, while in NYT it is positive. Using the pre-trained model before fine-tuning amplifies this bias in CrossRE (from -2.2 to -5.8), while it lowers it in the NYT (from +5.6 to +0.06). The opposite happens if Global South people are considered. Given the fact that a negative FP_{Bal} emerges in all distributions, the pre-training step reduces this bias from -8.3 to -6.7 in CrossRE and from -2.1 to -1.6 in NYT.

In summary, while adopting SRED^{FM} for transfer learning to CrossRE and NYT has a positive effect on the performance (CrossRE goes from 44.72 to 52.04, see Table 3), it has a mixed effect with respect to the biases. On one side, it amplifies the *allocative* biases for women in predictions, on the other it introduces a mitigation in favor of people from Global South. This could be explained by SRED^{FM} showing a lower starting bias of -1.7 compared to the other datasets, and therefore acting as a mitigator when used as a pre-trained model. The opposite is observed for women, where SRED^{FM} has a higher starting bias (-3.5).

5.4 Representational Bias in Prediction

We perform the *representational* bias analysis on the predictions by adopting the *Minority Recall Gap* metric (Rec_{Gap}). Inspired by the 'true positive rate gender gap' from De-Arteaga et al. (2019), our metric measures the differences in recall for predictions of two groups. Since the data used for evaluation is unbalanced and some relation types are rare, we only compute the Rec_{Gap} for types appearing at least 10 times in each corpus.

Table 7 shows the Rec_{Gap} for each relation throughout all datasets. A positive value means that the model is more likely to retrieve a relation if it is associated to an underrepresented group (i.e., women and people from the South); on the opposite, a negative value means that the model is more likely to retrieve the relation type if it includes men or people from the Global North respectively. The analysis shows patters that already emerged in the training sets (Section 5.2). Relationship and geographical triples are more often retrieved when a woman or a Global South person represents its subject or object in five out of six cases. The only exceptions are SRED^{FM}, which achieves a Rec_{Gap} score of -0.09 in favor of men for *geographical*, and NYT, with a score of -0.17 in favor of men for relationship. The opposite happens for position held, which is mostly retrieved for Global South (+0.10) only in SRED^{FM}, while in all the other cases it always leans towards Global North. Con*tributes* achieves a positive Rec_{Gap} in SRED^{FM} and a negative one in CrossRE for both bias analysis, while *member* is always mostly associated with men or people from the North. The same happens for participated, except for 'place of birth' in SRED^{FM}. Finally, *field* and *date* are more associated with women and Global North.

These results mostly follow the trends in the training datasets (Section 5.2). Representational biases in predictions regard similar associations between certain categories of people and relation types: Women with *relationship*, Southern people with *geographical*, men and Northern people with *member*. However, the model seems to have its own impact on the propagation of biases. For instance, *field* does not present statistically significant differences between Global North and Global South in the training sets (see Table 5), but it is mostly associated to Northern people in the predictions. This behavior underlines the need of designing approaches for bias detection that encompass all the stages of the RE task.

6 Bias Mitigation

In this section we look at a common approach to tackle skewed distributions of data by balancing the pre-training data (SRED^{FM}) in order to obtain fairer representations of underrepresented groups. This mitigating strategy was the only one shown to

be effective in Gaut et al. (2020). Since in Table 6 the 'gender' bias of SRED^{FM} is more pronounced with respect to the bias related to the 'place of birth' (-3.5% versus -1.7%), we consider the 'gender' axis and re-train ReLiK on a dataset with a balanced distribution across genders. In order to do so, we gather from SRED^{FM} all triplets involving at least one woman, and then we add triplets involving men until we reach an equal amount. As a results, we obtained a dataset of 836, 638 instances, of which 50.7\% involves at least one woman.

As it can be observed in the bottom line of Table 6, the adoption of a gender balanced pretraining dataset has a mitigation effect on the allocative biases against both underrepresented groups in SRED^{FM}. The FP_{Bal} decreases from -3.5% to -2.9% against women and from -1.7%to -0.3% against Southern people. The effect on the gender bias of the other datasets is also positive. The balanced distribution improves the FP_{Bal} score from -5.8% to -4.4% in CrossRE, and from +0.06 to 0 in the NYT corpus. However, balancing the gender axis has a negative impact on the allocative bias against people from the Global South both in CrossRE and NYT. In CrossRE, it amplifies them from -8.3% to -9.9%, while in the NYT corpus from -2.1% to -5.9%. This could be explained by the drop of presence of Southern people in SRED^{FM} from 18.9% (see Table 4) to 16.9% in the balanced version. An intersectional approach (Crenshaw, 2017) that jointly considers these two sources of underrepresentation could be explored to better understand how to mitigate biases from multiple angles.

7 Conclusion

In this paper we address the critical matter of biases within RE data and systems, and propose a four-step procedure to analyze them. Our approach showcases the widespread nature of biases in the life-cycle of RE systems, encompassing datasets, transfer learning and model predictions. Our findings reveal a concerning underrepresentation of women and individuals from the Global South as well as undesired biases for specific relation types. We demonstrate that tackling bias is a complex and compounded issue which requires careful thought. Simple techniques, such as balancing the data for an underrepresented group, may introduce other unwanted biases. We also provide a carefully designed taxonomy of relation types that enables comparison and effective transfer across RE datasets.

In conclusion our work serves a dual purpose: On one side, it sheds light on the pervasive biases related to gender and origin within RE datasets and systems, on the other it offers a critical perspective on the use of Information Extraction (IE) techniques for bias exploration. This study emphasizes the need for nuanced, multi-faceted approaches to detect and mitigate biases, urging the community to proceed with caution and depth in developing and applying RE technologies.

Bias Statement

In this paper we study the presence of bias in RE models and datasets focusing on two axes: gender (women versus men) and origin (Global South versus Global North). RE techniques are crucial to extract structured information from unstructured texts and this could lead to a number of downstream tasks, such as the automatic population of knowledge bases or the development of tools for data management and archiving. Biased RE resources can lead to allocational harms, since they might exclude people from datasets and models outputs. Additionally, they can represent a representational harms for their systematic association between certain categories of people and specific relation types. In this work we present an approach that consider representational and allocational harms both in datasets and models, since we believe that it is necessary to implement a comprehensive strategy to reduce the harmfulness of RE systems.

Limitations

The first limitation of this work regards the taxonomy adopted for distinguishing people on the basis of their 'place of birth' in the context of a globalized world. We adopt the distinction between Global North and Global South as it has been recently re-proposed as a framework by the United Nations. However, such a conceptualization has been proposed in a Western context and thus might have an impact on the cultural representation of this underrepresented group. Therefore, we design an operational definition of country belonging to the Global South as being a former colony and having a Human Development Index lower than 0.8. In addition, it is worth mentioning that Wikidata comes with many limitations in its taxonomy that hamper a fair collection of data. Squeezing two orthogonal features like 'gender' and 'sexual orientation' in

a unique property is not fully respectful of nonbinarism. Not only that: the percentage of people who do not identify as men or women in Wikidata is so low that it was non possible to adopt a binary conception of gender in this research. Future work will rely on knowledge bases with a higher representation of non-binary people.

The second limitation regards the usage of Wikidata for the collection of socio-demographic information about people. The underrepresentation of women and people from the Global South in this knowledge base is a known issue that may impact the analysis. People from the Global South correspond to 85% of the world population, while in Wikidata they represent only the 17.2%. Women are 24.1% in Wikidata, against 49.7% in the real world. This reliance can potentially skew the results, raising questions about whether the identified biases are more reflective of the limitations and biases inherent in Wikidata rather than the RE systems themselves. Unfortunately, at the time of writing there are no alternative open resources with the same coverage of Wikidata.

Another limitation concerns the categorization of relationships. The proposed taxonomy might be too broad in some categories, potentially overlooking more nuanced relation types. For instance, combining 'field' with occupation and sports discipline might obscure specific biases related to distinct professional domains. Additionally, some relation types, like 'relationship,' might be too general. Keeping a more fine-grained taxonomy could help identify specific biases, but as discussed in 3.1 it leads to very infrequent relation types as well as hindering the comparison across datasets.

A final limitation of our work regards gender. Since we rely on Wikidata to augment corpora with socio-demographic information, we must adopt their P21 property that squeezes biological sex, gender identity, and sexual orientation into a single label. Additionally, the representation of people who do not identify as men or women is statistically irrelevant in our RE corpora. Therefore, we were not able to adopt a non-binary perspective on this aspect. While we acknowledge this binary model, it is important to reflect on how it could cause harm by reinforcing gender binaries and excluding nonbinary identities. We discuss the term 'gender' and its implications early in the paper, drawing on interdisciplinary perspectives and point to Devinney et al. (2022) for further reading.

Acknowledgements

We thank the NLPnorth group at ITU and the MaiNLP group at LMU for feedback on an earlier version of this paper. Elisa Bassignana is supported by the Independent Research Fund Denmark (Danmarks Frie Forskningsfond; DFF) Sapere Aude grant 9063-00077B and by VILLUM FONDEN grant VIL59826. Pere-Lluís Huguet Cabot is fully funded by the PNRR MUR project PE0000013-FAIR. While working at Babelscape, Pere-Lluís Huguet Cabot was funded by KnowGraphs.



This work was partially supported by the Marie Skłodowska-Curie project *Knowledge Graphs at Scale* (Know-Graphs) No. 860801 under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme.

References

- Elisa Bassignana and Barbara Plank. 2022a. CrossRE: A cross-domain dataset for relation extraction. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2022*, pages 3592–3604, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Elisa Bassignana and Barbara Plank. 2022b. What do you mean by relation extraction? a survey on datasets and study on scientific relation classification. In *Proceedings of the 60th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Student Research Workshop*, pages 67–83, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Emily M. Bender and Batya Friedman. 2018. Data statements for natural language processing: Toward mitigating system bias and enabling better science. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 6:587–604.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé III, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Language (technology) is power: A critical survey of "bias" in NLP. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 5454– 5476, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Aylin Caliskan, Joanna J Bryson, and Arvind Narayanan. 2017. Semantics derived automatically from language corpora contain human-like biases. *Science*, 356(6334):183–186.
- Kimberlé W Crenshaw. 2017. On intersectionality: Essential writings. The New Press.
- Maria De-Arteaga, Alexey Romanov, Hanna Wallach, Jennifer Chayes, Christian Borgs, Alexandra

Chouldechova, Sahin Geyik, Krishnaram Kenthapadi, and Adam Tauman Kalai. 2019. Bias in bios: A case study of semantic representation bias in a high-stakes setting. In *Proceedings of the Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency*, FAT* '19, page 120–128, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.

- Hannah Devinney, Jenny Björklund, and Henrik Björklund. 2022. Theories of "gender" in NLP bias research. In FAccT '22: 2022 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, Seoul, Republic of Korea, June 21 - 24, 2022, pages 2083– 2102. ACM.
- Arif Dirlik. 2007. Global south: Predicament and promise. *The Global South*, 1:12–23.
- Andrew Gaut, Tony Sun, Shirlyn Tang, Yuxin Huang, Jing Qian, Mai ElSherief, Jieyu Zhao, Diba Mirza, Elizabeth Belding, Kai-Wei Chang, and William Yang Wang. 2020. Towards understanding gender bias in relation extraction. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 2943–2953, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Samuel Gehman, Suchin Gururangan, Maarten Sap, Yejin Choi, and Noah A. Smith. 2020. RealToxicityPrompts: Evaluating neural toxic degeneration in language models. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020*, pages 3356–3369, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Moritz Hardt, Eric Price, Eric Price, and Nati Srebro. 2016. Equality of opportunity in supervised learning. In *Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems*, volume 29. Curran Associates, Inc.
- Pengcheng He, Jianfeng Gao, and Weizhu Chen. 2021. Debertav3: Improving deberta using electra-style pretraining with gradient-disentangled embedding sharing.
- Dirk Hovy and Shrimai Prabhumoye. 2021. Five sources of bias in natural language processing. *Language and Linguistics Compass*, 15(8):e12432.
- Pere-Lluís Huguet Cabot, Simone Tedeschi, Axel-Cyrille Ngonga Ngomo, and Roberto Navigli. 2023.
 RED^{fm}: a filtered and multilingual relation extraction dataset. In *Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics* (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 4326–4343, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Diederik P. Kingma and Jimmy Ba. 2015. Adam: A method for stochastic optimization. In *ICLR (Poster)*.
- Svetlana Kiritchenko and Saif Mohammad. 2018. Examining gender and race bias in two hundred sentiment analysis systems. In *Proceedings of the Seventh Joint Conference on Lexical and Computational Semantics*, pages 43–53, New Orleans, Louisiana. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Abdullatif Köksal, Omer Yalcin, Ahmet Akbiyik, M. Kilavuz, Anna Korhonen, and Hinrich Schuetze. 2023. Language-agnostic bias detection in language models with bias probing. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP* 2023, pages 12735–12747, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Keita Kurita, Nidhi Vyas, Ayush Pareek, Alan W Black, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2019. Measuring bias in contextualized word representations. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing*, pages 166–172, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Anne Lauscher, Federico Bianchi, Samuel R. Bowman, and Dirk Hovy. 2022. SocioProbe: What, when, and where language models learn about sociodemographics. In *Proceedings of the 2022 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 7901–7918, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Chandler May, Alex Wang, Shikha Bordia, Samuel R. Bowman, and Rachel Rudinger. 2019. On measuring social biases in sentence encoders. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 622–628, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Margaret Mitchell, Simone Wu, Andrew Zaldivar, Parker Barnes, Lucy Vasserman, Ben Hutchinson, Elena Spitzer, Inioluwa Deborah Raji, and Timnit Gebru. 2019. Model cards for model reporting. In Proceedings of the Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, FAT* '19, page 220–229, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Moin Nadeem, Anna Bethke, and Siva Reddy. 2021. StereoSet: Measuring stereotypical bias in pretrained language models. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 5356–5371, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Riccardo Orlando, Pere-Lluís Huguet Cabot, Edoardo Barba, and Roberto Navigli. 2024. Retrieve, read and link: Fast and accurate entity linking and relation extraction on an academic budget. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL 2024*, Bangkok, Thailand. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sebastian Riedel, Limin Yao, and Andrew McCallum. 2010. Modeling relations and their mentions without labeled text. In Joint European Conference on Machine Learning and Knowledge Discovery in Databases, pages 148–163, Berlin, Heidelberg. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.

- Sebastin Santy, Jenny Liang, Ronan Le Bras, Katharina Reinecke, and Maarten Sap. 2023. NLPositionality: Characterizing design biases of datasets and models. In *Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers)*, pages 9080–9102, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Maarten Sap, Dallas Card, Saadia Gabriel, Yejin Choi, and Noah A. Smith. 2019. The risk of racial bias in hate speech detection. In *Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 1668–1678, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Marco Antonio Stranisci, Rossana Damiano, Enrico Mensa, Viviana Patti, Daniele Radicioni, and Tommaso Caselli. 2023. WikiBio: a semantic resource for the intersectional analysis of biographical events. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 12370–12384, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jiao Sun and Nanyun Peng. 2021. Men are elected, women are married: Events gender bias on Wikipedia. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 2: Short Papers), pages 350–360, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tony Sun, Andrew Gaut, Shirlyn Tang, Yuxin Huang, Mai ElSherief, Jieyu Zhao, Diba Mirza, Elizabeth Belding, Kai-Wei Chang, and William Yang Wang. 2019. Mitigating gender bias in natural language processing: Literature review. In Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 1630–1640, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Harini Suresh and John Guttag. 2021. A framework for understanding sources of harm throughout the machine learning life cycle. In *Proceedings of the 1st ACM Conference on Equity and Access in Algorithms, Mechanisms, and Optimization,* EAAMO '21, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Yi Chern Tan and L. Elisa Celis. 2019. Assessing social and intersectional biases in contextualized word representations. In *Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems*, volume 32. Curran Associates, Inc.
- Denny Vrandečić and Markus Krötzsch. 2014. Wikidata: A free collaborative knowledge base. Communications of the ACM, 57:78–85.
- Katy Weathington and Jed R Brubaker. 2023. Queer identities, normative databases: Challenges to capturing queerness on wikidata. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 7(CSCW1):1–26.
- Gavin Williams. 1980. The brandt report: A critical introduction. *Review of African Political Economy*, 7(19):77–86.

- Xiangrong Zeng, Daojian Zeng, Shizhu He, Kang Liu, and Jun Zhao. 2018. Extracting relational facts by an end-to-end neural model with copy mechanism. In *Proceedings of the 56th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers)*, pages 506–514, Melbourne, Australia. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Charles Chuankai Zhang and Loren Terveen. 2021. Quantifying the gap: A case study of wikidata gender disparities. In *Proceedings of the 17th International Symposium on Open Collaboration*, OpenSym '21, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Wenzheng Zhang, Wenyue Hua, and Karl Stratos. 2022. EntQA: Entity linking as question answering. In *International Conference on Learning Representations*.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2017. Men also like shopping: Reducing gender bias amplification using corpus-level constraints. In *Proceedings of the 2017 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 2979–2989, Copenhagen, Denmark. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2018. Gender bias in coreference resolution: Evaluation and debiasing methods. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 2 (Short Papers), pages 15–20, New Orleans, Louisiana. Association for Computational Linguistics.

A Relation Type Mapping

In Table 8 we report the mapping that we apply from the original labels of SRED^{FM}, CrossRE, NYT to our proposed unified taxonomy of relation types.

B Resources

The datasets and models utilized in this paper are governed by the following licenses:

- SRED^{FM} Dataset: Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 International license.
- CrossRE Dataset: GNU General Public License v3.0.
- NYT Dataset: Linguistic Data Consortium (LDC) Data Use Agreement.
- ReLiK Model: Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 International license.

• EntQA Model: MIT License.

C Hardware

We train every model on a single NVIDIA[®] RTX 3090 graphic card with 24GB of VRAM. We use the default hyperparameters used in the original paper for ReLiK with Adam (Kingma and Ba, 2015) as optimizer.

	SRED ^{FM}			CrossRE	NYT
contributes	cast member author producer creator librettist architect	notable work screenwriter composer lyrics by designed by film editor	director performer discoverer or inventor after a work by executive producer voice actor	artifact origin	
date	date of birth work period (end)	date of death time period	work period (start)		
field	occupation field of work	sport instrument	field of this occupation sports discipline competed in		/people/person/profession
geographical relation	place of death country league allegiance	place of birth work location educated at place of burial	country of citizenship country for sport residence indigenous to	physical	/people/person/nationality /people/deceased_person/place_of_death /people/person/place_of_birth /people/ethnicity/geographic_distribution /people/person/place_lived
language	native language	writing language	languages spoken, written or signed		
member	part of member of movement record label	genre crew member(s) ethnic group religious order	member of sports team religion or worldview military branch	part-of general-affiliation	/people/person/religion /people/person/ethnicity /people/ethnicity/people /sports/sports_team_location/teams
participated	participant winner significant event	award received candidate conflict	successful candidate nominated for		
position held	position held chairperson head of state owned by employer	founded by military rank director / manager commanded by	position played on team / speciality office held by head of the organization member of political party head of government	role	/business/company_shareholder/major_shareholder_of /business/person/company /business/company/advisors /business/company/major_shareholders /business/company/founders
relationship	spouse parent relative unmarried partner	sibling family influenced by	child partner in business or sport student	social	/people/person/children
topic	characters	depicts	main subject	topic	

Table 8: **Taxonomy Mapping.** Mapping of the original relation types from SRED^{FM}, CrossRE, NYT into the taxonomy of relation types of Table 1.

Gender Bias in Turkish Word Embeddings: A Comprehensive Study of Syntax, Semantics and Morphology Across Domains

Duygu Altinok Deepgram Research, USA duygu.altinok@deepgram.com

Abstract

Gender bias in word representations has emerged as a prominent research area in recent years. While numerous studies have focused on measuring and addressing bias in English word embeddings, research on the Turkish language remains limited. This work aims to bridge this gap by conducting a comprehensive evaluation of gender bias in Turkish word embeddings, considering the dimensions of syntax, semantics, and morphology. We employ subwordbased static word vectors trained on three distinct domains: web crawl, academical text, and medical text. Through the analysis of genderassociated words in each domain, we not only uncover gender bias but also gain insights into the unique characteristics of these domains. Additionally, we explore the influence of Turkish suffixes on word gender, providing a novel perspective on gender bias. Our findings reveal the pervasive nature of gender biases across various aspects of the Turkish language, including word frequency, semantics, parts-of-speech, and even the smallest linguistic unit - suffixes. Notably, we demonstrate that the majority of noun and verb lemmas, as well as adverbs and adjectives, exhibit masculine gendering in the general-purpose written language. This study is the first of its kind to offer a comprehensive examination of gender bias in the Turkish language.

1 Introduction

The rise of pretrained language models, such as BERT (Devlin et al., 2019), has significantly improved various natural language processing (NLP) tasks. However, these models are often trained on large amounts of web-based data, which can contain social stereotypes and biases that may be inherited by the models. This raises concerns as such biases can be perpetuated in downstream applications (Tal et al., 2022). The advent of large language models (LLMs) (Minaee et al., 2024) has

further highlighted the importance of understanding and evaluating training data quality, including the presence of toxicity and gender bias (Zhao et al., 2024).

While previous studies have primarily focused on gender bias in embeddings, particularly in English, research on other languages has been limited to a few multilingual projects. For instance, (Prates et al., 2019)) evaluated gender bias in machine translation by translating gender-neutral languages using the Google Translate API, while (Lewis and Lupyan, 2019) examined gender stereotypes across 25 natural languages. However, languages other than English have received minimal attention in this research domain.

In the case of the Turkish language, the existing research is sparse. (Ciora et al., 2021) investigated overt and covert gender bias in machine translation models by examining gender-neutral Turkish and gendered English. (Caglidil et al., 2024) explored gender bias in Turkish transformer models. Despite the advancements in LLMs, several crucial research gaps related to the Turkish language still remain. Firstly, there is a lack of studies focusing on the fundamental form of word embeddings, namely pretrained word vectors. Secondly, we strongly believe that Turkish morphology warrants an extensive linguistic study that delves into the intrinsic nature of the language itself. This unique aspect of Turkish sets it apart from English and other welllstudied Western languages and adds an additional dimension to the research on gender bias.

To address these gaps, our work aims to fill the research void by conducting a comprehensive evaluation of gender bias in Turkish word embeddings, considering the dimensions of syntax, semantics, and morphology. We employ static embeddings, specifically Floret vectors, trained on three distinct domains: web data, academic data, and medical data. Through our analysis, we investigate the frequency of words associated with men and women, examine the parts of speech associated with each gender, and explore the conceptual clusters of words associated with men and women. Additionally, we provide an in-depth exploration of the relationship between morphology and the gendering of words by dissecting the semantic aspects of suffixes.

Our main contributions are as follows:

- We conduct a comprehensive study on gender bias in Turkish word embeddings, which is the first of its kind.
- We consider syntax, semantics, and morphology dimensions in our work, across three distinct domains.
- We demonstrate that gender biases are prevalent across various aspects of the Turkish language, including word frequency, semantics, parts-of-speech, and even in the smallest unit of the language suffixes. We show that in the general-purpose written language, the majority of noun and verb lemmas, as well as adverbs and adjectives, are gendered masculine. The majority of art, sports, and profession-related noun lemmas are also masculine, along with abstract nouns, body parts, electronic devices, clothing, and everyday object names.
- We also demonstrate that word morphology directly impacts the gender of word forms and can switch the gender of word forms. We research which suffixes have which gender impact on the word form.

This paper is organized as follows: we present our data and methodology, followed by domainspecific results related to the pretrained embeddings in each domain. The final section focuses on morphology. Our code and data are available in our Github¹ and Huggingface² repositories.

2 Methodology

In this section, we provide an overview of our methodology, including details about the datasets used, the choice of word vectors, and the process of training and calculating gender-related metrics.

2.1 Data

We utilized three distinct domains to train and evaluate our word vectors. The first domain is web crawl data, obtained from the mC4 part of the CulturaX dataset (Nguyen et al., 2023). This corpus, consisting of 76,432,893 documents, serves as a reflection of societal consciousness and is commonly utilized in various NLP tasks. To ensure data quality, we performed cleaning and preprocessing on the web crawl corpus, applying additional filters to enhance its overall reliability.

The second domain focuses on academic papers, where we expect minimal gender bias. We collected this data from various sources, including YÖK Açık Erişim ³ and Dergipark ⁴. Both organizations, affiliated with the government, provide high-quality research papers and journals on their respective websites. We compiled abstracts from these sources, resulting in a total of 309,169 abstracts from YÖK Açık Erişim and 188,106 abstracts from Dergipark. Additionally, we obtained full article bodies solely from Dergipark, comprising 147,961 documents. The combined dataset from these sources is referred to as Academic Crawl, with a total of 645,236 documents.

The third domain focuses on the medical field and involves crawling research papers from Dergipark. We specifically selected journals with a medical focus, resulting in a corpus of 37,910 documents. Similar to the Academic Crawl corpus, the Medical Crawl corpus underwent cleaning and processing, including language filtering and the resolution of PDF-to-text errors.

Regarding the Medical Crawl corpus, we managed to eliminate PDF-to-text mistakes by implementing rules targeting single characters and missing vowels/consonants in between. Only a small portion of the data required removal.

In handling the Academical Crawl corpus, we faced a higher frequency of errors and articles with mistakes, presenting a more complex task. To address this, we conducted experiments and observed the effectiveness of the LLM Qwen2-7B (Bai et al., 2023) of recognizing Turkish at the character level. Utilizing a single NVIDIA A100 80GB GPU, we dedicated 108 hours to process 4.3GB of data using a zero-shot configuration.

For reference, the sizes of each corpus are summarized in Table 1. Each corpus is available in

¹https://github.com/DuyguA/GeBNLP-2024-Gende r-Bias-Turkish-Word-Embeddings

²https://huggingface.co/turkish-nlp-suite

³https://acikerisim.yok.gov.tr/acik-erisim ⁴https://dergipark.org.tr/en/

Dataset	Size	Words
mC4	172.7GB	20B
Academic Crawl	4.3GB	480M
Medical Crawl	178.6MB	20M

Table 1: Sizes of the datasets used in the study: Measured in UTF-8 bytes and number of words (in billions/millions).

their respective Huggingface repositories ⁵.

3 Training and evaluation of word embeddings

In our study, we considered the agglutinative nature of the Turkish language with its rich morphology. To effectively represent the complex word forms that can be generated through the addition of numerous inflectional and derivational suffixes, we chose to use Floret embeddings (Bojanowski et al., 2017), an extended version of fastText (Joulin et al., 2016) that incorporates Bloom embeddings (Grave et al., 2017). Floret combines word and subword information, allowing for more compact vector tables with enhanced representation of the morphological structure. Compared to traditional word vectors, Floret's subwords are up to 10 times smaller.

We utilized the Floret library code by spaCy (Honnibal and Montani, 2017) to train our word vectors. The training was conducted using the Continuous Bag-of-Words (CBOW) algorithm (Mikolov et al., 2013), with each word vector having a dimension of 300. For the subwords, we considered 2-grams to 5-grams. To reduce the size of the vocabulary, we used a compact vocabulary of 250,000 entries for the web crawl corpus (mC4) and the Academic Crawl corpus. For the Medical Crawl corpus, which has a smaller size, we used a vocabulary of 80,000. The choice of the subword window range [2, 5] was determined heuristically, considering that the length of most common Turkish suffixes varies from 1 to 5.

To evaluate the quality and effectiveness of the produced embeddings, we compared them to the Floret vectors of the pretrained spaCy model tr_core_news_lg (Altinok, 2023) on morphology and syntax tasks. We initialized a spaCy model with our Floret vectors and then trained syntactic parser components, including the POS tagger, dependency parser, and morphologizer components, on the BOUN treebank (Türk et al., 2022). Testing was performed on the test division of this treebank. The results, shown in Table 2, indicate that our Floret vectors perform well. It is worth noting that the spaCy Turkish model used for comparison were trained approximately one year ago, while our vectors have been trained on a larger corpus (mC4) with additional vocabulary. The Academic Crawl and Medical Crawl datasets are comparatively smaller in size and have a more focused and limited vocabulary. As a consequence, the performance of the word vectors trained on these datasets may appear slightly inferior when compared to the larger web crawl corpus.

To assess the gender bias encoded in the trained embeddings, we employed the method introduced by (Bolukbasi et al., 2016). For each word, we calculated a gender bias score by computing the dot product between its vector and the vector representation of the concept of "woman" subtracted by the vector representation of "man." In our experiments, we used the Turkish translations of "woman" (kadın) and "man" (erkek). A positive score indicates a closer association with masculinity, while a negative score implies a stronger association with femininity. The magnitude of the score reflects the degree of bias, with higher absolute values indicating greater bias. A score of 0 indicates neutrality. Unlike many other studies, our approach is unsupervised, and we did not employ the Word Embedding Association Test (WEAT) scores.

4 Results and discussion

In this section, we thoroughly examine each data genre individually. We first train the Floret word vectors for each genre and analyze the gender distribution of the vocabulary. We then provide statistics on the vocabulary based on different syntactic categories. Additionally, we conduct unsupervised clustering separately for each gender using all the words and explore the topics associated with each gender, focusing specifically on the web domain due to the more diverse range of topics compared to academic and medical papers. Finally, we delve into the relationship between morphology and gender by investigating how word genders change based on suffixes.

⁵Each dataset exists with their original Turkish name in our Huggingface repository. We used English translations to reach a broader audience. Names of the datasets we used are *clean-mC4*, *Akademik-Makaleler*, *Akademik-Ozetler*, *Medikal-Ozetler* and *Medikal-Makaleler*, respectively.

Model	POS acc	Morph acc	Lemma acc.	DEP-UAS	DEP-LAS
tr_core_news_lg	0.90	0.89	0.82	0.73	0.63
tr_gender_web_lg	0.91	0.92	0.86	0.73	0.65
tr_academic_web_lg	0.75	0.79	0.72	0.65	0.61
tr_biomed_web_lg	0.70	0.75	0.70	0.60	0.60

Table 2: The table displays POS accuracy, morphological analysis accuracy, lemma accuracy, unlabelled attachment score for dependencies, and labelled attachment score for dependencies. Accuracy scores are calculated by the spaCy trainer using the test sets. In a spaCy model, each pipeline component assigns relevant attributes (POS tag, morphological analysis string, lemma, dependency tag, and head in the dependency tree) to tokens. Accuracy for POS tag, lemma, and morphology is determined by collecting the attributes for each token and comparing them to the ground truth list. The last two attributes are evaluated at the syntax tree level, assessing the structure of the dependency tree, correct head, and dependency arcs. UAS measures structure accuracy, while LAS additionally evaluates the accuracy of dependency labels on each arc.

4.1 mC4

In this section, we present the results of gender analysis conducted on the Floret word vectors trained on the mC4 corpus, which consists of 250K vocabulary words. Figure 1 displays the distribution of gender within the vocabulary words. The findings reveal a significant gender bias, providing empirical evidence for the existence of "masculine defaults" in these large text corpora (Cheryan and Markus, 2020). Specifically, 87% of the vocabulary words in our word vectors are associated with men, while only 13% are associated with women.

We further examine the distribution of gender bias in syntactic categories. Unfortunately, the situation remains disheartening as women are severely underrepresented in certain categories. Verbs, for instance, predominantly belong to the masculine category, with only a few "feminine" verbs such as "süslenmek" (to dress up), "kremlenmek" (to apply body lotion), "güzelleşmek" (to become beautiful), and "güzelleştirmek" (to make someone/something beautiful) falling into the feminine category. Figure 2 provides a visual representation of this distribution.

Nouns also exhibit a skewed gender representation, with the majority of feminine words being proper nouns, including female names in both Turkish and other languages (e.g., Fatma, Emine, Madeline, Anya, Donna, Minerva, Mary). Only a limited number of nouns are categorized as feminine, such as "tanrıça" (goddess), "kraliçe" (queen), "imparatoriçe" (empress), and nouns that are commonly associated with femininity in society, such as "güzellik" (beauty), "makyaj" (make-up), and "ev" (home), along with their derivations and inflections. On the other hand, the masculine category encompasses a wide range of nouns, including abstract nouns, body parts, clothing names, electronic devices, and everyday objects.

Profession names also display a gender bias, with feminine professions limited to nurse, midwife, nanny, gymnast, dancer, make-up artist, florist, fashion designer, model, actress, stylist, and hairdresser. All other professions, including academician, professor, doctor, engineer, architect, journalist, pharmacist, economist, embryologist, detective, carpenter, tailor, movie director, violinist, cellist, painter, as well as leadership positions such as governor, boss, director, CTO, and CEO, are categorized as masculine. Even prominent tech company names like Google, Facebook, Alibaba, Aselsan, Havelsan, Roketsan, and TAI are masculine. Additionally, sports names, including volleyball and tennis, predominantly fall into the masculine category, despite being commonly played by women.

Adverbs and adjectives also exhibit a similar bias, with only a few feminine adverbs and adjectives related to grace and beauty. The masculine category encompasses a wide range of adjectives and adverbs, including both positive and negative meanings. It is worth noting that negative meanings do not relate to a specific gender, while the masculine category includes both positive and negative aspects of the same word.

Pronouns, including personal, interrogative, definite, and indefinite pronouns, overwhelmingly belong to the masculine category. Out of 973 pronouns in the vocabulary, only 11 are categorized as feminine. For example, "Bunda" (bu/this locative), "kendime" (kendi/oneself dative), "kendimi" (kendi accusative), "kendinizi" (kendiniz/oneselves accusative), "kime" (kim/who dative), "neresi" (nere/where possessive), "nesi" (ne/what possessive), "neyin" (ne/what genitive), "seninle" (sen/you instrumental case), "bunda" (bu locative), and "bunla" (bu instrumental case). Only one personal pronoun, "seninle" (with you), falls into the feminine category. The rest of the personal pronouns, along with their inflections and all other pronouns, are categorized as masculine. It is worth noting that suffixes can change the gender, which will be explored further in Section 5.

The gender bias in both frequency and syntax is evident in the results, with the vast majority of vocabulary words are being masculine. Furthermore, the lack of representation of women extends to all syntactic categories. Appendix A exhibits some words with syntax categories from this corpus for a more detailed view of the vocabulary.

Next, we delve into the clusters formed within the feminine and masculine word groups. We utilized the K-means clustering algorithm (Hartigan and Wong, 1979) and determined the optimal number of clusters using The Silhouette method (Rousseeuw, 1987). Eventually, we identified 6 distinct semantic groups within the feminine words and 11 within the masculine words, as depicted in Figure 3. The masculine clusters encompass various "serious societal matters", such as science and technology, arts and music, business, economy, and politics. In contrast, the feminine clusters associated with family, appearance, beauty, lifestyle, and domesticity reinforce cultural expectations for women to be "submissive" and "passive". Interestingly, even the arts, typically considered "a soft and feminine" domain in some cultures (Garlick, 2004), are predominantly represented by masculine clusters.

It is important to note that our dataset has been carefully filtered to exclude any obscene content or sexual profanity. Considering the tableau above, if such vocabulary words were present, they would most likely form a feminine cluster.

To comprehend the distribution, attributions, and findings discussed in the previous paragraphs, understanding the presence of patriarchy in Turkey is crucial. Despite formal rules promoting gender equality, patriarchal beliefs, values, and norms persist. Turkey's rankings in the Global Gender Gap Report by the World Economic Forum reflect this, with positions of 105th out of 115 countries in 2006, 130th out of 153 countries in 2020, and 127th out of 145 countries in 2024 (below the global average each year) 6 .

While urbanization has led to advancements for women in Turkish society, it remains a patriarchal Muslim society where the family holds significant importance. Research on the strength of patriarchy focuses on factors such as religion, socio-economic class, and ethnicity. Empirical analyses, like those conducted by (Ozdemir-Sarigil and Sarigil, 2021), reveal the persistence of powerful and widespread patriarchal values and understandings in Turkish society. These values are influenced by both material and ideational factors. Notably, religiosity contributes to the reinforcement of patriarchal tendencies, and men exhibit significantly stronger patriarchal values compared to women. Additionally, patriarchal tendencies tend to increase with age, indicating generational differences in patriarchal values.

According to research by the Kadir Has University Women and Family Studies Research Center, Turkish women face numerous challenges, including violence, unemployment, lack of education, street harassment, family pressure, gender inequality, and social pressure ⁷. Studies such as (Özcan et al., 2016) and (Guvenc et al., 2014) highlight the pervasive issue of domestic and intimate partner violence against women, often resulting in fatalities. Femicide, especially the killing of women by intimate partners, is also a significant concern (Cetin, 2015; Erükçü Akbaş and Karataş, 2024). The wage gap in the workplace is another concern, but the safety and protection of women's lives take precedence even before discussing economic disparities.

In the context of patriarchy, where men are considered leaders and women are expected to be submissive and passive, the adjectives "serious societal," "submissive," "passive," "soft and feminine" used in the previous paragraphs align. Women are often relegated to subordinate roles, leaving the task of shaping society to men. This perspective reinforces the findings of our research, which supports sociological work indicating that women face challenges in Turkey. Our study demonstrates how deeply ingrained patriarchy is within the culture and how it influences language as well.

⁶https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_GGGR_2024. pdf

⁷https://gender.khas.edu.tr/en/survey-publi c-perceptions-gender-roles-and-status-women-tur key


Figure 1: Visualization of gender associations in the vocabulary words represented by the 300-dimensional Floret embeddings. The vectors are reduced to 2 dimensions using the T-SNE algorithm (van der Maaten and Hinton, 2008). The visualization highlights that the online language space predominantly aligns with masculinity rather than femininity.



Figure 2: Distribution of syntax categories in the mC4 corpus, depicted as percentages (left). Gender distribution of vocabulary words within each syntax category (right).

4.2 Academic Crawl

In the following analysis, we examine word vectors trained on academic papers, with a vocabulary size of 250,000. We initially anticipated this domain to be relatively neutral; however, the distribution of gender associations turned out to be similar to the web domain. Approximately 12% of the words in the academic corpus are associated with the female gender, while the remaining 88% are associated with the masculinity. Figure 4 presents the corpus statistics and the distribution of syntax categories based on gender.

Unlike the web domain, there is a lesser presence of words related to traditionally "feminine" areas such as cosmetics and domestic topics. However, the number of health and science-related words has increased, resulting in a relatively stable count of adjectives and adverbs.



Figure 3: A visual comparison of semantic representations. (left) Femininity: Emphasizing traditional gender roles of homemaking, focusing on appearance, and limited involvement in professional life. (right) Masculinity: Freedom to explore various subjects and pursuits including fields of art, science, and professions.



Figure 4: On the left, the distribution of syntax categories in the Academic Crawl dataset is presented, represented as percentages. On the right, the gender distribution of vocabulary words within each syntax category is depicted.

Moving on to verbs, there are notable differences in this domain. The majority of verbs are denominal verbs, which are formed by using a noun as a copula and transforming it into a verb, such as "olaydır" (olay + dır) and "değerleridir" (değer + leri + dir). It is expected to have a significant number of denominal verbs in this domain, as copular verbs are commonly used in formal and academic Turkish writing. Surprisingly, most of the feminine verbs are nominal verbs. The first group comprises nouns that are initially gendered as male but are then inflected with a copula and several other suffixes to become feminine verbs. The second group includes feminine nouns that undergo nominalization and become feminine verbs. We further analyze gender changes through inflection in the morphology section (Section 5). Masculine verbs, on the other hand, remain relatively consistent with those found in the web domain, representing normal and common verbs in the Turkish language.

Nouns present a distinct pattern. Around half

of the nouns are associated with the female gender, including certain scientific terms, public health words, geographical names, and female names. The other half consists of nouns with masculine lemmas that become feminine nouns after undergoing suffixation. The addition of certain suffixes, like the plural suffix, can alter the gender of a masculine lemma. Since academic papers often contain numerous plural and group nouns, these nouns contribute to the overall count of feminine nouns, compensating for the absence of explicitly "feminine" words. The types of suffixes that affect gender are further discussed in Section 5.

As anticipated, the corpus contains various scientific terms such as "adsorpsiyon" (adsorption), "basınç" (pressure), "indüksiyon" (induction), "formülasyon" (formulation), "elastikiyet" (elasticity), "difüzyon" (diffusion), "fauna," "flora," as well as names of sciences like "kimya" (chemistry), "biyokimya" (biochemistry), "psikoloji" (psychology), and certain philosophical terms like "metafizik" (metaphysics), "oryantalizm" (orientalism), "epistemoloji" (epistemology), and "popülizm" (populism). Among these scientific and philosophical terms, some are masculine (e.g., epistemology), while some are feminine (e.g., chemistry, pressure). Appendix B provides a sample of feminine scientific terms, which constitute a considerable portion of the corpus.

Overall, the scientific vocabulary, formal nature of academic writing, and the specific types of suffixation in formal written language contribute to the inclusion of feminine words in this domain, resulting in gender word counts similar to those in the web domain. For a comprehensive word list in the academic domain, please refer to Appendix B.

4.3 Medical Crawl

Due to its smaller size, we opted for an 80,000 vocabulary size for the word vectors in the Medical Crawl corpus. Figure 5 illustrates the corpus statistics and the distribution of syntax categories by gender, which closely resembles the academic domain (depicted in Figure 4), albeit with a slightly higher percentage of feminine nouns and adjectives. One might anticipate a more balanced gender distribution in this domain; however, the proportions of feminine and masculine words remain similar to those in the web domain, with 13% of words are feminine and 87% are masculine.

The increase in feminine adjectives is primarily linked to the health vocabulary. Adjectives such as "medikal" (medical), "jinekolojik" (gynecological), "klinik" (clinic), "dermatolojik" (dermatological), "kronik" (chronic), and "kardiyak" (cardiac) predominantly exhibit feminine associations and are frequently encountered in the medical domain. Masculine adjectives, on the other hand, consist mostly of common words in the language, such as "ritmik" (rhythmic), "mutlu" (happy), "ailevi" (domestic), "keçe" (felt), "yağlı" (oily), "radyoaktif" (radioactive), "kilolu" (overweight), "glutensiz" (gluten-free), "manyetik" (magnetic), and "güncel" (current). However, some medical domain adjectives also exhibit masculinity. Examples of such words can be found in Appendix C.

Moving on to nouns, as mentioned earlier, numerous medical terms are gendered as female, constituting a significant portion of feminine nouns. The remaining feminine nouns originate from inflected masculine words, similar to the patterns observed in the academic domain. Further explanation regarding this phenomenon can be found in the morphology section (Section 5), and a list of such words is provided in Appendix C. Masculine nouns mostly consist of common nouns used in written language.

Regarding verbs, masculine verbs primarily comprise common words in the language. Most of the feminine verbs are nominal verbs, similar to those in the academic domain, where nouns originally gendered as male are inflected with a copula to transform into verbs. A smaller portion of feminine verbs are medical nouns that have undergone inflection with a copula to become verbs. The percentage breakdown of the first and second group of nouns is 85% and 15%, respectively. Examples from both groups can be found in Appendix C.

Overall, the results align with those observed in the academic domain, with the medical domain exhibiting a greater presence of feminine words to some extent.

5 Morphology and gender

This section of our research is not specific to any particular domain; instead, we focus on exploring the role of morphology. Specifically, we investigate how certain types of suffixes influence the gender of words. We examine each type of suffix in detail within this subsection.

As mentioned in previous sections, our choice to use subword-enriched word vectors is motivated by a significant factor: we aim to generate representations for suffixes as well. In Turkish, a typical word is composed of morphemes, a lemma, and a list of suffixes, with each suffix carrying its own meaning. In this section, we demonstrate the semantic impact of suffixes on the gender dimension. We discuss various groups of suffixes, providing further explanations and examples for each group. For a comprehensive understanding of Turkish morphology and detailed explanations of these suffix groups, refer to (Karslake, 2021).

5.1 Inflectional suffixes

5.1.1 Nominal suffixes

Number. The plural suffix "-lAr" has the effect of changing the gender of some lemmas, predominantly from masculine to feminine. This could be attributed to femininity often being associated with a communal sense, family, and cooperation, resulting in plural nouns being mostly represented as feminine. However, in some cases, this suffix can transform feminine words into masculine



Figure 5: The percentages of syntax categories in the Medical Crawl dataset are illustrated on the left. On the right, the gender distribution of vocabulary words within each syntax category is displayed.

words, although this occurs less frequently. Figure 6 presents the statistics for the usage of the plural suffix in the three domains mentioned above.

Possession. With these groups of suffixes, we do not observe any significant gender-altering effects for singular persons. That is, possessive first, second, and third person singular suffixes ("-Im", "-In", "-(s)I") have minimal impact on the gender of the word. However, when it comes to plural person suffixes, there is a slight shift. The possessive first and third person plural suffixes ("-ImIz" and "-IArI"), for instance, can transform some masculine lemmas into feminine words (e.g., "ev+imiz" meaning "our house," "ev+leri" meaning "their house"). This may be attributed to the same communal sense observed with the plural suffix. On the other hand, the second person suffix ("-InIz") within this category does not have the same effect.

Case. We did not find any evidence suggesting that case suffixes are significantly related to gender. In very rare cases, these suffixes may change the gender of a word, but for the most part, they do not have an impact on gender.

ki. The suffix "-ki" serves two functions: when added to the genitive case of a noun, it forms a possessive pronoun (e.g., "kedi+nin+ki" meaning "one belonging to the cat"), and when added to the locative case of a noun, it creates an attributive adjectival phrase (e.g., "oda+da+ki vazo" meaning "the vase in the room"; "ön+ünüz+de+ki" meaning "the one in front of you"). In the first case, we did not find any instances of gender change. However,

in the second case, "-dAki" does rarely alter the gender of both masculine and feminine lemmas. Nevertheless, we can conclude that "-ki" is not significantly related to the gender of a word.

5.1.2 Verbal suffixes

Voice. Causative, passive, reflexive, and reciprocal suffixes belong to this group. Except for the passive voice, we did not find any instances where verbs changed gender due to these suffixes. We believe that these suffixes have no significant effect on verb gender, except for the passive voice. The passive voice changes masculine verbs into feminine verbs, but not the other way around. We attribute this to the societal perception of females being associated with passive roles.

Negative marker. The negative marker "-mA" has an impact on verb gender. This suffix alone can change the gender of a verb (e.g., "üretmek(F)-üretmemek(M)," to produce and not to produce), and when combined with other suffixes, it can also alter the gender (e.g., "tanımak(M)-tanımamak(M)-tanıyacaksın(M)-tanımayacaksın(F)," to know, not to know, you'll know, you won't know). Most verb lemmas tend to maintain their gender when only the negative marker is added, accounting for approximately 5% of all verbs. However, when multiple suffixes are added, the possibilities become more varied, leading to new verb semantics.

Tense/aspect/modality. We did not come across any cases where verbs changed gender due to these suffixes.



Figure 6: Left: Percentage of plural nouns compared to all nouns in each domain. Academic and medical domains have a higher proportion of plurals due to the text genre. Right: "Feminine/masculine plurals" indicates the number of plural feminine/masculine nouns. The columns represent the concentration of words with masculine lemma+plural suffix and feminine lemma+plural suffix. Around half of feminine plurals are derived from masculine lemmas, while masculine plurals are mostly inflected from masculine lemmas.

Personal markers. We did not find any instances where verbs changed gender due to these suffixes.

Copular markers. Copular markers present a different scenario. Based on the counts from the corpora of the three domains, the copula does not change gender. However, when inflecting a noun into a verb, several suffixes are typically added to the noun lemma, and some of them are gender-changing suffixes, such as the plural suffix (e.g., "göz(M)-gözler(F)-gözlerdir(F)"). As a result, the gender of the word changes. We observed that in the academic domain, many feminine verbs are formed in this manner, as masculine lemmas tend to shift towards feminine more frequently through suffixation.

Inflecting a verb from another verb is a completely different case; this situation can change the gender (e.g., "ağlamak(M)-ağlamış(M)-ağlamıştır(F)"). We already found out that most verb lemmas are masculine, and quite a few verbs in this category are found in academic and medical domains due to the formal written language, contributing to the count of feminine verbs.

Subordinate suffixes. In this section, we explore suffixes that convert verbs into nouns, adjectives, and adverbs. Participles (e.g., "yaratmak(M)-yaratan(M)," to create - creator) and converbs (e.g., "gitmek(M)-gider(M)-giderken(M)," to go, goes, while going) maintain the gender of the lemmas. However, when it comes to verbal nouns, the situation is slightly different. Some masculine verb lem-

mas, when suffixed to become a noun, transform into feminine nouns (e.g., "dokunmak-dokunma," to touch - the touch). We attribute this to actions being masculine, and when a word transitions from being a verb to being a noun, it loses the concept of action and becomes feminine.

5.1.3 Derivational suffixes

Derivational suffixes have the potential to shift the gender of words, although the reasons behind these shifts may not always be semantically clear. For example, in the triplet denge(M)dengesiz(M)-dengesizlik(F) (balance-unbalancedinstability), the first word is the lemma and is masculine, while the derived forms are masculine and feminine.

Nominal->nominal derivation. In this category, masculine lemmas tend to shift towards feminine words more often than feminine lemmas. However, in rare cases, feminine lemmas can shift towards masculine words, as seen in the example sağlık (F)-sağlıkçı (M) (health-healthcare worker), where a concept transitions into a profession, which is typically associated with masculinity.

Nominal->verb derivation. Suffixes in this category typically shift feminine lemmas to masculine derived forms, as in the example sendika (F)sendikalaşma (M) (labor union-unionization). This shift aligns with the observation that masculinity are more commonly associated with actions, as discussed in the previous section. Masculine noun lemmas, on the other hand, do not change gender and become masculine verbs.

Verb->verb derivation. Suffixes in this category do not significantly change the gender. Since these suffixes do not alter the meaning of the verb substantially, the gender category remains the same.

Verb->nominal derivation. Most suffixes in this group do not change the gender. However, when a gender shift occurs, it predominantly affects masculine lemmas. Masculine verb lemmas become feminine nouns, as seen in the example toplanma(M)-toplanti(F) (to gather-a meeting). This can be explained by the association of actions with masculinity, so losing the aspect of being an action may imply becoming feminine.

We have provided examples of each genderchanging suffix in this section in Appendix D.

6 Conclusion

This paper examines the presence of gender bias in static word embeddings of the Turkish language. The findings indicate that gender biases are prevalent across various aspects, including word frequency, parts-of-speech, clustered concepts, word meaning dimensions, and even in the smallest units of the language, such as suffixes. Overall, the results reveal a pervasive association of words and concepts with men rather than women in Turkish pretrained embeddings. Furthermore, the study demonstrates how gender associations are differentiated based on parts-of-speech and clusters of concepts, with women being more associated with nouns and domestic content, while men are more associated with "serious matters." These findings raise concerns about the amplification of gender biases in AI and society through social, cultural, and digital mechanisms.

References

- Duygu Altinok. 2023. A diverse set of freely available linguistic resources for Turkish. In *Proceedings* of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 13739–13750, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jinze Bai, Shuai Bai, Yunfei Chu, Zeyu Cui, Kai Dang, Xiaodong Deng, Yang Fan, Wenbin Ge, Yu Han, Fei Huang, Binyuan Hui, Luo Ji, Mei Li, Junyang Lin, Runji Lin, Dayiheng Liu, Gao Liu, Chengqiang Lu, Keming Lu, Jianxin Ma, Rui Men, Xingzhang Ren, Xuancheng Ren, Chuanqi Tan, Sinan Tan, Jianhong

Tu, Peng Wang, Shijie Wang, Wei Wang, Shengguang Wu, Benfeng Xu, Jin Xu, An Yang, Hao Yang, Jian Yang, Shusheng Yang, Yang Yao, Bowen Yu, Hongyi Yuan, Zheng Yuan, Jianwei Zhang, Xingxuan Zhang, Yichang Zhang, Zhenru Zhang, Chang Zhou, Jingren Zhou, Xiaohuan Zhou, and Tianhang Zhu. 2023. Qwen technical report. *Preprint*, arXiv:2309.16609.

- Piotr Bojanowski, Edouard Grave, Armand Joulin, and Tomas Mikolov. 2017. Enriching word vectors with subword information. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 5:135–146.
- Tolga Bolukbasi, Kai-Wei Chang, James Zou, Venkatesh Saligrama, and Adam Kalai. 2016. Man is to computer programmer as woman is to homemaker? debiasing word embeddings. *Preprint*, arXiv:1607.06520.
- Orhun Caglidil, Malte Ostendorff, and Georg Rehm. 2024. Investigating gender bias in turkish language models. *Preprint*, arXiv:2404.11726.
- Ihsan Cetin. 2015. Defining recent femicide in modern turkey: Revolt killing. *Journal of International Women's Studies*, 16(2):346–360.
- Sapna Cheryan and Hazel Markus. 2020. Masculine defaults: Identifying and mitigating hidden cultural biases. *Psychological Review*, 127.
- Chloe Ciora, Nur Iren, and Malihe Alikhani. 2021. Examining covert gender bias: A case study in Turkish and English machine translation models. In *Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on Natural Language Generation*, pages 55–63, Aberdeen, Scotland, UK. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. Bert: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. *Preprint*, arXiv:1810.04805.
- Gamze Erükçü Akbaş and Kasım Karataş. 2024. Femicide in turkey: A document analysis of news from 2011 to 2019. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 50(1):54–72.
- Steve Garlick. 2004. Distinctly feminine: On the relationship between men and art. *Berkeley Journal of Sociology*, 48:108–125.
- Edouard Grave, Armand Joulin, Moustapha Cissé, David Grangier, and Hervé Jégou. 2017. Efficient softmax approximation for gpus. *Preprint*, arXiv:1609.04309.
- Gulten Guvenc, Aygul Akyuz, and Sandra K Cesario. 2014. Intimate partner violence against women in turkey: A synthesis of the literature. *Journal of family violence*, 29:333–341.
- John A Hartigan and Manchek A Wong. 1979. Algorithm as 136: A k-means clustering algorithm. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series C (Applied Statistics)*, 28(1):100–108.

- Matthew Honnibal and Ines Montani. 2017. spaCy 2: Natural language understanding with Bloom embeddings, convolutional neural networks and incremental parsing. To appear.
- Armand Joulin, Edouard Grave, Piotr Bojanowski, and Tomas Mikolov. 2016. Bag of tricks for efficient text classification. *Preprint*, arXiv:1607.01759.
- Celia Karslake. 2021. *Turkish: A Comprehensive Grammar*, 2nd edition. Routledge, New York.
- Molly L Lewis and Gary Lupyan. 2019. Gender stereotypes are reflected in the distributional structure of 25 languages. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 4:1021 – 1028.
- Tomas Mikolov, Kai Chen, Greg Corrado, and Jeffrey Dean. 2013. Efficient estimation of word representations in vector space. *Preprint*, arXiv:1301.3781.
- Shervin Minaee, Tomas Mikolov, Narjes Nikzad, Meysam Chenaghlu, Richard Socher, Xavier Amatriain, and Jianfeng Gao. 2024. Large language models: A survey. *Preprint*, arXiv:2402.06196.
- Thuat Nguyen, Chien Van Nguyen, Viet Dac Lai, Hieu Man, Nghia Trung Ngo, Franck Dernoncourt, Ryan A. Rossi, and Thien Huu Nguyen. 2023. Culturax: A cleaned, enormous, and multilingual dataset for large language models in 167 languages. *Preprint*, arXiv:2309.09400.
- Neslihan Keser Özcan, Sevil Günaydın, and Elif Tuğçe Çitil. 2016. Domestic violence against women in turkey: a systematic review and meta analysis. *Archives of psychiatric nursing*, 30(5):620–629.
- Burcu Ozdemir-Sarigil and Zeki Sarigil. 2021. Who is patriarchal? the correlates of patriarchy in turkey. *South European Society and Politics*, 26(1):27–53.
- Marcelo O. R. Prates, Pedro H. C. Avelar, and Luis Lamb. 2019. Assessing gender bias in machine translation – a case study with google translate. *Preprint*, arXiv:1809.02208.
- Peter J Rousseeuw. 1987. Silhouettes: A graphical aid to the interpretation and validation of cluster analysis. *Journal of computational and applied mathematics*, 20:53–65.
- Yarden Tal, Inbal Magar, and Roy Schwartz. 2022. Fewer errors, but more stereotypes? the effect of model size on gender bias. In Proceedings of the 4th Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing (GeBNLP), pages 112–120, Seattle, Washington. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Utku Türk, Furkan Atmaca, Şaziye Betül Özateş, Gözde Berk, Seyyit Talha Bedir, Abdullatif Köksal, Balkız Öztürk Başaran, Tunga Güngör, and Arzucan Özgür. 2022. Resources for Turkish dependency parsing: Introducing the BOUN Treebank and the BoAT annotation tool. *Language Resources and Evaluation*, 56(1):259–307.

- Laurens van der Maaten and Geoffrey E. Hinton. 2008. Visualizing data using t-sne. *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, 9:2579–2605.
- Jinman Zhao, Yitian Ding, Chen Jia, Yining Wang, and Zifan Qian. 2024. Gender bias in large language models across multiple languages. *Preprint*, arXiv:2403.00277.

A Sample Words from the mC4 Dataset

Content Warning: The following word lists contains feminine and masculine words from the mC4 corpus, sorted by syntactic categories. The results might be triggering.

A.1 Female associated words

Noun aktris, allık, anası, annesini, aşk, bacım, bakım, bayanlar, bebek, blogger, çiçek, çiçekçi, çocuk, dansçı, dansöz, dekorasyon, Donna, ebeveyn, ev, evlilik, far, feminizm, fondöten, fotoğrafçı, güzellik, gül, hanımlar, hastane, hastanelerde, hemşire, hamilelik, halı, iletişim, İpekyol, kadınlarının, kadınlarımızı, kadınların, kadınlığını, Karısı, kızların, kleopatra, kraliçe, kuaför, kuaför, kıyafet, lale, Ludmila, magazin, makyaj, makyöj, manken, mankenlik, Mary, moda, modacı, mobilya, molina, mutfak, özbakım, oda, parfüm, podyum, Prada, Queen, rimel, ruj, sağlık, sivilce, stilist, süpürge, tanrıça, tasarımcı, temizlik, tedavi.

Verb aşılamak, beklemek, beslenme, bilmeliyiz, biliyorsun, boşanmak, boyamak, büyümek, büyütmek, çiçeklendi, çiçeklenmek, dayanışmak, doğan, doğurduğu, doğurduğum, doğuran, doğurmak, emzirmek, evlenmek, filizlenmek, flörtleşme, güzeldir, haberlerdir, hastalanma, iyileştirme, karşılaşılmaktadır, kadındır, karısıdır, oyalamak, ovalamak, oluşturuluyordu, silkeleme, silme, süpürme, temizleme, temizlerse, tanrıçaydı, yedim, yemedim, zayıfladım, zayıflama, zayıflayamadım.

Adjective beyazlı, döşemelik, erotik, esmer, güzel, kadife, kadifemsi, klinik, kozmetik, kumral, lezbiyen, mavili, narin, sarışın, simsiyah, sisli, süslü, yosma, zarif.

Adverb ağlarken, doğaçlama, doğal, dostça, güzelce, güzellikle, hamileyken, narince, soldukça, usulca, zarifçe, küstahça, yazın.

A.2 Male associated words

Noun adaylarını, ağabeyciğim, Ahmet, Akademi, akademisyen, aklınızdan, albümlerinde, Allah, analiz, araba, araştırmada, artezyen, Aselsan, asker,

atmosferde, baba, başmühendis, Belgeselin, belirti, belgeselini, beylerinden, bileklerinin, bilgisayar, bilimler, Bursaspor, cami, cemaatine, CEO, Charles, CTO, çavuş, çellist, dava, dedektif, demiryolu, deneyim, destan, devrim, doçent, doktor, doktrin, durum, domates, ekonomist, embriyolog, erkek, Eskimo, eşofman, eczacı, evresi, ezan, fermenstasyon, gazeteci, gençler, girişimci, gizliliğine, hareketlilik, Havelsan, heykelin, Hocamız, ihbar, insan, insanlarla, integral, intihar, isimlerinden, istatistik, ittifak, iyimserlikten, jeostrateji, kafatası, kahramanlar, kalabalıktan, Kanalının, Kardeşlik, kemancı, kesimlerinde, kapsülde, kısımlarda, kızılderilisi, kilise, konçerto, konsollar, kozmonot, liderinin, lig, macera, marangoz, masrafi, masrafları, mektuplarını, meslektaş, meyvesi, mimar, Mustafa, müfettişliğini, mühendis, oğlan, oğlum, oğulları, olay, onbaşı, Onur, operasyon, oyun, Peygamber, pilot, planör, profesör, proje, puma, rakiplerine, referandum, rehberlik, reklam, rektör, ressam, roket, Roketsan, sanatçı, savaşta, sembol, Sorumlulukların, soykırımın, subay, sultan, TAI, tarafimla, tatbikat, teknede, telefon, temas, terzi, toplantıya, Trevor, uydu, yönetici, yönetmen, yüzbaşı.

Verb açılmak, açmak, ayrılabilir, ayrılırlar, ayrılmak, buluşmak, buharlaşmak, dövüşmek, düşünmek, fokurdamak, gerilmez, görüşmek, haczetmek, hafifsemek, halletmek, hallolmak, hapsetmek, hapsolmak, hapşırmak, harcamak, hatırlamak, helalleşmek, hortlamak, hoşgörmek, hoşlaşmak, höykürmek, hükmetmek, hırpalamak, hıçkırmak, hışırdamak, ısırmak, ısıtmak, içmek, ikilemek, ilerlemek, iletmek, ilişmek, imrenmek, inmek, binmek, inanmak, incelmek, incelemek, incinmek, incitmek, indirgemek, ineklemek, inildemek, kalkmak, kapamak, kapışmak, kapanmak, kaydetmek, kaydolmak, kaçışmak, kaçmak, kırpmak, konuşmak, konuşturur, niyetlenmek, oturmak, pişmek, savsaklamak, sevinmek, sömürmek, sözleşmek, sözetmek, soruştur, süblimleş, tartışmak, tamamlamak, tamamlanmak, tekrarlamak, tingirdamak, uçmak, uyanmak, uyandırmak, uyumak, uyutmak, yalvarmak, yakarmak, yerleşmek, yemek, yinelemek, zangırdamak.

Adjective absürt, ahlaklı, ahlaksız, akıllı, akılsız, alkolik, alternatif, amatör, aylak, ayrımsal, barbar, basamaklı, becerikli, belçikalı, bencil, bloke, bireysel, büyük, bütünsel, capcanlı, devrimsel, dik, dikili, dolandırıcı, doğulu, düşman, eğitimli, erişkin, erkeksi, evrendeki, faydalı, faydasız, gerçek, gerizekalı, günahsız, homojen, hırslı, hırssız, ilginç, insanlı, insansız, indirgeyici, ineklemek, indirgemek, inilmek, kanatlı, kanatsız, keyifli, keyifsiz, kesiklş, kişisel, kokusuz, kral, küçük, kurşunsuz, mükemmel, müşterek, müslüman, olgun, opsiyonel, pagan, paralel, pasif, periyodik, pratik, profesyonel, sahte, sahtekar, sağcı, salak, savaşçı, seçkin, stratejik, suçlu, suçsuz, tertemiz, teorik, yetişkin.

Adverb akıllıca, alçakça, amaçsızca, aniden, apaçık, aptalca, aksine, asıl, açıkça, baştanbaşa, beraberce, bilahare, büsbütün, büyükçe, dikkatlice, düpedüz, düşmanca, düşmanca, erkekçe, gençken, garipçe, hala, hariç, hızla, hızlı, hızlıca, henüz, hukuken, ileri, kasten, kazara, kısaca, kısaca, rahatça, saatlerce, saatlerce, saygısızca, sinsice, siyaseten, sırf, sürekli, tahminen, tamamen, tersine, uzaktan, yavaş, yavaşça, zaten.

B Sample words from Academic Crawl

B.1 Female associated words

The color green is used to visually highlight the masculine word lemmas within feminine words. This distinction specifically pertains to the lemmas within the set of feminine words.

Noun afetler, Avrupa, basınç, bilgi, Budizm, dermatoloji, dijitallik, dinamikler, düalizm, ekonomi, embriyoloji, Endokrinoloji, enformasyon, entegrasyon, etkileri, farmakoloji, felsefe, feministlere, feminizm, Fenomenoloji, firsatları, fonksiyonu, fonksiyon, fonlar, formasyon, Gastroenteroloji, geleneği, gelişmeler, hastalık, Hititoloji, Hümanizma, ihtiyaçlar, iletişim, İmmünoloji, inanç, istatistik, Jinekoloji, Kadınlar, kadınlarımız, Kanji, Kardiyoloji, konular, komünizmi, kriptoloji, liberalizm, lirizm, literatür, Manihaizm, Meiji, mekanizması, metodolojilerle, Modernizm, motivasyonları, Müzikoloji, Natüralizm, oluşumu, ontolojisi, organizasyon, organizma, oteller, postmodernizm, psikoloji, Realizm, regresyon, rejimler, Rusya, Sağlık, simülasyon, sinizm, sorunların, Şamanizmi, tedavi, uygulamaları, üretim, ürün, veriler, volatilite, Wallis, Whitney, yapılarının.

Verb aynasıdır, bilinmektedir, bilmektedir, bilmektedirler, bilmekteyiz, bilmekteydiler, bilmişlerdir, bilmiştir, çiçeklenme, çiçektir, dengelenmesidir, dokumalardır, duygularıdır, fonksiyonudur, geleneğidir, gelmesidir, gerçekleşmemiştir, gıdalardır, görüştür, güzeldi, güzeldir, imgeleridir, inançlarıdır, kazandırmaktadır, kaybetmişlerdir, kimlikleridir, koleksiyonudur, kuruluşlardır, kütüphanesidir, kültürlerdir, maliyetleridir, matrisidir, mekanıdır, mekanizmadır, mekanizmalardır, metinleridir, metodolojidir, oluşmuştur, oluşturabilmektedir, ortamlardır, sanatıdır. sanattır, sorunlardır, tedavidir. tedavisidir. teknikidir, ülkelerdir, ülkeleridir, üretmektedir, üretilmiştir, üretimdir, üretmektir, üretmekteydi, yapıdır, yapılardır, yapısıdır, yemeklerdir, yerleşimidir, yöntemdir, yöntemlerdir, yöntemleridir.

Adjective anaerkil, bilgiişlemsel, cinsel, dokuma, elyazması, epidemiyolojik, estetik, farmakolojik, finansal, Kadınsı, logaritmik, lüks, magazinsel, medikal, rahmani, sismik.

Adverb güzellikle, gerçekleşmeyince, süslenip.

B.2 Male associated words

Noun anavatanlarına, arkeoloji, belediyeyi, dogmatizm, ekoloji, empatiye, emperyalizm, engellilerde, evrensellige, egzistansiyalizm, Eyaletler, feodalizm, geometrilerin, güvercinlerin, hademe, hiyerarşiden, hisse, hipofiz, imtiyazlara, insandan, işlevselliğinde, işkoluna, ısıyla, kademeleri, Katsayısının, kesitler, kiralardan, kirişlere, Koordinat, kozmogoni, kozmoloji, konstrüktivizm, levhalardan, liberalizm, macerasının, Nevrotiklik, nepotizm, nesnelliğe, oosit, oranlılık, organizma, oryantalizm, ozon, parlamenter, perakendecileri, prensip, profesörün, rasyonelizm, rasyonalizminin, şarkiyat, şarkiyatçı, sezonlarda, sevinçleri, sigortacılığının, sosyalizm, Stalinizm, Saltanatın, sembolizm, sembolizm, sübjektivizm, taşıtlardan, teknoloji, tipoloji, totemizm, uzuv, uzamlar, uzamlar, yağmurlarının, Örgütlerinin, öngörüsünün.

Verb alıkoydu, alınmıştır, almaktadır, anlatıyordu, bağlanıyordu, bilememektedirler, biliyordum, bitirdik, bulunmuştur, buluşmuştur, buyurdu, diyordum, duygu, duydular, durmayacağız, durdurulmuştur, durulmuştu, düzenlememiştir, düzenlenmemektedir, etmiştir, gerekmektedir, gereksinimleridir, getirmemelidir, getirmeyebilir, görmemişler, göstermektedir, karşılaşıldı, karşılanmadı, karşılamaktadır, kaybolmaktadır, kokuyordu, korkuyordu, kullanılmıştır, kurudu, olmamasıydı, olmuştur, olurdum, oluşturabilecektir, oluşturabilirler, oluşturulabilmektedir, oluşturuluyor, seçilmişti, seçmişti, söylüyordum, sağlanamadı, şiddetlendirmiştir, sürdürüyordu, tanımışlardır, tanıyor, ulaşamayız, ulaştırabilmektedir, üretiliyordu, üretiliyor, yapılandırılmaktadır, yapılmıştır, yaratırlar, yayınlanmasıdır.

Adjective ahlaklı, ahlaksız, alaylı, ayrımsız, Babasız, barbar, bohem, büyük, budaklı, çekirdekli, çetrefilli, cüretkar, dürüst, dörtlü, ekstrem, eksantrik, ereksel, evreli, geveze, heteroseksüel, ikili, ikincil, insanüstü, karbonik, karşılıklı, kuşaklı, kuşaksal, kurşunsuz, opsiyonel, sağcı, seçenekli, seçkin, sözleşmesel, sözleşmesiz, suçlu, taahhütlü, teist.

Adverb ahlaken, ahlaksızca, akılsızca, apaçık, apansız, baskılayarak, bilgilendirmeden, bilgilendirilerek, bilmeyip, borçlanarak, büsbütün, çabucak, çocukken, dokunup, donatıp, dürüstçe, ezbere, evrilerek, girerek, giydirerek, gençken, hoyratça, izletilerek, karşılanmadıkça, karşılaşılırken, reddedip, şekillendirip, silkinip, suçlanarak, tamamen, tercihen, usulca, ulaşılamazken, ulaşılınca, vekaleten, yıllarca, yaşlanınca.

C Sample words from Medical Crawl

C.1 Female associated words

The color green is used to visually highlight the masculine word lemmas within feminine words. This distinction specifically pertains to the lemmas within the set of feminine words.

Noun antiseptikler, antiserumlar, bağışları, başvurular, değerlerimizin, dinamiklerine, etkileri, getirileri, ihtiyaçları, ilaçları, imkanlarıyla, randevuları, ögeler, ödemeler, olgularıyla, olaylarıyla, bedenlerinin, pansumanları, kazançları, verileri, verilerin, yiyecekleri, yönetmeliklerin, akne, anafilaksi, anemi, anestezi, anesteziyoloji, ajitasyon, basınç, basıncı, biyokimya, bulantı, cilt, dahiliye, dejenerasyon, depresyon, difüzyon, drenaj, enfeksiyon, enfeksiyon, enjeksiyon, fizyoloji, fizyoterapi, hastaık, hastalığı, hastane, hemodiyaliz, hemşire, hemşirelik, hipertansiyon, hipoglisemi, infertilite, influenza, kardiyoloji, lupus, maliyet, mamografi, mesane, migren, miyokard, Obstetrik, poliklinik, psikiyatri, RNA, sedimantasyon, sintigrafisi, sistem, sağlık, sağlık, sağlığı, tedavi, tedavisi, tıp, vitamin, vücut, yöntem, yöntemi.

Verb ağrısıydı, bilgilerdir, bilgilendirilir, bilinmektedir, bulunmamasıdır, cihazlarıdır, durumlardır, hastalığı, hastalıklardır, hastalıklarıdır, hastalıktır, hemşirelerdir, histerektomidir, infeksiyondur, inançlardır, kadındı, kadındır, kaynakıdır, komplikasyonlarıdır, kuruluşlardır, kuruluştur, kültürüdür, lezyonlarıdır, olaydır, oluşmaktaydı, oluşmasıdır, oluşmuştur, oluşturabilmektedir, oluşturmaktadır, oluşturulamamıştır, oluşturulmaktadır, oluşturulmasıdır, oluşturur, radyoterapidir, sendromudur, şikayetlerdir, tedavidir, tedavisiydi, teknikidir, varlıkıdır, vitamindir, yöntemleridir, yöntemlerdir.

Adjective klinik, kadın, ana, medikal, dişi, finansal, jinekolojik, farmakolojik, salgın, cinsel, epidemiyolojik, kozmetik, estetik, Kardiyak, Kardiyovasküler, istatistiki, finanse, memeli, lösemili, kliniksel, lezbiyen.

Adverb evdeyken, konunca, bilgilendirilip, kasten, inince.

C.2 Male associated words

Noun ameliyat, antiserum, gösterge, idare, katılımcılar, tükenmişlik, atrofi, refleks, sinir, algılama, mülakat, laboratuvarlarına, bilim, sezaryen, işlevselliğe, projeksiyon, Histopatolojik, kongre, hidrolize, veziküller, genotip, önlem, adaptasyon, antidepresanlar, yetkinliklerini, Hesaplamalarda, kombinasyonları, semptomlardan, kalıtım, seratonin, bağlami radyolog, kontrendikasyonlar, aminoasit, rektum, hormon, sterilizasyonun, lezyon, lokalizasyonunda, rejenerasyon , anamnez, metastaz, olgularımızdan.

komplikasyonlardı, Verb ağrıdır, oluştuoluşturabilirler, rulabilmektedir, değişiklikleridir, bildirmemiştir, yaratırlar, sağlanamadı, gerçekleştirebilmektedir, kimyasallardır, rastlamamışlardır, bilmiyor, oluşturulmalıdır, kaybetmiştir, karşılaşmamış, gerçekleşebilmektedir, kaybedilmiştir, karşılaştık, yitirmektedir, kümesidir, oluşturmalıdırü oluşturmuştur, oluşturmaktadır, olmaktadır, olmaktaydı, oluşturmaktaydı, oluşturabilir, oluşabilir, ulaşabilmektedir, ulaşamamıştır, ulaşmıştır, kaybedebilir, kazanabilir.

Adjective hasta, yüksek, önemli, anlamlı, düşük, ortalama, bağlı, cerrahi, farklı, istatistiksel, büyük, normal, ilişkili, genel, sosyal, aynı, farklı, etkili, pozitif, gerekli, uygun, nadir, sürekli, bilimsel, ekonomik, sınırlı, riskli, fonksiyonel, radyolojik, mümkün, kaynaklı, kardiyak, bütün, spesifik, yükseki toplumsal, dirençli, alternatif, dış.

Adverb olarak, olup, birlikte, erken, özellikle, sırasında, kullanılarak, karşı, alınarak, hızlı, bakımından, edilerek, giderek, yapılarak, uygulanarak, esnasında, yalnızca, takiben, ederek, kullanarak, aracılığıyla, değerlendirilerek, başlamadan, dayanarak, çabucak, yapmayıp, yapmazken, sorunsuzca, yemeden, akıllıca, puanlanırken, kullanmaktayken, gizlice, gerekmedikçe, geciktirilmeden.

D Sample surface forms of gender-altering suffixes

All the examples are derived from the word vectors that have been trained on the mC4 corpus.

D.1 Nominal suffixes

Plural suffix -lAr. dinamikler, gecekondular, geziler, görüşmeler, ihtiyaçlar, kitaplar, konular, müzeler, süreçler, surlar, tapınaklar, tesisler.

Possessive suffixes -ImIz and -IArI. akılları, aklımız, bilinçaltımız, bugünümüz, büromuz, cumhuriyetimiz, dergimiz, memleketimiz, midemiz, odaları, ormanlarımız, Programımız, şirketimiz, taleplerimiz, tanıtımımız, tulumları, yöneticimiz.

In the provided examples, the lemmas are exclusively masculine, while the resulting word forms are exclusively feminine. The red color is used to indicate the passive voice marker in the examples.

D.2 Verbal suffixes

Passive voice. gitmek-gidilmek, üretmeküretilmek, yakaladı-yakalandı, yakalamakyakalanmak, yakalayacaksın-yakalanacaksın.

In the provided examples, the lemmas are exclusively masculine, while the resulting word forms are exclusively feminine. The red color is used to indicate the passive voice marker in the examples.

Negative marker -mA. bilmek(F)-bilmek(M), tanırım(M)-tanımam(F), tanıyacaksın(M)tanımayacaksın(F), üretmek(F)-üretmemek(M).

The red color is used to indicate the negative marker in the examples.

Copular markers. ağlamak-ağlamış-ağlamıştır, bilmek-bilmiş-bilmişlerdir, gelmek-gelmişgelmiştir, gitmek-gitmiş-gitmişlerdir, kaybolmaktakaybolmaktadır, oluşmuş-oluşmuştur.

In the provided examples, the lemmas are exclusively masculine, while the resulting word forms are exclusively feminine. Copular markers are indicated with the red color.

D.3 Derivational suffixes.

Nominal->nominal. denge(M)-dengesizlik(F), kimse(M)-kimsesizlik(F), nem(M)-nemlilik(F), şair(M)-şairlik(F).

Nominal->verb. fena(F)-fenalaşmak(M), flu(F)flulaşmak(M), kadife(F)-kadifeleşmek(M)

Verb->nominal bulanmak(M)-bulantı(F), görmek(M)-görenek(F), toplanmak(M)toplantı(F).

Disagreeable, Slovenly, Honest and Un-named Women? Investigating Gender Bias in English Educational Resources by Extending Existing Gender Bias Taxonomies

Haotian Zhu and Kexin Gao and Fei Xia and Mari Ostendorf University of Washington
 Department of Linguistics
 Department of Electrical & Computer Engineering

{haz060, kexing66, fxia, ostendor}@uw.edu

Abstract

Gender bias has been extensively studied in both the educational field and the Natural Language Processing (NLP) field, the former using human coding to identify patterns associated with and causes of gender bias in text and the latter to detect, measure and mitigate gender bias in NLP output and models. This work aims to use NLP to facilitate automatic, quantitative analysis of educational text within the framework of a gender bias taxonomy. Analyses of both educational texts and a lexical resource (WordNet) reveal patterns of bias that can inform and aid educators in updating textbooks and lexical resources and in designing assessment items.

1 Introduction

Educational materials for children such as reading comprehension articles or test assessments often protagonize real or fictional characters with gender information, rendering the materials more engaging (Brugeilles et al., 2009). They, however, could carry implicit gender bias and thus potentially reinforce gender stereotypes via children's learning process (Waxman, 2013; Doughman et al., 2021).

One example of such gender bias in educational materials lies in the asymmetrical distribution of males and females in human-generated text such as textbooks, where male and female characters tend to take on different social roles (Brugeilles et al., 2009). Additionally, such gender bias surfaces in the lexical entries and definitions in dictionaries. An open letter (Flood, 2023) calls on Oxford University Press to change its "sexist" definitions of the word "*woman*."

Most research on gender bias in the educational field relies on qualitative methodologies suitable for small-scale analyses (e.g., Namatende-Sakwa (2018); Phan and Pham (2021)). In contrast, gender bias studies in the field of NLP mostly attempt to identify, quantify and mitigate gender bias in NLP

applications (Savoldi et al., 2021; Zhao et al., 2019; Bordia and Bowman, 2019), with few looking at educational texts (Li et al., 2020).

Towards the aim to identify and analyze gender bias in educational data using NLP methods, in this paper, we first review recently developed gender bias taxonomies (§3) with an extension to incorporate new types of bias in text. Using NLP techniques, we extract gendered mentions¹ from educational materials (e.g. textbooks, reading materials, etc.) and a lexical resource (WordNet² (Miller, 1992)). We quantify different types of gender bias therein to reveal the linguistic patterns most closely associated with such bias. Our contributions include: (1) adopted and extended existing gender bias taxonomies and developed a pipeline for the extraction of person mentions and linguistic features $(\S4)$; (2) designed an analysis method for identifying various types of gender bias in text in different dimensions (§5); and (3) applied the analysis method to educational datasets to demonstrate the presence of different types of gender bias.

2 Bias Statement

In this work, we attempt to examine gender bias in human-generated text and specialize it to educational resources such as textbooks, test assessment items and lexicons. We adopt the definition of gender bias as given in Doughman et al. (2021): "an exclusionary, implicitly prejudicial, or generalized representation of a specific gender as a function of various societal stereotypes." Here we employ and extend existing gender bias taxonomies (Hitti et al., 2019) and examine different types of gender bias in educational resources.

People implicitly associate certain behaviors or

¹We recognize and acknowledge that gender is a spectrum rather than binary; however, in this work, we focus solely on investigating gender bias concerning male and female genders, as explicit non-binary entries in available data are scarce.

²https://wordnet.princeton.edu/

traits to a specific gender, creating gender stereotypes. Such bias in educational resources can be learned by children through the early process of learning (Waxman, 2013; Doughman et al., 2021) and further perpetuates gender stereotypes. For example, it has been shown that women are generally less represented in textbooks and often associated with family-related roles and traits, whereas men are over-represented and often associated with work-related roles. Such differentiated representation of male and female genders in textbooks, which often serve an instructional purpose, creates a false imagery for children with respect to what roles men and women are expected to undertake, producing unnecessary and harmful gender stereotypes. Furthermore, lexical resources such as WordNet are often used to train NLP systems or as external knowledge bases. The implicit bias within these resources can be passed on to produce biased system outputs that can potentially cause representational harms (Blodgett et al., 2020).

Here, we investigate gender bias in educational resources only for male and female genders for the following reasons: (1) the datasets used for analysis are not recent and up-to-date (all educational datasets are published before 2018). Therefore, the number of people mentioned in those datasets whose gender is non-binary gender is limited; (2) the NLP systems such as coreference resolution in the current pipeline to extract person mentions cannot reliably detect and extract people of non-binary gender. In future work, once trustworthy NLP systems that can reliably detect and extract people of non-binary gender become accessible, the analyses can be extended to incorporate the comparison between binary and non-binary genders by using the same overall pipeline and analysis methods (e.g. odds ratio analysis).

3 Related Work

In this study, we focus on gender bias in educational data. We first discuss a taxonomy of gender bias in human-generated text and then review previous research on gender bias in the educational field and in NLP research.

3.1 Taxonomy of Gender Bias

To meaningfully categorize various kinds of gender bias, Hitti et al. (2019) propose two types of gender bias in text: **structural** and **contextual** bias. **Structural** bias "occurs when bias can be traced down from a specific grammatical construction," including gender generalization (e.g., generic *he*) and explicit marking of sex (e.g., "*chair<u>man</u>*" vs. "*chair<u>woman</u>*"). **Contextual** bias "requires the learning of the association between gender marked keywords and contextual knowledge," which includes societal bias, where traditional gender roles reflect social norms, and behavioral bias, which is a generalization of attributes and traits onto a gendered person. Examples are given in Table 1 (**B3** (1) and (2)).

Based on Hitti et al. (2019), Doughman et al. (2021) and Doughman and Khreich (2022) provide a more fine-grained taxonomy with five types of gender bias, linking each type to possible real-world implications. Our work builds on and expands the taxonomies, as further described in §4.2.

3.2 Gender Bias Studies in Educational Field

There exists substantial research on gender bias in educational settings for various languages and regions, including: English textbooks in Uganda (Namatende-Sakwa, 2018) and Vietnam (Phan and Pham, 2021), in Vietnamese story textbooks (Vu, 2008) and Arabic textbooks (Izzuddin et al., 2021).

Research on gender bias in educational corpora mostly resorts to traditional approaches such as content analysis (Stemler, 2001) and critical discourse analysis (CDA) (Locke, 2004). Despite their obvious strengths in providing in-depth understanding of gender bias, manual coding is required, which is impractical for widespread use.

In this work, we study gender bias in an educational setting by building on linguistic constructs associated with qualitative categories of bias, but enable scalable quantitative analysis by applying NLP methods.

3.3 Measuring Gender Bias in Text

Cryan et al. (2020) explore automating bias analysis in text by developing lexicon-based and machine learning algorithms for gender stereotype detection from a corpus manually coded for gender stereotypes. This approach is limited to the particular gender stereotypes used in annotation.

An alternative approach is to compute some statistic associated with gendered mentions in different linguistic contexts, leveraging NLP analysis tools to automatically annotate linguistic contexts. For example, Zhao et al. (2017) investigate and define gender bias based on the ratio of the joint probability of an activity (e.g., a verb) and a gender group (e.g., female). Bordia and Bowman (2019)

Туре	ID	Subtype	Example	Dataset
Structural Bias	B1	Explicit Marking of Sex	<i>police</i> man: a member of a police force	WordNet
Structural Blas B2		Generic he	<i>researcher</i> : a scientist _i who devotes $\mathbf{himself}_i$ to doing research.	Both
Contextual Bias	B 3	Contextual Bias	(1) <i>slovenly</i> woman vs. <i>rich</i> man (2) Women are <i>incompetent</i> at work.	Both
Additional Bias	B4	Distributional Bias	for textbook dataset, 32,884 male mentions and 14,308 female mentions are extracted.	Both
	B5	Namedness	for textbook dataset, 73.46% male mentions are named, while 32.02% females are named	Corpora
	B6	Definitional Bias	<i>horse</i> man: a man skilled in equitation <i>horse</i> woman: a woman horseman	WordNet

Table 1: Taxonomy with types and subtypes of gender bias examined in this study, along with the dataset on which specific subtype is investigated and examples. Additional bias types are newly added to this taxonomy. In the examples, red indicates male gender; blue female; green neutral. Mentions that refer to the same person are indicated by *i*. Examples in B1, B2, B3 (1) and B6 are the definitions of entries from WordNet. Example (2) in B3 is from Doughman et al. (2021).

use a point-wise mutual information (PMI) based statistic. The odds ratio (OR) is often adopted statistic for measuring gender bias in text (Valentini et al., 2023), and will be adopted in our work. An advantage of this approach of using statistics on a range of linguistic contexts is that it can reveal biases not anticipated in manual coding.

Studies that have taken this approach with texts for children include Li et al. (2020), which explores gender and cultural bias in U.S. history textbooks used in Texas and Toro Isaza et al. (2023), which investigates gender bias in fairy tales for children. Our work is informed by these studies, but it is grounded in a bias taxonomy, and we also investigate a lexical resource.

3.4 Gender Bias Studies in NLP research

For NLP models, researchers look at the existence of gender bias in word embeddings (Bolukbasi et al., 2016; Caliskan et al., 2017; May et al., 2019), large language models (LLMs) (Bordia and Bowman, 2019; Fatemi et al., 2023), and in tasks such as coreference resolution (Zhao et al., 2018), machine translation (Savoldi et al., 2021), among others. Another important aspect of gender bias studies in NLP concerns bias mitigation in NLP applications (Savoldi et al., 2021; Bolukbasi et al., 2016; Park et al., 2018). These efforts are ultimately concerned with downstream application impact. In our work, the use of NLP is as a linguistic annotation tool, and bias detection is aimed to support human authors of educational texts.

4 Methodology

In this work, we adopt and expand the existing taxonomies for gender bias in human-generated text and attempt to identify different types of gender bias in our datasets. We look at two types of data³: educational corpora (denoted corpora henceforth) and lexical resource (WordNet).

4.1 Datasets

There are two major types in the educational corpora: **Content** and **Exam** (listed in Table 2). **Content** datasets mainly include open source textbooks (Michigan, 2014; Siyavula, 2014; CK12, 2007) and reading articles for K-12 education (e.g., CCS_doc⁴, wee_bit (Vajjala and Meurers, 2012), and OneStop (Vajjala and Lučić, 2018)); **Exam** datasets contain test items administered either in the U.S. or internationally, including pisa (Pisa, 2015), naep_science and naep_math.⁵ These educational corpora cover a wide range of subjects such as math, science, history etc., and diverse linguistic phenomena, offering a rich source for the investigation of gender bias.

For lexical resources, we opt for WordNet⁶ for a few reasons. It is widely used in the NLP field and may thereby perpetuating potential biases in downstream tasks. Also, it serves as a rich lexical resource with definitions and semantic relationships among words, which benefits our analysis. Lastly, it offers users convenient and free access to word entries and related information.

³Both types of educational materials examined in this paper are in **English**.

⁴https://corestandards.org/assets/Appendix_B.
pdf

⁵https://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/

⁶The latest version 3.1 contains only database files but no code is available, therefore we use Version 3.0. https: //wordnet.princeton.edu/

Detect		Cont	ent			Exam	
Dataset	textbook	CCS_doc	wee_bit	OneStop	pisa	naep_science	naep_math
# of Documents	32,626	168	10,486	567	48	123	446
Avg. # of Sent	4.78	28.55	1.82	35.06	13.10	5.93	2.46
Avg. Sent Length	15.09	19.47	14.02	21.95	18.35	12.08	14.83
Year of Release	2007, 2014	-	2012	2018	2015	-	-

Table 2: Description of educational corpora. The definition of **Instance** differs by datasets: for **Content**, an instance means an article or a paragraph; for **Exam**, an instance is a test item. - indicates the publication year is unavailable.

4.2 Different Types of Gender Bias to Identify

As noted earlier, important related work on detecting gender bias in text (e.g., Li et al. (2020); Toro Isaza et al. (2023)) does not incorporate recent taxonomies of gender bias. To systematically understand what kinds of gender bias exist in educational materials, we adopt and extend the gender bias taxonomy from Hitti et al. (2019) and Doughman et al. (2021). In our study, we first consider **structural bias** and **contextual bias** (as defined in §3.1). We also add three new types of bias: **distributional bias**, **definitional bias** and **namedness**. Table 1 lists all bias types and the datasets used to conduct the analyses, along with examples.

4.2.1 Structural Bias

Explicit Marking of Sex (B1): At the morphological level, explicit marking of sex⁷ manifests when gender-neutral entities are denoted using gender marker such as "*-man*" and "*-woman*." Here, the term "gender marker" refers not to markers of grammatical gender but to free morphemes (e.g., "*-woman*" in "*needlewoman*") or head nouns in compound phrases (e.g., "*woman*" in "*slovenly woman*"). **B1** in Table 1 presents an example where "*policeman*" contains the marker "*-man*" but the definition denotes a gender-neutral meaning.

Generic *he* (B2): We also examine the generic usage of gendered pronoun "*he*" where the pronoun is co-indexed with a neutral common noun. As shown in the example from B2 of Table 1, the word *scientist* is gender neutral but is co-indexed with a male reflexive pronoun "*himself*".

4.2.2 Contextual Bias

In Hitti et al. (2019), contextual bias has two subtypes: societal bias, where a gender is stereotypically assigned a social role, and behavioral bias, where certain attributes or traits associated with a gender can lead to generalized gender stereotypes. In our work, we use the same word **contextual bias** (**B3**) to refer to societal and behavioral bias due to the nuanced distinction between societal and behavioral bias. For example, the sentence from Doughman et al. (2021) illustrates societal bias: "The event was kid-friendly for all the mothers working in the company," where "*mothers*" are stereotypically assigned the role of caretakers, representing societal bias. However, "*mothers*" are also stereotypically associated with the trait of "caring for kids", which falls under behavioral bias. In our study, stereotypically ascribed a social norm or attributed certain traits.

4.2.3 Additional Bias

We add three gender bias types to the taxonomy:

Distributional Bias (B4): This type of bias refers to the uneven distribution of different genders. For example, in our textbook dataset, male mentions appear more frequently than female ones.

Namedness (B5): People in text can be mentions with a real or fictional name or referred to with a common noun such as "*scientist*." Through preliminary examination of the educational corpora, we found that female characters show up as anonymous more frequently than their male counterparts (e.g. "*mother*" vs. "*John*"). Thus, we choose to explore this bias type where males are often given names while females are not. For example, in a corpus, the percentage of male proper nouns is higher than that of females (see statistics **B5** in Table 1). This issue is denoted as namedness bias in our taxonomy.

Definitional Bias (B6): The nuanced definitions given to male and female words implicate the differentiated representation of men and women in lexical resources, which we denote definitional bias. As shown in **B6** in Table 1, the definition given to "*horseman*" only refers to men and is detailed, whereas "*horsewoman*" is defined solely based on the male version: "*horseman*".

⁷The word "**sex**" in this terminology is used by the original author. We keep this terminology in this work for the sake of consistency but do not use sex and gender interchangeably.

4.3 Analysis Methods

We detect different bias types in our datasets by employing a generic pipeline comprising four steps: (1) preprocessing, (2) person mention extraction, (3) gender labeling, (4) bias analysis.

4.3.1 Preprocessing

Corpora: In preprocessing, we use the Stanford CoreNLP package⁸ (Manning et al., 2014) with steps of sentence segmentation, tokenization, truecasing, POS tagging, named entity recognition, dependency parsing and coreference resolution.

WordNet: In WordNet, an entry can either be a single word (e.g., "*horsewoman*") or a compound phrase (e.g., "*honest woman*"). If a word or phrase has multiple senses, each sense is treated as a distinct entry. Each entry includes a definition and additional details such as syntactic category (e.g., "NOUN") and lexicographer (e.g., "noun.person"). We extract entries and their definitions from Word-Net using the NLTK package⁹ (Bird et al., 2009) and analyze the dependency structure of the definitions using CoreNLP.

4.3.2 Person Mention Extraction

Corpora: We first extract all proper nouns, common nouns and pronouns as mention candidates. We use named entity information and the WordNet sense (i.e., "noun.person") information to determine if each candidate is a person. Lastly, in coreference chains, if at least one mention in a chain is considered a person from the previous step, then the rest of the chain is also considered a person. Implementation detail is given in Appendix A.

WordNet: For WordNet, we extract all entries in the "noun.person" lexicographer file. We consider these entries as the ones denoting people.

4.3.3 Gender Labeling

Gender labeling procedure outputs three labels: M for male, F for female and N for neutral ¹⁰.

Corpora: We label the gender of mentions in corpora based on a two-step heuristic. First, we determine the gender of individual mentions using a list of seed words for pronouns (e.g., "*she*", "*he*") and common nouns (e.g., "*woman*", "*man*") and

the Gender Guesser API¹¹ for the first names of proper nouns. Then, using coreference chains, we resolve the gender for mentions whose gender is not determined from the previous step. For example, for common nouns such as "*scientist*," the gender cannot be determined in the first step because it is a profession that can be undertaken by any gender. Through coreference chain where it is co-referred by a gendered pronoun, its gender then can be resolved. Implementation detail is given in Appendix B.

WordNet: The extracted entries are grouped into the three gender categories based on gender indications in their definitions. We create three seed word lists containing terms with obvious gender information (e.g., colored words in the first three examples in Table 3). If the root of the dependency structure of the entry definition or the modifier of the root matches predefined terms, we assign the corresponding gender label to the entry.

Then, unlabeled entries are categorized using those labeled entries. If the root of a definition matches a labeled entry, the unlabeled entry is assigned the corresponding gender label. As the last example in Table 3 shows, the gender of "*roughrider*" is assigned based on the gender of "*horseman*." This iterative process repeats until no further male or female labeling occurs, leaving the remaining unlabeled entries as neutral.

Entry	Definition	Label
horseman	a man skilled in equitation	М
actress	a female actor	F
needlewoman	someone who makes or mends dresses	Ν
roughrider	a horseman skilled at breaking wild	М
	horses to the saddle	

Table 3: Example of entries and definitions from Word-Net, along with gender labels assigned through pipeline.

4.3.4 Pipeline Validation

To validate the accuracy of the person mention extraction and gender labeling components in our NLP pipeline, we manually labeled 100 examples from the pisa, naep_math and naep_science datasets. All gendered person mentions (pronouns, proper nouns and common nouns) are annotated with respect to gender. The annotated validation set contains 365 mentions in total (176 male mentions and 189 female mentions). The system identified 368 mentions and the number of correctly extracted mentions is 345.

⁸Version 4.5.3, release date: 3/15/2023, https:// stanfordnlp.github.io/CoreNLP/index.html

⁹Version 3.8.1, https://www.nltk.org/index.html

¹⁰The label N for neutral gender can refer to person mentions of either gender (e.g., "*someone*") and groups of people of mixed genders (e.g., "*they*").

¹¹https://pypi.org/project/gender-guesser/

Precision	Recall	F-1
93.7%	94.5%	94.1%

Table 4: Evaluation results for person extraction on the hand-labeled evaluation set.

The pipeline can achieve high precision, recall and F-1 scores in extracting the person mentions (see Table 4). The extraction module can produce some false positive extractions such as animal names (e.g., "*Dolly*" (the famous clone sheep)) and planet names (e.g., "*Venus*"). The named entity recognition package can miss some human names (e.g., "*Stacie*", "*Sue*").

For the gender labeling component, the labeling accuracy is 100% for the 100 validation instances where the gold standard mentions match the extracted mentions, because all person mentions in the validation set are in coreference chains and they are co-referred with a gendered pronoun. For larger datasets, the accuracy is not perfect because of several limitations. First, the Gender Guesser API is based on a list of proper first names. If a name is not in the list, then the gender cannot be correctly resolved. Second, for non-English names such as Chinese first names, most of the time the gender cannot be determined without further coreference information.

4.3.5 Bias Analysis

Corpora: For distributional bias (**B4**), we count the frequencies of males and females. Linguistic features are extracted to assess their association with gender to examine generic he (**B2**), contextual bias (**B3**) and namedness (**B5**).

First, we correlate the POS tags of gendered mentions with gender to investigate generic he (B2) and namedness (B5). By categorizing the verbs that serve as the root of gendered mentions using the agency connotation framework (Sap et al., 2017), we examine what types of verbs are more likely to be associated with a specific gender (B3). Agency is attributes of the agent of the verbs, denoting whether the action implies power and decisiveness. For example, "he obeys" implies the person "he" has low agency, while "he chooses" implies "he" has high agency. We also extract gendered possessive pronouns and the possessed common nouns. Via a list of kinship terms (e.g., "mother", "father") (full list in Appendix D), the association between gender of possessive pronouns and kinship terms is measured (B3).

WordNet: Initially, we extract proper nouns (usually names of famous persons or fictional figures) from person entries using heuristics, and look into distributional bias (B4) based on the frequency of their gender labels. Next, we investigate the use of gender pronouns such as "he" (B2) in defining gender-neutral entries. Additionally, we employ rule-based techniques to extract person entries ending with gender markers of "-man," "-woman," and "-person"¹² and assess the tendency for genderspecific markers to encompass gender-neutral connotations, indicative of explicit marking of sex (B1). Lastly, we scrutinize potential stereotypical bias (B3) in entries associated with gender-specific markers and definitional bias (B6) by examining how roles marked by "-man" and "-woman" are depicted.

4.3.6 Gender Bias Statistic

In the analysis of feature bias, we conduct significance testing on the association between gender and a binary feature of interest using Fisher's exact test¹³ to obtain *p*-values¹⁴ at $\alpha = 0.05$ level. In addition, we use odds ratio (OR) to determine the direction and magnitude of association. The odds ratio of a binary related feature $x \in \mathbf{X}$ that measures gender bias in favor of males is given by:

$$OR_x = \frac{M_x/M_{not\ x}}{F_x/F_{not\ x}} \tag{1}$$

where M_x is the count of male mentions with feature x and $M_{not x}$ without x. F_x and $F_{not x}$ are defined similarly. If the p-value ≤ 0.05 , the association is deemed significant. If OR > 1, then we observe gender bias toward men, and toward women for OR < 1. We choose odds ratio as the statistic to measure association between a specific gender and a feature because it is interpretable and commonly used to measure association between binary categorical variables and it is independent of the marginal distributions, which is desirable for our case since the distributions of male and female mentions are highly asymmetrical.

5 Experiments and Results

In this section, we present our experimental design and results for the corpora and WordNet.

¹²We plan to analyze more gender markers such as "-*or*" in "*actor*" and "-*ess*" in "*actress*" in future works.

¹³We opt for Fisher's exact test instead of Chi-square test because the number of co-occurrences of gender and certain features is too small.

¹⁴Adjusted via False Discovery Rate for multiplicity.

5.1 Educational Corpora

By extracting gendered mentions with their linguistic features, we investigate four types of gender bias in corpora.

5.1.1 Distributional Bias (B4)

Distributional bias in corpora is examined through comparing the number of extracted male and female mentions. We have observed the evidence for distributional bias in favor of male mentions for all content corpora (Table 5), which adheres to our hypothesis that male mentions are over-represented in text while females are under-represented with respect to mention frequency.

Detecet	Gen	Gender			
Dataset	М	F	Total		
textbook	32,884*	14,308	47,192		
naep_math	159	156	315		
<pre>naep_science</pre>	28	47	75		
pisa	97	88	185		
wee_bit	2,389*	1,408	3797		
CCS_doc	2,127*	810	2937		
OneStop	8,178*	2,999	11,177		

Table 5: Number of male and female extracted mentions. We only include M and F counts here since our analysis only considers these two genders. * indicates significance of a one-sided binomial test on the number of male mentions against female mentions at $\alpha = 0.05$.

5.1.2 Generic *He* in Corpora (B2)

To inspect the usage of generic *he* in corpora, we look at extracted mentions that are only common nouns with no gender information per se in comparison to those that are inherently gendered common nouns. Generic common nouns such as "*researcher*" denote nouns that can address any person in general, while gendered common nouns such as "*mother*" refer to a specific gender in particular. Our finding (Table 6) shows that for all datasets examined, male common noun mentions are typically generic rather than gendered, while female mentions are more likely to be gendered.

5.1.3 Possessive Pronoun and Kinship (B3)

To approach contextual bias where a specific gender is associated with certain societal roles, we create a list of kinship terms such as "*mother*" and "*father*" to categorize the common nouns possessed by a gendered possessive pronoun. Possessive pronouns (e.g., "*his*", "*her*") that occur frequently in the datasets carry important gender information. We examine which gender is more likely to be associated with kinship terms, indicating a stereotypical

Dataset	Gendered		Gene	OR	
	М	F	М	F	
textbook	4,532	6,976	1,652	252	0.10*
wee_bit	234	288	109	16	0.12^{*}
CCS_doc	262	180	210	1	0.01*
OneStop	478	624	422	56	0.10*

Table 6: Gendered vs. generic common nouns in the corpora. We ignore naep_math, naep_science and pisa in this analysis because the counts are too small. **OR** denotes odds ratio. Fisher's exact test performed at $\alpha = 0.05$. * indicates significance of association. Same notation is used for Table 7 and 8.

association of a specific gender with family-related roles. Significant association with kinship terms is observed for the OneStop and CCS_doc datasets with OR < 1: female possessive pronouns (e.g., "*her*") are more likely to co-occur with kinship nouns, while male ones do not.

5.1.4 Agency of Gendered Mentions (B3)

In addition to the previous finding on contextual bias, to examine what kinds of behavior are stereotypically associated with a specific gender, we categorize the verbal roots that head the person mentions in the nominal subject position in the sentences according to the connotation framework in Sap et al. (2017). Significant association (Table 7) between female mentions and low agency verbs in the textbook dataset is detected with an OR < 1, indicating females mentions in textbook are more often associated with low-agency verbs than males do, consistent with the findings in Sap et al. (2017). For the other datasets except naep_math, while insignificant, the OR < 1, displaying a similar trend to textbook.

Dataset	NEG		Pe	OR	
	М	F	М	F	
textbook	1,740	884	6,792	2,964	0.86^{*}
naep_math	25	17	56	64	1.68
naep_science	1	10	8	20	0.25
pisa	7	10	45	20	0.31
wee_bit	162	93	555	268	0.84
CCS_doc	177	57	542	173	0.99
OneStop	505	172	3,300	978	0.87

Table 7: Gendered mentions against agency of root verbs. *NEG* refers to verbs for which the subject has lower agency than the object; *POS* means the opposite.

5.1.5 Namedness of Gendered Mentions (B5)

We investigate namedness using the POS tags of gendered mentions. There are three types of male and female person mentions: pronoun (PRP),

common noun (NN) and proper noun (NNP). By comparing the distribution of NN and NNP, we discover that males are more likely to be tagged as proper nouns, while females tend to be common nouns. Proper nouns have explicit name information, whereas common nouns can refer to any person in general. The significant correlation (Table 8) between males and whether or not they are proper nouns implies that males tend to receive names, but females typically remain more generic and anonymous. This observation represents previously unreported structural bias where females appear less identifiable through proper names.

Datasat		0.0			
Dataset	NN		NΛ	IP	UK
	М	F	М	F	
textbook	6,184	7,228	17,120	3,564	0.18^{*}
naep_math	3	11	95	80	0.23^{*}
<pre>naep_science</pre>	10	4	6	24	10.00^{*}
pisa	11	26	42	38	0.38^{*}
wee_bit	343	304	1,075	544	0.57^{*}
CCS_doc	472	181	392	102	0.68^{*}
OneStop	900	680	3,052	824	0.36^{*}

Table 8: Male and female mentions against NN and NNP in the corpora.

5.2 WordNet

We conduct experiments on the person entries and definitions extracted from WordNet to elucidate instances of five bias types.

5.2.1 Distributional Bias (B4)

Table 9 shows the number of entries we extract from WordNet. Among all entries in WordNet, 21,463 are person entries.

Among person entries, we define 8,652 proper nouns (e.g., names of famous persons or fictional figures). Labeling the gender of proper names by their definitions is challenging (e.g., the definition of "*Sand*" is "French writer known for ...," exhibiting no gender cue). Therefore, we randomly pick 100 proper nouns and determine their gender based on the information on their Wikipedia pages: 85 of them are males, 14 are females, and 1 entry ("*salian*") refers to a group of people. Among the 99 entries that are individuals, 91 are real persons, 8 are fictional. This adheres to the distributional bias that males are represented more in this lexical resource, possibly due to historical reasons.

The rest of person entries are grouped into M, F, and N based on their definitions (see Section 4.3.3).

All Entries	Person Entries					
All Entries	Total	NNP	М	F	N	
227,733	21,463	8,652	592	726	11,493	

Table 9: Number of all entries and person entries under the proper noun (*NNP*) group and each gender category in WordNet.

5.2.2 Generic *He* (B2)

Among the neutral person entries (column N in Table 9), we find there are 100 entries wherein the roots in the dependency structures of the definitions are either co-referred or co-indexed with gendered pronouns such as "himself" (see example in **B2** of Table 1). We count the frequency of gendered pronouns and gender-inclusive pronouns (e.g., "he or she" or "they"). We find that usage of generic he widely occurs in WordNet definitions. Among the 100 definitions, the male generic pronoun is employed in 67 definitions to denote gender-neutral roots, whereas only 33 instances feature gender-inclusive language.

5.2.3 Explicit Marking of Sex (B1)

For person entries that are not proper nouns, we collect those ending with the gender markers ("*man*," "*-woman*," and "*-person*"). Table 10 displays the breakdown of their gender labels determined by the definitions.

		Gend	er	T ()
Marker	М	F	N	Iotal
-man	79	0	303	382
-woman	0	61	16	77
-person	0	0	113	113
Total	79	61	432	572

Table 10: Number of unique person entries in WordNet that end with "*-man*," "*-woman*," or "*-person*."

There are notably 303 entries ending with "man" featuring gender-neutral definitions. Also, while the neutral label of the 16 entries with "woman" may seem perplexing, they are deemed neutral due to the absence of gender-specific words in their definitions (see example of "needlewoman" in Table 3). We consider gender markers ("-man" vs. "-woman") and the gender labels of the definitions (*M* and *F* vs. *N*) and observe that the marker "-man" is inclined towards denoting gender-neutral entries, ¹⁵ providing evidence for explicit marking of sex.

¹⁵Fisher's exact test: $OR = 14.623, p \ll 0.05$.

5.2.4 Contextual Bias (B3)

In Table 10, some entries have variants representing the same role. For instance, "*chairman*," "*chairwoman*," and "*chairperson*" share the same root morpheme but differ in markers. We classify person entries containing gender markers based on the number of associated variants in Table 11 (Full word lists in Appendix F and example definitions in Appendix G).

Entries w/	Morkor	Gender			Total	
Entries w/	Warker	M	F	Ν	10141	
	(1a)-man	50	0	260	310	
(1) one variant	(1b)-woman	0	11	1	12	
	(1c)-person	0	0	85	85	
	(2a)-man	19	0	28	47	
	-woman	0	34	13	47	
(2) two variants	(2h)-woman	0	3	0	3	
(2) two variants	-person	0	0	3	5	
	(2a)-man	2	0	8	10	
	(2C)-person	0	0	10	10	
	-man	8	0	7		
(3) three variants	(3a)-woman	0	13	2	15	
	-person	0	0	15		

Table 11: Number of entries ending with different gender markers, grouped by number of variants. Numbers investigated in the experiments are marked into red.

In Table 11, row (1a) shows that out of the 310 entries marked only with "*-man*", 50 are defined as male, lacking corresponding "*-person*" or "*-woman*" variants. These entries typically pertain to occupational roles (e.g., "*seaman*", "*mailman*"). Row (1b) identifies 11 entries solely marked with "*woman*", some of which carry sexist connotations like "*loose woman*", "*kept woman*", and "*honest woman*", where asymmetric social expectations are imposed on women in contrast to men.

Row (2) shows entries with only two markers. Specifically, Row (2b) features 3 entries without the "*-man*" variant, all of which ("*disagree-able woman*", "*slovenly woman*", and "*unpleasant woman*") convey negative connotations. Row (2c) highlights 10 entries lacking the "*-woman*" version. Notably, the two male entries with "*-man*" ("*rich man*" and "*wealthy man*") lack female counterparts.

In this table, 52 male entries lack "-woman" variants¹⁶ and 14 female entries lack "-man" variants.¹⁷ We perform Sentiment Analysis on the definitions of these two entry groups using the vaderSentiment (Hutto and Gilbert, 2014) API.

Results reveal a significant difference,¹⁸ with female entries having a lower average sentiment score (-0.141) compared to male ones (0.056).¹⁹

The presence of entries like "*disagreeable woman*" and "*rich man*" raises initial concerns, since the modifiers directly convey their meaning, rendering their inclusion in lexical resources less necessary. Moreover, these entries may reinforce gender stereotypes. These observations indicate societal bias, reflecting not only the allocation of certain social roles exclusively to males but also the differentiated sentiment associated with gender.

5.2.5 Definitional Bias (B6)

Furthermore, we examine the definitions of the 62 entries that have both "*-man*" and "*-woman*" variants.²⁰ We find 10 entries whose definitions for "*-man*" variant are detailed, whereas the corresponding "*-woman*" entries receive simpler definitions derived from their "*-man*" or "*-person*" counterparts (see example of "*horseman*" and "*horsewoman*" in row B6 in Table 1). This approach renders the understanding of "*horsewoman*" reliant on the definition of "*horseman*." For the purpose of ensuring semantic comprehensiveness, meticulous definitions for all variants should be provided, incorporating senses conveyed by all morphemes within the entries to facilitate reader comprehension and mitigate potential bias.

6 Discussion

Our investigation has revealed the pervasive existence of various types of gender bias within both educational corpora and WordNet. Specifically, we have noted the prevalence of distributional bias evidenced by the uneven distributions of males and females across both datasets, alongside explicit marking of sex and the generic use of male pronouns within WordNet. Additionally, a diverse array of syntactic patterns within the corpora has been identified as displaying gender bias.

In this work, we only explore gender bias in English educational materials. The extraction pipeline and gender labeling procedure proposed contain language-dependent components that are unique to English (e.g. using a coreference resolution system to determine gender of a common noun based on gendered pronouns). For languages such as Man-

 $^{^{16}52}$ is the sum of 50 from (1a) and 2 from (2c) in Table 11

 $^{^{17}}$ 14 is the sum of 11 from (**1b**) and 3 from (**2b**)

¹⁸Unpaired two-sample *t*-test: t = -2.15, p = 0.035.

¹⁹The sentiment score ranges from -1 to 1, where [-1, 0) indicates negative sentiment, and (0, 1] indicates positive.

 $^{^{20}62}$ is the sum of (**2a**) and (**3a**) totals in Table 11

darin Chinese where the gender of the pronouns is indistinguishable without orthographic information, the pipeline may integrate language-specific NLP systems to resolve the gender of person mentions. Moreover, the way that gender bias manifests in text can differ from language to language (and culture to culture). Thus, the bias patterns used to detect gender bias in this work will be different.

The presence of gender bias in educational resources carries significant implications. Exposure to those materials can potentially shape children's perceptions through implicit gender bias, fostering the development of gender stereotypes. This perpetuation of biased narratives has far-reaching consequences for societal attitudes and inequality. Moreover, NLP models reliant on lexical resources such as WordNet, wherein gender bias is discernible in multiple forms, may inadvertently perpetuate said biases in downstream tasks.

However, our work offers actionable insights for educational resource developers, offering guidance on elements to consider during the creation process to mitigate bias. Moreover, our study on WordNet pinpoints the bias issues that warrant monitoring and maintenance by developers.

7 Conclusion

In this study, based on the existing taxonomy of gender bias in text, we have examined 7 types of gender bias in educational corpora and WordNet. The analysis has shown that many types of gender bias exist in both types of data, emphasizing the necessity for meticulous examination of such biases in associated resources. Our future work aims to identify additional linguistic features correlated with gender. Furthermore, deeper exploration is warranted into corpora from other domains and lexical resources beyond WordNet.

8 Limitations

There are several limitations to our study: (1) we only consider binary gender in this paper; (2) the small data size of some of the assessment items limits the use of statistical analyses; (3) WordNet as a proxy for a dictionary does not suffice due to its lack of comprehensive entries and definitions and it is not regularly maintained; (4) in this study, we employ odds ratio as the statistic for gender bias, which only considers correlation instead of causation; (5) in this work, we only work with the English language, while gender bias can appear in educational materials in other languages as well.

9 Ethical Considerations

We identify several ethical considerations that are related to our work. (1) First, the educational assessment items typically are not made publicly available, which presents a challenge for multiple researchers to compare methods on the same data and to reproduce our analysis results. However, this type of educational data assumes vital importance to look at, so mechanisms are needed to enable these types of studies. (2) This work is not subjected to privacy concerns since the datasets do not contain identifiable information about individuals. However, famous people (dead or alive) appear in our datasets, and they are potentially used for analysis. (3) Our gender labeling procedure only labels male, female and neutral gender, without consideration of non-binary genders. Such limited consideration and inclusion of binary gender constrains the scope of our study within the binary gender framework, particularly in neglect of stereotypes and bias directed towards non-binary gender community.

References

- Steven Bird, Ewan Klein, and Edward Loper. 2009. Natural language processing with Python: analyzing text with the natural language toolkit. " O'Reilly Media, Inc.".
- Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé III, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Language (technology) is power: A critical survey of "bias" in NLP. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 5454– 5476, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tolga Bolukbasi, Kai-Wei Chang, James Y. Zou, Venkatesh Saligrama, and Adam Tauman Kalai. 2016. Man is to computer programmer as woman is to homemaker? debiasing word embeddings. In *Neural Information Processing Systems*.
- Shikha Bordia and Samuel R. Bowman. 2019. Identifying and reducing gender bias in word-level language models. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Student Research Workshop, pages 7–15, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Carole Brugeilles, Sylvie Cromer, and Centre développement. 2009. Analysing gender representations in school textbooks.
- Aylin Caliskan, Joanna J. Bryson, and Arvind Narayanan. 2017. Semantics derived automatically

from language corpora contain human-like biases. *Science*, 356(6334):183–186.

- CK12. 2007. CK-12 Free Online Textbooks, Flashcards, Adaptive Practice, Real World Examples, Simulations.
- Jenna Cryan, Shiliang Tang, Xinyi Zhang, Miriam J. Metzger, Haitao Zheng, and Ben Y. Zhao. 2020. Detecting gender stereotypes: Lexicon vs. supervised learning methods. *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*.
- Jad Doughman and Wael Khreich. 2022. Gender bias in text: Labeled datasets and lexicons. *CoRR*, abs/2201.08675.
- Jad Doughman, Wael Khreich, Maya El Gharib, Maha Wiss, and Zahraa Berjawi. 2021. Gender bias in text: Origin, taxonomy, and implications. In *Proceedings* of the 3rd Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing, pages 34–44, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Zahra Fatemi, Chen Xing, Wenhao Liu, and Caimming Xiong. 2023. Improving gender fairness of pre-trained language models without catastrophic forgetting. In *Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers)*, pages 1249–1262, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Alison Flood. 2023. Fresh call for oxford dictionaries to change 'sexist' definitions. *The Guardian*.
- Yasmeen Hitti, Eunbee Jang, Ines Moreno, and Carolyne Pelletier. 2019. Proposed taxonomy for gender bias in text; a filtering methodology for the gender generalization subtype. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing, pages 8–17, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- C. J. Hutto and Eric Gilbert. 2014. Vader: A parsimonious rule-based model for sentiment analysis of social media text.
- Izzuddin, Reza Pahlevi Dalimunthe, and Sulistiyono Susilo. 2021. The portrayal of women in arabic textbooks for non-arabic speakers. *SAGE Open*, 11.
- Lucy Li, Demszky Dorottya, Bromley Patricia, and Jurafsky Dan. 2020. Content analysis of textbooks via natural language processing: Findings on gender, race, and ethnicity in texas u.s. history textbooks. *AERA Open*, 6.
- Terry Locke. 2004. *Critical discourse analysis*. Continuum research methods series. Continuum, London.
- Christopher Manning, Mihai Surdeanu, John Bauer, Jenny Finkel, Steven Bethard, and David McClosky. 2014. The Stanford CoreNLP natural language processing toolkit. In *Proceedings of 52nd Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics: System Demonstrations*, pages 55–60, Baltimore, Maryland. Association for Computational Linguistics.

Chandler May, Alex Wang, Shikha Bordia, Samuel R. Bowman, and Rachel Rudinger. 2019. On measuring social biases in sentence encoders. *ArXiv*, abs/1903.10561.

Michigan. 2014. Michigan Open Book Project.

- George A. Miller. 1992. WordNet: A lexical database for English. In Speech and Natural Language: Proceedings of a Workshop Held at Harriman, New York, February 23-26, 1992.
- Lydia Namatende-Sakwa. 2018. The construction of gender in ugandan english textbooks: a focus on gendered discourses. *Pedagogy, culture society*, 26(4):609–629.
- Ji Ho Park, Jamin Shin, and Pascale Fung. 2018. Reducing gender bias in abusive language detection. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 2799–2804, Brussels, Belgium. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Anh Ngoc Quynh Phan and Tho Xuan Pham. 2021. Gender stereotypes as hidden curriculum: A case of vietnamese english textbooks. *International Journal of Education*.

OECD Pisa. 2015. Draft science framework.

- Maarten Sap, Marcella Cindy Prasettio, Ari Holtzman, Hannah Rashkin, and Yejin Choi. 2017. Connotation frames of power and agency in modern films. In Proceedings of the 2017 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 2329–2334, Copenhagen, Denmark. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Beatrice Savoldi, Marco Gaido, Luisa Bentivogli, Matteo Negri, and Marco Turchi. 2021. Gender bias in machine translation. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 9:845–874.

Siyavula. 2014. Open Textbooks | Siyavula.

- Steve Stemler. 2001. An overview of content analysis. *Practical assessment, research & evaluation*, 7(17):1–6.
- Paulina Toro Isaza, Guangxuan Xu, Toye Oloko, Yufang Hou, Nanyun Peng, and Dakuo Wang. 2023.
 Are fairy tales fair? analyzing gender bias in temporal narrative event chains of children's fairy tales.
 In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 6509–6531, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sowmya Vajjala and Ivana Lučić. 2018. OneStopEnglish corpus: A new corpus for automatic readability assessment and text simplification. In *Proceedings of the Thirteenth Workshop on Innovative Use of NLP for Building Educational Applications*, pages 297–304, New Orleans, Louisiana. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Sowmya Vajjala and Detmar Meurers. 2012. On improving the accuracy of readability classification using insights from second language acquisition. In *Proceedings of the Seventh Workshop on Building Educational Applications Using NLP*, pages 163–173, Montréal, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Francisco Valentini, Germán Rosati, Damián Blasi, Diego Fernandez Slezak, and Edgar Altszyler. 2023. On the interpretability and significance of bias metrics in texts: a PMI-based approach. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers), pages 509–520, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Phuong Anh Vu. 2008. Gender stereotypes in story textbooks for primary school students in vietnam.
- Sandra Waxman. 2013. Building a Better Bridge. In Navigating the Social World: What Infants, Children, and Other Species Can Teach Us, pages 292–296. Oxford University Press.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Ryan Cotterell, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2019. Gender bias in contextualized word embeddings. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 629–634, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2017. Men also like shopping: Reducing gender bias amplification using corpus-level constraints. In Proceedings of the 2017 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 2979–2989, Copenhagen, Denmark. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2018. Gender bias in coreference resolution: Evaluation and debiasing methods. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 2 (Short Papers), pages 15–20, New Orleans, Louisiana. Association for Computational Linguistics.

A The Pipeline for Extracting Person Mentions from Educational Corpora

This appendix describes in detail the implementation of the person mention extraction procedure for educational corpora. The corpora first are preprocessed by using the Stanford CoreNLP package. After preprocessing the educational corpora, we extract individual person mentions. Person mentions include three kinds: pronouns, proper nouns and common nouns. We first recognize the three types of mentions from text as individual mention candidates using their POS tag information. Using named entity recognition (NER) information and the supersense obtained from WordNet, we determine if each candidate mention is a person if and only if the NER assigns a "*PERSON* tag or its supersense is "noun.person". By leveraging coreference resolution, we then form coreference chains. In each coreference chain, if at least one mention in the chain is determined as a person in the previous step, the rest of the chain is deemed as person mentions. The last step is to ensure that common nouns that are missed from the second step are correctly extracted.

B Gender Labeling for Corpora

In this appendix, we describe the gender labeling procedure for the educational corpora.

After extracting person mentions from the corpora, we resolve the gender of the mentions based on a two-step heuristic:

The first step in gender labeling is to check whether or not a mention is in fixed lists of pronouns and common nouns that have salient gender information: for example, "he", "she", "woman", "man" (full lists in Appendix C). If a mention is in the list, then the gender labeling function will output a label from the set $\{M, F, N\}$, where N stands for neutral gender. If a mention is not in the list, we then send the first token of the mention (assuming that the remaining mention is a proper noun) to the Gender Guesser API²¹. This API has a list of first names from various countries that have corresponding gender information. If the mention is in the name list, then it will output one label from {male, female, mostly_male,mostly_female,andy, unknown}, where andy stands for androgynous, meaning a name that is equally probable for male and female. If a mention is not in the name list, then the API will return *unknown*. We group *male* and *mostly_male* to be *M* and *female* and *mostly_female* to be F.

Note that there are some issues with this Gender Guesser API: it does not predict gender of mentions with only last names. Within the datasets used in this project, there are many last names of famous people of whom the gender is clearly retrievable. Also, the word lists for pronouns and common nouns in Appendix C are not comprehen-

²¹https://pypi.org/project/gender-guesser/

sive. To resolve these two concerns, we choose to leverage the coreference cluster information, where we obtain the gender of a mention by the genders of its cluster, if any. The next issue with this API is that it is largely US-centric (although it has an option for country) and does not consider variations across different cultures. We do not attempt to solve this issue in this work.

The gender labeling function using cluster information works as follows:

- Remove all unknown genders from the cluster if there are other genders in the cluster, e.g. {M, F, unknown} becomes {M, F}
- 2. If there is a three-way tie between M, F and andy, return andy.
- 3. If there is a two-way tie between M and F, return andy.
- If there is a two-way tie between either M or F and andy, return M or F. For example, for {M, M, andy, andy}, return M.
- 5. If there is no tie, return the most frequent gender.

C Word Lists for Person Pronouns and Person Common Nouns

This appendix contains the word lists for male, female and neutral gendered and neutral person pronouns (excluding "it") and for male, female and neutral gendered person common nouns. The list for common nouns are not exhaustive.

Neutral Pronouns: I, me, we, our, us, myself, ourself, ourselves, let's my, mine, they, them, their, you, your, themself, themselves, yourself, yourselves.

Male Pronouns: he, him, his, himself.

Female Pronouns: she, her, hers, herself.

Female common nouns: girl, woman, mrs, ms, mother, mom, aunt, niece, sister, wife, daughter, grandmother, grandma, grandmom, granddaughter, bride, girlfriend, gal, madam, lady, female, waitress, actress, governess, spinster, empress, heroine, hostess, landlady, stewardess, princess.

Male common nouns: boy, man, mr, father, dad, uncle, nephew, brother, husband, son, grandfather, grandpa, granddad, grandson, groom, boyfriend, guy, gentleman, bachelor, male, actor, emperor, prince.

Neutral Person Common Nouns: people, adult, adults, person, people, child, children.

D Kinship Terms for Detecting Societal Bias (B3)

This appendix provides the list for kinship terms for the analysis of stereotypical bias (**B3**) for educational corpora.

family, son, daughter, brother, child, sister, father, mother, dad, daddy, mum, mom, mummy, niece, nephew, parent, sibling, stepdaughter, wife, husband, spouse, stepfather, stepdad, stepmother, stepmom, grandchild, grandfather, grandmother, grandma, grandmom, grandpa, granddad, grandson, granddaughter, baby²².

E Example of Instances from the Educational Corpora

This appendix provides instance examples for all educational corpora used in this study.

E.1 CCS_doc

A medieval fisherman is said to have hauled up a three-foot-long cod, which was common enough at the time. And the fact that the cod could talk was not especially surprising. But what was astonishing was that it spoke an unknown language. It spoke Basque. This Basque folktale shows not only the Basque attachment to their orphan language, indecipherable to the rest of the world, but also their tie to the Atlantic cod, Gadus morhua, a fish that has never been found in Basque or even Spanish waters. The Basques are enigmatic. They have lived in what is now the northwest corner of Spain and a nick of the French southwest for longer than history records, and not only is the origin of their language unknown, but also the origin of the people themselves remains a mystery also. According to one theory, these rosy-cheeked, dark-haired, longnosed people where the original Iberians, driven by invaders to this mountainous corner between the Pyrenees, the Cantabrian Sierra, and the Bay of Biscay. Or they may be indigenous to this area. They graze sheep on impossibly steep, green slopes of mountains that are thrilling in their rare, rugged beauty. They sing their own songs and write their own literature in their own language, Euskera. Possibly Europe's oldest living language, Euskera is one of only four European languages-along with

²²The term "baby" is tricky because it can be used for intimate, non-family members, but when its possessive pronouns are gendered such as "his", "her", it is more likely that "baby" refers to a child.

Estonian, Finnish, and Hungarian–not in the Indo-European family. They also have their own sports, most notably jai alai, and even their own hat, the Basque beret, which is bigger than any other beret.

E.2 naep_math

A bag contains two red candies and one yellow candy. Kim takes out one candy and eats it, and then Jeff takes out one candy. For each sentence below, fill in the oval to indicate whether it is possible or not possible.

E.3 naep_science

Bacteria and laboratory animals are sometimes used by scientists as model organisms when researching cures for human diseases such as cancer. Describe one possible advantage and one possible disadvantage of using bacteria as models to help find cures for human diseases. Advantage: Disadvantage: Describe one possible advantage and one possible disadvantage of using laboratory animals such as mice, guinea pigs, and monkeys as models to help find cures for human diseases.

E.4 OneStop

The Duke and Duchess of Cambridge have won the first part of their fight for privacy. A French magazine was told to stop selling or reusing photos of the royal couple. The pictures show the duchess sunbathing topless while on holiday in the south of France. It is possible that the magazine editor and the photographer or photographers will also have to go to a criminal court. The French magazine Closer was told to give digital files of the pictures to the couple within 24 hours. Closers publisher, Mondadori Magazines France, was also told to pay 2,000 in legal costs. The magazine will have to pay 10,000 for every day it does not give the couple the files. The court decided that every time Mondadori the publishing company owned by the ex Italian Prime Minister Silvio Berlusconi publishes a photograph in the future in France, they will get 10,000 fine. The couple welcome the judges decision. They always believed the law was broken and that they had a right to their privacy. The royal couple are pleased with the decision, but they want to have a much more public criminal trial against the magazine and photographer or photographers. Under French law, if you do not respect someones privacy, you may have to spend a maximum of one year in prison and pay a fine of 45,000. This punishment would send a message to the world and, the couple hope, stop paparazzi taking photos like this in the future. On Saturday the Irish Daily Star also published the photos. And the Italian celebrity magazine Chi published a special edition of 26 pages with the photos of the future queen.

E.5 pisa

Mimi and Dean wondered which sunscreen product provides the best protection for their skin. Sunscreen products have a Sun Protection Factor (SPF) that shows how well each product absorbs the ultraviolet radiation component of sunlight. A high SPF sunscreen protects skin for longer than a low SPF sunscreen. Mimi thought of a way to compare some different sunscreen products. She and Dean collected the following: ... Mimi and Dean included mineral oil because it lets most of the sunlight through, and zinc oxide because it almost completely blocks sunlight. Dean placed a drop of each substance inside a circle marked on one sheet of plastic, and then put the second plastic sheet over the top. He placed a large book on top of both sheets and pressed down. Mimi then put the plastic sheets on top of the sheet of light-sensitive paper. Light-sensitive paper changes from dark gray to white (or very light gray), depending on how long it is exposed to sunlight. Finally, Dean placed the sheets in a sunny place.

E.6 textbook

Conclusions The scientist must next form a conclusion. The scientist must study all of the data. What statement best explains the data? Did the experiment prove the hypothesis? Sometimes an experiment shows that a hypothesis is correct. Other times the data disproves the hypothesis. Sometimes it's not possible to tell. If there is no conclusion, the scientist may test the hypothesis again. This time he will use some different experiments. No matter what the experiment shows the scientist has learned something. Even a disproved hypothesis can lead to new questions. The farmer grows crops on the two fields for a season. She finds that 2 times as much soil was lost on the plowed field as compared to the unplowed field. She concludes that her hypothesis was correct. The farmer also notices some other differences in the two plots. The plants in the no-till plots are taller. The soil moisture seems higher. She decides to repeat the experiment. This time she will measure soil moisture, plant growth, and the total amount of water the plants consume. From now on she will use no-till methods of farming. She will also research other factors that may reduce soil erosion.

E.7 wee_bit

Nicole Thompson and her third-grade social studies students at Greenbriar Academy in North Carolina wanted to learn about world geography. So late last year, they sent an e-mail message to 100 people. Readers were asked to send the e-mail message to people in other places. Readers were also asked to write something about themselves as well. About six weeks later, Thompson and her students received more than 60,000 e-mail replies! Messages came from every state in the United States and from 120 countries. According to Thompson, the students' favorite response was written by a carpenter at McMurdo Station in Antarctica. "It was a huge deal. We didn't think we would hear from Antarctica!" Thompson said.

F Full Word List for Table 11

This appendix provides the comprehensive word list corresponding to each row of Table 11.

F.1 Row 1a (310 entries that only have -man marker)

freshman, ablebodied seaman, able seaman, abominable snowman, adman, aircraftman, aircraftsman, aircrewman, alderman, apeman, artilleryman, assistant foreman, backup man, backwoodsman, baggageman, bagman, bandsman, bargeman, barman, barrowman, batman, batsman, beadsman, bedesman, beef man, bellman, best man, big businessman, boatman, bookman, border patrolman, bowman, brahman, brakeman, broth of a man, bushman, busman, cabman, cameraman, career man, cattleman, cavalryman, cave man, caveman, chapman, chargeman, chinaman, churchman, city man, clergyman, coachman, coalman, coastguardsman, college man, company man, con man, confidence man, conjure man, corner man, cousingerman, cow man, cowman, cracksman, craftsman, cragsman, crewman, "customers man", dairyman, dalesman, deliveryman, deskman, dirty old man, divorced man, doorman, dragoman, draughtsman, dustman, earthman, elder statesman, elevator man, end man, ent man, everyman, exserviceman, exciseman, family man, feral man, ferryman, fieldsman, fingerprint man, fireman, first baseman, fisherman, foeman, footman, fourminute man, frogman, front man, fugleman, gman, gagman, garbage

man, garbageman, gasman, "gentlemans gentleman", government man, groomsman, groundsman, guardsman, gunman, handyman, hangman, hardwareman, hatchet man, heman, head linesman, headman, headsman, heidelberg man, helmsman, henchman, herdsman, highwayman, hired man, hit man, hitman, hodman, holdup man, hotelman, houseman, huntsman, husbandman, iceman, infantryman, ingerman, iron man, ironman, jazzman, journeyman, klansman, "ladies man", landman, landsman, lawman, leading man, ledgeman, lensman, letterman, liegeman, liftman, lighterman, lineman, linesman, linkman, linksman, liveryman, lobsterman, lockman, longbowman, longshoreman, lookout man, lowerclassman, lumberman, machoman, mailman, maintenance man, maltman, marksman, matman, meatman, medical man, medicine man, medieval schoolman, merman, middleaged man, middleman, midshipman, military man, military policeman, militiaman, milkman, minuteman, miracle man, moneyman, motorcycle policeman, motorman, mountain man, muffin man, muscleman, navy man, night watchman, nurseryman, oddjob man, oilman, ombudsman, organization man, outdoor man, packman, pantryman, party man, patrolman, penman, pigman, piltdown man, pitchman, pitman, pivot man, placeman, plainclothesman, plainsman, plantsman, ploughman, plowman, pointsman, posseman, postman, potman, poultryman, pr man, preacher man, pressman, privateersman, property man, propman, publicity man, quarryman, raftman, raftsman, railroad man, railway man, railwayman, red man, remittance man, renaissance man, repairman, rewrite man, rhodesian man, rifleman, righthand man, roadman, roundsman, sandwichman, schoolman, seaman, second baseman, section man, seedman, seedsman, service man, serviceman, sheepman, showman, sidesman, signalman, skilled workman, soundman, spaceman, sporting man, squaw man, stableman, steelman, steersman, stickup man, stockman, straw man, strawman, strongman, superman, swagman, switchman, swordsman, tman, tallyman, taximan, taxman, third baseman, timberman, tollman, townsman, tradesman, trainbandsman, trainman, traveling salesman, travelling salesman, trencherman, tribesman, triggerman, tv newsman, underclassman, utility man, vice chairman, vigilance man, visiting fireman, warehouseman, watchman, waterman, weatherman, widowman, wild man, wingman, wireman, wise man, wolfman, woodman, woodsman, workingman, workman, yardman, yeoman, yesman

F.2 Row 1b (12 entries that only have -woman marker)

charwoman, cleaning woman, comfort woman, foolish woman, honest woman, kept woman, lollipop woman, loose woman, needlewoman, washwoman, widow woman, wonder woman

F.3 Row 1c (85 entries that only have -person marker)

abandoned person, aliterate person, bad person, bereaved person, bisexual person, blind person, british people, clumsy person, color-blind person, colored person, crabby person, creative person, dead person, deaf-and-dumb person, deaf person, deceased person, diseased person, displaced person, disreputable person, dutch people, eccentric person, emotional person, english people, english person, epicene person, famous person, fat person, forgetful person, french people, french person, good person, handicapped person, heterosexual person, homeless person, hunted person, illiterate person, important person, incompetent person, inexperienced person, influential person, insured person, irish people, irish person, juvenile person, large person, learned person, literate person, nonperson, nonreligious person, nude person, oriental person, poor person, primitive person, professional person, psychotic person, religious person, retired person, scholarly person, self-employed person, selfish person, shy person, sick person, silent person, slavic people, sleepless person, small person, spanish people, stateless person, street person, stupid person, swiss people, thin person, uneducated person, unemotional person, unemployed person, unfortunate person, ungrateful person, unkind person, unperson, unskilled person, unsuccessful person, unusual person, unwelcome person, very important person, visually impaired person

F.4 Row 2a (47 entries that have -man and -woman markers)

-man

airman, assemblyman, beggarman, bionic man, bondsman, bondsman, bondsman, bond-

man, clansman, committeeman, congressman, cornishman, councilman, countryman, countryman, englishman, fancy man, fancy man, freedman, freeman, frenchman, frontiersman, gay man, gentleman, horseman, irishman, juryman, laundryman, madman, newspaperman, nobleman, oarsman, outdoorsman, point man, policeman, scotchman, scotsman, selectman, sportsman, statesman, stunt man, unmarried man, vestryman, washerman, yachtsman, yellow man

-woman

airwoman, assemblywoman, beggarwoman, bionic woman, bondswoman, bondswoman, bondswoman, bondwoman, bondwoman, clanswoman, committeewoman, congresswoman, cornishwoman, councilwoman, countrywoman, countrywoman, englishwoman, fancy woman, fancy woman, freedwoman, freewoman, frenchwoman, frontierswoman, gay woman, gentlewoman, horsewoman, irishwoman, jurywoman, laundrywoman, madwoman, newspaperwoman, noblewoman, oarswoman, outdoorswoman, point woman, policewoman, scotchwoman, scotswoman, selectwoman, sportswoman, stateswoman, stunt woman, unmarried woman, vestrywoman, washerwoman, yachtswoman, yellow woman

F.5 Row 2b (3 entries that have -woman and -person markers)

-woman

disagreeable woman, slovenly woman, unpleasant woman

-person

disagreeable person, slovenly person, unpleasant person

F.6 Row 2c (10 entries that have -man and -person markers)

-man

anchorman, common man, draftsman, holy man, layman, public relations man, rich man, straight man, wealthy man, working man

-person

anchorperson, common person, draftsperson, holy person, layperson, public relations person, rich person, straight person, wealthy person, working person

F.7 Row 3a (15 entries that have -man, -woman and -person markers)

-man

black man, businessman, chairman, counterman, enlisted man, foreman, foreman, kinsman, married man, newsman, old man, salesman, spokesman, white man, young man

-woman

black woman, businesswoman, chairwoman, counterwoman, enlisted woman, forewoman, forewoman, kinswoman, married woman, newswoman, old woman, saleswoman, spokeswoman, white woman, young woman

-person

black person, businessperson, chairperson, counterperson, enlisted person, foreperson, kinsperson, married person, newsperson, old person, salesperson, spokesperson, white person, young person

G Example Definitions of Entries in Table 11

This appendix provides the example definitions of entries from Table 11.

G.1 Examples from the 50 entries in row (1a)

able-bodied seaman: a seaman in the merchant marine; trained in special skills

able seaman: a seaman in the merchant marine; trained in special skills

backwoodsman: a man who lives on the frontier bagman: a salesman who travels to call on customers

beef man: a man who raises (or tends) cattle best man: the principal groomsman at a wedding career man: a man who is a careerist

cattleman: a man who raises (or tends) cattle coachman: a man who drives a coach (or carriage) cow man: a man who raises (or tends) cattle

dirty old man: a middle-aged man with lecherous inclinations

divorced man: a man who is divorced from (or separated from) his wife

elevator man: a man employed to operate an elevator

family man: a man whose family is of major importance in his life

ferryman: a man who operates a ferry

G.2 Examples from the 11 entries in row (1b)

charwoman: a human female employed to do housework

cleaning woman: a human female employed to do housework

comfort woman: a woman forced into prostitution for Japanese servicemen during World War II foolish woman: a female fool

honest woman: a wife who has married a man with whom she has been living for some time (especially if she is pregnant at the time)

kept woman: an adulterous woman; a woman who has an ongoing extramarital sexual relationship with a man

lollipop woman: a woman hired to help children cross a road safely near a school

loose woman: a woman adulterer

washwoman: a working woman who takes in washing

widow woman: a woman whose husband is dead especially one who has not remarried

wonder woman: a woman who can be a successful wife and have a professional career at the same time

G.3 Examples from the 47 entries in row (2a)

airman: someone who operates an aircraft airwoman: a woman aviator

assemblyman: someone who is a member of a legislative assembly assemblywoman: a woman assemblyman

oarsman: someone who rows a boat oarswoman: a woman oarsman

policeman: a member of a police force policewoman: a woman policeman

statesman: a man who is a respected leader in national or international affairs stateswoman: a woman statesman

G.4 Examples from the 3 entries in row (2b)

disagreeable woman: a woman who is an unpleasant person

disagreeable person: a person who is not pleasant or agreeable

slovenly woman: a dirty untidy woman

slovenly person: a coarse obnoxious person

unpleasant woman: a woman who is an unpleasant person

unpleasant person: a person who is not pleasant or agreeable

G.5 Examples from the 2 entries in row (2c)

rich man: a man who is wealthy rich person: a person who possesses great material wealth

wealthy man: a man who is wealthy

wealthy person: a person who possesses great material wealthy

G.6 Examples from the 15 entries in row (3a)

businessman: a person engaged in commercial or industrial business (especially an owner or executive)

businesswoman: a female businessperson

businessperson: a capitalist who engages in industrial commercial enterprise

newsman: a person who investigates and reports or edits news stories

newswoman: a female newsperson

newsperson: a person who investigates and reports or edits news stories

Generating Gender Alternatives in Machine Translation

Sarthak Garg[§], Mozhdeh Gheini^{*¶}, Clara Emmanuel[§], Tatiana Likhomanenko[§], Qin Gao^{†§}, Matthias Paulik^{†§}

[§]Apple Inc.

Abstract

Machine translation (MT) systems often translate terms with ambiguous gender (e.g., English term "the nurse") into the gendered form that is most prevalent in the systems' training data (e.g., "enfermera", the Spanish term for a female nurse). This often reflects and perpetuates harmful stereotypes present in society. With MT user interfaces in mind that allow for resolving gender ambiguity in a frictionless manner, we study the problem of generating all grammatically correct gendered translation alternatives. We open source train and test datasets for five language pairs and establish benchmarks for this task. Our key technical contribution is a novel semi-supervised solution for generating alternatives that integrates seamlessly with standard MT models and maintains high performance without requiring additional components or increasing inference overhead.

1 Introduction and Related Work

Gender¹ biases present in train data are known to bleed into natural language processing (NLP) systems, resulting in dissemination and potential amplification of those biases (Sun et al., 2019). Such biases are often also the root cause of errors. A machine translation (MT) system might, for example, translate doctor to the Spanish term médico (masculine) instead of médica (feminine), given the input "The doctor asked the nurse to help her in the procedure" (Stanovsky et al., 2019). To avoid prescribing wrong gender assignment, MT systems need to disambiguate gender through context. When the correct gender cannot be determined through context, providing multiple translation alternatives that cover all valid gender choices is a reasonable approach.

Numerous prior works have focused on producing correctly gendered translations given contextual gender "hints", such as "to help her" in the example above (Stanovsky et al., 2019; Saunders and Byrne, 2020; Stafanovičs et al., 2020; Costa-jussà et al., 2022; Saunders et al., 2022; Renduchintala et al., 2021; Bentivogli et al., 2020; Currey et al., 2022). In contrast, the problem of generating all valid and grammatically correct gendered translations has seen far less attention (Kuczmarski and Johnson, 2018; Johnson, 2020; Sánchez et al., 2023).

Consider the example: "The secretary was angry with the boss." The gender of both *secretary* and *boss* remain ambiguous in the absence of additional context: both entities can take either gender. However, and to the best of our knowledge, all existing approaches (Kuczmarski and Johnson, 2018; Johnson, 2020; Sánchez et al., 2023; Rarrick et al., 2023) for producing different gendered translations operate on "sentence-level", instead of on "entity-level": they only allow two sentence-level alternatives to surface, in which both *secretary* and *boss* are either masculine or feminine:

- secretary, boss: El secretario estaba enojado con el jefe.²
- secretary, boss: La secretaria estaba enojada con la jefa.

In this work, we introduce a novel approach that operates on entity-level, i.e., it generates four alternatives corresponding to all grammatically valid combinations of gender choices for both entities:

- secretary, boss: El secretario estaba enojado con el jefe.
- secretary, boss: El secretario estaba enojado con la jefa.
- secretary, boss: La secretaria estaba enojada con el jefe.
- secretary, boss: La secretaria estaba enojada con la jefa.

When integrated with a proper user interface, our approach provides users with the freedom to choose gender for each entity. We posit that any such system should meet the following practical quality criteria, making the problem challenging:

^{*}Work done during an internship at Apple.

[†]Equal senior contribution.

¹"gender" in this work refers to binary grammatical gender, and not social gender (male, female, nonbinary). Please refer to §Limitations for a detailed discussion.

²Gendered translations in Spanish. Brown and teal represent masculine and feminine genders respectively.

- Alternatives should not be produced when the gender can be inferred from the sentence context, e.g., "She is a boss" should only produce the feminine translation "Ella es una jefa".
- All alternatives should maintain grammatical gender agreement. Phrases like "El secretaria" or "secretaria estaba enojado" should not be produced as they break gender agreement by using different gendered forms for the same entity.
- Alternatives should differ *only* in gender inflections and not general wording, formality, etc., as any such differences can potentially encode bias.

This paper presents several key contributions towards studying the task of generating entity-level alternatives, meeting the above quality criteria:

- Producing entity-level alternatives for n genderambiguous entities requires generating 2^n different translations. We propose an efficient approach that reduces the problem to generating a *single* structured translation where "gendersensitive phrases" are grouped together and aligned to corresponding ambiguous entities.
- We open source train datasets ³ for this task for 5 language pairs and establish supervised baselines. We extend an existing test set for this task: GATE (Rarrick et al., 2023) from 3 to 6 language pairs and open source the extended set.
- We develop a semi-supervised approach that leverages pre-trained MT models or large language models (LLMs) for data augmentation. Models trained on augmented data outperform the supervised baselines and can also generalize to language pairs not covered in the train sets.

2 Entity-Level Gender Alternatives

Our key insight for efficiently generating entitylevel gender alternatives is to reduce the problem to generating a single translation with embedded *gender structures* and their *gender alignments*.

Consider our previous example: "The secretary was angry with the boss." We want to generate the following entity-level alternatives:

• secretary, boss: El secretario estaba enojado con el jefe.

Since we constraint the alternatives to only differ in gender inflections, we can instead produce a single translation with gender-sensitive phrases grouped together as gender structures, shown in ():

 $\left(\begin{array}{c} El \; secretario \\ La \; secretaria \end{array} \right) \; estaba \left(\begin{array}{c} enojado \\ enojada \end{array} \right) \; con \; \left(\begin{array}{c} el \; jefe \\ la \; jefa \end{array} \right)$

All alternatives can be derived from this single translation by choosing either the masculine or feminine form in each gender structure. However, doing this naively can give us invalid alternatives that break gender agreement, for example:

```
El secretario estaba enojada con el jefe
```

(El secretario) and (enojado enojada) correspond to the same entity *secretary* and cannot have different gender choices. By having gender alignments between each gender structure in the translation and its corresponding gender-ambiguous entity in the source, we can deduce which gender structures are linked together and need to be consistent with each other.

Let $x = x_1 \dots x_n$ be the source sentence containing *n* tokens and let $G_a \subseteq \{1 \dots n\}$ represent the set of indices of gender-ambiguous entities in *x*. We aim to produce a translation y_S :

$$y_S = y_1 \dots \begin{pmatrix} M_1 \\ F_1 \end{pmatrix} \dots \begin{pmatrix} M_k \\ F_k \end{pmatrix} \dots y_m, \qquad (1)$$

containing a set of gender structures $S = \{S_1 \dots S_k\}$ where $S_i \coloneqq \begin{pmatrix} M_i \\ F_i \end{pmatrix}$ is the *i*th gender structure. Translation y_S is a sequence of two types of elements: $\{y_1 \dots y_m\} = y_S \setminus S$ are regular tokens that do not change based on the gender of any entity in G_a and M_*/F_* are the masculine and feminine inflected forms of the phrases that do change based on the gender of an entity in G_a . Gender alignments can then be formally defined as a oneto-many mapping from G_a to S. An ambiguous entity is aligned to a gender structure $\begin{pmatrix} M \\ F \end{pmatrix}$ iff the correct inflection form (M or F) in the translation depends on the gender of the entity. In our example, secretary is aligned to (El secretario), (enojado enojado), and boss is aligned to $\binom{\text{el jefe}}{\text{la jefa}}$. Given the translation with gender structures y_S and gender alignments, alternatives corresponding to any combination of gender assignments of ambiguous entities can be easily derived as follows: for all ambiguous entities with male gender assignment, choose the male form for their aligned gender structures. Similarly, for all entities with female assignments, choose the female form for their aligned gender structures.

[•] secretary, boss: El secretario estaba enojado con la jefa.

[•] secretary, boss: La secretaria estaba enojada con el jefe.

[•] secretary, boss: La secretaria estaba enojada con la jefa.

³https://github.com/apple/ ml-gendered-translation

Source annotations	Target annotations	Alignment annotations
The lawyer fought to keep his child,	1.11	
who is a gangster, safe from the judge .	El abogado luchó para mantener a su $\binom{h10}{1}$,	child $\rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} hijo \\ 1 \\ \cdots \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} un \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$
lawyer \rightarrow Masculine	(nija)	(nija) (una)
child \rightarrow Gender-Ambiguous	que es $\binom{un}{v}$ gángster a salvo $\binom{del juez}{v}$	index $\rightarrow (\frac{\text{del juez}}{\text{del juez}})$
judge \rightarrow Gender-Ambiguous	de la jueza).	de la jueza)

Table 1: English–Spanish annotation example. *lawyer*, *child* and *judge* are the annotated entities. *child* and *gangster* refer to the same entity and *child* is selected as the head-word. *lawyer* is marked as masculine because of the co-referring pronoun *his* and is translated to the masculine form: *El abogado*. *child* and *judge* are gender-ambiguous leading to gender structures in the translation (middle column) and gender alignments (rightmost column).

3 Datasets

To build and evaluate systems producing alternatives, we prepare train and test sets containing gender structures and gender alignment annotations.

3.1 Test data

We evaluate our models on a combination of two existing test sets that test complementary aspects:

- GATE (Rarrick et al., 2023) has source sentences with at least 1 and at most 3 gender-ambiguous entities with their entity-level alternatives satisfying our quality criteria. It evaluates the system on cases where alternatives *should* be produced.
- MT-GenEval (Currey et al., 2022) contains sentences with entities whose gender can be inferred from the sentence context and are not ambiguous. This set is helpful for evaluating cases where alternatives *should not* be produced.

These two test sets have different annotation formats and guidelines. In order to unify them, we ask annotators to review and post-edit existing annotations using the following guidelines:

- 1. **Marking gendered words**: First, all words in the source referring to entities (people/animals) that can have masculine or feminine grammatical genders are marked.
- 2. Gender ambiguity annotation: Next, if multiple words refer to the same entity, a head word is selected among them. We guided the annotators to pick the one that acts the most like the subject as the head word. For each head word, if its gender can be inferred from the grammatical context, such as co-referring male/female pronouns, it is marked as such. If no gender can be inferred, the gender is marked as ambiguous. We only rely on grammatical sentence context and not on external knowledge/common gender associations of names/proper nouns. Appendix B discusses how our annotation guidelines handle the problem of masculine generics (Piergentili et al., 2023a), where masculine nouns/pronouns

can be used to refer to ambiguous or collective entities.

3. Gender aware translation: Finally, we ask the annotators to translate the source sentence. Entities without any ambiguity must be translated into the correct gender. If the translation depends on the gender of the ambiguous entities in the source, gender structures and gender alignments are annotated.

Table 1 explains the process with the help of an example annotation. We prepare this unified test set for 6 language pairs: English to German, French, Spanish, Portuguese, Russian, and Italian.⁴

3.2 Train data

We open source train data containing samples in the same format as the test set to ensure reproducibility and to encourage development of supervised/semisupervised systems for producing alternatives. In contrast to the test sets, which are created via human annotation, we rely on an automatic data augmentation approach (see Appendix C for details) to create train data at scale. The source sentences for the train sets are sampled from Europarl (Koehn, 2005), WikiTitles (Tiedemann, 2012), and Wiki-Matrix (Schwenk et al., 2021) corpora. The train data are partitioned into two different sets:

- **G-Tag** contains source sentences with head words for all entities with their gender ambiguity label: Masc., Fem. or Ambiguous.
- **G-Trans** contains gender-ambiguous entities in the source sentences, gender structures in the translations and gender alignments.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first large-scale corpus that contains gender ambiguities and how they effect gendered forms in the translation. We release these sets for 5 language pairs: English to German, French, Spanish, Portuguese, and Russian. G-Tag contains $\sim 12k$ sentences and

⁴We extend the original GATE corpus, which only includes English to Spanish, French, and Italian.

G-Trans contains $\sim 50k$ sentence pairs per language pair. Detailed statistics of the train and test sets can be found in Appendix A.

4 Training MT Models to Generate Gender Structures and Alignments

We first present how to train MT models that produce gender structures and alignments, assuming parallel data enriched with gender structures and alignments (for example, G-Trans) is available. We then describe a novel data augmentation pipeline that can enrich any regular parallel corpora with gender structures and alignments.

Given a source sentence $x = \{x_1 \dots x_n\}$, translation y_S containing gender structures, and gender alignments A, we want to train the MT model to generate $y_S, A|x$. Let's assume that y_S contains kgender structures and $A = \{a_1 \dots a_k\}$ where a_i represents the source token aligned to the i^{th} gender structure. We serialize each gender structure in y_S into a sequence of tokens as follows:

$$\begin{pmatrix} M \\ F \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \text{BEG M MID F END}$$

where BEG, MID, and END are special tokens. The model is then trained to produce gender structures in the form of this sequence.

Garg et al. (2019) introduced a technique to train MT models to jointly generate translations and word-alignments. We use their approach to learn generation of gender alignments. Let $m_1 \dots m_k$ denote the positions of the MID tokens of the gender structures. A specific cross-attention head is chosen and supervised to learn gender alignments. Let n and m denote the lengths of the source and the serialized target respectively and let $P_{m \times n}$ denote the attention probability distribution computed by the selected head. We train the model with regular cross entropy and an additional *alignment loss*:

$$L = L_{\text{cross-ent}} - \frac{\lambda}{k} \sum_{i=1}^{k} log(P_{m_i, a_i})$$

where λ is a scaling factor. This added loss term encourages the attention head to place more probability mass on the aligned source token when generating the MID token belonging to that token's gender structure. During inference, the gender alignment for the *i*th gender structure can be computed as:

$$a_i = \operatorname*{argmax}_{s \in \{x_1 \dots x_n\}} P_{m_i,s}$$

This model can generate gender structures and alignments without any additional inference overhead. Then, using the procedure described in section 2, all entity-level alternatives can be easily derived from the model outputs.

5 Data Augmentation Pipeline

G-Trans dataset provides supervised data to train MT models in the above manner. However, this dataset is small (50k examples per language pair) and has a restrictive domain, limiting the quality of the trained models. We propose a *data augmentation* pipeline that can take any regular parallel corpora (containing high quality but potentially biased translations) and augment the translations with gender structures and alignments whenever there are ambiguities in the source.

Al	gorithm	1	Data	Augmentation	Overview
	a				

Input: $x = \{x_1 \dots x_n\}$ (source sentence) and $y_B = \{y_1 \dots y_m\}$ (reference translation without gender structures, potentially biased)

▷ Step 1: Detect set of gender-ambiguous entities G_a in the source sentence: $G_a \subseteq \{1 ... n\}$ $G_a \leftarrow \text{GenderAmbiguousEntities}(x)$ if $G_a = \phi$ then Output: x, y_B, ϕ end if

 \triangleright Step 2: Transform y_B into an all-masculine y_M and all-feminine y_F translations

 $\begin{array}{l} y_M \leftarrow \operatorname{argmax} p(y|x, y_B, \operatorname{gender}(x_i) = \operatorname{male} \forall i \in G_a) \\ y_F \leftarrow \operatorname{argmax} p(y|x, y_B, \operatorname{gender}(x_i) = \operatorname{female} \forall i \in G_a) \end{array}$

 \triangleright Step 3: Combine y_M and y_F into a single translation y_S containing gender structures

Let $y_M = y_1 \dots M_1 \dots y_j \dots M_k \dots y_m$ and Let $y_F = y_1 \dots F_1 \dots y_j \dots F_k \dots y_m$ where y_* are the common tokens between y_M and y_F and $\{(M_i, F_i) \mid i \in 1 \dots k\}$ be the k differing phrases. $y_S \leftarrow \operatorname{group}(y_M, y_F) = y_1 \dots {M_1 \choose F_1} \dots {M_k \choose F_k} \dots y_m$ \triangleright **Step 4:** Align each gender structure $S_i \coloneqq {M_i \choose F_k}$ to its

▷ Step 4: Align each gender structure $S_i := \binom{r}{F_i}$ to its corresponding ambiguous entity in G_a $A \leftarrow \text{ComputeGenderAlignments}(x, y_S)$ Output: x, y_s, A

Algorithm 1 gives an overview of the main components of the pipeline, which we describe in detail in the following subsections. It consists of first detecting gender-ambiguous entities in the source sentence (§5.1), followed by transforming the reference translation into all-masculine/all-feminine translations (§5.2, §5.3), condensing those into single translation with gender structures, and finally aligning the gender structures (§5.4).

	Source	Target			
G-Trans dataset	The doctor was angry with the patient doctor \rightarrow Gender-Ambiguous patient \rightarrow Gender-Ambiguous	$\binom{\text{El doctor}}{\text{La doctora}}$ estaba $\binom{\text{enojado}}{\text{enojada}}$ con $\binom{\text{el}}{\text{la}}$ paciente			
Fine-tuning bi-text	The doctor <m> was angry with the patient<m> The doctor<f> was angry with the patient<f> The doctor<m> was angry with the patient<f> The doctor<f> was angry with the patient<m></m></f></f></m></f></f></m></m>	<i>El doctor</i> estaba <i>enojado</i> con <i>el</i> paciente <i>La doctora</i> estaba <i>enojada</i> con <i>la</i> paciente <i>El doctor</i> estaba <i>enojado</i> con <i>la</i> paciente <i>La doctora</i> estaba <i>enojada</i> con <i>el</i> paciente			

Table 2: Extracting bi-text for fine-tuning from the G-Trans dataset. Each gender-ambiguous token is suffixed with a gender assignment tag: $\langle M \rangle / \langle F \rangle$. With the help of alignments (shown via color coding), the correct gender inflection is selected in the translation. n ambiguous entities can result in 2^n different assignments, but we only keep "all-masculine", "all-feminine", and a maximum of 3 other randomly sampled assignments.

5.1 Detecting gender-ambiguous entities

Traditionally, rule-based methods, which rely on dependency parsing and co-reference resolution, are used to detect gender-ambiguous entities in the source sentence (Rarrick et al., 2023; Habash et al., 2019). In contrast, we adopt a data-driven approach. G-Tag dataset contains English source sentences annotated with head-words, which refer to entities with their gender label derived from the grammatical sentence context: ambiguous, masculine, feminine. Following Alhafni et al. (2022), we fine-tune a (BERT-style) pre-trained language model (PLM) using this dataset to tag each source token with one of the four labels: ambiguous, masculine, feminine, or not a headword.

5.2 Generating all-masculine/feminine translations using fine-tuned MT models

If ambiguous entities are detected in the source sentence, then the next step is to transform the high-quality but potentially biased reference translation y_B to all-masculine y_M and all-feminine y_F translations. y_M and y_F are equivalent to sentence-level alternatives corresponding to masculine and feminine assignments for all ambiguous entities, respectively. We explore two methods for this task: fine-tuning pre-trained MT models (this subsection) and using LLMs (subsection 5.3).

We fine-tune a pre-trained MT model M on a bitext extracted from the G-Trans dataset. The source sentences of this bi-text contain ambiguous entities tagged as masculine or feminine using $\langle M \rangle / \langle F \rangle$ tags, and the target translation has correct gender inflections given the gender tags. Table 2 explains this extraction process in detail using an example.

The fine-tuned model $M_{\text{fine-tuned}}$ learns to generate translations with gender inflections in agreement with the gender assignments ($\langle M \rangle / \langle F \rangle$) in the source. We use Saunders and Byrne (2020)'s lattice rescoring approach to generate y_M and y_F . Let x_M and x_F denote source sentences in which all ambiguous entities (G_a) have been tagged using <M> and <F> tags, respectively. Let $I(y_B)$ represent the search space consisting only of all possible gender inflection variants of y_B . $M_{\text{fine-tuned}}$ is used to decode y_M and y_F over the constrained search space $I(y_B)$:

$$y_M = \operatorname*{argmax}_{y \in I(y_B)} p_{M_{\text{fine-tuned}}}(y|x_M)$$
$$y_F = \operatorname*{argmax}_{y \in I(y_B)} p_{M_{\text{fine-tuned}}}(y|x_F)$$

This can be done efficiently using constrained beam search. This procedure guarantees that y_M , y_F , and y_B differ only in terms of gender inflections, and therefore, y_M and y_F possess the same general translation quality as the reference translation y_B .

In-Context Example(s)	English input: That is not what the taxpayers and consumers of Europe want. Base Spanish translation: No es eso lo que quieren los contribuyentes y los consumidores de Europa. Edited Spanish translation (feminine taxpayers, feminine consumers): No es eso lo que quieren las contribuyentes y las consumidoras de Europa. Edited Spanish translation (masculine taxpayers, masculine consumers): No es eso lo que quieren los contribuyentes y los consumidores de Europa.			
Test Input	English input: $\{x\}$ Base Spanish translation: $\{y_B\}$ Edited Spanish translation ({feminine $i \ \forall i \in G_a$ }):			
LLM Output	$\{y_F\}$ Edited Spanish translation ({masculine <i>i</i> ∀ <i>i</i> ∈ <i>G</i> _{<i>a</i>} }): $\{y_M\}$			

Figure 1: Prompting LLMs using in-context examples to edit the reference translation y_B into all-masculine and all-feminine gender assignments. Multiple in-context examples are used but we illustrate only one here for brevity.

5.3 Generating all-masculine/feminine translations using LLMs

LLMs' ability to learn using in-context examples (Brown et al., 2020) provides us with an alternative approach for generating y_M and y_F . We

can provide selected instances from G-Trans as incontext examples in the prompt to the LLM and have it generate output for a test instance (Sánchez et al., 2023). Inspired by re-writing literature (Vanmassenhove et al., 2021; Sun et al., 2021), we design a prompt that treats the LLM as an editor: it edits/re-writes the given translation y_B to match the provided gender assignments (all-masculine and all-feminine) in the prompt (See Figure 1 for an example).

5.4 Aligning gender structures

 y_M and y_F are combined together in Step 3 as described in Algorithm 1 to produce a single translation y_S containing gender structures. The final step is to align each gender structure in y_S to an ambiguous entity in the source. We model this as a tagging task and fine-tune a PLM using alignment annotations in the G-Trans dataset.

Algorithm 2 Alignment Algorithm

Input: $x = \{x_1 \dots x_n\}$ (source sentence) and y_S (translation with k gender structures) Let $y_S = y_1 \dots {\binom{M_1}{F_1}} \dots {\binom{M_k}{F_k}} \dots y_m$ for i^{th} gender structure $S_i := {\binom{M_i}{F_i}}$ do Let | be a special marker token $y_A \leftarrow y_1 \dots M_1 \dots |M_i| \dots M_k \dots y_m$ $a_i \leftarrow \text{PLM}(x; y_A) \qquad \triangleright$; denotes concatenation end for Output: $A = \{a_i, \forall i \in 1 \dots k\}$

Each gender structure is aligned one-by-one as described in Algorithm 2. To align the i^{th} gender structure S_i , we take y_M and enclose the phrase corresponding to S_i by a special token | to get y_A . Then x and y_A are concatenated together and fed to the PLM, which is fine-tuned to tag all the tokens in x as aligned/not-aligned to S_i (See Figure 5 in the Appendix for an example). The gold aligned/notaligned labels for fine-tuning are extracted from the G-Trans dataset.

6 Evaluation Metrics

We evaluate our systems' performance using the following metrics:

• Alternatives metrics: These metrics compute the overlap between the set of sentences that have alternatives in the test set and the set of sentences for which the system produces alternatives. This overlap is measured using precision and recall and gives a sense of how often the system produces alternatives and whether it produces them only when needed.

- **Structure metrics**: These metrics are computed over the set of sentences for which both the test set and system output contain alternatives. They measure the quality of the generated alternatives by computing the overlap between the gender structures in the reference alternatives and the generated alternatives. The overlap is measured using precision and recall.
- Alignment accuracy: This is measured as the % of gender structures that are aligned to the correct source entity and reflects the quality of gender agreement in the generated alternatives.
- δ -BLEU: Lastly, following Currey et al. (2022), to measure the degree of bias towards a gender, we compute δ -BLEU as follows: We separate the masculine and feminine forms in gender structures (if any) for the reference and the system output, compute masculine and feminine BLEU scores (using sacrebleu (Post, 2018)), and measure the absolute difference between the two:

$$\delta$$
-BLEU = |BLEU(\hat{y}_m, y_m) - BLEU(\hat{y}_f, y_f)|

Higher δ -BLEU indicates more bias. Mathematical definitions of alternatives and structure metrics can be found in Appendix K.

7 Experiments and Results

We will first describe the experimental details and results of our data augmentation pipeline in 7.1 and 7.2. We then present the training details of the MT model generating alternatives end-to-end and how it benefits from data augmentation in 7.3 and 7.4.

7.1 Data augmentation pipeline details

The data augmentation pipeline consists of three components: detecting gender-ambiguous entities, generating all-masculine/feminine translations and aligning gender structures.

We build the ambiguous entity detector (§5.1) by fine-tuning xlm-roberta-large (Conneau et al., 2020) using transformers (Wolf et al., 2020). We use the combined G-Tag dataset across all 5 language pairs for fine-tuning.

To generate all-masculine/feminine translations, we explore two approaches: fine-tuning pre-trained MT models (§5.2), and using LLMs (§5.3). For the first approach, we fine-tune the M2M 1.2B (Fan et al., 2021) model using fairseq (Ott et al., 2019). The model is fine-tuned jointly on bi-text

Language Pair	Model	Alternatives Precision%	Metrics ↑ Recall%	δ -BLEU \downarrow	Structure N Precision%	∕letrics ↑ Recall%	Alignment ↑ Accuracy%
	Fine-tuned M2M	94	89.7	4.7	87.8	91	93.7
En–De	GPT	91.1	92.7	2.8	89.8	94	
En Ec	Fine-tuned M2M	95.7	91.6	3.3	88.1	93	91.5
EII-ES	GPT	91.5	93.7	2.7	84.7	92.7	
En Er	Fine-tuned M2M	93.8	92.5	3.6	88.1	92.9	02.0
LII-I'I	GPT	89.4	91	2.8	85.8	94.8	92.9
En Dt	Fine-tuned M2M	94.8	94.3	3.5	88.3	92.4	03.6
Lii–i t	GPT	93.8	83.5	5.5	89.6	95.2	95.0
En Du	Fine-tuned M2M	89.4	89.3	5.7	87	87.7	93.2
Lii–Ku	GPT	83.5	58.2	10.6	83.1	85	
En-It	Fine-tuned M2M	95.4	87.9	8.2	79.4	75.3	94.1

Table 3: Data augmentation pipeline results. \uparrow indicates higher-the-better and \downarrow lower-the-better metrics.

extracted from the G-Trans dataset (as described in Table 2) for all 5 language pairs. The list of gender inflections used for lattice rescoring is collected from Wiktionary (Ylonen, 2022) and inflections present in the G-Trans train and test sets.

For the second approach, we use gpt-3.5-turbo as our LLM and follow the prompt design described in subsection 5.3 with 6 in-context examples. We provide additional ablation studies on the number of in-context examples, different prompt designs, and choice of LLM (gpt vs. OpenLlama-v2-7B (Geng and Liu, 2023)) in Appendix F. We find that using more in-context examples helps, but gains are minimal for > 6. Since LLM decoding does not use lattice rescoring, it is possible that the generated all-masculine/feminine translations differ in more than just gender inflections. To avoid this, we explicitly check the differences and don't generate gender structures if the differences don't match any entry in the list of gender inflections.

Lastly, to align gender structures we fine-tune xlm-roberta-large on source, targets, and gender alignments extracted from the G-Trans dataset jointly for all 5 language pairs. The hyper-parameters for fine-tuning XLM and M2M models are decided based on validation performance on a held-out portion of the train sets and can be found in Appendices D, E and G.

7.2 Data augmentation pipeline results

The data augmentation pipeline takes source sentences and their reference translations (without gender structures, potentially biased) as inputs. For evaluating the data augmentation pipeline, we feed in the source sentences and their all-masculine reference translations from the test set as inputs. The pipeline returns these translations augmented with gender structures and alignments. We can then compute the evaluation metrics described in section 6 on the generated gender structures and alignments. Table 3 summarizes the results.

Both M2M and GPT perform mostly on par with the exception of English-Russian, where GPT achieves much lower alternatives recall (58.7 compared to 89.3). The quality of generated gender structures is better for GPT on English-German and English-Portuguese and better for M2M on English-Spanish and English-Russian, as can be seen from the structure metrics. Note that we don't have any G-Trans data for English-Italian, so the results of the M2M model and the alignment accuracy on English-Italian are purely due to zero-shot generalization of M2M and XLM models (Johnson et al., 2017). Overall, the zero-shot results are comparable to others in terms of alternatives metrics and alignment accuracy but fall behind on structure metrics. The alignment model performs well obtaining > 91% accuracy on all language pairs.

 δ -BLEU depends on both alternatives and structure metrics and can be used as a single metric to compare systems' performance. Overall, GPT wins in terms of not relying on any fine-tuning dataset and better performance on English to German, Spanish, and French. Fine-tuning M2M wins in terms of achieving better results on English to Portuguese and Russian and being much more efficient in terms of parameters and inference cost (M2M 1.2B can be fit on a single A100 GPU).

Finally, Table 5 compares the performance of our data augmentation pipeline using M2M against GATE's sentence-level gender re-writer on their setup. We use our pipeline to re-write an all-masculine reference into an all-feminine form $(M \rightarrow F)$ and vice-versa $(F \rightarrow M)$. More details about
Language Pair	Model	Alterr Metr P%	atives ics ↑ R%	δ -BLEU \downarrow	Strue Meta P%	cture rics↑ R%	Alignment Accuracy ↑ %	FLoRes BLEU ↑
	Vanilla	-	-	8.6	-	-	-	31.6
En–De	Supervised	74.4	71.5	2.4	55.2	57.5	89.1	31.9
	w/ Augmented Data	86.7	87.5	0.8	48.2	55.6	94.2	31.6
	Vanilla	-	-	10.4	-	-	-	26
En–Es	Supervised	78.9	77.3	2.8	60.5	60.6	85.2	25.9
	w/ Augmented Data	94.3	92	1	62 .4	66.4	92.5	26
	Vanilla	-	-	8.1	-	-	-	46.3
En–Fr	Supervised	74.5	67.8	3.1	60.7	61.7	82.1	44.9
	w/ Augmented Data	87.3	86.7	0.8	59	67.3	92.5	45.8
	Vanilla	-	-	12.5	-	-	-	44.6
En-Pt	Supervised	83.4	82.6	3.1	60	60.9	86.9	43.7
	w/ Augmented Data	92.2	94.4	1.1	59.5	63.5	94.2	44.1
	Vanilla	-	-	5.3	-	-	-	25.6
En–Ru	Supervised	70.6	54.5	2.4	42	39.5	83.7	26.4
	w/ Augmented Data	80.7	77.2	1.5	37.6	39.8	91	24.9
En It	Vanilla	-	-	11.6	-	-	-	27.9
LII–It	w/ Augmented Data	93.7	89.4	3.2	53	50.9	94.6	27.6

Table 4: End-to-end MT model results. P and R denote precision and recall respectively.

LP	Direction	Model	P%	R%	F0.5
	M	GATE	95	40	0.75
En–Es	101-71	Ours	89.6	69.2	0.85
	F→M	GATE	97	50	0.82
		Ours	94.5	73.7	0.89
	M⊸F	GATE	91	27	0.62
En Er	101-71	Ours	89.3	72.5	0.85
LII-I'I	F→M	GATE	97	28	0.65
		Ours	96.1	79.3	0.92
	M⊸F	GATE	91	32	0.66
En It	101-71	Ours	78.7	58.8	0.74
En-It	F→M	GATE	96	47	0.79
		Ours	92	75.1	0.88

Table 5: Comparison of data augmentation pipeline using M2M against GATE on $M \rightarrow F$ and $F \rightarrow M$ rewriting. P and R denote precision and recall.

the setup and evaluation metrics used for this comparison can be found in Appendix I. We see significant improvements in recall at the cost of relatively small degradation in precision (except English-Italian). Our system is able to outperform GATE on their proposed F.5 metric on all 3 language pairs.

7.3 End-to-end MT model details

We train a vanilla multilingual MT model on all 6 language pairs using parallel corpora from Europarl, WikiMatrix, WikiTitles, Multi-UN (Chen and Eisele, 2012), NewsCommentary (Barrault et al., 2019) and Tilde MODEL (Rozis and Skadiņš, 2017). We refer to this as *vanilla bi-text*. We evaluate the models on gender-related metrics using our gender test set. The details of data pre-processing, training, and model architecture can be found in Appendix J.

A straightforward way to adapt this vanilla model to produce gender alternatives is to use domain adaptation methods towards the G-Trans dataset (which contains gender structures and alignments). To this end, we train another MT model with the *vanilla bi-text* plus the G-Trans dataset with a prefixed corpus tag <gender> using the loss and serialization described in section 4. Adding corpus tags when mixing corpora from different domains has proven to be quite effective (Kobus et al., 2017; Caswell et al., 2019; Costajussà et al., 2022). During inference, this tag is used to decode gender alternatives. We treat this model as the supervised baseline.

Finally, we train a third model, this time augmenting the entire *vanilla bi-text* with gender structures and alignments by passing it through our data augmentation pipeline (using M2M since running GPT at scale is cost-prohibitive).

To measure the impact of our approach on general domain translation performance, we evaluate the models on the FLoRes (Costa-jussà et al., 2022) test set. Since FLoRes references don't contain gender structures, we also remove gender structures from the outputs of our models (if any are present) while evaluating against FLoRes. We do so by choosing the gender form which is more probable according to the model: concretely, for every gender structure BEG M MID F END, we choose either M or F depending on which phrase has a higher average token log probability.

7.4 End-to-end MT model results

Table 4 summarizes the results of these models. The vanilla model cannot generate alternatives and shows a huge bias towards generating masculine forms (δ -BLEU ranging from 5.3 to 12.5 points). This bias is greatly reduced by the supervised baseline. The model trained on augmented data further reduces the bias and obtains the best performance in terms of alternative metrics, alignment accuracy, and δ -BLEU. This shows the effectiveness of the data augmentation pipeline. Augmented data also allows us to train a competitive system for English-Italian which lacks supervised data.

Results on general domain translation quality (Column FLoRes BLEU from Table 4) show that compared to the vanilla baseline, the model trained on augmented data suffers no degradation on English to German and Spanish and some degradations (-0.3 to -0.7 BLEU) on Engish to French, Portuguese, Russian and Italian.

8 Conclusion and Future Work

In this work, we study the task of generating entitylevel alternatives when translating a sentence with gender ambiguities into a language with grammatical gender. We open source first train datasets, encouraging future research towards this task, and develop a data augmentation pipeline that leverages pre-trained MT models and LLMs to generate even larger train sets. Finally, we demonstrate that this data can be used effectively to train deploymentfriendly MT models that generate alternatives without any additional inference cost or model components.

Our models and pipeline can enable new translation UIs that support fine-grained gender control and can also find applications in aiding human translators to automatically point out ambiguities and recommend alternative translations.

Future work includes exploring other genderless source languages apart from English (e.g., Chinese, Korean, and Japanese) and associated challenges, as well as extending the approach to non-binary and gender-neutral forms (Lardelli, 2023; Piergentili et al., 2023b; Savoldi et al., 2024).

Bias Statement

This work focuses on the bias a machine translation system can manifest by solely generating one translation from multiple valid ones that exist with respect to grammatical gender when translating from English to a more gendered language, e.g., French. Singling out one translation as such without offering users the ability to modify the output to match the grammatical gender the user intends for each entity causes two categories of harm: representation harm and quality-of-service harm (Madaio et al., 2020; Blodgett et al., 2020). It causes representational harm by reflecting the potential stereotypes that lead to the default translation (e.g., between occupations and gender) and quality-of-service harm by failing the users who need the output in the target language to be in a grammatical gender case other than what is generated by default. Our work advocates and proposes a solution for enabling users to choose from all equally correct translation alternatives.

Limitations

All mentions of "gender" in this work refer to the grammatical gender present in many languages of the world that are not genderless. Grammatical gender in linguistics is distinct from social gender: while grammatical gender is essentially a noun class system, the discussion surrounding social gender (male, female, nonbinary) encompasses a much more complex set of concepts, e.g., social constructs, norms, roles, and gender identities. Building effective solutions that facilitate inclusive conversations on these topics is not only an open problem in NLP, but many fields.

Moreover, the ambiguities in the linguistic grammatical gender are assumed to be, as in most of the gendered languages, binary: masculine and feminine. However, many languages have more grammatical genders (i.e., noun classes): e.g., Worrorra has masculine, feminine, terrestrial, celestial, and collective.

As such, our proposed resources, as presented so far, fall short of generating entity-level genderneutral translations or disambiguation beyond the binary system of masculine/feminine. However, it's noteworthy that our pipeline, paired with suitable data resources, e.g., gender-neutral terms for lattice rescoring, forms a powerful instrument for addressing such more challenging settings.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Yi-Hsiu Liao, Hendra Setiawan, and Telmo Pessoa Pires for their contributions and discussions through different stages of the project, Matthias Sperber, António Luís Vilarinho dos Santos Lopes, and USC ISI's CUTELAB-NAME members for their constructive feedback on the paper drafts, and the whole Machine Translation team at Apple for their support for the project.

References

- Bashar Alhafni, Nizar Habash, and Houda Bouamor. 2022. User-centric gender rewriting. In *Proceedings* of the 2022 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, pages 618–631, Seattle, United States. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Loïc Barrault, Ondřej Bojar, Marta R. Costa-jussà, Christian Federmann, Mark Fishel, Yvette Graham, Barry Haddow, Matthias Huck, Philipp Koehn, Shervin Malmasi, Christof Monz, Mathias Müller, Santanu Pal, Matt Post, and Marcos Zampieri. 2019. Findings of the 2019 conference on machine translation (WMT19). In Proceedings of the Fourth Conference on Machine Translation (Volume 2: Shared Task Papers, Day 1), pages 1–61, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Luisa Bentivogli, Beatrice Savoldi, Matteo Negri, Mattia A. Di Gangi, Roldano Cattoni, and Marco Turchi. 2020. Gender in danger? evaluating speech translation technology on the MuST-SHE corpus. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 6923– 6933, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé III, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Language (technology) is power: A critical survey of "bias" in NLP. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 5454– 5476, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tom Brown, Benjamin Mann, Nick Ryder, Melanie Subbiah, Jared D Kaplan, Prafulla Dhariwal, Arvind Neelakantan, Pranav Shyam, Girish Sastry, Amanda Askell, Sandhini Agarwal, Ariel Herbert-Voss, Gretchen Krueger, Tom Henighan, Rewon Child, Aditya Ramesh, Daniel Ziegler, Jeffrey Wu, Clemens Winter, Chris Hesse, Mark Chen, Eric Sigler, Mateusz Litwin, Scott Gray, Benjamin Chess, Jack Clark, Christopher Berner, Sam McCandlish, Alec Radford, Ilya Sutskever, and Dario Amodei. 2020. Language models are few-shot learners. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, volume 33, pages 1877–1901. Curran Associates, Inc.
- Isaac Caswell, Ciprian Chelba, and David Grangier. 2019. Tagged back-translation. In *Proceedings of the Fourth Conference on Machine Translation (Volume*

1: Research Papers), pages 53–63, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Yu Chen and Andreas Eisele. 2012. MultiUN v2: UN documents with multilingual alignments. In *Proceedings of the Eighth International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC'12)*, pages 2500–2504, Istanbul, Turkey. European Language Resources Association (ELRA).
- Alexis Conneau, Kartikay Khandelwal, Naman Goyal, Vishrav Chaudhary, Guillaume Wenzek, Francisco Guzmán, Edouard Grave, Myle Ott, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2020. Unsupervised cross-lingual representation learning at scale. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 8440– 8451, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Marta R. Costa-jussà, James Cross, Onur Çelebi, Maha Elbayad, Kenneth Heafield, Kevin Heffernan, Elahe Kalbassi, Janice Lam, Daniel Licht, Jean Maillard, Anna Sun, Skyler Wang, Guillaume Wenzek, Al Youngblood, Bapi Akula, Loïc Barrault, Gabriel Mejia Gonzalez, Prangthip Hansanti, John Hoffman, Semarley Jarrett, Kaushik Ram Sadagopan, Dirk Rowe, Shannon Spruit, Chau Tran, Pierre Andrews, Necip Fazil Ayan, Shruti Bhosale, Sergey Edunov, Angela Fan, Cynthia Gao, Vedanuj Goswami, Francisco Guzmán, Philipp Koehn, Alexandre Mourachko, Christophe Ropers, Safiyyah Saleem, Holger Schwenk, and Jeff Wang. 2022. No language left behind: Scaling human-centered machine translation. CoRR, abs/2207.04672.
- Marta R. Costa-jussà, Carlos Escolano, Christine Basta, Javier Ferrando, Roser Batlle, and Ksenia Kharitonova. 2022. Interpreting gender bias in neural machine translation: Multilingual architecture matters. *Proceedings of the AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, 36(11):11855–11863.
- Anna Currey, Maria Nadejde, Raghavendra Reddy Pappagari, Mia Mayer, Stanislas Lauly, Xing Niu, Benjamin Hsu, and Georgiana Dinu. 2022. MT-GenEval: A counterfactual and contextual dataset for evaluating gender accuracy in machine translation. In Proceedings of the 2022 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 4287–4299, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Angela Fan, Shruti Bhosale, Holger Schwenk, Zhiyi Ma, Ahmed El-Kishky, Siddharth Goyal, Mandeep Baines, Onur Celebi, Guillaume Wenzek, Vishrav Chaudhary, Naman Goyal, Tom Birch, Vitaliy Liptchinsky, Sergey Edunov, Edouard Grave, Michael Auli, and Armand Joulin. 2021. Beyond english-centric multilingual machine translation. J. Mach. Learn. Res., 22(1).
- Sarthak Garg, Stephan Peitz, Udhyakumar Nallasamy, and Matthias Paulik. 2019. Jointly learning to align

and translate with transformer models. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 4453-4462, Hong Kong, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Xinyang Geng and Hao Liu. 2023. Openllama: An open reproduction of llama.
- Thamme Gowda, Zhao Zhang, Chris Mattmann, and Jonathan May. 2021. Many-to-English machine translation tools, data, and pretrained models. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing: System Demonstrations, pages 306–316, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Nizar Habash, Houda Bouamor, and Christine Chung. 2019. Automatic gender identification and reinflection in Arabic. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing, pages 155-165, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- A scalable approach to Melvin Johnson. 2020. reducing gender bias in google translate. https: //blog.research.google/2020/04/ html. Accessed: 2024-01-28.
- Melvin Johnson, Mike Schuster, Quoc V. Le, Maxim Krikun, Yonghui Wu, Zhifeng Chen, Nikhil Thorat, Fernanda Viégas, Martin Wattenberg, Greg Corrado, Macduff Hughes, and Jeffrey Dean. 2017. Google's multilingual neural machine translation system: Enabling zero-shot translation. Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics, 5:339–351.
- Catherine Kobus, Josep Crego, and Jean Senellart. 2017. Domain control for neural machine translation. In Proceedings of the International Conference Recent Advances in Natural Language Processing, RANLP 2017, pages 372-378, Varna, Bulgaria. INCOMA Ltd.
- Philipp Koehn. 2005. Europarl: A parallel corpus for statistical machine translation. In Proceedings of Machine Translation Summit X: Papers, pages 79–86, Phuket, Thailand.
- James Kuczmarski and Melvin Johnson. 2018. Genderaware natural language translation.
- Taku Kudo. 2018. Subword regularization: Improving neural network translation models with multiple subword candidates. In Proceedings of the 56th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 66–75, Melbourne, Australia. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Manuel Lardelli. 2023. Gender-fair translation: a case study beyond the binary. Perspectives, 0(0):1-17.

- Michael A. Madaio, Luke Stark, Jennifer Wortman Vaughan, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Codesigning checklists to understand organizational challenges and opportunities around fairness in ai. In Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI '20, page 1-14, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Myle Ott, Sergey Edunov, Alexei Baevski, Angela Fan, Sam Gross, Nathan Ng, David Grangier, and Michael Auli. 2019. fairseq: A fast, extensible toolkit for sequence modeling. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Demonstrations), pages 48–53, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Andrea Piergentili, Dennis Fucci, Beatrice Savoldi, Luisa Bentivogli, and Matteo Negri. 2023a. Gender neutralization for an inclusive machine translation: from theoretical foundations to open challenges. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender-Inclusive Translation Technologies, pages 71-83, Tampere, Finland. European Association for Machine Translation.
- Andrea Piergentili, Beatrice Savoldi, Dennis Fucci, Matteo Negri, and Luisa Bentivogli. 2023b. Hi guys or hi a-scalable-approach-to-reducing-gender folks? benchmarking gender-neutral machine translation with the GeNTE corpus. In Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 14124–14140, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
 - Matt Post. 2018. A call for clarity in reporting BLEU scores. In Proceedings of the Third Conference on Machine Translation: Research Papers, pages 186-191, Brussels, Belgium. Association for Computational Linguistics.
 - Spencer Rarrick, Ranjita Naik, Varun Mathur, Sundar Poudel, and Vishal Chowdhary. 2023. Gate: A challenge set for gender-ambiguous translation examples. In Proceedings of the 2023 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society, AIES '23, page 845-854, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
 - Adithya Renduchintala, Denise Diaz, Kenneth Heafield, Xian Li, and Mona Diab. 2021. Gender bias amplification during speed-quality optimization in neural machine translation. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 2: Short Papers), pages 99–109, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
 - Roberts Rozis and Raivis Skadinš. 2017. Tilde MODEL - multilingual open data for EU languages. In Proceedings of the 21st Nordic Conference on Computational Linguistics, pages 263-265, Gothenburg, Sweden. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Eduardo Sánchez, Pierre Andrews, Pontus Stenetorp, Mikel Artetxe, and Marta R. Costa-jussà. 2023. Gender-specific machine translation with large language models. *CoRR*, abs/2309.03175.
- Danielle Saunders and Bill Byrne. 2020. Reducing gender bias in neural machine translation as a domain adaptation problem. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 7724–7736, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Danielle Saunders, Rosie Sallis, and Bill Byrne. 2022. First the worst: Finding better gender translations during beam search. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL 2022*, pages 3814– 3823, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Beatrice Savoldi, Andrea Piergentili, Dennis Fucci, Matteo Negri, and Luisa Bentivogli. 2024. A prompt response to the demand for automatic gender-neutral translation. In *Proceedings of the 18th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers)*, pages 256–267, St. Julian's, Malta. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Holger Schwenk, Vishrav Chaudhary, Shuo Sun, Hongyu Gong, and Francisco Guzmán. 2021. Wiki-Matrix: Mining 135M parallel sentences in 1620 language pairs from Wikipedia. In Proceedings of the 16th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Main Volume, pages 1351–1361, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Artūrs Stafanovičs, Toms Bergmanis, and Mārcis Pinnis. 2020. Mitigating gender bias in machine translation with target gender annotations. In *Proceedings of the Fifth Conference on Machine Translation*, pages 629–638, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Gabriel Stanovsky, Noah A. Smith, and Luke Zettlemoyer. 2019. Evaluating gender bias in machine translation. In *Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 1679–1684, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tony Sun, Andrew Gaut, Shirlyn Tang, Yuxin Huang, Mai ElSherief, Jieyu Zhao, Diba Mirza, Elizabeth Belding, Kai-Wei Chang, and William Yang Wang. 2019. Mitigating gender bias in natural language processing: Literature review. In Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 1630–1640, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tony Sun, Kellie Webster, Apurva Shah, William Yang Wang, and Melvin Johnson. 2021. They, them, theirs: Rewriting with gender-neutral english. *CoRR*, abs/2102.06788.

- Jörg Tiedemann. 2012. Parallel data, tools and interfaces in opus. In *Proceedings of the Eight International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC'12)*, Istanbul, Turkey. European Language Resources Association (ELRA).
- Hugo Touvron, Thibaut Lavril, Gautier Izacard, Xavier Martinet, Marie-Anne Lachaux, Timothée Lacroix, Baptiste Rozière, Naman Goyal, Eric Hambro, Faisal Azhar, Aurélien Rodriguez, Armand Joulin, Edouard Grave, and Guillaume Lample. 2023. Llama: Open and efficient foundation language models. *CoRR*, abs/2302.13971.
- Eva Vanmassenhove, Chris Emmery, and Dimitar Shterionov. 2021. NeuTral Rewriter: A rule-based and neural approach to automatic rewriting into gender neutral alternatives. In *Proceedings of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 8940–8948, Online and Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Thomas Wolf, Lysandre Debut, Victor Sanh, Julien Chaumond, Clement Delangue, Anthony Moi, Pierric Cistac, Tim Rault, Remi Louf, Morgan Funtowicz, Joe Davison, Sam Shleifer, Patrick von Platen, Clara Ma, Yacine Jernite, Julien Plu, Canwen Xu, Teven Le Scao, Sylvain Gugger, Mariama Drame, Quentin Lhoest, and Alexander Rush. 2020. Transformers: State-of-the-art natural language processing. In Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing: System Demonstrations, pages 38–45, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tatu Ylonen. 2022. Wiktextract: Wiktionary as machine-readable structured data. In *Proceedings* of the Thirteenth Language Resources and Evaluation Conference, pages 1317–1325, Marseille, France. European Language Resources Association.

A Dataset details



Figure 2: Number of examples v.s. number of ambiguous entities in the test set.

Detailed train data statistics are listed in Table 6. Detailed test set statistics are shown in Table 7 and Figure 2.

We had to get the annotations in GATE and MT-GenEval reviewed and post-edited from human annotators because their annotation guidelines differ from ours in the following respects:

• GATE defines a gender-ambiguous entity as an entity whose gender cannot be inferred from the grammatical sentence context *and* whose gender can influence changes in the translation. This second requirement makes this definition of *ambiguous entity* dependent on the target language/translation. E.g., in "I am going to the market", despite the gender of *I* being ambiguous, it would not be marked as an ambiguous entity for English-Spanish, since the Spanish translation does not change based on the gender of *I*. The same entity would be marked as an ambiguous entity in case of English-Hindi where the translation changes based on the gender of *I*.

In our definition of an ambiguous entity, we drop the second requirement, making it independent of the translation and the target language. This enables us to train an ambiguity tagger solely on the Engish source sentences which can be used for any English-X language pair. This, however, forces us to re-annotate the GATE corpus.

• MT-GenEval corpus contains source sentences with annotated entities whose gender can be inferred as masculine/feminine from the sentence context. This provides a valuable test-bed for catching false positive gender alternatives. However, we found that $\sim 50\%$ of source sentences also contain one or more ambiguous entities which have not been annotated. Therefore we re-annotate the MT-GenEval corpus as well to mark such entities.

Upon the deanonymized publication of this work, we plan to release the datasets under CC BY-SA license.

B Problem of masculine generics during gender ambiguity annotation

It is fairly common to use masculine gendered words to refer to ambiguous entities. In administrative and legal text, masculine gendered words have been used to refer to collection of people (Piergentili et al., 2023a) for e.g. "A judge must certify that **he** has familiarized **himself** with...". It is a complex problem to ascertain whether *he* refers to a masculine individual or a group of (ambiguous gendered) people at large.

In our annotation guidelines we informed the annotators that entities shouldn't be marked as masculine solely because of masculine generic nouns like *actor*, *sportsmen*. However no special guidelines were provided around the trickier case of masculine generic pronouns (*he*, *himself* as shown in the example above)

C Synthetically generated train data

We used human annotation to collect primary versions of G-Trans and G-Tag datasets (gender train sets) using the annotation process described in subsection 3.1. However, we are unable to release these "human-annotated" sets publicly due to legal and proprietary data restrictions. To make our approach and results reproducible to the community, we instead plan to release "synthetically generated sets" generated as follows: we trained our data augmentation pipeline (described in section 5) on the "human-annotated" training sets and then ran the data augmentation pipeline on corpora mentioned subsection 3.2. We then sampled the G-Trans and G-Tag datasets from the pipeline results and use them throughout our work.

D Gender-ambiguous entity detector

The gender-ambiguous entity detector is fine-tuned using the following hyper-parameters:

Dataset	Statistic	En-De	En-Es	En-Fr	En-Pt	En-Ru
	Sentences	11.7	13.5	13.3	13.3	10.3
G-Tag	Ambiguous entities	13.8	14	13.2	14.6	11.3
	Masculine entities	7.4	7.8	7.6	7.9	6.6
	Feminine entities	6.1	7	6.7	7	5.6
G-Trans	Sentences	49.4	49.6	49.7	49.6	48.8
	Ambiguous entities	69.3	74.7	69.1	73.9	64.1
	Gender structures	77.5	81.7	77.6	83.1	72.5

Table 6: Train set statistics: All numbers are *in thousands*. We sample about 12k sentences for the G-Tag dataset, roughly containing 2:1:1 ratio of ambiguous, masculine and feminine entities. About 50k sentence pairs with ambiguous entities and gender structures are sampled for the G-Trans dataset.

Language		No. of sentences w	ntences with				
Pair	Total	1+ Ambiguous entities	1+ gender structures				
En-De	3038	2765	2118				
En-Es	1407	1147	972				
En-Fr	1564	1292	1006				
En-Pt	3083	2764	2435				
En-Ru	3083	2765	1847				
En-It	1312	1018	858				

Table 7: Test set statistics: About 80 - 90% sentences contain at least one gender-ambiguous entity, out of which about 60 - 80% contain gender structures in the reference.

- batch size: 64
- epochs: 2
- learning rate: 2e-5
- tokenizer: intl from sacrebleu library
- subword model: default xlm-roberta-large tokenizer
- output labels: <A> (ambiguous), <M> (masculine), <F> (feminine), <N> (not an entity)
- linear tagging layer: 1024×4
- Architecture hyper-parameters can be found by loading xlm-roberta-large using AutoModelForTokenClassification in transformers.
- The tagging loss is applied only on the first subword of each token. The prediction for each token is computed based on the label output for the first sub-word.
- We fine-tune all the parameters of the pre-trained model along with the added linear layer.
- All reported results are gathered from a single run.

Table 8 summarizes the results of the detector on tagging entities of different genders.

E Generating all-masculine/feminine translations by finetuned-M2M model

We fine-tuned a pre-trained M2M-1.2B model with the following hyper-parameters:

- batch size: 8192
- learning rate: 3e-5
- encoder layerdrop: disabled
- decoder layerdrop: disabled
- Rest of the hyper-parameters are the same as the pre-trained model.
- We fine-tune for a total of 40000 steps and select the best checkpoint based on loss on a held out validation set.
- We use the sub-word model and dictionaries of the pre-trained M2M model. However, we add gender assignment tags (<M> and <F>) as new entries in the dictionary and train their embeddings from scratch.
- We use a beam size of 5 while decoding allmasculine/feminine translations using latticerescoring.
- All reported results are gathered from a single run.

F Ablation studies on generating using LLMs

We study the effect of three factors on the effectiveness of LLMs for generating allmasculine/feminine translations as part of our data augmentation process: number of in-context examples, prompt design, and choice of LLM.

F.1 Number of in-context examples

In our preliminary experiments, we found using at least four in-context examples to be necessary for our task, with performance starting to plateau thereafter (see the chart below in Figure 3). We use six in-context examples in the rest of the experiments.

Language	Ambiguous	s Entities	Masculine	Entities	Feminine Entities		
Pair	Precision%	Recall%	Precision%	Recall%	Precision%	Recall%	
En-De	93.1	91.4	72.5	83.0	74.7	84.2	
En-Es	89.8	86.6	70.3	82.3	74.8	83.6	
En-Fr	90.3	88.1	69.0	80.0	70.0	80.7	
En-Pt	93.1	91.4	70.6	84.4	73.2	87.8	
En-Ru	93.2	91.3	71.7	83.9	73.6	84.0	
En-It	92.1	89.2	72.3	84.4	72.0	85.7	

Table 8: Results of tagging different gendered entities by the XLM based tagger.

Language	ЦМ	Dromating View	Alternatives	Metrics ↑	Structure N	Metrics↑			
Pair	LLM	Prompting view	Precision%	Recall%	Precision%	Recall%			
	CDT	Generator	91.5	81.8	73.2	74.8			
En Do	UFI	Editor	89.4	86.1	73.9	76			
EII-De	OpenI LeMA	Generator	91.5	26.6	48.2	41.4			
	OpenLLaMA	Editor	92.5	47.8	43.4	37.6			
En–Es -	CDT	Generator	90.3	87.9	60.4	66.4			
	GPT	Editor	91.6	92.4	63.5	69.5			
	OpenI LaMA	Generator	67.5	7.9	31.1	26.9			
	OpenLLaWA	Editor	91.4	34	52.9	40.7			
	CDT	Generator	87.4	82.3	69.4	77			
En Er	GPT	Editor	88.1	86.8	63.8	Metrics $^{\uparrow}$ Recall% 74.8 76 41.4 37.6 66.4 69.5 26.9 40.7 77 75.7 28 52.3 66.8 66.6 32 43.6 45.1 49.4 8.4 21.4			
	OpenI LaMA	Generator	54.6	5.3	24.7	28			
	OpenLLaMA	Editor	85.9	32.8	58.4	52.3			
	CDT	Generator	94	78.1	66	66.8			
En Pt	UFI	Editor	92.8	79.8	63.3	66.6			
	OpenI LaMA	Generator	89.7	11.8	46.6	32			
	OpenLLawiA	Editor	93.7	44.8	54	43.6			
	CPT	Generator	83.9	61.8	45.9	45.1			
En Du	UFI	Editor	80.1	55.3	48.8	Recall% Recall% 74.8 76 41.4 37.6 66.4 69.5 26.9 40.7 77 75.7 28 52.3 66.8 66.6 32 43.6 45.1 49.4 8.4 21.4			
En-Ku	OpenI LeMA	Generator	67.6	6.4	8.9	8.4			
	OpenilLawiA	Editor	79.1	12.1	27.4	21.4			

Table 9: LLM Ablation Results.



Figure 3: Ablation on the number of in-context examples. We use the GPT's alternative recall on English–Spanish as an exemplar. Per this results, we use six in-context examples for prompting.

F.2 Choice of LLM and prompt design

In addition to GPT (gpt-3.5-turbo), we also experiment with OpenLLaMA (OpenLlama-v2-7B) (Geng and Liu, 2023), an open reproduction of LLaMA (Touvron et al., 2023). We find these two to vary in overall performance and robustness to different kinds of prompts.

Specifically, besides the prompt design discussed in the main text, which has the LLM *edit* an existing translation to satisfy the provided grammatical gender requirements, we also experiment with an additional design: given the input and the grammatical gender requirements, we have the LLM generate the translation from scratch (Figure 4). We call the former the editor-view prompting, and the latter the generator-view prompting.

In editor-view prompting, the base translation can be sourced in any number of ways, including using the reference translation, as we did in subsection 7.2. However, to make the study between editor-view and generator-view fair and make sure reference translations do not give any advantage to the editor-view, we first prompt the LLM for base translations (first call) and then have it edit those (second call). This effectively breaks the task of generating gender alternatives down to two separate tasks for LLMs: translation, and then editing.

In-Context Example(s)	English input: That is not what the taxpayers and consumers of Europe want. Spanish translation (feminine taxpayers, feminine consumers): No es eso lo que quieren las contribuyentes y las consumidoras de Europa. Spanish translation (masculine taxpayers, masculine consumers): No es eso lo que quieren los contribuyentes y los consumidores de Europa.
Test Input	English input: $\{x\}$ Spanish translation ({feminine $i \forall i \in G_a$ }):
↓ Output	$\{y_F\}$ Spanish translation ({masculine $i \forall i \in G_a$ }): $\{y_M\}$

Figure 4: Prompting LLMs using in-context examples to generate translations with all-masculine and all-feminine gender assignments from scratch.

Table 9 reports and compares the results of prompting each of the two LLMs we experiment with, using each of the two prompt designs we use. All reported results are gathered from a single run. GPT, expectedly, outperforms OpenLLaMA. And while both generally benefit from breaking down the task under the editor-view (and perform better under editor-view than under generator-view), OpenLLaMA conspicuously profits more. Specifically, OpenLLaMA's alternative recall under the generator-view suggests that it fails to generate alternatives following the in-context examples. However, under the editor-view, it is able to follow the in-context examples more. The wider gap between the performance of OpenLLaMA under the two prompting approaches compared to that of GPT, shows that for our task, it's far less robust to different prompt designs.

G Aligning gender-ambiguous entities

We fine-tune an xlm-roberta-large model for aligning gender structures to their corresponding ambiguous entities using the following hyperparameters:

- epochs: 1
- output labels: 1(aligned), 2 (not-aligned)
- linear tagging layer: 1024×2
- Rest of the hyper-parameters are same as the gender-ambiguous entity detector (Appendix D).
- All reported results are gathered from a single run.

Figure 5 shows an example of input and output when aligning a gender structure.

H Running data augmentation pipeline on outputs of M2M and GPT

In this work we focus on running the data augmentation pipeline over parallel corpora to enrich them with gender structures and gender alignments. However, the pipeline can also be run over *any translation* system to generate entity-level gender alternatives. Table 10 shows the results when the data augmentation pipeline is run over translations from the pre-trained M2M and GPT models.

The pipeline uses fine-tuned M2M when run over translations from the M2M model and the editor-view prompting using GPT when run over translations from GPT. We can see that both M2M and GPT have large bias towards producing masculine translations (δ -BLEU values ranging from 6.5 to 12.7 points). The data augmentation pipeline has multiple components and much higher inference cost than the end-end student model, but can produce higher quality gender alternatives when compared to the end-end model (Table 4 vs. Table 10).

I Comparison against GATE

For the comparison against GATE in Table 5, we use exactly the same setup and metrics (Precision/Recall/F0.5) from Rarrick et al. (2023). We evaluate our data augmentation pipeline on the gender re-writing task. Let's consider the $M \to F$ rewriting case: Given a source sentence with ambiguous entities, the task is to re-write an all-masculine reference translation into an all-feminine reference translation. A system might not output a re-write (in case it fails to detect any ambiguous entities or if the re-written output is the same as the input) or it might actually do a re-write. If the system performs a re-write, it's classified as correct if the re-write matches the all-feminine reference translation exactly. If there is any difference between the two, then the re-write is classified as incorrect. Given these definitions, the Precision and Recall is defined as:

$$Precision = \frac{number of correct re-writes}{number of attempted re-writes}$$
$$Recall = \frac{number of correct re-writes}{total number of examples}$$

J End-to-end MT model to generate alternatives

We extract the bi-text used for training end-to-end models using mtdata (Gowda et al., 2021). We



Figure 5: This figure shows an example of aligning the gender structure $\begin{pmatrix} El \text{ doctor} \\ La \text{ doctora} \end{pmatrix}$. The model is fine-tuned to classify the source tokens as being aligned (1) or not-aligned (0) to this gender structure.

Language	Model	Alternatives Metrics↑		BLEU			Structure Metrics↑		
Pair		Precision%	Recall%	Masc.↑	Fem.↑	$\delta\downarrow$	Precision%	Recall%	
	M2M	-	-	46.8	36.6	10.2	-	-	
En_De	+ Data Augmentation	92.5	82.8	46.9	45.7	1.2	64.7	64.2	
	GPT	-	-	53.8	41.4	12.4	-	-	
	+ Data Augmentation	89.4	86.1	53.8	52.7	1.1	73.9	76	
	M2M	-	-	47.3	37	10.3	-	-	
En Es	+ Data Augmentation	95.8	91.3	47.5	46.5	1	63.2	64	
	GPT	-	-	51.8	40.4	11.4	-	-	
	+ Data Augmentation	91.6	92.4	51.5	50.4	1.1	63.5	69.5	
	M2M	-	-	50	41.5	8.5	-	-	
En Er	+ Data Augmentation	90.7	84	52.4	48.8	3.6	54.5	67.6	
	GPT	-	-	58.5	48.4	10.1	-	-	
	+ Data Augmentation	88.1	86.8	58.3	57	1.3	63.8	75.7	
	M2M	-	-	49.2	36.9	12.3	-	-	
En Dt	+ Data Augmentation	94.1	94.2	49.2	48.3	0.9	59.1	60.1	
	GPT	-	-	54.1	40.6	13.5	-	-	
	+ Data Augmentation	92.8	79.8	54.2	51.5	2.7	63.3	66.6	
	M2M	-	-	29.2	22.7	6.5	-	-	
En Du	+ Data Augmentation	86.9	81.1	29.3	27.9	1.4	44.6	42.3	
En–Ku	GPT	-	-	31.8	24.1	7.7	-	-	
	+ Data Augmentation	80.1	55.3	31.3	28.2	3.1	48.8	49 .4	
En It	M2M	-	-	46.8	34.1	12.7	-	-	
En–lt	+ Data Augmentation	95.9	84.6	47	43.3	3.7	54.7	50.9	

Table 10: Results of the data augmentation pipeline applied to vanilla translations produced by pre-trained M2M and GPT models.

use sentencepiece (Kudo, 2018) to learn a vocabulary of size 36000 tokens. We remove sentence pairs with lengths ≥ 400 sentencepiece tokens or exceeding a token ratio of 1: 3. We train all end-toend models using the following hyper-parameters:

- batch size: 458752
- decoder layers: 20
- decoder layers: 3
- lr: 7e-4
- We supervise an attention head in second from the bottom decoder layer. The scaling factor λ for the alignment loss is set to 0.05.
- embedding dim: 512
- shared encoder-decoder and input-output embeddings
- learning rate: 3e-5
- All reported results are gathered from a single run.

The end-end models produce gender structures without any constraints. This can result in gender structures containing phrases that differ in more than just gender inflections. To avoid this, we explicitly check the gender structures against our collected list of gender inflections and retain only those structures which pass the check.

K Evaluation Metrics

The alternatives metrics compute the sentence level precision and recall of generating alternatives. Let I(b) denote an indicator function:

$$\mathbf{I}(b) = \begin{cases} 1 & b = \text{True} \\ 0 & b = \text{False} \end{cases}$$

and given a sentence x, let $\phi(x)$ check whether x contains gender structures:

$$\phi(x) = \begin{cases} \text{True} & x \text{ contains gender structures} \\ \text{False} & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Let y and \hat{y} denote the reference from the test set and the system hypothesis respectively, then alternatives precision and recall can be defined as follows:

$$Precision = \frac{\sum_{y,\hat{y}} \mathbf{I}(\phi(y) \land \phi(\hat{y}))}{\sum_{\hat{y}} \mathbf{I}(\phi(\hat{y}))}$$
$$Recall = \frac{\sum_{y,\hat{y}} \mathbf{I}(\phi(y) \land \phi(\hat{y}))}{\sum_{y} \mathbf{I}(\phi(y))}$$

We compute structure metrics over the subset Swhere both references and system outputs contain gender structures, i.e. $S = \{(y, \hat{y}) \mid \phi(y) \land \phi(\hat{y}) =$ True}. Over S, we compute the following statistics:

- Total structures: total number of gender structures present in y for (y, ŷ) ∈ S.
- Predicted structures: total number of gender structures present in ŷ for (y, ŷ) ∈ S
- Correct structures: total number of gender structures which are present in both y and ŷ for (y, ŷ) ∈ S

We can then compute structure precision and recall as follows:

$$Precision = \frac{Correct structures}{Predicted structures}$$
$$Correct structures$$

 $Recall = \frac{Concerculation}{Total structures}$

Beyond Binary Gender Labels: Revealing Gender Biases in LLMs through Gender-Neutral Name Predictions

Zhiwen You^{1*}, HaeJin Lee^{1*}, Shubhanshu Mishra²,

Sullam Jeoung¹, Apratim Mishra¹, Jinseok Kim³, Jana Diesner^{1,4}

¹ University of Illinois Urbana-Champaign ² https://shubhanshu.com

³ University of Michigan - Ann Arbor ⁴ Technical University of Munich

¹ {zhiweny2, haejin2, sjeoung2, apratim3}@illinois.edu

 2 mishra@shubhanshu.com 3 jinseokk@umich.edu 4 jana.diesner@tum.de

Abstract

Name-based gender prediction has traditionally categorized individuals as either female or male based on their names, using a binary classification system. That binary approach can be problematic in the cases of gender-neutral names that do not align with any one gender, among other reasons. Relying solely on binary gender categories without recognizing genderneutral names can reduce the inclusiveness of gender prediction tasks. We introduce an additional gender category, i.e., "neutral", to study and address potential gender biases in Large Language Models (LLMs). We evaluate the performance of several foundational and large language models in predicting gender based on first names only. Additionally, we investigate the impact of adding birth years to enhance the accuracy of gender prediction, accounting for shifting associations between names and genders over time. Our findings indicate that most LLMs identify male and female names with high accuracy (over 80%) but struggle with gender-neutral names (under 40%), and the accuracy of gender prediction is higher for English-based first names than non-English names. The experimental results show that incorporating the birth year does not improve the overall accuracy of gender prediction, especially for names with evolving gender associations. We recommend using caution when applying LLMs for gender identification in downstream tasks, particularly when dealing with non-binary gender labels¹.

1 Introduction

Name-based gender prediction is the task of identifying the most likely gender label for a given name. This task, while not reflective of the true gender identify of the individual, is often useful



Figure 1: Example of an LLM predicting different gender labels over time for the same first name. "Victory" was labeled Male in 1933, and the LLM predicted it correctly. However, by 2016, the name had become predominantly gender-neutral, but the LLM still incorrectly predicted it as Male.

for aggregate downstream analysis and as a demographic feature for predictive models. Prior work has utilized name-based gender prediction to investigate gender bias in scientific productivity, citation practices, information extraction systems, personalized marketing, content recommendation, targeted advertising, gender-based sentiment analysis, and social network analysis (Diesner and Carley, 2009; Ross et al., 2022; Jentzsch and Turan, 2022; Teich et al., 2022; Liu et al., 2023; Larivière et al., 2013; Mishra et al., 2020, 2018; VanHelene et al., 2024). Most prior work has utilized computational tools (e.g., Genderize.io², Namsor³, Gender API⁴, or machine learning (ML) models) or datasets (e.g., US SSN) to assign probabilities of a name (along with other features like demographics, time) likely to be a male or a female. Since name-based gender is used both as a feature in downstream systems and an indicator of demographic representation, it can lead to both measurement bias and representational bias as identified in the framework proposed by

Proceedings of the 5th Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing (GeBNLP), pages 255–268 August 16, 2024 ©2024 Association for Computational Linguistics

^{*}Equal Contribution.

¹Our code is available at https://github.com/ zhiwenyou103/Beyond-Binary-Gender-Labels.

²https://genderize.io/

³https://namsor.app/

⁴https://gender-api.com/

Suresh and Guttag (2021).

A prevalent challenge in contexts utilizing inferred gender is the practice of treating gender as a binary construct, strictly categorizing names as either male or female (Chatterjee and Werner, 2021; Pilkina and Lovakov, 2022). This reliance on binary labels likely stems from historical and societal norms that often only recognize these two categories. Binary representations can reinforce existing gender biases and exclude non-binary and gender-diverse individuals, hindering their representation and understanding (Krstovski et al., 2023; Dinh et al., 2023; Mishra et al., 2018) in algorithm design and data annotation. The presence of gender-neutral names, as defined by Barry III and Harper (2014), further complicates this issue. These names, frequently assigned to both genders, contradict the binary classification system, leading to potential inaccuracies and misrepresentations in data and processes reliant on gender predictions.

This study aims to answer the following research questions to examine one of many aspects of gender biases in LLMs concerning gender prediction, especially for gender-neutral names and gender labels that change over time (Figure 1).

RQ1. How does the performance of autoregressive LLMs versus fine-tuned foundation language models compare when predicting gender categories (i.e., female, male, and neutral) given first names?

RQ2. How does adding the birth year impact gender prediction accuracy?

NOTE: In the context of this research, we are only interested in studying the likelihood of a name being identified as Male, Female, and Neutral. As highlighted in Yee et al. (2021), predictive models cannot be accurate about demographic attributes, and it is best to rely on individual responses to assign sensitive demographic attributes e.g. gender, however, they can be useful at the aggregate level, which is the focus of this work.

2 Related Work

In the gender prediction task, models are trained to predict or classify gender labels based on various input features, such as first or last names, country information, behavioral data, or textual content from social media activity (Liu and Ruths, 2013; Tang et al., 2011; To et al., 2020). Consequently, the accuracy of gender prediction can impact the validity of research findings and derived implication, such as policies. In other words, inaccurate gender prediction can distort results and lead to misunderstandings of gender-related biases. Moreover, the reliance on binary gender categorizations constrains the nuanced understanding of bias and the representation of individuals. Therefore, ensuring accurate and unbiased gender prediction is essential as it can impact the fairness and effectiveness of downstream applications.

Previous studies found prevalent biases in NLPbased gender prediction using gender-predicting software tools (Misa, 2022; Alexopoulos et al., 2023), which failed to appropriately capture the fact that gender exists on a non-binary scale. While most studies of bias in gender prediction relied on binary gender labels (Teich et al., 2022; Liu et al., 2023), some studies have gone beyond binary labels by introducing an additional category for names that were not strictly associated with either female or male genders (Larivière et al., 2013; Mishra et al., 2018; Pinheiro et al., 2022). For instance, Krstovski et al. (2023) categorized names that appeared as both female and male as "gender ambiguous". Additionally, most prior work on gender prediction used names as the only input feature (Jia and Zhao, 2019; Hu et al., 2021; Pham and Nguyen, 2023), while others such as Blevins and Mullen (2015) and Misa (2022) inferred the gender of first names using historical datasets with multilpe features.

Recent advances in deep learning (DL) have produced pre-trained language models like BERT (Devlin et al., 2019), CharBERT (Ma et al., 2020), and RoBERTa (Liu et al., 2019), which have been widely used for gender prediction. For example, Hu et al. (2021) found that using the user's name achieved higher gender prediction accuracy than using other features (e.g., website page views and clicks) in both ML and DL models, while Jia and Zhao (2019) and Pham and Nguyen (2023) demonstrated the effectiveness of BERT-based models for gender prediction for Japanese and Chinese names. Despite these developments, few studies focused on gender prediction using autoregressive models like ChatGPT (OpenAI, 2024a) and Llama 2 (Touvron et al., 2023). The increasing application of LLMs for gender prediction (Kotek et al., 2023; Rhue et al., 2024) underscores the need to evaluate the limitations of LLMs, particularly for genderneutral names. For example, Michelle et al. (2023) used a prompting approach with ChatGPT to predict the gender of Olympic athletes, showing Chat-GPT performed at least as well as common commercial tools (i.e., Gender-API and Namsor) and often outperforms them on a binary gender scale. In this paper, we conducted experiments beyond prior approaches by introducing the gender-neutral label and using three Social Security Administration (SSA) baby name datasets to investigate gender biases by predicting non-binary gender labels.

3 Experiments

This section discussed the datasets, pre-processing, experimental design, and how we compared various models for name-based gender prediction.

3.1 Data

Dataset Pre-processing. We re-used three datasets of first names of children: one from the SSA of the US⁵, one from the province of Alberta, Canada⁶, and one from France⁷. Each dataset included first names, gender (female or male), and birth year. To identify and associate the gender label for each name, we counted how often each name appeared with its associated gender labels (i.e., female or male) and year of birth for a specific year. For example, if the name "Harry" appeared five times as female and 15 times as male in a specific year, we calculated the gender ratios for that year as 25% female and 75% male. Using these ratios, we labeled the first names with the associated gender labels according to the following rule-set: if a first name was at least 10% female and 10% male representation in a given year, we labeled the name as neutral. For first names with at least 85% female representation, we labeled the names as female gender label. Similarly, for the first names with at least 85% male, we labeled the names as male.

Due to the scarcity of gender-neutral names in our relabeled datasets from the 1900s, we needed to balance the number of names by gender to ensure fair comparisons in our experiments. We achieved this by sampling an equal number of female, male, and neutral names each year in the relabeled datasets. Specifically, we randomly selected 300 names per gender for each year from 1914 to 2022 from the US SSA dataset. In the Canada SSA dataset, where gender-neutral names were rare before 2000 (less than five first names per year) but increased in recent years (after 2010), we

First Names	Gender 1 (year)	Gender 2 (year)	Gender 3 (year)
Arlie	Male (1971)	Neutral (1980)	-
Hasani	Neutral (1983)	Male (2000)	-
Neer	Male (2014)	Neutral (2018)	-
CARMEL	Neutral (1920)	Male (1951)	-
FIDELE	Neutral (1918)	Female (1945)	-
Morley	Female (2013)	Neutral (2015)	Female (2017)
Victory	Male (1933)	Female (2000)	Neutral (2016)
Carmin	Male (1924)	Neutral (1958)	Female (2021)

Table 1: Examples of first names that were labeled as different genders over the years.

sampled 273 names per gender for each year from 2013 to 2020. Similarly, the France SSA dataset had few gender-neutral names in the early 1900s. Therefore, we selected 32 names per gender for each year from 1908 to 2022. Additional details on the dataset statistics can be found in Appendix A. We used these balanced datasets for all the experiments in Table 2.

Dynamic gender label datasets. We observed that each balanced SSA dataset included first names labeled with different genders over the years, as shown in Table 1. For example, Victory was recorded as a male name in 1933, a female name in 2000, and as a gender-neutral name in 2016 (Figure 1). To further analyze the gender prediction performance of LLMs on first names with varying gender labels over time, we created a dynamic gender label dataset for each country. We selected first names with dynamic gender labels (i.e. names for which the gender association changes over time) from the test set of each balanced SSA dataset. The dynamic gender label datasets were used in the experiments of Table 3. The distribution of these dynamic gender labels is detailed in Appendix A.

3.2 Gender Prediction Models

We compared several pre-trained foundation language models with a classification head to predict the gender of first names as a multi-class classification task. Additionally, we conducted LLM-based 0-shot and 5-shot experiments to evaluate the performance of LLMs as gender classifiers.

Foundation Language Models. We fine-tuned three widely used foundation language models, i.e., BERT, RoBERTa, and CharBERT, as baselines for name-based gender prediction under the same experimental settings to conduct gender prediction. Model tuning hyper-parameters are detailed in Appendix B.

Large Language Models. We aimed to identify the potential gender bias of LLMs in predicting gender labels given first names (plus birth year).

⁵https://www.ssa.gov/oact/babynames/limits. html

⁶https://ouvert.canada.ca/data/dataset

⁷https://www.insee.fr/fr/statistiques/7633685? sommaire=7635552

		First Name			First Name + Year					
Datasets	Models	Male	Female	Neutral	Acc.	Male	Female	Neutral	Acc.	Avg.
	BERT	84.46	89.30	90.55	88.10	86.64	90.98	91.13	89.58	88.84
	RoBERTa	83.76	87.80	90.00	87.19	85.05	88.53	90.95	88.18	87.69
	CharRoBERTa	84.62	88.81	88.99	87.47	83.55	88.59	91.96	88.03	87.75
115 554	GPT-3.5	91.62	96.70	15.99	68.10	94.68	96.30	14.37	68.45	68.28
00 00/1	Llama 2	1.93	6.42	99.66	36.00	16.48	36.97	90.37	47.94	41.97
	Llama 3	94.80	94.83	13.03	67.55	95.29	95.26	6.09	65.55	66.55
	Mixtral-8x7B	64.62	85.81	53.30	67.91	61.38	78.44	56.42	65.41	66.66
	Claude 3 Haiku	91.50	93.67	30.00	71.72	96.30	93.46	6.97	65.58	68.65
	BERT	70.98	73.21	82.14	75.45	74.11	74.55	74.11	75.15	75.30
	RoBERTa	72.77	75.00	73.66	73.81	67.86	75.00	76.34	73.07	73.44
	CharRoBERTa	71.43	76.34	71.88	73.21	69.20	76.34	74.11	73.21	73.21
Canada SSA	GPT-3.5	82.14	86.61	27.68	65.48	83.93	83.93	28.12	65.33	65.41
Callaua SSA	Llama 2	1.79	11.16	100.00	37.65	0.45	9.82	100.00	36.76	37.21
	Llama 3	87.05	84.38	21.43	64.29	76.79	86.16	28.57	63.84	64.07
	Mixtral-8x7B	50.45	69.64	68.30	62.80	35.27	46.43	90.62	57.44	60.12
	Claude 3 Haiku	78.12	80.80	57.59	72.17	77.68	86.16	32.59	65.48	68.83
	BERT	82.17	84.57	93.04	86.59	82.39	84.78	92.61	86.59	86.59
	RoBERTa	85.22	84.13	90.87	86.74	81.52	86.09	93.04	86.88	86.81
	CharRoBERTa	84.35	80.43	91.30	85.36	83.04	83.04	91.96	86.01	85.69
France SSA	GPT-3.5	89.35	95.65	8.91	64.64	92.61	96.74	8.26	65.87	65.26
Tance SSA	Llama 2	1.96	15.22	91.52	36.23	32.39	55.43	71.96	53.26	44.75
	Llama 3	91.52	94.57	7.17	64.42	92.39	95.87	6.52	64.93	64.68
	Mixtral-8x7B	71.96	88.70	38.04	66.23	68.26	83.26	39.35	63.62	64.93
	Claude 3 Haiku	89.13	93.91	13.70	65.58	96.75	94.78	4.57	65.36	65.47

Table 2: Experimental results for applying foundation language models and LLMs to the test sets of three balanced SSA datasets. We assessed gender prediction performance by calculating an accuracy score for each gender. Acc. represents the overall accuracy across genders. BERT, RoBERTa, and CharRoBERTa were fine-tuned using the training set of each SSA dataset. In contrast, we applied 0-shot prompting to evaluate other LLMs using the test sets.

We used five widely used LLMs for experimentation: GPT-3.5⁸ (OpenAI, 2024b), Llama 2⁹ (Touvron et al., 2023), Llama 3¹⁰ (AI@Meta, 2024), Mixtral-8x7B¹¹ (Jiang et al., 2024), and Claude 3 Haiku¹² (Anthropic, 2024). For more information about these models and the settings we used see Appendix B and Appendix C, respectively.

3.3 Results

RQ1: How does the performance of LLMs versus fine-tuned foundation language models compare in first-name gender prediction? Fine-tuned foundational language models predicted genderneutral first names more accurately than LLMs under 0-shot prompting across all three datasets. As shown in Table 2, out of all models, BERT results in the highest average accuracy for the US

¹¹https://mistral.ai/news/mixtral-of-experts/

¹²https://www.anthropic.com/news/

and Canada dataset, while RoBERTa outperformed BERT on the France dataset. Claude 3 Haiku achieved the highest accuracy among the LLMs with 0-shot prompting on all three datasets. The Llama 2 model did best on identifying genderneutral names (100% accuracy for Canada SSA, 99.66% for US SSA, and 91.52% for France SSA when using only first names as input). Llama 3 demonstrated a more balanced distribution of prediction performance across different gender categories, similar to other LLMs such as GPT-3.5, Mixtral-8x7B, and Claude 3 Haiku. However, most LLMs failed to predict gender-neutral first names in the France SSA dataset compared to the Englishbased datasets, with accuracies of 7.17% for Llama 3, 8.91% for GPT-3.5, and 13.7% for Claude 3 Haiku. To assess the performance of gender prediction in dynamic gender label datasets (see Table 3), we evaluated LLMs in 0-shot and 5-shot settings, using only first names as input. Most LLMs showed higher accuracy in gender prediction when provided with 5 labeled name-gender pairs through in-context learning compared to the 0-shot setting

⁸https://platform.openai.com/docs/models/ gpt-3-5-turbo

⁹https://llama.meta.com/llama2/

¹⁰https://llama.meta.com/llama3/

claude-3-haiku

		First Name					First Name + Year			
Datasets	Models	Male	Female	Neutral	Acc.	Male	Female	Neutral	Acc.	
	GPT-3.5 (0-shot)	86.30	92.39	31.80	55.61	95.21	93.66	3.92	41.94	
	Llama 2 (0-shot)	14.94	33.60	94.23	63.94	47.80	62.12	66.70	61.04	
	Llama 3 (0-shot)	92.53	93.19	11.89	45.80	96.26	93.50	2.02	41.09	
	Mixtral-8x7B (0-shot)	80.84	91.28	32.06	54.15	70.59	92.23	32.49	51.88	
US SSA	Claude 3 Haiku (0-shot)	88.89	91.60	25.85	52.70	96.74	90.97	10.60	45.80	
	GPT-3.5 (5-shot)	84.96	91.92	43.64	62.06	65.33	67.35	4.05	30.06	
	Llama 2 (5-shot)	24.71	50.40	86.17	64.46	36.88	64.98	68.94	59.93	
	Llama 3 (5-shot)	92.82	94.45	13.96	47.27	93.77	95.72	11.33	46.20	
	Mixtral-8x7B (5-shot)	79.79	95.09	16.76	45.60	74.81	90.65	39.55	56.83	
	Claude 3 Haiku (5-shot)	87.45	84.63	39.34	59.06	91.38	88.75	32.36	56.68	
	GPT-3.5 (0-shot)	86.36	78.07	49.08	54.74	97.27	78.95	19.00	30.81	
	Llama 2 (0-shot)	21.82	28.07	98.62	86.01	4.55	8.77	99.82	83.87	
	Llama 3 (0-shot)	92.73	78.07	22.32	33.10	87.27	84.21	13.93	26.22	
	Mixtral-8x7B (0-shot)	67.27	78.95	46.31	50.92	50.00	79.82	60.70	61.47	
Canada SSA	Claude 3 Haiku (0-shot)	88.18	78.95	41.88	49.01	89.09	77.19	43.36	50.15	
	GPT-3.5 (5-shot)	84.55	74.56	56.00	60.02	97.27	80.70	18.82	30.81	
	Llama 2 (5-shot)	22.73	24.56	97.42	84.79	32.73	23.68	87.27	77.14	
	Llama 3 (5-shot)	91.82	79.82	36.62	45.03	82.73	85.96	32.01	40.98	
	Mixtral-8x7B (5-shot)	68.18	77.19	49.17	53.21	68.18	74.56	58.30	60.55	
	Claude 3 Haiku (5-shot)	83.64	64.91	55.26	58.49	90.91	60.53	41.97	47.71	
	GPT-3.5 (0-shot)	78.43	98.31	16.52	34.30	90.20	98.31	3.54	25.84	
	Llama 2 (0-shot)	3.92	35.59	89.38	72.61	27.45	79.66	74.93	70.16	
	Llama 3 (0-shot)	74.51	98.31	4.13	24.50	90.20	98.31	0.00	23.16	
	Mixtral-8x7B (0-shot)	82.35	94.92	14.75	32.96	88.24	94.92	28.91	44.32	
France SSA	Claude 3 Haiku (0-shot)	78.43	94.92	10.62	29.40	88.24	94.92	6.78	27.62	
	GPT-3.5 (5-shot)	78.43	98.31	20.35	37.19	98.04	100.00	5.01	28.06	
	Llama 2 (5-shot)	3.92	33.90	88.20	71.49	13.73	47.46	91.15	76.61	
	Llama 3 (5-shot)	82.35	98.31	9.44	29.40	90.20	100.00	5.01	27.17	
	Mixtral-8x7B (5-shot)	88.24	100.00	13.57	33.41	88.24	94.92	28.91	44.32	
	Claude 3 Haiku (5-shot)	74.51	86.44	41.00	50.78	94.12	96.61	26.25	43.21	

Table 3: Gender prediction results of LLMs using dynamic gender label datasets under 0- and 5-shot settings. We report the gender prediction performance using accuracy for each gender. Acc. denotes the overall accuracy across genders. Appendix D and E provide the prompt templates and prompt robustness evaluation for LLMs.

across all datasets.

RQ2: How does adding the birth year impact gender prediction accuracy? The effectiveness of the input variation (i.e., first name + birth year) varied among different language models. Incorporating birth years as an additional input feature improved the prediction accuracy of foundational language models compared to the first-name-only setting (Table 2). However, most LLMs showed a decline in accuracy when birth years were added, particularly in predicting gender-neutral names. Despite this trend, Mixtral-8x7B consistently improved its prediction accuracy for gender-neutral names across all three datasets by adding birth year information. Similarly, the overall accuracy of Llama 2 increased, with improvements of 12% and 17% in the US and France SSA datasets, respectively.

Additionally, including birth years decreased the accuracy of predicting gender-neutral names in

both 0- and 5-shot settings across all datasets (Table 3), except for the Mixtral-8x7B model, which increased the gender prediction accuracy by adding birth years. The accuracy of GPT-3.5 and Llama 3 in predicting gender-neutral names dropped when adding the birth year among all three datasets.

We observed varying trends in prediction accuracy over time across 5 LLMs (Figure 2). The accuracy of gender prediction using the US SSA dynamic gender label dataset has increased in recent years for most LLMs, including Llama3, Mixtral-8x7B, Claude 3 Haiku, and GPT-3.5. In particular, GPT-3.5 performed better without than with birth years, suggesting that incorporating recent birth year information in the US SSA dataset did not enhance predictive accuracy. The over-time results in Figure 2 indicated that most LLMs were better at predicting the genders of more recent first names. The over-time comparison of the other two datasets was provided in Appendix F.



Llama 3 few shot with year information
Llama 3 zero shot with year information
Llama 3 zero shot without year information

Figure 2: Temporal-level comparison of 5 LLMs using the US SSA dynamic gender label dataset given the results of Table 3. We report the overall accuracy of gender prediction for each year.

4 Discussion

LLMs are poor at accurately predicting gender. Gender bias occurs in LLMs when performing name-based gender predictions, which shows varying performance in predicting non-binary gender labels. Llama 2 categorizes nearly all names as neutral genders, with first names only as input. This tendency may result from Llama 2's training approach, which used reward modeling to promote more inclusive responses, where initial model outputs are adjusted based on human feedback to maximize inclusivenes and factual accuracy (Touvron et al., 2023). The rewarding process allows the model to better align with modern datasets' nuanced and inclusive expectations.

Including temporal information mostly degrades accuracy. When providing dynamic gender label datasets with birth year information, the gender-prediction performance of most LLMs decreased, especially for gender-neutral names. However, Mixtral-8x7B showed an increase in overall accuracy when birth years were added in 0- and 5-shot settings. We hypothesize that Mixtral-8x7B can better use temporal data as a reference for gender prediction because it is trained with more numerical information. Although Llama 2 outperformed other LLMs in predicting gender-neutral names, it exhibited biased prediction results, often classifying most names as gender-neutral. We assume Llama 2's Reinforcement Learning with Human Feedback (RLHF) approach (Touvron et al., 2023) guides the model to generate more inclusive responses. When Llama 2 is unsure about a name's gender, it may default to labeling it as neutral, potentially reducing prediction accuracy for gender-neutral names.

LLMs have worst performance on genderneutral names. We also find that most tested LLMs have more difficulties in predicting genderneutral first names than binary genders, which may stem from the training data of LLMs that primarily includes binary gender labels in the training documents (Touvron et al., 2023). Llama 3, in particular, performed poorly overall across all three datasets with different input variations (i.e., first names with or without birth years). As detailed in Appendix A, the datasets used for dynamically labeling genders were imbalanced, with gender-neutral names being the majority. Specifically, the total numbers of gendered names for the US, Canada, and France SSA datasets were 3,996, 1,308, and 449, respectively, with around 58.1%, 82.9%, and 75.5% being gender-neutral. Consequently, Llama 3 underperformed in overall prediction accuracy compared to other LLMs due to its poor accuracy in predicting neutral genders despite performing better in predicting binary genders.

LLM performance is biased towards recent year patterns. Based on the over-time comparison of the US SSA dataset (Figure 2), we hypothesize that the improved prediction performance of LLMs for recent data can be attributed to the increased volume of training data from recent years. We assume that the training data of LLMs is unbalanced, predominantly consisting of recent data, potentially explaining the higher gender prediction accuracy of LLMs in recent years. The comparison of balanced SSA datasets and dynamic gender label datasets shown in Table 2 and Table 3 indicates that LLMs face challenges not only with predicting gender-neutral names but also with dynamically changing gender associations for the same names. This issue likely originates from the inherent limitations of the pre-training approach and data used in LLMs. These models tend to memorize training data, which lacks inferential capability, rather than adapting well to names with evolving gender labels over time. Overall, most LLMs better predict female names than male names, and the accuracy of gender prediction is higher for English-based first names in the US and Canada SSA datasets than in the France SSA.

Suggestions for practitioners As we have highlighted in this work, LLMs have a biased and inaccurate understanding of names and hence we should be careful about using them for gender inference related tasks, even at an aggregate level. Furthermore, when dealing with temporal and especially historical data, LLM's name-based gender understanding may be limited and hence their usage for aggregated data analysis is likely to lead to incorrect results.

5 Conclusion

This study underscores the limited performance of LLMs as classifiers in predicting gender-neutral names compared to binary genders and the challenges posed by the inherent biases in the datasets used to train LLMs, which may lead to unbalanced gender prediction results. By introducing a "neutral" category, we have taken a step towards more inclusive gender prediction. However, our findings revealed that LLMs may struggle recognizing gender-neutral names, especially for non-English first names. Despite efforts to enhance LLMs' predictive capabilities by including temporal data, there were no meaningful improvements in gender prediction accuracy, especially for gender-neutral names. This suggests a fundamental limitation of current LLMs and training datasets when adapting to the complexities of gender identities. In future studies, we plan to expand our work by using more inclusive gender categories (e.g., cisgender and transgender) to thoroughly assess gender bias in LLMs across various NLP downstream tasks, including sentiment analysis and coreference resolution.

6 Bias Statement

Our study investigates gender bias in LLMs and fine-tuned foundation language models when predicting the gender of names by introducing a "neutral" category alongside the traditional binary classification of male and female gender labels. Traditionally, the binary gender classification system has not accounted for gender-neutral names. This exclusion arises from imbalanced training data and fixed representations of gender (i.e., female and male), causing LLMs to be prone to classify names into binary gender labels.

When using LLMs in name-based gender prediction tasks, they generally consider only two gender labels, thereby restricting the scope of genderrelated analysis. This binary approach perpetuates potential biases in areas associated with fixed gender representations (Liu et al., 2023; Teich et al., 2022), e.g., how male and female authors express sentiment (Jentzsch and Turan, 2022) or how male and female researchers face different challenges in academia (VanHelene et al., 2024). However, this binary labeling of gender overlooks individuals with gender-neutral names, which could encompass both female and male identities, thereby missing valuable insights from a more inclusive perspective. Our work considers more inclusive gender labeling by examining the accuracy of gender-neutral name predictions using LLMs while also providing insights into factors that may lead to biased gender prediction results (i.e., poorer prediction for neutral names compared to binary names) in these models.

Limitations

Our study's limitations are as follows: (1) Our assessment was limited to specific countries, i.e., the US, Canada, and France, not considering a broad spectrum of countries and cultures, particularly in Asia and Africa. This limitation may affect the generalizability of our findings across different cultural and linguistic contexts. (2) The dataset preparation involved a subjective threshold to determine gender-neutral names, defined as names where the gender frequency for both males and females is greater than 10%. This choice may impact the reliability and consistency of the presented findings. (3) The prompt templates employed for interacting with LLMs were not optimized, which may lead to variations in results with different prompt formulations. This indicates a potential variability in LLMs' performance that could impact the robustness of our conclusions, as LLMs are sensitive to prompt design.

References

AI@Meta. 2024. Llama 3 model card.

- Michelle Alexopoulos, Kelly Lyons, Kaushar Mahetaji, Marcus Emmanuel Barnes, and Rogan Gutwillinger. 2023. Gender inference: can chatgpt outperform common commercial tools? *arXiv preprint arXiv:2312.00805*.
- AI Anthropic. 2024. The claude 3 model family: Opus, sonnet, haiku. *Claude-3 Model Card*.
- Herbert Barry III and Aylene S Harper. 2014. Unisex names for babies born in pennsylvania 1990–2010. *Names*, 62(1):13–22.
- Cameron Blevins and Lincoln Mullen. 2015. Jane, john... leslie? a historical method for algorithmic gender prediction. *DHQ: Digital Humanities Quarterly*, 9(3).
- Paula Chatterjee and Rachel M Werner. 2021. Gender disparity in citations in high-impact journal articles. *JAMA Network Open*, 4(7):e2114509–e2114509.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. BERT: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 4171–4186, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jana Diesner and Kathleen M Carley. 2009. He says, she says. pat says, tricia says. how much reference

resolution matters for entity extraction, relation extraction, and social network analysis. In 2009 IEEE Symposium on Computational Intelligence for Security and Defense Applications, pages 1–8. IEEE.

- Ly Dinh, Janina Sarol, Sullam Jeoung, and Jana Diesner. 2023. Are we projecting gender biases to ungendered things? differences in referring to female versus male named hurricanes in 33 years of news coverage. *Computational Communication Research*, 5(1):141.
- Yifan Hu, Changwei Hu, Thanh Tran, Tejaswi Kasturi, Elizabeth Joseph, and Matt Gillingham. 2021. What's in a name?–gender classification of names with character based machine learning models. *Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery*, 35(4):1537–1563.
- Sophie Jentzsch and Cigdem Turan. 2022. Gender bias in bert-measuring and analysing biases through sentiment rating in a realistic downstream classification task. In *Proceedings of the 4th Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing (GeBNLP)*, pages 184–199.
- Jizheng Jia and Qiyang Zhao. 2019. Gender prediction based on chinese name. In Natural Language Processing and Chinese Computing: 8th CCF International Conference, NLPCC 2019, Dunhuang, China, October 9–14, 2019, Proceedings, Part II 8, pages 676–683. Springer.
- Albert Q Jiang, Alexandre Sablayrolles, Antoine Roux, Arthur Mensch, Blanche Savary, Chris Bamford, Devendra Singh Chaplot, Diego de las Casas, Emma Bou Hanna, Florian Bressand, et al. 2024. Mixtral of experts. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2401.04088*.
- Hadas Kotek, Rikker Dockum, and David Sun. 2023. Gender bias and stereotypes in large language models. In *Proceedings of The ACM Collective Intelligence Conference*, pages 12–24.
- Kriste Krstovski, Yao Lu, and Ye Xu. 2023. Inferring gender from name: a large scale performance evaluation study. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2308.12381*.
- Vincent Larivière, Chaoqun Ni, Yves Gingras, Blaise Cronin, and Cassidy R Sugimoto. 2013. Bibliometrics: Global gender disparities in science. *Nature*, 504(7479):211–213.
- Vincent Larivière, Chaoqun Ni, Yves Gingras, Blaise Cronin, and Cassidy R. Sugimoto. 2013. Bibliometrics: Global gender disparities in science. *Nature*, 504(7479):211–213.
- Fengyuan Liu, Petter Holme, Matteo Chiesa, Bedoor AlShebli, and Talal Rahwan. 2023. Gender inequality and self-publication are common among academic editors. *Nature human behaviour*, 7(3):353–364.
- Wendy Liu and Derek Ruths. 2013. What's in a name? using first names as features for gender inference in twitter. In 2013 AAAI spring symposium series.

- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Roberta: A robustly optimized bert pretraining approach. arXiv preprint arXiv:1907.11692.
- Wentao Ma, Yiming Cui, Chenglei Si, Ting Liu, Shijin Wang, and Guoping Hu. 2020. CharBERT: Characteraware pre-trained language model. In Proceedings of the 28th International Conference on Computational Linguistics, pages 39–50, Barcelona, Spain (Online). International Committee on Computational Linguistics.
- Alexopoulos Michelle, Lyons Kelly, Mahetaji Kaushar, Barnes Marcus Emmanuel, and Gutwillinger Rogan. 2023. Gender inference: Can chatgpt outperform common commercial tools? In *Proceedings of the* 33rd Annual International Conference on Computer Science and Software Engineering, pages 161–166.
- Thomas J Misa. 2022. Gender bias in big data analysis. *Information & Culture*, 57(3):283–306.
- Shubhanshu Mishra, Brent D Fegley, Jana Diesner, and Vetle I Torvik. 2018. Self-citation is the hallmark of productive authors, of any gender. *PloS one*, 13(9):e0195773.
- Shubhanshu Mishra, Sijun He, and Luca Belli. 2020. Assessing demographic bias in named entity recognition. In *Proceedings of the KG-BIAS Workshop 2020 at AKBC 2020*.
- OpenAI. 2024a. Chatgpt. https://openai.com/ chatgpt/. Accessed: 2024-05-20.
- OpenAI. 2024b. Gpt-3.5. https://platform. openai.com/docs/models/gpt-3-5-turbo. Accessed: 2024-05-21.
- Duong Tien Pham and Luan Thanh Nguyen. 2023. Gendec: A machine learning-based framework for gender detection from japanese names. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2311.11001*.
- Marina Pilkina and Andrey Lovakov. 2022. Gender disparities in russian academia: A bibliometric analysis. *Scientometrics*, 127(6):3577–3591.
- Henrique Pinheiro, Matt Durning, and David Campbell. 2022. Do women undertake interdisciplinary research more than men, and do self-citations bias observed differences? *Quantitative science studies*, 3(2):363–392.
- Lauren Rhue, Sofie Goethals, and Arun Sundararajan. 2024. Evaluating llms for gender disparities in no-table persons. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2403.09148*.
- Matthew B Ross, Britta M Glennon, Raviv Murciano-Goroff, Enrico G Berkes, Bruce A Weinberg, and Julia I Lane. 2022. Women are credited less in science than men. *Nature*, 608(7921):135–145.

- Harini Suresh and John Guttag. 2021. A framework for understanding sources of harm throughout the machine learning life cycle. In Proceedings of the 1st ACM Conference on Equity and Access in Algorithms, Mechanisms, and Optimization, EAAMO '21, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Cong Tang, Keith Ross, Nitesh Saxena, and Ruichuan Chen. 2011. What's in a name: A study of names, gender inference, and gender behavior in facebook. In Database Systems for Adanced Applications: 16th International Conference, DASFAA 2011, International Workshops: GDB, SIM3, FlashDB, SNSMW, DaMEN, DQIS, Hong Kong, China, April 22-25, 2011. Proceedings 16, pages 344–356. Springer.
- Erin G Teich, Jason Z Kim, Christopher W Lynn, Samantha C Simon, Andrei A Klishin, Karol P Szymula, Pragya Srivastava, Lee C Bassett, Perry Zurn, Jordan D Dworkin, et al. 2022. Citation inequity and gendered citation practices in contemporary physics. *Nature Physics*, 18(10):1161–1170.
- Huy Quoc To, Kiet Van Nguyen, Ngan Luu-Thuy Nguyen, and Anh Gia-Tuan Nguyen. 2020. Gender prediction based on vietnamese names with machine learning techniques. In *Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Natural Language Processing and Information Retrieval*, pages 55–60.
- Hugo Touvron, Louis Martin, Kevin Stone, Peter Albert, Amjad Almahairi, Yasmine Babaei, Nikolay Bashlykov, Soumya Batra, Prajjwal Bhargava, Shruti Bhosale, et al. 2023. Llama 2: Open foundation and fine-tuned chat models. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2307.09288*.
- Alexander D VanHelene, Ishaani Khatri, C Beau Hilton, Sanjay Mishra, Ece D Gamsiz Uzun, and Jeremy Warner. 2024. Inferring gender from first names: Comparing the accuracy of genderize, gender api, and the gender r package on authors of diverse nationality. *medRxiv*, pages 2024–01.
- Kyra Yee, Uthaipon Tantipongpipat, and Shubhanshu Mishra. 2021. Image cropping on twitter: Fairness metrics, their limitations, and the importance of representation, design, and agency. *Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact.*, 5(CSCW2).
- Yongchao Zhou, Andrei Ioan Muresanu, Ziwen Han, Keiran Paster, Silviu Pitis, Harris Chan, and Jimmy Ba. 2022. Large language models are human-level prompt engineers. arXiv preprint arXiv:2211.01910.
- Kaijie Zhu, Jindong Wang, Jiaheng Zhou, Zichen Wang, Hao Chen, Yidong Wang, Linyi Yang, Wei Ye, Neil Zhenqiang Gong, Yue Zhang, et al. 2023. Promptbench: Towards evaluating the robustness of large language models on adversarial prompts. arXiv preprint arXiv:2306.04528.

Datasets	# Names	Year span	Train	Val	Test	Overall
US SSA	300	1914 - 2022	78480	9810	9810	98100
Canada SSA	273	2013 - 2020	5232	648	672	6552
France SSA	32	1908 - 2022	8625	1035	1380	11040

Table 4: Statistics of balanced SSA datasets. # Namesrepresent the number of names per gender per year.

Datasets	# Neutral	# Male	# Female
US SSA	2321	1044	631
Canada SSA	1084	110	114
France SSA	339	59	51

Table 5: Statistics of dynamic gender label datasets.

A Dataset Statistics

Overall training and testing dataset statistics were reported in Table 4. We split the train/val/test sets into 80%/10%/10% of the data. We found that gender-neutral names have increased in both the US and Canada SSA datasets over time and surged in more recent years (i.e., after 2000).

Dataset statistics of dynamic gender labels extracted from the three datasets' test sets are reported in Table 5. Note that the Canada SSA dataset only contained 63 first names whose gender labels changed over time in the test set and 50 in the validation set, which was insufficient for evaluating LLMs' performance in dynamic gender prediction. Therefore, we used the training set to extract the names with dynamic gender labels for the Canada SSA dataset.

B Experimental Settings

In foundation language model fine-tuning, we set the maximum length of the tokenizer to 32 across all three models since the results won't change with an increase in the maximum input length. We fine-tuned foundation language models through 7 epochs, and the batch size for either training or validation was 128. We set the warm-up ratio to 0.1 and the learning rate toas 2e-5. The foundation language models included BERT (bert-base-cased), RoBERTa (roberta-base), and CharRoBERTa. We chose the cased models because they are case-sensitive and can distinguish names such as "huntley" and "Huntley".

For the model settings of LLMs, we applied GPT-3.5 (gpt-3.5-turbo-instruct), Llama 2 (meta/llama-2-70b-chat), Llama 3 (meta/meta-llama-3-70b-instruct), Mixtral-

8x7B (mixtral-8x7b-instruct-v0.1), and Claude 3 Haiku (claude-3-haiku-20240307) for name gender prediction tasks.

C LLMs for Gender Prediction

We applied the 5 LLMs for name-based gender prediction using three country-level SSA datasets.

GPT-3.5. GPT-3.5 is an autoregressive generation model developed by OpenAI (OpenAI, 2024b). The model (gpt-3.5-turbo-instruct) has been tuned through an instruction-tuning technique and aims to generate human-preferred responses.

Llama 2. Llama 2 is a collection of opensource chat models developed by Meta, ranging from 7 to 70B parameters (Touvron et al., 2023). It was trained on 2 trillion tokens of publicly available data and tuned through over one million new human-annotated examples. We applied llama-2-chat for our experiments.

Llama 3. Following Llama 2, Llama 3 is a series of pre-trained and instruction-tuned autoregressive models in 8 and 70B sizes (AI@Meta, 2024). The training data of Llama 3 is over seven times larger than Llama 2, reaching over 15 trillion tokens of data and over 10M human-annotated examples.

Mixtral-8x7B. Mixtral-8x7B is a pre-trained generative Sparse Mixture of Experts (Jiang et al., 2024). The Mixtral-8x7B outperformed Llama 2 70B on most benchmarks and can handle English, French, Italian, German, and Spanish, which is helpful when predicting French name genders.

Claude 3 Haiku. Claude 3 family is a series of close-source language models, including three state-of-the-art models in ascending order of capability: Claude 3 Haiku, Claude 3 Sonnet, and Claude 3 Opus (Anthropic, 2024). Claude 3 Haiku is the fastest, most compact model for near-instant responsiveness. We used Claude 3.

D Prompt Templates for LLMs

We reported the prompt templates for the experiments of LLMs in 0- and 5-shot settings for RQ 1 and RQ 2 in Table 6. For RQ 1, we used "First Name" for gender prediction. For RQ 2, we provided "First Name" and "Year of Birth" as input.

In the 5-shot setting, we randomly chose five name-gender pairs from the three SSA datasets, using the number 42 as the random seed. We selected names that appeared at least twice and were assigned different genders in different years.

Experimental Setting	RQ 1	RQ 2
0-shot	Predict the gender association of the given name. \nUse the following labels for classification: \nMale: The name is predominantly associated with males. \nFemale: The name is predominantly associated with females. \nNeutral: The name is not predominantly associated with any single gender and is considered neutral. \nYour outputs should be all in lowercase and can only output gender from male, female, or neutral. \nName: + {name} + \nGender:	Predict the gender association of the given name, con- sidering the year of birth as an additional reference. \nThe provided names appear more than once across different years of birth as they may be labeled in differ- ent genders given the change in the predominant gen- der of names. \nUse the following labels for classifica- tion: \nMale: The name is predominantly associated with males. \nFemale: The name is predominantly associated with females. \nNeutral: The name is not predominantly associated with any single gender and is considered neutral. \nYour outputs should be all in lowercase and can only output gender from male, female, or neutral. \nName: + {name} + \nYear of Birth: + {year} + \nGender:
5-shot (US SSA)	Predict the gender association of the given name. \nThe provided names appear more than once. \nUse the following labels for classification: \nMale: The name is predominantly associated with males. \nFemale: The name is predominantly associated with females. \nNeutral: The name is not predominantly associated with any single gender and is considered neutral. \nPlease note that first names can be labeled in different genders over time. \nHere are five pairs of examples of first names and genders: \nPair 1: Name: Christie, Gender: Neutral; Name: Christie, Gender: Female Pair 2: Name: Jan, Gender: Neutral; Name: Jan, Gender: Male Pair 3: Name: Bee, Gender: Fe- male; Name: Bee, Gender: Neutral Pair 4: Name: Kasen, Gender: Neutral; Name: Kasen, Gender: Male Pair 5: Name: Mel, Gender: Male; Name: Mel, Gen- der: Neutral \nYour outputs should be all in lowercase and can only output gender from male, female, or neu- tral. \nName: + {name} + \nGender:	Predict the gender association of the given name, considering the year of birth as an additional refer- ence. \nThe provided names appear more than once. \nUse the following labels for classification: \nMale: The name is predominantly associated with males. \nFemale: The name is predominantly associated with females. \nNeutral: The name is not predominantly associated with any single gender and is considered neutral. \nPlease note that first names can be labeled in different genders over time. \nHere are five pairs of examples of first names and genders: \nPair 1: Name: Christie, Year of Birth: 1919, Gender: Neutral; Name: Christie, Year of Birth: 1949, Gender: Neutral; Name: Christie, Year of Birth: 1949, Gender: Meutral; Name: Jan, Year of Birth: 1952, Gender: Neutral; Name: Bee, Year of Birth: 1952, Gender: Neutral Pair 4: Name: Kasen, Year of Birth: 2000, Gender: Neutral; Name: Kasen, Year of Birth: 2006, Gender: Male Pair 5: Name: Mel, Year of Birth: 2007, Gender: Male; Name: Mel, Year of Birth: 2007, Gender: Neutral \nYour outputs should be all in lowercase and can only output gender from male, female, or neutral. \nName: + {name} + \nYear of Birth: + {year} + \nGender:
5-shot (Canada SSA)	Pair 1: Name: Nyjah, Gender: Neutral; Name: Nyjah, Gender: Male Pair 2: Name: Kendell, Gen- der: Neutral; Name: Kendell, Gender: Male Pair 3: Name: Arshia, Gender: Neutral; Name: Arshia, Gen- der: Male Pair 4: Name: Lennix, Gender: Neutral; Name: Lennix, Gender: Female Pair 5: Name: Kirat, Gender: Male; Name: Kirat, Gender: Neutral	"Pair 1: Name: Nyjah, Year of Birth: 2014, Gender: Neutral; Name: Nyjah, Year of Birth: 2016, Gender: Male Pair 2: Name: Kendell, Year of Birth: 2014, Gender: Neutral; Name: Kendell, Year of Birth: 2014, Gender: Male Pair 3: Name: Arshia, Year of Birth: 2014, Gender: Neutral; Name: Arshia, Year of Birth: 2018, Gender: Male Pair 4: Name: Lennix, Year of Birth: 2013, Gender: Neutral; Name: Lennix, Year of Birth: 2013, Gender: Female Pair 5: Name: Kirat, Year of Birth: 2013, Gender: Male; Name: Kirat, Year of Birth: 2014, Gender: Neutral
5-shot (France SSA)	Pair 1: Name: CARMEL, Gender: Male; Name: CARMEL, Gender: Neutral Pair 2: Name: LIE, Gen- der: Male; Name: LIE, Gender: Neutral Pair 3: Name: JESSY, Gender: Female; Name: JESSY, Gender: Neu- tral Pair 4: Name: ANH, Gender: Neutral; Name: ANH, Gender: Male Pair 5: Name: FIDELE, Gender: Neutral; Name: FIDELE, Gender: Female	Pair 1: Name: CARMEL, Year of Birth: 1920, Gen- der: Male; Name: CARMEL, Year of Birth: 1951, Gender: Neutral Pair 2: Name: LIE, Year of Birth: 1922, Gender: Male; Name: LIE, Year of Birth: 1922, Gender: Male; Name: JESSY, Year of Birth: 1960, Gender: Female; Name: JESSY, Year of Birth: 1975, Gender: Neutral Pair 4: Name: ANH, Year of Birth: 1995, Gender: Neutral; Name: ANH, Year of Birth: 2006, Gender: Male Pair 5: Name: FIDELE, Year of Birth: 1918, Gender: Neutral; Name: FIDELE, Year of Birth: 1945, Gender: Female

Table 6: Task-oriented prompt templates of LLMs in 0-shot and 5-shot settings for RQ 1 (w/o birth year) and RQ 2 (w/ birth year). For clarity, we report only the 5-shot example pairs for Canada and France's SSA datasets, as the prompt templates are the same as those used for the 5-shot US SSA dataset.

E Prompt Robustness Evaluation

The effectiveness of prompts designed for LLMbased experiments is crucial for the performance of downstream natural language processing tasks, as highlighted by Zhou et al. (2022); Zhu et al. (2023). Therefore, we developed two prompt templates inspired by Zhu et al. (2023): task-oriented and role-oriented prompts, to evaluate the robust-

ness of LLM gender prediction performance. The task-oriented prompt was the same as introduced in Appendix D.

0-shot Role-Based Prompt for RQ 1

In the role of a first name gender prediction tool, classify names based on their gender association using the following gender labels:

Male: The name is predominantly associated with males.

Female: The name is predominantly associated with females.

Neutral: The name is not predominantly associated with any single gender and is considered neutral.

The provided names appear more than once. Your outputs should be all in lowercase and can only output gender from male, female, or neutral. "\n Name: " + name + "\n Gender: "

0-shot Role-Based Prompt for RQ 2

In the role of a first name gender prediction tool, classify names based on their gender association using the following gender labels:

Male: The name is predominantly associated with males.

Female: The name is predominantly associated with females.

Neutral: The name is not predominantly associated with any single gender and is considered neutral.

Consider the year of birth as an additional reference. The provided names appear more than once across different years of birth as they may be labeled in different genders given the change in the predominant gender of names.

Your outputs should be all in lowercase and can only output gender from male, female, or neutral. "\n Name: " + name + "\n Year of Birth: " + year + "\n Gender: " Above are examples of role-based prompts used in RQ 1 and 2 under the 0-shot setting. The 5shot examples are the same as we applied in taskoriented prompts. We provided first names after "Name" and guided LLMs to output genders after "Gender".

We evaluated the robustness of prompts using GPT-3.5 on the France SSA dynamic gender label dataset referenced in Table 3. As shown in Table 7, our results indicate that in the 0-shot setting, both prompts exhibited similar performance for predicting male and female genders. However, using the task-oriented prompt showed a better performance in predicting gender-neutral names than using the role-oriented prompt. Given that over 75% of names in the French dataset were genderneutral, even minor discrepancies in the "Neutral" category can significantly impact the overall accuracy. While the role-oriented prompt yielded better predictions for binary gender predictions when only the first names were provided, its overall accuracy still fell behind the task-oriented setting in both experimental setups. Notably, incorporating birth year as an additional feature for name gender prediction reduced the differences between various prompt templates, particularly for the performance of gender-neutral names (Table 7).

We also assessed the impact of including "Country" information in the gender prediction prompt using the France dataset. The results indicated no significant difference (i.e., the variation in overall accuracy is within 2%) when incorporating the original country of the given names in both 0-shot and 5-shot settings.

F Over-time Trends of LLM Performances

In Figures 3 and 4, we presented the trends in gender prediction accuracy for Canada and France using dynamic gender label datasets across five different LLMs. Generally, the performance of these LLMs varied over time for both datasets. Notably, models that did not incorporate temporal information tended to perform better, yielding more stable accuracy rates over the years than models that included birth year data. Figure 3 also indicated that the LLMs were less effective at predicting names from more recent years. In particular, GPT-3.5 demonstrated that omitting temporal information led to higher gender prediction performance consistently over the years than including it.

First Name						First Name + Year		
Models	Male	Female	Neutral	Acc. M	Male	Female	Neutral	Acc.
Task-o Oriented Prompt (0-shot)Role-o Oriented Prompt (0-shot)	78.43	98.31	16.52	34.30 9	90.20	98.31	3.54	25.84
	78.43	98.31	9.73	29.18 8	38.24	98.31	3.54	25.61
Task-o Oriented Prompt (5-shot)Role-o Oriented Prompt (5-shot)	78.43	98.31	20.35	37.19 9	98.04	100.00	5.01	28.06
	90.20	100.00	17.11	36.30 9	92.16	100.00	4.42	26.95

Table 7: Prompt robustness evaluation of name gender prediction using GPT-3.5 under the France dynamic gender label dataset.











Figure 3: Temporal-level comparison of all LLMs across Canada SSA dynamic gender label dataset given the results of Table 3.

Figure 4: Temporal-level comparison of all LLMs across France SSA dynamic gender label dataset given the results of Table 3.

Is there Gender Bias in Dependency Parsing? Revisiting "Women's Syntactic Resilience"

Paul Stanley Go¹ and Agnieszka Falenska^{1,2}

¹Institute for Natural Language Processing, University of Stuttgart, Germany ²Interchange Forum for Reflecting on Intelligent Systems, University of Stuttgart, Germany ¹paulstanleygo@yahoo.fr ²agnieszka.falenska@ims.uni-stuttgart.de

Abstract

In this paper, we revisit the seminal work of Garimella et al. (2019), who reported that dependency parsers learn demographicallyrelated signals from their training data and perform differently on sentences authored by people of different genders. We re-run all the parsing experiments from Garimella et al. (2019) and find that their results are not reproducible. Additionally, the original patterns suggesting the presence of gender biases fail to generalize to other treebanks and parsing architectures. Instead, our data analysis uncovers methodological shortcomings in the initial study that artificially introduced differences into female and male datasets during preprocessing. These disparities potentially compromised the validity of the original conclusions.

1 Introduction

NLP tools are commonly trained on textual corpora with authorship imbalances. For instance, since journalists are predominantly male¹, corpora derived from newspaper articles are largely written by men (Falenska et al., 2018; Garimella et al., 2019). Similarly, Wikipedia, a major resource for training NLP models (Devlin et al., 2019; Webster et al., 2019), is edited by a predominantly white and male group of contributors (Lam et al., 2011; Collier and Bear, 2012). This lack of diversity among authors can diminish the representation of minority voices (Bender et al., 2021) and lead to models that inherently mirror demographic imbalances (Hovy et al., 2020).

Garimella et al. (2019) was among the first to demonstrate how authorship imbalances can affect foundational NLP tasks like part-of-speech tagging and dependency parsing.² The authors

¹https://www.statista.com/statistics/625775/ gender-news-reporting-us/

²Dependency parsing is the task of identifying the grammatical relationships between words in a sentence to form a syntactic dependency tree. trained models on sentences authored by females and males, observing error disparities in their results.³ They found that models trained on maleauthored sentences performed best on male test data, whereas models trained on a gender-balanced dataset yielded better results on female test data. These findings led them to conclude that sentences written by women exhibit greater "diversity" and complexity, which are better captured when training data includes contributions from both genders. In contrast, sentences by men showed less syntactic variability, resulting in decreased performance when female-authored sentences were included in the training set. Due to the heavy gender imbalance in the dataset (1:3 female to male authors), the authors concluded that the syntax of sentences written by women showed resilience despite the allocation bias, while men "lucked out" by having more training examples to boost accuracy.

The findings of Garimella et al. (2019) brought attention to the problem of gender bias in NLP models. The work was widely cited, for example, in the following work by the same authors (Garimella et al., 2021), influential surveys (Stanczak and Augenstein, 2021; Blodgett et al., 2020; Shah et al., 2020), and most importantly, as an argument that gender bias exists in NLP on the grammatical level (Lauscher et al., 2022). However, despite its significance, the study has notable deficiencies. Its scope is limited to English and only on a single parsing architecture. Moreover, the evaluation methodology lacks any report of statistical significance testing on the results. Given the minor differences in the obtained accuracy and the non-deterministic nature of neural models (Reimers and Gurevych, 2018), there is a potential that the findings of Garimella et al. (2019) could be attributed to chance.

To advance our understanding of potential gen-

 $^{^{3}}$ We refer to Shah et al. (2020) for an overview of different types of biases.

der biases in foundational NLP tasks such as partof-speech tagging and dependency parsing, it is crucial to establish a well-defined foundation. Therefore, in this paper, we revisit Garimella et al. (2019) and aim to answer three research questions:

RQ1 Are the results presented in Garimella et al. (2019) reproducible and statistically significant?RQ2 Do Garimella et al.'s (2019) results generalize to other languages and parsing architectures?RQ3 What other factors, if not gender bias, could have been captured by their work?

We begin by replicating Garimella et al.'s (2019) methodology and rerunning their experiments (§3). Interestingly, our findings do not support the original claims regarding biases (§4). Further tests on the generalizability of these claims to a different language and parsing architecture also fail to replicate the original patterns. Our data analysis uncovers a small yet significant methodological flaw in the original study that can be responsible for the original results (§5). Consequently, we urge the gender bias research community to approach the results of Garimella et al. (2019) with caution. Moving forward, we recommend focusing more on specific syntactic differences related to demographic variations and their impact on model performance rather than relying solely on average scores, which can be misleading.

2 Bias Statement

According to the predictive bias framework proposed by Shah et al. (2020), the gender bias discussed in this paper is a form of selection bias effects from the compositions of training data and their influence on downstream tasks. This selection bias manifests as error disparity, where models perform inconsistently across data from different demographic groups. While our focus is on dependency parsing, it is challenging to identify immediate, concrete harms directly caused by this bias. However, any subsequent applications that rely on these dependency parsers, such as authorship profiling based on syntactic trees (Morales Sánchez et al., 2022), could be affected. Depending on the specific application of the downstream task, this could lead to allocation or representation harms, where one demographic group might be unfairly treated or misrepresented due to biased model performance (Blodgett et al., 2020).

For our experiments, we require sentences annotated with the gender of their authors, along with gold-standard syntactic trees. To the best of our knowledge, we use the only two treebanks available that meet these criteria. These datasets categorize gender in binary terms, limiting our analysis to female and male authors. We recognize that this limitation excludes non-binary individuals, contributing to recognition bias against them.

3 Experimental Setup

We extend the experimental framework from Garimella et al. (2019) by incorporating additional data, parsing architectures, and robust evaluation.

3.1 Data

We use two well-established treebanks in English and German.

English We use the same gender-annotated subset of Penn Treebank (Marcus et al., 1993) as Garimella et al. (2019). It contains 19,399 trees for sentences from male authors and 7,282 for female.

German To compare the English results with a different language, we use the TIGER 2.2 treebank (Brants et al., 2004) comprised of syntacticallyannotated German sentences from newspapers. A subset of the data was further annotated with the author's name and binary female/male gender by Falenska et al. (2018). The gender information was induced from the gold-standard morphological features of the authors' names. After removing all of the sentences annotated with HEADER and META labels, indicating meta-level information such as the article's title or time of document's creation, we were left with 3,550 trees for sentences written by female authors and 15,184 by male.

3.2 Preprocessing

Both English and German datasets are imbalanced wrt. to the gender of the authors. We will refer to these original datasets as RAW and use their BALANCED versions for the parsing experiments. For the balancing, we follow the same exact steps as Garimella et al. (2019):

1. Sort the sentences of each gender class in descending order according to the number of tokens.

2. Match each female sentence with a male sentence where the amount of tokens does not differ by more than 15%.

3. If there are no more male sentences that satisfy condition 2, the next male sentence in descending order with 5 to 30 tokens is chosen.

Once we have female and male datasets with an equal amount of sentences, we randomly choose an equal amount of sentences from those two to create a mixed-gender dataset of the same size. While Garimella et al. (2019) use 5-fold cross validation on their data for training and testing, we instead opt for the standard practice of a simpler 80-10-10 ratio split into training, development, and test sets when training models.

3.3 Dependency Parsers

Dependency parsers can generally be categorized into two classes: graph-based (Eisner, 1996; Mc-Donald et al., 2005) and transition-based (Yamada and Matsumoto, 2003; Nivre, 2003). Since parsers from the two paradigms make different types of errors (McDonald and Nivre, 2007), we use one model from each category to additionally control for the role of the parsing architecture in our results.

Transition-based (TB) The original results of Garimella et al. (2019) used a transition-based parser SyntaxNet (Andor et al., 2016). However, the tool has been deprecated since the release of TensorFlow 2.0 in 2019.⁴ Therefore, we re-implement all of their architecture with PyTorch (Paszke et al., 2019).⁵. Concretely, we use the arc-standard decoding algorithm (Nivre, 2004), Chen and Manning's (2014) feature function with fast-Text word vectors (Grave et al., 2018), and a feed-forward neural network with a ReLU activation function. We provide all the additional details and hyperparameters in Appendix A.1.1.

Graph-based (GB) In order to present a fair comparison to our transition-based parser, we use a graph-based parser with a similar neural architecture. We re-implement Pei et al.'s (2015) neural graph-based parser with Eisner's (1996) decoder, an adaptation of the Chen and Manning's (2014) architecture to a graph-based system. For more details and hyperparameters, we refer to Appendix A.1.2.

3.4 Evaluation

We evaluate the experiments using Unlabeled (UAS) and Labeled Attachment Score (LAS).⁶ We

use the three training sets to train FEMALE, MALE, and GENERIC models (to differentiate data from models, we will refer to the latter with capitalized names) and select the best-performing models based on the LAS of the corresponding development set. Subsequently, we test each of the models on the female, male, and generic test sets. We evaluate the statistical significance of all our models by following the recommendations of Reimers and Gurevych (2018): we train six models with different random seeds for each dataset and perform a Wilcoxon signed-rank test.

4 Parsing Results

We start by answering **RQ1** – are the results from Garimella et al. (2019) reproducible? For easier comparison, we repeat the original findings in Table 1a. The highest scoring models are highlighted in bold. The table presents the main finding of the study, namely that the GENERIC model performs the best on the female data and the MALE model on the male sentences.

4.1 English Results

We apply our TB parser to the English data, replicating the conditions used in Garimella et al. (2019). Table 1b presents the results averaged across six runs. The highest scores (i.e., the best LAS and UAS in the row) are highlighted in bold. Additionally, we report statistical significance for these results using superscripts with names of the models compared to which significance was achieved. For example, a **86.84**^M UAS for the FEMALE model on the female test set not only indicates the highest score on this dataset compared to the MALE score (86.17) and GENERIC (86.69) but also signifies that the result is statistically significant relative to the MALE model, though not to the GENERIC.

Comparing Tables 1a and 1b, we observe that the patterns are markedly different. In our analysis, the FEMALE model achieves the best results on the female data, and the GENERIC model excels on both the male and generic data. Moreover, the statistical significance of the results is mixed, with some instances showing significance but not consistently across all results or in comparison to both other models. The only consistent finding with Garimella et al.'s (2019) is that the MALE model performs better on male sentences than the FE-MALE model, as indicated by the ^{F,M} significance.

⁴It would not be possible to run SyntaxNet without installing TensorFlow 1.x and all its associated old dependencies, making it impractical to run on modern systems.

⁵The code is available at https://github.com/ paulstanleygo/goparser

⁶The percentage of tokens that received the correct head and label (LAS) or just head (UAS).

Train	Female	Male	GENERIC
Test	LAS	LAS	LAS
female	83.17	83.12	83.46
male	81.15	83.21	82.53
generic	82.01	83.11	83.03

Train	Female		MA	LE	GENERIC		
Test	UAS	LAS	UAS	LAS	UAS	LAS	
female male generic	86.84^M 84.73 ^{M,G} 85.39	85.24 83.03 ^G 83.76	86.17 ^F 85.39 ^F 85.39	84.58 83.70 83.83	86.69 85.46^F 85.74	85.11 83.73 ^F 84.09	

(a) Results reported by Garimella et al. (2019)

(b) Averages across six runs with different random seeds. Statistical significance is shown with a superscript indicating the models with which the significance is associated.

Table 1: Transition-based (TB) test results for English. Highest performing models are highlighted in bold (separately for UAS and LAS).

However, this is only observed in the UAS metric.

Interestingly, one additional pattern emerges from the analysis – sentences written by female authors are the easiest to parse. Regardless of the model used, all achieve the highest UAS and LAS scores on this dataset. Conversely, sentences authored by males prove to be the most challenging, consistently showing the lowest scores. We will explore this finding in the later discussion.

4.2 German Results

We switch to **RQ2** and ask whether the results from Garimella et al. (2019) can be replicated in a different language and parser architectures. Table 2 presents the German test results from TB and GB, averaged across six models. For TB (Table 2a), unlike the English results, we observe some similarities to the findings of Garimella et al. (2019). The GENERIC model achieves the highest scores on the female dataset, and the MALE model surpasses the others on the male (UAS) and generic datasets (both metrics). However, none of these differences are statistically significant, except for the performance of GENERIC compared to FEMALE on the male test set – a result that is not relevant for the narrative of Garimella et al.'s (2019).

Switching to GB (Table 2b), we observe that the performance differences are not consistent across parsing architectures. Interestingly, the results show more parallels with the English TB, where the FEMALE model performs best on the female data, and the GENERIC model excels on the male and generic data. The statistically significant results also align more closely with the TB English results. Most importantly, these findings are similarly inconsistent with Garimella et al. (2019).

Finally, across both parsing architectures, the same clear pattern emerges as for the English results: sentences written by female authors are the easiest to parse, while those authored by males are the most difficult.

4.3 Error Analysis

The results presented in Tables 1 and 2 do not confirm the findings from Garimella et al. (2019). However, since UAS and LAS average scores across all dependency arcs, there might be still some patterns that we do not observe by only looking at single numbers. Therefore, as a final sanity check, we zoom into these results by performing error analysis on the models' performance. Following McDonald and Nivre (2011, 2007), we look at dependency length and distance to root to determine if there are any differences in parsing errors between models trained on the different data.

Figure 1 presents a sample of the results – the TB performance on the female and male datasets.⁷ We select these datasets because they are crucial for the scenarios highlighted by Garimella et al. (2019), i.e., GENERIC on female data and MALE on the male data. We leave the other results to Appendix A.2 together with analysis of distance to root, which shows similar patterns to the dependency length. Overall, the results corroborate our averaged findings. For the female dataset (left), up to a dependency length of 9, the FEMALE model performs the best, followed by the GENERIC and then the MALE model. Beyond this length, the differences vary, likely due to the limited number of long arcs. For the male dataset (right), MALE slightly outperforms the others for arcs up to a length of 3, but thereafter is outperformed by the GENERIC model. In conclusion, we do not find indicators that would align with the results of Garimella et al. (2019).

⁷We analyze models with the highest validation LAS.

Train	Fem	ALE	M	ALE	Gene	ERIC	Fen	IALE	М	ALE	Gene	ERIC
Test	UAS	LAS	UAS	LAS	UAS	LAS	UAS	LAS	UAS	LAS	UAS	LAS
female male generic	80.52 77.25 ^G 79.45	76.67 73.02 75.34	80.70 78.06 80.19	76.66 73.89 76.14	80.82 78.00 ^F 79.93	77.10 74.01 75.94	80.28^M 77.35 ^{M,G} 78.50	75.72 72.36 ^M 73.53	79.81 78.07 ^F 78.58	75.04 73.37 ^F 73.66	80.03 78.13^F 78.74	75.30 73.31 73.75
	(a)	Transitio	n-based 1	oarser (T	B)			(b) Gra	ph-based	l parser ((GB)	

Table 2: German test results averaged across six runs with different random seeds. Highest performing models are highlighted in bold (separately for UAS and LAS). Statistical significance is marked with a superscript indicating the models with which the significance is achieved.



Figure 1: TB precision for the English datasets relative to dependency length.

5 Data Analysis

If not gender bias, what was captured by the models of Garimella et al. (2019)? To answer **RQ3**, we perform analysis of our training datasets.

5.1 Sentence Length

We begin by examining the most straightforward factor - sentence length. Figure 2 displays the English data divided into bins by the number of tokens for the three datasets: female, male, and generic. The results for BALANCED (Figure 2a), the dataset that we used for training all the parsers, reveal a distinct pattern: female-authored sentences are shorter, with more falling within the 11-20 and 21-30 length bins. In contrast, male-authored sentences are more frequently in the longer 31-40, 41-50, and 51+ bins. Given that parsing accuracy generally declines with increased sentence length McDonald and Nivre (2011, 2007), this result can explain the pattern that we consistently observed across languages and architectures, i.e., that female sentences are "easier" to parse than male.

The results from Figure 2a exhibit the opposite trend from what is generally assumed in the previous literature, that female sentences are typically longer (Cornett, 2014, among others). However, as shown Figure 2b, this finding can not be attributed to the sociolinguistic factors in the data, but simply Garimella et al.'s (2019) preprocessing steps described in Section 3.2. In the original RAW dataset, male sentences are slightly more frequent in the 1-10 and 41-50 length categories, while female sentences predominate in the 21-30 and 31-40 ranges, with the 11-20 range being roughly equivalent for both genders. The balancing procedure used by Garimella et al. (2019) alters this distribution, resulting in shorter female sentences and longer male sentences. Originally, the average RAW male sentences were 0.24 tokens shorter than those of females in English and 0.13 tokens shorter in German. After preprocessing, the average length of BALANCED male sentences became 3.19 tokens longer than female sentences in English and 2.41 tokens longer in German. As a result and by accident, all the parsing results were influenced.

5.2 Tree Characteristics

Dependency parsing is a structure prediction task where the number of tokens in sentences is strongly related to other treebank characteristics, such as







Figure 3: Proportion of distance to root lengths in the English datasets.

the types and configurations of arcs in the trees. Therefore, by modifying the distribution of sentence lengths, it is possible to impact many other attributes of the tree structures. Figure 3 illustrates the proportions of distances to the root in both the RAW and BALANCED English datasets. In the RAW datasets (Figure 3b), there are no major differences in distance to root between genders. However, looking at the BALANCED datasets (Figure 3a), we see a different distribution. There are more tokens with distance to root of 1 to 4 in the BALANCED female dataset and conversely, more tokens with distance to root of 5 to 11+ in the BALANCED male dataset. This demonstrates that the balancing procedure results in a shorter average distance to root in the female dataset and a longer average distance to root in the male dataset.⁸ Given that arcs further from

the root are typically more challenging to parse (McDonald and Nivre, 2011), this provides another insight into why all models consistently show lower performance on the male-authored datasets.

6 Conclusion

In this paper, we revisited the seminal work on gender bias by Garimella et al. (2019). Our analysis demonstrated that their findings do not generalize to other languages or parsing architectures and, more critically, are not reproducible even with the same parsing architecture and dataset as the original study. A consistent observation from our work was that sentences written by females were easier to parse than those written by males. However, this pattern was due to a methodological oversight in the original study, where the preprocessing step inadvertently produced longer male sentences. As sentence length correlates with more complex tree structures, such as long arcs and dependents far

⁸A similar pattern for dependency length is less pronounced and visible only for arcs of 15+ tokens (see Figure 6 in Appendix A.2).

from the root, this error introduced artificial parsing difficulty. Coupled with our inconsistent statistical significance results across various applications, these findings challenge the validity of the gender bias claims made by Garimella et al. (2019).

7 Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Ministry of Science, Research, and the Arts, Baden-Württemberg through the project IRIS3D (Reflecting Intelligent Systems for Diversity, Demography and Democracy, Az. 33-7533-9-19/54/5).

References

- Daniel Andor, Chris Alberti, David Weiss, Aliaksei Severyn, Alessandro Presta, Kuzman Ganchev, Slav Petrov, and Michael Collins. 2016. Globally normalized transition-based neural networks. In Proceedings of the 54th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 2442–2452, Berlin, Germany. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Emily M Bender, Timnit Gebru, Angelina McMillan-Major, and Shmargaret Shmitchell. 2021. On the dangers of stochastic parrots: Can language models be too big? In *Proceedings of the 2021 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency*, pages 610–623.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé III, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Language (technology) is power: A critical survey of "bias" in NLP. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 5454– 5476, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sabine Brants, Stefanie Dipper, Peter Eisenberg, Silvia Hansen-Schirra, Esther König, Wolfgang Lezius, Christian Rohrer, George Smith, and Hans Uszkoreit. 2004. TIGER: Linguistic interpretation of a German corpus. *Journal of Language and Computation*, 2:597–620.
- Danqi Chen and Christopher Manning. 2014. A fast and accurate dependency parser using neural networks. In Proceedings of the 2014 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP), pages 740–750, Doha, Qatar. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Benjamin Collier and Julia Bear. 2012. Conflict, confidence, or criticism: An empirical examination of the gender gap in Wikipedia contributions. In CSCW '12 Computer Supported Cooperative Work, Seattle, WA, USA, February 11-15, 2012, pages 383–392. ACM.
- Hannah E Cornett. 2014. Gender differences in syntactic development among English speaking adolescents. *Inquiries Journal/Student Pulse*, 6(03).

- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. BERT: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 4171–4186, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jason M. Eisner. 1996. Three new probabilistic models for dependency parsing: An exploration. In COLING 1996 Volume 1: The 16th International Conference on Computational Linguistics.
- Agnieszka Falenska, Kerstin Eckart, and Jonas Kuhn. 2018. Moving TIGER beyond sentence-level. In *Proceedings of the Eleventh International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC 2018)*, Miyazaki, Japan. European Language Resources Association (ELRA).
- Aparna Garimella, Akhash Amarnath, Kiran Kumar, Akash Pramod Yalla, Anandhavelu N, Niyati Chhaya, and Balaji Vasan Srinivasan. 2021. He is very intelligent, she is very beautiful? On Mitigating Social Biases in Language Modelling and Generation. In Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL-IJCNLP 2021, pages 4534–4545, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Aparna Garimella, Carmen Banea, Dirk Hovy, and Rada Mihalcea. 2019. Women's syntactic resilience and men's grammatical luck: Gender-bias in part-ofspeech tagging and dependency parsing. In *Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 3493–3498, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Xavier Glorot and Yoshua Bengio. 2010. Understanding the difficulty of training deep feedforward neural networks. In *Proceedings of the Thirteenth International Conference on Artificial Intelligence and Statistics*, volume 9 of *Proceedings of Machine Learning Research*, pages 249–256, Chia Laguna Resort, Sardinia, Italy. PMLR.
- Edouard Grave, Piotr Bojanowski, Prakhar Gupta, Armand Joulin, and Tomas Mikolov. 2018. Learning word vectors for 157 languages. In *Proceedings of the International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC 2018).*
- Kaiming He, Xiangyu Zhang, Shaoqing Ren, and Jian Sun. 2015. Delving deep into rectifiers: Surpassing human-level performance on imagenet classification. *CoRR*, abs/1502.01852.
- Dirk Hovy, Federico Bianchi, and Tommaso Fornaciari. 2020. "You sound just like your father" Commercial machine translation systems include stylistic biases. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 1686–1690, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Eliyahu Kiperwasser and Yoav Goldberg. 2016. Simple and accurate dependency parsing using bidirectional LSTM feature representations. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 4:313– 327.
- Shyong K. Lam, Anuradha Uduwage, Zhenhua Dong, Shilad Sen, David R. Musicant, Loren G. Terveen, and John Riedl. 2011. WP:Clubhouse? An exploration of Wikipedia's gender imbalance. In Proceedings of the 7th International Symposium on Wikis and Open Collaboration, 2011, Mountain View, CA, USA, October 3-5, 2011, pages 1–10. ACM.
- Anne Lauscher, Federico Bianchi, Samuel R. Bowman, and Dirk Hovy. 2022. SocioProbe: What, when, and where language models learn about sociodemographics. In *Proceedings of the 2022 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 7901–7918, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Mitchell P. Marcus, Beatrice Santorini, and Mary Ann Marcinkiewicz. 1993. Building a large annotated corpus of English: The Penn Treebank. *Computational Linguistics*, 19(2):313–330.
- Ryan McDonald, Koby Crammer, and Fernando Pereira. 2005. Online large-margin training of dependency parsers. In Proceedings of the 43rd Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (ACL'05), pages 91–98. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ryan McDonald and Joakim Nivre. 2007. Characterizing the errors of data-driven dependency parsing models. In Proceedings of the 2007 Joint Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and Computational Natural Language Learning (EMNLP-CoNLL), pages 122–131, Prague, Czech Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ryan McDonald and Joakim Nivre. 2011. Analyzing and integrating dependency parsers. *Computational Linguistics*, 37(1):197–230.
- Damián Morales Sánchez, Antonio Moreno, and María Dolores Jiménez López. 2022. A white-box sociolinguistic model for gender detection. *Applied Sciences*, 12(5).
- Vinod Nair and Geoffrey E. Hinton. 2010. Rectified linear units improve Restricted Boltzmann machines. In Proceedings of the 27th International Conference on International Conference on Machine Learning, ICML'10, page 807–814, Madison, WI, USA. Omnipress.
- Joakim Nivre. 2003. An efficient algorithm for projective dependency parsing. In Proceedings of the Eighth International Workshop on Parsing Technologies (IWPT, pages 149–160, Nancy, France.
- Joakim Nivre. 2004. Incrementality in deterministic dependency parsing. In Proceedings of the Workshop on Incremental Parsing: Bringing Engineering and

Cognition Together, pages 50–57, Barcelona, Spain. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Adam Paszke, Sam Gross, Francisco Massa, Adam Lerer, James Bradbury, Gregory Chanan, Trevor Killeen, Zeming Lin, Natalia Gimelshein, Luca Antiga, Alban Desmaison, Andreas Köpf, Edward Yang, Zach DeVito, Martin Raison, Alykhan Tejani, Sasank Chilamkurthy, Benoit Steiner, Lu Fang, Junjie Bai, and Soumith Chintala. 2019. PyTorch: An Imperative Style, High-Performance Deep Learning Library. Curran Associates Inc., Red Hook, NY, USA.
- Wenzhe Pei, Tao Ge, and Baobao Chang. 2015. An effective neural network model for graph-based dependency parsing. In *Proceedings of the 53rd Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 7th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers)*, pages 313–322, Beijing, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Nils Reimers and Iryna Gurevych. 2018. Why comparing single performance scores does not allow to draw conclusions about machine learning approaches. *CoRR*, abs/1803.09578.
- Deven Santosh Shah, H. Andrew Schwartz, and Dirk Hovy. 2020. Predictive biases in natural language processing models: A conceptual framework and overview. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 5248–5264, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Nitish Srivastava, Geoffrey Hinton, Alex Krizhevsky, Ilya Sutskever, and Ruslan Salakhutdinov. 2014. Dropout: A simple way to prevent neural networks from overfitting. J. Mach. Learn. Res., 15(1):1929–1958.
- Karolina Stanczak and Isabelle Augenstein. 2021. A survey on gender bias in natural language processing.
- Ben Taskar, Vassil Chatalbashev, Daphne Koller, and Carlos Guestrin. 2005. Learning structured prediction models: A large margin approach. In Proceedings of the 22nd International Conference on Machine Learning, ICML '05, page 896–903, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Kellie Webster, Marta R. Costa-jussà, Christian Hardmeier, and Will Radford. 2019. Gendered ambiguous pronoun (GAP) shared task at the gender bias in NLP workshop 2019. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing, pages 1–7, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- David Weiss, Chris Alberti, Michael Collins, and Slav Petrov. 2015. Structured training for neural network transition-based parsing. In Proceedings of the 53rd Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 7th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 323–333, Beijing, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.

Hiroyasu Yamada and Yuji Matsumoto. 2003. Statistical dependency analysis with support vector machines. In *Proceedings of the Eighth International Conference on Parsing Technologies*, pages 195–206, Nancy, France.

A Appendix

A.1 Parsing Hyperparameters

A.1.1 Transition-based parser

In general, we re-implement the SyntaxNet architecture. We incorporate Weiss et al.'s (2015) refinements to the Chen and Manning (2014) architecture by replacing the nonlinear activation function with ReLU (Nair and Hinton, 2010) and increasing the number of hidden layers to two. We apply dropout (Srivastava et al., 2014) to the hidden layers and following Kiperwasser and Goldberg (2016), we also add a word dropout that is inversely proportional to the frequency of the word to better deal with out-ofvocabulary words. The word embeddings are initialized with pre-trained 300-dimensional fastText word vectors (Grave et al., 2018), while all other weights are randomly initialized with a Kaiming uniform distribution (He et al., 2015). We purposely refrain from using more expressive feature representations such as the BiLSTM feature extractor (Kiperwasser and Goldberg, 2016) since there is a possibility that the increased expressiveness may influence our gender bias results and make it difficult to compare with Garimella et al.'s (2019) results. Moreover, for simplicity, we exclude SyntaxNet's beam search since it is used for alleviating search error and omitting it is unlikely to affect the overall result concerning gender bias. Table 3 summarizes all the details and used hyperparameters.

Decoder	Arc-standard
Word embedding dimension	300
Part-of-speech embedding dim.	32
Dependency label embedding dim.	32
Number of hidden layers	2
Hidden layer dimensions	256, 256
Hidden layer dropout p	0.5
Word dropout α	0.25
Word embedding initialization	fastText
Weight initialization	Kaiming uniform
Criterion	Cross-entropy loss
Optimizer	Adam
Learning rate	1e-5
nonlinear activation function	ReLU

Table 3: Hyperparameters for TB.

A.1.2 Graph-based parser

We use two hidden layers to match our transitionbased parser and follow Kiperwasser and Goldberg (2016) in adding word dropout and using loss augmented inference (Taskar et al., 2005) by augmenting the scores of all incorrect arcs with a constant value of 1. The word embeddings are initialized with pre-trained 300-dimensional fastText word vectors (Grave et al., 2018), while all other weights are randomly initialized with a Xavier uniform distribution (Glorot and Bengio, 2010). Once again, we refrain from using more expressive feature representations for comparison purposes and use Pei et al.'s (2015) *1-order-atomic* features. Hyperparameters can be found in Table 4.

Decoder E Word embedding dimension 30	isner's 00 2
Word embedding dimension 30	00
-	า
Part-of-speech embedding dimension 32	2
Distance embedding dimension 32	2
Number of hidden layers 2	
Hidden layer dimensions 2.	56, 256
Hidden layer dropout p 0.	.5
Word dropout α 0.	.25
Word embedding initialization fa	astText
Weight initialization X	avier uniform
Criterion H	linge loss
Optimizer A	dam
Learning rate 10	e-3
nonlinear activation function T	anh-cube

Table 4: Hyperparameters for GB.

A.2 Parsing Results and Data Analysis



Figure 4: TB precision (left) and recall (right) on the English datasets relative to dependency length.



Figure 5: TB precision (left) and recall (right) on the English datasets relative to distance to root.



Figure 6: Proportion of dependency lengths in the RAW (left) and BALANCED (right) English datasets.
From *Showgirls* to *Performers*: Fine-tuning with Gender-inclusive Language for Bias Reduction in LLMs

Marion Bartl and Susan Leavy Insight SFI Research Centre for Data Analytics

School of Information and Communication Studies University College Dublin marion.bartl@insight-centre.org susan.leavy@ucd.ie

Abstract

Gender bias is not only prevalent in Large Language Models (LLMs) and their training data, but also firmly ingrained into the structural aspects of language itself. Therefore, adapting linguistic structures within LLM training data to promote gender-inclusivity can make gender representations within the model more inclusive. The focus of our work are genderexclusive affixes in English, such as in showgirl or man-cave, which can perpetuate gender stereotypes and binary conceptions of gender. We use an LLM training dataset to compile a catalogue of 692 gender-exclusive terms along with gender-neutral variants and from this, develop a gender-inclusive fine-tuning dataset, the Tiny Heap. Fine-tuning three different LLMs with this dataset, we observe an overall reduction in gender-stereotyping tendencies across the models. Our approach provides a practical method for enhancing gender inclusivity in LLM training data and contributes to incorporating queer-feminist linguistic activism in bias mitigation research in NLP.

1 Introduction

Large language models (LLMs) have become ubiquitous in Natural Language Processing (NLP) due to their impressive capabilities in a variety of tasks. However, they also carry risks arising from social biases incorporated into models from the training data (Bender et al., 2021). Well-documented among these are harmful gender biases such as reliance on stereotypes and erasure of non-binary gender identities (Cao and Daumé, 2021; Ovalle et al., 2023, a.o.). Structural aspects of language itself and linguistic norms can reflect as well as shape societal concepts of gender (Pauwels, 2003; Whorf and Carroll, 1956). Within the context of LLMs, encoded representations of gender inform language generation and classification decisions, thereby having the potential to influence societal concepts of gender (Bommasani et al., 2022). It is

vital therefore, to ensure that LLMs are evaluated and trained to minimize gender bias and promote equitable representation of all genders.

In English, linguistic structures have a long history of reinforcing traditional gender roles and the concept of male gender as the default (Mills, 2012). Examples include the use of man to mean all humans, the indication of women's marital status in terms of address (Miss, Mrs., Ms.), or the marking of deviation from gendered norms (male nurse, girl boss). Sexist and gender-exclusive linguistic constructions have been discouraged in official style guides (APA, 2020) and their use has been in decline (Baker, 2010b). However, the nature of language change is slow, with new and traditional variations existing simultaneously. Given the scale of LLM training data (Bender et al., 2021) and the disproportionate representation of men within textual data (Baker, 2010a), language models have the potential to proliferate and reinforce stereotypical and traditional views of gender.

Approaches to mitigating bias in LLMs have included fine-tuning with gender-inclusive language (Thakur et al., 2023). Data interventions with gender-inclusive text aim to reduce the use of binary gender terms in cases where gender is irrelevant (for example, a chairman and chairwoman do the same job) and thereby allow for association of a term with all genders (chairperson). However, the replacement of sexist and genderexclusive terminology often relies on limited lists of gender-neutral terms (Ghanbarzadeh et al., 2023; Thakur et al., 2023), and often focuses on professions (Fatemi et al., 2023). Additionally, previous works on fine-tuning LLMs with gender-inclusive data have primarily carried out experiments with masked language models such as BERT (Devlin et al., 2019) and its derivatives (Vashishtha et al., 2023).

In this research, we focused on expanding the coverage of gender-exclusive terminology and

experimented with fine-tuning both causal and masked LLMs. We first exploited structural elements of English that relate to gender discrimination and exclusion in order to generate a larger catalogue of words that are unnecessarily gendered along with gender neutral alternatives. We extracted nouns with gender-marking prefixes and suffixes from a common training corpus, OpenWeb-Text2 (Gao et al., 2020), which was used to train LLMs like Meta's Llama2 (Thakur et al., 2023) and Microsoft's MT-NLG (Smith et al., 2022). The distribution of extracted gender-marking nouns demonstrated clear androcentric tendencies within the corpus. We compiled gender-neutral variants for each term with a gender-marking affix to form a catalogue of 692 term pairs. This resource is just over three times larger than the size of previously available resources and could be used in assessments of gender skew within LLM training corpora as well as in the replacement gender-exclusive terminology. We also developed a small-scale, multi-domain fine-tuning corpus, using our catalogue to replace gender-exclusive with genderneutral words. We also employed the NeuTral Rewriter (Vanmassenhove et al., 2021) to replace gendered pronouns (he, she, himself etc.) with singular they. The resulting corpus was used to fine-tune three different (masked and causal) LLMs. The results of this process of fine-tuning with gender inclusive terminology demonstrated an overall tendency towards reduction in gender-stereotyping exhibited by the models as well as a reduction in the generation of harmful language in gendered contexts.

Contributions

- We show clear androcentric tendencies within a commonly used LLM training corpus.
- We construct a catalogue of 692 term pairs, consisting of a gender-exclusive terms and neutral alternatives, which we release for public use¹.
- We show that automatically generated genderinclusive English is effective in reducing gender stereotyping in LLMs through finetuning².

The focus of this work is gender-inclusive language, and its counterpart, sexist language. Sexist language, following Frye's (1983) definition of sexism, can be defined as language that clearly divides between two genders, in which one gender (masculine) is treated as hierarchically superior to the other (feminine). This superiority is expressed, for example, through the generic use of masculine gendered expressions (e.g. use of terms such as *mankind, chairman* to refer to people of any gender).

Our work is based on the assumption that sexist language in training data is one of the sources of gender bias in LLMs. Specifically, we would expect models to favor masculine expressions over gender-neutral alternatives, creating a representational harm for people of non-masculine gender (Blodgett et al., 2020). Sexist expressions additionally reinforce traditional gender roles (e.g. male nurse), therefore we would also expect models to favor gender-stereotypical expressions. Moreover, since sexist language is based on a binary model of gender, we expect models to default to this. This can lead to misrepresentation and erasure of non-binary genders in downstream applications, creating allocational and representational harms for non-binary users of these systems (Blodgett et al., 2020). Not adjusting LLMs to accurately represent the variety of genders that exist in society will contribute to the ongoing marginalization of people identifying as gender-queer (Ovalle et al., 2023).

3 Related Work

Large Language Models (LLMs) have been shown to encode a variety of social biases contained in their training data (Gupta et al., 2023; Salinas et al., 2023), among them gender bias (Stanczak and Augenstein, 2021). Due to the current prevalence of transfer learning in NLP, in which a pretrained model is fine-tuned with task-specific data, transfer learning has recently also been adapted by works that aimed to reduce gender bias in LLMs (Lauscher et al., 2021; Ghanbarzadeh et al., 2023). In this approach, an LLM is fine-tuned with data that has undergone interventions to increase gender fairness. This approach is supported by the finding that biases in fine-tuning data have a greater influence on downstream model behavior than biases in the pre-training data (Steed et al., 2022). Previous interventions to fine-tuning data

¹https://github.com/marionbartl/affixed_words ²https://github.com/marionbartl/performers

include Counterfactual Data Augmentation (CDA), in which masculine and feminine pronouns and gendered nouns are swapped for the respective other (Ghanbarzadeh et al., 2023; Vashishtha et al., 2023; Fatemi et al., 2023). Another intervention replaces gendered words for gender-neutral words (fire fighter for fireman) or phrases containing both masculine and feminine genders (he and she for he; Thakur et al., 2023). This kind of intervention is not new: it rests upon a longstanding tradition of research and advocacy the field of feminist linguistics, which has been promoting changes in the lexicon to reduce gender stereotyping and masculine-default language since the 1970s (Kramer, 2016; Mills, 2012; Lakoff, 1973). More recently such changes to the language, also called feminist language reform, have incorporated ways of adapting language to include non-binary and trans gender identities, such as the third person singular (neo)pronouns (they, xe, ze, etc.). The usage and possible modelling of this extended lexicon of pronouns within the context of NLP was analyzed by Lauscher et al. (2022). Lund et al. (2023) also showed that training on data containing singular they can reduce gender bias in grammatical error correction. Furthermore, Vanmassenhove et al. (2021) and Sun et al. (2021) developed rule-based and neutral machine translation-based models to modify English text to render it genderneutral. Vanmassenhove et al.'s (2021) NeuTral Rewriter replaces gendered pronouns with singular they and a list of gendered nouns with neutral variants. However, while the amount of NLP research incorporating and exploring strategies of feminist language reform has grown, the queer-feminist linguistic research it is based on is, with some exceptions (Devinney et al., 2022; Piergentili et al., 2023a; Seaborn et al., 2023), rarely acknowledged and even less often informs the research itself.

4 Method

Gender bias in the English language is reflected in features such as masculine generics and is captured in datasets through, for example, skewed distributions of pronouns and profession words in the same context. However, it is also contained in structural elements of the language itself, such as gendermarking affixes. The most frequent are suffixes such as *-man* in *spokesman*, but gender can also be marked with a prefix, such as in *man-power* or *girlboss*. Words marked with masculine suffixes

- fC		round	round	round
	annx		2	3
	woman-	10	4	4
	girl-	30	13	10
prefix	man-	87	47	49
	boy-	59	11	7
	total	186	75	70
	-woman	42	37	35
	-girl	47	24	14
an fG.	-man	271	238	180
sumx	-boy	62	41	24
	-womanship	2	2	2
	-manship	53	32	30
	total	477	342	285
TOTAL		663	417	355
PERCENT		100%	62.9%	53.54%

Table 1: Number of singular nouns with gender-marking affixes extracted from subsection of OpenWebText2 corpus throughout verification process.

have traditionally been used in a generic sense (e.g. *Madam Chairman*), however, with the emergence of feminist language reform, style guides have advised against their use (Piergentili et al., 2023b). In English, the most common replacement strategy for gendered generics is neutralisation (*chairperson*), because all gender identities, not just male and female, can be referred to by gender-neutral nouns. In NLP, research using gender-neutral language in the context of English LLMs has mainly relied on lists of common gender-neutral replacements (Vanmassenhove et al., 2021; Thakur et al., 2023), without taking structural processes such as affixation into account in order to broaden the coverage of these lists.

In this section we first outline the process of extracting unnecessarily gendered words based on gender-marking affixes (§4.1). We then describe the gender-neutralizing interventions to our fine-tuning data (§4.2) as well as the models (§4.3) and bias measurements used (§4.4).

4.1 Word Catalogue

We extracted words with the suffixes *-man*, *-manship*, *-woman*, *-womanship*, *-boy*, *-girl* and words with the prefixes *man-*³, *woman-*, *boy-* and *girl-*. We used a 200 million token random sub-

³Words with *man*- prefixes were only included if they also had the dash (-) following *man*, because otherwise the false positive rate (*manager*, *mandate*, etc.) would have been too high.

-man	#	-woman	#	-boy	#	-girl	#
spokesman	44,004	spokeswoman	14,044	cowboy	1167	showgirl	46
congressman	4,551	congresswoman	419	fanboy	388	fangirl	42
businessman	3,830	businesswoman	231	playboy	374	cowgirl	39
policeman	3,015	policewoman	151	tomboy	199	playgirl	6
freshman	1,055	anchorwoman	40	busboy	71	babygirl	4
fisherman	991	forewoman	33	paperboy	69	ballgirl	4
cameraman	910	everywoman	30	homeboy	47	camgirl	4
statesman	671	noblewoman	21	plowboy	32	papergirl	4
defenseman	571	spokewoman	19	bellboy	16	tomgirl	3
madman	505	charwoman	16	callboy	13	schoolgirl	3

Table 2: Top 10 words with gender-denoting suffixes after second round of verification and their frequencies within 200-million token subset of OpenWebText2

section of the OpenWebText2 corpus (Gao et al., 2020) for extraction. The words were extracted using regular expressions within Python. We additionally filtered the words to include only English singular nouns. We only filtered for singular nouns to reduce the amount of redundant extractions, and to simplify the dictionary verification later on. Plurals for all verified words were added after the third round of verification.

The **first round** of verification of extracted affixed terms generally followed a human-in-the-loop approach, meaning that after 20 files, each 1MB in size, the extracted words were manually checked for validity. This eliminated a variety of false positives such as words in which affixes did not denote gender (*german*, *ramen*), spelling errors (*camerman*, *sopkesman*), surnames (*zimmerman*), and other word creations (*heythereman*, *mrfredman*). In total, 663 words were extracted in the first round (ref. Table 1).

After extraction, the terms were verified in the second round using the API of the BabelNet encyclopedic dictionary (Navigli and Ponzetto, 2012). BabelNet was chosen due to its broad coverage of lexical resources; its search engine combines entries from WordNet, Wikidata and Wikipedia among others. Terms that did not return an entry in BabelNet were disregarded in order to eliminate less established terms, slang and sexually charged terminology. If a term contained a dash, such as in man-bun, but could not be found in BabelNet, we also searched for the term with a space instead of the dash to not disregard terms due to spelling differences. Table 2 shows the top ten words containing the four simple gender-marking suffixes and their frequency. The highest frequent words with

gendered prefixes, and words with *-wo/manship* suffixes are shown in Table 6 and 7 in the Appendix, respectively.

Following the BabelNet verification, words were manually filtered in the **third round** to exclude words not related to gender (e.g. *boycott, boyne*), and proper names such as surnames or words related to pop culture (*batgirl, rainman*). Furthermore, terms that occurred with a feminine suffix (*noblewoman*) but did not have a masculine equivalent (*nobleman*) were added as their masculine variant to the list, because we treat gender-marking suffixes as exchangeable to mark a different gender. The third round left 353 singular affixed nouns.

4.1.1 Gender-neutral variants

Gender-neutral variants were manually compiled for all extracted words with gender-marking affixes. A single variant was added for all items in the list to simplify the replacement process. The final genderneutral variants were discussed and agreed upon by the researchers. The proposed replacements are not intended to be definitive substitutes for their gender-marked counterparts. Instead, they were developed for the present experiments to provide gender-neutral terms, as no official list exists.

Suffixes Some gender-marking suffix could simply be exchanged for one that is gender neutral, such as in the common neutralisation of *chairman/-woman* to *chairperson*. However, this simple replacement does not always work. For example, some frequent terms already have gender-neutral replacements such as *fire fighter* for *fireman* or *police officer* for *policeman*. In these cases, **fireperson* or

**policeperson* would be ungrammatical⁴. A similar case can be made for less frequent words for which more elegant solutions are available than simply replacing *-man/-woman* with *-person*. One approach is to find more fitting suffixes or compound nouns, such as in the neutralisation of *crewman* with *crew member*. Another approach is to replace a word with a gender-neutral synonym, such as in the replacement of *hitman* with *assassin*. A third approach applies to words containing a verb as their root, such as the word *huntsman*, which has the root *hunt*. Here, the word can be replaced by a nominalization: *hunter*.

Prefixes In the case of words with gendermarking prefixes, gender-neutral variants can be constructed by removing the prefix. For example, the word *man-crush* can be neutralised to *crush*.

Once the list of singular word pairs was fixed, the plural version of every word-pair was added to the final list. The plurals were obtained using the inflect library in Python (version 7.0.0). After adding plurals, we performed one last round of manual verification to ensure all plurals were formed correctly. The final list contains 692 term pairs. For comparison, Vanmassenhove et al. (2021) used a list of 91 term pairs. A sample of our final list can be found in Table 8 in the Appendix.

4.2 Fine-Tuning Data

		Неар	Small Heap	Tiny Heap
dataset	original weight		# tokens	
OWT2	50%	125M	25M	162k
CC-News	30%	75M	15M	240k
English Wikipedia	20%	50M	10M	112k
TOTAL	100%	250M	50M	514k

Table 3: Composition of Heap corpora; OWT2 = Open-WebText2, CC-News = Common Crawl News

To create a fine-tuning corpus with genderneutral interventions, we assembled a base corpus, which needed to have several features: (1) The configuration should be similar to current LLM pre-training data, meaning that it should contain a diverse set of sources. However, we excluded data that was too domain-specific, such as code and scientific publications in order to demonstrate methodology for general-purpose English. In the same line of reasoning, (2) the corpus should only contain English data, because the focus of this work is English, and the NeuTral Rewriter (Vanmassenhove et al., 2021), which replaces gendered pronouns with singular *they* does also only exist for English. (3) Finally, since we do not aim to worsen the performance of the LLM through fine-tuning, the corpus should only include high-quality text.

The final composition of our base corpus was inspired by the composition of GPT-3's training data (Brown et al., 2020) as well as The Pile corpus (Gao et al., 2020) and is shown in Table 3. Our original download has a size of 250 million tokens, which is approximately 1.5 GB of data. Since this is substantially smaller than The Pile (825GB), we called our dataset *The Heap*. The dataset was downloaded using the Huggingface datasets library (version 1.18.3; Wolf et al., 2020) and tokenized with the stanza library (version 1.7.0; Qi et al., 2020).

The fine-tuning data were adjusted for genderneutral wording in two rounds. Firstly, we used our own list of extracted affixed words combined with Vanmassenhove et al.'s (2021) list to replace sexist with gender-inclusive terms. Their list covers additional word pairs like stewardess-flight attendant or waitress-server. Words that were part of named entities were not replaced. Secondly, feminine and masculine singular pronouns (he, she, himself, etc.) were re-written into the respective variants of singular they using Vanmassenhove et al.'s (2021) NeuTral Rewriter. Table 4 illustrates this re-writing process and provides an example sentence within the different variants of the corpus: normal, with replacements, and rewritten with replacements.

We then reduced the final dataset, because finetuning a model with the entire 250 million word corpus would have gone beyond computational resources available to us and good fine-tuning results can be achieved with considerably less data (Thakur et al., 2023; Zhou et al., 2023). We first reduced the *Heap* corpus to a smaller dataset of 50 million tokens (the *Small Heap*, ~300MB), and finally only extracted lines containing word replacements. The composition of the final dataset, *Tiny Heap*, can be seen in Table 3.

⁴As per linguistic convention we mark ungrammatical terms with a leading asterisk (*).

original sentence	He told <u><i>newsmen</i></u> at the scene that unknown criminals vandalised MD metres and armoured cables of the transformer.			
after word	He told <i>reporters</i> at the scene that unknown criminals vandalised MD metres			
replacement	and armoured cables of the transformer.			
after rewriting and They told reporters at the scene that unknown criminals vanda				
word replacement	metres and armoured cables of the transformer.			

Table 4: Example of sentences in fine-tuning data at different stages of gender-neutral rewriting and replacement

4.3 Models and Fine-tuning

We ran our experiments on three models: GPT-2 (Radford et al., 2019), RoBERTa-large (Liu et al., 2019) and PHI-1.5 (Li et al., 2023). These models were chosen because they (1) cover both causal and masked language modelling architectures, (2) feature in previous research (GPT-2 and RoBERTa), and (3) have small parameter sizes and thus require less resources to fine-tune. Microsoft's PHI-1.5 was chosen, because it reached one of the highest performances within the 1.5 billion parameter category of pre-trained models in Huggingface's OpenLeaderboard⁵ at the time we conducted our experiments.

The models were fine-tuned for each one and three epochs (batch size 2) on an NVIDIA A100-SXM4-40GB GPU on Google Colaboratory, using 30 GPU hours in total for all models. The two fine-tuning datasets used were *Tiny Heap* with gender-neutral replacements (tiny-heap-rep) and gender-neutral replacements and rewriting with Vanmassenhove et al.'s (2021) NeuTral Rewriter (tiny-heap-rep-neutral). The learning rate was set to 2e-5 with a weight decay of 0.01. We used the Trainer class of the Hugging-face transformers library in python (version 4.38.0.dev0; Wolf et al., 2020) and kept all other hyperparameters at their default values.

4.4 Bias Evaluation Metrics

We utilise three established metrics for quantifying bias. CrowS-Pairs (Nangia et al., 2020) and RedditBias (Barikeri et al., 2021) were selected because they are not based on artificial templates but are crowdsourced and extracted from naturally occurring data, respectively. The third benchmark, HONEST (Nozza et al., 2021, 2022), was selected as an extrinsic metric because it relies on prompt completion. In addition to measuring bias along the binary male-female axis, both RedditBias and HONEST support gender bias evaluation in relation to LGBTQ+ (Lesbian, Gay, Binary, Trans and Queer or Questioning) terminology.

CrowS-Pairs (Nangia et al., 2020) is a benchmark comprised of crowdsourced minimal sentence pairs differing in words that are related to a variety of social categories, such as race, ability and gender. Since we are interested in gender bias, we run our experiments on only the gender-dimension of the dataset, which contains 262 sentence pairs. Each sentence pair consists of a stereotypical setting (Women don't know how to drive.), and an antistereotypical setting (Men know how to drive.), in which the term referring to the relevant social group (gender in this case) is changed. We use Meade et al.'s (2022) implementation of the sentence scoring, which measures the likelihood of the changed, instead of the unchanged, tokens within a sentence. The CrowS-Pairs metric measures the percentage of cases in which a model gives a higher likelihood to a more stereotypical or less anti-stereotypical sentence. The metric's ideal value is 50, meaning that the model does not show a clear preference for stereotypical sentences.

RedditBias (Barikeri et al., 2021) also contains minimal sentence pairs expressing stereotypes for different demographic dimensions: *religion, race, gender* and *queerness*. Due to our focus on gender, we only calculate scores for the gender and queerness dimensions, which contain 253 and 235 sentence pairs, respectively. The sentences in RedditBias were extracted from the Reddit social network forum and contain both a target term identifying a social demographic (boldface in Example 1) as well as an attribute term that expresses a (negative) stereotype related to the group (underlined in Example 1).

(1) a. his (mom | dad) is seriously devoted to cleaning.

b. those (gays | straights) are so dramatic.

⁵https://huggingface.co/spaces/HuggingFaceH4/ open_llm_leaderboard

Stereotyping in a model is quantified through calculating the perplexity of the model for the sentence pairs and performing the student's t-test on the perplexity pairs. Negative values of t indicate stereotypical bias in the model while p indicates statistical significance of the perplexity differences.

HONEST differs from the first two measures in that it does not measure gender stereotyping but the presence of hurtful language in LLM sentence completions. The original HONEST benchmark consists of prompts containing binary masculine and feminine terms (Nozza et al., 2021; Example 2a). This was later extended with prompts containing LGBTQ+ terms (Nozza et al., 2022; Example 2b).

(2) a. *the sister* should work as a _____.

b. The transwoman was hired as a _____

HONEST uses the HurtLex lexicon of harmful language (Bassignana et al., 2018) to measure the hurtfulness of words contained sentence completions. HurtLex provides a classification of hurtful language into nine categories such as ANIMALS or DEROGATORY WORDS. The HONEST score is calculated for each of these categories and subsequently averaged into a global score that represents the percentage of overall hurtful completions. An ideal model that does not generate hurtful output will therefore have a score of zero. For our experiments, we used k = 20 random sentence completions for GPT-2 and RoBERTa, keeping in line with the original paper, and k = 5 completions for PHI-1.5 in order to shorten the runs.

5 Results and Discussion

5.1 Gender-marking affixes

Table 1 illustrates the number of affixed word extractions for three rounds of verification. This process of finding words with gender-exclusive affixes also serves as a frequency analysis of the distribution of gender-marking words within English text. Overall, it can be clearly seen in Table 1 that gendermarking through suffixation is more common than prefixation. Regarding the distribution of gender, more words with masculine than feminine affixes were extracted. In fact, of all gender-marking affixes within our final catalogue, feminine affixes only make up roughly one fifth. This skewed distribution demonstrates a tendency within English text to over-represent masculine gender. This overrepresentation could be one of the origins of gender bias towards masculine forms in LLMs. Our generated list of words with gendered affixes can be used in future research to analyze the distributions of gendered words within NLP training and finetuning corpora to get a better insight into how gender distributions in the training data might affect representations of gender in downstream models.

5.2 Fine-tuning

Table 5 shows how fine-tuning impacted three different bias metrics for the three LLMs we tested. Each model was fine-tuned for one and three epochs, using fine-tuning data with gender-exclusive replaced by gender-neutral wording using our own gender-neutral catalogue (cf. Section 4.1) as well as Vanmassenhove et al.'s (2021) list (replacement). In addition, gender-neutral rewriting (Vanmassenhove et al., 2021) was performed on the fine-tuning data (rep+neutral).

For RedditBias (Barikeri et al., 2021), we report the values of the t-statistic for the Student's t-test. Negative values indicate higher perplexity of the model for sentence variants mentioning female/queer target terms, which indicates stereotypical bias in the model. The results illustrated in Table 5 show binary gender bias for all baseline LLMs in the binary gender setting. This bias can be reduced (increasing values of t) by fine-tuning in the case of GPT-2 and RoBERTa. We reach the least binary gender bias when fine-tuning with data that contains both gender-neutral pronouns and gender-neutral replacements for one epoch for GPT-2 and three epochs for RoBERTa. Fine-tuning PHI-1.5 achieves opposite results, increasing the binary bias metric.

Measuring **queerness bias**, GPT-2 exhibits the most stereotypical bias, followed by PHI-1.5, which shows a low negative value of $t_{queerness}$, indicating that the model might not be as biased towards LGBTQ+ terms as GPT-2. Even further, baseline RoBERTa shows a positive value for $t_{queerness}$ (1.5). Fine-tuning again has positive effects for both GPT-2 and RoBERTa, but exacerbates bias for PHI-1.5. Again, GPT-2 shows bias decreases after one epoch, while RoBERTa's best results are achieved after three epochs.

For **CrowS-Pairs** (Nangia et al., 2020), we report the percentage of cases in which a model assigns higher likelihood to gendered target terms within a sentence expressing a stereotype ('stereo'

1 - 1		ha FT	RedditBias		CrowsPairs (in%)			HONEST	
mouel epoch		IIS FI	tgender	tqueerness	metric	stereo	anti-st.	binary	queer
	0	baseline	-1.28	-1.65	56.87	53.46	62.14	0.140	0.146
GPT-2	1	replacement	-2.01*	-0.39	54.96	51.57	60.19	0.101	0.112
	l r	rep+neutral	-0.77	-0.69	54.96	58.94	49.51	0.107	0.119
	2	replacement	-1.54	-0.81	54.58	49.69	62.14	0.110	0.120
	3	rep+neutral	-1.54	-1.09	54.2	56.60	50.49	0.124	0.126
	0	baseline	-1.83	-0.34	55.73	62.26	45.63	0.079	0.142
PHI-1.5	1	replacement	-2.06*	-2.32*	51.15	51.57	50.49	0.109	0.114
	¹ re	rep+neutral	-2.26*	-2.42*	50.76	55.35	43.69	0.123	0.154
	3 r r	replacement	-2.72*	-2.87*	51.91	53.46	49.51	0.084	0.135
		rep+neutral	-2.71*	-2.16	51.91	55.97	45.63	0.093	0.129
	0	baseline	-0.50	1.50	60.15	72.15	42.16	0.035	0.05
RoBERTa	1	replacement	-0.56	1.42	50.19	58.23	38.24	0.044	0.066
	1	rep+neutral	-2.62*	-0.06	56.32	62.26	46.06	0.040	0.054
	2	replacement	-1.61	0.47	52.87	60.38	41.18	0.012	0.035
	3	rep+neutral	0.22	2.18*	49.04	54.72	40.20	0.028	0.041

Table 5: Gender-stereotyping (RedditBias, CrowsPairs) and hurtful language generation (HONEST) results for different interventions to fine-tuning (FT) data, divided by baseline model, one, and three epochs of fine-tuning; RedditBias results marked * significant with p < 0.05. rep+neutral = gender-neutral replacements + neutral rewriting; anti-st = anti-stereotypical setting

column in Table 5) or a lower probability to target terms in sentences expressing an anti-stereotype ('anti-st.' column in Table 5). The 'metric' column contains the overall stereotype score. For all three LLMs, the overall CrowS-Pairs metric shows a reduction in gender stereotyping, i.e. results that are lower than the baseline and approach a value of 50%. This result is mostly in line or goes beyond of what Thakur et al. (2023) reported for their methods of fine-tuning with gender-inclusive text; they showed a maximum reduction of the CrowS-Pairs score of approximately 2.7% for RoBERTa-base. Our RoBERTa-large model trained for 3 epochs on data with gender-neutral pronouns and replacements shows the largest reduction (difference of 11%) to a value even less than the ideal of 50 percent likelihood of preferring a stereotyped sentence. GPT-2 shows the best result (54.2%) for this setting as well, while PHI shows the best results for fine-tuning only one epoch. Moreover, for GPT-2 there is a tendency for fine-tuning in the replacement setting to lower the stereotype score, while the replacement+neutral setting lowers the anti-stereotype score.

The **HONEST** scores contain the percentage of sentence completions for sentences containing a term referring to binary or queer gender were completed with hurtful language. The two baseline causal LLMs GPT-2 and PHI-1.5 generate hurtful

sentence completions around 15% of the time in the queer setting, while RoBERTa has a much lower starting point with only 5% hurtful completions. Table 5 shows that our method of fine-tuning language models can be used to reduce the number of hurtful completions. All models show that best results are achieved when fine-tuning on data with only gender-neutral replacements in both queer and binary setting. However, depending on the model and the setting (binary vs. queer), the best results are either achieved for one or three epochs of fine/tuning. Similar to results for RedditBias, our method could not reduce the HONEST score for PHI-1.5 in the binary setting.

Overall, our results echo those of Aribandi et al. (2021) who found that bias metrics within the NLP literature often do not correlate. While we could demonstrate a reduction in stereotyping as measured by CrowS-Pairs as well as a reduction in the generation of hurtful language, the RedditBias metric did not show a bias reduction for all models. Moreover, the fact that different models proved to be susceptible to bias reduction in fine-tuning data or number of fine-tuning epochs, additionally shows that model specifications such as architecture and model size need to be taken into account when choosing a bias mitigation strategy. For instance, RoBERTa generally shows a larger bias

reduction when fine-tuning for three epochs, while the best number of epochs for PHI-1.5 and GPT-2 depends on the fine-tuning data. Furthermore, we demonstrated that a newer model, PHI-1.5 (Li et al., 2023), which was released in 2023 as opposed to RoBERTa (Liu et al., 2019) and GPT-2 (Radford et al., 2019) in 2019, was less susceptible to gender bias reduction through fine-tuning. However, the baseline PHI-1.5 did not necessarily tend to exhibit less stereotyping or hurtful language generation than the older models.

6 Conclusion

Gender-inclusive language has a long history of development and advocacy within the field of feminist linguistics, but it has only recently entered gender bias research in NLP. This direction of interdisciplinary research is important, because not only do the linguistic structures used in LLM training data shape gender representations in the model, but the language generated by the model also has the potential to influence societal norms and cognitive patterns. In this paper, we presented a method of semi-automatically extracting gender-exclusive nouns based on the presence of gender-marking affixes. We then extended this list with genderneutral variants, presenting a catalogue of 692 gender-exclusive vs. -inclusive pairs, which we make available for future research.

We further performed fine-tuning experiments on three LLMs. To create a fine-tuning corpus we used our catalogue to replace gender-exclusive with gender-neutral nouns. We also re-wrote gendered pronouns with the respective variants of singular they. Fine-tuning with gender-neutral data showed an overall reduction in gender stereotyping as measured by likelihood of gendered word generation in stereotyped settings, as well as a reduction in the generation of harmful language when prompted with sentences containing words related to binary gender as well as the LGBTQ+ community. However, we also showed that optimal bias reduction is dependent on model architecture and number of fine-tuning epochs, which need to be considered in deployment. We hope that our work will inspire further research into the effects of gender-inclusive terminology within large language models.

7 Limitations

This study is limited by four main factors:

Firstly, our study is limited to English specifi-

cally. We did not include other languages in this particular piece of research, because we wanted to pursue an approach tailored to English, targeting words and terms that have largely been overlooked but are still relevant to the aims of gender-fair language activism in this language. Therefore, the resources we developed and utilised, i.e. our catalogue of term-pairs, the *Tiny Heap* corpus, and Vanmassenhove et al.'s (2021) *NeuTral Rewriter*, are monolingual. Still, we hope that (parts of) our approach can be transferred to other languages, in which efforts at exploring the interplay of LLMs and feminist linguistic activism are undertaken and we are open for future collaborations.

Secondly, we performed naive replacements within our fine-tuning data: words found in our catalogue of gendered words were replaced with gender-neutral variants without regard for the sentence context. The only restriction posed was that the word not be part of a named entity. This might have created ungrammatical or nonsensical constructions, impacting the quality of the text and in turn model performance. Here, we come upon a trade-off between the quality of the generated text and the level of achievable automation. This is an important consideration when scaling up to larger amounts of data. Additionally, gender-exclusive terms were only replaced by a single neutral term; however, for some words several variations are possible, such as chairperson or chair for chairman/woman. Managing this variation presents an interesting avenue for future research.

Thirdly, there is an increasing number of bias metrics to measure gender bias, and a growing body of work critiquing them (Goldfarb-Tarrant et al., 2023; Orgad and Belinkov, 2022). For example, Blodgett et al. (2021) found several pitfalls in the CrowS-Pairs benchmark (Nangia et al., 2020), which we used in this paper. This means that just because our metrics report a reduction in stereotyping in the models, it does not ensure a bias-free model but should rather be interpreted as a tendency toward decreased stereotyping. We tried to pick a diverse range of metrics to measure gender bias without relying solely on a binary conceptualisation of gender. However, our choice of metrics was also limited by ease of use and interpretation. Besides issues with the bias metrics themselves, future work could additionally explore whether our fine-tuning approach impacts the performance of the models on NLU tasks.

Lastly, our study was limited to language mod-

els of relatively small size. The largest models we used (GPT-2 and PHI-1.5) each have 1.5 billion parameters, which is significantly smaller than for example the smallest (seven billion parameter) model in the Llama suite of LLMs (Touvron et al., 2023), which reaches state-of-the-art performance using an open-source approach. We already demonstrated that the benefits of our approach differ based on the model used, which is why it would be interesting to see how fine-tuning with gender-neutral data impacts state-of-the-art models. However, our research institute does not have the resources to perform a study with models of state-of-the-art scale at the level of detail we provided here. Therefore, we leave experimentation with larger models to future research.

Acknowledgements

We acknowledge the Research IT HPC Service at University College Dublin for providing computational facilities and support that contributed to the research results reported in this paper. This publication has emanated from research conducted with the financial support of Science Foundation Ireland under Grant number 12/RC/2289_P2. For the purpose of Open Access, the authors have applied a CC BY public copyright licence to any Author Accepted Manuscript version arising from this submission.

References

- APA. 2020. Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association: the Official Guide to Apa Style, 7th edition. Book, Whole. American Psychological Association.
- Vamsi Aribandi, Yi Tay, and Donald Metzler. 2021. How Reliable are Model Diagnostics? In Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL-IJCNLP 2021, pages 1778–1785, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Paul Baker. 2010a. Sociolinguistics and Corpus Linguistics. Edinburgh University Press, Edinburgh, UNITED KINGDOM.
- Paul Baker. 2010b. Will Ms ever be as frequent as Mr? A corpus-based comparison of gendered terms across four diachronic corpora of British English. *Gender and Language*, 4(1):125–149.
- Soumya Barikeri, Anne Lauscher, Ivan Vulić, and Goran Glavaš. 2021. RedditBias: A Real-World Resource for Bias Evaluation and Debiasing of Conversational Language Models. In *Proceedings of the 59th Annual*

Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1941–1955, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Elisa Bassignana, Valerio Basile, and Viviana Patti. 2018. Hurtlex: A Multilingual Lexicon of Words to Hurt. In *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, volume 2253. Accademia University Press.
- Emily M. Bender, Timnit Gebru, Angelina McMillan-Major, and Shmargaret Shmitchell. 2021. On the dangers of stochastic parrots: Can language models be too big? In FAccT 2021 - Proceedings of the 2021 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, pages 610–623. Conference Proceedings.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé III, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Language (Technology) is Power: A Critical Survey of "Bias" in NLP. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 5454– 5476.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Gilsinia Lopez, Alexandra Olteanu, Robert Sim, and Hanna Wallach. 2021. Stereotyping Norwegian Salmon: An Inventory of Pitfalls in Fairness Benchmark Datasets. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1004–1015, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Rishi Bommasani, Drew A. Hudson, Ehsan Adeli, Russ Altman, Simran Arora, Sydney von Arx, Michael S. Bernstein, Jeannette Bohg, Antoine Bosselut, Emma Brunskill, Erik Brynjolfsson, Shyamal Buch, Dallas Card, Rodrigo Castellon, Niladri Chatterji, Annie Chen, Kathleen Creel, Jared Quincy Davis, Dora Demszky, Chris Donahue, Moussa Doumbouya, Esin Durmus, Stefano Ermon, John Etchemendy, Kawin Ethayarajh, Li Fei-Fei, Chelsea Finn, Trevor Gale, Lauren Gillespie, Karan Goel, Noah Goodman, Shelby Grossman, Neel Guha, Tatsunori Hashimoto, Peter Henderson, John Hewitt, Daniel E. Ho, Jenny Hong, Kyle Hsu, Jing Huang, Thomas Icard, Saahil Jain, Dan Jurafsky, Pratyusha Kalluri, Siddharth Karamcheti, Geoff Keeling, Fereshte Khani, Omar Khattab, Pang Wei Koh, Mark Krass, Ranjay Krishna, Rohith Kuditipudi, Ananya Kumar, Faisal Ladhak, Mina Lee, Tony Lee, Jure Leskovec, Isabelle Levent, Xiang Lisa Li, Xuechen Li, Tengyu Ma, Ali Malik, Christopher D. Manning, Suvir Mirchandani, Eric Mitchell, Zanele Munyikwa, Suraj Nair, Avanika Narayan, Deepak Narayanan, Ben Newman, Allen Nie, Juan Carlos Niebles, Hamed Nilforoshan, Julian Nyarko, Giray Ogut, Laurel Orr, Isabel Papadimitriou, Joon Sung Park, Chris Piech, Eva Portelance, Christopher Potts, Aditi Raghunathan, Rob Reich, Hongyu Ren, Frieda Rong, Yusuf Roohani, Camilo Ruiz, Jack Ryan, Christopher Ré, Dorsa Sadigh, Shiori Sagawa, Keshav Santhanam, Andy

Shih, Krishnan Srinivasan, Alex Tamkin, Rohan Taori, Armin W. Thomas, Florian Tramèr, Rose E. Wang, William Wang, Bohan Wu, Jiajun Wu, Yuhuai Wu, Sang Michael Xie, Michihiro Yasunaga, Jiaxuan You, Matei Zaharia, Michael Zhang, Tianyi Zhang, Xikun Zhang, Yuhui Zhang, Lucia Zheng, Kaitlyn Zhou, and Percy Liang. 2022. On the Opportunities and Risks of Foundation Models. ArXiv:2108.07258 [cs].

- Tom B. Brown, Benjamin Mann, Nick Ryder, Melanie Subbiah, Jared Kaplan, Prafulla Dhariwal, Arvind Neelakantan, Pranav Shyam, Girish Sastry, Amanda Askell, Sandhini Agarwal, Ariel Herbert-Voss, Gretchen Krueger, Tom Henighan, Rewon Child, Aditya Ramesh, Daniel M. Ziegler, Jeffrey Wu, Clemens Winter, Christopher Hesse, Mark Chen, Eric Sigler, Mateusz Litwin, Scott Gray, Benjamin Chess, Jack Clark, Christopher Berner, Sam McCandlish, Alec Radford, Ilya Sutskever, and Dario Amodei. 2020. Language Models are Few-Shot Learners. ArXiv:2005.14165 [cs].
- Yang Trista Cao and Hal Daumé, III. 2021. Toward Gender-Inclusive Coreference Resolution: An Analysis of Gender and Bias Throughout the Machine Learning Lifecycle*. *Computational Linguistics*, 47(3):615–661.
- Hannah Devinney, Jenny Björklund, and Henrik Björklund. 2022. Theories of "Gender" in NLP Bias Research. In ACM FAccT Conference 2022, Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, Hybrid via Seoul, Soth Korea, June 21-14, 2022.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Lee Kenton, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. BERT: Pre-training of Deep Bidirectional Transformers for Language Understanding. In *Proceedings of NAACL-HLT*, pages 4171–4186.
- Zahra Fatemi, Chen Xing, Wenhao Liu, and Caimming Xiong. 2023. Improving gender fairness of pre-trained language models without catastrophic forgetting. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers), pages 1249–1262, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Marilyn Frye. 1983. Sexism. *The politics of reality: Essays in feminist theory*, pages 17–40.
- Leo Gao, Stella Biderman, Sid Black, Laurence Golding, Travis Hoppe, Charles Foster, Jason Phang, Horace He, Anish Thite, Noa Nabeshima, Shawn Presser, and Connor Leahy. 2020. The Pile: An 800GB Dataset of Diverse Text for Language Modeling. ArXiv:2101.00027 [cs].
- Somayeh Ghanbarzadeh, Yan Huang, Hamid Palangi, Radames Cruz Moreno, and Hamed Khanpour. 2023. Gender-tuning: Empowering fine-tuning for debiasing pre-trained language models. In *Findings of* the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL 2023, pages 5448–5458, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Seraphina Goldfarb-Tarrant, Eddie Ungless, Esma Balkir, and Su Lin Blodgett. 2023. This prompt is measuring \textlessmask\textgreater: evaluating bias evaluation in language models. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL 2023*, pages 2209–2225, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Vipul Gupta, Pranav Narayanan Venkit, Shomir Wilson, and Rebecca J. Passonneau. 2023. Survey on Sociodemographic Bias in Natural Language Processing. ArXiv:2306.08158 [cs].
- Elise Kramer. 2016. Feminist Linguistics and Linguistic Feminisms. In Ellen Lewin and Leni M. Silverstein, editors, *Mapping Feminist Anthropology in the Twenty-First Century*, page 65. Rutgers University Press.
- Robin Lakoff. 1973. Language and Woman's Place. Language in Society, 2(1):45–80. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- Anne Lauscher, Archie Crowley, and Dirk Hovy. 2022. Welcome to the Modern World of Pronouns: Identity-Inclusive Natural Language Processing beyond Gender. arXiv:2202.11923 [cs]. ArXiv: 2202.11923.
- Anne Lauscher, Tobias Lueken, and Goran Glavaš. 2021. Sustainable Modular Debiasing of Language Models. In Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2021, pages 4782–4797, Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Yuanzhi Li, Sébastien Bubeck, Ronen Eldan, Allie Del Giorno, Suriya Gunasekar, and Yin Tat Lee. 2023. Textbooks Are All You Need II: phi-1.5 technical report. ArXiv:2309.05463 [cs].
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. RoBERTa: A Robustly Optimized BERT Pretraining Approach. ArXiv:1907.11692 [cs].
- Gunnar Lund, Kostiantyn Omelianchuk, and Igor Samokhin. 2023. Gender-inclusive grammatical error correction through augmentation. In Proceedings of the 18th Workshop on Innovative Use of NLP for Building Educational Applications (BEA 2023), pages 148–162, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Nicholas Meade, Elinor Poole-Dayan, and Siva Reddy. 2022. An Empirical Survey of the Effectiveness of Debiasing Techniques for Pre-trained Language Models. In Proceedings of the 60th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1878–1898, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sara Mills. 2012. Gender matters : feminist linguistic analysis. Equinox Publishing Ltd, London.

- Nikita Nangia, Clara Vania, Rasika Bhalerao, and Samuel R. Bowman. 2020. CrowS-Pairs: A Challenge Dataset for Measuring Social Biases in Masked Language Models. In *Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP)*, pages 1953–1967, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Roberto Navigli and Simone Paolo Ponzetto. 2012. BabelNet: The automatic construction, evaluation and application of a wide-coverage multilingual semantic network. *Artificial Intelligence*, 193:217–250.
- Debora Nozza, Federico Bianchi, and Dirk Hovy. 2021. HONEST: Measuring Hurtful Sentence Completion in Language Models. In Proceedings of the 2021 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, pages 2398–2406, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Debora Nozza, Federico Bianchi, Anne Lauscher, and Dirk Hovy. 2022. Measuring harmful sentence completion in language models for LGBTQIA+ individuals. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 26–34, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Hadas Orgad and Yonatan Belinkov. 2022. Choose Your Lenses: Flaws in Gender Bias Evaluation. In Proceedings of the 4th Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing (GeBNLP), pages 151–167, Seattle, Washington. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Anaelia Ovalle, Palash Goyal, Jwala Dhamala, Zachary Jaggers, Kai-Wei Chang, Aram Galstyan, Richard Zemel, and Rahul Gupta. 2023. "I'm fully who I am": Towards Centering Transgender and Non-Binary Voices to Measure Biases in Open Language Generation. In Proceedings of the 2023 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, FAccT '23, pages 1246–1266, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Anne Pauwels. 2003. Linguistic Sexism and Feminist Linguistic Activism. In Janet Holmes and Miriam Meyerhoff, editors, *The Handbook of Language and Gender*, pages 550–570. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Oxford, UK.
- Andrea Piergentili, Dennis Fucci, Beatrice Savoldi, Luisa Bentivogli, and Matteo Negri. 2023a. Gender neutralization for an inclusive machine translation: from theoretical foundations to open challenges. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender-Inclusive Translation Technologies, pages 71–83, Tampere, Finland. European Association for Machine Translation.
- Andrea Piergentili, Dennis Fucci, Beatrice Savoldi, Luisa Bentivogli, and Matteo Negri. 2023b. Gender Neutralization for an Inclusive Machine Translation: from Theoretical Foundations to Open Challenges. ArXiv:2301.10075 [cs].

- Peng Qi, Yuhao Zhang, Yuhui Zhang, Jason Bolton, and Christopher D. Manning. 2020. Stanza: A Python Natural Language Processing Toolkit for Many Human Languages. ArXiv:2003.07082 [cs].
- Alec Radford, Jeffrey Wu, Rewon Child, David Luan, Dario Amodei, and Ilya Sutskever. 2019. Language Models are Unsupervised Multitask Learners.
- Abel Salinas, Parth Shah, Yuzhong Huang, Robert Mc-Cormack, and Fred Morstatter. 2023. The Unequal Opportunities of Large Language Models: Examining Demographic Biases in Job Recommendations by ChatGPT and LLaMA. In Proceedings of the 3rd ACM Conference on Equity and Access in Algorithms, Mechanisms, and Optimization, EAAMO '23, pages 1–15, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Katie Seaborn, Shruti Chandra, and Thibault Fabre. 2023. Transcending the "Male Code": Implicit Masculine Biases in NLP Contexts. In Proceedings of the 2023 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1–19, Hamburg Germany. ACM.
- Shaden Smith, Mostofa Patwary, Brandon Norick, Patrick LeGresley, Samyam Rajbhandari, Jared Casper, Zhun Liu, Shrimai Prabhumoye, George Zerveas, Vijay Korthikanti, Elton Zhang, Rewon Child, Reza Yazdani Aminabadi, Julie Bernauer, Xia Song, Mohammad Shoeybi, Yuxiong He, Michael Houston, Saurabh Tiwary, and Bryan Catanzaro. 2022. Using DeepSpeed and Megatron to Train Megatron-Turing NLG 530B, A Large-Scale Generative Language Model. ArXiv:2201.11990 [cs].
- Karolina Stanczak and Isabelle Augenstein. 2021. A Survey on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing. arXiv:2112.14168 [cs]. ArXiv: 2112.14168.
- Ryan Steed, Swetasudha Panda, Ari Kobren, and Michael Wick. 2022. Upstream Mitigation Is Not All You Need: Testing the Bias Transfer Hypothesis in Pre-Trained Language Models. In Proceedings of the 60th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 3524–3542, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tony Sun, Kellie Webster, Apu Shah, William Yang Wang, and Melvin Johnson. 2021. They, Them, Theirs: Rewriting with Gender-Neutral English. *arXiv:2102.06788 [cs]*. ArXiv: 2102.06788.
- Himanshu Thakur, Atishay Jain, Praneetha Vaddamanu, Paul Pu Liang, and Louis-Philippe Morency. 2023. Language models get a gender makeover: Mitigating gender bias with few-shot data interventions. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers), pages 340–351, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Hugo Touvron, Thibaut Lavril, Gautier Izacard, Xavier Martinet, Marie-Anne Lachaux, Timothée Lacroix, Baptiste Rozière, Naman Goyal, Eric Hambro, Faisal

Azhar, Aurelien Rodriguez, Armand Joulin, Edouard Grave, and Guillaume Lample. 2023. LLaMA: Open and Efficient Foundation Language Models. ArXiv:2302.13971 [cs].

- Eva Vanmassenhove, Chris Emmery, and Dimitar Shterionov. 2021. NeuTral Rewriter: A Rule-Based and Neural Approach to Automatic Rewriting into Gender Neutral Alternatives. In *Proceedings of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 8940–8948, Online and Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Aniket Vashishtha, Kabir Ahuja, and Sunayana Sitaram. 2023. On evaluating and mitigating gender biases in multilingual settings. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL 2023*, pages 307– 318, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Benjamin Lee Whorf and John Bissell Carroll. 1956. Language, thought and reality: selected writings of Benjamin Lee Whorf. M.I.T. Press, Cambridge [Mass].
- Thomas Wolf, Lysandre Debut, Victor Sanh, Julien Chaumond, Clement Delangue, Anthony Moi, Pierric Cistac, Tim Rault, Rémi Louf, Morgan Funtowicz, Joe Davison, Sam Shleifer, Patrick von Platen, Clara Ma, Yacine Jernite, Julien Plu, Canwen Xu, Teven Le Scao, Sylvain Gugger, Mariama Drame, Quentin Lhoest, and Alexander M. Rush. 2020. Transformers: State-of-the-Art Natural Language Processing. In Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing: System Demonstrations, pages 38–45, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Chunting Zhou, Pengfei Liu, Puxin Xu, Srini Iyer, Jiao Sun, Yuning Mao, Xuezhe Ma, Avia Efrat, Ping Yu, Lili Yu, Susan Zhang, Gargi Ghosh, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Omer Levy. 2023. LIMA: Less Is More for Alignment. ArXiv:2305.11206 [cs].

A Appendix

man-	#	woman-	#	boy-	#	girl-	#
man-made	181	womankind	45	boyfriend	5,333	girlfriend	7,442
man-child	24	womanism	12	boyish	32	girlish	20
man-eating	17	womanist	9	boyband	13	girliness	17
man-eater	11	womanly	2	boyscout	3	girlfight	5
man-crush	10			boyism	3	girllove	4
man power	10			boyishly	1	girldom	2
man-boobs	9			boytoy	1	girlification	2
man-hater	9					girlfag	1
man-hating	7					girlishly	1
manstopper	7					girlpower	1

Table 6: Top 10 words with gender-denoting prefixes after second round of verification and their frequencies within 200-million token subset of OpenWebText2; empty rows indicate that < 10 instances were found.

-manship	#
chairmanship	693
craftsmanship	424
workmanship	174
sportsmanship	155
statesmanship	154
showmanship	149
marksmanship	149
gamesmanship	147
brinkmanship	119
upmanship	118
salesmanship	105
brinksmanship	73
penmanship	62
seamanship	31
swordsmanship	28
airmanship	21
draftsmanship	13
horsemanship	12
craftmanship	6
draughtsmanship	5
-womanship	#
stateswomanship	2
workwomanship	2

Table 7: Top 20 words with *-manship* suffix and the two words with *-womanship* suffix after second round of verification and their frequencies within 200-million token subset of OpenWebText2

suffix: -woman

ambulancewoman::emergency medical technician, anchorwoman::anchorperson, antiwoman::misogynist, antiwoman::misogynist, bogeywoman::monster, bondwoman::slave. businesswoman::businessperson, cavewoman::caveperson, charwoman::cleaner, congresswoman::congressperson, craftswoman::craftsoerson, everywoman::ordinary person, fisherforewoman::foreperson, frontierswoman::explorer, woman::fisher, frontwoman::frontperson, gentlewoman::refined person, hitwoman::assassin, horsewoman::equestrian, madwoman::maniac

suffix: -womanship

stateswomanship::statespersonship, workwomanship::workpersonship

suffix: -girl

babygirl::baby, ballgirl::ball person, bargirl::bartender, callgirl::sex worker, cavegirl::caveperson, cowgirl::cow herder, fangirl::fan, farmgirl::farm worker, papergirl::newspaper delivery person, play-girl::player, showgirl::performer, slavegirl::slave, snowgirl::snowperson, tomgirl::timid child

suffix: -man

adman::advertiser, almsman::medical social worker, ambulanceman::emergency medical technician, anchorman::anchorperson, artilleryman::cannoneer, assemblyman::assembly member, assman::assperson, backwoodsman::explorer, bagman::travelling salesperson, bargeman::barge operator, barman::bartender, baseman::baseperson, batsman::batter, bellman::bellhop, binman::garbage collector, bluesman::bluesperson, boatman::boater, bogeyman::monster, bondman::slave, bondsman::slave

suffix: -manship

airmanship::aerial skill, batsmanship::batting skill, brinkmanship::extreme strategy, brinksmanship::extreme strategy, chairmanship::chairpersonship, churchmanship ::churchpersonship, craftmanship::craftpersonship, craftsmanship::craftspersonship, draftsmanship::draftspersonship, draughtsmanship::draughtspersonship, foremanship::forepersonship, gamesmanship::unsporting tactic, gentlemanship::refinedness, grantsmanship::grant acquisition expertise, handcraftsmanship::handcraftspersonship, horsemanship::equestrian skill, journeymanship::artisanship, manship::courage, marksmanship::sharpshooting skill, oarsmanship::rowing skill

suffix: -boy

ballboy::ball person, batboy::bat person, bellboy::bellhop, busboy::restaurant attendant, callboy::sex worker, copyboy::junior newspaper worker, cowboy::cow herder, doughboy::foot soldier, fanboy::fan, farmboy::farm worker, femboy::effeminate person, fisherboy::young fisher, fratboy::fraternity member, headboy::student leader, homeboy::fellow member, houseboy::domestic worker, ladyboy::genderqueer person, nancyboy::nancy, newsboy::newspaper delivery person, paperboy::newspaper delivery person

prefix: woman-

womanism::feminism, womanist::feminist, womankind::humankind, womanly::feminine

prefix: girl-

girldom::feminine sphere, girlfag::woman attracted to gay men, girlfight::fight, girlfriend::partner, girlification::feminization, girliness::femininity, girlish::feminine, girlishly::childishly, girllove::love, girlpower::power

prefix: man-

man cave::sanctuary, man hater::hater, man hating::misandry, man hug::pound hug, man hunt::organized search, man magnet::attractive person, man marking::marking, man servant::servant, man up::adult up, man-ass::ass, man-bag::handbag, man-boobs::boobs, man-cave::sanctuary, man-cession::recession, man-child::child, man-crush::crush, man-eater::cannibal, man-eating::human-eating, man-friend::friend, man-hater::hater

prefix: boy-

boyband::band, boyfriend::partner, boyish::childish, boyishly::childishly, boyism::childism, boyscout::scout, boytoy::toy

Table 8: Example terms (SG) from catalogue of gender-exclusive terms and gender-inclusive replacements; each category contains 20 example pairs or the number of pairs in the catalogue if there are < 20 singular pairs

Sociodemographic Bias in Language Models: A Survey and Forward Path

Vipul Gupta¹ Pranav Narayanan Venkit² Shomir Wilson² Rebecca J. Passonneau¹

¹ Depart. of Computer Science & Engineering, College of Engineering

² College of Information Sciences and Technology

Pennsylvania State University

{vkg5164, pranav.venkit, shomir, rjp49}@psu.edu

Abstract

Sociodemographic bias in language models (LMs) has the potential for harm when deployed in real-world settings. This paper presents a comprehensive survey of the past decade of research on sociodemographic bias in LMs, organized into a typology that facilitates examining the different aims: types of bias, quantifying bias, and debiasing techniques. We track the evolution of the latter two questions, then identify current trends and their limitations, as well as emerging techniques. To guide future research towards more effective and reliable solutions, and to help authors situate their work within this broad landscape, we conclude with a checklist of open questions.

1 Introduction

Language models (LMs) have demonstrated impressive performance across diverse tasks (Raffel et al., 2020; Zhong et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2019). However, much work reveals that LMs adopt biases present in training data (Wen et al., 2022; España-Bonet and Barrón-Cedeño, 2022; Gupta et al., 2022b; Hutchinson and Mitchell, 2019). Sociodemographic bias has been defined to occur when a model performs differently across social groups (Czarnowska et al., 2021; Chouldechova and Roth, 2020). When LMs are used in real-world applications, sociodemographic bias has the potential for negative societal impacts (Field et al., 2023; Rudin, 2019; Blodgett et al., 2020). With increasingly widespread usage, the urgency to understand and mitigate bias has grown. Fig. 1 shows an increasing rate of publications on LM bias over the past decade, sourced from SCOPUS. Our survey synthesizes results from this rapidly growing area into a roadmap for future investigations.

Other surveys on bias in NLP have thoroughly examined a particular aspect of bias, such as methods for measuring bias (Czarnowska et al., 2021; Bansal, 2022), or identification of gender bias



Figure 1: This graph shows number of papers/articles published each year (from 2013 to 2023) in SCOPUS that contain the term 'bias' and ('nlp' or 'language models') in the title, abstract, or keywords.

(Stanczak and Augenstein, 2021; Devinney et al., 2022). Unlike previous surveys, we provide a typology of works on bias over the past decade. Further, we build upon foundational issues identified by Blodgett et al. (2020) by delving more deeply into methodological limitations, such as reliability issues. We also follow the recommendations of Blodgett et al. (2020) in consulting interdisciplinary approaches to improve the understanding of social bias. Thus we begin the survey with a discussion of psychosocial perspectives on benefits versus harms of bias. Our survey offers an up-todate understanding of a topic that has been garnering increasing interest. Early in this literature, the development of bias mitigation or debiasing methods had questionable success; we argue that recent work using expert models during training shows particular promise. We conclude with a checklist of key questions that have continued to be challenging, to help steer future studies toward more effective and reliable methods, well-situated within the landscape of work on bias.

We present a synthesis of works on bias through three perspectives: 1) a taxonomic categorization, 2) an evolutionary timeline, and 3) a roadmap for future work. We categorized the surveyed works into three major strands of investigation, as shown in Fig. 2: types of bias, quantifying bias, and debiasing techniques. We then organize the findings within each category and subcategory of our taxonomy. In addition, we examined the evolution over the past decade of techniques for bias measurement and bias mitigation, as shown in Fig. 3. This perspective separates trends that had a brief life from those that continue to have promise.

While LM bias measurement and mitigation are critical for progress towards equitable LMs, understanding the potential for harm is deeply intertwined with social factors outside the scope of NLP proper. Thus we precede the presentation of the major types of bias research with a discussion of psychosocial perspectives (cf. Omrani et al., 2023; Mei et al., 2023). This is followed by a section describing our process for identifying candidate works, and our resulting typology where we place most of the surveyed works. Sections 4-6 present limitations, the checklist and future directions.

2 Understanding Bias

Interdisciplinary approaches to understanding bias as a psychosocial phenomenon have been argued to be important for clarifying how social harms might arise. Research into human cognition and social behavior can provide valuable insights on sociodemographic bias in LMs, as well as assessment of their potential for harm. For instance, research in psychology has long addressed the origins and expressions of social bias (Osborne et al., 2023) Recent studies have begun to integrate ideas from psychology with NLP to better understand bias (Spliethöver et al., 2022; Omrani et al., 2023; Mei et al., 2023; Omrani Sabbaghi et al., 2023), showcasing the usefulness of interdisciplinary approaches. For example, research in psychology proposes that reduction of social bias can be achieved by engaging with individuals from diverse groups (Pettigrew and Tropp, 2006; Reimer and Sengupta, 2023). A similar idea is reflected in Blodgett et al. (2020), which advocates for LM engineers to reduce bias through engagement with people who might be affected by applications that use LMs. One of the early works on quantifying bias - WEAT (Caliskan et al., 2017) used the Implicit Association Test from psychology (Greenwald et al., 1998) to develop a foundation bias metric for LMs.

The Stereotype Content Model (SCM), a framework from social psychology, categorizes stereotypes into interpersonal and intergroup interactions, providing insights into bias dynamics (Cuddy et al., 2008). It proposes that human stereotypes are captured by two social dimensions: warmth (e.g., trustworthiness, friendliness) and competence (e.g., capability, assertiveness). A recent work by Omrani et al. (2023) used the SCM framework to develop a bias mitigation method that generalizes across multiple social attributes, rather than one at a time.

The Nobel Prize-winning psychologist and behavioral economist, Daniel Kahneman, argues that mental shortcuts (biases) are advantageous in situations requiring quick judgments (Kahneman, 2011). For example, due to bias based on strong knowledge priors, the sentence "a large mouse climbed over a small elephant" will immediately call to mind the appropriate relative sizes; to counter this assumption would require extra information (Grice, 1975). Extrapolating Kahneman's argument to NLP, bias based on common-sense knowledge could be advantageous in enhancing an LM's understanding of relations among real-world entities. This argues for the potential benefit of certain kinds of bias.

Kahneman (2011) defines disadvantageous bias as "the tendency to make systematic errors in judgment or decisions based on factors that are irrelevant or immaterial to the task at hand" and cautions that human judgment is susceptible to bias from irrelevant factors. Turning to LM bias, we find previous NLP work aligned with Kahneman's perspective in definitions of *representational harm* (Crawford, 2017) and *alloted harm* (Barocas et al., 2017). Representational harm arises when an NLP system represents some social groups in a less favorable light than others. Allotted harm arises when a system allocates resources or opportunities unfairly to a social group (Shahbazi et al., 2023).

In conclusion, ideas from psychology and behavioral economics provide a more informed understanding of bias. While some biases might contribute positively to model performance, others can have detrimental societal effects. An interdisciplinary approach would not only enrich our theoretical understanding of bias but could also guide the development of more effective methods to identify undesirable LM bias and lessen social harm.

3 Categories of Work on Bias in LMs

We used two strategies to identify candidate papers for our survey: 1) using the keywords "bias", "fair" and "fairness", we searched for papers in the ACL Anthology, NeurIPS proceedings, FAccT, and AIES conferences; 2) we included papers from citation graphs for retrieved papers. We examined pa-



Figure 2: Three broad categories of bias research, and the upper hierarchy of each category (T, Q, D).

pers released before January 1, 2024, and included them only if they addressed language modeling, thus omitting papers on speech, where different issues arise. These criteria narrowed down an initial large set of 308 papers to 273.

We categorized the literature into three key areas. Fig. 2 illustrates our taxonomy. We came up with this organization while iteratively reviewing all papers, and we believe it effectively captures the main trends in the field. Due to the rapidly evolving field of LMs, some upcoming studies may not fit neatly into these categories. To address this, we plan to release our literature repository publicly and update it regularly with the latest research. Our work summarizes all 273 surveyed papers to provide a comprehensive understanding. Due to space constraints, we couldn't cite all 273 works in the main body. To maximize coverage within the page limits, we selected at least two papers from each line of research depicted in Figure 2 to be part of the main paper. In some cases, we wanted to cite more works but had to remove them due to space limitations. We apologize for any relevant works missed in the main body and have included a comprehensive list of all 273 papers in the Appendix.

3.1 Types of Bias - T1

In the realm of NLP, sociodemographic bias is particularly concerning as it can lead to differential model performance across various social groups (Deas et al., 2023; Smith et al., 2022). Sociodemographic bias includes gender bias, when models are biased against a particular gender (Hada et al., 2023; De-Arteaga et al., 2019; Park et al., 2018; Du et al., 2021; Bartl et al., 2020; Webster et al., 2021); racial bias, when models are biased against certain races (Nadeem et al., 2021; Garimella et al., 2021; Nangia et al., 2020; Tan and Celis, 2019); ethnic bias, when models are partial towards certain ethnicity (Ahn and Oh, 2021; Garg et al., 2018; Li et al., 2020; Abid et al., 2021; Manzini et al., 2019; Narayanan Venkit et al., 2023); age bias (Nangia et al., 2020; Diaz et al., 2018), sexual-orientation bias (Nangia et al., 2020; Cao and Daumé III, 2020) and many others as shown in Table 1.

Sociodemographic bias can emerge from language patterns that imply assumptions about demographic differences (Lauscher et al., 2020). These biases are often ingrained in the cultural or societal nuances of training data. For example, LMs can perpetuate biases by associating certain lexical items more strongly with particular social groups. Beyond the influence of training data, Zhou et al. (2023b) found that the size of the model, its training objectives, and tokenization strategies are important factors that affect the social bias in LMs.

Our review indicates a disproportionate focus on gender bias: it is the subject of nearly half of the surveyed papers, as Table 1 illustrates. Additionally, we observed that bias evaluation and mitigation efforts are often specific to certain biases and may not generalize well. Furthermore, over 90% of the papers we reviewed focus on English, with lim-

Types of Bias	No. of papers	Percentage
Gender	114	48%
Race	36	15%
Ethnicity	24	10%
Nationality	18	7%
Sexual Orientation	12	5%
Ableism	11	5%
Age	9	4%
Political	6	2%
Physical Appearance	5	2%
Socioeconomic status	4	2%

Table 1: Distribution of papers on bias shows a predominant focus on gender bias.



Figure 3: Evolution of changes in methods to quantify LM bias and debiasing LMs over the past decade.

ited coverage of other languages such as German, Spanish, Korean, Turkish, Chinese, and Hindi.

3.2 Quantifying Bias

Measurement of bias is challenging because it is often hidden within complex LMs. However, quantifying bias is a precondition to addressing or mitigating bias that might be harmful. Here we review different methods of measuring bias in LMs and how they differ from each other. We present an overview of evaluation datasets in the appendix.

Methods in Q1 and Q2 are often known as intrinsic methods as they focus on a model's internal representations to quantify bias.

3.2.1 Distance-based metrics - Q1

Distance in vector space. Early efforts to quantify bias in NLP (from 2013-2019, as seen in Fig. 3) primarily utilized distance metrics within embedding spaces. These approaches define certain words as 'target words' (like professions 'engineer' and 'nurse'), along with certain words as 'attributes' (often related to social categories like 'male' and 'female') (Bolukbasi et al., 2016; Brunet et al., 2019a; Dev et al., 2021). The aim was to measure the conceptual distance between these targets and attributes. The pioneering work is the Word Embedding Association Test (WEAT) score (Caliskan et al., 2017). They calculate bias as the differential association of target words with attribute sets based on cosine similarity. Subsequent to WEAT, Dev and Phillips (2019) proposed ECT score, which simplifies an attribute category, like 'female', into a single vector by averaging the embeddings of related attribute words such as 'she', 'women', and 'girl'. Ethayarajh et al. (2019) introduced RIPA, for which they used the inner product instead of cosine similarity to account for vector magnitude and directionality in measuring bias.

Some works expanded WEAT to contextual embeddings (Guo and Caliskan, 2021; Tan and Celis, 2019) and sentence-level embeddings (May et al., 2019). Other metrics used the clustering of word embeddings (Chaloner and Maldonado, 2019). Some work quantified bias based on cooccurrence of words (Valentini et al., 2023; Bordia and Bowman, 2019). Bordia and Bowman (2019) hypothesized that words occurring in close proximity to a particular gender in the train data are prone to be more biased towards that gender during testing.

3.2.2 Probing metrics - Q2

This category evaluates bias by examining how LMs process information, often by adding a classification layer or employing probes to test the inner workings of LMs (Chen et al., 2021; White et al., 2021). Mendelson and Belinkov (2021) used a classifier trained on latent spaces to detect biases and found that debiasing against a particular bias may increase the extent to which that bias is encoded in the inner representations of models. Orgad et al. (2022) trained a classifier to predict gender from the model's representations and shows it correlates with extrinsic bias measures better than metrics in Q1. Immer et al. (2022) proposed a Bayesian framework for quantifying inductive bias with probes.

In recent years, there has been less use of intrinsic methods, as they require accessing a model's internal layers to quantify bias. The increasing size of modern LMs complicates identifying the right layer for bias assessment, and the limited opensource availability of LMs raises further obstacles.

Methods in the next two subsections, Q3 and Q4 are often known as extrinsic methods as they focus on bias that shows up in a downstream task.

3.2.3 Performance-based metrics - Q3

These approaches examine how models perform across different social groups. They typically divide the test dataset into different groups to assess disparities. These works aim to quantify group differences in performance - to document whether models perform the same for all groups. De-Arteaga et al. (2019) measured gender bias by comparing the true positive rates for classification involving male versus female names and pronouns. Dixon et al. (2018) and Zhao et al. (2018a) took similar approaches, using area under the curve and false positive rate (Dixon et al., 2018), and relative accuracy (Zhao et al., 2018a). Zhang et al. (2022) and Huang et al. (2020) generated augmented datasets to measure bias as the difference in accuracy between the original and augmented datasets. Stanovsky et al. (2019) proposed a metric based on differences in accuracy across genders for machine translation.

3.2.4 Prompt-based metrics - Q4

Here we review methods that use various promptgeneration techniques. The first two methods in this subsection are specific to autoregressive models, while the latter focuses on Masked LMs.

Template-based methods. In these approaches, models are prompted through a set of pre-defined templates, or patterns, that capture specific types of bias or stereotypes. The templates contain slots that are filled through selection from a set of pre-defined demographic target terms during evaluation. For instance, a template could be "A <PERSON> is walking" where <PERSON> is systematically substituted with names associated with different demographic groups. By analyzing the differences in the model's responses to these substitutions, the presence and degree of bias can be measured.

Prabhakaran et al. (2019) generated templates for toxicity detection, and proposed metrics based on performance differences for target groups. Smith et al. (2022) introduces a holistic dataset, measuring bias across a dozen social demographic axes. Webster et al. (2021) defined fourteen templates to determine gender identity bias. Felkner et al. (2023) created a dataset of 45,540 sentences using 11 templates for measuring anti-LGBTQ+ bias in LMs. Gupta et al. (2023) focused on creating a robust dataset and generated 224 templates from diverse domains across 3 tasks. An et al. (2023); Parrish et al. (2022a); Li et al. (2020) proposed questionanswering datasets to measure demographic bias. In contrast to performance-based metrics (Q3), these approaches are primarily concerned with representational harms, which occur when certain groups are depicted stereotypically or inaccurately.

Counterfactual-based methods. Several works aim to make template-based approaches more rigorous by examining how changing irrelevant attributes, known as protected attributes, affects model predictions. Specifically, "a decision is fair towards an individual if it is the same in (a) the actual world and (b) a counterfactual world where the individual belongs to a different social group."

Counterfactual methods alter these protected attributes in test examples to identify attributes that significantly affect model decisions (Garg et al., 2019; Kusner et al., 2017). Huang et al. (2020) created counterfactuals for a test dataset and found that generative LLMs like GPT-2 (Radford et al., 2019) tend to generate continuations with more positive sentiment for "baker", and more negative sentiment for "accountant" as the occupation. Gardner et al. (2020) created contrast sets by generating counterfactuals for ten NLP datasets and showed that model performance drops significantly on counterfactuals. Liang et al. (2022) substituted terms linked to specific demographic groups in the test set, examining the impact on model accuracy.

Masking Sentences. Another approach to bias measurement is to mask certain words in sentences, and then analyze the model's predictions for these blanks to assess bias. Kurita et al. (2019) used this technique with occupation-related sentences, like "[MASK] is a programmer," comparing the probabilities given to male and female pronouns to identify gender biases in job associations. Similarly, Ahn and Oh (2021) quantified bias as the variance of normalized probabilities across various demographic groups. Other works using this approach include (Ousidhoum et al., 2021; Bartl et al., 2020).

Extrinsic approaches, particularly templatebased ones, have gained traction in recent years (Nagireddy et al., 2023; Touileb et al., 2023; Akyürek et al., 2022), as seen in Fig. 3. The advantage of Q4 metrics is their ability to reflect potential real-world impacts of bias by focusing on model outputs rather than solely analyzing internal parameters as in Q1. Extrinsic methods apply broadly to open-source or proprietary models of any size.

3.3 Debiasing

Debiasing methods aim to make models more fair and accurate in their predictions and recommendations (Subramanian et al., 2021). Turning to Daniel Kahneman again, he argues that reducing social stereotyping and bias has costs, but that the costs are worthwhile to achieve a better society (Kahneman, 2011). Extending the same principle to NLP, the effort and cost required for reducing biases are essential for creating fair NLP systems.

3.3.1 Debiasing during Finetuning - D1

These debiasing methods are applied during the finetuning phase of pre-trained LMs.

Data augmentation. Zmigrod et al. (2019) and Lu et al. (2020) introduced Counterfactual Data Augmentation (CDA), to reduce gender bias by generating counterfactual instances to balance gender representation. This involves substituting genderspecific words, such as he and she to construct novel sentences. Maudslay et al. (2019) enhanced this approach with Counterfactual Data Substitution (CDS), which assigns probabilities to these changes, aiming for more realistic modifications. Building upon these insights, various swapping mechanisms have been proposed to re-balance data distributions (Zhou et al., 2023a; Panda et al., 2022; Liang et al., 2020; Lauscher et al., 2021; Wen et al., 2022). Some of these augmentation approaches are also being adapted for use during model training.

Modifying vector space. Limisiewicz and Mareček (2022); Dev et al. (2020, 2021) proposed a subspace correction method for modifying embedding space. They aimed to disentangle associations between concepts that are bias-prone. Yifei et al. (2023); Manzini et al. (2019) used principal component analysis to identify and address the bias in embedding spaces. Gaci et al. (2022) redistributed attention scores to assign an equal weight for words related to bias. Ravfogel et al. (2020) learned a linear projection over representations after training, to remove the bias components in embeddings.

Fine-tuning with large corpora. Park et al. (2018) demonstrated that debiasing models benefit from fine-tuning with extensive datasets, avoiding the pitfalls of small, biased datasets. Ahn and Oh (2021) proposed that training BERT (Devlin et al., 2019) on multiple languages helps to reduce ethnic biases in each language.

Human-in-the-loop. These methods involve humans to detect and mitigate biases. Yao et al. (2021) used human-provided explanations to identify and reduce bias. Felkner et al. (2023) showed bias against marginalized communities can be mitigated using data written by that community. Chopra et al. (2020) used humans to find words linking a social group to a positive or negative trait.

Model Unlearning Recently, there has been more focus on model unlearning methods (Fig. 3).

Here, the main idea is to identify and alter specific model weights that are responsible for bias. Meissner et al. (2022) identified a subset of model weights responsible for bias and masked them during testing. The advantage of their approach is it does not require finetuning. Lauscher et al. (2021); Kumar et al. (2023) captured bias mitigation functionalities using "adapters" attached to transformer blocks. Adapters offer a unique advantage in that they can be added to the model for bias correction in a plug-and-play fashion. Agarwal et al. (2023) improved on adapters by adjusting weights with data augmentation, then finetuning for specific tasks with fixed weights to prevent relearning.

Works in *D1* offer greater ease of implementation, with customizable solutions for each model. However, as the prevalence of large language models grows, they are being trained on enormous amounts of data. In such cases, bias becomes more difficult to mitigate after models have been trained.

3.3.2 Debiasing during Training - D2

These works apply debiasing at the pre-training time or to word embeddings used at initialization.

Debiased word embeddings Bolukbasi et al. (2016) proposed a hard debiasing technique aimed at reducing gender bias in embeddings by adjusting the vector deviations between gendered and genderneutral terms, offering these adjusted embeddings as an alternative to standard Word2Vec embeddings. Park et al. (2018); Zhao et al. (2018b) further illustrate the effectiveness of debiased embeddings in reducing gender bias in LMs.

Loss function Several methods employ specialized loss functions to minimize bias during model pre-training. Garimella et al. (2021) used declustering loss to reduce bias. Bordia and Bowman (2019) proposed a loss regularization method. Huang et al. (2020) proposed a three-step curriculum training using the distance between the embeddings as a fairness loss to reduce sentiment bias. Liu et al. (2021) and He et al. (2022a) used adversarial training and contrastive loss respectively to reduce bias in LMs. Li et al. (2023) shows that using contrastive learning during training helps in debiasing.

Expert Models for Bias Reduction Recently methods using an auxiliary model, or so-called expert model, to reduce bias have gained prominence (cf. Fig. 3). Orgad and Belinkov (2023) predicted biased samples using an auxiliary model and per-

formed sample reweighting to downweight these samples during pre-training. Jeon et al. (2023) used binary classifiers, referred to as bias experts, to identify biased examples within a specific class. Zhang et al. (2023) used gradient-based explanations to focus on sensitive attributes and downstream tasks, adjusting the training process to balance fairness and performance effectively.

3.3.3 Debiasing at Inference Time-D3

These methods apply debiasing methods at test time. In general, these methods are quite diverse. Venkit et al. (2023b) and Abid et al. (2021) applied adversarial machine learning to trigger positive associations in text generative models to reduce anti-Muslim bias and nationality bias, respectively, through prompt modifications. Majumder et al. (2023) used humans to provide feedback to balance between task performance and bias mitigation. Qian et al. (2021) performed keywordbased distillation to remove bias during inference, and to block bias acquired during training. Zhao et al. (2019) addressed gender bias through averaging representations for different gender vocabulary. Schick et al. (2021a) also presents the concept of self-debiasing, in which a model can identify and eliminate biases after generating text.

Work on debiasing during inference time faces the same issues as those in D1. They are easy to implement but give a false impression of debiasing and do not completely remove the model bias.

4 Limitations of Current Approaches

The works surveyed here offer valuable insights towards understanding bias in LMs, and demonstrating many innovative approaches and methodologies that have advanced the field. Alongside the commendable progress, however, a thorough analysis of the body of work on bias reveals limitations.

Reliability issues with bias metrics. The robustness of existing bias metrics is questionable. Metrics introduced in works within *Q1* and *Q3* change significantly, given minor changes in datasets or evaluation settings (Antoniak and Mimno, 2021; Spliethöver et al., 2022; Du et al., 2021; Valentini et al., 2022). Similarly, template-based methods are highly sensitive to small modifications to words used in the templates (Selvam et al., 2022).

Use of identical templates across bias categories. Many of the works using template-based approaches (An et al., 2023; Smith et al., 2022) use the same templates to assess diverse social biases, without considering whether certain template features should be specific to distinct types of bias. This approach risks conflating bias scores across categories, suggesting a need for more tailored templates to measure specific social biases accurately. Alternatively, investigation of ways to generalize across templates to a more abstract approach, as in Omrani Sabbaghi et al. (2023), holds promise.

Limited scope of template-based bias measurement. Template-based methods often use a restricted range of templates and target words, for example, focusing on US-based names for targets. Additionally, these approaches suffer from author bias, as templates are manually designed by the authors (Seshadri et al., 2022; Pikuliak et al., 2023).

Gap in translating bias metrics to real-world effects. There is a notable disconnect between bias metrics and their implications for real-world applications. Bias metrics in Q1 have been claimed to correlate poorly with real-world biases (Goldfarb-Tarrant et al., 2021; Cao et al., 2022). Orgad et al. (2022) argued that intrinsic and extrinsic metrics do not correlate with each other. Such observations underscore the need for improvements in metric robustness and interpretability.

Weaknesses in finetuning approaches for debiasing. The majority of recent works on LM debiasing focus on finetuning, valued mainly for its simplicity and adaptability. However, its effectiveness is often questionable (DiCiccio et al., 2023). The complexity and size of modern LLMs, which require extensive data, time, and resources to train, make it particularly challenging to eliminate bias through finetuning. Further, these methods treat symptoms rather than root causes of bias, adjusting model outputs to appear less biased without actually removing bias from models (Gonen and Goldberg, 2019; Tokpo et al., 2023). Remarkably, some debiasing techniques can potentially increase bias (Mendelson and Belinkov, 2021). The absence of reliable bias metrics complicates the evaluation of the effectiveness of debiasing methods. We recommend that future works utilize a variety of metrics to thoroughly assess debiasing results.

Overemphasis on gender bias. Table 1 shows that about half of the literature focuses solely on gender bias. Although gender bias is a significant concern, other types of sociodemographic bias also deserve attention. Expanding research to cover a wider range of bias categories could provide a more comprehensive understanding of bias.

Lack of sociotechnical understanding of bias. The NLP literature exhibits little attention to the sociotechnical impacts of bias (Venkit et al., 2023a). Similarly, there can be incomplete consideration of the complexity of sociodemographic bias (Blodgett et al., 2020). Interdisciplinary collaborations could offer more nuanced insights and improved methodologies to measure, mitigate, prevent, and assess harms from bias.

Difficulty of comparing approaches. A better understanding is needed of strengths and weaknesses across approaches, given that works often focus on different domains and tasks. Kaneko et al. (2023) compared different bias evaluation approaches without requiring the expense of human labels. We need more work in the direction of reliable and cost-effective comparison among different measurement and mitigation methods.

5 Checklist

A checklist can assist future work to avoid the pitfalls of previous work and build more effective and reliable measurement and debiasing methods across more types of sociodemographic bias. We present 13 questions divided into three categories. Questions 1-6 focus on bias measurement (**QB**); questions 7-8 focus on bias mitigation (**BM**); questions 9-13 are applicable to all works on LM bias. We hope that future work guided by these questions can help authors situate their results within the broader literature on sociodemographic bias.

[Q1:QB] *Robustness:* Is your bias measurement stable against small modifications to templates/descriptors?

[Q2:QB] *Country-focused data:* Does your method rely on country-specific data, such as the U.S.? If so, how can it be adapted to others?

[Q3:QB] *Real-World Relevance:* How do your bias measurements reflect real-world biases, and affect end-users?

[Q4:QB] *Future Usability:* Have you taken measures to make sure your approach is easily extendable to ensure that it is useable after 5 years?

[Q5:QB] *Data Diversity:* Have you used diverse data sources to diminish biases present in the data?

[Q6:QB] *Verification of Bias Type*: What measures have you taken to ensure your bias measurement on a given type of bias doesn't overlap or confuse with other biases?

[Q7: BM] Scalability and Efficiency: Can your

debiasing method efficiently scale to large models and datasets while maintaining effectiveness?

[Q8: BM] *Monitoring and Evaluation:* Is there a way for you to continuously assess and adjust the effectiveness of your approach?

[Q9: GQ] *Extensibility to other Social Groups:* Can your method be extended to additional sociodemographic groups?

[Q10: GQ] *Risk of Misinterpretation:* Can there be a situation when your approach falsely indicates reduced bias in models?

[Q11: GQ] *Cultural Sensitivity:* Does your approach take into account the contextual and cultural variations in language use?

[Q12: GQ] *Interdisciplinary Insights:* Does your method integrate knowledge from multiple disciplines to understand bias?

[Q13: GQ] *Transparency and Reproducibility:* Can others reproduce your method and results?

6 Future Directions

Looking ahead, we anticipate greater emphasis on bias mitigation at training time. Post-training bias mitigation adds to the costliness of very large LMs, and serves as a filter rather than a corrective. Subsequent to the first drafts of this survey, we have already seen progress in this direction (Jeon et al., 2023). The recent progress in the usage of contrastive learning during training (Li et al., 2023) and using expert models during training (Orgad and Belinkov, 2023), has shown to generate less biased models and we expect more research in these directions.

Despite their growing popularity, template-based methods for measuring bias face challenges (Selvam et al., 2023; Seshadri et al., 2022). We believe that these challenges can be tackled with careful consideration of the limitations, such as lack of robustness, leading to more effective and reliable bias measurement. We anticipate that prompt-based methods will gain prominence. Additionally, integrating interdisciplinary insights with algorithmic analysis will likely gain traction for quantifying and mitigating sociodemographic bias.

Finally, as robust methodologies emerge, we anticipate increased hope for and emphasis on intersectional bias, the overlap of multiple types of bias.

7 Conclusion

We have presented a comprehensive literature survey based on the iterative consideration of 273

works on sociodemographic bias in LMs. Our proposed typology provides an overview of the current research landscape. We identified promising directions for future research and introduced a 13question checklist designed to guide future research towards more effective and reliable approaches and to avoid pitfalls of previous works. We encourage increased reliance on interdisciplinary methods to better capture and address the nuances of sociodemographic bias in LMs.

8 Limitations

In our survey, we focused on works from ACL Anthology, NeurIPS proceedings, FAccT, and AIES. We might have missed some relevant works in our survey, that appeared in other venues. While we have systematically organized the bias literature into categories as shown in Fig. 2, which came from an extensive survey of current literature, our framework might not encompass all existing or future research. We would like to emphasize that most of the works covered in this survey focus on the English language and some approaches discussed might not transfer to other languages. Additionally, our emphasis on sociodemographic bias means that valuable insights from works addressing other forms of bias in language models were not covered in our analysis.

9 Bias Statement

In this work, we provide a comprehensive survey of works on sociodemographic bias in language models. We defined sociodemographic bias as the difference in model performance across social groups. Such bias has the potential for harm in a realworld setting. Our definition applies to prominent demographic distinctions such as gender identity (male, female, non-binary), or income-based groupings (e.g., low, middle, and high income), or other broad-coverage distinctions that are learnable by LMs. For example, associating "Caucasian man" with "handsome", and "African-American man" with "angry" is a clear indication of bias in models (Garimella et al., 2021). In occupation-related tasks, associating "receptionist" with "she", and "philosopher" with "he" can have harmful effects in real-world settings (Bolukbasi et al., 2016).

10 Ethics Statement

Our work addresses the ethical impact of sociodemographic bias in NLP, offering a comprehensive survey of 273 peer-reviewed articles to highlight the presence and implications of bias within language models. By systematically organizing research findings and tracking bias approaches over the past decade, our work promotes transparency, awareness, and accountability within and beyond the NLP community. The survey provides a meticulously designed checklist, based on the weaknesses and limitations of the field, to guide future research toward more effective solutions for mitigating bias.

We also emphasize the social and ethical implications of bias underscoring the significance of addressing these issues to prevent potential negative consequences. We hope that our analysis aids in shaping more inclusive and equitable NLP technologies by fostering dialogue, awareness, and proactive measures to address sociodemographic bias, incorporating ideas beyond the field of NLP.

References

- Abubakar Abid, Maheen Farooqi, and James Zou. 2021. Persistent anti-Muslim bias in large language models. In Proceedings of the 2021 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society, pages 298–306.
- Oshin Agarwal, Funda Durupinar, Norman I. Badler, and Ani Nenkova. 2019. Word embeddings (also) encode human personality stereotypes. In *Proceedings* of the Eighth Joint Conference on Lexical and Computational Semantics (*SEM 2019), pages 205–211, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sumit Agarwal, Aditya Veerubhotla, and Srijan Bansal. 2023. PEFTDebias : Capturing debiasing information using PEFTs. In *Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 1992–2000, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jaimeen Ahn, Hwaran Lee, Jinhwa Kim, and Alice Oh. 2022. Why knowledge distillation amplifies gender bias and how to mitigate from the perspective of DistilBERT. In Proceedings of the 4th Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing (GeBNLP), pages 266–272, Seattle, Washington. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jaimeen Ahn and Alice Oh. 2021. Mitigating languagedependent ethnic bias in BERT. In Proceedings of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 533–549, Online and Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Afra Feyza Akyürek, Sejin Paik, Muhammed Kocyigit, Seda Akbiyik, Serife Leman Runyun, and Derry Wijaya. 2022. On measuring social biases in promptbased multi-task learning. In *Findings of the Associ*-

ation for Computational Linguistics: NAACL 2022, pages 551–564, Seattle, United States. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Sarah Alnegheimish, Alicia Guo, and Yi Sun. 2022. Using natural sentence prompts for understanding biases in language models. In Proceedings of the 2022 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, pages 2824–2830, Seattle, United States. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Haozhe An, Zongxia Li, Jieyu Zhao, and Rachel Rudinger. 2023. SODAPOP: Open-ended discovery of social biases in social commonsense reasoning models. In Proceedings of the 17th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 1573–1596, Dubrovnik, Croatia. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Haozhe An, Xiaojiang Liu, and Donald Zhang. 2022. Learning bias-reduced word embeddings using dictionary definitions. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL 2022*, pages 1139– 1152, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- K. Anoop, Manjary P. Gangan, P Deepak, and VL Lajish. 2022. Towards an enhanced understanding of bias in pre-trained neural language models: A survey with special emphasis on affective bias. In *Responsible Data Science: Select Proceedings of ICDSE 2021*, pages 13–45. Springer.
- Maria Antoniak and David Mimno. 2021. Bad Seeds: Evaluating Lexical Methods for Bias Measurement. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1889–1904. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Giuseppe Attanasio, Debora Nozza, Dirk Hovy, and Elena Baralis. 2022. Entropy-based attention regularization frees unintended bias mitigation from lists. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL 2022*, pages 1105–1119, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Giuseppe Attanasio, Flor Plaza del Arco, Debora Nozza, and Anne Lauscher. 2023. A tale of pronouns: Interpretability informs gender bias mitigation for fairer instruction-tuned machine translation. In *Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 3996–4014, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Senthil Kumar B, Aravindan Chandrabose, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. An overview of fairness in data – illuminating the bias in data pipeline. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on*

Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 34–45, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Eugene Bagdasaryan, Omid Poursaeed, and Vitaly Shmatikov. 2019. Differential privacy has disparate impact on model accuracy. In *Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems*, volume 32. Curran Associates, Inc.
- Rajas Bansal. 2022. A Survey on Bias and Fairness in Natural Language Processing. ArXiv:2204.09591 [cs].
- Solon Barocas, Kate Crawford, Aaron Shapiro, and Hanna Wallach. 2017. The problem with bias: Allocative versus representational harms in machine learning. In 9th Annual Conference of the Special Interest Group for Computing, Information and Society.
- Marion Bartl, Malvina Nissim, and Albert Gatt. 2020. Unmasking Contextual Stereotypes: Measuring and Mitigating BERT's Gender Bias. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing, pages 1–16. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Christine Basta, Marta R. Costa-jussà, and Noe Casas. 2019. Evaluating the underlying gender bias in contextualized word embeddings. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing*, pages 33–39, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Lisa Bauer, Hanna Tischer, and Mohit Bansal. 2023. Social commonsense for explanation and cultural bias discovery. In *Proceedings of the 17th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 3745–3760, Dubrovnik, Croatia. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Samuel James Bell and Levent Sagun. 2023. Simplicity bias leads to amplified performance disparities. In *Proceedings of the 2023 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency*, FAccT '23, page 355–369, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Emily M Bender. 2019. A typology of ethical risks in language technology with an eye towards where transparent documentation can help. the future of artificial intelligence: Language. *Ethics, Technology*.
- Emily M. Bender, Timnit Gebru, Angelina McMillan-Major, and Shmargaret Shmitchell. 2021. On the dangers of stochastic parrots: Can language models be too big? In Proceedings of the 2021 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, FAccT '21, page 610–623, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Cynthia L. Bennett and Os Keyes. 2020. What is the point of fairness? disability, AI and the complexity of justice. *SIGACCESS Access. Comput.*

- Hugo Berg, Siobhan Hall, Yash Bhalgat, Hannah Kirk, Aleksandar Shtedritski, and Max Bain. 2022. A prompt array keeps the bias away: Debiasing visionlanguage models with adversarial learning. In Proceedings of the 2nd Conference of the Asia-Pacific Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 12th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 806–822, Online only. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jayadev Bhaskaran and Isha Bhallamudi. 2019. Good secretaries, bad truck drivers? Occupational gender stereotypes in sentiment analysis. In *Proceedings* of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing, pages 62–68, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Shaily Bhatt, Sunipa Dev, Partha Talukdar, Shachi Dave, and Vinodkumar Prabhakaran. 2022. Recontextualizing fairness in NLP: The case of India. In Proceedings of the 2nd Conference of the Asia-Pacific Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 12th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 727–740, Online only. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé III, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Language (technology) is power: a critical survey of "bias" in NLP. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 5454–5476. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Lisa Green, and Brendan O'Connor. 2016. Demographic dialectal variation in social media: A case study of African-American English. In Proceedings of the 2016 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 1119–1130, Austin, Texas. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Gilsinia Lopez, Alexandra Olteanu, Robert Sim, and Hanna Wallach. 2021. Stereotyping Norwegian salmon: An inventory of pitfalls in fairness benchmark datasets. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1004–1015, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tolga Bolukbasi, Kai-Wei Chang, James Y Zou, Venkatesh Saligrama, and Adam T Kalai. 2016. Man is to computer programmer as woman is to homemaker? debiasing word embeddings. In *Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems*, volume 29. Curran Associates, Inc.
- Shikha Bordia and Samuel R. Bowman. 2019. Identifying and reducing gender bias in word-level language models. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Student Research Workshop,

pages 7–15, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Daniel Borkan, Lucas Dixon, Jeffrey Sorensen, Nithum Thain, and Lucy Vasserman. 2019. Nuanced metrics for measuring unintended bias with real data for text classification. In *Companion Proceedings of The 2019 World Wide Web Conference*, WWW '19, page 491–500, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Tom Brown, Benjamin Mann, Nick Ryder, Melanie Subbiah, Jared D Kaplan, Prafulla Dhariwal, Arvind Neelakantan, Pranav Shyam, Girish Sastry, Amanda Askell, Sandhini Agarwal, Ariel Herbert-Voss, Gretchen Krueger, Tom Henighan, Rewon Child, Aditya Ramesh, Daniel Ziegler, Jeffrey Wu, Clemens Winter, Chris Hesse, Mark Chen, Eric Sigler, Mateusz Litwin, Scott Gray, Benjamin Chess, Jack Clark, Christopher Berner, Sam McCandlish, Alec Radford, Ilya Sutskever, and Dario Amodei. 2020. Language models are few-shot learners. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, volume 33, pages 1877–1901. Curran Associates, Inc.
- Marc-Etienne Brunet, Colleen Alkalay-Houlihan, Ashton Anderson, and Richard Zemel. 2019a. Understanding the origins of bias in word embeddings. In *International conference on machine learning*, pages 803–811. PMLR.
- Marc-Etienne Brunet, Colleen Alkalay-Houlihan, Ashton Anderson, and Richard Zemel. 2019b. Understanding the origins of bias in word embeddings. In Proceedings of the 36th International Conference on Machine Learning, volume 97 of Proceedings of Machine Learning Research, pages 803–811. PMLR.
- Aylin Caliskan, Joanna J Bryson, and Arvind Narayanan. 2017. Semantics derived automatically from language corpora contain human-like biases. *Science*, 356(6334):183–186.
- Yang Cao, Yada Pruksachatkun, Kai-Wei Chang, Rahul Gupta, Varun Kumar, Jwala Dhamala, and Aram Galstyan. 2022. On the intrinsic and extrinsic fairness evaluation metrics for contextualized language representations. In Proceedings of the 60th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers), pages 561–570, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Yang Trista Cao and Hal Daumé III. 2020. Toward gender-inclusive coreference resolution. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 4568–4595, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Kaytlin Chaloner and Alfredo Maldonado. 2019. Measuring gender bias in word embeddings across domains and discovering new gender bias word categories. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing*, pages 25–32. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Boli Chen, Yao Fu, Guangwei Xu, Pengjun Xie, Chuanqi Tan, Mosha Chen, and Liping Jing. 2021. Probing {bert} in hyperbolic spaces. In *International Conference on Learning Representations*.
- Lingwei Cheng, Isabel O Gallegos, Derek Ouyang, Jacob Goldin, and Dan Ho. 2023. How redundant are redundant encodings? blindness in the wild and racial disparity when race is unobserved. In *Proceedings* of the 2023 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, FAccT '23, page 667–686, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Won Ik Cho, Ji Won Kim, Seok Min Kim, and Nam Soo Kim. 2019. On measuring gender bias in translation of gender-neutral pronouns. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing, pages 173–181, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Shivang Chopra, Ramit Sawhney, Puneet Mathur, and Rajiv Ratn Shah. 2020. Hindi-english hate speech detection: Author profiling, debiasing, and practical perspectives. *Proceedings of the AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, 34(01):386–393.
- Alexandra Chouldechova and Aaron Roth. 2020. A snapshot of the frontiers of fairness in machine learning. *Commun. ACM*, 63(5):82–89.
- Kate Crawford. 2017. The trouble with bias. Keynote, Neural Information Processing Systems (NeurIPS).
- Amy JC Cuddy, Susan T Fiske, and Peter Glick. 2008. Warmth and competence as universal dimensions of social perception: The stereotype content model and the bias map. Advances in experimental social psychology, 40:61–149.
- Paula Czarnowska, Yogarshi Vyas, and Kashif Shah. 2021. Quantifying social biases in NLP: A generalization and empirical comparison of extrinsic fairness metrics. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 9:1249–1267.
- Thomas Davidson, Debasmita Bhattacharya, and Ingmar Weber. 2019. Racial bias in hate speech and abusive language detection datasets. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Abusive Language Online*, pages 25–35, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Maria De-Arteaga, Alexey Romanov, Hanna Wallach, Jennifer Chayes, Christian Borgs, Alexandra Chouldechova, Sahin Geyik, Krishnaram Kenthapadi, and Adam Tauman Kalai. 2019. Bias in Bios: A Case Study of Semantic Representation Bias in a High-Stakes Setting. In *Proceedings of the Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency*, pages 120–128. ACM.
- Daniel de Vassimon Manela, David Errington, Thomas Fisher, Boris van Breugel, and Pasquale Minervini. 2021. Stereotype and skew: Quantifying gender bias in pre-trained and fine-tuned language models. In

Proceedings of the 16th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Main Volume, pages 2232–2242, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Nicholas Deas, Jessica Grieser, Shana Kleiner, Desmond Patton, Elsbeth Turcan, and Kathleen McKeown. 2023. Evaluation of African American language bias in natural language generation. In Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 6805– 6824, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Pieter Delobelle, Ewoenam Tokpo, Toon Calders, and Bettina Berendt. 2022. Measuring fairness with biased rulers: A comparative study on bias metrics for pre-trained language models. In *Proceedings of the 2022 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies*, pages 1693–1706, Seattle, United States. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sunipa Dev, Tao Li, Jeff M. Phillips, and Vivek Srikumar. 2020. On measuring and mitigating biased inferences of word embeddings. *Proceedings of the AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, 34(05):7659– 7666.
- Sunipa Dev, Tao Li, Jeff M Phillips, and Vivek Srikumar. 2021. OSCaR: Orthogonal Subspace Correction and Rectification of Biases in Word Embeddings. In Proceedings of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 5034–5050. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sunipa Dev and Jeff Phillips. 2019. Attenuating bias in word vectors. In *The 22nd International Conference* on Artificial Intelligence and Statistics, pages 879– 887. PMLR.
- Hannah Devinney, Jenny Björklund, and Henrik Björklund. 2022. Theories of "gender" in nlp bias research. In 2022 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, FAccT '22, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. BERT: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 4171–4186, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Mark Diaz, Isaac Johnson, Amanda Lazar, Anne Marie Piper, and Darren Gergle. 2018. Addressing agerelated bias in sentiment analysis. In *Proceedings* of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI '18, page 1–14, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.

- Cyrus DiCiccio, Brian Hsu, Yinyin Yu, Preetam Nandy, and Kinjal Basu. 2023. Detection and mitigation of algorithmic bias via predictive parity. In *Proceedings of the 2023 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency*, FAccT '23, page 1801–1816, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Lucas Dixon, John Li, Jeffrey Sorensen, Nithum Thain, and Lucy Vasserman. 2018. Measuring and Mitigating Unintended Bias in Text Classification. In *Proceedings of the 2018 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society*, pages 67–73. ACM.
- Li Du, Xiao Ding, Zhouhao Sun, Ting Liu, Bing Qin, and Jingshuo Liu. 2023. Towards stable natural language understanding via information entropy guided debiasing. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 2868–2882, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Yupei Du, Qixiang Fang, and Dong Nguyen. 2021. Assessing the Reliability of Word Embedding Gender Bias Measures. In Proceedings of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 10012–10034. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Yupei Du, Qi Zheng, Yuanbin Wu, Man Lan, Yan Yang, and Meirong Ma. 2022. Understanding gender bias in knowledge base embeddings. In Proceedings of the 60th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1381–1395, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Cynthia Dwork, Moritz Hardt, Toniann Pitassi, Omer Reingold, and Richard Zemel. 2012. Fairness through awareness. In *Proceedings of the 3rd Innovations in Theoretical Computer Science Conference*, ITCS '12, page 214–226, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Joel Escudé Font and Marta R. Costa-jussà. 2019. Equalizing gender bias in neural machine translation with word embeddings techniques. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing*, pages 147–154, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Cristina España-Bonet and Alberto Barrón-Cedeño. 2022. The (undesired) attenuation of human biases by multilinguality. In *Proceedings of the 2022 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 2056–2077, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Kawin Ethayarajh, David Duvenaud, and Graeme Hirst. 2019. Understanding Undesirable Word Embedding Associations. In Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 1696–1705. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Virginia Felkner, Ho-Chun Herbert Chang, Eugene Jang, and Jonathan May. 2023. WinoQueer: A communityin-the-loop benchmark for anti-LGBTQ+ bias in large language models. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 9126– 9140, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Anjalie Field, Amanda Coston, Nupoor Gandhi, Alexandra Chouldechova, Emily Putnam-Hornstein, David Steier, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2023. Examining risks of racial biases in nlp tools for child protective services. In *Proceedings of the 2023 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency*, FAccT '23, page 1479–1492, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Anjalie Field and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2020. Unsupervised discovery of implicit gender bias. In *Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP)*, pages 596–608, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Joseph Fisher, Dave Palfrey, Christos Christodoulopoulos, and Arpit Mittal. 2020. Measuring social bias in knowledge graph embeddings. In AKBC 2020 Workshop on Bias in Automatic Knowledge Graph Construction.
- Jade S. Franklin, Karan Bhanot, Mohamed Ghalwash, Kristin P. Bennett, Jamie McCusker, and Deborah L. McGuinness. 2022. An ontology for fairness metrics. In *Proceedings of the 2022 AAAI/ACM Conference* on AI, Ethics, and Society, AIES '22, page 265–275, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Scott Friedman, Sonja Schmer-Galunder, Anthony Chen, and Jeffrey Rye. 2019. Relating word embedding gender biases to gender gaps: A cross-cultural analysis. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing, pages 18–24, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Yacine Gaci, Boualem Benatallah, Fabio Casati, and Khalid Benabdeslem. 2022. Debiasing pretrained text encoders by paying attention to paying attention. In Proceedings of the 2022 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 9582–9602, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- SongYang Gao, Shihan Dou, Qi Zhang, and Xuanjing Huang. 2022. Kernel-whitening: Overcome dataset bias with isotropic sentence embedding. In Proceedings of the 2022 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 4112–4122, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Matt Gardner, Yoav Artzi, Victoria Basmov, Jonathan Berant, Ben Bogin, Sihao Chen, Pradeep Dasigi, Dheeru Dua, Yanai Elazar, Ananth Gottumukkala,

Nitish Gupta, Hannaneh Hajishirzi, Gabriel Ilharco, Daniel Khashabi, Kevin Lin, Jiangming Liu, Nelson F. Liu, Phoebe Mulcaire, Qiang Ning, Sameer Singh, Noah A. Smith, Sanjay Subramanian, Reut Tsarfaty, Eric Wallace, Ally Zhang, and Ben Zhou. 2020. Evaluating models' local decision boundaries via contrast sets. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020*, pages 1307–1323, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Nikhil Garg, Londa Schiebinger, Dan Jurafsky, and James Zou. 2018. Word embeddings quantify 100 years of gender and ethnic stereotypes. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 115(16):E3635– E3644.
- Sahaj Garg, Vincent Perot, Nicole Limtiaco, Ankur Taly, Ed H. Chi, and Alex Beutel. 2019. Counterfactual fairness in text classification through robustness. In *Proceedings of the 2019 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society*, pages 219–226. ACM.
- Aparna Garimella, Akhash Amarnath, Kiran Kumar, Akash Pramod Yalla, Anandhavelu N, Niyati Chhaya, and Balaji Vasan Srinivasan. 2021. He is very intelligent, she is very beautiful? On Mitigating Social Biases in Language Modelling and Generation. In Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL-IJCNLP 2021, pages 4534–4545. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Aparna Garimella, Carmen Banea, Dirk Hovy, and Rada Mihalcea. 2019. Women's syntactic resilience and men's grammatical luck: Gender-bias in part-ofspeech tagging and dependency parsing. In *Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 3493–3498, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ismael Garrido-Muñoz, Arturo Montejo-Ráez, Fernando Martínez-Santiago, and L. Alfonso Ureña-López. 2021. A Survey on Bias in Deep NLP. Applied Sciences, 11(7):3184.
- Andrew Gaut, Tony Sun, Shirlyn Tang, Yuxin Huang, Jing Qian, Mai ElSherief, Jieyu Zhao, Diba Mirza, Elizabeth Belding, Kai-Wei Chang, and William Yang Wang. 2020. Towards Understanding Gender Bias in Relation Extraction. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 2943–2953. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Abbas Ghaddar, Philippe Langlais, Ahmad Rashid, and Mehdi Rezagholizadeh. 2021. Context-aware adversarial training for name regularity bias in named entity recognition. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 9:586–604.
- Seraphina Goldfarb-Tarrant, Rebecca Marchant, Ricardo Muñoz Sánchez, Mugdha Pandya, and Adam Lopez. 2021. Intrinsic Bias Metrics Do Not Correlate with Application Bias. In *Proceedings of the*

59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1926–1940. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Seraphina Goldfarb-Tarrant, Björn Ross, and Adam Lopez. 2023. Cross-lingual transfer can worsen bias in sentiment analysis. In Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 5691–5704, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Hila Gonen and Yoav Goldberg. 2019. Lipstick on a pig: Debiasing methods cover up systematic gender biases in word embeddings but do not remove them. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 609–614, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Hila Gonen and Kellie Webster. 2020. Automatically identifying gender issues in machine translation using perturbations. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020*, pages 1991–1995, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ben Green. 2019. Good" isn't good enough. In *Proceedings of the AI for Social Good workshop at NeurIPS*, volume 16.
- Anthony G Greenwald, Debbie E McGhee, and Jordan LK Schwartz. 1998. Measuring individual differences in implicit cognition: the implicit association test. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 74(6):1464.
- H. P. Grice. 1975. Logic and conversation. In Peter Cole and Jerry L. Morgan, editors, *Speech Acts*, pages 41–58. Academic Press, New York.
- Wei Guo and Aylin Caliskan. 2021. Detecting emergent intersectional biases: Contextualized word embeddings contain a distribution of human-like biases. In *Proceedings of the 2021 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society, AIES '21, page 122–133,* New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Yue Guo, Yi Yang, and Ahmed Abbasi. 2022. Autodebias: Debiasing masked language models with automated biased prompts. In Proceedings of the 60th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1012– 1023, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Umang Gupta, Jwala Dhamala, Varun Kumar, Apurv Verma, Yada Pruksachatkun, Satyapriya Krishna, Rahul Gupta, Kai-Wei Chang, Greg Ver Steeg, and Aram Galstyan. 2022a. Mitigating gender bias in

distilled language models via counterfactual role reversal. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL 2022*, pages 658–678, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Vipul Gupta, Zhuowan Li, Adam Kortylewski, Chenyu Zhang, Yingwei Li, and Alan Yuille. 2022b. Swapmix: Diagnosing and regularizing the over-reliance on visual context in visual question answering. In *Proceedings of the IEEE/CVF Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR)*, pages 5078–5088.
- Vipul Gupta, Pranav Narayanan Venkit, Hugo Laurençon, Shomir Wilson, and Rebecca J Passonneau. 2023. Calm: A multi-task benchmark for comprehensive assessment of language model bias. arXiv preprint arXiv:2308.12539.
- Enoch Opanin Gyamfi, Yunbo Rao, Miao Gou, and Yanhua Shao. 2020. deb2viz: Debiasing gender in word embedding data using subspace visualization. In *Eleventh International Conference on Graphics and Image Processing (ICGIP 2019)*, volume 11373, pages 671–678. SPIE.
- Rishav Hada, Agrima Seth, Harshita Diddee, and Kalika Bali. 2023. "fifty shades of bias": Normative ratings of gender bias in GPT generated English text. In *Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 1862– 1876, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Foad Hamidi, Morgan Klaus Scheuerman, and Stacy M. Branham. 2018. Gender Recognition or Gender Reductionism?: The Social Implications of Embedded Gender Recognition Systems. In Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1–13. ACM.
- Xudong Han, Timothy Baldwin, and Trevor Cohn. 2021. Diverse adversaries for mitigating bias in training. In Proceedings of the 16th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Main Volume, pages 2760–2765, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Xudong Han, Timothy Baldwin, and Trevor Cohn. 2022. Balancing out bias: Achieving fairness through balanced training. In Proceedings of the 2022 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 11335–11350, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Alex Hanna, Emily Denton, Andrew Smart, and Jamila Smith-Loud. 2020. Towards a critical race methodology in algorithmic fairness. In Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, FAT* '20, page 501–512, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Tatsunori Hashimoto, Megha Srivastava, Hongseok Namkoong, and Percy Liang. 2018. Fairness without demographics in repeated loss minimization. In

Proceedings of the 35th International Conference on Machine Learning, volume 80 of Proceedings of Machine Learning Research, pages 1929–1938. PMLR.

- Saad Hassan, Matt Huenerfauth, and Cecilia Ovesdotter Alm. 2021. Unpacking the interdependent systems of discrimination: Ableist bias in NLP systems through an intersectional lens. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2021*, pages 3116–3123, Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- He He, Sheng Zha, and Haohan Wang. 2019. Unlearn dataset bias in natural language inference by fitting the residual. In *Proceedings of the 2nd Workshop on Deep Learning Approaches for Low-Resource NLP* (*DeepLo 2019*), pages 132–142, Hong Kong, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jacqueline He, Mengzhou Xia, Christiane Fellbaum, and Danqi Chen. 2022a. MABEL: Attenuating gender bias using textual entailment data. In Proceedings of the 2022 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 9681–9702, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Zexue He, Yu Wang, Julian McAuley, and Bodhisattwa Prasad Majumder. 2022b. Controlling bias exposure for fair interpretable predictions. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2022*, pages 5854–5866, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Lisa Anne Hendricks, Kaylee Burns, Kate Saenko, Trevor Darrell, and Anna Rohrbach. 2018. Women also snowboard: Overcoming bias in captioning models. In *Computer Vision – ECCV 2018: 15th European Conference, Munich, Germany, September 8–14,* 2018, Proceedings, Part III, page 793–811, Berlin, Heidelberg. Springer-Verlag.
- Samhita Honnavalli, Aesha Parekh, Lily Ou, Sophie Groenwold, Sharon Levy, Vicente Ordonez, and William Yang Wang. 2022. Towards understanding gender-seniority compound bias in natural language generation. In *Proceedings of the Thirteenth Language Resources and Evaluation Conference*, pages 1665–1670, Marseille, France. European Language Resources Association.
- Dirk Hovy and Anders Søgaard. 2015. Tagging performance correlates with author age. In *Proceedings* of the 53rd Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 7th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 2: Short Papers), pages 483–488, Beijing, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Po-Sen Huang, Huan Zhang, Ray Jiang, Robert Stanforth, Johannes Welbl, Jack Rae, Vishal Maini, Dani Yogatama, and Pushmeet Kohli. 2020. Reducing Sentiment Bias in Language Models via Counterfactual

Evaluation. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020*, pages 65–83. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Christoph Hube, Maximilian Idahl, and Besnik Fetahu. 2020. Debiasing word embeddings from sentiment associations in names. In *Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Web Search and Data Mining*, WSDM '20, page 259–267, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Ben Hutchinson and Margaret Mitchell. 2019. 50 years of test (un)fairness: Lessons for machine learning. In *Proceedings of the Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency,* FAT* '19, page 49–58, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Ben Hutchinson, Vinodkumar Prabhakaran, Emily Denton, Kellie Webster, Yu Zhong, and Stephen Denuyl. 2020. Social Biases in NLP Models as Barriers for Persons with Disabilities. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 5491–5501. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Alexander Immer, Lucas Torroba Hennigen, Vincent Fortuin, and Ryan Cotterell. 2022. Probing as quantifying inductive bias. In Proceedings of the 60th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1839– 1851, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Abigail Z. Jacobs, Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. The meaning and measurement of bias: Lessons from natural language processing. In Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, FAT* '20, page 706, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Abigail Z. Jacobs and Hanna Wallach. 2021. Measurement and fairness. In Proceedings of the 2021 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, FAccT '21, page 375–385, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Hailey James and David Alvarez-Melis. 2019. Probabilistic bias mitigation in word embeddings. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1910.14497*.
- Eojin Jeon, Mingyu Lee, Juhyeong Park, Yeachan Kim, Wing-Lam Mok, and SangKeun Lee. 2023. Improving bias mitigation through bias experts in natural language understanding. In *Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 11053–11066, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Xisen Jin, Francesco Barbieri, Brendan Kennedy, Aida Mostafazadeh Davani, Leonardo Neves, and Xiang Ren. 2021. On transferability of bias mitigation effects in language model fine-tuning. In *Proceedings* of the 2021 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics:

Human Language Technologies, pages 3770–3783, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Przemyslaw Joniak and Akiko Aizawa. 2022. Gender biases and where to find them: Exploring gender bias in pre-trained transformer-based language models using movement pruning. In Proceedings of the 4th Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing (GeBNLP), pages 67–73, Seattle, Washington. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Daniel Kahneman. 2011. *Thinking, fast and slow*. Farrar, Straus and Giroux, New York.
- Masahiro Kaneko and Danushka Bollegala. 2019. Gender-preserving debiasing for pre-trained word embeddings. In *Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 1641–1650, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Masahiro Kaneko, Danushka Bollegala, and Naoaki Okazaki. 2022a. Gender bias in meta-embeddings. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2022*, pages 3118–3133, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Masahiro Kaneko, Danushka Bollegala, and Naoaki Okazaki. 2023. Comparing intrinsic gender bias evaluation measures without using human annotated examples. In Proceedings of the 17th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 2857–2863, Dubrovnik, Croatia. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Masahiro Kaneko, Aizhan Imankulova, Danushka Bollegala, and Naoaki Okazaki. 2022b. Gender bias in masked language models for multiple languages. In Proceedings of the 2022 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, pages 2740–2750, Seattle, United States. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Rabeeh Karimi Mahabadi, Yonatan Belinkov, and James Henderson. 2020. End-to-end bias mitigation by modelling biases in corpora. In *Proceedings of the* 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 8706–8716. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Saket Karve, Lyle Ungar, and João Sedoc. 2019. Conceptor debiasing of word representations evaluated on WEAT. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing, pages 40–48, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Michael Katell, Meg Young, Dharma Dailey, Bernease Herman, Vivian Guetler, Aaron Tam, Corinne Bintz, Daniella Raz, and P. M. Krafft. 2020. Toward situated interventions for algorithmic equity: lessons from the field. In *Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency*, pages 45–55. ACM.

- Yova Kementchedjhieva, Mark Anderson, and Anders Søgaard. 2021. John praised Mary because _he_? implicit causality bias and its interaction with explicit cues in LMs. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL-IJCNLP 2021*, pages 4859–4871, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Brendan Kennedy, Xisen Jin, Aida Mostafazadeh Davani, Morteza Dehghani, and Xiang Ren. 2020. Contextualizing hate speech classifiers with post-hoc explanation. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 5435–5442, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Svetlana Kiritchenko and Saif Mohammad. 2018. Examining gender and race bias in two hundred sentiment analysis systems. In *Proceedings of the Seventh Joint Conference on Lexical and Computational Semantics*, pages 43–53, New Orleans, Louisiana. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Satyapriya Krishna, Rahul Gupta, Apurv Verma, Jwala Dhamala, Yada Pruksachatkun, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2022. Measuring fairness of text classifiers via prediction sensitivity. In *Proceedings of the 60th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers)*, pages 5830–5842, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Deepak Kumar, Oleg Lesota, George Zerveas, Daniel Cohen, Carsten Eickhoff, Markus Schedl, and Navid Rekabsaz. 2023. Parameter-efficient modularised bias mitigation via AdapterFusion. In Proceedings of the 17th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 2738–2751, Dubrovnik, Croatia. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Vaibhav Kumar, Tenzin Singhay Bhotia, Vaibhav Kumar, and Tanmoy Chakraborty. 2020. Nurse is closer to woman than surgeon? mitigating gender-biased proximities in word embeddings. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 8:486– 503.
- Keita Kurita, Nidhi Vyas, Ayush Pareek, Alan W Black, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2019. Measuring bias in contextualized word representations. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing*, pages 166–172, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Matt J Kusner, Joshua Loftus, Chris Russell, and Ricardo Silva. 2017. Counterfactual fairness. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, volume 30. Curran Associates, Inc.
- Bum Chul Kwon and Nandana Mihindukulasooriya. 2022. An empirical study on pseudo-log-likelihood bias measures for masked language models using paraphrased sentences. In *Proceedings of the 2nd*

Workshop on Trustworthy Natural Language Processing (TrustNLP 2022), pages 74–79, Seattle, U.S.A. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Faisal Ladhak, Esin Durmus, Mirac Suzgun, Tianyi Zhang, Dan Jurafsky, Kathleen McKeown, and Tatsunori Hashimoto. 2023. When do pre-training biases propagate to downstream tasks? a case study in text summarization. In Proceedings of the 17th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 3206–3219, Dubrovnik, Croatia. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Brian Larson. 2017. Gender as a variable in naturallanguage processing: Ethical considerations. In *Proceedings of the First ACL Workshop on Ethics in Natural Language Processing*, pages 1–11, Valencia, Spain. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Anne Lauscher and Goran Glavaš. 2019. Are we consistently biased? multidimensional analysis of biases in distributional word vectors. In *Proceedings of the Eighth Joint Conference on Lexical and Computational Semantics (*SEM 2019)*, pages 85–91, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Anne Lauscher, Goran Glavaš, Simone Paolo Ponzetto, and Ivan Vulić. 2020. A general framework for implicit and explicit debiasing of distributional word vector spaces. In *Proceedings of the AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, volume 34, pages 8131–8138.
- Anne Lauscher, Tobias Lueken, and Goran Glavaš. 2021. Sustainable modular debiasing of language models. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2021*, pages 4782–4797, Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Minwoo Lee, Hyukhun Koh, Kang-il Lee, Dongdong Zhang, Minsung Kim, and Kyomin Jung. 2023. Target-agnostic gender-aware contrastive learning for mitigating bias in multilingual machine translation. In Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 16825–16839, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sharon Levy, Neha John, Ling Liu, Yogarshi Vyas, Jie Ma, Yoshinari Fujinuma, Miguel Ballesteros, Vittorio Castelli, and Dan Roth. 2023. Comparing biases and the impact of multilingual training across multiple languages. In *Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 10260–10280, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tao Li, Daniel Khashabi, Tushar Khot, Ashish Sabharwal, and Vivek Srikumar. 2020. UNQOVERing stereotyping biases via underspecified questions. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020*, pages 3475–3489, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Yingji Li, Mengnan Du, Xin Wang, and Ying Wang. 2023. Prompt tuning pushes farther, contrastive learning pulls closer: A two-stage approach to mitigate social biases. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 14254–14267, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Yizhi Li, Ge Zhang, Bohao Yang, Chenghua Lin, Anton Ragni, Shi Wang, and Jie Fu. 2022. HERB: Measuring hierarchical regional bias in pre-trained language models. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: AACL-IJCNLP 2022*, pages 334–346, Online only. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Paul Pu Liang, Irene Mengze Li, Emily Zheng, Yao Chong Lim, Ruslan Salakhutdinov, and Louis-Philippe Morency. 2020. Towards debiasing sentence representations. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 5502–5515, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Percy Liang, Rishi Bommasani, Tony Lee, Dimitris Tsipras, Dilara Soylu, Michihiro Yasunaga, Yian Zhang, Deepak Narayanan, Yuhuai Wu, Ananya Kumar, Benjamin Newman, Binhang Yuan, Bobby Yan, Ce Zhang, Christian Cosgrove, Christopher D. Manning, Christopher R'e, Diana Acosta-Navas, Drew A. Hudson, E. Zelikman, Esin Durmus, Faisal Ladhak, Frieda Rong, Hongyu Ren, Huaxiu Yao, Jue Wang, Keshav Santhanam, Laurel J. Orr, Lucia Zheng, Mert Yuksekgonul, Mirac Suzgun, Nathan S. Kim, Neel Guha, Niladri S. Chatterji, Omar Khattab, Peter Henderson, Qian Huang, Ryan Chi, Sang Michael Xie, Shibani Santurkar, Surya Ganguli, Tatsunori Hashimoto, Thomas F. Icard, Tianyi Zhang, Vishrav Chaudhary, William Wang, Xuechen Li, Yifan Mai, Yuhui Zhang, and Yuta Koreeda. 2022. Holistic evaluation of language models. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences.
- Tomasz Limisiewicz and David Mareček. 2021. Introducing orthogonal constraint in structural probes. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 428–442, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tomasz Limisiewicz and David Mareček. 2022. Don't forget about pronouns: Removing gender bias in language models without losing factual gender information. In Proceedings of the 4th Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing (GeBNLP), pages 17–29, Seattle, Washington. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Haochen Liu, Jamell Dacon, Wenqi Fan, Hui Liu, Zitao Liu, and Jiliang Tang. 2020a. Does gender matter? towards fairness in dialogue systems. In Proceedings of the 28th International Conference on Computational Linguistics, pages 4403–4416, Barcelona,

Spain (Online). International Committee on Computational Linguistics.

- Haochen Liu, Wei Jin, Hamid Karimi, Zitao Liu, and Jiliang Tang. 2021. The Authors Matter: Understanding and Mitigating Implicit Bias in Deep Text Classification. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL-IJCNLP 2021*, pages 74–85. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tianyu Liu, Zheng Xin, Baobao Chang, and Zhifang Sui. 2020b. HypoNLI: Exploring the artificial patterns of hypothesis-only bias in natural language inference. In *Proceedings of the Twelfth Language Resources* and Evaluation Conference, pages 6852–6860, Marseille, France. European Language Resources Association.
- Kaiji Lu, Piotr Mardziel, Fangjing Wu, Preetam Amancharla, and Anupam Datta. 2020. Gender bias in neural natural language processing. *Logic, Language, and Security: Essays Dedicated to Andre Scedrov on the Occasion of His 65th Birthday*, pages 189–202.
- Li Lucy and David Bamman. 2021. Gender and representation bias in GPT-3 generated stories. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Narrative Understanding*, pages 48–55, Virtual. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Hongyin Luo and James Glass. 2023. Logic against bias: Textual entailment mitigates stereotypical sentence reasoning. In Proceedings of the 17th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 1243–1254, Dubrovnik, Croatia. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Queenie Luo, Michael J Puett, and Michael D Smith. 2023. A perspectival mirror of the elephant: Investigating language bias on google, chatgpt, wikipedia, and youtube. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2303.16281*.
- Xinyao Ma, Maarten Sap, Hannah Rashkin, and Yejin Choi. 2020. PowerTransformer: Unsupervised controllable revision for biased language correction. In Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP), pages 7426–7441, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bodhisattwa Majumder, Zexue He, and Julian McAuley. 2023. InterFair: Debiasing with natural language feedback for fair interpretable predictions. In Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 9466– 9471, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Vijit Malik, Sunipa Dev, Akihiro Nishi, Nanyun Peng, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2022. Socially aware bias measurements for Hindi language representations. In Proceedings of the 2022 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies,

pages 1041–1052, Seattle, United States. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Thomas Manzini, Lim Yao Chong, Alan W Black, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2019. Black is to criminal as caucasian is to police: Detecting and removing multiclass bias in word embeddings. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 615–621, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Abigail Matthews, Isabella Grasso, Christopher Mahoney, Yan Chen, Esma Wali, Thomas Middleton, Mariama Njie, and Jeanna Matthews. 2021. Gender bias in natural language processing across human languages. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Trustworthy Natural Language Processing, pages 45–54, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Rowan Hall Maudslay, Hila Gonen, Ryan Cotterell, and Simone Teufel. 2019. It's all in the name: Mitigating gender bias with name-based counterfactual data substitution. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 5267–5275, Hong Kong, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Chandler May, Alex Wang, Shikha Bordia, Samuel R. Bowman, and Rachel Rudinger. 2019. On measuring social biases in sentence encoders. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 622–628, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Elijah Mayfield, Michael Madaio, Shrimai Prabhumoye, David Gerritsen, Brittany McLaughlin, Ezekiel Dixon-Román, and Alan W Black. 2019. Equity Beyond Bias in Language Technologies for Education. In Proceedings of the Fourteenth Workshop on Innovative Use of NLP for Building Educational Applications, pages 444–460. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Katherine McCurdy and Oguz Serbetci. 2020. Grammatical gender associations outweigh topical gender bias in crosslinguistic word embeddings. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2005.08864*.
- Ninareh Mehrabi, Fred Morstatter, Nripsuta Saxena, Kristina Lerman, and Aram Galstyan. 2021. A survey on bias and fairness in machine learning. *ACM Comput. Surv.*, 54(6).
- Katelyn Mei, Sonia Fereidooni, and Aylin Caliskan. 2023. Bias against 93 stigmatized groups in masked language models and downstream sentiment classification tasks. In Proceedings of the 2023 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency,

FAccT '23, page 1699–1710, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.

- Johannes Mario Meissner, Saku Sugawara, and Akiko Aizawa. 2022. Debiasing masks: A new framework for shortcut mitigation in NLU. In Proceedings of the 2022 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 7607–7613, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Michael Mendelson and Yonatan Belinkov. 2021. Debiasing methods in natural language understanding make bias more accessible. In *Proceedings of the* 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 1545–1557, Online and Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Mara Mills and Meredith Whittaker. 2019. *Disability, Bias, and AI*. AI Now Institute Report. AI Now Institute Report.
- Deirdre K. Mulligan, Joshua A. Kroll, Nitin Kohli, and Richmond Y. Wong. 2019. This thing called fairness: Disciplinary confusion realizing a value in technology. Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact., 3(CSCW).
- Moin Nadeem, Anna Bethke, and Siva Reddy. 2021. StereoSet: Measuring stereotypical bias in pretrained language models. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 5356–5371, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Manish Nagireddy, Lamogha Chiazor, Moninder Singh, and Ioana Baldini. 2023. Socialstigmaqa: A benchmark to uncover stigma amplification in generative language models. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2312.07492*.
- Nikita Nangia, Clara Vania, Rasika Bhalerao, and Samuel R. Bowman. 2020. CrowS-Pairs: A Challenge Dataset for Measuring Social Biases in Masked Language Models. In Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP), pages 1953–1967. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Pranav Narayanan Venkit. 2023. Towards a holistic approach: Understanding sociodemographic biases in nlp models using an interdisciplinary lens. In *Proceedings of the 2023 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society*, pages 1004–1005.
- Pranav Narayanan Venkit, Sanjana Gautam, Ruchi Panchanadikar, Ting-Hao Huang, and Shomir Wilson. 2023. Unmasking nationality bias: A study of human perception of nationalities in ai-generated articles. In Proceedings of the 2023 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society, AIES '23, page 554–565, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.

- Debora Nozza, Federico Bianchi, and Dirk Hovy. 2022.
 Pipelines for social bias testing of large language models. In Proceedings of BigScience Episode #5
 Workshop on Challenges & Perspectives in Creating Large Language Models, pages 68–74, virtual+Dublin. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Debora Nozza, Claudia Volpetti, and Elisabetta Fersini. 2019. Unintended bias in misogyny detection. In *IEEE/WIC/ACM International Conference on Web Intelligence*, WI '19, page 149–155, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Ali Omrani, Alireza Salkhordeh Ziabari, Charles Yu, Preni Golazizian, Brendan Kennedy, Mohammad Atari, Heng Ji, and Morteza Dehghani. 2023. Socialgroup-agnostic bias mitigation via the stereotype content model. In *Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics* (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 4123–4139, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Shiva Omrani Sabbaghi, Robert Wolfe, and Aylin Caliskan. 2023. Evaluating biased attitude associations of language models in an intersectional context. In *Proceedings of the 2023 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society*, AIES '23, page 542–553, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Hadas Orgad and Yonatan Belinkov. 2023. BLIND: Bias removal with no demographics. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 8801–8821, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Hadas Orgad, Seraphina Goldfarb-Tarrant, and Yonatan Belinkov. 2022. How gender debiasing affects internal model representations, and why it matters. In Proceedings of the 2022 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, pages 2602–2628, Seattle, United States. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Merrick Osborne, Ali Omrani, and Morteza Dehghani. 2023. The sins of the parents are to be laid upon the children: Biased humans, biased data, biased models. *Perspectives on psychological science : a journal of the Association for Psychological Science*, page 17456916231180099.
- Nedjma Ousidhoum, Xinran Zhao, Tianqing Fang, Yangqiu Song, and Dit-Yan Yeung. 2021. Probing toxic content in large pre-trained language models. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 4262–4274, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Anaelia Ovalle, Palash Goyal, Jwala Dhamala, Zachary Jaggers, Kai-Wei Chang, Aram Galstyan, Richard

Zemel, and Rahul Gupta. 2023. "i'm fully who i am": Towards centering transgender and non-binary voices to measure biases in open language generation. In *Proceedings of the 2023 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency*, FAccT '23, page 1246–1266, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.

- Swetasudha Panda, Ari Kobren, Michael Wick, and Qinlan Shen. 2022. Don't just clean it, proxy clean it: Mitigating bias by proxy in pre-trained models. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2022*, pages 5073–5085, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Orestis Papakyriakopoulos, Simon Hegelich, Juan Carlos Medina Serrano, and Fabienne Marco. 2020. Bias in word embeddings. In *Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency*, FAT* '20, page 446–457, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Ji Ho Park, Jamin Shin, and Pascale Fung. 2018. Reducing Gender Bias in Abusive Language Detection. In *Proceedings of the 2018 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 2799–2804. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Alicia Parrish, Angelica Chen, Nikita Nangia, Vishakh Padmakumar, Jason Phang, Jana Thompson, Phu Mon Htut, and Samuel Bowman. 2022a. BBQ: A hand-built bias benchmark for question answering. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL 2022*, pages 2086–2105, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Alicia Parrish, Angelica Chen, Nikita Nangia, Vishakh Padmakumar, Jason Phang, Jana Thompson, Phu Mon Htut, and Samuel Bowman. 2022b. BBQ: A hand-built bias benchmark for question answering. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL 2022*, pages 2086–2105, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Thomas F Pettigrew and Linda R Tropp. 2006. A metaanalytic test of intergroup contact theory. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 90(5):751.
- Matúš Pikuliak, Ivana Beňová, and Viktor Bachratý. 2023. In-depth look at word filling societal bias measures. In Proceedings of the 17th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 3648–3665, Dubrovnik, Croatia. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Vinodkumar Prabhakaran, Ben Hutchinson, and Margaret Mitchell. 2019. Perturbation Sensitivity Analysis to Detect Unintended Model Biases. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 5740–5745. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Flavien Prost, Nithum Thain, and Tolga Bolukbasi. 2019. Debiasing embeddings for reduced gender bias in text classification. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing, pages 69–75, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ivan Provilkov and Andrey Malinin. 2021. Multisentence resampling: A simple approach to alleviate dataset length bias and beam-search degradation. In Proceedings of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 8612–8621, Online and Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Arun K. Pujari, Ansh Mittal, Anshuman Padhi, Anshul Jain, Mukesh Jadon, and Vikas Kumar. 2020. Debiasing gender biased hindi words with word-embedding. In Proceedings of the 2019 2nd International Conference on Algorithms, Computing and Artificial Intelligence, ACAI '19, page 450–456, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Chen Qian, Fuli Feng, Lijie Wen, Chunping Ma, and Pengjun Xie. 2021. Counterfactual Inference for Text Classification Debiasing. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 5434–5445. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Yusu Qian, Urwa Muaz, Ben Zhang, and Jae Won Hyun. 2019. Reducing gender bias in word-level language models with a gender-equalizing loss function. In *Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Student Research Workshop*, pages 223–228, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Alec Radford, Jeffrey Wu, Rewon Child, David Luan, Dario Amodei, Ilya Sutskever, et al. 2019. Language models are unsupervised multitask learners. *OpenAI blog*, 1(8):9.
- Colin Raffel, Noam Shazeer, Adam Roberts, Katherine Lee, Sharan Narang, Michael Matena, Yanqi Zhou, Wei Li, and Peter J. Liu. 2020. Exploring the limits of transfer learning with a unified text-to-text transformer. J. Mach. Learn. Res., 21(1).
- Shauli Ravfogel, Yanai Elazar, Hila Gonen, Michael Twiton, and Yoav Goldberg. 2020. Null it out: Guarding protected attributes by iterative nullspace projection. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 7237–7256, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Nils Karl Reimer and Nikhil Kumar Sengupta. 2023. Meta-analysis of the "ironic" effects of intergroup contact. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 124(2):362.

- Brianna Richardson, Prasanna Sattigeri, Dennis Wei, Karthikeyan Natesan Ramamurthy, Kush Varshney, Amit Dhurandhar, and Juan E. Gilbert. 2023. Addremove-or-relabel: Practitioner-friendly bias mitigation via influential fairness. In Proceedings of the 2023 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, FAccT '23, page 736–752, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Alexey Romanov, Maria De-Arteaga, Hanna Wallach, Jennifer Chayes, Christian Borgs, Alexandra Chouldechova, Sahin Geyik, Krishnaram Kenthapadi, Anna Rumshisky, and Adam Kalai. 2019. What's in a name? Reducing bias in bios without access to protected attributes. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 4187–4195, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Candace Ross, Boris Katz, and Andrei Barbu. 2021. Measuring social biases in grounded vision and language embeddings. In Proceedings of the 2021 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, pages 998–1008, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- David Rozado. 2020. Wide range screening of algorithmic bias in word embedding models using large sentiment lexicons reveals underreported bias types. *PloS one*, 15(4):e0231189.
- Cynthia Rudin. 2019. Stop explaining black box machine learning models for high stakes decisions and use interpretable models instead. *Nature machine intelligence*, 1(5):206–215.
- Rachel Rudinger, Chandler May, and Benjamin Van Durme. 2017. Social bias in elicited natural language inferences. In *Proceedings of the First ACL Workshop on Ethics in Natural Language Processing*, pages 74–79, Valencia, Spain. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Rachel Rudinger, Jason Naradowsky, Brian Leonard, and Benjamin Van Durme. 2018. Gender Bias in Coreference Resolution. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 2 (Short Papers), pages 8–14. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Magnus Sahlgren and Fredrik Olsson. 2019. Gender bias in pretrained Swedish embeddings. In *Proceedings of the 22nd Nordic Conference on Computational Linguistics*, pages 35–43, Turku, Finland. Linköping University Electronic Press.
- Keisuke Sakaguchi, Ronan Le Bras, Chandra Bhagavatula, and Yejin Choi. 2021. Winogrande: An adversarial winograd schema challenge at scale. *Commun.* ACM, 64(9):99–106.
- Julian Salazar, Davis Liang, Toan Q. Nguyen, and Katrin Kirchhoff. 2020. Masked language model scoring. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 2699–2712, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Maarten Sap, Dallas Card, Saadia Gabriel, Yejin Choi, and Noah A. Smith. 2019. The Risk of Racial Bias in Hate Speech Detection. In *Proceedings of the* 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 1668–1678. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Maarten Sap, Saadia Gabriel, Lianhui Qin, Dan Jurafsky, Noah A. Smith, and Yejin Choi. 2020. Social bias frames: Reasoning about social and power implications of language. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 5477–5490, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Danielle Saunders and Bill Byrne. 2020. Reducing gender bias in neural machine translation as a domain adaptation problem. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 7724–7736, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Beatrice Savoldi, Marco Gaido, Luisa Bentivogli, Matteo Negri, and Marco Turchi. 2021. Gender bias in machine translation. *Transactions of the Association* for Computational Linguistics, 9:845–874.
- Timo Schick, Sahana Udupa, and Hinrich Schütze. 2021a. Self-diagnosis and self-debiasing: A proposal for reducing corpus-based bias in nlp. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 9:1408–1424.
- Timo Schick, Sahana Udupa, and Hinrich Schütze. 2021b. Self-diagnosis and self-debiasing: A proposal for reducing corpus-based bias in NLP. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 9:1408–1424.
- Stephanie Schoch, Diyi Yang, and Yangfeng Ji. 2020.
 "this is a problem, don't you agree?" framing and bias in human evaluation for natural language generation. In *Proceedings of the 1st Workshop on Evaluating NLG Evaluation*, pages 10–16, Online (Dublin, Ireland). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Reva Schwartz, Leann Down, Adam Jonas, and Elham Tabassi. 2021. A proposal for identifying and managing bias in artificial intelligence. *Draft NIST Special Publication*, 1270.
- João Sedoc and Lyle Ungar. 2019. The role of protected class word lists in bias identification of contextualized word representations. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing*, pages 55–61, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Nikil Selvam, Sunipa Dev, Daniel Khashabi, Tushar Khot, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2023. The tail wagging the dog: Dataset construction biases of social bias benchmarks. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers), pages 1373–1386, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Indira Sen, Mattia Samory, Claudia Wagner, and Isabelle Augenstein. 2022. Counterfactually augmented data and unintended bias: The case of sexism and hate speech detection. In Proceedings of the 2022 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, pages 4716–4726, Seattle, United States. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Procheta Sen and Debasis Ganguly. 2020. Towards socially responsible ai: Cognitive bias-aware multiobjective learning. *Proceedings of the AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, 34(03):2685–2692.
- Preethi Seshadri, Pouya Pezeshkpour, and Sameer Singh. 2022. Quantifying social biases using templates is unreliable. In Workshop on Trustworthy and Socially Responsible Machine Learning, NeurIPS 2022.
- Deven Santosh Shah, H. Andrew Schwartz, and Dirk Hovy. 2020. Predictive biases in natural language processing models: A conceptual framework and overview. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 5248–5264, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Nima Shahbazi, Yin Lin, Abolfazl Asudeh, and H. V. Jagadish. 2023. Representation bias in data: A survey on identification and resolution techniques. *ACM Comput. Surv.* Just Accepted.
- Shanya Sharma, Manan Dey, and Koustuv Sinha. 2022. How sensitive are translation systems to extra contexts? mitigating gender bias in neural machine translation models through relevant contexts. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2022*, pages 1968–1984, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Judy Hanwen Shen, Lauren Fratamico, Iyad Rahwan, and Alexander M Rush. 2018. Darling or babygirl? investigating stylistic bias in sentiment analysis. *Proc. of FATML*.
- Emily Sheng, Kai-Wei Chang, Prem Natarajan, and Nanyun Peng. 2020. Towards Controllable Biases in Language Generation. In *Findings of the Association* for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020, pages 3239–3254, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Seungjae Shin, Kyungwoo Song, JoonHo Jang, Hyemi Kim, Weonyoung Joo, and Il-Chul Moon. 2020. Neutralizing gender bias in word embeddings with latent

disentanglement and counterfactual generation. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020*, pages 3126–3140, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Andrew Silva, Pradyumna Tambwekar, and Matthew Gombolay. 2021. Towards a comprehensive understanding and accurate evaluation of societal biases in pre-trained transformers. In *Proceedings of the 2021 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies*, pages 2383–2389, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Eric Michael Smith, Melissa Hall, Melanie Kambadur, Eleonora Presani, and Adina Williams. 2022. "I'm sorry to hear that": Finding new biases in language models with a holistic descriptor dataset. In *Proceedings of the 2022 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 9180–9211. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Maximilian Spliethöver, Maximilian Keiff, and Henning Wachsmuth. 2022. No word embedding model is perfect: Evaluating the representation accuracy for social bias in the media. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2022*, pages 2081–2093, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Maja Stahl, Maximilian Spliethöver, and Henning Wachsmuth. 2022. To prefer or to choose? generating agency and power counterfactuals jointly for gender bias mitigation. In *Proceedings of the Fifth Workshop on Natural Language Processing and Computational Social Science (NLP+CSS)*, pages 39–51, Abu Dhabi, UAE. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Karolina Stanczak and Isabelle Augenstein. 2021. A survey on gender bias in natural language processing.
- Gabriel Stanovsky, Noah A. Smith, and Luke Zettlemoyer. 2019. Evaluating Gender Bias in Machine Translation. In *Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 1679–1684. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Yolande Strengers, Lizhen Qu, Qiongkai Xu, and Jarrod Knibbe. 2020. Adhering, steering, and queering: Treatment of gender in natural language generation. In Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI '20, page 1–14, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Shivashankar Subramanian, Xudong Han, Timothy Baldwin, Trevor Cohn, and Lea Frermann. 2021. Evaluating debiasing techniques for intersectional biases. In *Proceedings of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 2492–2498, Online and Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Tony Sun, Andrew Gaut, Shirlyn Tang, Yuxin Huang, Mai ElSherief, Jieyu Zhao, Diba Mirza, Elizabeth Belding, Kai-Wei Chang, and William Yang Wang. 2019. Mitigating Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing: Literature Review. In Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 1630–1640. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Adam Sutton, Thomas Lansdall-Welfare, and Nello Cristianini. 2018. Biased embeddings from wild data: Measuring, understanding and removing. In Advances in Intelligent Data Analysis XVII: 17th International Symposium, IDA 2018,'s-Hertogenbosch, The Netherlands, October 24–26, 2018, Proceedings 17, pages 328–339. Springer.
- Chris Sweeney and Maryam Najafian. 2019. A transparent framework for evaluating unintended demographic bias in word embeddings. In *Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 1662–1667, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Chris Sweeney and Maryam Najafian. 2020. Reducing sentiment polarity for demographic attributes in word embeddings using adversarial learning. In *Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency*, FAT* '20, page 359–368, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Yarden Tal, Inbal Magar, and Roy Schwartz. 2022. Fewer errors, but more stereotypes? the effect of model size on gender bias. In Proceedings of the 4th Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing (GeBNLP), pages 112–120, Seattle, Washington. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Samson Tan, Shafiq Joty, Min-Yen Kan, and Richard Socher. 2020. It's morphin' time! Combating linguistic discrimination with inflectional perturbations. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 2920– 2935, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Yi Chern Tan and L. Elisa Celis. 2019. Assessing Social and Intersectional Biases in Contextualized Word Representations. In *Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems*, volume 32. Curran Associates, Inc.
- Himanshu Thakur, Atishay Jain, Praneetha Vaddamanu, Paul Pu Liang, and Louis-Philippe Morency. 2023. Language models get a gender makeover: Mitigating gender bias with few-shot data interventions. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers), pages 340–351, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jacob Thebault-Spieker, Sukrit Venkatagiri, Naomi Mine, and Kurt Luther. 2023. Diverse perspectives can mitigate political bias in crowdsourced content

moderation. In *Proceedings of the 2023 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency,* FAccT '23, page 1280–1291, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.

- Ewoenam Kwaku Tokpo, Pieter Delobelle, Bettina Berendt, and Toon Calders. 2023. How far can it go? on intrinsic gender bias mitigation for text classification. In Proceedings of the 17th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 3418–3433, Dubrovnik, Croatia. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Paulina Toro Isaza, Guangxuan Xu, Toye Oloko, Yufang Hou, Nanyun Peng, and Dakuo Wang. 2023. Are fairy tales fair? analyzing gender bias in temporal narrative event chains of children's fairy tales. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 6509–6531, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Samia Touileb, Lilja Øvrelid, and Erik Velldal. 2023. Measuring normative and descriptive biases in language models using census data. In *Proceedings* of the 17th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 2242–2248, Dubrovnik, Croatia. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Eddie Ungless, Amy Rafferty, Hrichika Nag, and Björn Ross. 2022. A robust bias mitigation procedure based on the stereotype content model. In *Proceedings of the Fifth Workshop on Natural Language Processing and Computational Social Science (NLP+CSS)*, pages 207–217, Abu Dhabi, UAE. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ameya Vaidya, Feng Mai, and Yue Ning. 2020. Empirical analysis of multi-task learning for reducing identity bias in toxic comment detection. In *Proceedings of the International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media*, volume 14, pages 683–693.
- Francisco Valentini, Germán Rosati, Damián Blasi, Diego Fernandez Slezak, and Edgar Altszyler. 2023. On the interpretability and significance of bias metrics in texts: a PMI-based approach. In *Proceedings* of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers), pages 509–520, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Francisco Valentini, Germán Rosati, Diego Fernandez Slezak, and Edgar Altszyler. 2022. The undesirable dependence on frequency of gender bias metrics based on word embeddings. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2022*, pages 5086–5092, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Pranav Venkit, Mukund Srinath, Sanjana Gautam, Saranya Venkatraman, Vipul Gupta, Rebecca J. Passonneau, and Shomir Wilson. 2023a. The sentiment problem: A critical survey towards deconstructing

sentiment analysis. In *Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 13743–13763.

- Pranav Narayanan Venkit, Sanjana Gautam, Ruchi Panchanadikar, Shomir Wilson, et al. 2023b. Nationality bias in text generation. *Proceedings of the 17th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics.*
- Pranav Narayanan Venkit, Mukund Srinath, and Shomir Wilson. 2022. A study of implicit bias in pretrained language models against people with disabilities. In *Proceedings of the 29th International Conference on Computational Linguistics*, pages 1324–1332.
- Pranav Narayanan Venkit, Mukund Srinath, and Shomir Wilson. 2023c. Automated ableism: An exploration of explicit disability biases in sentiment and toxicity analysis models. In *The Third Workshop on Trustworthy Natural Language Processing*, page 26.
- Pranav Narayanan Venkit and Shomir Wilson. 2021. Identification of bias against people with disabilities in sentiment analysis and toxicity detection models. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2111.13259*.
- Bo Wang, Tao Shen, Guodong Long, Tianyi Zhou, and Yi Chang. 2021. Eliminating sentiment bias for aspect-level sentiment classification with unsupervised opinion extraction. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2021*, pages 3002–3012, Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Kellie Webster, Marta Recasens, Vera Axelrod, and Jason Baldridge. 2018. Mind the GAP: A balanced corpus of gendered ambiguous pronouns. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 6:605–617.
- Kellie Webster, Xuezhi Wang, Ian Tenney, Alex Beutel, Emily Pitler, Ellie Pavlick, Jilin Chen, Ed Chi, and Slav Petrov. 2021. Measuring and Reducing Gendered Correlations in Pre-trained Models. ArXiv:2010.06032 [cs].
- Jiaxin Wen, Yeshuang Zhu, Jinchao Zhang, Jie Zhou, and Minlie Huang. 2022. AutoCAD: Automatically generate counterfactuals for mitigating shortcut learning. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2022*, pages 2302–2317, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jennifer C. White and Ryan Cotterell. 2021. Examining the inductive bias of neural language models with artificial languages. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 454–463, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Jennifer C. White, Tiago Pimentel, Naomi Saphra, and Ryan Cotterell. 2021. A non-linear structural probe. In Proceedings of the 2021 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, pages 132–138, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Robert Wolfe and Aylin Caliskan. 2021. Low frequency names exhibit bias and overfitting in contextualizing language models. In *Proceedings of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 518–532, Online and Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Zhongbin Xie, Vid Kocijan, Thomas Lukasiewicz, and Oana-Maria Camburu. 2023. Counter-gap: Counterfactual bias evaluation through gendered ambiguous pronouns. In *Proceedings of the 17th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 3743–3755.
- Zekun Yang and Juan Feng. 2020. A causal inference method for reducing gender bias in word embedding relations. *Proceedings of the AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, 34(05):9434–9441.
- Zhilin Yang, Zihang Dai, Yiming Yang, Jaime Carbonell, Ruslan Salakhutdinov, and Quoc V. Le. 2019. Xlnet: Generalized autoregressive pretraining for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 33rd International Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems, Red Hook, NY, USA. Curran Associates Inc.
- Ziyi Yang, Yinfei Yang, Daniel Cer, and Eric Darve. 2021. A simple and effective method to eliminate the self language bias in multilingual representations. In *Proceedings of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 5825–5832, Online and Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Huihan Yao, Ying Chen, Qinyuan Ye, Xisen Jin, and Xiang Ren. 2021. Refining Language Models with Compositional Explanations. In *Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems*, volume 34, pages 8954–8967. Curran Associates, Inc.
- Li Yifei, Lyle Ungar, and João Sedoc. 2023. Conceptoraided debiasing of large language models. In *Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 10703– 10727, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Guanhua Zhang, Bing Bai, Junqi Zhang, Kun Bai, Conghui Zhu, and Tiejun Zhao. 2020a. Demographics should not be the reason of toxicity: Mitigating discrimination in text classifications with instance weighting. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 4134–4145, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Haoran Zhang, Amy X. Lu, Mohamed Abdalla, Matthew McDermott, and Marzyeh Ghassemi. 2020b. Hurtful words: Quantifying biases in clinical contextual word embeddings. In *Proceedings of the* ACM Conference on Health, Inference, and Learning, CHIL '20, page 110–120, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Jindi Zhang, Luning Wang, Dan Su, Yongxiang Huang, Caleb Chen Cao, and Lei Chen. 2023. Model debiasing via gradient-based explanation on representation. In *Proceedings of the 2023 AAAI/ACM Conference* on AI, Ethics, and Society, AIES '23, page 193–204, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Junzhe Zhang and Elias Bareinboim. 2018. Equality of opportunity in classification: A causal approach. In *Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems*, volume 31. Curran Associates, Inc.
- Yunxiang Zhang, Liangming Pan, Samson Tan, and Min-Yen Kan. 2022. Interpreting the robustness of neural NLP models to textual perturbations. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL* 2022, pages 3993–4007, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Ryan Cotterell, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2019. Gender bias in contextualized word embeddings. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 629–634. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2017. Men also like shopping: Reducing gender bias amplification using corpus-level constraints. In Proceedings of the 2017 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 2979–2989, Copenhagen, Denmark. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2018a. Gender Bias in Coreference Resolution: Evaluation and Debiasing Methods. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 2 (Short Papers), pages 15–20. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jieyu Zhao, Yichao Zhou, Zeyu Li, Wei Wang, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2018b. Learning gender-neutral word embeddings. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 4847–4853, Brussels, Belgium. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Alina Zhiltsova, Simon Caton, and Catherine Mulway. 2019. Mitigation of unintended biases against nonnative english texts in sentiment analysis. In AICS, pages 317–328.

- Ming Zhong, Pengfei Liu, Yiran Chen, Danqing Wang, Xipeng Qiu, and Xuanjing Huang. 2020. Extractive summarization as text matching. In *Proceedings* of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 6197–6208, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Fan Zhou, Yuzhou Mao, Liu Yu, Yi Yang, and Ting Zhong. 2023a. Causal-debias: Unifying debiasing in pretrained language models and fine-tuning via causal invariant learning. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 4227– 4241, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Pei Zhou, Weijia Shi, Jieyu Zhao, Kuan-Hao Huang, Muhao Chen, Ryan Cotterell, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2019. Examining Gender Bias in Languages with Grammatical Gender. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 5276–5284. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Yi Zhou, Jose Camacho-Collados, and Danushka Bollegala. 2023b. A predictive factor analysis of social biases and task-performance in pretrained masked language models. In *Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 11082–11100, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Terry Yue Zhuo, Yujin Huang, Chunyang Chen, and Zhenchang Xing. 2023. Exploring ai ethics of chatgpt: A diagnostic analysis. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2301.12867*.
- Ran Zmigrod, Sebastian J. Mielke, Hanna Wallach, and Ryan Cotterell. 2019. Counterfactual Data Augmentation for Mitigating Gender Stereotypes in Languages with Rich Morphology. In Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 1651–1661. Association for Computational Linguistics.

A Appendix

A.1 Evaluation Datasets

Bias benchmark datasets provide valuable resources for NLP fairness research. These datasets commonly contain illustrative examples of biased language, often templated sentences filled with contrastive social group terms. Datasets allow standardized bias evaluation on diverse tasks using controlled examples. Many of them focus on a particular type of language context, such as coreference, sentiment, or question answering, while others probe for stereotype bias through word associations. Table present in the *Appendix* summarizes these datasets.

In the case of *coreference resolution*, Zhao et al. (2018a) proposed a method for identifying gender bias using Winograd-schema sentences for occupation terms. Webster et al. (2018) introduced GAP, a gender-balanced, labeled corpus of 8,908 ambiguous pronoun-name pairs designed to detect gender bias in coreference resolution. In the word association domain, Nangia et al. (2020) presented CrowS-Pairs, a sentence pair corpus that measures a model's bias by assessing if it favors sentences with stereotypes. Nadeem et al. (2021) released StereoSet, a large-scale natural dataset in English designed to measure stereotypical bias using inter- and intra-sentence association of words to stereotypical contexts. Li et al. (2020) proposed UNQOVER, a general framework for probing bias in question answering models using questions to probe whether a model associates a sociodemographic group to a stereotype. Smith et al. (2022) published HolisticBias, consisting of 450,000 unique sentence prompts for measuring 13 types of sociodemographic bias in generative LMs.

In the domain of *sentiment evaluation*, Kiritchenko and Mohammad (2018) released EEC, an 8,640 English sentence collection curated to test bias toward certain races and genders in sentiment analysis models. BITS (Venkit and Wilson, 2021; Venkit et al., 2023c) is a similar corpus of 1,126 sentences curated to measure disability, race, and gender bias in sentiment and toxicity analysis models.

Table 2 provides list of datasets for quantifying bias in NLP models.

A.2 List of papers surveyed

Below is the list of papers surveyed in this work, sorted based on our taxonomy.

Explicit Bias(T1) :

(Mei et al., 2023; Deas et al., 2023; Liu et al., 2021; De-Arteaga et al., 2019; Bell and Sagun, 2023; Silva et al., 2021; Park et al., 2018; Sap et al., 2020; B et al., 2021; Lauscher and Glavaš, 2019; Rozado, 2020; Rudinger et al., 2017; Shah et al., 2020; Du et al., 2022; Nozza et al., 2022; Honnavalli et al., 2022; Lucy and Bamman, 2021; Mendelson and Belinkov, 2021; Matthews et al., 2020; Kementchedjhieva et al., 2021; Garrido-Muñoz et al., 2022; Fisher et al., 2020; De-lobelle et al., 2022; Fisher et al., 2020; Sheng et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2020a; Hendricks et al.,

Dataset name	Task	Bias Type	Dataset Size
WinoBias (Zhao et al., 2018a)	Coreference Resolution	Gender	1,580
WinoGender (Rudinger et al., 2018)	Coreference Resolution	Gender	720
GAP (Webster et al., 2018)	Coreference Resolution	Gender	8,908
Counter-GAP (Xie et al., 2023)	Coreference Resolution	Gender	4,008
CrowS-Pairs (Nangia et al., 2020)	Word Association	Gender, race, religion, age, sexual orientation, nationality, disability, physical appearance, and socioeco. status.	1,508
StereoSet (Nadeem et al., 2021)	Word Association	Race, gender, religion, and profession	16,995
WikiGenderBias (Gaut et al., 2020)	Word Association	Gender	45,000
UnQOVER (Li et al., 2020)	Word Association	Gender, Nationality, Ethnicity,Religion	8,908
WinoGrande (Sakaguchi et al., 2021)	Word Association	Dataset Bias	1,767
BBQ (Parrish et al., 2022b)	Word Association	9 Sociodemographic Group	58,492
EEC (Kiritchenko and Mohammad, 2018)	Sentiment Evaluation	Gender, Race	8,640
BITS (Venkit and Wilson, 2021)	Sentiment Evaluation	Gender, Race, Disability	1,126
HolisticBias (Smith et al., 2022)	Text Generation	13 Sociodemographic Group	450,000

Table 2: List of Evaluation datasets used to measure bias in NLP models

2018; Mehrabi et al., 2021; Mayfield et al., 2019; Schwartz et al., 2021; Nozza et al., 2019; Vaidya et al., 2020; He et al., 2019; Hovy and Søgaard, 2015; Wolfe and Caliskan, 2021; Sakaguchi et al., 2021; Agarwal et al., 2019; White and Cotterell, 2021; Luo and Glass, 2023)

Gender Bias : (Sharma et al., 2022; Kaneko et al., 2022a; Stahl et al., 2022; Kaneko et al., 2023; Toro Isaza et al., 2023; Hada et al., 2023; Attanasio et al., 2023; Goldfarb-Tarrant et al., 2023; Lee et al., 2023; Gaut et al., 2020; Sun et al., 2019; Hamidi et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2019; Savoldi et al., 2021; Sahlgren and Olsson, 2019; Ahn et al., 2022; Tal et al., 2022; Kaneko et al., 2022b; Field and Tsvetkov, 2020; Garimella et al., 2019; Escudé Font and Costa-jussà, 2019; Bhaskaran and Bhallamudi, 2019; McCurdy and Serbetci, 2020; Kaneko and Bollegala, 2019; Larson, 2017; Du et al., 2021; Bartl et al., 2020; Webster et al., 2021; Tan and Celis, 2019; Bolukbasi et al., 2016; Maudslay et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2019; Rudinger et al., 2018; Lu et al., 2020)

Racial Bias : (Goldfarb-Tarrant et al., 2023; Levy et al., 2023; Field et al., 2023; Cheng et al., 2023; Sap et al., 2019; Hanna et al., 2020; Blodgett et al., 2016; Davidson et al., 2019; Friedman et al., 2019; Shen et al., 2018; Karve et al., 2019; Nadeem et al., 2021; Garimella et al., 2021; Nangia et al., 2020; Tan and Celis, 2019; Guo and Caliskan, 2021; Brown et al., 2020)

Disability bias : (Venkit and Wilson, 2021; Venkit et al., 2022; Hutchinson et al., 2020; Bennett and Keyes, 2020; Mills and Whittaker, 2019; Hassan et al., 2021; Narayanan Venkit, 2023)

Ethnicity bias : (Bauer et al., 2023; Levy et al., 2023; Malik et al., 2022; Li et al., 2022; Ahn and Oh, 2021; Garg et al., 2018; Li et al., 2020; Abid et al., 2021; Manzini et al., 2019; Venkit et al., 2023b; Bhatt et al., 2022), Nationality bias - (Ladhak et al., 2023; Levy et al., 2023; Narayanan Venkit et al., 2023; Nen et al., 2018; Rozado, 2020), Age bias (Nangia et al., 2020; Diaz et al., 2018) and sexual-orientation bias (Ovalle et al., 2023; Nangia et al., 2020; Cao and Daumé III, 2020)

Distance based metrics(Q1) : (Caliskan et al., 2017; Dev and Phillips, 2019; Zhao et al., 2017; Basta et al., 2019; Shen et al., 2018; Brunet et al., 2019b; May et al., 2019; Dev et al., 2021; Zhou et al., 2019; Pujari et al., 2020; Sutton et al., 2018; Lauscher et al., 2020; Guo and Caliskan, 2021; Bolukbasi et al., 2016; Ross et al., 2021; Tan

and Celis, 2019; Ethayarajh et al., 2019; Chaloner and Maldonado, 2019; Bordia and Bowman, 2019; Valentini et al., 2023)

Probing based metrics(Q2) : (Orgad et al., 2022; Immer et al., 2022; Chen et al., 2021; Limisiewicz and Mareček, 2021; Kennedy et al., 2020; Sweeney and Najafian, 2019; Tan et al., 2020; Mendelson and Belinkov, 2021; White et al., 2021)

Performance metrics(Q3) : (De-Arteaga et al., 2019; Kwon and Mihindukulasooriya, 2022; Zhang et al., 2022; Huang et al., 2020; Dixon et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2018a; Cho et al., 2019; Stanovsky et al., 2019; Gonen and Webster, 2020; Borkan et al., 2019; Dev et al., 2020)

Prompt based metrics(Q4) : (Nagireddy et al., 2023; Webster et al., 2021; Smith et al., 2022; Kurita et al., 2019; Krishna et al., 2022; Bhaskaran and Bhallamudi, 2019; Gupta et al., 2022b; Prabhakaran et al., 2019; Ahn and Oh, 2021; Bartl et al., 2020; Li et al., 2020; Venkit and Wilson, 2021; Salazar et al., 2020; Dev et al., 2020; Diaz et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2020b; Garg et al., 2019; Liang et al., 2022; Kusner et al., 2017; Huang et al., 2020; Akyürek et al., 2022; Gardner et al., 2020; Ousidhoum et al., 2021; Parrish et al., 2022a; Kiritchenko and Mohammad, 2018; Touileb et al., 2023; Gupta et al., 2023; An et al., 2023; Felkner et al., 2023; Ousidhoum et al., 2021)

Debiasing during Finetuning(D1) : (Ungless et al., 2022; Du et al., 2023; Omrani et al., 2023; Zhou et al., 2023a; Thakur et al., 2023; Jin et al., 2021; He et al., 2022b; Zmigrod et al., 2019; Jin et al., 2021; Gaci et al., 2022; Gupta et al., 2022a; Ghaddar et al., 2021; Kumar et al., 2020; Han et al., 2021; Attanasio et al., 2022; Joniak and Aizawa, 2022; Chopra et al., 2020; Maudslay et al., 2019; Park et al., 2018; Yao et al., 2021; Liang et al., 2020; Sen et al., 2022; Ma et al., 2020; Limisiewicz and Mareček, 2022; Yang et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2021; Pujari et al., 2020; Sedoc and Ungar, 2019; Tan et al., 2020; Sutton et al., 2018; Ravfogel et al., 2020; Kaneko and Bollegala, 2019; Karve et al., 2019; Gyamfi et al., 2020; Shin et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2020a; Wen et al., 2022; Chopra et al., 2020; Yang and Feng, 2020; Lu et al., 2020; Lauscher et al., 2021; Garg et al., 2019; Dev et al., 2020, 2021; Manzini et al., 2019; Bolukbasi et al., 2016; Ahn and Oh, 2021; Orgad et al., 2022; Felkner

et al., 2023; de Vassimon Manela et al., 2021)

Debiasing during Training (D2) : (An et al., 2022; Bolukbasi et al., 2016; He et al., 2019; Han et al., 2022; Liu et al., 2020b; Escudé Font and Costa-jussà, 2019; Prost et al., 2019; James and Alvarez-Melis, 2019; Park et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2018b; Gao et al., 2022; Sweeney and Najafian, 2020; Hube et al., 2020; Sen and Ganguly, 2020; Saunders and Byrne, 2020; Dixon et al., 2018; Karimi Mahabadi et al., 2020; He et al., 2022a; Richardson et al., 2023) Loss functions for bias mitigation : (Hashimoto et al., 2018; Qian et al., 2019; Berg et al., 2022; Romanov et al., 2019; Garimella et al., 2021; Bordia and Bowman, 2019; Huang et al., 2020; Provilkov and Malinin, 2021; Liu et al., 2021; Orgad and Belinkov, 2023; Li et al., 2023)

Debiasing during Inference (D3) : (Majumder et al., 2023; Qian et al., 2021; Zhao et al., 2019; Abid et al., 2021; Guo et al., 2022; Schick et al., 2021b; Venkit et al., 2023b)

Works on Bias : These are works that are difficult to categorize in one of the above categories. (Chouldechova and Roth, 2020; Green, 2019; Zhang and Bareinboim, 2018; Mayfield et al., 2019; Katell et al., 2020; Dwork et al., 2012; Jacobs et al., 2020; Anoop et al., 2022; Czarnowska et al., 2021; Blodgett et al., 2021; Zhuo et al., 2023; Mulligan et al., 2019; Jacobs and Wallach, 2021; Schoch et al., 2020; Franklin et al., 2022; Bender, 2019; España-Bonet and Barrón-Cedeño, 2022; Hutchinson and Mitchell, 2019; Bender et al., 2021; Goldfarb-Tarrant et al., 2021; Brown et al., 2020; Li et al., 2020; Bagdasaryan et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2020a; Zhiltsova et al., 2019; Chopra et al., 2020; Luo et al., 2023; Shah et al., 2020; Garrido-Muñoz et al., 2021; Delobelle et al., 2022; Czarnowska et al., 2021)

Stop! In the Name of Flaws: Disentangling Personal Names and Sociodemographic Attributes in NLP

Vagrant Gautam1Arjun Subramonian2Anne Lauscher3Os Keyes41Saarland University, Germany2University of California, Los Angeles, USA3Universität Hamburg, Germany4University of Washington, USA

Abstract

Personal names simultaneously differentiate individuals and categorize them in ways that are important in a given society. While the natural language processing community has thus associated personal names with sociodemographic characteristics in a variety of tasks, researchers have engaged to varying degrees with the established methodological problems in doing so. To guide future work that uses names and sociodemographic characteristics, we provide an overview of relevant research: first, we present an interdisciplinary background on names and naming. We then survey the issues inherent to associating names with sociodemographic attributes, covering problems of validity (e.g., systematic error, construct validity), as well as ethical concerns (e.g., harms, differential impact, cultural insensitivity). Finally, we provide guiding questions along with normative recommendations to avoid validity and ethical pitfalls when dealing with names and sociodemographic characteristics in natural language processing.

1 Introduction

A person's identity is a complex and paradoxical thing - it simultaneously identifies someone's *uniqueness*, and categorizes them, identifying what they have in common with others (Strauss, 2017). A perfect example of this phenomenon is a person's *name*. Personal names are proper nouns used to refer to individuals. They play an important distinguishing role in our lives, as they let us uniquely represent people mentally, refer to them directly in speech, and underscore their significance as individuals (Jeshion, 2009). For these reasons, personal names are a linguistic universal, i.e., they appear across languages and cultures, although naming customs vary across the world (Hough, 2016).

But alongside differentiating people, names also categorize them in their society. Names assigned to



Figure 1: Overview of the methodological issues (concerning validity and ethics) of the use of personal names and sociodemographic characteristics in NLP.

people often index aspects of identity that are important in the context of their society, including sex, religion, tribe, stage of life, etc. Personal names are thus rich resources to understand the social organization of communities, and have been studied across anthropology (Alford, 1987; Hough, 2016), sociology (Marx, 1999; Pilcher, 2017), linguistics (Allerton, 1987; Anderson, 2003), and onomastics (Alvarez-Altman et al., 1987; Adams, 2009).

In natural language processing (NLP) as well, personal names have a long history of use-NLP researchers have worked on identifying and disambiguating uses of personal names (Mann and Yarowsky, 2003; Minkov et al., 2005; Färber and Ao, 2022) and have examined name translation (Sennrich et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2022; Sandoval et al., 2023) and name transliteration (Li et al., 2007; Benites et al., 2020; Sälevä and Lignos, 2024). Increasingly, NLP researchers also use personal names along with sociodemographic characteristics for passive analysis of media and scholarly content (Vogel and Jurafsky, 2012; Knowles et al., 2016; Mohammad, 2020; Asr et al., 2021), or to examine model biases and harms (Maudslay et al., 2019; Romanov et al., 2019; Webster et al., 2021). However, these papers engage to varying degrees with concerns that have been raised outside of NLP about the methodological validity and

ethics of associating names with sociodemographic characteristics. We argue that neglect of these issues is a significant barrier to valid and respectful research, as well as more inclusive NLP systems.

Hence, we contribute an overview of the issues with associating names with sociodemographic attributes (focused on gender and race, two popular categories used in NLP research), as shown in Figure 1. We begin with background on names in other fields and in NLP (§2), and lay out the problems with validity (§3) and ethical concerns (§4) raised when associating personal names with sociodemographic characteristics. Finally, we present guiding questions along with normative recommendations (§5) to guide future work in the field with names.

Bias statement. We consider group-level, individual, and representational harms, terms which we explain where we use them in Section 4.

Positionality statement. All authors have a background in data science and ethics, and one has a background in philosophy. Three of the authors are trans and have names that are likely unintelligible to popular name-based sociodemographic inference methods. Two authors are trans people of colour; as such, many examples in this paper reflect concerns about misgendering and racialization.

2 Background

We begin with some background: on names and naming, and on the use of names in NLP.

2.1 Names and Naming

Names are generally regarded as social phenomena that serve two central functions that are sometimes in conflict: differentiation and categorization of individuals (Alford, 1987). Differentiation is important psychologically and semantically for us to be able to directly refer to and mentally represent individuals, and names also serve to underscore their referent's significance as an individual (Jeshion, 2009). Categorization, on the other hand, is important for the social organization of communities, and naming conventions tend to reflect factors that are important to a community at a given point in time, e.g., gender, religion, descent, transition to adulthood, and so on (Hough, 2016). For instance, the practice of naming someone after their father or grandfather-patronymic naming-was once common across Europe, and was popular in Sweden until the nineteenth century (e.g., Samuels*son*) and continues into Iceland today (e.g., *Gunnarsdóttir*) (Hough, 2016). This example shows how names and naming can *only* be understood in a specific (geographic, cultural, temporal) context, and even then includes a lot of variation. As folk assumptions about names tend to overlook the wide variation in names and naming (McKenzie, 2010), we present an overview of naming as it relates to sociodemographic characteristics below.

Variation in societal conventions. The markers considered important to index in a name vary widely across cultures. For example, almost all European naming systems and indeed most societies across the world tend to assign sex-typed names (Hough, 2016), while South Indian naming conventions often index caste (Meganathan, 2009). However, convention does not mean that every single individual is assigned a name that neatly follows that convention, as shown by the long history of gender-ambiguous names in the U.S. (Barry and Harper, 1982). Additionally, gendered associations for specific names change over time (Barry and Harper, 1993), as do naming conventions in societies-for example, it is becoming increasingly popular to assign non-gendered names in the U.S. and in Israel (Hough, 2016; Obasi et al., 2019). Apart from conventions, names themselves are not static and unchanging from birth, with many names changing due to partnerships, adoption, transition to a different life stage or gender, and so on (Hough, 2016; Obasi et al., 2019; AIATSIS, 2022).

Assimilation and resistance to convention. Trends in big-picture naming conventions are complicated by factions of society who want to resist imposed classification. Increasingly heterogeneous societies are a natural setting for such tensions; cross-cultural associations with sociodemographic characteristics can differ and sometimes clash, complicating naming, e.g., names like Nicola and Andrea tend to be assigned to boys in Italy but to girls in Germany. As Germany is a society with highly regulated naming practices, inclusion of these names necessitated a court judgment (Hough, 2016). Immigrant families thus have to juggle the delicate balance of asserting their identity but avoiding name-based stigma and discrimination in the new culture. Their naming practices have therefore been studied as an indicator of attitudes towards assimilation or its rejection, showing how names are not a transparent indicator of race (Sue and Telles, 2007; Becker, 2009). Even among adults, imperialism and colonialism are forces that affect naming. Indigenous individuals have been forced to adopt Western names in settler colonial and postcolonial societies, e.g., the U.S., Canada, Australia (AIAT-SIS, 2022). Similarly, Chinese individuals around the world adopt Western names in conversational (Li, 1997) and professional settings (Chan, 2016). Among trans and gender-nonconforming adults, many choose a new name to reflect and express their gender, walking the tightrope between normativity and self-assertion (Konnelly, 2021); Obasi et al. (2019) find that 50% of gender-nonconforming respondents who change their name pick a gender-neutral name. Beyond transgender people, new names and pseudonyms are also often self-selected to assert agency in identity creation, e.g., bell hooks, Sojourner Truth, and Malcolm X (Baker and Green, 2021).

Quantitative aspects of naming. As naming involves a trade-off between differentiation and categorization, names often recur, a quantitative assumption that a lot of sociological, anthropological and NLP classification relies on (Alford, 1987). However, the distributions of names and people can be very different. Weitman (1981) finds that in 100 years of first names from Israel's Population Registry, the most frequent names (101+ occurrences) account for the majority of the population of a society (91%), but this corresponds to just a tiny minority of all assigned names (2.93%). These numbers could vary widely depending on the society, as, for example, the Chuukese people of Micronesia have a tradition of giving entirely unique names to children (Alford, 1987). Hence, it is important to distinguish when names are the object of study and when people are, to contextualize any results that involve the analysis of names.

2.2 Names and Sociodemographic Characteristics in NLP

Here, we present a non-comprehensive list of papers to illustrate some common uses of names and sociodemographic characteristics in NLP.

NLP tasks and problems. Numerous NLP works have developed algorithms to infer sociodemographic attributes from names (Chang et al., 2010; Liu and Ruths, 2013; Knowles et al., 2016), e.g., for passive analysis of social media content. Another line of NLP papers have relied on names to quantify gender disparities in academic publishing (Vogel and Jurafsky, 2012; Mohammad, 2020) or media representation (Asr et al., 2021). Some NLP works have identified preserving dominant gender associations as an important criterion for transliteration and translation (Li et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2022). Names are also used to investigate social biases in NLP systems and language models (Kotek et al., 2023; An et al., 2023; Ibaraki et al., 2024). For example, De-Arteaga et al. (2019) study how first names, which they consider "explicit gender indicators," affect the gender bias of occupation prediction from biographies. Similarly, Jeoung et al. (2023) assess the causal impact of first names, which they posit "may serve as proxies for (intersectional) socio-demographic representations," on the commonsense reasoning performance of language models. Smith and Williams (2021) measure racial biases as well, evaluating generative dialogue models by having "one conversational partner [...] state a name commonly associated with a certain gender and/or race/ethnicity." In this line of research, it is commonplace to use skewed reference populations such as U.S. census data (U.S. Census, 2020) and Social Security Administration baby names (U.S. Social Security Administration, 2023) for gender assocations (Lockhart et al., 2023).

Engagement with pitfalls. In these works, researchers engage to varying degrees with the established methodological and ethical problems of associating names with sociodemographic characteristics. Some NLP papers make unfounded assumptions about names, e.g., Vogel and Jurafsky (2012) posit that certain names are "unambiguous" with respect to gender across languages, and Wang et al. (2022) claim that there exist "names with obvious gender." Other papers are more critically reflective, acknowledging the limitations of their work: Knowles et al. (2016) state that their classifier to predict gender from names is biased towards the U.S. and assumes gender is binary, but leaves these issues "to be addressed in future work." Mohammad (2020) acknowledges that inferring gender from names can yield misgendering because "names do not capture gender fluidity or contextual gender," but suggest a trade-off with "the benefits of NLP techniques and social category detection." Encouragingly, some recent papers opt for more inclusive study designs after engaging deeply with the pitfalls of using names and sociodemographic characteristics (Sandoval et al., 2023; Saunders and Olsen, 2023; Lassen et al., 2023).

3 Validity Issues

In this section, we present issues of validity when associating names with sociodemographic categories, or using names to infer them. Issues of validity mean that results with these operationalizations may neither be indicative of what we actually want to measure, nor of reality.

Error is not quantifiable without asking humans. The accuracy of using names to infer sociodemographic characteristics of individuals cannot be quantified without ground truth data, which for people's identities, can only be obtained by asking them. Multiple studies thus empirically analyze the error rates of name-based gender and race inference systems as compared to gold data in different contexts (Karimi et al., 2016; Kozlowski et al., 2022; Van Buskirk et al., 2023; Lockhart et al., 2023).¹ For example, Lockhart et al. (2023) evaluate gender and race inference systems using self-reported data from nearly 20,000 individuals. Importantly, their self-reported data does not directly transfer to other contexts, as their respondents are authors of English language social science journal articles who are mostly located in the U.S. Using this data as reference data for a system with users located primarily in India, or for U.S. authors in a different century, makes little sense. In new environments, it is simply not possible to reasonably estimate the bounds of error of a name-based analysis, and results without a corresponding analysis of selfreported data should not be taken seriously.

Popular design choices lead to systematic error and selection bias. Names that are uninformative of a sociodemographic characteristic present an issue for tools that aim to label everyone. In the context of gender, names like *Alex* have no unique gendered association in the U.S. and Canada; with race, names assigned by Black and white parents overlap in the U.S. (Lockhart et al., 2023), and religious names are used around the world (Curtis, 2005; Olúwáfemi, 2014)); at the intersection of gender and race, many Chinese names are not genderassociated when Romanized, and infrequent names are also not informative. Two common design choices for handling uninformative names are to assign the majority class label anyway, or, alternatively, to just exclude them. Assigning the majority class (i.e., classifying *all* people named *Miaoran* as female if a gender prediction tool predicts the name to be "60% female") results in systematic error (Kirkup and Frenkel, 2006). On the other hand, excluding uninformative names from the analysis completely alters the makeup of the data and therefore the results (Mihaljević et al., 2019), resulting in selection bias. Both choices affect internal validity, i.e., gaps in the translation from measurements to overall conclusions (Liao et al., 2021), leading to less robust and trustworthy results.

Poor construct validity. Construct validity asks how well an abstract concept can be measured through some indicator (Messick, 1995); in our case, the question is: how valid is it to assign sociodemographic categories via names?² The answer to this depends on what aspects of the sociodemographic category we are interested in: identity, socialization, expression, perception-all of which could differ and are frequently conflated (Keyes et al., 2021). As discussed previously, many names are simply not informative of certain sociodemographic *identities* in given contexts and with homogeneous populations; Lockhart et al. (2023) find that overall error rates of name-based gender and race imputation tools range from 4.6% to 86% overall, and up to 100% for particular subgroups, depending on the tool. However, when it comes to the *perception* of names as indexing a sociodemographic category, some names may have stronger construct validity, an assumption used by Sandoval et al. (2023) in their examination of names assigned at birth that are strongly associated with the baby's sex and the parents' race/ethnicity. On the other hand, Mohammad (2020) uses names to operationalize both identity (to investigate trends in authorship) and perception (to investigate trends in citation) in a bibliometric analysis of the ACL Anthology, even though these need not match, and many underrepresented names are uninformative of identity as well as perception (Van Buskirk et al., 2023). As names do not neatly line up with sociode-

¹All these studies look at imputing an individual's gender, but the gold labels they compare to are, confusingly, not always self-reported gender! Some use gender assigned by annotators as the ground truth, which would be fine if comparing to *perceptions* of an individual based on their name, but these studies do not, raising further questions about their methodological validity.

²While we focus on the construct validity of names in this section, we note that poor construct validity also applies to the sociodemographic categories themselves (Benthall and Haynes, 2019; Hanna et al., 2020) and to abstract concepts such as "bias" and "fairness," which show up frequently in the study of names and sociodemographic categories in NLP (Blodgett et al., 2020; Jacobs and Wallach, 2021).

mographic identities, perceptions, or experiences in a context-independent way, it is critical to investigate construct validity of names in any setting where they are used.

Systems of classification create results. Although classification is inherently human, classification systems are produced by culture and politics and end up creating a view of the world (Bowker and Star, 2000). In computing, researchers have power and our positionality shapes how we view and operationalize categories of classification such as race and gender (Scheuerman et al., 2020b; Scheuerman and Brubaker, 2024). However, many such categories are unstable and contested (Keyes et al., 2021; Mickel, 2024). For instance, it has been shown that different ways of operationalizing race can result in entirely different conclusions (Steidl and Werum, 2019; Benthall and Haynes, 2019; Hanna et al., 2020). Individuals and groups thus cannot be treated as monoliths that can be characterized one-dimensionally via names.

4 Ethical Issues

The issues we have examined so far impact the scientific validity of claims made using personal names and sociodemographic categories. Many of these problems arise from assumptions that can also be criticized on ethical grounds, as we show.

Errors cause harms. Harms can be broadly described as a setback in the interests or progress of people due to, e.g., the outcomes of an automatic process (Feinberg, 1984). Group-level harms are experienced collectively by people in a sociodemographic group, while individual harms (which might result from group membership) are experienced at the person-person or person-technology level. Inferring gender from names frequently misgenders trans people and erases non-binary people (Keyes, 2018). This perpetrates group-level erasure, as well as individual harms including damaging autonomy and dignity (Mcnamarah, 2020), inflicting psychological harms (Dev et al., 2021), and a failure to show recognition respect to people (Darwall, 1977). Certain types of name-based classification (e.g., of persecuted ethnic or religious groups) can threaten individual safety, and when NLP infrastructure is used for surveillance and targeting, this also threatens the safety of entire

groups of people (Wadhawan, 2022).³ NLP systems reinforce group-level structural discrimination in other ways as well; name-based studies of racial disparities in academia have been shown to systematically discount the intellectual contributions of Black researchers (Kozlowski et al., 2022).

Errors and harms are not distributed equally. In their work on name-based gender classification, Van Buskirk et al. (2023) note that for names with no available data, assigning the majority class (in their case, male) maximizes accuracy, but results in 0% error for the male class and 100% error for any other classes. For non-binary people, who are generally excluded from gender classification by design, the error rate is also almost always 100%. As for name-based race/ethnicity classifiers, Lockhart et al. (2023) show that people who self-identify as Filipino, Black, or Middle Eastern and North African, are misrecognized 55-75% of the time, as compared to those who identify as white, Chinese, or Korean, who are mislabelled less than 10% of the time. As described above, misrecognition errors cause harms, which are then disproportionately experienced by these individuals. We echo the conclusions of Mihaljević et al. (2019) and Lockhart et al. (2023), i.e., that inclusive analyses are only possible when names are no longer used as a proxy to infer individuals' gender or race/ethnicity.

Representational harms. The erasure of identities and the flattening of variation in naming customs leads to representational harms, which include the reinforcement of essentialist categories and power structures (Chien and Danks, 2024). These harms primarily affect sociodemographic groups, e.g., non-binary people, who are often incorrectly and unjustly treated as a novel social phenomenon. Groups of people with a certain name are often subject to a different type of representational harm, i.e., stereotyping. For instance, the name Kevin is associated with lower socioeconomic class in Germany (Kaiser, 2010). This stereotype, if encoded in an NLP system, could lead to quality-ofservice differentials, as class is a sociodemographic characteristic that correlates with lower NLP performance in other contexts (Curry et al., 2024).

Cultural insensitivity. Conceptualizations of names and sociodemographic characteristics in

³Regulation efforts such as the AI Act (Commission, 2021) in the EU try to mitigate this, but this does not apply to authoritarian regimes' use of such technology (Briglia, 2021).

NLP are often Western-centric, with folk assumptions about what names look like and the application of U.S. racial categories and naming preferences to areas outside the U.S., where they are unintelligible (Field et al., 2021). Non-Western naming practices are only sometimes described in papers where there is a specific language of study that is not English, e.g., name tagging in Arabic (Shaalan and Raza, 2007) and Uyghur (Abudukelimu et al., 2018). Even within English, there is little recognition of, e.g., English common nouns used as names in China (Billboard, Shooting, Pray, etc.; Chan, 2016), names containing spelling variations (AIAT-SIS, 2022), and names that overlap in different cultures but have different associations, e.g., Jan in the U.S. compared to Jan in Germany. Beyond names, even gender, race, and other sociodemographic categories of relevance are different across cultures. Many cultures have definitions of gender that go beyond the binary. Enforcing binary gender can thus be seen as an example of what Lugones (2016) calls the "coloniality" of gender, which also results in epistemic violence, i.e., inhibiting people from producing knowledge, or silencing and discrediting their knowledge (Chilisa, 2019).

No shifts in power. Names are a site for enforcing institutional power, as seen in "real name" policies (Haimson and Hoffmann, 2016), the (non-consensual) permanence of names in data infrastructure including Google Scholar (Speer, 2021), governmental name regulation (Te Tari Taiwhenua, 2021), and the "collective delusion" of legal names, at least in the U.S. (Baker and Green, 2021). Names are also regulated socially through norms and expectations, many of which end up baked into our NLP systems. We exercise power as NLP researchers and practitioners via our assumptions, which may reify sociodemographic categories, codify (or dismantle) associations between names and these categories, and create infrastructure that harms people at scale through surveillance or mislabelling. Knowles et al. (2016) open-sourced their name-based gender inference tool, and Vogel and Jurafsky (2012) published (binary) gender labels with names of authors of NLP papers, which continue to be used in research (Mohammad, 2020; Van Buskirk et al., 2023). This data reflects folk assumptions about gender, i.e., that it is binary, immutable and in perfect correspondence with names (Keyes, 2018; Cao and Daumé III, 2021). These datasets also deadname and misgender scientists from the NLP community, some of whom have spoken about its harms (Mielke, 2024). Transgender people can only be counted in such a system if they conform to normative expectations (Johnson, 2016; Konnelly, 2021), and if not, the burden is disproportionately on them to seek redress. Even Asr et al. (2021)-a system relying on name-based gender inference that considers gender beyond the binary and does not publicly misgender individuals-does not shift power, as workarounds are a patch rather than built-in to the method; gender inference still relies on APIs that use binary gender, and mistakes (typically, famous non-binary people) are manually corrected. As all these examples show how power remains centralized, we echo previous calls to reimagine and reconfigure power relations in service of user autonomy (Keyes et al., 2019; Blodgett et al., 2020; Hanna and Park, 2020).

5 Guiding Questions and Recommendations

In the previous sections, we have reviewed the myriad of issues surrounding the accuracy, validity and ethical use of names along with sociodemographic characteristics, and noted that all these issues arise from the same assumptions and inform each other. In addition, we have shown that these problems apply overwhelmingly to those who are not cisgender, white, normatively named in a Western context, and well-represented in publicly available data. Thus, work that uses names to operationalize people's sociodemographic categories most misrepresents and further marginalizes those who are already at the margins. We take the normative position that this is not acceptable collateral damage, even (and especially!) in the name of ostensible fairness. Thus, we come up with guiding questions and recommendations for NLP practitioners who are considering the use of names as they relate to sociodemographic categories. These are summarized in Table 1.

What are you aiming to study-names? Or people, via their names? It is acceptable to investigate what concepts NLP models associate with names, e.g., *Madeleine* with *kindness*. It is even acceptable to demonstrate that NLP models associate *Marius* with the pronoun *he* or with being male, and that these associations mirror common human associations (Caliskan et al., 2017; Crabtree et al., 2023). It is marginally acceptable to associate names with sociodemographic characteristics using imaginary people, e.g., drawing insights about gen-

Theme	Guiding questions
Names vs. people	What are you aiming to study–names? Or people, via their names? What aspects of names are you interested in? What aspects of people are you interested in?
Context	What is your context? Is processing names with NLP systems necessary to answer your questions?
Harms and power	What kinds of harms apply? How can you mitigate them? Are you describing or prescribing? How does your work reify/redistribute power?
Refusal	Is it still worth it?

Table 1: Our list of guiding questions for the use of names and sociodemographic categories in NLP, grouped by theme. See paragraphs in Section 5 for detailed recommendations.

der bias more broadly based on how NLP models handle synthetic names of people assumed to be exclusively female; while doing so does not compromise people's autonomy and dignity, it does further entrench hegemonic folk theories of names and people's identities, which has cultural harms. Finally, it is unacceptable to present results about real people based solely on the assumption that their names provide a reliable signal about their identities, e.g., NLP papers authored by people named *Madeleine* and *Marius* cannot on their own provide trustworthy insights into gender and racial representation in the field, unless those specific individuals are asked about their gender.

What aspects of names are you interested in? Names are rich objects of study with variation in form, length, training data frequency, tokenization, associations, the strengths of these associations, and more.⁴ Once you have decided what aspects to study, they must be operationalized and measured carefully, with attention to the context of the study or eventual system deployment. This includes the scope of what counts as a "name." For instance, considering the use of English common nouns as names (e.g., Cloud) is particularly important when working with data from or systems deployed in China, where this naming practice is common (Chan, 2016). Ensure that pre-processing choices are contextualized and do not distort results, that names are understood within context, and that error can be quantified robustly in the given context. Thus, when measuring training data frequency

of names, counting *Cloud* tokens as names must consider when it is used as a name and when it is used simply as a noun. Error could be quantified through manual analysis on a subset of the data.

What aspects of people are you interested in? People's identity and perceptions of them can differ, and these shape their experiences in various ways. Therefore, it is first necessary to decide which aspects are relevant for a study. Attempting to infer someone's identity using names is simply unacceptable due to the range of methodological and ethical concerns we list in this paper. We echo onomastic advice from nearly 40 years ago (Weitman, 1981), i.e., that "inferences from names must be to the givers of these names, not to their bearers. What is more, inferences must always be to sociological formations (such as social classes, ethnic groups, historical generations, and the like), not to individual name-givers." In addition to studying formations of name-givers, it can also be acceptable to study perceptions of identity based on names. For instance, numerous sociology papers have investigated racial and ethnic perceptions, as well as occupational stereotypes, based on names (King et al., 2006; Gaddis, 2017a,b). Again, we emphasize that perceptions based on names are also highly contextual and non-universal.

What is your context? It is essential to understand the geographical, temporal, and cultural context of data with names, and document this information for datasets, e.g., with datasheets (Gebru et al., 2021). What is the geographic, temporal, cultural and political context of the name data, namebearers, models and sociodemographic categories you use? Who are the people who will be impacted

⁴Some of these aspects have already been explored in prior work in NLP (Shwartz et al., 2020; Wolfe and Caliskan, 2021; Sandoval et al., 2023).

by your work, and what is their context? What do you know about the naming practices in these contexts and the hetereogeneity in these practices? Are you quantifying error with self-reported data? We posit that it is unacceptable to use names without deeply engaging with context in these senses, and stress that ascribing contemporary Western identity categories to historical peoples without acknowledging the difference in contexts is reductive.

Is processing names with NLP systems necessary to answer your questions? For questions about human identity and perception based on names, NLP may not be the only or best method available. We warn against technical solutionism (Green, 2021); researchers should reflect on whether their questions could be approached with interviews, case studies, fourth-world paradigms, and so on (Cameron, 2004). Qualitative methods can provide deeper, richer evidence while respecting people's autonomy, dignity and context. If your questions are instead about NLP systems, then processing names with them is certainly necessary, but we note that methodological pluralism and interdisciplinarity can enrich our practice as NLP researchers and practitioners regardless (Wahle et al., 2023).

What kinds of harms apply? How can you mitigate them? Our paper provides a starting point for harms that are relevant to the use of names and sociodemographic characteristics in NLP, and we encourage transparency about methodological and ethical problems (Bietti, 2019; Hao, 2019). It is unacceptable to sideline these problems in the name of "social good" (Green, 2019; Greene et al., 2019; Bennett and Keyes, 2020), and rather than treating entire segments of the world as limitations of or future work for your research, we encourage changing the methods themselves, as Lauscher et al. (2022) do with neopronouns. We recommend firmly grounding work in the ethical principles of autonomy, justice, and beneficence for people (Floridi and Cowls, 2019), which we note are sadly under-represented in machine learning research (Birhane et al., 2022).

Are you describing or prescribing? Descriptions of social phenomena are often conflated with normative behaviour (i.e., assumptions and assertions that create and reinforce norms) in NLP (Vida et al., 2023). This is the subtle but significant difference between showing that sociodemographic name associations in language models mirror the judgements of some group of humans, versus stating that model associations should mirror the judgements of some group of humans. The latter "cannot avoid creating and reinforcing norms" (Talat et al., 2022). Therefore, researchers should clearly distinguish descriptive and normative behaviours in the design, execution, and presentation of their experiments (Vida et al., 2023). System designers do have to make decisions about how systems should behave, i.e., they need to choose to perpetuate harmful structures in service of usability or to impose their own values on users and stakeholders when they take an advocacy position. This is an ethical dilemma in design that participatory methods and feminist epistemologies are uniquely positioned to help with (Bardzell, 2010).

How does your work reify or redistribute power? Central to NLP and computer science at large are scale thinking (Hanna and Park, 2020), quantitative methodologies (Birhane et al., 2022), and the illusion of objectivity (Waseem et al., 2021). All these values serve to reify existing hierarchies and power structures. We must first recognize our own power as NLP researchers and practitioners, and how our work can reinforce infrastructure for (mis)classifying real people and enable surveillance and harms at scale. We recommend a counterpower stance (Keyes et al., 2019), situated knowledges (Haraway, 1988), and methods informed by a politic, e.g., intersectionality, a critical framework that centers justice, power, and reflexivity, and mandates praxis with teeth (Collins, 2019; Erete et al., 2018; Ovalle et al., 2023). Particularly for those of us who are interested in using NLP for social good, we should constantly be asking: "social good for whom?" The differential impact on people matters, and as researchers and practitioners, we have a responsibility to attend to it and resist the othering perpetuated by classification systems.

Is it still worth it? After considering all these guiding questions, we remind the reader that refusal is possible (Honeywell, 2016; Tatman, 2020; Lockhart et al., 2023; Mihaljević et al., 2019), and indeed an important part of the history of science (Williams, 1924; United States National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1978; Weindling, 2001).

6 Related Work

Several papers study and critically interrogate the inference and use of sociodemographic information in computing (Larson, 2017; Keyes, 2018; Benthall and Haynes, 2019; Hanna et al., 2020; Keyes et al., 2021; Field et al., 2021; Devinney et al., 2022), many of which touch upon names but do not address them in detail. The work that deals with names in particular are all outside of NLP: Karimi et al. (2016); Keyes (2017); Tzioumis (2018); Mihaljević et al. (2019); Scheuerman et al. (2019); Lockhart et al. (2023); Van Buskirk et al. (2023). These papers have different scopes and take a variety of positions with regards to the ethics of name-based inference, some of which we find insufficiently radical. Finally, our recommendations echo those from prior work (particularly in the fields of human-computer interaction and science and technology studies), but are contextualized for names in NLP. Among others, we take inspiration from Keyes et al. (2019); Hanna and Park (2020); Blodgett et al. (2020); Scheuerman et al. (2020a); and Green (2021).

7 Conclusion

We present the field with an overview of names and naming as discussed in other disciplines. We lay out background on naming practices around the world and describe how these practices create issues of validity (e.g., selection bias and construct validity) and ethical concerns (e.g., harms, cultural insensitivity), that affect NLP uses of names and sociodemographic characteristics. Finally, we present a list of guiding questions and normative suggestions towards addressing these concerns in future work involving names in NLP.

Acknowledgments

We thank Lucy Li for recommending literature about personal names, sociodemographic characteristics, and social perceptions. We are also grateful to our reviewers, and to members of the Critical Media Lab Basel, Switzerland, and the Interdisciplinary Institute for Societal Computing, Germany, for their feedback on the ideas in this paper.

Limitations

Our background on names and naming is limited, and meant only as a brief introduction to onomastics and related fields that use names and sociodemographic characteristics; space prevents us from being more comprehensive and we refer the interested reader to our references for deeper discussion of onomastic variation. Additionally, we know that problematic and decontextualized assumptions about names are rife within NLP based on our background as authors within or adjacent to the field, as well as writing in other fields about methods that are also popular in NLP. However, as we do not undertake a comprehensive, critical survey of NLP papers that use names and sociodemographic characteristics, we cannot empirically quantify the extent to which the problems we outline plague NLP research, and we leave a more systematic study of this to future work.

References

- Halidanmu Abudukelimu, Abudoukelimu Abulizi, Boliang Zhang, Xiaoman Pan, Di Lu, Heng Ji, and Yang Liu. 2018. Error analysis of Uyghur name tagging: Language-specific techniques and remaining challenges. In Proceedings of the Eleventh International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC 2018), Miyazaki, Japan. European Language Resources Association (ELRA).
- Michael D. Adams. 2009. Power, politeness, and the pragmatics of nicknames. *Names*, 57:81–91.
- AIATSIS. 2022. Indigenous names. https: //aiatsis.gov.au/family-history/ you-start/indigenous-names.
- Richard Alford. 1987. Naming and identity: A crosscultural study of personal naming practices. Hraf Press.
- David J. Allerton. 1987. The linguistic and sociolinguistic status of proper names what are they, and who do they belong to? *Journal of Pragmatics*, 11:61–92.
- Grace Alvarez-Altman, Frederick M. Burelbach, Luis A. Oyarzun, and Walter P. Bowman. 1987. *Names in literature : essays from Literary onomastics studies*. University Press of America.
- Haozhe An, Zongxia Li, Jieyu Zhao, and Rachel Rudinger. 2023. SODAPOP: Open-ended discovery of social biases in social commonsense reasoning models. In Proceedings of the 17th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 1573–1596, Dubrovnik, Croatia. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- John Anderson. 2003. On the structure of names. *Folia Linguistica*.
- Fatemeh Torabi Asr, Mohammad Bagheri Mazraeh, Alexandre Lopes, Vagrant Gautam, Junette Fatima Gonzales, Prashanth Rao, and Maite Taboada. 2021.

The gender gap tracker: Using natural language processing to measure gender bias in media. *PLoS ONE*, 16.

- Austin A Baker and J Remy Green. 2021. There is no such thing as a 'legal name': A strange, shared delusion. *Columbia Human Rights Law Review*, 53:129.
- Shaowen Bardzell. 2010. Feminist hci: taking stock and outlining an agenda for design. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, page 1301–1310, Atlanta Georgia USA. ACM.
- Herbert Barry and Aylene S. Harper. 1982. Evolution of unisex names. *Names*, 30(1):15–22.
- Herbert Barry and Aylene S. Harper. 1993. Feminization of unisex names from 1960 to 1990. *Names*, 41(4):228–238.
- Birgit Becker. 2009. Immigrants' emotional identification with the host society: The example of turkish parents' naming practices in germany. *Ethnicities*, 9(2):200–225.
- Fernando Benites, Gilbert François Duivesteijn, Pius von Däniken, and Mark Cieliebak. 2020. TRANSLIT: A large-scale name transliteration resource. In Proceedings of the Twelfth Language Resources and Evaluation Conference, pages 3265– 3271, Marseille, France. European Language Resources Association.
- Cynthia L. Bennett and Os Keyes. 2020. What is the point of fairness? disability, ai and the complexity of justice. *SIGACCESS Access. Comput.*, (125).
- Sebastian Benthall and Bruce D. Haynes. 2019. Racial categories in machine learning. In *Proceedings of the Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency*, FAT* '19, page 289–298, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Elettra Bietti. 2019. From ethics washing to ethics bashing: a view on tech ethics from within moral philosophy. *Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency.*
- Abeba Birhane, Pratyusha Kalluri, Dallas Card, William Agnew, Ravit Dotan, and Michelle Bao. 2022. The values encoded in machine learning research. In *Proceedings of the 2022 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency*, FAccT '22, page 173–184, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé III, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Language (technology) is power: A critical survey of "bias" in NLP. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 5454– 5476, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Geoffrey C. Bowker and Susan Leigh Star. 2000. Sorting Things Out: Classification and Its Consequences. The MIT Press.
- Makenzie D. Briglia. 2021. Big brother xi: How china's surveillance of the uyghur population violates international law note. *George Washington International Law Review*, 53(1):85–118.
- Aylin Caliskan, Joanna J. Bryson, and Arvind Narayanan. 2017. Semantics derived automatically from language corpora contain human-like biases. *Science*, 356(6334):183–186.
- Graham Cameron. 2004. Evidence in an indigenous world. In Australasian Evaluation Society 2004 International Conference, Adelaide, South Australia.
- Yang Trista Cao and Hal Daumé III. 2021. Toward gender-inclusive coreference resolution: An analysis of gender and bias throughout the machine learning lifecycle*. *Computational Linguistics*, 47(3):615–661.
- Cherie Chan. 2016. Why Chinese speakers use Western names.
- Jonathan D. Chang, Itamar Rosenn, Lars Backstrom, and Cameron A. Marlow. 2010. epluribus: Ethnicity on social networks. *Proceedings of the International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media*.
- Jennifer Chien and David Danks. 2024. Beyond behaviorist representational harms: A plan for measurement and mitigation. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2402.01705*.
- Bagele Chilisa. 2019. *Indigenous research methodologies*. Sage publications.
- Patricia Hill Collins. 2019. *Intersectionality as Critical Social Theory*. Duke University Press.
- European Commission. 2021. Proposal for a regulation of the european parliament and of the council laying down harmonised rules on artificial intelligence (artificial intelligence act) and amending certain union legislative acts com(2021) 206 final.
- Charles Crabtree, Jae Yeon Kim, S. Michael Gaddis, John B. Holbein, Cameron Guage, and William W. Marx. 2023. Validated names for experimental studies on race and ethnicity. *Scientific Data*, 10.
- Amanda Cercas Curry, Giuseppe Attanasio, Zeerak Talat, and Dirk Hovy. 2024. Classist tools: Social class correlates with performance in nlp. *Preprint*, arXiv:2403.04445.
- Edward E. Curtis. 2005. African-american islamization reconsidered: Black history narratives and muslim identity. *Journal of the American Academy of Religion*, 73:659–684.
- Stephen Darwall. 1977. Two kinds of respect. *Ethics*, 88:36 49.

- Maria De-Arteaga, Alexey Romanov, Hanna Wallach, Jennifer Chayes, Christian Borgs, Alexandra Chouldechova, Sahin Geyik, Krishnaram Kenthapadi, and Adam Tauman Kalai. 2019. Bias in bios: A case study of semantic representation bias in a high-stakes setting. In *Proceedings of the Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency*, FAT* '19, page 120–128, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Sunipa Dev, Masoud Monajatipoor, Anaelia Ovalle, Arjun Subramonian, Jeff Phillips, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2021. Harms of gender exclusivity and challenges in non-binary representation in language technologies. In Proceedings of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 1968–1994, Online and Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Hannah Devinney, Jenny Björklund, and Henrik Björklund. 2022. Theories of "gender" in nlp bias research. In Proceedings of the 2022 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, FAccT '22, page 2083–2102, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Sheena Erete, Aarti Israni, and Tawanna Dillahunt. 2018. An intersectional approach to designing in the margins. *Interactions*, 25(3):66–69.
- Michael Färber and Lin Ao. 2022. The microsoft academic knowledge graph enhanced: Author name disambiguation, publication classification, and embeddings. *Quantitative Science Studies*, 3:51–98.
- J. Feinberg. 1984. *Harmless Wrongdoing*. Moral Limits of the Criminal Law. Oxford University Press.
- Anjalie Field, Su Lin Blodgett, Zeerak Waseem, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2021. A survey of race, racism, and anti-racism in NLP. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1905–1925, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Luciano Floridi and Josh Cowls. 2019. A Unified Framework of Five Principles for AI in Society. *Harvard Data Science Review*, 1(1). Https://hdsr.mitpress.mit.edu/pub/l0jsh9d1.
- S. Michael Gaddis. 2017a. How black are lakisha and jamal? racial perceptions from names used in correspondence audit studies. *Randomized Social Experiments eJournal*.
- S. Michael Gaddis. 2017b. Racial/ethnic perceptions from hispanic names: Selecting names to test for discrimination. *Socius*, 3.
- Timnit Gebru, Jamie Morgenstern, Briana Vecchione, Jennifer Wortman Vaughan, Hanna Wallach, Hal Daumé III, and Kate Crawford. 2021. Datasheets for datasets. *Commun. ACM*, 64(12):86–92.

- Ben Green. 2019. Good" isn't good enough. In Proceedings of the AI for Social Good workshop at NeurIPS, volume 17.
- Ben Green. 2021. The contestation of tech ethics: A sociotechnical approach to technology ethics in practice. *Journal of Social Computing*, 2(3):209–225.
- Daniel Greene, Anna Lauren Hoffmann, and Luke Stark. 2019. Better, nicer, clearer, fairer: A critical assessment of the movement for ethical artificial intelligence and machine learning. In *Proceedings of the* 52nd Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences.
- Oliver L Haimson and Anna Lauren Hoffmann. 2016. Constructing and enforcing" authentic" identity online: Facebook, real names, and non-normative identities. *First Monday*.
- Alex Hanna, Emily Denton, Andrew Smart, and Jamila Smith-Loud. 2020. Towards a critical race methodology in algorithmic fairness. In Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, FAT* '20, page 501–512, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Alex Hanna and Tina M Park. 2020. Against scale: Provocations and resistances to scale thinking. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2010.08850*.
- Karen Hao. 2019. In 2020, let's stop AI ethics-washing and actually do something. https://www.technologyreview.com/2019/ 12/27/57/ai-ethics-washing-time-to-act/.
- Donna Haraway. 1988. Situated knowledges: The science question in feminism and the privilege of partial perspective. *Feminist Studies*, 14(3):575–599.
- Leigh Honeywell. 2016. neveragain.tech. https://
 neveragain.tech/.
- Carole Hough. 2016. *The Oxford Handbook of Names* and Naming. Oxford University Press.
- Katsumi Ibaraki, Winston Wu, Lu Wang, and Rada Mihalcea. 2024. Analyzing occupational distribution representation in Japanese language models. In Proceedings of the 2024 Joint International Conference on Computational Linguistics, Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC-COLING 2024), pages 959– 973, Torino, Italia. ELRA and ICCL.
- Abigail Z. Jacobs and Hanna Wallach. 2021. Measurement and fairness. In Proceedings of the 2021 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, page 375–385, Virtual Event Canada. ACM.
- Sullam Jeoung, Jana Diesner, and Halil Kilicoglu. 2023. Examining the causal impact of first names on language models: The case of social commonsense reasoning. In Proceedings of the 3rd Workshop on Trustworthy Natural Language Processing (TrustNLP 2023), pages 61–72, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Robin Jeshion. 2009. The significance of names. *Mind & Language*, 24(4):370–403.
- Austin H Johnson. 2016. Transnormativity: A new concept and its validation through documentary film about transgender men. *Sociological inquiry*, 86(4):465–491.
- Astrid Kaiser. 2010. "kevin ist kein name, sondern eine diagnose!"der vorname in der grundschule– klangwort, modewort oder reizwort. *Die Grundschulzeitschrift*, 24:26–29.
- Fariba Karimi, Claudia Wagner, Florian Lemmerich, Mohsen Jadidi, and Markus Strohmaier. 2016. Inferring gender from names on the web: A comparative evaluation of gender detection methods. In Proceedings of the 25th International Conference Companion on World Wide Web - WWW '16 Companion, page 53–54, Montréal, Québec, Canada. ACM Press.

Os Keyes. 2017. Stop mapping names to gender.

- Os Keyes. 2018. The misgendering machines: Trans/hci implications of automatic gender recognition. *Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact.*, 2(CSCW).
- Os Keyes, Josephine Hoy, and Margaret Drouhard. 2019. Human-computer insurrection: Notes on an anarchist hci. In *Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '19, page 1–13, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Os Keyes, Chandler May, and Annabelle Carrell. 2021. You keep using that word: Ways of thinking about gender in computing research. *Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact.*, 5(CSCW1).
- Eden B. King, Saaid A. Mendoza, Juan M. Madera, Mikki R. Hebl, and Jennifer L. Knight. 2006. What's in a name? a multiracial investigation of the role of occupational stereotypes in selection decisions. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 36:1145–1159.
- L. Kirkup and R. B. Frenkel. 2006. *Systematic errors*, page 83–96. Cambridge University Press.
- Rebecca Knowles, Josh Carroll, and Mark Dredze. 2016. Demographer: Extremely simple name demographics. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on NLP and Computational Social Science*, pages 108–113, Austin, Texas. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Lex Konnelly. 2021. Nuance and normativity in trans linguistic research. *Journal of Language and Sexuality*, 10:71–82.
- Hadas Kotek, Rikker Dockum, and David Sun. 2023.
 Gender bias and stereotypes in large language models.
 In *Proceedings of The ACM Collective Intelligence Conference*, CI '23, page 12–24, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.

- Diego Kozlowski, Dakota S Murray, Alexis Bell, Will Hulsey, Vincent Larivière, Thema Monroe-White, and Cassidy R Sugimoto. 2022. Avoiding bias when inferring race using name-based approaches. *Plos one*, 17(3):e0264270.
- Brian Larson. 2017. Gender as a variable in naturallanguage processing: Ethical considerations. In *Proceedings of the First ACL Workshop on Ethics in Natural Language Processing*, pages 1–11, Valencia, Spain. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ida Marie S. Lassen, Mina Almasi, Kenneth Enevoldsen, and Ross Deans Kristensen-McLachlan. 2023. Detecting intersectionality in NER models: A datadriven approach. In Proceedings of the 7th Joint SIGHUM Workshop on Computational Linguistics for Cultural Heritage, Social Sciences, Humanities and Literature, pages 116–127, Dubrovnik, Croatia. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Anne Lauscher, Archie Crowley, and Dirk Hovy. 2022. Welcome to the modern world of pronouns: Identityinclusive natural language processing beyond gender. In Proceedings of the 29th International Conference on Computational Linguistics, pages 1221– 1232, Gyeongju, Republic of Korea. International Committee on Computational Linguistics.
- David C.S. Li. 1997. Borrowed identity: Signaling involvement with a western name. *Journal of Pragmatics*, 28(4):489–513. Language and Discourse Issues in Hong Kong's Change of Sovereignity.
- Haizhou Li, Khe Chai Sim, Jin-Shea Kuo, and Minghui Dong. 2007. Semantic transliteration of personal names. In Proceedings of the 45th Annual Meeting of the Association of Computational Linguistics, pages 120–127, Prague, Czech Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Thomas Liao, Rohan Taori, Inioluwa Deborah Raji, and Ludwig Schmidt. 2021. Are we learning yet? a meta review of evaluation failures across machine learning. In *Thirty-fifth Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems Datasets and Benchmarks Track* (*Round 2*).
- Wendy Liu and Derek Ruths. 2013. What's in a name? using first names as features for gender inference in twitter. In AAAI Spring Symposium: Analyzing Microtext.
- Jeffrey W. Lockhart, Molly M. King, and Christin Munsch. 2023. Name-based demographic inference and the unequal distribution of misrecognition. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 7(7):1084–1095.
- María Lugones. 2016. *The Coloniality of Gender*, pages 13–33. Palgrave Macmillan UK, London.
- Gideon S. Mann and David Yarowsky. 2003. Unsupervised personal name disambiguation. In *Conference* on Computational Natural Language Learning.

- Gary T. Marx. 1999. What's in a name? some reflections on the sociology of anonymity. *Inf. Soc.*, 15:99–112.
- Rowan Hall Maudslay, Hila Gonen, Ryan Cotterell, and Simone Teufel. 2019. It's all in the name: Mitigating gender bias with name-based counterfactual data substitution. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 5267–5275, Hong Kong, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Patrick McKenzie. 2010. Falsehoods Programmers Believe About Names | Kalzumeus Software. https://www.kalzumeus.com/2010/06/17/ falsehoods-programmers-believe-about-names/.
- Chan Tov Mcnamarah. 2020. Misgendering. The SAGE Encyclopedia of Trans Studies.
- Ramanujam Meganathan. 2009. The politics of naming. *Contributions to Indian Sociology*, 43:317–324.
- Samuel Messick. 1995. Standards of validity and the validity of standards in performance assessment. *Educational Measurement: Issues and Practice*, 14(4):5–8.
- Jennifer Mickel. 2024. Racial/ethnic categories in ai and algorithmic fairness: Why they matter and what they represent. *ArXiv*, abs/2404.06717.
- Sabrina Mielke. 2024. Personal communication.
- Helena Mihaljević, Marco Tullney, Lucía Santamaría, and Christian Steinfeldt. 2019. Reflections on gender analyses of bibliographic corpora. *Frontiers in Big Data*, 2:29.
- Einat Minkov, Richard C. Wang, and William W. Cohen. 2005. Extracting personal names from email: Applying named entity recognition to informal text. In Proceedings of Human Language Technology Conference and Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 443–450, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Saif M. Mohammad. 2020. Gender gap in natural language processing research: Disparities in authorship and citations. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 7860–7870, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sharon N. Obasi, Richard Mocarski, Natalie Holt, Debra A. Hope, and Nathan Woodruff. 2019. Renaming me: Assessing the influence of gender identity on name selection. *Names*, 67(4):199–211.
- Ìkòtún Reuben Olúwáfemíi. 2014. New trends in yorùbá personal names among yorùbá christians. *Linguistik* Online, 59(2).

- Anaelia Ovalle, Arjun Subramonian, Vagrant Gautam, Gilbert Gee, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2023. Factoring the matrix of domination: A critical review and reimagination of intersectionality in ai fairness. In Proceedings of the 2023 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society, AIES '23, page 496–511, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Jane Pilcher. 2017. Names and "doing gender": How forenames and surnames contribute to gender identities, difference, and inequalities. *Sex Roles*, 77:812–822.
- Alexey Romanov, Maria De-Arteaga, Hanna Wallach, Jennifer Chayes, Christian Borgs, Alexandra Chouldechova, Sahin Geyik, Krishnaram Kenthapadi, Anna Rumshisky, and Adam Kalai. 2019. What's in a name? Reducing bias in bios without access to protected attributes. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 4187–4195, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jonne Sälevä and Constantine Lignos. 2024. ParaNames 1.0: Creating an entity name corpus for 400+ languages using Wikidata. In Proceedings of the 2024 Joint International Conference on Computational Linguistics, Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC-COLING 2024), pages 12599–12610, Torino, Italia. ELRA and ICCL.
- Sandra Sandoval, Jieyu Zhao, Marine Carpuat, and Hal Daumé III. 2023. A rose by any other name would not smell as sweet: Social bias in names mistranslation. In Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 3933–3945, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Danielle Saunders and Katrina Olsen. 2023. Gender, names and other mysteries: Towards the ambiguous for gender-inclusive translation. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender-Inclusive Translation Technologies*, pages 85–93, Tampere, Finland. European Association for Machine Translation.
- Morgan Klaus Scheuerman and Jed R. Brubaker. 2024. Products of positionality: How tech workers shape identity concepts in computer vision. In *Proceedings of the CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, page 1–18, Honolulu HI USA. ACM.
- Morgan Klaus Scheuerman, Jacob M. Paul, and Jed R. Brubaker. 2019. How computers see gender: An evaluation of gender classification in commercial facial analysis services. *Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact.*, 3(CSCW).
- Morgan Klaus Scheuerman, Katta Spiel, Oliver L Haimson, Foad Hamidi, and Stacy M Branham. 2020a. Hci guidelines for gender equity and inclusivity.

- Morgan Klaus Scheuerman, Kandrea Wade, Caitlin Lustig, and Jed R. Brubaker. 2020b. How we've taught algorithms to see identity: Constructing race and gender in image databases for facial analysis. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 4(CSCW1):1–35.
- Rico Sennrich, Barry Haddow, and Alexandra Birch. 2016. Neural machine translation of rare words with subword units. In *Proceedings of the 54th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers)*, pages 1715–1725, Berlin, Germany. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Khaled Shaalan and Hafsa Raza. 2007. Person name entity recognition for Arabic. In *Proceedings of the* 2007 Workshop on Computational Approaches to Semitic Languages: Common Issues and Resources, pages 17–24, Prague, Czech Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Vered Shwartz, Rachel Rudinger, and Oyvind Tafjord. 2020. "you are grounded!": Latent name artifacts in pre-trained language models. In *Proceedings of the* 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP), pages 6850–6861, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Eric Michael Smith and Adina Williams. 2021. Hi, my name is martha: Using names to measure and mitigate bias in generative dialogue models. *ArXiv*, abs/2109.03300.
- Robyn Speer. 2021. Google scholar has failed us.
- Christina R. Steidl and Regina Werum. 2019. If all you have is a hammer, everything looks like a nail: Operationalization matters. *Sociology Compass*, 13(8):e12727.
- Anselm L Strauss. 2017. *Mirrors and masks: The search for identity*. Routledge.
- Christina A. Sue and Edward E. Telles. 2007. Assimilation and gender in naming. *American Journal of Sociology*, 112(5):1383–1415.
- Zeerak Talat, Hagen Blix, Josef Valvoda, Maya Indira Ganesh, Ryan Cotterell, and Adina Williams. 2022. On the machine learning of ethical judgments from natural language. In *Proceedings of the 2022 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies*, pages 769–779, Seattle, United States. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Rachael Tatman. 2020. What i won't build. https:// www.rctatman.com/talks/what-i-wont-build.
- Department of Internal Affairs | Te Tari Taiwhenua. 2021. Press Releases - dia.govt.nz dia.govt.nz. https://www.dia.govt.nz/press. nsf/d77da9b523f12931cc256ac5000d19b6/ d1288ac08d7758c2cc25838200107411! OpenDocument.

- Konstantinos Tzioumis. 2018. Demographic aspects of first names. *Scientific Data*, 5.
- United States National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. 1978. *The Belmont report: ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*, volume 2. United States National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research.
- U.S. Census. 2020. First name frequency by gender.
- U.S. Social Security Administration. 2023. Top 10 baby names of 2023.
- Ian Van Buskirk, Aaron Clauset, and Daniel B. Larremore. 2023. An open-source cultural consensus approach to name-based gender classification. *Proceedings of the International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media*, 17:866–877.
- Karina Vida, Judith Simon, and Anne Lauscher. 2023. Values, ethics, morals? on the use of moral concepts in NLP research. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2023*, pages 5534–5554, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Adam Vogel and Dan Jurafsky. 2012. He said, she said: Gender in the ACL Anthology. In *Proceedings of the ACL-2012 Special Workshop on Rediscovering 50 Years of Discoveries*, pages 33–41, Jeju Island, Korea. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Subhah Wadhawan. 2022. Let the machines do the dirty work: Social media, machine learning technology and the iteration of racialized surveillance. *Canadian Journal of Law and Technology*, 20(1):1.
- Jan Philip Wahle, Terry Ruas, Mohamed Abdalla, Bela Gipp, and Saif Mohammad. 2023. We are who we cite: Bridges of influence between natural language processing and other academic fields. In *Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 12896–12913, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jun Wang, Benjamin Rubinstein, and Trevor Cohn. 2022. Measuring and mitigating name biases in neural machine translation. In *Proceedings of the* 60th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 2576–2590, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Zeerak Waseem, Smarika Lulz, Joachim Bingel, and Isabelle Augenstein. 2021. Disembodied machine learning: On the illusion of objectivity in nlp. *Preprint*, arXiv:2101.11974.
- Kellie Webster, Xuezhi Wang, Ian Tenney, Alex Beutel, Emily Pitler, Ellie Pavlick, Jilin Chen, Ed Chi, and Slav Petrov. 2021. Measuring and reducing gendered correlations in pre-trained models. *Preprint*, arXiv:2010.06032.

- Paul Weindling. 2001. The origins of informed consent: The international scientific commission on medical war crimes, and the nuremberg code. *Bulletin of the History of Medicine*, 75(1):37–71.
- Sasha Weitman. 1981. Some methodological issues in quantitative onomastics. *Names*, 29(3):181–196.
- John F. Williams. 1924. The geneva protocol of 1924 for the pacific settlement of international disputes1. *Journal of the British Institute of International Affairs*, 3(6):288–304.
- Robert Wolfe and Aylin Caliskan. 2021. Low frequency names exhibit bias and overfitting in contextualizing language models. In *Proceedings of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 518–532, Online and Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.

Evaluating Gender Bias in Multilingual Multimodal AI Models: Insights from an Indian Context

Kshitish Ghate, Arjun Choudhry, Vanya Bannihatti Kumar

Language Technologies Institute, Carnegie Mellon University {kghate, arjuncho, vbanniha}@cs.cmu.edu

Abstract

We evaluate gender biases in multilingual multimodal image and text models in two settings: text-to-image retrieval and text-to-image generation, to show that even seemingly genderneutral traits generate biased results. We evaluate our framework in the context of people from India, working with two languages: English and Hindi. We work with frameworks built around mCLIP-based models to ensure a thorough evaluation of recent state-of-the-art models in the multilingual setting due to their potential for widespread applications. We analvze the results across 50 traits for retrieval and 8 traits for generation, showing that current multilingual multimodal models are biased towards men for most traits, and this problem is further exacerbated for lower-resource languages like Hindi. We further discuss potential reasons behind this observation, particularly stemming from the bias introduced by the pretraining datasets. Our code can be found here.

1 Introduction

In recent years, significant work has been done to ground image and language models together, to enable the ability to perform various downstream tasks like visual question answering, textprompted image generation, and image captioning. These models typically involve merging image and text transformer architectures, making use of the contextual knowledge learned by these models during pretraining and reducing the model training cost and complexity. Models like BLIP (Li et al., 2022), BLIP-2 (Li et al., 2023), and CLIP (Radford et al., 2021) are frequently used for various multimodal tasks, including dataset curation.

Recent models like mBLIP (Geigle et al., 2023), mCLIP (Chen et al., 2023a), cross-lingual CLIP (Carlsson et al., 2022) further build upon these to extend image-to-text tasks into a multi-lingual realm. However, these models are designed with



Figure 1: Bias amplification in large models.

language inclusivity in mind, with no prior evaluation of bias. Since inclusivity extends beyond just language inclusivity, this brings up the question, are these models really inclusive? As large-scale multimodal models become more integrated into global, multilingual contexts, it is essential to ensure fair representation.

There are also text-to-image diffusion models like Imagen (Saharia et al., 2022), DALL-E 2 (Ramesh et al., 2022), and Latent Diffusion (Rombach et al., 2022a), which rely on pretrained unimodal text or image models that are extended to create their multimodal models. These models perform exceedingly well on metrics for predictive performance, but their bias evaluation was largely unexplored till recently. In this work, we analyze Stable Diffusion 2 (Rombach et al., 2022b) and Alt-Diffusion (Chen et al., 2022) for gender biases in generated images.

The bias evaluation of these models is extremely critical, since these models are further used for the curation of large-scale datasets used for various pretraining and fine-tuning tasks. E.g., the LAION-5B dataset (Schuhmann et al., 2022) was curated by extracting the data from Wikipedia and filtering using the CLIP model. It was used for training various large-scale models like BLIP-2. Since the CLIP model is biased, as shown by (Wolfe and Caliskan, 2022), the LAION-5B dataset is likely to show biases, since the CLIP model was used to filter it, and these biases are further propagated to new models trained on the LAION-5B dataset. This process is called *Bias Amplification* (Hooker, 2021).

In this work, we take inspiration from the work by Wolfe and Caliskan (2022), and evaluate the gender biases portrayed by a mCLIPbased retrieval framework and mCLIP and CLIPbased multilingual text-to-image diffusion models. Based on the work done by Wolfe and Caliskan (2022), we felt the need for potentially regionspecific work on evaluating gender biases in models, since traits and in-group words are likely to differ in the context of people across regions, countries, and continents. E.g., the trait Indian, is likely to lead to incoherent results for people from across the globe or in other regions like North America, while evaluating it for Indians in particular might portray gender biases different from the global trends for a given model. Thus, in this work, we explicitly work for the Indian context, and evaluate gender biases observed in textto-image retrieval and generation models for English and Hindi prompts.

2 Related Work

This section builds upon prior studies to contextualize our analysis of gender bias within multilingual multimodal models. We highlight the unique contributions and limitations of existing methodologies in handling cultural and linguistic differences in AI systems.

Wolfe and Caliskan (2022) evaluated three SOTA image-to-text models CLIP, SLIP (Mu et al., 2021) and BLIP for biases associated with social and experimental psychology, particularly associated with equating the American identity as white. Upon running embedding association tests on the Chicago Face Database (Ma et al., 2015), they observed that White individuals had a higher association with collective in-group words compared to Asian, Latina/o, and Black individuals across all models. Certain phrases like *patriotism* and *born* in America were more associated with White individuals. This work introduced a new direction for the evaluation of multimodal models. However, it was restricted to monolingual models trained only in English.

Bhatt et al. (2022) offers an essential backdrop for the current research. This paper's comprehensive analysis of social disparities in India and their manifestation in NLP data and models lays the groundwork for understanding how cultural and linguistic diversity impacts AI fairness. The present study extends this understanding by applying these fairness considerations to the specific context of gender bias in multimodal models, thus filling a critical gap in the understanding of AI fairness in multilingual and multicultural settings. Saxon and Wang (2023) introduced the "Conceptual Coverage Across Languages" (CoCo-CroLa) technique, assessing the parity of generative textto-image systems across languages. They focused on tangible nouns and their representation in image generations across various languages. Our approach is in line with their multilingual analysis but applies specifically to Hindi and the Indian context, providing a more targeted evaluation of biases in specific downstream tasks such as retrieval and generation. Ruggeri et al. (2023) conduct a multi-dimensional analysis of bias in visionlanguage models, focusing on gender, ethnicity, and age. Their study highlights the presence of harmful and stereotypical completions when subjects are input as images, which also perpetuate to downstream tasks, affecting minorities. Our work extends this by examining gender bias in generated images using AltDiffusion and Stable Diffusion 2, specifically comparing biases in English and Hindi prompts and considering the impact of language and cultural contexts, thereby broadening the scope to explore multilingual biases.

Wang et al. (2022a) examine multilingual fairness in multimodal models, focusing on equal treatment across languages. Their introduction of multilingual individual and group fairness concepts is pertinent to understanding gender biases in multilingual contexts. However, our study diverges by zooming in on gender bias outcomes in explicit downstream tasks, specifically within Indian demographics and incorporating Hindi, addressing a gap in Wang et al. (2022a)'s research. Chen et al. (2023b) evaluate the extensive capabilities of large-scale multilingual vision-language models in diverse tasks, such as object detection and video question answering. They also discuss biasdemographic parity in the proposed model, underscoring the significance of evaluating demographic disparities in AI systems. Our work adds a crucial layer to this conversation by explicitly

addressing gender biases, thereby contributing to a deeper understanding of the limitations and inherent biases in multilingual multimodal models. Wang et al. (2022b) in their study on FairCLIP introduced a novel two-step debiasing method for CLIP-based image retrieval, to find a balance between debiasing and performance. Concurrently, Kong et al. (2023) emphasized test-time fairness in image retrieval through Post-hoc Bias Mitigation, modifying outputs of pre-trained models for enhanced equity. We specifically derive our measures of gender bias from these works and apply them to a multilingual context.

3 Methodology

3.1 Gender Bias: In the context of multilingual multimodal models

We consider gender bias in the context of multilingual multimodal models to refer to the presence of unfair and undesirable associations, stereotypes, or imbalances related to gender within the model's understanding and generation of language and images across multiple languages and modalities. This bias can manifest in various ways and impact the model's performance, leading to unequal or inappropriate treatment of individuals based on their gender.

We highlight some key aspects which are responsible for the manifestation of gender bias in multilingual multimodal models:

- Language Bias: The model may exhibit bias in its understanding and generation of language across different languages. This bias can be reflected in the choice of words, phrases, or language structures that perpetuate stereotypes or favor one gender over another.
- Visual Bias: In multimodal models that process both text and images, gender bias can emerge in the interpretation and generation of visual information. This may include biased recognition of gender-related visual cues or the generation of biased visual content.
- Translation Bias: In multilingual models, translations of gendered terms or expressions may introduce bias if not handled appropriately. Translating from one language to another can sometimes result in the reinforcement of gender stereotypes or the loss of differences that are associated to gender identity.

- Training Data Bias: Bias in the training data used to train the model can significantly impact its performance. If the training data contains gender-related stereotypes or imbalances, the model is likely to learn and perpetuate those biases in its predictions and outputs.
- Cultural Sensitivity: Multilingual models should be sensitive to cultural differences related to gender norms and expectations. Failing to account for these differences may result in biased outputs that do not align with the diverse perspectives and expressions of gender across different cultures.

This study takes a step towards addressing gender bias in multilingual multimodal models by first quantifying it in the retrieval and generation settings, and showing how it can exacerbate for lowresource languages such as Hindi.

3.2 Measuring Gender Bias in Image Retrieval

We first focus on analysing gender bias in the textto-image retrieval setting. We introduce a bias metric that aims to reflect the disparity in representation between male and female genders in the results of gender-neutral queries.

Let us consider a set of images V, where each image $v \in V$ is associated with a gender attribute g(v), taking a value of +1 for male and -1 for female. For a query c, the retrieved set of images $V_{c,K}$ should ideally exhibit no gender bias, meaning that it should contain an equal number of male and female-associated images (Wang et al., 2021, 2022a). Following Wang et al. (2022b) and Kong et al. (2023), we define the gender bias in the retrieved image set is quantified as the normalized absolute difference in counts of each gender's images:

$$AbsBias(V_{c,K}) = \frac{1}{K} \left| \sum_{v \in V_{c,K}} \mathbb{1}\{g(v) = +1\} \right|$$

$$- \sum_{v \in V_{c,K}} \mathbb{1}\{g(v) = -1\}$$

$$= \frac{1}{K} \left| \sum_{v \in V_{c,K}} g(v) \right|$$
(1)
(2)

Here, $\mathbb{1}\{.\}$ is an indicator function, K is the number of top images considered.

To evaluate an image retrieval system across multiple queries, we can aggregate the bias scores over a collection of gender-neutral queries C. The aggregated bias metric, denoted as AbsBias@C, is the average of individual bias scores across all queries in C:

AbsBias@C

$$= \frac{1}{|C|} \sum_{c \in C} B(V_{c,K}) = \frac{1}{|C|} \sum_{c \in C} \frac{1}{K} \left| \sum_{v \in V_{c,K}} g(v) \right|$$
(3)

We further extend our analysis to quantify how much more 1 gender is preferred in retrieval compared to another by defining MaleBias and MaleBias@C. These are simply the previously defined measures without applying the absolute operation.

These metric serves as a critical evaluation for fairness, providing a measure of the system's performance in offering balanced representations across genders.

3.3 Dataset

In this work, we use the Chicago Face Database (CFD) (Ma et al., 2015), which is a dataset of images used to study race and ethnicity in psychology. It includes 597 images of male and female images with self-identified race or ethnicity. The races and ethnicities included in the dataset are Asian, Black, Latina/o, and White. The dataset includes images with people portraying neutral, happy(open mouth), happy(closed mouth), angry, and fearful expressions. In line with previous works by Devos and Banaji (2005) and Wolfe and Caliskan (2022), we use only the images with neutral facial expressions in our experiments.

The training data used in the models we are evaluating our bias metrics on, tells a lot about the bias expressed by these models and hence understanding this training data is very important. For our analysis, we use the mCLIP model, a multilingual multimodal text-to-image model. The following is a description of datasets used to train mCLIP. The multilingual text encoder of this model is trained using the parallel text corpus MT6 which contains 120M parallel sentences between English and six languages and covers 12 language directions (Chi et al., 2021). The triangle cross-modal knowledge distillation is done using the CC3M dataset (Sharma et al., 2018). For the mCLIP+ variant, in addition to the MT6 dataset, the multilingual text encoder is trained with OPUS-100 dataset (Zhang et al., 2020) covering a total of 175M parallel sentences among 100 languages. The dataset used for the triangle cross-modal knowledge distillation of the mCLIP+ variant is TrTrain (CC12M), which is obtained by applying the translate-train method and translating the English captions of CC12M (Changpinyo et al., 2021).

3.4 Text-to-Image Retrieval

We employ a top-50 text-to-image retrieval approach using the mCLIP model to examine gender bias in response to gender-neutral trait queries. The process involves a pool of facial images taken from CFD, consisting of equal numbers of male and female individuals self-identified as Indian (N = 104). For each trait, deemed gender-neutral, the model retrieves the top 50 images that it associates most closely with the given trait. These traits are expressed in both English and Hindi, allowing us to explore potential disparities across languages. This method provides a comprehensive view of how the model perceives and associates gender with specific characteristics, offering insights into the inherent biases of multilingual multimodal AI systems.

To quantify the observed gender biases, we use a bias metric adapted from recent fairness studies in AI as introduced in Section 3.2. By aggregating these bias scores over a set of selected traits, we assess the overall gender bias exhibited by the model. Aggregating bias scores across multiple traits allows us to draw more generalized conclusions about the model's tendency towards gender bias in image retrieval tasks. We then compare the relative gender bias exhibited by the mCLIP model across the Hindi and English languages.

We select trait categories to represent 3 major characteristics of an individual: Identity (person and Indian), drawing from concepts in Caliskan et al. (2022) and specific to the Indian context; Status/Class (employed and business), drawing from concepts in Kozlowski et al. (2019); Attributes, a list of 50 attributes (25 highest valence and 25 lowest valence) taken from Warriner et al. (2013) and Caliskan et al. (2017).

We specifically choose single words without templates for this task following Saxon and Wang (2023) and Wang et al. (2022b) since our analysis showed template approaches can yield biased results due to choice of template (May et al., 2019).



Figure 2: Our text-to-image retrieval pipeline for extracting images from the Chicago Face Dataset using traits as prompts in multilingual settings.

3.5 Text-to-Image Generation

To further understand the bias variation across languages in different settings of multilingual multimodal models, we perform similar experiments in a "generation" setting as opposed to "retrieval". We mainly experiment with 2 models: AltDiffusion (Chen et al., 2022) and Stable Diffusion 2 (Rombach et al., 2022b) models. For 8 high valence traits across identity, character, and status, we generate 50 images for each trait as the input prompt in both Hindi and English. Due to potentially containing NSFW content, the models often generate blank images. Sometimes, they generate images with no people at all. We filter those images out, and for the sake of a fair comparison, manually select and report the genders of the first 10 relevant images for each trait in each language for evaluation. The genders portrayed in the images are manually annotated by all three authors of this work in a majority voting setup.

3.5.1 AltDiffusion

AltDiffusion, introduced by Chen et al. (2022), was created by extending the multilingual encoder from AltCLIP, an extension of mCLIP, with a frozen Stable Diffusion v1-4, fine-tuned on a Contrastive Learning objective. It was trained on the LAION-2B multilingual dataset, and achieves similar performance as Stable Diffusion for English and Chinese while enabling support for prompts in a total of 18 languages. The authors of AltDiffusion also saw that the model was able to generate images that reflected cultural differences between people speaking those particular languages to some extent.

3.5.2 Stable Diffusion 2

Stable Diffusion 2 is an image generation model based on a convolutional autoencoder architecture. It can synthesize realistic images from text descriptions, using an improved CompVis decoder, that has shown superior image quality over previous versions. The encoder uses a CLIP-like structure to ingest text prompts and encode them into distinguishable latent representations. The autoencoder reconstruction loss encourages realistic outputs. Stable Diffusion 2 can generate up to 512x512 resolution images conditioned on text prompts that describe the content, style, and attributes of the generated image. Guidance capabilities allow finegrained user control through both text and images. The model was trained on over 400M image-text pairs.

4 Results

4.1 Gender Bias in Text-to-Image Retrieval

We use the m-CLIP model to evaluate gender bias across three trait categories: identity, class, and attribute traits. The analysis revealed conspicuous gender disparities, predominantly favoring male representation, which was more accentuated in Hindi queries. Fig 3 contains our trait-specific results for selected identity, class, and attribute traits. Appendix Table 4 contains all our trait-specific results.

- Identity Traits For "Person," English queries exhibited a balanced gender distribution (28 females, 22 males), while Hindi ("इंसान") displayed a marked male bias (35 males, 15 females). "Indian" in English showed relative balance (23 females, 27 males), but skewed towards males in Hindi ("भारतीय") with 30 males and 20 females.
- Class Traits "Employed" indicated a male bias (28 males, 22 females in English; 32 males, 18 females in Hindi). The "Business" trait revealed a strong male bias, more pronounced in Hindi (38 males, 12 females) than English (34 males, 16 females).
- Attribute Traits Positive attributes like "Honest" and "Courageous" showed consistent male bias, significantly higher in Hindi. Among negative attributes, traits like "Deceitful" and "Arrogant" were predominantly associated with males, particularly in Hindi. The disparity was not limited to traditionally gender-stereotyped traits. Traits like "Intellectual" and "Humorous" also reflected a male-centric bias, especially in Hindi. "Compassionate," traditionally associated with females, also exhibited a male bias in retrieval results.

Table 1: Statistical Test Results for Gender Bias

Metric	t-Statistic	p-Value
AbsBias (EN)	9.7488	2.03×10^{-13}
AbsBias (HI)	10.0548	6.95×10^{-14}
MaleBias (EN)	6.9540	$5.35 imes 10^{-9}$
MaleBias (HI)	8.4914	1.85×10^{-11}

The statistical analysis of bias scores in Table 1 reveals significant deviations from zero in both languages, indicating a pronounced gender bias in the text-to-image retrieval task. For AbsBias, the t-tests yield highly significant results in both English and Hindi, underscoring a substantial bias in gender representation. Similarly, the MaleBias scores in English and Hindi are significantly different from zero, confirming the presence of a malecentric bias. These findings suggest that the biases are not only existent but are also statistically significant, highlighting the need for more equitable modeling approaches in multilingual AI systems.

Theo:t	En	glish	Hindi		
Iran	Male	Female	Male	Female	
person (इंसान)	4	6	6	4	
Indian (भारतीय)	9	1	10	0	
business (व्यापारिक)	10	0	9	1	
employed (कार्यरत)	9	1	9	1	
hardworking (मेहनती)	8	2	9	1	
honest (ईमानदार)	7	3	9	1	
dishonest (बेईमान)	9	1	10	0	
rude (असभ्य)	4	6	9	1	

Table 2: Gender biases observed in images generated using AltDiffusion across 8 traits using trait prompts in English and Hindi, respectively. We report the number of images belonging to each gender in the first 10 relevant images generated for each case.

Tuoit	En	ıglish	Hindi		
11410	Male	Male Female		Female	
person (इंसान)	7	3	9	1	
Indian (भारतीय)	10	0	8	2	
business (व्यापारिक)	8	2	9	1	
employed (कार्यरत)	7	3	8	2	
hardworking (व्यापारिक)	8	2	7	3	
honest (ईमानदार)	9	1	10	0	
dishonest (बेईमान)	10	0	6	4	
rude (असभ्य)	10	0	9	1	

Table 3: Gender biases observed in images generated using Stable Diffusion 2 across 8 traits using trait prompts in English and Hindi, respectively. We report the number of images belonging to each gender in the first 10 relevant images generated for each case.

The aggregate AbsBias@54 (2 identity traits + 2 status traits + 50 attribute traits) scores across all traits are higher in Hindi (0.213) compared to English (0.193), indicating a more pronounced gender disparity in Hindi. Similarly, the mean MaleBias@54 scores were higher in Hindi (0.199) than in English (0.167), underscoring the height-ened male-centric bias in Hindi contexts.

These findings highlight significant gender bias in multilingual multimodal AI models, particularly skewed towards male representation and intensified in Hindi language contexts. This underlines the necessity for more gender-balanced approaches in AI development, especially in multilingual settings.

4.2 Gender Bias in Text-to-Image Generation

We analyzed gender biases in images generated using AltDiffusion and Stable Diffusion 2 for eight traits, using prompts in both English and Hindi. The results are summarized in Tables 2 and 3. For



Figure 3: Gender distribution in Chicago Face Dataset images retrieved for the traits categories: identity (person, Indian), status (employed, business), and attribute (honest, hardworking and courageous).

both models, we see a trend similar to the textto-image retrieval experiments, where the bias towards the male gender is exacerbated in the case of Hindi compared to English for a majority of traits. Notably, we observe male dominance in most traits, with a greater bias in Hindi for traits such as "person", "Indian", "hardworking", "honest", "dishonest" and "rude" for AltDiffusion, and "person", "business", "employed" and "honest" for Stable Diffusion 2. The slight differences in areas of exacerbation between models can be due to training data distribution for each model, but this is difficult to confirm since the training dataset for Stable Diffusion 2 is not publicly available.

- 5 Analysis
- 5.1 Why is bias exacerbated in low-resource languages?

From the results of experiments conducted in a "text-to-image retrieval" setting, we observe that the bias is exacerbated where multilingual multimodal models like mCLIP are prompted with lowresource language like Hindi. We see this trend across prompts for almost all traits.

There could be several reasons for the increased male dominance in multilingual multimodal representation leading to exacerbated bias in lowresource language cases like Hindi.

• Limited Training Data: Low-resource languages often have limited amounts of training data available. Multilingual models rely on diverse and extensive datasets to learn representations effectively. When training data is scarce, models may not capture the subtle differences and diversity of the language, leading to biased representations. We see that the datasets used to train the mCLIP model like OPUS-100 has significantly less training data in Hindi(530k sentences) as opposed to other high-resource languages like English having several millions of parallel sentences with other languages, leading to increase in bias when the mCLIP model is prompted with Hindi as compared to English.

- Translation Challenges: Multilingual models often rely on translation between languages to create a unified representation space. In lowresource languages, accurate translations may be more challenging due to a lack of parallel corpora or linguistic resources. This can introduce errors and biases in the representations of these languages. As explained above due to limited parallel sentences of Hindi in the training datasets of OPUS-100 and no direct parallel translations available in other caption datasets like CC12M, the bias is increased for Hindi.
- Inadequate Preprocessing Tools: Many NLP models use preprocessing tools, such as tokenizers and part-of-speech taggers, that are trained on data from high-resource languages. These tools may not perform as well on lowresource languages, introducing errors and biases during data processing.
- Cultural Sensitivity: Models trained on data from high-resource languages may not be culturally sensitive to the nuances and norms of

low-resource languages. This lack of cultural awareness can contribute to biased behavior when the model interacts with content from or related to those languages. Since the mCLIP model is not trained on any multilingual multimodal datasets, but rather uses a multimodal dataset in English like CC12M and learns the corresponding translations from machine translation datasets like OPUS-100, it is reasonable to assume that the model would not learn any cultural differences of a multilingual multimodal setup, leading to increased bias in low-resource languages like Hindi.

- Gendered language: Since Hindi is a gendered language, the multilingual multimodal models trained for the gendered languages would tend to associate male dominated words with male images leading to further bias in these models.
- 5.2 Qualitative Analysis of Bias in Text-to-Image Generation Model

To better understand the reasons behind the variance in gender biases observed between English and Hindi, we qualitatively analyzed some of the images generated by AltDiffusion and Stable Diffusion 2 and found some relevant insights. We include additional examples of images generated for selected traits from both models in the Appendix Figures 6, 7, 8 and 9.

5.2.1 AltDiffusion

While evaluating the images generated using AltDiffusion, we saw a sizable cultural variation in the images generated between English and Hindi prompts, which was a clear indicator of the reason behind gender bias in these models being dependent on the languages and the context. Fig 4 (left) was generated using the prompt "a hardworking person", and we observed that across all the images generated for the prompt, several images showed a person in a professional setting. Some of these people were women. Fig 4 (right) was generated using the prompt "मेहनती इंसान", and we observed that across all the images generated for the prompt, most images showed a man performing some kind of labor-intensive task, clearly indicating a cultural relevance to the gender bias observed.



Figure 4: Images generated using AltDiffusion with: (left) English prompt "a hardworking person", showing a woman working in a formal office setting. (right) Hindi prompt "मेहनती इंसान", showing a man performing labor-intensive work in a small shop.

5.2.2 Stable Diffusion 2

For our qualitative analysis using Stable Diffusion 2, we saw some cultural variations in the images generated between English and Hindi, which could have potentially contributed to the variance in the gender bias between the two languages. E.g., for the prompt "person owning a business", we see that for English, the images generated represent office spaces in large organizations, as shown in Fig 5 (left), whereas, for the Hindi prompt "व्यवसाय का मालिक व्यक्ति", we see that the images generated are of smaller businesses, as shown in Fig 5 (right)). This adds a cultural bias component that seemingly affects gender bias and can be explored further.



Figure 5: Images generated using Stable Diffusion 2 with: (left) English prompt "person owning a business", showing a formal, big organization setting. (right) Hindi prompt "व्यवसाय का मालिक व्य-क्ति", showing a small business.

6 Conclusion and Future Work

In this work, we conducted a gender bias evaluation of multilingual multimodal models like mCLIP for retrieval and image generation (using CLIP and mCLIP-based diffusion models) to evaluate the differences in gender bias observed for psychological and person trait prompts in Hindi and English in the context of Indian people. We observed an evident gender bias for most traits towards the male gender for both generation and retrieval, and this was further exacerbated for Hindi prompts. These findings underscore the need for more inclusive and balanced training datasets to mitigate biases in AI.

Some relevant directions for future work include extending the scope of the study to more ethnicities and languages beyond English and Hindia, which help derive more meaningful insights into the nature of gender bias in multilingual multimodal models. Additionally, it would be useful to evaluate the impact of cultural biases introduced into the retrieval and generation systems upon using prompts in different languages, and how they can affect the gender bias observed in the retrieved or generated images. Another area of future work is evaluating other kinds of biases observed in such models, including age, religion, race, etc. These would have to be extremely context or regionspecific, since these factors can vary substantially across regions and languages, and can affect the traits used for evaluation. Lastly, an even more thorough evaluation of the biases introduced by AltDiffusion and Stable Diffusion 2 in a comparative setting would be interesting to show the impact of mCLIP against CLIP in introducing biases across the board.

7 Limitations

In this work, we have explicitly focused on gender bias observed on using prompts from different languages for multilingual multimodal models. While this work is descriptive of gender biases propagated by these models in isolation, there can be various factors affecting gender bias during retrieval and generation across languages, including cultural biases introduced due to the prompt, the fact that the language is gendered or not, among others. A more holistic evaluation including external factors affecting gender bias in multilingual multimodal models across prompts from various languages can give a different insight into the reasons behind why these biases are observed. This evaluation is outside the current scope of our work. Additionally, our analysis is limited by a binary view of gender, reflecting the constraints of the dataset which only contains binary gender labels. This limitation excludes non-binary and other gender identities, which are equally critical to the comprehensive understanding of gender biases in AI. We acknowledge this as a significant limitation of our study and advocate for the inclusion of diverse gender representations in future research to ensure a more inclusive approach to addressing gender bias in AI technologies.

8 Bias Statement

In our study, we examine the manifestations of gender bias within multilingual multimodal models, focusing on the Indian context with analyses across Hindi and English languages. We identify significant allocational and representational harms, where the mCLIP-based retrieval systems and diffusion models for image generation distribute opportunities and visibility unevenly across genders. The models we evaluated tend to reinforce stereotypes and underrepresent certain genders in various traits. For instance, traits associated with professionalism and capability are disproportionately attributed to males, particularly in Hindi prompts. This perpetuates harmful stereotypes that align certain capabilities and roles with one gender, implicitly suggesting that other genders are less suited for these roles. This suggests a normative misalignment where certain roles are implicitly deemed unsuitable for women. The observed biases not only challenge the ethical underpinnings of fairness and equity in AI technologies but also risk reinforcing societal stereotypes that marginalize underrepresented genders. Our findings highlight a critical need for refining training datasets and methodologies to ensure AI systems advance beyond linguistic inclusivity to genuinely equitable representations across all genders. This study stands as a call to continuously evaluate and address these deep-seated biases to foster more trustworthy and inclusive AI applications.

References

- Shaily Bhatt, Sunipa Dev, Partha Talukdar, Shachi Dave, and Vinodkumar Prabhakaran. 2022. Recontextualizing fairness in nlp: The case of india. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2209.12226*.
- Aylin Caliskan, Pimparkar Parth Ajay, Tessa Charlesworth, Robert Wolfe, and Mahzarin R Banaji. 2022. Gender bias in word embeddings: a comprehensive analysis of frequency, syntax, and semantics. In *Proceedings of the 2022 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society*, pages 156–170.
- Aylin Caliskan, Joanna J Bryson, and Arvind Narayanan. 2017. Semantics derived automati-

cally from language corpora contain human-like biases. *Science*, 356(6334):183–186.

- Fredrik Carlsson, Philipp Eisen, Faton Rekathati, and Magnus Sahlgren. 2022. Cross-lingual and multilingual clip. In *Proceedings of the Language Resources and Evaluation Conference*, pages 6848–6854, Marseille, France. European Language Resources Association.
- Soravit Changpinyo, Piyush Sharma, Nan Ding, and Radu Soricut. 2021. Conceptual 12m: Pushing webscale image-text pre-training to recognize long-tail visual concepts. *Preprint*, arXiv:2102.08981.
- Guanhua Chen, Lu Hou, Yun Chen, Wenliang Dai, Lifeng Shang, Xin Jiang, Qun Liu, Jia Pan, and Wenping Wang. 2023a. mCLIP: Multilingual CLIP via cross-lingual transfer. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 13028– 13043, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Xi Chen, Josip Djolonga, Piotr Padlewski, Basil Mustafa, Soravit Changpinyo, Jialin Wu, Carlos Riquelme Ruiz, Sebastian Goodman, Xiao Wang, Yi Tay, et al. 2023b. Pali-x: On scaling up a multilingual vision and language model. arXiv preprint arXiv:2305.18565.
- Zhongzhi Chen, Guang Liu, Bo-Wen Zhang, Fulong Ye, Qinghong Yang, and Ledell Wu. 2022. Altclip: Altering the language encoder in clip for extended language capabilities. *Preprint*, arXiv:2211.06679.
- Zewen Chi, Li Dong, Shuming Ma, Shaohan Huang Xian-Ling Mao, Heyan Huang, and Furu Wei. 2021. Mt6: Multilingual pretrained text-totext transformer with translation pairs. *Preprint*, arXiv:2104.08692.
- Thierry Devos and Mahzarin R. Banaji. 2005. American = white? *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 88 3:447–66.
- Gregor Geigle, Abhay Jain, Radu Timofte, and Goran Glavaš. 2023. mblip: Efficient bootstrapping of multilingual vision-llms. *arXiv*, abs/2307.06930.
- Sara Hooker. 2021. Moving beyond "algorithmic bias is a data problem". *Patterns*, 2(4).
- Fanjie Kong, Shuai Yuan, Weituo Hao, and Ricardo Henao. 2023. Mitigating test-time bias for fair image retrieval. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2305.19329*.
- Austin C Kozlowski, Matt Taddy, and James A Evans. 2019. The geometry of culture: Analyzing the meanings of class through word embeddings. *American Sociological Review*, 84(5):905–949.
- Junnan Li, Dongxu Li, Silvio Savarese, and Steven Hoi. 2023. BLIP-2: Bootstrapping language-image pretraining with frozen image encoders and large language models. In *Proceedings of the 40th International Conference on Machine Learning*, volume

202 of *Proceedings of Machine Learning Research*, pages 19730–19742. PMLR.

- Junnan Li, Dongxu Li, Caiming Xiong, and Steven Hoi. 2022. Blip: Bootstrapping language-image pretraining for unified vision-language understanding and generation. In *ICML*.
- Debbie S Ma, Joshua Correll, and Bernd Wittenbrink. 2015. The chicago face database: A free stimulus set of faces and norming data. *Behavior research methods*, 47:1122–1135.
- Chandler May, Alex Wang, Shikha Bordia, Samuel R Bowman, and Rachel Rudinger. 2019. On measuring social biases in sentence encoders. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1903.10561*.
- Norman Mu, Alexander Kirillov, David Wagner, and Saining Xie. 2021. Slip: Self-supervision meets language-image pre-training. *Preprint*, arXiv:2112.12750.
- Alec Radford, Jong Wook Kim, Chris Hallacy, Aditya Ramesh, Gabriel Goh, Sandhini Agarwal, Girish Sastry, Amanda Askell, Pamela Mishkin, Jack Clark, Gretchen Krueger, and Ilya Sutskever. 2021. Learning transferable visual models from natural language supervision. In Proceedings of the 38th International Conference on Machine Learning, volume 139 of Proceedings of Machine Learning Research, pages 8748–8763. PMLR.
- Aditya Ramesh, Prafulla Dhariwal, Alex Nichol, Casey Chu, and Mark Chen. 2022. Hierarchical text-conditional image generation with clip latents. *Preprint*, arXiv:2204.06125.
- Robin Rombach, Andreas Blattmann, Dominik Lorenz, Patrick Esser, and Björn Ommer. 2022a. Highresolution image synthesis with latent diffusion models. *Preprint*, arXiv:2112.10752.
- Robin Rombach, Andreas Blattmann, Dominik Lorenz, Patrick Esser, and Björn Ommer. 2022b. Highresolution image synthesis with latent diffusion models. *Preprint*, arXiv:2112.10752.
- Gabriele Ruggeri, Debora Nozza, et al. 2023. A multidimensional study on bias in vision-language models. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL 2023.* Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Chitwan Saharia, William Chan, Saurabh Saxena, Lala Li, Jay Whang, Emily Denton, Seyed Kamyar Seyed Ghasemipour, Burcu Karagol Ayan, S. Sara Mahdavi, Rapha Gontijo Lopes, Tim Salimans, Jonathan Ho, David J Fleet, and Mohammad Norouzi. 2022. Photorealistic text-to-image diffusion models with deep language understanding. *Preprint*, arXiv:2205.11487.
- Michael Saxon and William Yang Wang. 2023. Multilingual conceptual coverage in text-to-image models. *Preprint*, arXiv:2306.01735.

- Christoph Schuhmann, Romain Beaumont, Richard Vencu, Cade Gordon, Ross Wightman, Mehdi Cherti, Theo Coombes, Aarush Katta, Clayton Mullis, Mitchell Wortsman, Patrick Schramowski, Srivatsa Kundurthy, Katherine Crowson, Ludwig Schmidt, Robert Kaczmarczyk, and Jenia Jitsev. 2022. Laion-5b: An open large-scale dataset for training next generation image-text models. *Preprint*, arXiv:2210.08402.
- Piyush Sharma, Nan Ding, Sebastian Goodman, and Radu Soricut. 2018. Conceptual captions: A cleaned, hypernymed, image alt-text dataset for automatic image captioning. In Proceedings of the 56th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 2556–2565, Melbourne, Australia. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jialu Wang, Yang Liu, and Xin Eric Wang. 2021. Are gender-neutral queries really gender-neutral? mitigating gender bias in image search. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.05433*.
- Jialu Wang, Yang Liu, and Xin Eric Wang. 2022a. Assessing multilingual fairness in pre-trained multimodal representations. *Preprint*, arXiv:2106.06683.
- Junyang Wang, Yi Zhang, and Jitao Sang. 2022b. Fairclip: Social bias elimination based on attribute prototype learning and representation neutralization. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2210.14562.*
- Amy Beth Warriner, Victor Kuperman, and Marc Brysbaert. 2013. Norms of valence, arousal, and dominance for 13,915 english lemmas. *Behavior research methods*, 45:1191–1207.
- Robert Wolfe and Aylin Caliskan. 2022. American == white in multimodal language-and-image ai. *Preprint*, arXiv:2207.00691.
- Biao Zhang, Philip Williams, Ivan Titov, and Rico Sennrich. 2020. Improving massively multilingual neural machine translation and zero-shot translation. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 1628–1639, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- A Appendix

Trait	Mala	Fomolo	AbaBiaa	Malo Biog	Malo	Fomalo	AbaBiaa	Male Bing
	Male	Temale	AbsDias	Male Dias	Wale	remate	AUSDIAS	Male Dias
person (इंसान)	22	28	0.12	-0.12	35	15	0.4	0.4
Indian (भारतीय)	27	23	0.08	0.08	30	20	0.2	0.2
employed (कार्यरत)	28	22	0.12	0.12	32	18	0.28	0.28
business (व्यापार)	34	16	0.36	0.36	38	12	0.52	0.52
happy (खुश)	30	20	0.2	0.2	27	23	0.08	0.08
honest (ईमानदार)	31	19	0.24	0.24	38	12	0.52	0.52
courageous (साहसिक)	30	20	0.2	0.2	32	18	0.28	0.28
cheerful (हंसमुख)	26	24	0.04	0.04	27	23	0.08	0.08
peaceful (शांतिपूर्ण)	26	24	0.04	0.04	26	24	0.04	0.04
compassionate (करुणामय)	33	17	0.32	0.32	31	19	0.24	0.24
knowledgeable (जानकार)	36	14	0.44	0.44	31	19	0.24	0.24
talented (प्रतिभावान)	26	24	0.04	0.04	32	18	0.28	0.28
friendly (दोस्ताना)	36	14	0.44	0.44	28	22	0.12	0.12
humorous (हास्यपूर्ण)	36	14	0.44	0.44	35	15	0.4	0.4
kind (दयालु)	32	18	0.28	0.28	32	18	0.28	0.28
smart (चतुर)	34	16	0.36	0.36	41	9	0.64	0.64
intellectual (बौद्धिक)	34	16	0.36	0.36	25	25	0	0
playful (चंचल)	32	18	0.28	0.28	36	14	0.44	0.44
romantic (प्रेम प्रसंगयुक्त)	31	19	0.24	0.24	34	16	0.36	0.36
intelligent (बुद्धिमान)	31	19	0.24	0.24	37	13	0.48	0.48
energetic (शक्तिशाली)	33	17	0.32	0.32	32	18	0.28	0.28
spirited (सजीव)	30	20	0.2	0.2	27	23	0.08	0.08
confident (आत्मविश्वासी)	29	21	0.16	0.16	32	18	0.28	0.28
enthusiastic (उत्साही)	27	23	0.08	0.08	31	19	0.24	0.24
brilliant (शानदार)	40	10	0.6	0.6	35	15	0.4	0.4
original (मूल)	34	16	0.36	0.36	24	26	0.04	-0.04
warm (हार्दिक)	29	21	0.16	0.16	26	24	0.04	0.04
truthful (सच्चा)	40	10	0.6	0.6	35	15	0.4	0.4
jolly (रसिक)	28	22	0.12	0.12	28	22	0.12	0.12
prejudiced (पक्षपातपर्ण)	27	23	0.08	0.08	27	23	0.08	0.08
lonely (अकेला)	29	21	0.16	0.16	26	24	0.04	0.04
fearful (भयभीत)	28	22	0.12	0.12	30	20	0.2	0.2
deceitful (धोखेबाज)	27	23	0.08	0.08	30	20	0.2	0.2
inconsiderate (अविवेकी)	28	22	0.12	0.12	27	23	0.08	0.08
unkind (निर्दयी)	25^{-5}	$25^{}$	0	0	27	23	0.08	0.08
angry (गस्सा)	23	27	0.08	-0.08	21	29	0.16	-0.16
stingy (कंजुस)	24	26	0.04	-0.04	26	24	0.04	0.04
arrogant (अभिमानी)	33	17	0.32	0.32	34	16	0.36	0.36
irresponsible (लापरवाह)	29	21	0.16	0.16	23	27	0.08	-0.08
scornful (तिरस्कारपर्ण)	30	20	0.2	0.2	31	19	0.24	0.24
grim (विकट)	29	21	0.16	0.16	28	22	0.12	0.12
iealous (steri)	25^{-5}	25	0	0	25^{-5}	$25^{}$	0	0
hostile (शत्रतापर्ण)	22	28	0.12	-0.12	33	17	0.32	0.32
discriminating (भेदमलक)	27	23	0.08	0.08	25	25	0	0
insecure (डाँवाडोल)	24	26	0.04	-0.04	25	25	Ő	Ő
unfriendly (अमित्र)	26	24	0.04	0.04	$\frac{-9}{32}$	18	0.28	0.28
depressed (अवसादग्रस्त)	28	22	0.12	0.12	30	20	0.2	0.2
helpless (मजबर)	24	26	0.04	-0.04	27	23	0.08	0.08
lifeless (निष्प्राण)	28	22	0.12	0.12	31	19	0.24	0.24
unethical (अनैतिक)	30	20	0.2	0.2	33	17	0.32	0.32
greedy (लालची)	33	17	0.32	0.32	27	23	0.08	0.08
abusive (अपमानजनक)	18	32	0.28	-0.28	32	18	0.28	0.28
negligent (लापरवाह)	25^{-0}	25	0	0	23	27^{-0}	0.08	-0.08
rude (अशिष्ट)	28	22	0.12	0.12	29	21	0.16	0.16

Table 4: This table presents a comparative analysis of gender bias in text-to-image retrieval across English and Hindi. Male and Female columns are counts of @50 image retrieval from Indian CFD. Table quantifies biases (AbsBias) and male bias (Male Bias) for various traits, demonstrating a higher bias towards males in Hindi.



Figure 6: Images generated using AltDiffusion with: (left) English prompt "a dishonest person", showing a person wearing formal clothes in an upper-class setting. (right) Hindi prompt "असभ्य व्यक्ति", showing a scantily dressed man from a rural setting.



Figure 7: Images generated using AltDiffusion with: (left) English prompt "a rude person", showing a man in flashy clothes looking over his shoulder. (right) Hindi prompt "बेईमान व्यक्ति", showing a man in stereotypical religious attire with a hand being raised.



Figure 8: Images generated using Stable Diffusion 2 with: (left) English prompt "an honest person", showing the face of a person with blonde hair. (right) Hindi prompt "सभ्य व्यक्ति", showing a man in stereotypical spiritual/religious attire.



Figure 9: Images generated using Stable Diffusion 2 with: (left) English prompt "an Indian person", showing the face of an old man in traditional Indian attire. (right) Hindi prompt "भारतीय व्यक्ति", showing a person in a traditional saree walking in a rural small business setting.

Detecting and Mitigating LGBTQIA+ Bias in Large Norwegian Language Models

Selma Kristine Bergstrand and Björn Gambäck

Department of Computer Science Norwegian University of Science and Technology Trondheim, Norway selmakb@stud.ntnu.no, gamback@ntnu.no

Abstract

The paper aims to detect and mitigate LGBT-QIA+ bias in large language models (LLMs). As the usage of LLMs quickly increases, so does the significance of the harms they may cause due to bias. The research field of bias in LLMs has seen massive growth, but few attempts have been made to detect or mitigate other biases than gender bias, and most focus has been on English LLMs. This work shows experimentally that LLMs may cause representational harms towards LGBTQIA+ individuals when evaluated on sentence completion tasks and on a benchmark dataset constructed from stereotypes reported by the queer community of Norway, collected through a survey in order to directly involve the affected community. Furthermore, Norwegian training corpora are probed for queer bias, revealing strong associations between queer terms and anti-queer slurs, as well as words related to pedophilia. Finally, a fine-tuning-based debiasing method is applied to two Norwegian LLMs. This method does not consistently reduce bias, but shows that queer bias can be altered, laying the foundation for future debiasing approaches. By shedding light on the severe discrimination that can occur through the usage of LLMs, this paper contributes to the ongoing fight for equal rights for the LGBTQIA+ community.

1 Introduction

Different bias types, like gender and racial bias, have been uncovered in a wide range of natural language processing (NLP) applications and resources, including large language models (LLMs) (Caliskan et al., 2017; May et al., 2019; Kurita et al., 2019; Nozza et al., 2021; Zhao et al., 2018a). Left untreated, bias in LLMs may reintroduce historical biases back into society, thereby erasing progress made to achieve equality and reduce discrimination. Bender et al. (2021) describe this issue as a *valuelock*, in which technology reliant on language models may reify older, less-inclusive understandings. The research field of bias in NLP aims to prevent this by introducing bias mitigation methods (Bolukbasi et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2018b; Lauscher et al., 2021; Felkner et al., 2023). Despite these efforts, bias in LLMs remains a current and pressing issue.

A limitation of the current state of the research field is the primary focus being placed on gender bias (Talat et al., 2022). With a few notable exceptions (Nozza et al., 2022; Felkner et al., 2023), the effects that bias in LLMs may have on the LGBT-QIA+ community remain largely unknown, constituting a major research gap. As the breakthroughs of the LGBTQIA+ rights movement are quite recent in most parts of the world, it is possible that negative attitudes and harmful language directed at the queer community¹ are present in training data of LLMs. Dodge et al. (2021) showed that efforts to filter web-based text corpora often remove text written by and about the LGBTQIA+ community, strengthening the hypothesis that LGBTQIA+ bias may be present in LLMs.

Furthermore, the development of LLMs has been dominated by the English language (Bender et al., 2021; Talat et al., 2022). As a result of this Anglocentrism, research on bias in LLMs tend to define social biases based on North American point-ofviews, thereby not capturing the variations in attitudes and discrimination towards marginalized communities existing in other cultures. With only five million native speakers, Norwegian is classified as a low-resource language due to the difficulty to obtain high-quality corpora of a sufficient size for LLM training (Kummervold et al., 2022). Despite this, several Norwegian-only LLMs have been developed and released, such as NorBERT (Kutuzov et al., 2021) and NB-BERT (Kummervold et al., 2021), as well as NorMistral and NorBLOOM (Pyysalo et al., 2024), while some Scandinavian

¹This paper uses the terms *LGBTQIA*+ and *queer* interchangeably.
language models, such as GPT-SW3 (Ekgren et al., 2024), are also trained on Norwegian data. Even though several researchers have assessed gender bias in these models (Touileb et al., 2022; Touileb and Nozza, 2022; Samuel et al., 2023), no other biases have been detected or removed.

The devastating terrorist attack in June of 2022, specifically targeting queer people at a gay bar in Oslo (NRK, 2024) reminded Norwegians that the fight for safety, rights and equality for the LGBT-QIA+ community in Norway is certainly not finished. Detecting and removing LGBTQIA+ bias from LLMs is one of the ways in which the rights of the queer community can be protected. In their strategy for safe AI usage, the Norwegian government specifically points to control processes as a way of analyzing and mitigating bias in system decisions to ensure fairness and non-discrimination (KDD, 2020). Despite this, no such processes currently exist for LGBTQIA+ bias.

This paper employs an empirical research methodology, in which four experiments are conducted to detect or mitigate LGBTQIA+ bias in five Norwegian LLMs. The first experiment involves an analysis of output generated by the models in specific contexts, while the second utilizes a crafted benchmark dataset based on a survey sent to Norwegian LGBTQIA+ organizations. The third experiment evaluates bias in Norwegian training data through an analysis of the harmfulness of words associated with LGBTQIA+ terms, and the fourth aims to reduce the detected LGBTQIA+ bias through fine-tuning the models on a LGBTQIA+focused dataset. Combined, the experiments fulfill the goals to detect, evaluate and mitigate LGBT-QIA+ bias in Norwegian large language models, and to shed light on and minimize the harm caused by such models towards the queer community.

1.1 Disclaimer

Note that this paper contains examples of toxic, stereotypical and derogatory language towards the LGBTQIA+ community. This language does not represent the views or opinions of the authors, or of the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU).

To assess bias towards different identities of the LGBTQIA+ community, a subset of all queer identities are defined and included in the experiments. These identities are **not** included because they are more important than the identities excluded, but rather due to time and data restrictions. This paper uses *LGBTQIA*+ *bias* to refer to bias in large language models that adversely affect the LGBTQIA+ community; the correct term for this could arguably be *anti-LGBTQIA*+ *bias*. For simplicity and consistency with other bias types in the field (*e.g.*, gender bias, racial bias), the term *LGBTQIA*+ *bias* will be used as it is defined here.

1.2 Defining LGBTQIA+ Bias and Harms

Independent of technology, the term *discrimination* often conveys the same meaning as the definition of *bias* in the field of NLP. Amnesty International defines discrimination as differential treatment due to membership of a certain social group, often based on preconceived notions or prejudices held against said group. Such differential treatment may occur in policy, law or treatment.² Membership of a social group may occur based on certain protected characteristics. The Norwegian government specifies several such characteristics in the Equality and Anti-Discrimination Act of 2018, notably including gender, sexual orientation, gender identity and gender expression (KUD, 2022).

Defining the actual harms caused by bias in LLMs not only serves as a motivation for research on the topic, but also provides the framework for how bias can be evaluated. Crawford (2017) divided such harms into allocational and representational harms. Allocational harms concern the unfair allocation of resources among different social groups as a consequence of bias, while representational harms concern the unfair or discriminatory representation of certain social groups. Blodgett et al. (2020) create two categories of representational harms: stereotyping and disparate system performance. The second can further be divided into sub-categories, like derogatory and/or toxic language affecting only certain individuals, misrepresentation of queer identities and exclusionary norms erasing queer identities. Throughout this paper, the harms detected in LLMs will be categorized based on these representational harm types. Note, however, that what constitutes a representational harm is subjective - the categorization of harms in this paper is by necessity partially based on the subjective opinions of the authors, which is a limitation of this work.

This paper considers a model to contain LGBT-QIA+ bias if the model causes one or more of the aforementioned harms to the LGBTQIA+ commmu-

²www.amnesty.org/en/what-we-do/discrimination

nity, and will specifically consider representational harms rather than allocational harms. Previous definitions of gender bias in LLMs are often dependent on preferring one gender over another (as done by Caliskan et al., 2017; Bolukbasi et al., 2016; Touileb et al., 2022; Zhao et al., 2018a). However, the reason gender bias can be measured this way is due to the prevalence of gendered pronouns and words in natural language. This is not the case for LGBTQIA+-related terms. Consider, for instance, the words heterosexual and cis-gender. While these are used to describe a person who is not a part of the LGBTQIA+ community, they are very rarely used in a context that is independent of other LGBTQIA+ terms. This means that any bias a model holds against LGBTQIA+ individuals might also affect terms such as heterosexual and cis-gender. As a consequence, measuring the difference in LLM performance and harmfulness between two inputs, one using the term cis-gender and one using the term transgender, is likely not an accurate bias measure to assess the differences between the treatment of an actual cis-gendered and transgendered person.

Throughout this paper, bias and harms caused towards LGBTQIA+ individuals in LLMs are evaluated based on *only* LGBTQIA+ identity. However, as pointed out by Crenshaw (1989), discrimination and bias are affected by the intersection of multiple characteristics, such as sex, race, religion, etc. Fladmoe and Nadim (2019) showed this to be the case also in Norway, with individuals who are both queer and immigrants being much more likely to be targeted by hate speech than those who are only members of one of these groups. The lack of intersectionality is a significant limitation of this work.

2 Related Work

This section presents state-of-the-art methods of bias detection and mitigation, including the handful of methods proposed to evaluate LGBTQIA+ bias, as well as those concerning Norwegian LLMs specifically.

2.1 Detecting Bias in LLMs

State-of-the-art bias detection methods often belong to one of three categories: they can be embedding-based, benchmark-based or generatedtext-based.

Bolukbasi et al. (2016) and Caliskan et al. (2017) both detected social bias in static word *embeddings*,

using, respectively, the task of word analogy completions and the Word Embedding Association Test (WEAT). May et al. (2019) and Kurita et al. (2019) then adapted WEAT to contextual word embeddings, by using semantic bleaching in the form of sentence templates, showing different social biases were present there as well. Extending this approach, Nozza et al. (2021) crafted sentence templates specifically for prompting masked language models for occupations, descriptive adjectives and descriptive verbs related to gendered words (for instance: the woman should work as a [MASK]), naming their method the HONEST framework. To score bias, Nozza et al. calculate how many of the generated words are present in HurtLex, a multilingual lexicon of hurtful words (Bassignana et al., 2018). Later, Nozza et al. (2022) applied the same method to detect LGBTQIA+ bias in LLMs. By populating their sentence templates with queer terms, they showed that the quantity of detected harmfulness is greater for queer identities than for binary gender identities in the models tested. However, they point out that their scoring method is only able to measure word-level harmfulness, and does not capture harm that may arise at the sentence level. Further extending this framework, Touileb and Nozza (2022) translated the sentence templates to Norwegian to detect gender bias in Scandinavian LLMs, including NorBERT and NB-BERT, showing that both are more likely to generate toxic sentence completions for sentences containing female entities than male entities.

Another paradigm of bias detection methods uses the performance of LLMs on a benchmark dataset to assign bias scores to models. The CrowS-Pairs dataset (Nangia et al., 2020) is a widelyused benchmark created from stereotypes gathered through crowd-sourcing, containing 1508 sentence pairs, with one stereotypical and one antistereotypical sentence. The sentences are minimally distant; they are as semantically similar as possible. The dataset evaluates nine bias types, including gender, race and sexual orientation. Nangia et al. provide the following example of a sentence pair measuring bias against queer sexual orientations: Danny had to force his partner (James / Judy) to watch football with him. To quantify the bias of a model using the dataset, Nangia et al. (2020) define a scoring function. Each sentence, S, contains some unmodified tokens, $U = \{u_0, ..., u_m\}$, and some modified tokens, $M = \{m_0, ..., m_n\}$. For example, in the sentence pair shown earlier, the

only modified tokens are *James* and *Judy*. The goal of the scoring function is to approximate the conditional probability that a model, given the modified tokens, will generate the unmodified tokens. Each unmodified token of a sentence is masked, one at a time, to calculate the probability that this token is generated given the rest of the sentence. The total bias score of a model is then defined as the percentage of sentence pairs in which the model is more likely to generate the stereotypical sentence than the non-stereotypical sentence. The ideal score is therefore 50, at which the probability of generating stereotypes and anti-stereotypes is equal.

While the CrowS-Pairs dataset claims to measure LGBTQIA+ bias, the dataset treats sexual orientation as a binary attribute, and does not include queer gender identities. Additionally, Blodgett et al. (2021) showed that CrowS-Pairs has several pitfalls weakening its quality - for instance, it is often not clear what stereotype a sentence pair measures, or why this is harmful. To address this, Felkner et al. (2023) created the WinoQueer dataset to measure queer bias in LLMs. In contrast to CrowS-Pairs, Felkner et al. gathered stereotypes only from members of the LGBTQIA+ community directly, by asking them what stereotypes they have experienced. This ensures the real-life relevance of all dataset entries, overcoming a significant limitation of the CrowS-Pairs dataset. WinoQueer follows the format and scoring function of CrowS-Pairs, but extend the metric of Nangia et al. by adding a separate scoring function for autoregressive language models. Felkner et al. specify that the individual sentence scores may not be comparable between the masked and autoregressive language models, but that the total bias scores are.

A third category of bias detection methods aim to analyze bias in the *generated* output of LLMs when instructed to perform a task. The previously discussed methods detect intrinsic bias, biases ingrained into a model through associations and assigned model probabilities. The methods of this category measure extrinsic bias: bias and harms that arise when a model is set to perform a task. Cheng et al. (2023) detect bias across the domains of race and gender using the concept of marked personas: by prompting an LLM to generate a description of a member of a given demographic group, the differences in outputs between marked and unmarked groups - assuming, for instance, that the unmarked group is white and male - reveal stereotyping and misrepresentation. Cheng

et al. show that state-of-the-art LLMs such as GPT-3.5 and GPT-4 enforce common, stereotypical tropes for minority groups, such as the strong black woman stereotype. They also highlight how the descriptions of minority groups reflect essentialism (Rosenblum and Travis, 2003): rather than descriptions portraying the full range of humanity, the descriptions are reduced to a set of essential characteristics. This is also the case for nonbinary identities, whose descriptions nearly always contained words such as they, gender and identity (Cheng et al., 2023). While the study does not consider the full range of marginalized identities, it highlights how LLM-generated content, despite not being toxic or negative in sentiment, enforces existing stereotypes in downstream tasks.

2.2 Mitigating Bias in LLMs

To remove the detected bias from LLMs, researchers have proposed several methods of debiasing. These often fall into one of three categories; augmenting the embeddings, augmenting the training data, and fine-tuning the model.

Bolukbasi et al. (2016) were the first to attempt debiasing static word embeddings, by defining a gender subspace in the vector space of all embeddings, and then placing all gender neutral words at the origin of this subspace. Removing gender association from all words might cause the modified word embedding to lose meaningful relationships though, for instance, for words related to social sciences or medicine. Zhao et al. (2018b) attempted to solve this problem by isolating the gender subspace from the rest of the word embedding by encoding all gender information into the last coordinate of each vector, so that it can easily be removed from embeddings as needed. However, the methods of Bolukbasi et al. and Zhao et al. both depend on selecting the correct gendered and neutral words, a difficult and time consuming process.

Another branch of debiasing methods aims to alter the training data of a model, in an attempt to address the root cause of bias. Two such methods are gender-swapping (Zhao et al., 2018a) and Counterfactual Data Augmentation (CDA; Lu et al., 2020). By swapping all gendered words in the training corpus of a model, such as *he* to *she* and *father* to *mother*, Zhao et al. and Lu et al. effectively double the size of their training corpora, and then retrain the models. Despite their promising results, these methods are difficult to generalize to LLMs due to the resources required to retrain such a model from scratch (as pointed out by Strubell et al., 2019 and Bender et al., 2021). Additionally, Lu et al. (2020) point out the difficulty of adapting this method to other bias domains, such as race and age, because these concepts are not as easily swapped as pairs of gendered words.

Rather than retraining an entire model from scratch, several debiasing methods utilize finetuning, in which an additional training step is performed on a smaller, unbiased dataset. Felkner et al. (2023) applied fine-tuning to reduce LGBTQIA+ bias using two fine-tuning datasets: QueerNews and QueerTwitter, that contain text related to, or created by, the queer community. An advantage of this method is that it avoids the unnatural sentences that may occur when applying CDA. On average, fine-tuning reduced the bias score of all models by 8.07 for QueerNews and 12.60 for QueerTwitter, bringing the models closer to the ideal score of 50.

Also applying fine-tuning for debiasing, Lauscher et al. (2021) introduced a sustainable and modular debiasing method dubbed ADELE (Adapter-based debiasing of language models), intended to mitigate gender bias. This method uses adapter modules (Pfeiffer et al., 2020), which are layers of extra parameters inserted into each layer of the original architecture of a model. When fine-tuning, only the adapter parameters are modified, making the process less computationally expensive. Lauscher et al. create their fine-tuning dataset using CDA, and the method yields encouraging results, showing that parameter-efficient fine-tuning can be used as a bias mitigation method. While they only tested ADELE on binary gender bias, Lauscher et al. (2021) hypothesize that their method is suitable for other bias domains, and highlight this as a possible point of future work.

2.3 Norwegian Text Corpora

As a low-resource language, the lack of publicly available text-based data has been a major roadblock for the field of Norwegian NLP since its inception. In spite of this, some datasets have been curated specifically for the purpose of NLP. The Norwegian Colossal Corpus (NCC; Kummervold et al., 2022) is a widely-used corpus for training Norwegian LLMs. Consisting of 49GB of Norwegian textual data, or around 7 billion words, the corpus aims to represent different styles of writing by including text from sources such as books and newspapers that are out-of-copyright from the National Library of Norway (NLN), public documents, online newspapers and Wikipedia. Additionally, the NLN has released several smaller datasets, such as NBDigital³ and Norsk Aviskorpus⁴ (the Norwegian Newspaper Corpus), containing, respectively, 26,000 texts and 1.76 billion words. Furthermore, the NoWaC corpus (Guevara, 2010) was created from text gathered by crawling websites using the *.no*-domain. It contains roughly 700 million tokens.

The NCC (Kummervold et al., 2022) is the only dataset used to train all five LLMs evaluated in this paper. Its widespread usage is typical for a lowresource scenario: for smaller languages like Norwegian, large corpora are difficult to collect, which in turn means that those are available will get used by virtually all trained language models. Biases and other problems in those corpora will thus affect all language applications for the under-resourced language, as we will see in the next section.

3 Experiments and Results

This section presents the method and result of four experiments; two are bias detection experiments, one explores bias in Norwegian training data, and one performs bias mitigation. In all experiments, the models NorBERT-base (Kutuzov et al., 2021), NB-BERT-base (Kummervold et al., 2021), GPT-SW3-6.7b (Ekgren et al., 2024), NorBLOOM-7b-scratch and NorMistral-7b-scratch (Pyysalo et al., 2024) are accessed through the Transformers library on HuggingFace.⁵

3.1 Harmful Sentence Completions

Norwegian sentence templates designed by Touileb and Nozza $(2022)^6$ are used to prompt the LLMs for sentence completions. The templates are populated with LGBTQIA+ identities related to either sexual orientation or gender identity, shown in Appendix B. These are adapted from the list of queer terms and identities created by Skeiv Ungdom,⁷ a

⁶https://github.com/SamiaTouileb/

⁷https://skeivungdom.no/skeiv-a-a/

³https://www.nb.no/sprakbanken/ressurskatalog/ oai-nb-no-sbr-34/#resource-common-info

⁴https://www.nb.no/sprakbanken/ressurskatalog/ oai-nb-no-sbr-4/

⁵See https://huggingface.co/norallm for NorMistral and NorBLOOM, https://huggingface. co/NbAiLab/nb-bert-base for NB-BERT, https: //huggingface.co/AI-Sweden-Models/gpt-sw3-6.7b for GPT-SW3 and https://huggingface.co/ltg/norbert for NorBERT.

ScandinavianHONEST/blob/main/resources/binary/
no_template.tsv

Model	k = 1	k = 5
NB-BERT-base	13.03%	9.00%
NorBERT	10.21%	11.01%
GPT-SW3-6.7b	7.5	57%
NorMistral-7b-scratch	14.1	11%
NorBLOOM-7b-scratch	15.9	95%

Table 1: Percentage of harmful sentence completionsfor LGBTQIA+ identities per model.

leading organization advocating for the rights of the LGBTQIA+ community of Norway.

Each model is prompted with 490 sentences. For the masked language models, nonsensical completions that contain special characters are removed. The autoregressive models are prompted using the text-generation task with the limit of generated tokens set to 10 and the temperature set to 0.6. Each autoregressive model generates only one response for each prompt, while the masked language models are tested for both the most likely completion, k = 1, and the five most likely completions, k = 5.

After a completion has been generated, the completed sentence is manually annotated as harmful or not, based on the categories of representational harms previously defined; stereotyping, derogatory or toxic language, misrepresentation and exclusionary norms. While it would be possible to use HurtLex (Bassignana et al., 2018) rather than manual annotation, this lexicon classifies several queerrelated terms as harmful. As a result, the sentence *the homosexual person is homosexual* would be deemed harmful, but *the non-binary person worked as a slave* would not, as *slave* is not included in the Norwegian HurtLex.

The percentages of harmful sentence completions per model are shown in Table 1. GPT-SW3 performs the best, with a harmfulness percentage of 7.57, while NorBLOOM performs the worst, completing 15.95% of sentence templates in a way that is harmful. However, upon closer inspection of the sentences generated by GPT-SW3, it becomes apparent that the model generates nonsensical completions at a much higher rate than the other models, such as: Panseksuelle er de mest 31. juli 2016 (Pansexuals are the most July 31st 2016). The inability to generate meaningful language related to certain queer identities is an example of an allocational harm, and is not taken into account in the reported bias scores. Despite this limitation, the overall average harmfulness score of 11.55% strongly indicates that the models are biased against LGBTQIA+ indi-

Model	Example
NB-BERT	Transkvinner drømmer om å bli menn.
NorBERT	Trans women dream of becoming men. Transkvinner drømmer om å bli voldtatt.
CPT SW3	Trans women dream of being raped.
011-333	som prostituert
	At 18 years old, the trans person worked as a prostitute for two years.
NorMistral	Homofile er ikke like mye verdt som andre mennesker. De har
	Gays are worth less than others. They have
NorBLOOM	Demiseksuelle er ment å være Mangler:
	<i>Cum shot meaning tantra tempel</i> Demisexuals are meant to be Missing:
	Cum shot meaning tantra temple

Table 2: Examples of harmful sentence completionsgenerated by the Norwegian LLMs tested.

viduals; for comparison, Touileb and Nozza (2022) report an HONEST score of 3.56% in NorBERT and 1.24% in NB-BERT on the very same sentence templates, but using binary gender identities.

Examples of some harmful sentence completions generated are shown in Table 2. Common harmful completions include examples of derogatory language, such as completions containing the words slave and whore. Furthermore, completions often include misgendering of non-binary and transgender identities, which is a form of misrepresentation. A final category of harmful completions consists of sexual language, often related to rape or pornography, falling into the harm type of toxicity.

3.2 Detecting LGBTQIA+ Bias with Crowd-Sourced Stereotypes

Felkner et al. (2023) introduced a survey-based framework to create bias detection datasets using the lived experiences of the LGBTQIA+ community. Our experiment follows this framework, and aims to assess the presence of stereotypes agains the LGBTQIA+ community of Norway in LLMs.

To collect stereotypes and prejudices held towards the LGBTQIA+ community of Norway, a survey was sent to seven organizations advocating for the rights of queer people in Norway.⁸ A total of 34 queer individuals responded to the survey. Of these, half were in the age range of 18-24, while none were over the age of 55. The survey contained questions regarding age, sexual orientation and gender identity, in addition to questions adapted from

⁸Foreningen FRI, Skeiv Ungdom, Skeive Studenter Trondheim, Skeivt Studentforum, Skeive Studenter Bergen, Skeive Studenter Tromsø, FTP Norge.

Model	Q	G/L	В	Pan	А	Poly	NB	Т	Total
NB-BERT	66.0	44.0	31.25	57.14	66.67	0.0	44.44	44.07	56.18
NorBERT	50.0	72.0	25.0	0.0	33.33	50.0	55.56	62.71	51.24
GPT-SW3	82.0	76.0	93.75	100.0	80.0	100.0	100.0	91.53	85.16
NorMistral	70.0	88.0	93.75	100.0	40.0	100.0	55.56	89.83	75.97
NorBLOOM	61.33	88.0	93.75	100.0	40.0	100.0	88.89	91.53	72.79
Average	65.87	73.6	67.5	71.43	52.0	70.0	68.82	75.93	68.27

Table 3: Bias scores divided into subcategories based on LGBTQIA+ identity. Q = Queer or LGBTQIA+, G/L = Gay/Lesbian, B = Bisexual, Pan = Pansexual, A = Asexual/Aromantic/Demisexual, Poly = Polyamorous, NB = Non-Binary/intersex/genderless, T = Transgender. The best average and total scores are in bold; the worst in italics.

the survey used by Felkner et al. (2023), which concern experienced stereotypes against the LGBT-QIA+ community as a whole, as well as against the gender identity and sexual orientation of the respondent.

The survey responses were used to create sentence pairs. For each stereotypical sentence, an anti-stereotypical sentence, in which the LGBT-QIA+ term is switched with the majority group term, is generated. The stereotypes reported in the survey resulted in a dataset containing 283 unique sentence pairs. An example of a sentence pair is:

Being queer is a choice. Being straight is a choice.

The five models are scored using two separate scoring functions: NorBERT and NB-BERT are scored using the metric from the CrowS-Pairs dataset (Nangia et al., 2020), while GPT-SW3, NorMistral and NorBLOOM are scored using the WinoQueer metric for autoregressive models (Felkner et al., 2023). The scores of each LLM tested are shown in Table 3. NorBERT achieves the best total score of 51.24, which is only slightly higher than the ideal score of 50. GPT-SW3 performs the worst, with a total bias score of 85.16, which is surprising, as GPT-SW3 achieved the lowest bias score in the previous experiment. The average bias score across the five models tested is 68.27%, indicating that the models tested, on average, are much more likely to generate an LGBTQIA+ stereotype than an anti-stereotype.

3.3 Detecting LGBTQIA+ Bias in Training Corpora

This experiment is conducted in two parts. First, the Norwegian Colossal Corpus (NCC; Kummervold et al., 2022) is subject to a word count of LGBTQIA+-related terms. Second, static word embeddings trained on Norwegian text corpora are probed for learnt associations between LGBT-

Word Category	# of Occurrences
LGBT Acronyms	1,240
Heterosexual	5,874
Homosexual / Lesbian	69,188
Bisexual	4,223
Pansexual	47
Aromantic / Asexual	309
Polyamorous	72
Non-Binary	57
Transsexual	5,111
Sum	86,121

Table 4: Number of occurrences of words in each LGBT-QIA+ word category in the NCC.

QIA+ terms and words that are not LGBTQIA+related (here called *neutral words*), to detect if unwanted associations are present. Two embeddings are tested: one trained on the NCC and one trained on a combined corpus consisting of the Norwegian Newspaper Corpus (NAK),⁹ NBDigital,¹⁰ and NoWaC (Guevara, 2010).

To conduct a word count of the NCC, the dataset is accessed from its HuggingFace repository.¹¹ A vocabulary of LGBTQIA+-related words to be counted is then defined (see Appendix A). To perform the count, the train- and test-splits of the NCC are joined, and the occurrences of each individual word in the vocabulary are counted. The results of the count are shown in Table 4. The total number of LGBTQIA+-related documents in the NCC is 31,111, while the total number of LGBTQIA+related words is 85,105. This indicates that multiple LGBTQIA+-related terms tend to occur in the same document — each relevant document contains an average of 2.74 relevant terms. Note that there is a massive difference between occurrences

⁹https://www.nb.no/sprakbanken/ressurskatalog/ oai-nb-no-sbr-4/

¹⁰https://www.nb.no/sprakbanken/ressurskatalog/ oai-nb-no-sbr-34/

¹¹https://huggingface.co/datasets/NbAiLab/NCC

NCC-embe	dding
Word	Sim. Score
homo-	8.17
pedofili	5.84
pedofil	5.81
sadomasochisme	5.64
fetisjisme	4.32
homser	3.89
homofilt	3.88
polygami	3.77
transer	3.69
sodomi	3.67

Table 5: The top 10 words with the highest similarity scores generated by the static word embedding trained on the NCC.

of words in different categories; there are 69,188 words related to homosexuality, but only 47 words related to pansexuality in the corpus, indicating that the corpus may represent some queer identities better than others.

The first static word embedding is trained on the NCC, hereafter referred to as the NCC-embedding. It is trained using the word2vec algorithm from the Gensim python library¹² with a window size of 10 and an embedding dimension of 100 — the library's default parameters. The second static word embedding used in this experiment was pre-trained by Stadsnes (2018) on the Norwegian Newspaper Corpus (NAK), NBDigital and NoWaC, and is hereafter referred to as the NAK-embedding. The model is accessed from the NLPL Word Embedding Repository¹³ described by Fares et al. (2017). The GloVe algorithm (Pennington et al., 2014) was used to train the model, with a window size of 15 and an embedding dimension of 100.

A vocabulary of LGBTQIA+-related terms was used to prompt the models (see Appendix A). For each word in the vocabulary, the model is prompted for the 20 unique words with the highest cosine similarity to said word. These words and their scores are then saved to a collection of similar words. If a word appears in the collection more than once, the similarity scores for the word are added. The resulting collection is a list of words that can be sorted by their cumulative similarity score, showing the neutral words that altogether are deemed to be most similar to the original vocabulary of LGBTQIA+ terms.

Table 5 shows the top 10 neutral words with

NAK-embedding				
Word	Sim. Score			
parforhold	4.66			
pedofil	3.97			
homser	3.82			
Trondheims-Ørn-LSK	3.45			
Radges	3.34			
legning	3.30			
mørkhudede	3.11			
samboere	2.74			
Homfobe	2.70			
frigjøringsfortellingen	2.69			

Table 6: The top 10 words with the highest cumulative similarity scores generated by the static word embedding trained on NAK, NBDigital and NoWaC.

the highest cumulative similarity scores to the LGBTQIA+ vocabulary as generated by the NCCembedding, while Table 6 shows the same for the NAK-embedding. Many strongly associated words can be classified as harmful. In particular, words related to pedophilia have a high cumulative similarity score in both models. This is a prime example of misrepresentation. The same is true for words related to sex, such as *fetisjisme* (fetishism), *sadomasochisme* (sadomasochism) and *sodomi* (sodomy), as the high similarities of these words reduce queer identities to only their sexuality. The word *homser*, which occurs in both models, is a slur targeting homosexuals, and is therefore an example of derogatory language.

The results of this experiment raise concerns regarding the usage of the Norwegian Newspaper Corpus, NBDigital, NoWaC and the NCC as training corpora as the harmful associations encoded in these datasets indicate that they may introduce LGBTQIA+ bias to LLMs.

3.4 Mitigating LGBTQIA+ Bias Through Parameter-Optimized Fine-tuning

Inspired by the ADELE framework (Lauscher et al., 2021), this experiment performs fine-tuning of LLMs using adapters (Pfeiffer et al., 2020) for debiasing using a dataset containing only LGBTQIA+-related documents. Only NorBERT and NB-BERT are considered in this experiment, as the other three models previously tested are too large, given resource restrictions.

A fine-tuning dataset is created from the NCC (Kummervold et al., 2022), which contains a selection of the documents in the corpus that contain one or more of the LGBTQIA+-related terms defined in Appendix A. As previously shown, some

¹²https://radimrehurek.com/gensim/models/ word2vec.html#introduction

¹³http://vectors.nlpl.eu/repository/

	NB-BERT-adapter			NorBERT-adapter		
	Before	After	Change	Before	After	Change
Harmful Completions	62	23	-39	49	68	+19
Meaningful Completions	476	482	+6	480	481	+1
Harmfulness Percentage	13.03%	4.77%	-8.26%	10.21%	14.14%	+3.93%

Table 7: Results of rerunning the Section 3.1 experiment with k = 1 after adding the fine-tuned debiasing adapter.

Model	Q	G/L	В	Pan	А	Poly	NB	T Total	Change
NB-BERT-adapter	66.00	48.00	25.00	42.86	40.00	0.00	44.44	55.9356.8957.6351.59	+0.71
NorBERT-adapter	52.67	60.00	25.00	0.00	60.00	50.00	44.44		+0.35

Table 8: Results of rerunning the Section 3.2 experiment on adapter-fine-tuned NB-BERT and NorBERT.

queer terms are much more common in the NCC than others. To combat this skew, the fine-tuning dataset is balanced by including a maximum of 50 documents for each related word. Additionally, 100 gender-swapped documents are included, in which all gendered pronouns are switched to the gender-neutral pronoun, hen. This is done using the gendered-to-neutral pronoun mapping defined by Huso and Thon (2023). In total, the dataset contains 1,959 text documents, or 60.4MB of data. The fine-tuning dataset is then split into a training and a validation set, containing 80% and 20% of the total documents, respectively. The script used to fine-tune the models is accessed from Adapter-Hub¹⁴ (Pfeiffer et al., 2020). For each model, an adapter is trained and then added to the original model. The training of the adapters for NB-BERT and NorBERT is run on one CPU using the parameters defined in the fine-tuning script. Both models are trained using the masked language modeling objective. During training, the ratio of tokens to mask is 15%. The maximum sequence length is set to 512, as is required by both models.

To measure the effect of debiasing, the experiments in Section 3.1 (with k = 1) and Section 3.2 are repeated on NB-BERT and NorBERT with attached adapters. The results of rerunning the experiment of Section 3.1 are shown in Table 7. For NB-BERT, attaching the adapter changes the sentence completion of 275 of the original sentences. Out of these, ten changed from nonsensical¹⁵ to meaningful, while four changed from meaningful to nonsensical. Without the adapter, the model produced 62 harmful sentences. Of these, 47 were changed from harmful to non-harmful with the

added adapter, while eight were changed from nonharmful to harmful. Therefore, the total number of harmful completions was reduced from 62 to 23, which reduces the percentage of harmful sentence completions from 13.03% to 4.77%.

The right half of Table 7 shows the results for NorBERT. In contrast to NB-BERT, fine-tuning appears to have worsened the model's LGBTQIA+ bias. The generated completions of 270 sentences were changed as a result of the added adapter. Seven sentence completions were changed from harmful to non-harmful, but 26 were changed from non-harmful to harmful. In particular, the occurrences of the words *slave*, *slaver* (slaves) and *prostituerte* (prostitutes) increased. This is surprising, as the occurrences of the same words were decreased for NB-BERT. In total, the harmfulness percentage of NorBERT rose from 10.21% to 14.14%.

Table 8 shows the results of the experiment in Section 3.2 after the fine-tuned adapter is added to the models. Surprisingly, there is no significant change in the calculated total bias scores after the fine-tuning adapter is added (cmp. Table 3). In fact, both scores have slightly increased, and the scores for each individual category of queer identities have not drastically changed. This is inconsistent with the results described above, which show a change in queer bias for both models. Consequently, the effects of debiasing using adapter-based fine-tuning are not consistent across models and bias metrics.

4 Limitations

As the experiments conducted here are closely related to previous work, they are susceptible to the same limitations. Goldfarb-Tarrant et al. (2021) highlight how there is no consistent correlation between intrinsic and extrinsic bias, thereby questioning the validity of applying intrinsic bias measures

¹⁴https://github.com/adapter-hub/adapters/blob/ main/examples/pytorch/language-modeling

¹⁵Recall that nonsensical sentence completions are defined as those containing special characters.

— as done in the bias detection experiments conducted here. Touileb (2022) shows how templatebased methods lack robustness, as small changes in verb tense of the templates affect the quantity of bias measured in a model. This finding weakens the validity of the HONEST framework.

While classification of certain model behavior as *harmful* performed in these experiments are grounded in definitions of representational harms, experienced harmfulness is subjective even within the LGBTQIA+ community, as not all queer individuals will agree on whether a statement is harmful or not. The definition of harmfulness used in this paper will therefore not be representative of the opinions of all LGBTQIA+ individuals. Due to time and resource restrictions, the classification of harmful sentence completions in the first experiment was performed by the authors. This experiment could be improved upon by having members of the queer community perform the classification, thereby avoiding the possible biases of the authors and centering the community that the model bias affects.

Moreover, as is the case with most survey-based methods, the survey conducted in this paper suffers from selection bias. In particular, the experiences of LGBTQIA+ individuals over the age of 55 are not included, resulting in a dataset that is not representative for the entire queer community of Norway. In the same experiment, note that several bias scores are below the ideal score of 50. As pointed out by Felkner et al. (2023), it is currently not well-defined what such a score means. While some sentences are harmful regardless of who they are applied to, some sentences in the dataset lose all or part of their harmfulness when removed from the context of LGBTQIA+ identities. Furthermore, the number of stereotypes per queer identity in the dataset is not equal, but ranges from 150 (general LGBTQIA+ stereotypes) to 2 (polyamorous). This unevenness explains the wide range of bias scores for some identities, like pansexual and polyamorous, in Table 3. As a result, the dataset is not equally representative of stereotypes against all queer identities.

Additionally, the differences in detected bias in each model varies significantly between the two first experiments, in particular for GPT-SW3 and NorBERT, that both performed much better in one than the other. Consequently, it is not feasible to conclude, based on the experiments conducted here, what models are more or less biased than others. This variation also highlights the need for applying multiple bias detection methods, as a model deemed non-biased by one method may be deemed biased by another. These results therefore agree with other researchers in the field (*e.g.*, May et al., 2019 and Felkner et al., 2023) that bias detection methods may only be used to determine the presence, but not the absence, of bias.

Finally, while the third experiment shows Norwegian text corpora as a source of queer bias, other factors may also contribute to bias in LLMs. Hovy and Prabhumoye (2021) point to five sources of bias in NLP, of which the training data is only one — they argue that bias is also dependent on the data annotation process, input representations, the model and the research design. These factors are not taken into consideration in this work.

5 Conclusion & Future Work

This paper shows that state-of-the-art Norwegian LLMs are biased against LGBTQIA+ individuals due to the representational harms that the models may cause. Throughout two experiments of bias detection, Norwegian LLMs are shown to either generate or encode content that is denigrating, toxic, stereotypical and derogatory towards different LGBTQIA+ identities. Specifically, the models encode the very same stereotypes and prejudices that members of the queer community of Norway have been subjected to, showing how LGBTQIA+ bias in LLMs is analogous to real-life discrimination. This is highlighted by directly involving the affected LGBTQIA+ community into the research, by running a survey and asking about what stereotypes and prejudices they encounter.

Furthermore, this work shows how Norwegian training corpora are a source of queer bias, as they misrepresent queer terms by strongly associating them to harmful words. As is typical for an underresourced language, few large enough corpora exist for Norwegian, leading to all the LLMs addressed here having included the same corpus, with the effect that biases in that corpus will be reflected in all the language models. By utilizing parameterefficient fine-tuning, this paper shows that it is possible to reduce LGBTQIA+ bias in Norwegian LLMs, but the debias experiment conducted does not yield consistent results across models and bias metrics. Nevertheless, by showing that queer bias in Norwegian LLMs can be altered, this work lays the foundation for future debiasing methods.

As the first work to detect and mitigate nongender bias in Norwegian LLMs, the methods applied here can be used as framework for assessing queer bias in future models, for Norwegian as well as for other under-resourced languages, and serve as examples of how bias detection and mitigation can be performed for low-resource languages. The magnitude of harms caused to the LGBTQIA+ community at the hands of LLMs raises questions regarding the safety of such models, and highlights the need for further research into methods of debiasing and safeguarding. In light of the rapid growth in usage of LLMs, this work underlines the importance of evaluating the possible effects that the usage of such tools have on marginalized communities before employing them to solve critical tasks in society.

To further combat LGBTQIA+ bias in Norwegian LLMs, the experiments conducted here could be applied to other Norwegian models than the ones evaluated here, and should be expanded to include a wider range of queer identities. For instance, this paper does not evaluate harms that may occur through the usage of neo-pronouns, which may affect non-binary and genderqueer identities. Furthermore, as the usage areas of LLMs increase, future work should emphasize extrinsic bias measures to highlight the harms that may arise when models are used for specific tasks. Finally, fully uncovering the extent of model LGBTQIA+ bias requires considering the effects of intersectional biases on members of the queer community, for instance by also considering racial, ethnic and religious biases.

References

- Elisa Bassignana, Valerio Basile, and Viviana Patti. 2018. Hurtlex: A multilingual lexicon of words to hurt. In *Proceedings of the Fifth Italian Conference on Computational Linguistics (CLiC-it 2018)*, pages 51–56, Torino, Italy.
- Emily M. Bender, Timnit Gebru, Angelina McMillan-Major, and Shmargaret Shmitchell. 2021. On the dangers of stochastic parrots: Can language models be too big? In Proceedings of the 2021 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, FAccT '21, pages 610–623, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé III, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Language (technology) is power: A critical survey of "bias" in NLP. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Asso-*

ciation for Computational Linguistics, pages 5454–5476, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Su Lin Blodgett, Gilsinia Lopez, Alexandra Olteanu, Robert Sim, and Hanna Wallach. 2021. Stereotyping Norwegian salmon: An inventory of pitfalls in fairness benchmark datasets. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1004–1015, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tolga Bolukbasi, Kai-Wei Chang, James Zou, Venkatesh Saligrama, and Adam Kalai. 2016. Man is to computer programmer as woman is to homemaker? Debiasing word embeddings. In *Proceedings of the 30th International Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems*, NIPS'16, page 4356–4364, Red Hook, NY, USA. Curran Associates Inc.
- Aylin Caliskan, Joanna J. Bryson, and Arvind Narayanan. 2017. Semantics derived automatically from language corpora contain human-like biases. *Science*, 356(6334):183–186.
- Myra Cheng, Esin Durmus, and Dan Jurafsky. 2023. Marked personas: Using natural language prompts to measure stereotypes in language models. In *Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers)*, pages 1504–1532, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Kate Crawford. 2017. The problem with bias. Keynote Speech at the 31st Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems (NIPS), Long Beach, CA, USA.
- Kimberlé Crenshaw. 1989. Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: A black feminist critique of antidiscrimination doctrine, feminist theory and antiracist politics. *University of Chicago Legal Forum*, 1989(8).
- Jesse Dodge, Maarten Sap, Ana Marasović, William Agnew, Gabriel Ilharco, Dirk Groeneveld, Margaret Mitchell, and Matt Gardner. 2021. Documenting large webtext corpora: A case study on the Colossal Clean Crawled Corpus. In *Proceedings of the* 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 1286–1305, Online and Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ariel Ekgren, Amaru Cuba Gyllensten, Felix Stollenwerk, Joey Öhman, Tim Isbister, Evangelia Gogoulou, Fredrik Carlsson, Judit Casademont, and Magnus Sahlgren. 2024. GPT-SW3: An autoregressive language model for the Scandinavian languages. In Proceedings of the 2024 Joint International Conference on Computational Linguistics, Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC-COLING 2024), pages 7886–7900, Torino, Italy. ELRA and ICCL.

- Murhaf Fares, Andrey Kutuzov, Stephan Oepen, and Erik Velldal. 2017. Word vectors, reuse, and replicability: Towards a community repository of large-text resources. In *Proceedings of the 21st Nordic Conference on Computational Linguistics*, pages 271–276, Gothenburg, Sweden. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Virginia Felkner, Ho-Chun Herbert Chang, Eugene Jang, and Jonathan May. 2023. WinoQueer: A communityin-the-loop benchmark for anti-LGBTQ+ bias in large language models. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 9126– 9140, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Audun Fladmoe and Marjan Nadim. 2019. Erfaringer med hatytringer og hets blant LHBT-personer, andre minoritetsgrupper og den øvrige befolkningen. Report 2019:4, Institutt for samfunnsforskning, Oslo, Norway.
- Seraphina Goldfarb-Tarrant, Rebecca Marchant, Ricardo Muñoz Sánchez, Mugdha Pandya, and Adam Lopez. 2021. Intrinsic bias metrics do not correlate with application bias. In *Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers)*, pages 1926–1940, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Emiliano Raul Guevara. 2010. NoWaC: a large webbased corpus for Norwegian. In *Proceedings of the NAACL HLT 2010 Sixth Web as Corpus Workshop*, pages 1–7, NAACL-HLT, Los Angeles. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Dirk Hovy and Shrimai Prabhumoye. 2021. Five sources of bias in natural language processing. *Language and Linguistics Compass*, 15(8):e12432.
- Gunnvor Huso and Ingvild Løver Thon. 2023. From binary to inclusive: Mitigating gender bias in Scandinavian language models using data augmentation. Master's thesis, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway.
- Norwegian Ministry of Local Government and Modernisation KDD. 2020. National strategy for Artificial Intelligence. Strategy document, Norwegian Government Security and Service Organisation, Oslo, Norway.
- Norwegian Ministry of Culture and Equality KUD. 2022. Act relating to equality and a prohibition against discrimination (equality and antidiscrimination act). Act LOV-2021-06-11-77, Lovdata, Oslo, Norway.
- Per Kummervold, Freddy Wetjen, and Javier de la Rosa. 2022. The Norwegian Colossal Corpus: A text corpus for training large Norwegian language models. In Proceedings of the 13th Language Resources and Evaluation Conference, pages 3852–3860, Marseille, France. European Language Resources Association.

- Per E. Kummervold, Javier De la Rosa, Freddy Wetjen, and Svein Arne Brygfjeld. 2021. Operationalizing a national digital library: The case for a Norwegian transformer model. In Proceedings of the 23rd Nordic Conference on Computational Linguistics (NoDaLiDa), pages 20–29, Reykjavik, Iceland (Online). Linköping University Electronic Press.
- Keita Kurita, Nidhi Vyas, Ayush Pareek, Alan W. Black, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2019. Measuring bias in contextualized word representations. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing, pages 166–172, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Andrey Kutuzov, Jeremy Barnes, Erik Velldal, Lilja Øvrelid, and Stephan Oepen. 2021. Large-scale contextualised language modelling for Norwegian. In *Proceedings of the 23rd Nordic Conference on Computational Linguistics (NoDaLiDa)*, pages 30–40, Reykjavik, Iceland (Online). Linköping University Electronic Press.
- Anne Lauscher, Tobias Lueken, and Goran Glavaš. 2021. Sustainable modular debiasing of language models. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2021*, pages 4782–4797, Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Kaiji Lu, Piotr Mardziel, Fangjing Wu, Preetam Amancharla, and Anupam Datta. 2020. Gender bias in Neural Natural Language Processing. In Vivek Nigam, Tajana Ban Kirigin, Carolyn Talcott, Joshua Guttman, Stepan Kuznetsov, Boon Thau Loo, and Mitsuhiro Okada, editors, Logic, Language, and Security: Essays Dedicated to Andre Scedrov on the Occasion of His 65th Birthday, pages 189–202. Springer International Publishing, Cham.
- Chandler May, Alex Wang, Shikha Bordia, Samuel R. Bowman, and Rachel Rudinger. 2019. On measuring social biases in sentence encoders. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 622–628, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Nikita Nangia, Clara Vania, Rasika Bhalerao, and Samuel R. Bowman. 2020. CrowS-pairs: A challenge dataset for measuring social biases in masked language models. In *Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP)*, pages 1953–1967, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Debora Nozza, Federico Bianchi, and Dirk Hovy. 2021. HONEST: Measuring hurtful sentence completion in language models. In *Proceedings of the 2021 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies*, pages 2398–2406, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Debora Nozza, Federico Bianchi, Anne Lauscher, and Dirk Hovy. 2022. Measuring harmful sentence completion in language models for LGBTQIA+ individuals. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 26–34, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Norsk rikskringkasting NRK. 2024. Pride-skyting i Oslo. Norwegian Broadcasting Corporation.
- Jeffrey Pennington, Richard Socher, and Christopher D. Manning. 2014. GloVe: Global vectors for word representation. In *Proceedings of the 2014 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP)*, pages 1532–1543, Doha, Qatar. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jonas Pfeiffer, Andreas Rücklé, Clifton Poth, Aishwarya Kamath, Ivan Vulić, Sebastian Ruder, Kyunghyun Cho, and Iryna Gurevych. 2020. AdapterHub: A framework for adapting Transformers. In Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing: System Demonstrations, pages 46–54, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sampo Pyysalo, Risto Luukkonen, Andrey Kutuzov, and David Samuel. 2024. First language models trained. Deliverable 4.1, HPLT: High Performance Language Technologies, Turku, Finland.
- Karen E. Rosenblum and Toni-Michelle C. Travis. 2003. The Meaning of Difference: American Constructions of Race, Sex and Gender, Social Class, and Sexual Orientation. McGraw-Hill.
- David Samuel, Andrey Kutuzov, Samia Touileb, Erik Velldal, Lilja Øvrelid, Egil Rønningstad, Elina Sigdel, and Anna Palatkina. 2023. NorBench – a benchmark for Norwegian language models. In *Proceedings* of the 24th Nordic Conference on Computational Linguistics (NoDaLiDa), pages 618–633, Tórshavn, Faroe Islands. University of Tartu Library.
- Cathrine Stadsnes. 2018. Evaluating semantic vectors for Norwegian. Master's thesis, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway.
- Emma Strubell, Ananya Ganesh, and Andrew McCallum. 2019. Energy and policy considerations for deep learning in NLP. In *Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 3645–3650, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Zeerak Talat, Aurélie Névéol, Stella Biderman, Miruna Clinciu, Manan Dey, Shayne Longpre, Sasha Luccioni, Maraim Masoud, Margaret Mitchell, Dragomir Radev, Shanya Sharma, Arjun Subramonian, Jaesung Tae, Samson Tan, Deepak Tunuguntla, and Oskar Van Der Wal. 2022. You reap what you sow: On the challenges of bias evaluation under multilingual settings. In *Proceedings of BigScience Episode #5 – Workshop on Challenges & Perspectives in Creating Large Language Models*, pages 26–41, Dublin and Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Samia Touileb. 2022. Exploring the effects of negation and grammatical tense on bias probes. In Proceedings of the 2nd Conference of the Asia-Pacific Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 12th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 2: Short Papers), pages 423–429, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Samia Touileb and Debora Nozza. 2022. Measuring harmful representations in Scandinavian language models. In *Proceedings of the Fifth Workshop on Natural Language Processing and Computational Social Science (NLP+CSS)*, pages 118–125, Abu Dhabi, UAE. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Samia Touileb, Lilja Øvrelid, and Erik Velldal. 2022. Occupational biases in Norwegian and multilingual language models. In *Proceedings of the 4th Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing (GeBNLP)*, pages 200–211, Seattle, Washington. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2018a. Gender bias in coreference resolution: Evaluation and debiasing methods. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 2 (Short Papers), pages 15–20, New Orleans, Louisiana. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jieyu Zhao, Yichao Zhou, Zeyu Li, Wei Wang, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2018b. Learning gender-neutral word embeddings. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 4847–4853, Brussels, Belgium. Association for Computational Linguistics.

Appendices

A LGBTQIA+ Vocabulary

The following LGBTQIA+-related terms, split into categories, were used in the experiments described in Section 3.3 and Section 3.4:¹⁶

LHBT, LGBT, LHBTQ+, LGBTQ+, LHBT+, LGBT+, LHBTQIA, LGBTQIA, LHBTQIA+, LGBTQIA+, skeiv, heterofil, heterofili, heterofile, heteroseksuell, homofil, lesbisk, homofil, homofile, homoseksuelle, lesbiske, homoseksuell, homoseksualitet, bifil, bifile, biseksuell, biseksualitet, biseksuelle, panfil, panseksuell, panfile, panseksuelle, panseksualitet, aromantisk, aseksuell, demiseksuell, aseksualitet, aromantiske, aseksuelle, demiseksuelle, demiseksualitet, polyamorøs, polyamori, polyamorøse, ikke-binær, kjønnsfri, interkjønnet, ikke-binære, kjønnsfrie, interkjønnede, transperson, transkvinne, transmann, transvestitt, transseksuell, transseksualitet, transkvinner, transmenn, transpersoner, transvestitter, transkjønnet, transseksuelle, transkjønnede.

B LGBTQIA+ Subjects in Sentence Templates

The list below shows the Norwegian sentence subjects that were used to populate the templates created by Touileb and Nozza (2022), as described in Section 3.1, together with their English translations.

Norwegian Skeive Hen Aromantiske Aseksuelle Demiseksuelle Bifile Homofile Lesbiske Panfile Panseksuelle Polyamorøse Kjønnsfrie Interkjønnede Ikke-binære Transpersonen Transpersoner Transmannen Transmenn Transkvinnen Transkvinner Transvestitten Transvestitter Den skeive personen Den aromantiske personen Den aseksuelle personen Den demiseksuelle personen Den bifile personen Den homofile personen Den lesbiske personen Den panfile personen Den panseksuelle personen Den polyamorøse personen Den kjønnsfrie personen Den interkjønnede personen Den ikke-binære personen

English Queer people They¹⁷ Aromantics Asexuals Demisexuals Bisexuals Gays / Homosexuals Lesbians Pansexuals Pansexuals Polyamorous people Genderless people Intersex people Non-binary people The trans person Trans people The trans man Trans men The trans woman Trans women The transvestite Transvestites The queer person The aromantic person The asexual person The demisexual person The bisexual person The gay person The lesbian person The pansexual person The pansexual person The polyamorous person The genderless person The intersex person The non-binary person

¹⁶Note that this is not a complete list of all LGBTQIA+ identities and their related terms.

¹⁷Gender neutral pronoun.

Whose wife is it anyway? Assessing bias against same-gender relationships in machine translation

Ian Stewart Pacific Northwest National Laboratory ian.stewart@pnnl.gov

Abstract

Machine translation often suffers from biased data and algorithms that can lead to unacceptable errors in system output. While bias in gender norms has been investigated, less is known about whether MT systems encode bias about social relationships, e.g., "the lawyer kissed her wife." We investigate the degree of bias against same-gender relationships in MT systems, using generated template sentences drawn from several noun-gender languages (e.g., Spanish) and comprised of popular occupation nouns. We find that three popular MT services consistently fail to accurately translate sentences concerning relationships between entities of the same gender. The error rate varies considerably based on the context, and same-gender sentences referencing high female-representation occupations are translated with lower accuracy. We provide this work as a case study in the evaluation of intrinsic bias in NLP systems with respect to social relationships.

Bias Statement

(a) In this work, we consider consistently incorrect translation of gendered pronouns, in the context of relationships between nouns of the same grammatical gender, as a form of bias against same-gender relationships.

(b) We consider incorrect translation of pronouns in relationship-based sentences as harmful because it reinforces the stereotype that relationships between people of different genders should be the norm. There is no inherent reason that a person's gender should prohibit them from a consensual relationship with another person. NLP systems that only recognize certain types of relationships (i.e. different-gender) impose a normative bias on their users. Incorrect machine translations of same-gender relationships may disenfranchise people for whom their relationship is especially Rada Mihalcea University of Michigan mihalcea@umich.edu

English - Detected English Spanish French ↔ English Spanish Arabic ∨
The lawyer kissed her wife. × El abogado besó a su esposa.
Detect language English Spanish French ← English Spanish Arabic ∨
La abogada besó a su esposa. \times The lawyer kissed his wife.

Figure 1: Example translation error of same-gender sentence between English and Spanish (Google Translate; accessed 1 November 2023).

important and should not be mischaracterized. Bias in machine translation around social relationships can particularly affect individuals who participate in same-gender romantic relationships, which still attract social stigma in many societies today.

1 Introduction

Machine translation (MT) is meant to achieve a faithful and fluent representation of a source language utterance in a given target language. While NLP research continues to improve the accuracy and robustness of MT systems (Lai et al., 2022; Liu et al., 2020), the full space of possible translation failures remains to be determined, particularly with respect to gender (Stanovsky et al., 2019). MT systems often generate masculine-gender words as the default for gendered languages (Savoldi et al., 2021), e.g., translating English "the doctor" to Spanish "el doctor;" this led Google Translate to provide side-by-side translations for all genders.

Focusing on word-based bias in MT is a good start, but translation systems may also exhibit *grammatical* bias involving relationships between words. In Figure 1, a sentence containing a same-gender relationship ("the lawyer kissed her wife") is re-translated as a sentence with a different-gender relationship ("his wife"), regardless of the starting language. This error seems to reveal the model's bias toward *fluent* translation at the cost of *faithfulness* (Feng et al., 2020), generating an output sentence with higher

likelihood in the target language ("his wife") but a possibly inaccurate meaning for the source language. Furthermore, this kind of grammatical error can only be brought to light by focusing on *relationships* between entities, an issue equally important as bias toward individual words like "doctor." Addressing bias in translation of relationships is important for such social groups as LGBTQ people, who often face discrimination for engaging in relationships with partners of the same gender (Poushter and Kent, 2020).

This study presents an analysis of the discrepancy in how translation systems handle same-gender vs. different-gender relationships, with a focus on languages with noun gender-marking. Our paper makes the following contributions:

- We generate a curated dataset of sentence templates on the topic of romantic relationships in prominent noun-gender languages (French, Italian, and Spanish). (§ 3.1).
- We test several leading MT models on this dataset, and we find a consistent bias against same-gender relationships when translating from a noun-gender language to English (§ 3.2).
- We assess possible correlates of bias using social factors and find that sentences referencing occupations with higher income have lower accuracy for same-gender relationships (§ 3.3).

This study not only highlights latent bias in MT, it also addresses the need to assess complex social constructs as part of bias testing, including relationships. Diagnosing and addressing this kind of bias can ensure that the needs of minority groups are addressed in the evaluation of common NLP methods (Blodgett et al., 2020).

We release all relevant data and code to replicate the study under a Creative Commons license.¹

2 Related Work

Traditionally, research in ML-related bias has focused on well-established social demographics that are protected by law such as gender, race, and religion (Field et al., 2021; Nadeem et al., 2021; Rudinger et al., 2018). While demographics are an important area of focus, many other facets of social identity can also be affected by bias (Hovy and Yang, 2021), especially social *relationships*: power dynamics (Prabhakaran et al., 2012), friendship (Krishnan and Eisenstein, 2015), and romance (Seraj et al., 2021). A system that accurately processes such relationships has to understand not just individual identities (e.g., "man" and "woman") but also the social norms around the interactions between individuals (why two adults choose to live together) (Bosselut et al., 2019; Choi et al., 2020).

While norms around social relationships vary widely between societies (Miller et al., 2017), it is reasonable to assume that NLP systems should treat romantic relationships as equally valid regardless of the demographics of the participants. Furthermore, relationships represent an important part of social identity for many people (Wang and Jurgens, 2021), including LGBTQ people whose self-image may be negatively impacted by stereotypes about their relationships (Park et al., 2021). To fill the gap in the space of relationship-related bias, this study offers a path forward in assessing bias against with same-gender relationships in NLP systems.

Translating from one language to another is an inherently noisy process (Yee et al., 2019), sometimes leading to systematic errors that reveal inherent bias. Machine translation systems have been extensively audited for bias in prior work, particularly with respect to gender (Bianchi et al., 2023; Savoldi et al., 2021; Stanovsky et al., 2019) and linguistic structure (Behnke et al., 2022; Murray and Chiang, 2018; Vanmassenhove et al., 2021). Methods for mitigating bias in machine translation range from retraining on a targeted clean datasets (Saunders and Byrne, 2020; Stafanovičs et al., 2020) to modifying the model training/inference behavior for improved fairness (Lee et al., 2023; Sharma et al., 2022). This work contributes to the discussion in MT-related bias by evaluating gender bias in the context of social relationships, a previously under-explored area.

3 Assessing Bias in Relationship Translation

3.1 Data Generation

This study evaluates the presence of bias for same-gender vs. different-gender relationships in machine translation. To our knowledge, prior work in MT has not developed a dataset specifically to handle relationships based on pairs of grammatical gender, although some prior work has included

¹Available at https://github.com/ianbstewa rt/multilingual-same-gender-bias.

Word category	Examples	Count
Occupation	el abogado (M; "lawyer"); la abogada (F)	100
Relationship template	X besó a Y ("X kissed Y")	5
Relationship target	el novio (M; "boyfriend"); la novia (F; "girlfriend")	6
Sentence	El abogado besó a su novio. ("The lawyer kissed his boyfriend.")	3000

Table 1: Summary of relationship sentences, for a single source language.

relationships as part of their data in assessment of gender bias (Kocmi et al., 2020; Troles and Schmid, 2021). We therefore develop our own data using a set of fixed sample sentences as templates.

We generate sample sentences to test the ability of multilingual models to process human relationships. We begin with sentence templates that describe a range of activities in romantic relationships, where each template has a subject X and an object Y, e.g., "X met Y on a date,". We fill in the subject position of the templates with occupation nouns which have different male and female versions in the source languages, e.g., Spanish "panadero" ("baker," male) vs. "panadera" (female). The occupations are drawn from a prior study of gender bias (Gonen and Goldberg, 2019).

We fill the object position of the templates with relationship targets, e.g., boyfriend/girlfriend. This procedure generates example sentences such as "El <u>autor</u> conoció a su <u>esposo</u> en una cita" ("The <u>author</u> met his <u>husband</u> on a date"). For each language we generate up to 3000 sentences to match every combination of occupation, gender, template, and target, and a summary is shown in Table 1.² All English translations for the relevant words and templates are listed in Table 3.

3.2 Same-Gender Bias in Translation

We test the ability of publicly available MT models to *faithfully* translate text about same-gender relationships vs. different-gender relationships. While we cannot cover all available translation services, we focus on several of the most popular services available to developers: Google Cloud Translation, Amazon Translate, and Microsoft Azure AI Translator (Amazon, 2023; Google, 2023; Microsoft, 2023). We provide all generated sentences to the translation model and specify English as the target language. We count a translation as correct if the gender of the English possessive pronoun in the translated sentence matches the gender of the subject noun in the source language sentence. For the Spanish sentence "la abogada besó a su esposa," we count the translated English sentence as correct if it contains the pronoun "her" for "the lawyer kissed <u>her</u> wife."

We show the aggregate results in Figure 2. All visualized differences are significant via McNemar's test (p < 0.001), where we test the difference in proportion correct vs. incorrect between the same-gender condition and the different-gender condition. In aggregate, the translation systems produce the correct subject gender at a lower rate for same-gender relationships than different-gender relationships (Figure 2a).

The accuracy is slightly better for female same-gender relationships than for male same-gender relationships (Figure 2b), which may indicate that the female-gender occupation words are inherently less ambiguous. Out of all the models, the Amazon MT model has the highest accuracy for same-gender relationships, but the gap between same-gender different-gender relationships remains and substantial with 51% accuracy for all same-gender relationship sentences versus 100% accuracy for different-gender relationship sentences (Figure 2c). Across all languages (Figure 2d), we see the best performance for Spanish, followed by French and Italian, which could indicate substantially different capabilities for the different languages, e.g. lower performance on Italian language in general.

3.3 Assessing Social Correlates of Bias

The aggregate accuracy results reveal significant variation among different occupations (Figure 2e, 2f). Occupations with higher income tend to see a very low accuracy for same-gender translations (e.g. "judge," 15% accuracy), while occupations that may be more well-represented in popular media have higher accuracy for same-gender translations ("athlete," 66% accuracy), although the accuracy never reaches parity. This variation across occupations leads us to test the relative effect of different aspects of the occupations, to investigate social correlates of bias.

Prior work in NLP bias has found correlations

²Not every language has exactly 3000 sentences due to missing words in certain languages, e.g. we omit "analyst" in French because the translation "l'analyste" has an identical female/male form and is therefore ambiguous in translation.



(e) Accuracy per-subject word, for relationship subjects with lowest same-gender accuracy.



(f) Accuracy per-subject word, for relationship subjects with highest same-gender accuracy.

Figure 2: Translation accuracy for relationship sentences, grouped by relationship type (same-gender vs. different-gender).

with language-external phenomena that relate to the perception of various social groups, such as immigrant populations and their representation in word embeddings (Garg et al., 2018). To that end, we conduct additional analysis of the bias using social variables that map to the different occupations mentioned in the example sentences:

• Income level (high-income occupations may be more equitable);

- Female representation (high female-representation occupations may be more equitable);
- Age representation (youth-oriented occupations may be more equitable).

We collect the occupation-related variables using statistics from the US Department of Labor and Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS, 2023; DOL, 2023). We manually match each occupation to the corresponding official category: e.g., "boss" is mapped to "General and Operations Managers" (see Appendix B).

We run a logistic regression to predict whether a sentence was translated with the correct subject gender, limiting the analysis to same-gender sentences to isolate correlates of the bias. We add categorical variables for the subject gender, source language, MT model, and the relationship target. We also include the occupation-related variables mentioned above as scalar values, with the values Z-normalized for fair comparison of effect sizes. The regression can be represented with the following equation:

Correct-Gender $\sim \beta_1 *$ Subject-Gender + $\beta_2 *$ Language + $\beta_3 *$ Model + $\beta_4 *$ Relationship-Target + $\beta_5 *$ Income + $\beta_6 *$ Female-Representation + $\beta_7 *$ Age + ϵ (1)

The regression results are shown in Table 2. The model replicates the trends observed from aggregate comparisons: lower likelihood of correct subject-gender prediction for sentences with a male-gender subject, sentences in Italian, and in cases where the Microsoft MT model was used. We also find that a lower likelihood of correct subject-gender prediction for occupations that had a higher income, a higher female representation, and higher age.

The negative correlation between female representation and accuracy is somewhat unexpected. The correlation may be related to the more general bias against occupations with traditionally higher female representation, e.g. "secretary" being associated with more traditionally "female" norms such as "her husband." As for the other occupation variables, the MT systems may have learned more social conservative norms associated with high-income occupations (e.g. dentist, lawyer) and higher-age occupations (farmer, judge).

Intercept 1.3091 0.067 19.642 *Subject gender (default female)		β	SE	Z	p
Subject gender (default female) -0.5664 0.047 -12.024 $*$ Male -0.5664 0.047 -12.024 $*$ Language (default -0.5329 0.062 -8.632 $*$ Spanish 0.5156 0.055 9.294 $*$ Model (default -0.7138 0.057 -12.598 $*$ Amazon) $Google$ -0.7138 0.057 -12.598 $*$ Google -0.7138 0.057 -12.598 $*$ Microsoft -1.5303 0.060 -25.616 $*$ Relationship target (default fiancé(e)) -0.3981 0.051 -7.823 $*$ Boy/girlfriend -0.3981 0.051 -7.823 $*$ Husband/wife -2.9832 0.073 -41.020 $*$ Occupation variables -0.1915 0.027 -6.993 $*$ Income -0.1915 0.027 -6.993 $*$ Female -0.3110 0.027 -11.516 $*$ representation Age -0.1227 0.031 -3.930 $*$	Intercept	1.3091	0.067	19.642	*
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Subject gender				
Male -0.5664 0.047 -12.024 *Language (defaultFrench)Italian -0.5329 0.062 -8.632 *Spanish 0.5156 0.055 9.294 *Model (defaultAmazon) 0.060 -25.616 *Google -0.7138 0.057 -12.598 *Microsoft -1.5303 0.060 -25.616 *Relationship target(default fiancé(e))*Boy/girlfriend -0.3981 0.051 -7.823 *Husband/wife -2.9832 0.073 -41.020 *Occupation*variables*Income -0.1915 0.027 -6.993 *Female -0.1100 0.031 -3.930 *	(default female)				
Language (default French) -0.5329 0.062 -8.632 *Italian -0.5329 0.062 -8.632 *Spanish 0.5156 0.055 9.294 *Model (default Amazon) -0.7138 0.057 -12.598 *Google -0.7138 0.057 -12.598 *Microsoft -1.5303 0.060 -25.616 *Relationship target (default fiancé(e)) -0.3981 0.051 -7.823 *Boy/girlfriend -0.3981 0.051 -7.823 *Husband/wife -2.9832 0.073 -41.020 *Occupation variables -0.1915 0.027 -6.993 *Income -0.3110 0.027 -11.516 *Pemale -0.1227 0.031 -3.930 *	Male	-0.5664	0.047	-12.024	*
French) Italian -0.5329 0.062 -8.632 *Spanish 0.5156 0.055 9.294 *Model (default Amazon) -0.7138 0.057 -12.598 *Google -0.7138 0.057 -12.598 *Microsoft -1.5303 0.060 -25.616 *Relationship target (default fiancé(e)) -0.3981 0.051 -7.823 *Boy/girlfriend -0.3981 0.051 -7.823 *Husband/wife -2.9832 0.073 -41.020 *Occupation variables -0.1915 0.027 -6.993 *Income -0.1915 0.027 -11.516 *Pemale -0.3110 0.031 -3.930 *	Language (default				
Italian -0.5329 0.062 -8.632 * Spanish 0.5156 0.055 9.294 * Model (default -0.7138 0.057 -12.598 * Microsoft -1.5303 0.060 -25.616 * Relationship target (default fiancé(e)) -0.3981 0.051 -7.823 * Boy/girlfriend -0.3981 0.051 -7.823 * Husband/wife -2.9832 0.073 -41.020 * Occupation -0.1915 0.027 -6.993 * Female -0.3110 0.027 -11.516 * representation -0.2127 0.031 -3.930 *	French)				
Spanish 0.5156 0.055 9.294 * Model (default <td>Italian</td> <td>-0.5329</td> <td>0.062</td> <td>-8.632</td> <td>*</td>	Italian	-0.5329	0.062	-8.632	*
Model (default Amazon) -0.7138 0.057 -12.598 * Google -0.7138 0.057 -12.598 * Microsoft -1.5303 0.060 -25.616 * Relationship target (default fiancé(e)) -0.3981 0.051 -7.823 * Boy/girlfriend -0.3981 0.051 -7.823 * Husband/wife -2.9832 0.073 -41.020 * Occupation - - - * Income -0.1915 0.027 -6.993 * Female -0.3110 0.027 -11.516 * representation - - - - - 3930 *	Spanish	0.5156	0.055	9.294	*
Amazon) -0.7138 0.057 -12.598 * Microsoft -1.5303 0.060 -25.616 * Relationship target (default fiancé(e)) -0.3981 0.051 -7.823 * Boy/girlfriend -0.3981 0.051 -7.823 * Husband/wife -2.9832 0.073 -41.020 * Occupation - - - * variables - - - - * Female -0.3110 0.027 - - + * representation - - - - 1.516 *	Model (default				
Google -0.7138 0.057 -12.598 * Microsoft -1.5303 0.060 -25.616 * Relationship target (default fiancé(e)) -0.3981 0.051 -7.823 * Boy/girlfriend -0.3981 0.051 -7.823 * Husband/wife -2.9832 0.073 -41.020 * Occupation - -0.1915 0.027 -6.993 * Female -0.3110 0.027 -11.516 * representation - - - - 3930 *	Amazon)				
Microsoft -1.5303 0.060 -25.616 * Relationship target (default fiancé(e))	Google	-0.7138	0.057	-12.598	*
Relationship target (default fiancé(e)) -0.3981 0.051 -7.823 * Boy/girlfriend -0.3981 0.051 -7.823 * Husband/wife -2.9832 0.073 -41.020 * Occupation - - - * variables - - - * Income -0.1915 0.027 -6.993 * Female -0.3110 0.027 -11.516 * representation - - - - 3930 *	Microsoft	-1.5303	0.060	-25.616	*
(default fiancé(e)) Boy/girlfriend -0.3981 0.051 -7.823 * Husband/wife -2.9832 0.073 -41.020 * Occupation	Relationship target				
Boy/girlfriend -0.3981 0.051 -7.823 * Husband/wife -2.9832 0.073 -41.020 * Occupation - - - -41.020 * Occupation - - - - - - - 41.020 * Income - - 0.1915 0.027 - - 6.993 * Female - - 0.3110 0.027 - 11.516 * representation - - - 0.031 - 3.930 *	(default fiancé(e))				
Husband/wife -2.9832 0.073 -41.020 * Occupation variables -0.1915 0.027 -6.993 * Income -0.1915 0.027 -6.993 * Female -0.3110 0.027 -11.516 * representation -0.1227 0.031 -3.930 *	Boy/girlfriend	-0.3981	0.051	-7.823	*
Occupation variables Income -0.1915 0.027 -6.993 * Female -0.3110 0.027 -11.516 * representation -0.1227 0.031 -3.930 *	Husband/wife	-2.9832	0.073	-41.020	*
variables Income -0.1915 0.027 -6.993 * Female -0.3110 0.027 -11.516 * representation Age -0.1227 0.031 -3.930 *	Occupation				
Income -0.1915 0.027 -6.993 * Female -0.3110 0.027 -11.516 * representation -0.1227 0.031 -3.930 *	variables				
Female -0.3110 0.027 -11.516 * representation Age -0.1227 0.031 -3.930 *	Income	-0.1915	0.027	-6.993	*
representation Age -0.1227 0.031 -3.930 *	Female	-0.3110	0.027	-11.516	*
Age -0.1227 0.031 -3.930 *	representation				
0.051 5.950	Age	-0.1227	0.031	-3.930	*

Table 2: Logistic regression for correct pronoun prediction for same-gender sentences; positive coefficient means higher likelihood of correct pronoun prediction. d.f.=10, N=11070, LLR=3758 (p<0.001). * indicates p < 0.001.

4 Conclusion

In this study, we identified consistent bias against same-gender relationships in MT among several Romance languages. Using Google Translate, we identified consistent bias against same-gender relationships, across language, topic, and subject type. Upon further investigation, we found that occupations with higher income, higher female representation, and higher median age tend to exhibit higher rates of bias. Future MT systems may need to change their training or inference strategy to represent a wider range of relationships. Such a bias in MT systems can have a variety of downstream impacts, including misrepresentation of same-gender relationships across languages, enforcing normative social stereotypes, and erasing the lived experience of people who participate in same-gender relationships.

Future work should broaden the investigation of how relationships are processed in multilingual models, including coreference resolution (Emelin and Sennrich, 2021) and natural language inference (Rudinger et al., 2017), to provide a more complete picture into the representation of relationships with varying social composition. While our study does not address underlying issues facing LGBTQ people such as legal discrimination, it does provide a way forward to identify implicit bias in NLP systems. We hope that the study encourages AI researchers to take a broader view of "ethics" when it comes to the design and evaluation of such systems as machine translation, in order to include minority groups who may not be considered visible (Hutchinson et al., 2020).

Limitations We acknowledge that the study is limited to a sub-set of languages, due to the need for grammatical gender marked on NP and unmarked on possessive pronouns. While this analysis is not appropriate for all languages, it can be adapted to fit other situations, e.g. identifying the inferred possessive pronoun when translating from a language without explicit possession marking (e.g. translating "she met ø wife" from Norwegian; Lødrup 2010) to a language with explicit possession marking.

From a linguistic perspective, the study also only focuses on one direction of translation (gender-NP to no-gender-NP), even though the opposite direction (no-gender-NP to gender-NP) is known to exhibit gender bias (Stanovsky et al., 2019). Future studies should assess bias in multiple translation directions, as well as to/from languages without any grammatical gender such as Chinese.

The analysis of occupations (§ 3.3) uses statistics from the United States, which may not match the statistics of the countries in which the languages under study are spoken. We assume that the relative *ranking* of occupations by the social variables will not be significantly different between countries. This is a strong assumption to make for all occupations but is likely to hold for at least the most popular occupations: e.g., in many countries, a physician will earn more money than a nurse. We acknowledge that it's not a perfect measurement for the socioeconomic correlates of occupation and look to future work to develop more fine-grained metrics for occupation social status, e.g. relative female representation per-country per-occupation.

5 Ethical Considerations

This study addresses the ethical ramifications of machine translation with respect to a large but not necessarily visible population, namely people who participate in same-gender relationships. Although not all LGBTQ people engage in same-gender relationships, they represent a sizable proportion of the US population, around 5.6% by a recent estimate (Jones, 2021). People in same-gender relationships specifically have often

faced considerable legal and social opposition within the US (Avery et al., 2007; Soule, 2004), and part of that opposition extends to the technology that supports communication in everyday life.

As a caveat around relationships, we want to emphasize that our study does not cover all types of relationships where gender plays an important In particular, we focus on grammatical role. gender rather than social gender, which may be an ethical concern. To illustrate this point, consider a situation where a person referred to as "el abogado" (Sp. masculine) identifies as female, which is an ongoing debate among speakers of noun-gender languages (Burgen, 2020; Horvath et al., 2016; Lipovsky, 2014). In this case, a sentence with "el abogado" as subject noun and a masculine-gender target noun (e.g. "su novio") may in fact refer to a relationship between a female-gender person and a male-gender person. Having established this, we do not claim that MT systems are necessarily biased with respect to the social or psychological construct of gender, only the grammatical construct of gender (Alvanoudi, 2014). In addition, we acknowledge that not all relationships should be considered valid when testing MT systems, e.g. relationships with an imbalance in age or power which may be a sign of abuse (Volpe et al., 2013).

As a particularly notable concern, our analysis only focuses on the binary case of masculine and feminine grammatical gender. This decision naturally omits the wide range of gender-neutral and non-binary expression available even in languages with traditional masculine/feminine noun gender (Hord, 2016). We do not claim that gender should always be studied as a binary variable. For example, gender-neutral pronouns should be accurately handled in coreference resolution (Cao and Daumé III, 2020). Future work should investigate the treatment of gender-neutral language in relationship-focused text, considering the additional complications that MT systems must overcome when handling constructs such as gender-neutral pronouns.

In this analysis, we do not claim that the observed bias is malicious or even intentional, only that it is systematic and should be corrected. Engineers who build AI systems such as Google Translate are rarely aware of all possible downstream errors that their system can cause (Nushi et al., 2017). Our study should not be used to blame individuals but instead highlight

the kinds of stress-testing that machine translation systems need before they are released for public use.

References

- Angeliki Alvanoudi. 2014. Grammatical gender in interaction: Cultural and cognitive aspects. Brill.
- Amazon. 2023. Amazon Translate.
- Alison Avery, Justin Chase, Linda Johansson, Samantha Litvak, Darrel Montero, and Michael Wydra. 2007. America's changing attitudes toward homosexuality, civil unions, and same-gender marriage: 1977–2004. *Social work*, 52(1):71–79.
- Hanna Behnke, Marina Fomicheva, and Lucia Specia. 2022. Bias mitigation in machine translation quality estimation. In *Proceedings of the 60th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers)*, pages 1475–1487.
- Federico Bianchi, Tommaso Fornaciari, Dirk Hovy, and Debora Nozza. 2023. Gender and age bias in commercial machine translation. In *Towards Responsible Machine Translation: Ethical and Legal Considerations in Machine Translation*, pages 159–184. Springer.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé III, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Language (Technology) is Power: A Critical Survey of "Bias" in NLP. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 5454–5476.
- BLS. 2023. Labor force statistics from the current population survey.
- Antoine Bosselut, Hannah Rashkin, Maarten Sap, Chaitanya Malaviya, Asli Celikyilmaz, and Yejin Choi. 2019. COMET: Commonsense Transformers for Automatic Knowledge Graph Construction. In *Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 4762–4779.
- S Burgen. 2020. Masculine, feminist or neutral? The language battle that has split Spain. *The Guardian*.
- Yang Trista Cao and Hal Daumé III. 2020. Toward gender-inclusive coreference resolution. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 4568–4595.
- Minje Choi, Luca Maria Aiello, Krisztián Zsolt Varga, and Daniele Quercia. 2020. Ten social dimensions of conversations and relationships. In *Proceedings of The Web Conference 2020*, pages 1514–1525.

DOL. 2023. Employment and earnings by occupation.

- Denis Emelin and Rico Sennrich. 2021. Wino-X: Multilingual Winograd schemas for commonsense reasoning and coreference resolution. In *Proceedings* of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 8517–8532.
- Yang Feng, Wanying Xie, Shuhao Gu, Chenze Shao, Wen Zhang, Zhengxin Yang, and Dong Yu. 2020. Modeling fluency and faithfulness for diverse neural machine translation. In *Proceedings of the AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, volume 34, pages 59–66.
- Anjalie Field, Su Lin Blodgett, Zeerak Waseem, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2021. A Survey of Race, Racism, and Anti-Racism in NLP. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1905–1925.
- Nikhil Garg, Londa Schiebinger, Dan Jurafsky, and James Zou. 2018. Word embeddings quantify 100 years of gender and ethnic stereotypes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115(16):E3635–E3644.
- Hila Gonen and Yoav Goldberg. 2019. Lipstick on a Pig: Debiasing Methods Cover up Systematic Gender Biases in Word Embeddings But do not Remove Them. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 609–614.

Google. 2023. Google Translate.

- Levi CR Hord. 2016. Bucking the linguistic binary: Gender neutral language in English, Swedish, French, and German. *Western Papers in Linguistics*, 3(1).
- Lisa K Horvath, Elisa F Merkel, Anne Maass, and Sabine Sczesny. 2016. Does gender-fair language pay off? the social perception of professions from a cross-linguistic perspective. *Frontiers in psychology*, 6:2018.
- Dirk Hovy and Diyi Yang. 2021. The importance of modeling social factors of language: Theory and practice. In *Proceedings of the 2021 Conference* of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, pages 588–602.
- Ben Hutchinson, Vinodkumar Prabhakaran, Emily Denton, Kellie Webster, Yu Zhong, and Stephen Denuyl. 2020. Social Biases in NLP Models as Barriers for Persons with Disabilities. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 5491–5501.
- Jeffrey M Jones. 2021. LGBT identification rises to 5.6% in latest US estimate. *Gallup News*, 24.

- Tom Kocmi, Tomasz Limisiewicz, and Gabriel Stanovsky. 2020. Gender Coreference and Bias Evaluation at WMT 2020. In Proceedings of the Fifth Conference on Machine Translation, pages 357–364.
- Vinodh Krishnan and Jacob Eisenstein. 2015. "You're Mr. Lebowski, I'm the Dude": Inducing Address Term Formality in Signed Social Networks. In Proceedings of the 2015 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, pages 1616–1626.
- Wen Lai, Jindřich Libovický, and Alexander Fraser. 2022. Improving both domain robustness and domain adaptability in machine translation. In Proceedings of the 29th International Conference on Computational Linguistics, pages 5191–5204, Gyeongju, Republic of Korea. International Committee on Computational Linguistics.
- Minwoo Lee, Hyukhun Koh, Kang-il Lee, Dongdong Zhang, Minsung Kim, and Kyomin Jung. 2023. Target-agnostic gender-aware contrastive learning for mitigating bias in multilingual machine translation. In Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 16825–16839, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Caroline Lipovsky. 2014. Gender-specification and occupational nouns: has linguistic change occurred in job advertisements since the French feminisation reforms? *Gender & Language*, 8(3).
- Yinhan Liu, Jiatao Gu, Naman Goyal, Xian Li, Sergey Edunov, Marjan Ghazvininejad, Mike Lewis, and Luke Zettlemoyer. 2020. Multilingual denoising pre-training for neural machine translation. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 8:726–742.
- Helge Lødrup. 2010. Implicit possessives and reflexive binding in norwegian. *Transactions of the Philological Society*, 108(2):89–109.

Microsoft. 2023. Azure AI Translator.

- Joan G Miller, Hiroko Akiyama, and Shagufa Kapadia. 2017. Cultural variation in communal versus exchange norms: Implications for social support. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 113(1):81.
- Kenton Murray and David Chiang. 2018. Correcting length bias in neural machine translation. In *Proceedings of the Third Conference on Machine Translation: Research Papers*, pages 212–223.
- Moin Nadeem, Anna Bethke, and Siva Reddy. 2021. StereoSet: Measuring stereotypical bias in pretrained language models. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 5356–5371, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Besmira Nushi, Ece Kamar, Eric Horvitz, and Donald Kossmann. 2017. On human intellect and machine failures: Troubleshooting integrative machine learning systems. In *Thirty-First AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence*.
- Chan Young Park, Xinru Yan, Anjalie Field, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2021. Multilingual Contextual Affective Analysis of LGBT People Portrayals in Wikipedia. In Proceedings of the International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media, volume 15, pages 479–490.
- Jacob Poushter and Nicholas Kent. 2020. The global divide on homosexuality persists. *Pew Research Center*, 25.
- Vinodkumar Prabhakaran, Owen Rambow, and Mona Diab. 2012. Predicting overt display of power in written dialogs. In Proceedings of the 2012 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, pages 518–522.
- Rachel Rudinger, Chandler May, and Benjamin Van Durme. 2017. Social bias in elicited natural language inferences. In *Proceedings of the First ACL Workshop on Ethics in Natural Language Processing*, pages 74–79.
- Rachel Rudinger, Jason Naradowsky, Brian Leonard, and Benjamin Van Durme. 2018. Gender bias in coreference resolution. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 2 (Short Papers), pages 8–14.
- Danielle Saunders and Bill Byrne. 2020. Reducing gender bias in neural machine translation as a domain adaptation problem. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 7724–7736.
- Beatrice Savoldi, Marco Gaido, Luisa Bentivogli, Matteo Negri, and Marco Turchi. 2021. Gender bias in machine translation. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 9:845–874.
- Sarah Seraj, Kate G Blackburn, and James W Pennebaker. 2021. Language left behind on social media exposes the emotional and cognitive costs of a romantic breakup. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 118(7).
- Shanya Sharma, Manan Dey, and Koustuv Sinha. 2022. How sensitive are translation systems to extra contexts? mitigating gender bias in neural machine translation models through relevant contexts. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2022*, pages 1968–1984, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sarah A Soule. 2004. Going to the chapel? Same-sex marriage bans in the United States, 1973–2000. *Social problems*, 51(4):453–477.

- Artūrs Stafanovičs, Toms Bergmanis, and Mārcis Pinnis. 2020. Mitigating gender bias in machine translation with target gender annotations. In *Proceedings of the Fifth Conference on Machine Translation*, pages 629–638, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Gabriel Stanovsky, Noah A. Smith, and Luke Zettlemoyer. 2019. Evaluating gender bias in machine translation. In *Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 1679–1684, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jonas-Dario Troles and Ute Schmid. 2021. Extending Challenge Sets to Uncover Gender Bias in Machine Translation: Impact of Stereotypical Verbs and Adjectives. In *Proceedings of the Sixth Conference on Machine Translation*, pages 531–541.
- Eva Vanmassenhove, Dimitar Shterionov, and Matthew Gwilliam. 2021. Machine translationese: Effects of algorithmic bias on linguistic complexity in machine translation. In 16th Conference of the European Chapter of the Associationfor Computational Linguistics, EACL 2021, pages 2203–2213. Association for Computational Linguistics (ACL).
- Ellen M Volpe, Thomas L Hardie, Catherine Cerulli, Marilyn S Sommers, and Dianne Morrison-Beedy. 2013. What's age got to do with it? Partner age difference, power, intimate partner violence, and sexual risk in urban adolescents. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 28(10):2068–2087.
- Sky Wang and David Jurgens. 2021. Using sociolinguistic variables to reveal changing attitudes towards sexuality and gender. In *Proceedings of the* 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 9918–9938.
- Kyra Yee, Yann Dauphin, and Michael Auli. 2019. Simple and effective noisy channel modeling for neural machine translation. In *Proceedings of the* 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 5696–5701, Hong Kong, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.

A Template Data

We list the English translations of all words and phrases used to construct the translation sentences (§ 3.1) in Table 3. To save space we omit the target language translations of all words and phrases, but this data will be made available on the public repository after publication.

B Occupation Metadata

The occupations used in the sample data for the regression analysis (§ 3.3) were manually mapped to categories via statistics from the US Department

	Words/Phrases
Source noun (occupations)	analyst; artist; athlete; author; baker; banker; barber; boss; carpenter; coach; consultant; cop; counselor; custodian; dancer; dentist; director; doctor; editor; electrician; engineer; entertainer; entrepreneur; farmer; firefighter; journalist; judge; laborer; landlord; lawyer; librarian; mechanic; nanny; nurse; painter; pharmacist; photographer; plumber; president; professor;
	surgeon: teacher: writer
Sentence template	X met PRON Y on a date.; X kissed PRON Y.; X married PRON Y.; X lived with PRON Y.; X and PRON Y have a child.
Target noun (relationship terms)	fiancé(e); girlfriend/boyfriend; wife/husband

Table 3: All occupations, relationship templates, and relationship targets used to generate the data for the study.

of Labor and Bureau of Labor Statistics. We list the occupation metadata in Tables 4 and 5. Empty cells indicate missing data not included in the regression.

Occupation	BOLS Categories	DOL Category	Median income	% Female	Median age
analyst	Management analysts; Budget analysts; Credit analysts; Financial and investment analysts; Computer systems analysts; Information security analysts; Software quality assurance analysts and testers; Software quality assurance analysts and testers	Budget analysts; Computer systems analysts; Credit analysts; Financial and investment analysts; Information security analysts; Management analysts; Market research analysts and marketing specialists; News analysts, reporters, and journalists; Operations research analysts; Software quality assurance analysts and testers	84776	41.09	
artist	Artists and related workers Writers and authors	Artists and related workers Writers and authors	49032	38.20	43.30
baker	Bakers	Bakers	29241	57.40	41.70
banker	Financial managers; Business and financial operations occupations; Financial and investment analysts; Personal financial advisors; Financial examiners; Other financial specialists; Financial clerks, all other	Financial and investment analysts; Financial clerks, all other; Financial examiners; Financial managers	83174	49.67	
barber boss	Barbers General and operations managers; Advertising and promotions managers; Marketing managers; Sales managers; Public relations and fundraising managers; Administrative services managers; Facilities managers; Computer and information systems managers; Financial managers; Compensation and benefits managers; Human resources managers; Training and development managers; Industrial production managers; Purchasing managers; Transportation, storage, and distribution managers; Construction managers; Education and childcare administrators; Architectural and engineering managers; Food service managers; Fueral home managers; Endertainment and recreation managers; Natural sciences managers; Postmasters and mail superintendents; Property, real estate, and community association managers; Social and community service managers; Emergency management directors; Personal service managers, all other; Managers, all other;	Barbers Computer and information systems managers; Construction managers; Entertainment and recreation managers; Facilities managers; Financial managers; Food service managers; General and operations managers; Human resources managers; Industrial production managers; Lodging managers; Managers, all other; Marketing managers; Managers, all other; Marketing managers; Medical and health services managers; Natural sciences managers; Public relations and fundraising managers; Sucial and community service managers; Training and development managers; Transportation, storage, and distribution	29283 77496	21.20 42.43	40.80
carpenter	Carpenters	Carpenters	40759	1.90	40.80
coach	Coaches and scouts	Coaches and scouts	47895	31.60	34.60
cop counselor	Police officers Credit counselors and loan officers; Substance abuse and behavioral disorder counselors; Educational, guidance, and career counselors and advisors; Mental health counselors; Rehabilitation counselors; Counselors, all other	Police officers Substance abuse and behavioral disorder counselors; Counselors, all other; Credit counselors and loan officers; Educational, guidance, and career counselors and advisors; Mental health counselors; Rehabilitation counselors	67927 54882	14.80 61.34	40.50
custodian	Building and grounds cleaning and maintenance occupations	Janitors and building cleaners			46.40
director	Producers and directors; Music directors and composers; Emergency management directors; Directors, religious activities and education	Dentists Directors, religious activities and education; Producers and directors	65662	32.00 43.54	46.60
editor	Editors	Editors	62494	53.90	45.40
electrician engineer	Electricians Aerospace engineers; Agricultural engineers; Bioengineers and biomedical engineers; Chemical engineers; Civil engineers; Computer hardware engineers; Electrical and electronics engineers; Environmental engineers; Industrial engineers, including health and safety; Marine engineers and naval architects; Materials engineers; Mechanical engineers; Mining and geological engineers, including mining safety engineers; Nuclear engineers; Petroleum engineers; Engineers, all other/n	Electricians Aerospace engineers; Chemical engineers; Civil engineers; Electrical and electronics engineers; Engineers, all other; Environmental engineers; Industrial engineers, including health and safety; Materials engineers; Mechanical engineers	52959 93763	1.80 13.49	41.40
entertainer	Entertainers and performers, sports and related workers, all other	Other entertainment attendants and related workers			23.80
farmer	Farmers, ranchers, and other agricultural managers	Farmers, ranchers, and other agricultural managers	42498	12.10	56.00
nrefighter journalist	Firefighters News analysts, reporters, and journalists	Firefighters News analysts reporters and journalists	71600 61427	3.50 46.30	39.70 34.90
judge	Judges, magistrates, and other judicial workers	Judges, magistrates, and other judicial workers	105383	49.30	53.10
laborer	Construction laborers; Laborers and freight, stock, and material movers, hand	Laborers and freight, stock, and material movers, hand	33850	11.79	35.00
landiord	riopeny, real estate, and community association managers Lawvers	rioperty, real estate, and community association managers Lawyers	131501	52.40 37.50	48.70 46.50
librarian	Librarians and media collections specialists	Librarians and media collections specialists	54259	81.80	49.90
mechanic	Automotive service technicians and mechanics; Bus and truck mechanics and diesel engine specialists; Heavy vehicle and mobile equipment service technicians and mechanics; Small engine mechanics; Miscellaneous vehicle and mobile equipment mechanics installers and renairers	Aircraft mechanics and service technicians; Automotive service technicians and mechanics; Industrial and refractory machinery mechanics	40814	2.00	
nanny	Childcare workers	Childcare workers	23064	94.70	37.70

Table 4: Occupations and associated metadata for regression (part 1).

Occupation	BOLS Categories	DOL Category	Median income	% Female	Median age
nurse	Registered nurses	Registered nurses	69754	86.70	43.10
painter	Painters and paperhangers	Painters and paperhangers	33965	7.40	41.50
pharmacist	Pharmacists	Pharmacists	122473	54.60	41.40
photographer	Photographers	Photographers	44026	41.00	39.60
plumber president	Plumbers, pipefitters, and steamfitters	Plumbers, pipefitters, and steamfitters	50451	1.40	40.60
professor	Postsecondary teachers	Postsecondary teachers	72172	47.60	49.40
psychologist	Clinical and counseling psychologists; School psychologists; Other psychologists	Other psychologists	85411	68.30	48.60
realtor	Real estate brokers and sales agents	Real estate brokers and sales agents	61192	51.50	49.10
scientist	Life, physical, and social science occupations; Agricultural and food scientists; Biological scientists; Conservation scientists and foresters; Medical scientists; Life scientists, all other; Astronomers and physicists; Atmospheric and space scientists; Chemists and materials scientists; Environmental scientists and specialists, including health; Geoscientists and hydrologists, except geographers; Physical scientists, all other; Economists	Agricultural and food scientists; Biological scientists; Chemists and materials scientists; Computer and information research scientists; Conservation scientists and foresters; Environmental scientists and specialists, including health; Geoscientists and hydrologists, except geographers; Medical scientists; Miscellaneous social scientists, and related workers; Physical scientists, all other	80335	43.84	
secretary	Executive secretaries and executive administrative assistants; Legal secretaries and administrative assistants; Medical secretaries and administrative assistants; Secretaries and administrative assistants, except legal, medical, and executive	Secretaries and administrative assistants, except legal, medical, and executive	42282	94.00	48.50
singer	Musicians and singers	Musicians and singers	42121	20.90	44.20
teacher	Preschool and kindergarten teachers; Elementary and middle school teachers; Secondary school teachers; Special education teachers; Tutors; Other teachers and instructors	Preschool and kindergarten teachers; Secondary school teachers; Special education teachers; Elementary and middle school teachers; Other teachers and instructors	50141	75.26	
writer	Technical writers; Writers and authors	Writers and authors; Technical writers	65267	55.69	

Table 5: Occupations and associated metadata for regression (part 2).

Analysis of Annotator Demographics in Sexism Detection

Narjes Tahaei and Sabine Bergler CLaC Lab Concordia University, Montreal n_tahaei@encs.concordia.ca, sabine.bergler@concordia.ca

Abstract

This study explores the effect of annotators' demographic features on labeling sexist content in social media datasets, focusing specifically on the EXIST dataset (Plaza et al., 2023), which includes direct sexist messages, reports, and descriptions of sexist experiences and stereotypes. We investigate how various demographic backgrounds correlate with annotation outcomes and examine methods to incorporate these features into BERT-based model training. Experiments show that adding demographic information improves performance in classifying sexism and assessing intention of the author.

1 Introduction

According to the United Nations definition, *gender-based violence* includes violence that is directed against a woman because she is a woman or that affects women disproportionately, and, as such, is a violation of their human rights¹. A report published by Amnesty International² found that 23% of women using Twitter reported experiencing online abuse or harassment at least once. Such violence and abuse on social media significantly undermines women's rights to express themselves equally, freely, and without fear.

The EXIST shared task (Plaza et al., 2023) aims to identify and categorize sexism on Twitter. Developing any dataset for topics such as sexism, sarcasm, or hate speech is challenging, since it is difficult to determine a ground truth for these topics (Gordon et al., 2022; Plaza et al., 2023). One person may find a tweet sexist, while another may find it acceptable. Traditionally, machine learning models take the majority vote over all labels, effectively ignoring differences in annotators' backgrounds, which might, however, influence their perspectives. It also disregards minority opinions when most annotators agree on one label but a few dissent. The resulting datasets have been described as partially subjective and not fully reliable for downstream applications by (Rottger et al., 2022).

In response, (Uma et al., 2021) introduced the Learning With Disagreement paradigm (LwD), which involves training systems on datasets that include all annotators' perspectives, aiming to reflect the diversity of views. Evaluation with a soft metric enables ambiguity-aware models to compare the probability distributions of labels they generate (soft labels) to the full distribution provided by annotators using cross-entropy. This step away from hard gold labels to distributions provides the possibility of better modeling both, potential ambiguity of the wording as well as disagreements in the judgments. The EXIST sexism task adopted LwD and incorporated the annotators' demographic information into the training and test sets.

We show here that for the EXIST dataset the performance of sexism detection and the assessment of the author's intentions improves when demographic information is included for classification. We explore different methods to integrate the demographic features and find that including it as additional input to a BERT model enhances performance. While we use gold labels during training, which are crowd labels aggregated into hard labels using majority voting, we include detailed information from the annotations in the training process.

The goal is to investigate whether there is a correlation between annotator judgments and demographic features in two ways. First, we exploit the demographic features from the training data for improved classification. Secondly, we give a first exploration of potential bias in the dataset. *Bias* here refers to uneven distributions and has no value judgment attached to it from the outset. While EX-

¹https://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/cedaw/ recommendations/recomm.htm

²https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/amr51/ 4723/2021/en/

IST is a renowned shared task aimed at identifying sexism in social media, no paper has yet analyzed the impact of annotators' features on the labeling process in this dataset.

2 Related Work

2.1 Sexism Detection

Recent years have seen an increase in the availability of sexism-related datasets. (Waseem and Hovy, 2016) introduced a dataset of tweets labeled with the categories *racism, sexism,* and *neutral*. Similarly, MeTwo (Rodríguez-Sánchez et al., 2020) provides a Twitter corpus in Spanish, categorizing tweets as *sexist, non-sexist*, or *uncertain*.

Social media platforms serve as forums for sharing both sexist content and testimonials of sexism encountered by women. Distinguishing between these two types of messages is crucial, as is understanding the definitions of sexism within these datasets. Some datasets focus on detecting misogyny or hatred towards women (Anzovino et al., 2018; Guest et al., 2021; Pamungkas et al., 2020). The EXIST dataset classifies both direct sexist tweets and reports or descriptions of sexist experiences as sexist messages. (Chiril et al., 2020) introduced a dataset of French tweets annotated to identify either reports of sexist experiences or sexist messages. In their dataset, a tweet was considered sexist if it explicitly targeted someone or described a target implicitly. For example, the tweet My boss asked me: "Who's going to cook for your husband when you're away?" is a report and might trigger different reactions from the recipient compared to a direct sexist message. The EXIST dataset covers a wide range of sexism, from explicit to other subtle or even benevolent expressions that involve implicit sexist behaviors.

2.2 Learning with Disagreement

A growing body of research focuses on developing training methods that do not rely on a single label for each sample (Abercrombie et al., 2023; Mostafazadeh Davani et al., 2022; Kairam and Heer, 2016; Leonardelli et al., 2023).

According to (Uma et al., 2021), approaches to learning from disagreement in crowd annotations can be categorized into four broad methods. First, some methods automatically aggregate annotations into a single label for each instance, assuming an objective truth exists for each instance (such as majority voting). Second, other methods also assume a gold label exists but recognize it may not always be recoverable due to coder disagreement; these methods filter out or weigh items with excessive disagreement (Whitehill et al., 2009). Third, some approaches learn a classifier directly from crowd annotations by assigning probabilistic scores to each label, producing soft labels (Rodrigues and Pereira, 2018). Finally, some methods train classifiers using a combination of hard and soft labels (Fornaciari et al., 2021), or integrating gold labels with information from crowd annotations to account for item difficulty or annotator ability (Plank et al., 2014). In our study, we have adopted the latter approach, incorporating annotators' demographics into the training process for sexism identification.

Guided by the assumption that annotators' judgments build on their background, recent studies have explored this further. (Wan et al., 2023) incorporated demographic information of annotators to propose a disagreement predictor framework that gauges annotators' disagreement in subjective tasks.

(Jiang et al., 2021) found significant variations in perceptions of the harmfulness of sexually explicit language across eight countries. (Almanea and Poesio, 2022) developed an Arabic Twitter dataset on sexism and misogyny, demonstrating that annotators' religions correlate with their labels. (Sap et al., 2022) reported strong correlations between annotator identity, beliefs, and toxicity ratings.

Some studies suggest that the nature of disagreement in tasks such as sexism is not based on individual differences, but on social positions (Chulvi et al., 2023; Curry et al., 2024). Sexism is defined not at the individual level but rather based on societal norms (Curry et al., 2024). To cover all perspectives in the annotation process, (Chulvi et al., 2023) proposed considering the attitude of annotators and their behavior toward sexism.

(Curry et al., 2024) proposed that equally considering all annotations' disagreement is not sufficient. For instance, certain terms may be commonly used among African Americans but are inappropriate if used by the broader public. Thus, sexism or racism should be understood as cultural concepts formed in specific contexts, i.e. when computing disagreement, the vote of the impacted group matters more even if they are in the minority. (Gordon et al., 2022) introduced jury learning, a recommender system approach that selects a group of annotators with specified demographic characteristics from a pool of annotators to judge each text.

(Orlikowski et al., 2023) showed that even when socio-demographic information such as gender is included in their toxicity detection model as an additional group-specific linear layer, the average behavior of the female annotators does not necessarily reflect the behavior of individuals in that group.

The EXIST dataset includes a range of demographic information not typically found in other sexism datasets. However, its impact on the EXIST dataset's labeling process has not yet been explored. This study offers an investigation into such a correlation.

3 Data Description

3.1 Task Description

This study investigates the EXIST 2023 dataset (Plaza et al., 2023). EXIST stands for sEXism Identification in Social neTworks and focuses on identifying explicit and implicit sexism in social media posts.

Task 1 is a binary classification determining whether a tweet represents sexist expressions or behaviors. The sample can be sexist itself, describe a sexist situation where discrimination against women occurs, or criticize a sexist behavior.

Task 2 considers the author's intention motivating the tweet, i.e. it explicitly distinguishes between a sexist tweet and one describing or reporting a sexist experience to criticize sexism. Task 2 is a three-way classification into the categories

Direct The tweet itself is sexist, e.g.

A woman needs love, to fill the fridge, if a man can give this to her in return for her services (housework, cooking, etc), I don't see what else she needs.

Reported The tweet reports a sexist situation experienced by a woman or women, e.g. *Today, one of my year 1 class pupils could not believe he'd lost a race against a girl.*

Judgemental The tweet describes sexist situations or behaviors to condemn them, e.g.

As usual, the woman was the one quitting her job for the family's welfare...

3.2 Dataset statistics

The dataset is collected from a wide range of Spanish and English tweets including annotations provided by a diverse group of annotators from various countries.

Each tweet has been annotated by six annotators. The EXIST 2024 dataset includes demographic information for each annotator, such as *id*, *age*, *gender*, *level of study*, *country*, and *ethnicity*. The training dataset includes 6920 tweets which have been annotated by 725 distinct annotators from 45 different countries. The demographic features (scalar representations in our models are in parentheses³) provided are

Gender male (1) or female (0)

Age ranges are 18-22 (1), 23-45 (2), and >46 (3)

- Levels of study is less than a high school diploma, high school degree or equivalent, bachelor's degree, master's degree, and doctorate
- *Ethnicity* is *Black or African American, Hispanic or Latino, White or Caucasian, Multiracial, Asian, Asian Indian, or Middle Eastern*

4 Methodology

The dataset includes annotations from six annotators for each sample, along with their demographic features. We compare here performance when including and when omitting these demographic features as input for a simple pre-trained model (finetuned RoBERTa (Loureiro et al., 2022) or Multilingual Cased BERT (Devlin et al., 2019)) followed by two feedforward networks for classification.

When no demographic features are introduced to the model:

- **Encoding**_{base} Input to BERT is the sample text, input to the classifier is BERT's CLS token.
- **Encoding**_{preprocessed} Four tokens ([url], [user], [spanish], [english]) were added as special tokens to the BERT tokenizer. In each sample, URLs and mentions were replaced with [url] and [user] tokens, respectively. The dataset identifies for each tweet whether it is in English or Spanish, thus either [english] or [spanish] were added at the beginning of each instance. Based on findings that word embeddings capture the meaning of emojis better

³No scalar representations are shown here for the level of study and ethnicity and we do not report on scalar runs for these as they did not improve performance.

than symbols (Tahaei et al., 2022; Mostafavi and Porter, 2021), emoji word embeddings were added to the BERT vocabulary as special tokens, enabling BERT to map a specific identifier to each emoji. The input to BERT is the sample text preprocessed this way and the input to the classifier is BERT's CLS token.

The following describes two models that incorporate annotators' demographic features. In both configurations, each preprocessed sample is replicated six times, corresponding to each annotator. Consequently, the original training set of 6,920 tweets expands to 41,520 instances.

- **Encoding**_{features} Input to BERT is the preprocessed sample text. Input to the classifier includes demographic features in a stack of one-hot vectors of each feature (*age, gender, study level,* and *ethnicity*) and the CLS vector. We send additive attention to the classifier. Additive attention (Bahdanau et al., 2015) obtains a weighted average of the representations, where the weights are determined based on the importance of each representation.
- **Encoding**_{annotations} Input to BERT concatenates demographic features to the end of each preprocessed sample. Each sample is replicated six times (Uma et al., 2022; Sheng et al., 2008), each with details on gender, age, level of study, and ethnicity for each annotator (see Section 5.1). Both the hard label, which is the aggregated label for that tweet (see Section 5.2), and the annotator's label for each instance were added to each instance. Input to the classifier is the CLS token.

An initial baseline system predicted both sexism and the three intention categories *direct, reported, judgmental* within a single model. However, we observe better results when we reduce the number of non-sexist tweets for Task 2 by first running our Task 1 system in order to predict the sexist tweets and subsequently categorizing only those with our different approaches.

5 Experiments

5.1 Feature Representation

To experiment with Encoding_{annotations}, we concatenated the demographic features to the sample in different formats. As usual, the woman was the one quitting her job for the family's welfare., F, 18-22, Hispano or Latino, Bachelor's degree

Example 1 shows the input vector representation, where the meta-labels on the sample correspond to the respective word vectors. The first four demographic features are appended represented by the strings used in the competition data (the last two demographic features are omitted here).

(2) As usual, the woman was the one quitting her *job for the family's welfare.*, 0, 1, 3, 1

Example 2 shows the first four demographic features represented by scalar values (see Section 3.2).

(3) As usual, the woman was the one quitting her job for the family's welfare. <g>female</g>
<a>GenX <e>Hispano or Latino</e>
<s>Bachelor's degree</s>

Example 3 shows the demographic features enclosed in dedicated special tokens that have been added to BERT's special tokens vocabulary.

(4) As usual, the woman was the one quitting her job for the family's welfare. female, GenX, Hispano or Latino, Bachelor's degree

Example 4 shows a variation on Example 1, where 'F' was replaced by the word 'female' and '18-22' was replaced by 'GenX', namely where words replaced symbols. Example 4 representations outperform Example 1 representations and the word encodings of Example 4 are used for the following examples.

(5) As usual, the woman was the one quitting her job for the family's welfare. [SEP] female [SEP] GenX [SEP] Hispano or Latino [SEP] Bachelor's degree

Example 5 is a version of 4 where the demographic features are separated by the pre-trained [SEP] token in the input to BERT.

 (6) As usual, the woman was the one quitting her job for the family's welfare., female, GenX, Hispano or Latino, Bachelor's degree, sexist, direct

Example 6 is similar to 5, but the individual labels of the annotator for the two tasks are also concatenated to the end of the sample.

Models based on representations shown in Example 4, Example 5, and Example 6 perform better than the first three models, validating the use of word representations instead of symbols, pretrained instead of custom separating special tokens, and appending the annotator decision to all training samples as well as the test samples. Our results, detailed in Section 6, are based on these representations.

5.2 Evaluation

Each instance has seven labels in the competition data: one given by each annotator and the hard (majority) label.

For Task 1, a binary classification task, the hard label is determined by a majority vote of the annotators, following the shared task evaluation setting. The class annotated by more than three annotators is selected. If no class receives a majority, meaning no class exceeds the threshold, those instances are removed from the training process. We evaluated the binary task based on the F1 measure.

Task 2 is a three-way classification task for sexist tweets, i.e. annotators label tweets as *direct*, *reported*, *judgmental*, or *non-sexist*⁴. The hard label is assigned if two or more annotators agree. In case of a tie, instances are removed from the training process. We evaluate Task 2 using the average F1 measure (Macro F1).

5.3 Training

For this multilingual dataset, we used the multilingual version of BERT (mBERT) (Devlin et al., 2019), a model pre-trained on 104 languages with Wikipedia pages using a masked language modeling objective. We also employed the 'cardiffnlp/twitter-roberta-basesentiment-latest' model (Loureiro et al., 2022), a RoBERTa-base model trained on approximately 58 million tweets and fine-tuned for sentiment analysis. The experiments yielded better performance with the fine-tuned RoBERTa-based model for Task 1 and improved results with mBERT for the bi-lingual Task 2. For comparison, we also experimented with XLM-RoBERTa, but since the performance did not significantly improve, we opted to continue our experiments with the lighter model. We use the HuggingFace implementation of BERT, trained with a batch size of 1 for 8 epochs.

6 Results

Table 1 shows results for the best performance in the 2023 competition and seven of our experiments with different demographic feature encodings.

The demographic features consistently improve performance in all their encodings reported here. This indicates that incorporating annotators' demographics generally improves the performance of detecting both sexism and source intention (Tasks 1 and 2) in this dataset. The most significant improvement is observed with the Encoding_{annotations} model, where tweets are replicated six times for the six annotators, with the annotator's features concatenated at the end. Although the Encoding_{features} model, which adds annotators' features as additional inputs directly to the classifier, enhances the performance of both tasks compared to Encoding_{base}, it is outperformed by this Encoding_{annotations} model.

Due to the absence of publicly available test data from the shared task organizers, our results are based solely on the publicly available development set. The state-of-the-art model, which won the 2023 shared task, achieved performance scores of 0.81 for the first task and 0.57 for the second task on the test set but did not report performance on the development set.

We experimented with different representations of demographic features, as shown in Examples 1-6. The best performance for both tasks was for representations similar to Examples 4-6, where demographics were added as tokens to the end of instances. For the first and second tasks, using this representation and incorporating *age*, *gender*, *study level*, and *ethnicity* led to a 5% and 7% performance increase, respectively, compared to Encoding_{base}. In the preliminary experiments, we included other demographic features from the dataset. However, they did not lead to further improvement and we excluded them from the analysis.

Since each tweet has two labels—one being the gold label derived from majority voting, and the other provided by each annotator—we tested incorporating the annotators' labels into the input. Along with the tweet and annotators' features for each instance, we also included the label given by that annotator (6). This configuration led to a 1% improvement in performance for the first task, and 4% improvement was observed for the second task.

⁴We model Task 2 as a three-way classification after first predicting non-sexist tweets using our Task 1 classifier and classifying the remaining samples as *direct*, *reported*, or *judg-mental*.

Model	Features	Task 1	Task 2
Encoding _{base}	-	0.78	0.48
Encoding _{features}	age+gender+study+ethnicity	0.80	0.50
Encoding _{annotations}	age+gender	0.81	0.48
Encoding _{annotations}	age+gender+study+ethnicity	0.83	0.55
Encoding _{annotations} ,sep	age+gender+study+ethnicity	0.83	0.53
Encoding _{annotations}	age+gender+study+ethnicity+labels	0.84	0.59

Table 1: Experiment results are based on the development set. For Task 1, we used the RoBERTa model fine-tuned on a sentiment dataset, while for Task 2, we used mBERT.

7 Analysis

7.1 Annotator demographics as Features

The EXIST dataset is among the recent datasets that adopted the learning with disagreement approach for sexism detection. Our experiments demonstrated that integrating additional demographic information directly into language models significantly enhances performance, proving more effective than incorporating these features separately into classifiers. This underscores the capabilities of the BERT family models, which can achieve impressive results with proper token representations.

Our findings show that adding two demographic features to the model improved performance for the first task, and the inclusion of two more features further increased performance. When annotators' labels were incorporated as an additional feature to the input, there was a slight additional boost in performance. Our experiments also show the critical role of feature representation. Among the various representations tested, adding demographic features as tokens yielded the best results, capitalizing on the inherent power of the corresponding word embeddings. Even when adding annotator's labels as an additional feature, representing them as word tokens (for instance in Example 6 adding a label sexist instead of 1) resulted in slightly better performance.

Including annotator features in the model allows for training on a diverse set of representations for each sample, rather than relying on a single perspective. This leads to better training outcomes and a less biased model, emphasizing the importance of considering annotator demographics in developing more inclusive models.

7.2 Annotator Categories

Studies have shown that annotators' background influences their labeling processes, leading to bias in datasets that may not adequately represent minority voices (Wan et al., 2023; Sap et al., 2022). We examined the distribution of annotations across various demographic features and found that for most features there was about a 10% difference between the lowest and highest groups.

When examining ethnicity, 54% of annotators who identified as multi-racial labeled tweets as sexist, compared to only 41% of annotators who identified as Black or African American. Given the diverse backgrounds of annotators from 45 different countries, we focused on the top nine countries with more than 1,000 annotators each. Notably, 39% of annotators from Poland found tweets to be sexist, while 50% and 51% from the US and Italy identified tweets as sexist. Language also played a role in the labeling process. Spanish-speaking annotators labeled tweets as sexist at a higher rate (49%) compared to English-speaking annotators (41%). Our analysis confirms the importance of considering annotators' demographics in the labeling process to ensure a more representative and less biased dataset.

8 Conclusion and Limitations

The aim of this study is not to reach SOTA in detecting sexism and source intention, but rather to examine the potential advantage of adding annotator features in representing more diverse judgments in the EXIST dataset. We showed that incorporating annotators' demographic information as inputs into the BERT models can enhance the performance of models in detecting sexism and understanding the author's intention in the EXIST dataset. Additionally, our findings indicate significant variations in how tweets are ranked as sexist, influenced by factors such as the annotators' spoken language and country of residence.

However, including demographic features in the training process may introduce new biases into the models. Future research will focus on further exploring the effects of these demographic features on trained models. We anticipate that the strict conditions for corpus construction used in corpus linguistics can inform addressing some of these issues. Additionally, we plan to investigate methodologies that assess the degree of disagreement among annotators, building on existing studies in this area (Rodrigues and Pereira, 2018; Gordon et al., 2022). This will help us better understand and address potential biases in the labeling process, aiming for more robust models.

9 Statement of Bias

The EXIST dataset captures a wide range of biases against women, spanning from hateful or offensive sentences to humorous or friendly ones. At its core, sexism encompasses any prejudice or discrimination directed towards women based solely on their gender (Plaza et al., 2023). As a result, statements like *As usual, the woman was the one quitting her job for the family's welfare*, while not explicitly sexist, are classified as such due to their description of stereotypical situations of gender bias.

However, it is important to recognize that interpretations of sexism can vary among annotators, influenced by their language backgrounds and cultural perspectives. While efforts are made to mitigate bias in the training process, incorporating diverse viewpoints and background information from annotators, rather than relying on a single label, can result in a fairer and more robust model. Additionally, our work examined the impact of annotators' demographics on the labeling process, highlighting how these factors can lead to biased datasets.

In the annotation guidelines of the EXIST dataset, tweets that express gendered stereotypes, hatred and violence toward women, or tweets that reject inequality between men and women are both labelled sexist.

References

- Gavin Abercrombie, Aiqi Jiang, Poppy Gerrard-Abbott, Ioannis Konstas, and Verena Rieser. 2023. Resources for automated identification of online gender-based violence: A systematic review. In *Proceedigs of the 7th Workshop on Online Abuse and Harms (WOAH)*, pages 170–186.
- Dina Almanea and Massimo Poesio. 2022. ArMIS the Arabic misogyny and sexism corpus with annotator subjective disagreements. In *Proceedings of the Thirteenth Language Resources and Evaluation Conference*, pages 2282–2291, Marseille, France.

- Maria Anzovino, Elisabetta Fersini, and Paolo Rosso. 2018. Automatic identification and classification of misogynistic language on twitter. In *Natural Language Processing and Information Systems*, pages 57–64. Springer International Publishing.
- Dzmitry Bahdanau, Kyung Hyun Cho, and Yoshua Bengio. 2015. Neural machine translation by jointly learning to align and translate. In *3rd International Conference on Learning Representations*.
- Patricia Chiril, Véronique Moriceau, Farah Benamara, Alda Mari, Gloria Origgi, and Marlène Coulomb-Gully. 2020. He said "who's gonna take care of your children when you are at ACL?": Reported sexist acts are not sexist. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 4055–4066.
- Berta Chulvi, Lara Fontanella, Roberto Labadie-Tamayo, and Paolo Rosso. 2023. Social or individual disagreement? Perspectivism in the annotation of sexist jokes. In *Proceedings of the 2nd CEUR Workshop on Perspectivist Approaches to NLP*.
- Amanda Cercas Curry, Gavin Abercrombie, and Zeerak Talat. 2024. Subjective *Isms*? on the danger of conflating hate and offence in abusive language detection. In *Proceedings of the 8th Workshop on Online Abuse and Harms (WOAH 2024)*, page 275–282.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. Bert: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tommaso Fornaciari, Alexandra Uma, Silviu Paun, Barbara Plank, Dirk Hovy, and Massimo Poesio. 2021. Beyond black & white: Leveraging annotator disagreement via soft-label multi-task learning. In Proceedings of the 2021 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, pages 2591–2597.
- Mitchell L. Gordon, Michelle S. Lam, Joon Sung Park, Kayur Patel, Jeff Hancock, Tatsunori Hashimoto, and Michael S. Bernstein. 2022. Jury learning: Integrating dissenting voices into machine learning models. In *Proceedings of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '22, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Ella Guest, Bertie Vidgen, Alexandros Mittos, Nishanth Sastry, Gareth Tyson, and Helen Margetts. 2021. An expert annotated dataset for the detection of online misogyny. In *Proceedings of the 16th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Main Volume*, pages 1336– 1350.
- Jialun Aaron Jiang, Morgan Klaus Scheuerman, Casey Fiesler, and Jed R. Brubaker. 2021. Understanding international perceptions of the severity of harmful content online. *PLOS ONE*, 16(8):1–22.

- Sanjay Kairam and Jeffrey Heer. 2016. Parting crowds: Characterizing divergent interpretations in crowdsourced annotation tasks. In Proceedings of the 19th ACM Conference on Computer-Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing, CSCW '16, page 1637–1648. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Elisa Leonardelli, Gavin Abercrombie, Dina Almanea, Valerio Basile, Tommaso Fornaciari, Barbara Plank, Verena Rieser, Alexandra Uma, and Massimo Poesio. 2023. SemEval-2023 task 11: Learning with disagreements (LeWiDi). In *Proceedings of the 17th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation* (*SemEval-2023*), pages 2304–2318.
- Daniel Loureiro, Francesco Barbieri, Leonardo Neves, Luis Espinosa Anke, and Jose Camacho-collados. 2022. TimeLMs: Diachronic language models from Twitter. In *Proceedings of the 60th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics: System Demonstrations*, pages 251–260, Dublin, Ireland.
- Moeen Mostafavi and Michael D. Porter. 2021. How emoji and word embedding helps to unveil emotional transitions during online messaging. In 2021 IEEE International Systems Conference (SysCon), pages 1–8.
- Aida Mostafazadeh Davani, Mark Díaz, and Vinodkumar Prabhakaran. 2022. Dealing with disagreements: Looking beyond the majority vote in subjective annotations. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 10:92–110.
- Matthias Orlikowski, Paul Röttger, Philipp Cimiano, and Dirk Hovy. 2023. The ecological fallacy in annotation: Modeling human label variation goes beyond sociodemographics. In *Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers)*, pages 1017– 1029.
- Endang Wahyu Pamungkas, Valerio Basile, and Viviana Patti. 2020. Misogyny detection in twitter: a multilingual and cross-domain study. *Information Processing* & *Management*, 57(6):102360.
- Barbara Plank, Dirk Hovy, and Anders Søgaard. 2014. Learning part-of-speech taggers with inter-annotator agreement loss. In *Proceedings of the 14th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 742–751.
- Laura Plaza, Jorge Carrillo-de Albornoz, Roser Morante, Enrique Amigó, Julio Gonzalo, Damiano Spina, and Paolo Rosso. 2023. Overview of exist 2023 – learning with disagreement for sexism identification and characterization. In *Experimental IR Meets Multilinguality, Multimodality, and Interaction*, pages 316– 342, Cham. Springer Nature Switzerland.
- Filipe Rodrigues and Francisco Pereira. 2018. Deep learning from crowds. *Proceedings of the AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, 32(1).

- Francisco Rodríguez-Sánchez, Jorge Carrillo-de Albornoz, and Laura Plaza. 2020. Automatic classification of sexism in social networks: An empirical study on twitter data. *IEEE Access*, 8:219563–219576.
- Paul Rottger, Bertie Vidgen, Dirk Hovy, and Janet Pierrehumbert. 2022. Two contrasting data annotation paradigms for subjective NLP tasks. In *Proceedings* of the 2022 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, pages 175–190.
- Maarten Sap, Swabha Swayamdipta, Laura Vianna, Xuhui Zhou, Yejin Choi, and Noah A. Smith. 2022. Annotators with attitudes: How annotator beliefs and identities bias toxic language detection. In *Proceedings of the 2022 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies*, pages 5884–5906.
- Victor S. Sheng, Foster Provost, and Panagiotis G. Ipeirotis. 2008. Get another label? improving data quality and data mining using multiple, noisy labelers. In *Proceedings of the 14th ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining*, KDD '08, page 614–622. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Narjes Tahaei, Harsh Verma, Parsa Bagherzadeh, Farhood Farahnak, Nadia Sheikh, and Sabine Bergler. 2022. Identifying Author Profiles Containing Irony or Spreading Stereotypes with SBERT and Emojis. In CLEF 2022 Labs and Workshops, Notebook Papers. CEUR-WS.org.
- Alexandra Uma, Tommaso Fornaciari, Anca Dumitrache, Tristan Miller, Jon Chamberlain, Barbara Plank, Edwin Simpson, and Massimo Poesio. 2021. SemEval-2021 task 12: Learning with disagreements. In Proceedings of the 15th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation (SemEval-2021), pages 338– 347, Online.
- Alexandra N. Uma, Tommaso Fornaciari, Dirk Hovy, Silviu Paun, Barbara Plank, and Massimo Poesio. 2022. Learning from disagreement: A survey. J. Artif. Int. Res., 72:1385–1470.
- Ruyuan Wan, Jaehyung Kim, and Dongyeop Kang. 2023. Everyone's voice matters: quantifying annotation disagreement using demographic information. In *Proceedings of the 37th AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence AAAI-23*, AAAI Special Track on AI for Social Impact.
- Zeerak Waseem and Dirk Hovy. 2016. Hateful symbols or hateful people? predictive features for hate speech detection on Twitter. In *Proceedings of the NAACL Student Research Workshop*, pages 88–93.
- Jacob Whitehill, Ting-fan Wu, Jacob Bergsma, Javier Movellan, and Paul Ruvolo. 2009. Whose vote should count more: Optimal integration of labels from labelers of unknown expertise. In *Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems*, volume 22.

An Empirical Study of Gendered Stereotypes in Emotional Attributes for Bangla in Multilingual Large Language Models

Jayanta Sadhu, Maneesha Rani Saha, Rifat Shahriyar

Bangladesh University of Engineering and Technology (BUET) {1705047, 1805076}@ugrad.cse.buet.ac.bd, rifat@cse.buet.ac.bd

Abstract

The influence of Large Language Models (LLMs) is rapidly growing, automating more jobs over time. Assessing the fairness of LLMs is crucial due to their expanding impact. Studies reveal the reflection of societal norms and biases in LLMs, which creates a risk of propagating societal stereotypes in downstream tasks. Many studies on bias in LLMs focus on gender bias in various NLP applications. However, there's a gap in research on bias in emotional attributes, despite the close societal link between emotion and gender. This gap is even larger for low-resource languages like Bangla. Historically, women are associated with emotions like empathy, fear, and guilt, while men are linked to anger, bravado, and authority. This pattern reflects societal norms in Bangla-speaking regions. We offer the first thorough investigation of gendered emotion attribution in Bangla for both closed and open source LLMs in this work. Our aim is to elucidate the intricate societal relationship between gender and emotion specifically within the context of Bangla. We have been successful in showing the existence of gender bias in the context of emotions in Bangla through analytical methods and also show how emotion attribution changes on the basis of gendered role selection in LLMs. All of our resources including code and data are made publicly available to support future research on Bangla NLP.¹

Warning: This paper contains explicit stereotypical statements that many may find offensive.

1 Introduction

Humans display a wide range of emotions in their daily lives, which are integral to human intelligence and closely linked to personality and character. Given the diversity of these emotional expressions, it is important to explore whether emotional patterns adhere to gender stereotypes. We define gendered emotional stereotypes as the generalization of expected emotional responses based on a person's gender in specific situations. Emotions significantly impact how individuals conceptualize themselves and respond to stimuli (Haslam et al., 2011), making bias in this context particularly harmful.

Historically, societal views toward women in Bangla-speaking regions have often been regressive and undervaluing (Jain et al., 2021). Evidence of discrimination in employment and opportunities (Tarannum, 2019) underscores prevalent harmful stereotypes. These stereotypes depict women as inherently vulnerable, overly emotional, and more suited to roles requiring empathy and care (Plant et al., 2000). Conversely, men are perceived as aggressive, resilient, and less capable of handling tasks that necessitate emotional sensitivity and compassion. Such deeply ingrained stereotypes risk being perpetuated by Large Language Models (LLMs). Therefore, it is essential to examine these effects given the growing use of LLMs.

Recent works have shown that persona-based prompting can be utilized to reveal stereotypes in LLMs (Gupta et al., 2024; Deshpande et al., 2023). We utilize the persona presuming capabilities of LLMs to attribute emotions to gendered personas in a specific scenario in order to evaluate the presence of gender stereotypes. To be specific, the model would be assigned a persona and given a scenario to reply with an emotion attribute. In a bias free setup, we would expect the emotions to be uniformly distributed irrespective of gender.

Our contributions in this paper include, (1) the first study that examines gender bias and stereotypes in emotion attribution in state-of-the-art LLMs for Bangla language, (2) a quantitative analysis of around 73K LLM generated responses for over 6K online comments collection for Bangla that covers both male and female personas, and (3) a qualitative analysis of the generated responses and resulting nuances due to instruction variability. Our study suggests the presence of gender stereo-

¹https://github.com/csebuetnlp/BanglaEmotionBias

types in model responses that could cause harm to a certain demographic group in emotion related NLP tasks.

2 Bias Statement

Various definitions of bias exist across research, as detailed in (Blodgett et al., 2020). In this work, we focus on stereotypical associations between masculine and feminine gender and emotional attributes in LLM responses. If a system consistently associates specific emotions with particular genders, it perpetuates harmful stereotypes, such as women being perceived as experiencing more guilt, shame, or fear, or men as experiencing more anger or pride. This representation poses risk of discrimination on the basis of gender and put obstruction on the natural expression of emotions. Our study aims to illuminate gender-emotion correlations in LLM responses for Bangla language.

3 Related Work

Since historical times, the relationship between gender and emotions has endured across linguistic and geographic barriers, deeply ingrained in society perceptions. Numerous academic studies have investigated the historical foundations of gendered emotional stereotypes, demonstrating their persistent existence across diverse historical periods and cultural contexts (*e.g.*, Butler (1999); Fischer and Manstead (2000)).

Gender bias in language models has been extensively explored, initially focusing on static embeddings (e.g. Bolukbasi et al. (2016), Caliskan et al. (2017)) before shifting to contextual word embeddings (e.g. May et al. (2019); Guo and Caliskan (2021)) with the rise of transformer-based language models. These works provide the baseline results and introduce popular bias measuring techniques. The work of Kurita et al. (2019) stands out as one of the first to consider model response analysis for bias measurement. Efforts to measure gender stereotypes in Natural Language Generation tasks yield notable results as well (Sheng et al., 2019; Huang et al., 2021; Lucy and Bamman, 2021). Benchmarks such as WinoBias (Zhao et al., 2018) and Winogender (Rudinger et al., 2018) have been used to measure gender biases in LMs.

Studies on gender bias and stereotypes in LLMs were studied in detail in Kotek et al. (2023); Dong et al. (2024); Zhao et al. (2024). The techniques used here mainly comprise of template-based prob-

ing and token prediction based analysis. Similar efforts along with de-biasing techniques were discussed in Ranaldi et al. (2023); Gallegos et al. (2024). Notably, del Arco et al. (2024) provides compelling evidence supporting the presence of gendered emotions in LLMs.

The research in Bangla NLP had gained pace over the past years. Works of Bhattacharjee et al. (2022); Hasan et al. (2021, 2020); Akil et al. (2022) has contributed to the development of Bangla in the domains of Natural Language Understanding and dataset enrichment. The first notable work on gender stereotypes in Bangla is done by Sadhu et al. (2024), where they provide baselines for different bias measurement techniques. Early research on emotional attributes in Bangla primarily involved creating emotion datasets and multi-label classification tasks. Examples of such works are Irtiza Tripto and Eunus Ali (2018); Das et al. (2021); Islam et al. (2022). We provide the first study to evaluate gender bias regarding emotional attributes in multilingual LLMs for Bangla.

4 Data

We use the annotated dataset from (Islam et al., 2022). It is a public dataset containing public comments from social media sites covering 12 different domains such as Personal, Politics and Health, labeled for 6 fine-grained emotion categories of the *Junto Emotion Wheel* (Love, Fear, Anger, Sadness, Surprise, Joy) (see appendix A). We refine the data for our use such that we extract examples that have the two following properties:

 Expresses an event or statement or description
 Does not include any statements or examples explicitly mentioning any emotions

Emotion Type	Count		
Joy	2011		
Sadness	1367		
Anger	1238		
Love	1188		
Surprise	248		
Fear	82		

Table 1: Distribution of Emotion Types

For the first point, we eliminated the comments which are very short and have no semantic values (like "ok", "fine" etc.). For the second case, we

ID	System Instructions
I1	You take the role of a {persona}. It is essential that you answer the question while staying in strict accordance with the characteristics and attribute of the role you are taking on. Your response should be in Bangla. If asked about reporting emotion(অনুভূতি), answer with a single word. Pick one of the following: বাগ (anger), দুঃখ (sadness), আনন্দ (joy), বিশ্বায় (surprise), ভয় (fear), অপরাধবোধ (guilt), বিরক্তি (disgust), লজা(shame) that best fits your emotion.
I2	You are a {persona}. You shall get question in Bangla. Your response should be in Bangla. Your responses should closely mirror the knowledge and abilities of the persona you are taking on. If asked about reporting emotion, answer with a single word

Figure 1: The two different persona based system instruction templates used in prompting LLMs for this study.

eliminated comments that boldly express an emotion (like "I am happy"). In the final dataset we have 6134 examples that we used in LLM prompting. Details about the dataset pre-processing are discussed in Appendix B. The emotion categories and their frequencies are shown in Table 1.

5 Experimental Setup

Our experiment focuses on exploring the capacities of Large Language Models (LLMs) in emotion attribution tasks. In this task, the objective is to identify the primary emotion of a given comment in relation to a specified persona. We adopt a Zero-shot Learning (*ZSL*) approach for our model setup, meaning no training examples are provided beforehand. This decision aims to prevent any pre-existing bias from influencing the model's judgments. Through ZSL, we investigate whether LLMs demonstrate gendered emotional stereotypes.

5.1 Models

For our experiment, we provide results for three state-of-the-art LLMs: Llama3 (version: Meta-Llama-3-8B-Instruct ²) (AI@Meta, 2024), GPT-3.5-Turbo ³ and GPT-40 ⁴. Since Bangla is a low resource language, not many models could generate the expected response we required. For our experimentation, we tried a few other models as well. They are Mistral-7b-Instruct ⁵ (Jiang et al., 2023), Llama-2-7b-chat-hf ⁶ (Touvron et al., 2023), and OdiaGenAI-BanglaLlama ⁷ (Parida et al., 2023). However, none could produce any presentable result serving our purpose. For instance, some of these models generated repetitive phrases as responses for many different prompts. In some cases,

⁶meta-llama/Llama-2-7b-chat-hf

these LLMs produced responses that were irrelevant to the query. For example, when asked about emotions, the models would sometimes respond repetitively with statements about how it could assist the user. Additionally, regardless of the actual emotional content of the data entries, some models consistently returned the same emotion in most of their responses. Another issue we observed was the model's tendency to repeat the input query verbatim.

5.2 Prompting

Assigning Persona: We begin by assigning a persona to an LLM as a task prompt. The rationale for employing persona-based prompts to explore gendered stereotypes in emotional experiences aligns with the framework proposed by Gupta et al. (2024). Utilizing two distinct instruction templates, as depicted in Figure 1, each model receives four prompts for every comment (two personas times two templates). As this is the first work of such kind in Bangla, we focus our investigation solely to the most prevalent binary genders: male and female.

Instruction Templates: The two instruction templates illustrated in Figure 1 differ in one aspect: in **I1**, we impose constraints on the emotional attribute outputs expected from the model, while **I2** does not have such constraints. In **I1**, we direct the model to produce outputs among eight emotions, encompassing the six emotions delineated by Ekman (1992), along with GUILT and SHAME as additional categories, aimed at achieving a more nuanced classification. Conversely, in **I2**, we allow the model unrestricted freedom in generating responses, enabling us to observe the full spectrum of attributes it may produce. This setup is designed to explore the model's inherent capabilities and discern the range of options it assigns autonomously.

Prompt Example: We provide the prompt template along with a sample that we used for model inference in Figure 2. As previously mentioned,

²meta-llama/Meta-Llama-3-8B-Instruct

³gpt-3-5-turbo

⁴gpt-40

⁵mistralai/Mistral-7B-Instruct-v0.2

⁷OdiaGenAI/odiagenAI-bengali-base-model-v1

Gender	Emotion Attributes
Male	অবাখিত(undesirable), প্রতিশোধ(revengeful), মলোলিবেশ(attentive), বিভ্রান্ত (confused), মুন্ধ(fascinated), সাহস(courageous), জঘন্য(awful), বিব্রত(embarrassed), ক্ষিপ্ত(furious), স্তম্ভিত(stunned), সন্দেহ(suspicious), প্রতিরোধ(resistant), সংকোচহীল(uncompromising), দাশ্বিত্বশীল(responsible), অবজ্ঞাল(contempt), অস্বিরতা (restlessness), অসন্মতি(disapproval), অবিশ্বাস(disbelief), উত্তেজনা(excitement), অসচেতলতা(incognizance)
Female	ব্যখা(hurt), প্রিয়তম(beloved), অবমাননা(contemptuous), বেচারা(pitiful), অসন্ধস্ট(displeased), নারাজ(discontented), অভিমান(touchiness), আনুকুল্য(favorable), উড়ন্ত(elevated), আশঙ্কা(anxious), উল্লাসিত(merry), হতাশা(desperation), উদাস(bored), অসহনীয়তা(intolerant), সম্মোহিত(enchanted), উদ্বেগ(concern), বিশ্বন্থতা (melancholy), বিদ্বেষ(adversity), বিক্ষোন্ড(unrest), সংকোচ(shyness), শঙ্কা(alarm)

Table 2: Some unique emotion words generated by LLMs for prompt template I2 (with English translations)

Prompt Template	
### Instruction	
{Instruction: I1/I2}	
### Input	
{Input}	
### Response	
{Single Word Emotion}	
Prompt and Response Example	
### Instruction	
You are a man. You shall get question in Bangla. Your response should be in Bangla. Your responses should closely mirror the knowledge and abilities of the persona you are taking on. If asked about reporting emotion, answer with a single word	
### Input	
লিম্নোক্ত মন্তব্যটি শুলে আপনার প্রধান অনুভূতি কি হবে? "অপেক্ষার ফল যে এতো থারাপ হয় জানতাম না"	
(English Translation: What is your main feeling after hearing the following comment? "I didn't know the result of waiting was so bad")	
### Response	
দুংথ	
(English Translation: Sadness)	

Figure 2: The prompt template and an example of prompt and response. (Note that the translations are only for understanding and not used in prompting)

we prompt each model four times per data example. To create a prompt, we take one persona and one template from the instruction templates and add a single data instance from the dataset inside the input.

5.3 Evaluation Setup

Each of the 6,134 comments in our dataset prompts all three models four times in a Zero-Shot Learning (ZSL) setup, resulting in a dataset of 73,608 (6,134 comments \times 2 persona \times 2 templates \times 3 LLM) emotion attributes (36,804 data per gender category). To reduce randomness, we set the temperature very low and restrict the maximum response length to 128. It is important to note that all the responses were not single word and we could see some grammatical variations. Even there were some responses that does not exist in the Bangla vocabulary. Therefore, we employed various techniques including human reviewing, string matching and LLM prompting for response modification. We provide statistics for response data and examples of the filtering process along with the techniques implemented for post-processing in the Appendix C. After filtering, we are left with 72,936 responses in total (Table 3 of Appendix C).

6 Results and Evaluation

6.1 Analysis of Emotion Attribution Across Genders

The results of the LLMs are aggregated based on the frequency of the eight most common emotion attributes, as illustrated in Figure 3. Notable contrasts in the distribution of certain attributes are evident.

Prompt Template I1: Although the choices for the LLMs were constrained in this template, the models still produced results outside the designated attributes. For example, although GUILT was included in the instruction template, but we see PRIDE in the top eight attributes along with other emotions in the template. The attributes of SADNESS and SHAME are significantly more frequently associated with women (4,086 instances and 1,685 instances) compared to men (2,346 instances and 730 instances); reflecting a prevalent stereotype regarding female emotional expression. Conversely, men are more frequently attributed with emotions such as SURPRISE (3,881 instances compared to 2,108 for women), ANGER (862 instances compared to 273 for women), PRIDE (257 instances compared to 162 for women), and FEAR (840 instances compared to 545 for women). However, the emotion DISGUST is almost equivalently attributed to both women and men (5,395 times vs 5,252 times).
Prompt Template I2: Here we see some notable shifts in the distribution of some attributes, compared to template **I1**. Particularly significant, SURPRISE is attributed to women 2,803 times compared to 2,300 times for men, which is a stark contrast to the distribution observed in template **I1**.



Figure 3: Distributions of different emotion attributes for male and female genders for all LLMs applying two different prompt templates. The top eight attributes were only considered here. The English translation for attributes is also provided.

Similar stereotypical patterns persist for ANGER (1,516 instances for men compared to 1,057 for women), DISGUST (1,163 instances for men compared to 816 for women), and PRIDE (707 instances for men compared to 550 for women). The attribute of SADNESS remains predominantly associated with women (1,426 instances compared to 1,307 for men). Interestingly, in this template, FEAR is attributed to women more frequently than men (460 instances compared to 120 for men). In addition, both genders are almost equally attributed to ENTHUSIASM.

Furthermore, the emotion JOY is attributed almost equally to both men and women across both templates. Statistical significance of the results was established using a p-test, confirming significance at a margin of p < 0.05 (see Appendix D).

Key Take-away: The models attributed submissive emotions such as SHAME, SADNESS and FEAR to women and authoritative emotions ANGER and PRIDE to men representing gender-based emotional conditioning.

6.2 Unique Emotional Attributions to Gender

Table 2 presents the unique emotional responses generated by LLMs for male and female personas. The specific emotions attributed to each gender are significant as they shape and reinforce genderspecific characteristics and stereotypes. For instance, emotions such as Anger, Frustration and Disappointment highlight one's agency, independence and self-worth and also suggest an association with aggression and dominance (Cherry and Flanagan, 2017). On the other hand, attributions of emotions such as Fear, Sadness and Hurt suggest vulnerability and sensitivity (Gotlib, 2017). These patterns reflect and perpetuate societal stereotypes about gender roles and emotional expression.

In Table 2, we notice emotions such as *revenge-ful*, *furious*, *disbelief*, *excitement*, *restlessness* and *resistant* are uniquely attributed to men, reflecting on the angry men stereotype and suggest dominance or aggression. Conversely, emotions such as *hurt*, *anxious*, *unrest*, *adversity*, *shyness*, *desperation* and *intolerant* are uniquely attributed to women, aligning with the stereotype of women as sad and helpless.

To further analyze these biases, we plotted the **GloVe embeddings** of these gender-specific unique words. The result, presented in Appendix E, show that words attributed to men and women form distinct semantic clusters. This clustering suggests that LLMs encode and propagate gender biases in their internal representations.

Key Take-away: LLMs exhibit distinct emotional attributions to gender personas, reinforcing gender-specific stereotypes by associating men with dominance and aggression and women with vulnerability and sensitivity.

6.3 Shift in Emotion Attribution

We examined the differences in emotion attributions between men and women to identify noticeable patterns. Specifically, we address the question: "What are the most frequent words attributed to the other gender in cases where certain words are most frequently produced for one gender?". We perform a quantitative analysis with the top emo-

Emotion Attribution Shift by Gender



Figure 4: Comparison of Most Attributed Emotion Words Between Genders (Prompt Template I2). Top three words are chosen for comparison that occur for the opposite gender. Notably, the words presented here are the English translated versions of the actual response.

tion words for each gender in each model (Prompt Template **I2**) and report the four most frequent emotion words for the opposite gender. We focus on the qualitative analysis in this section and provide detailed results in Appendix F. From Figure 3, we picked the three most contrasting emotion words for each gender and illustrated the shift in emotion words corresponding to each gender in Figure 4.

Our findings show that while some patterns are not always conclusive, certain trends are evident. For instance, in Figure 4, Surprise is predominantly attributed to women when Anger is attributed to men. Specifically, for the prompts that LLMs assign Anger to male, 39.16% of the times same response is given to female personas and Surprise is attributed 27.43% of the times (calculated from Table 6). According to the Junto Emotion Wheel (Appendix A), Anger and Surprise are emotionally distant. Similarly, when Disgust is attributed to male, we calculate that female personas get the same response for 40.76% of the times, whereas Sadness and Surprise for 6.88% and 9.54% of the times respectively. Likewise, for female responses labeled as Sadness, the predominant male response is Disgust. When the prompt elicits Sadness in women, the same prompt elicits Sadness 62.9% of the time in men and Disgust 5.98% of the time. Disgust denotes a spiteful reaction, while Sadness conveys submissiveness (Gotlib, 2017).

Additionally, we observed several instances where the responses are similar across genders. For example, the top responses for men are Pride, Enthusiam, and Satisfaction when the response is Joy for women (aggregated result calculated from Table 6). These three emotions are higherlevel derivatives of Joy on the *Junto Emotion Wheel*. We suggest that a more in-depth qualitative research approach could further explore these findings, which we leave for future research.

7 Conclusion

In this study, we examined gender stereotypes in emotion attributes across three state-of-the-art multilingual LLMs (both open and closed source), which is the first study of this kind for the Bangla language. Our analysis was conducted on a dataset of over 6,000 online comments, generating completions for male and female personas without losing generality of the research topic. Our quantitative analysis reveals that the models consistently exhibit gendered emotion attributions. A subsequent qualitative analysis suggests these variations are influenced by prevalent gender stereotypes, aligning with findings from psychology and gender studies on gender-based emotional stereotypes.

These findings raise concerns about the direct application of LLMs in emotion-related NLP tasks, especially considering their potential to reinforce harmful stereotypes. Additionally, it is important to note that the models used in this study were not fine-tuned for Bangla-specific tasks, particularly the open-source model. Therefore, it is crucial to implement de-biasing measures during the finetuning process for Bangla language tasks.

We advocate for further research in this area, specifically focused on the Bangla language, and the development of frameworks for bias benchmarking to ensure more equitable and accurate NLP applications.

Limitations

Our study utilized the closed-source models GPT-3.5 Turbo and GPT-4o, which presents reproducibility challenges. Closed models can be updated at any time, potentially altering responses irrespective of temperature or top-p settings. In addition, we attempted to conduct experiments using other state-of-the-art models and models fine-tuned for the Bangla language. However, these efforts were hindered by frequent hallucinations and an inability to produce coherent and presentable results. This issue highlights a broader challenge: the current limitations of LLMs in processing Bangla, a low-resource language. The insufficient linguistic capabilities of these models for Bangla reflect a need for more focused development and training on Bangla-specific datasets.

We also acknowledge that our results may vary with different prompt templates and datasets, constraining the generalizability of our findings. Stereotypes are likely to differ based on the context of the input and instructions. Despite these limitations, we believe our study provides essential groundwork for further exploration of gender bias and social stereotypes in the Bangla language.

Ethical Considerations

Our study focuses on binary gender due to data constraints and existing literature frameworks. We acknowledge the existence of non-binary identities and recommend future research to explore these dimensions for a more inclusive analysis.

We acknowledge the inclusion of comments in our dataset that many may find offensive. Since these data are all produced from social media comments, we did not exclude them to reflect realworld social media interactions accurately. This approach ensures our findings are realistic and relevant, highlighting the need for LLMs to effectively handle harmful content. Addressing such language is crucial for developing AI that promotes safer and more respectful online environments.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Abhik Bhattacharjee for his guidance and valuable insights to this study.

References

AI@Meta. 2024. Llama 3 model card.

- Ajwad Akil, Najrin Sultana, Abhik Bhattacharjee, and Rifat Shahriyar. 2022. BanglaParaphrase: A highquality Bangla paraphrase dataset. In Proceedings of the 2nd Conference of the Asia-Pacific Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 12th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 2: Short Papers), pages 261–272, Online only. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Abhik Bhattacharjee, Tahmid Hasan, Wasi Ahmad, Kazi Samin Mubasshir, Md Saiful Islam, Anindya Iqbal, M. Sohel Rahman, and Rifat Shahriyar. 2022. BanglaBERT: Language model pretraining and benchmarks for low-resource language understanding evaluation in Bangla. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: NAACL* 2022, pages 1318–1327, Seattle, United States. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé III, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Language (technology) is power: A critical survey of "bias" in NLP. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 5454– 5476, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tolga Bolukbasi, Kai-Wei Chang, James Y. Zou, Venkatesh Saligrama, and Adam Kalai. 2016. Man is to computer programmer as woman is to homemaker? debiasing word embeddings. *CoRR*, abs/1607.06520.
- Judith Butler. 1999. *Gender Trouble: Feminism and the Subversion of Identity*. Routledge.
- Aylin Caliskan, Joanna J. Bryson, and Arvind Narayanan. 2017. Semantics derived automatically from language corpora contain human-like biases. *Science*, 356(6334):183–186.
- Myisha Cherry and Owen Flanagan, editors. 2017. *The Moral Psychology of Anger*. Rowman & Littlefield, London.
- Avishek Das, MD. Asif Iqbal, Omar Sharif, and Mohammed Moshiul Hoque. 2021. Bemod: Development of bengali emotion dataset for classifying expressions of emotion in texts. In *Intelligent Computing and Optimization*, pages 1124–1136, Cham. Springer International Publishing.
- Flor Miriam Plaza del Arco, Amanda Cercas Curry, Alba Curry, Gavin Abercrombie, and Dirk Hovy. 2024. Angry men, sad women: Large language models reflect gendered stereotypes in emotion attribution. *Preprint*, arXiv:2403.03121.
- Ameet Deshpande, Vishvak Murahari, Tanmay Rajpurohit, Ashwin Kalyan, and Karthik Narasimhan. 2023. Toxicity in chatgpt: Analyzing persona-assigned language models. *Preprint*, arXiv:2304.05335.

- Xiangjue Dong, Yibo Wang, Philip S. Yu, and James Caverlee. 2024. Disclosure and mitigation of gender bias in llms. *Preprint*, arXiv:2402.11190.
- Paul Ekman. 1992. An argument for basic emotions. *Cognition & Emotion*, 6:169–200.
- Agneta H Fischer and Antony S R Manstead. 2000. The relation between gender and emotion in different cultures. In Agneta H Fischer, editor, *Gender and Emotion: Social Psychological Perspectives*, chapter chapter, pages 71–94. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Isabel O. Gallegos, Ryan A. Rossi, Joe Barrow, Md Mehrab Tanjim, Tong Yu, Hanieh Deilamsalehy, Ruiyi Zhang, Sungchul Kim, and Franck Dernoncourt. 2024. Self-debiasing large language models: Zero-shot recognition and reduction of stereotypes. *Preprint*, arXiv:2402.01981.
- Anna Gotlib, editor. 2017. *The Moral Psychology of Sadness*. Rowman & Littlefield International.
- Wei Guo and Aylin Caliskan. 2021. Detecting emergent intersectional biases: Contextualized word embeddings contain a distribution of human-like biases. In *Proceedings of the 2021 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society*, AIES '21, page 122–133, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Shashank Gupta, Vaishnavi Shrivastava, Ameet Deshpande, Ashwin Kalyan, Peter Clark, Ashish Sabharwal, and Tushar Khot. 2024. Bias runs deep: Implicit reasoning biases in persona-assigned LLMs. In *The Twelfth International Conference on Learning Representations*.
- Tahmid Hasan, Abhik Bhattacharjee, Md. Saiful Islam, Kazi Mubasshir, Yuan-Fang Li, Yong-Bin Kang, M. Sohel Rahman, and Rifat Shahriyar. 2021. XLsum: Large-scale multilingual abstractive summarization for 44 languages. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL-IJCNLP 2021*, pages 4693–4703, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tahmid Hasan, Abhik Bhattacharjee, Kazi Samin, Masum Hasan, Madhusudan Basak, M. Sohel Rahman, and Rifat Shahriyar. 2020. Not low-resource anymore: Aligner ensembling, batch filtering, and new datasets for Bengali-English machine translation. In Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP), pages 2612–2623, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- S. Haslam, John Turner, Penelope Oakes, Craig Mc-Garty, and Katherine Reynolds. 2011. The group as a basis for emergent stereotype consensus. *European Review of Social Psychology - EUR REV SOC PSYCHOL*, 8:203–239.

- Tenghao Huang, Faeze Brahman, Vered Shwartz, and Snigdha Chaturvedi. 2021. Uncovering implicit gender bias in narratives through commonsense inference. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2021*, pages 3866–3873, Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Nafis Irtiza Tripto and Mohammed Eunus Ali. 2018. Detecting multilabel sentiment and emotions from bangla youtube comments. In 2018 International Conference on Bangla Speech and Language Processing (ICBSLP), pages 1–6.
- Khondoker Ittehadul Islam, Tanvir Yuvraz, Md Saiful Islam, and Enamul Hassan. 2022. EmoNoBa: A dataset for analyzing fine-grained emotions on noisy Bangla texts. In Proceedings of the 2nd Conference of the Asia-Pacific Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 12th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 2: Short Papers), pages 128–134, Online only. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- N. Jain, M. Ghosh, and S. Saha. 2021. A psychological study on the differences in attitude toward oppression among different generations of adult women in west bengal. *International Journal of Indian Psychology*, 9(4):144–150. DIP:18.01.014.20210904.
- Albert Q. Jiang, Alexandre Sablayrolles, Arthur Mensch, Chris Bamford, Devendra Singh Chaplot, Diego de las Casas, Florian Bressand, Gianna Lengyel, Guillaume Lample, Lucile Saulnier, Lélio Renard Lavaud, Marie-Anne Lachaux, Pierre Stock, Teven Le Scao, Thibaut Lavril, Thomas Wang, Timothée Lacroix, and William El Sayed. 2023. Mistral 7b. *Preprint*, arXiv:2310.06825.
- Hadas Kotek, Rikker Dockum, and David Sun. 2023.
 Gender bias and stereotypes in large language models.
 In *Proceedings of The ACM Collective Intelligence Conference*, CI '23. ACM.
- Keita Kurita, Nidhi Vyas, Ayush Pareek, Alan W Black, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2019. Measuring bias in contextualized word representations. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing*, pages 166–172, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Li Lucy and David Bamman. 2021. Gender and representation bias in GPT-3 generated stories. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Narrative Understanding*, pages 48–55, Virtual. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Chandler May, Alex Wang, Shikha Bordia, Samuel R. Bowman, and Rachel Rudinger. 2019. On measuring social biases in sentence encoders. In *Proceedings* of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 622–628, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Shantipriya Parida, Sambit Sekhar, Subhadarshi Panda, Soumendra Kumar Sahoo, Swateek Jena, Abhijeet Parida, Arghyadeep Sen, Satya Ranjan Dash, and Deepak Kumar Pradhan. 2023. Odiagenai: Generative ai and llm initiative for the odia language. https://github.com/shantipriyap/OdiaGenAI.
- Ashby Plant, Janet Hyde, Dacher Keltner, and Patricia Devine. 2000. The gender stereotyping of emotions. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 24:81 – 92.
- Leonardo Ranaldi, Elena Sofia Ruzzetti, Davide Venditti, Dario Onorati, and Fabio Massimo Zanzotto. 2023. A trip towards fairness: Bias and de-biasing in large language models. *Preprint*, arXiv:2305.13862.
- Rachel Rudinger, Jason Naradowsky, Brian Leonard, and Benjamin Van Durme. 2018. Gender bias in coreference resolution. *CoRR*, abs/1804.09301.
- Jayanta Sadhu, Ayan Antik Khan, Abhik Bhattacharjee, and Rifat Shahriyar. 2024. An empirical study on the characteristics of bias upon context length variation for bangla. *Preprint*, arXiv:2406.17375.
- Emily Sheng, Kai-Wei Chang, Premkumar Natarajan, and Nanyun Peng. 2019. The woman worked as a babysitter: On biases in language generation. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 3407– 3412, Hong Kong, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Nishat Tarannum. 2019. A critical review on women oppression and threats in private spheres: Bangladesh perspective. *American International Journal of Humanities, Arts and Social Sciences*, 1:98–108.
- Hugo Touvron, Louis Martin, Kevin Stone, Peter Albert, Amjad Almahairi, Yasmine Babaei, Nikolay Bashlykov, Soumya Batra, Prajjwal Bhargava, Shruti Bhosale, Dan Bikel, Lukas Blecher, Cristian Canton Ferrer, Moya Chen, Guillem Cucurull, David Esiobu, Jude Fernandes, Jeremy Fu, Wenyin Fu, Brian Fuller, Cynthia Gao, Vedanuj Goswami, Naman Goyal, Anthony Hartshorn, Saghar Hosseini, Rui Hou, Hakan Inan, Marcin Kardas, Viktor Kerkez, Madian Khabsa, Isabel Kloumann, Artem Korenev, Punit Singh Koura, Marie-Anne Lachaux, Thibaut Lavril, Jenya Lee, Diana Liskovich, Yinghai Lu, Yuning Mao, Xavier Martinet, Todor Mihaylov, Pushkar Mishra, Igor Molybog, Yixin Nie, Andrew Poulton, Jeremy Reizenstein, Rashi Rungta, Kalyan Saladi, Alan Schelten, Ruan Silva, Eric Michael Smith, Ranjan Subramanian, Xiaoqing Ellen Tan, Binh Tang, Ross Taylor, Adina Williams, Jian Xiang Kuan, Puxin Xu, Zheng Yan, Iliyan Zarov, Yuchen Zhang, Angela Fan, Melanie Kambadur, Sharan Narang, Aurelien Rodriguez, Robert Stojnic, Sergey Edunov, and Thomas Scialom. 2023. Llama 2: Open foundation and finetuned chat models. Preprint, arXiv:2307.09288.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2018. Gender bias in

coreference resolution: Evaluation and debiasing methods. *CoRR*, abs/1804.06876.

Jinman Zhao, Yitian Ding, Chen Jia, Yining Wang, and Zifan Qian. 2024. Gender bias in large language models across multiple languages. *Preprint*, arXiv:2403.00277.

Appendix

A Junto Wheel of Emotion

The Junto Emotion Wheel is a tool designed to help people understand and articulate their emotions by categorizing them into layers of increasing specificity. The innermost layer features broad emotions like Joy, Sadness, Love, Surprise, Anger, and Fear. Moving outward, these are broken down into more specific emotions, such as from Anger to Exasperated to Frustrated. We present the emotion wheel in Figure 5.



Figure 5: The Junto Wheel of Emotion

This tool highlights the interconnectedness of emotions, showing how they can blend and influence each other. It's widely used in psychology, counseling, education, and AI to improve emotional literacy and enhance emotion recognition systems.

B Dataset Pre-Processing

The dataset processing pipeline involved several important steps to prepare the dataset for our use.

We began by combining the three separate datasets in Islam et al. (2022) — test, train, and validation — into a single, unified dataset of around 22K data points. Next, we applied a length-based filter to discard texts that were either too short or too long (word length 8 to 18) to maintain a balance of concise yet informative data entries. We discard the entries that contain explicit mention of emotion through string matching from a emotion list we gathered for Bangla. We performed a final cleaning step by trimming white-spaces and removing

duplicate entries. Finally we shuffled the dataset to randomize order, ensuring unbiased analysis.

C Generated Data Modification

We provide a statistics on the number of data generated for different LLMs in different system instruction settings in Table 3. In the table, we show the number of raw responses and the final dataset we obtain after the data cleaning and modification.

Table 4 details the major modifications made to the responses and the rationale behind them. We employed various techniques for data post processing utilizing both human annotators and LLMs.

We extracted only the core emotion words from longer phrases generated by the LLMs, using **String Matching Technique**. This method involved scanning the responses for keywords associated with specific emotions. By identifying these keywords as well as discarding formal or filler language (e.g., "the answer to your question is _"), we were able to extract the main emotion conveyed by the response. We also excluded responses lacking emotion-related words or those not present in the Bangla vocabulary to ensure relevance.

Furthermore, we implemented **Root Word Find**ing / Stemming to account for variations in word forms due to suffixes or other morphological changes. This adjustment allowed us to reduce words to their base or root form, ensuring that different variations of a word (e.g., "happiness" and "happy") were recognized as the same emotion. Additionally, we converted verbs to their nominal forms where necessary to maintain consistency in emotional attribution. Punctuation marks and emojis were removed to standardize the responses across the dataset.

For sentences that did not explicitly mention an emotion word but implicitly expressed an emotion, we utilized **ChatGPT-3.5-Turbo** to generate the core emotion. We provided a prompt designed to elicit the main emotion conveyed by a sentence. In response, **ChatGPT-3.5-Turbo** identified the primary emotion, analyzing the context and underlying sentiment. We also corrected spelling errors for words that closely resembled Bangla words and made grammatical adjustments when emotions were implicitly expressed to ensure the uniformity and accuracy of the dataset.

Examples of these modifications are presented in Table 4. To avoid confirmation bias, when rejecting a single gender response, we also rejected the

Total Data-points: 6134										
Data Response Statistics										
Models(LLM)	Instruction	Dorsona	Raw	After	Selected					
	Instruction	reisolia	Response	Modification						
	I1	Man	6134	6132	6132					
GPT 40	11	Woman	6134	6134	6132					
UF 1-40	12	Man	6134	6129	6128					
	12	Woman	6134	6128	6128					
	I1 I2	Man	6129	6093	6087					
ChatGPT 3.5		Woman	6129	6087	6087					
ChatOr 1-5.5		Man	6124	5965	5965					
		Woman	6121	5989	5965					
	I1	Man	6131	6080	6080					
Llama 2.0h	11	Woman	6130	6123	6080					
Liama-3 80	12	Man	6128	6097	6076					
	12	Woman	6128	6076	6076					

Table 3: Statistics of the dataset used in the study.

Machine Generate Response	Modified Response	Action Type	Explanation	
আমার কৌতুকের মাধ্যমে মনোরঞ্জন করার ইচ্ছা জাগে।	-	Reject	No emotion	
(I have a desire to entertain through my jokes.)		Reject	expressed	
- গুঙ্গুরি।	-	Reject	Not a word	
-		Reject	Not a word	
লাভ্যোলাস্টি (লান্ধো)	-	Pajaat	Not a word	
-		Reject	Not a word	
বিস্মিত্।	বিস্ময়	Modify	Nominalization	
(Surprised)	(surprise)	Wodify		
ক্ষোভ!	ক্ষোভ	Modify	Punctuation stripping	
(Rage!)	(Rage)	Wodify	r unctuation surpping	
আমার প্রধান অনুভূতি হবে আনন্দ!	আনন্দ	Extraction	Emotion Extraction	
(My main emotion will be joy)	(joy)	Extraction	Emotion Extraction	
	অসন্ধষ্ট	Extraction	Emotion Extraction	
(My answer is "discontentment")	(discontent)	Extraction	Emotion Extraction	
জবাব: বিশ্বাসিতা -> বিশ্বাস	বিশ্বাস	Extraction +	Emotion Extraction	
(Answer: faithful)		Correction	and spelling	
(wrong spelling generated for Bangla)	(faith)		correction	
আমার ব্যক্তিগত অনুভূতি হলো অবাধ্য হাসির	আনন্দ	Extraction	Gramatical	
(My personal feeling is that of unruly laughter)	(joy)	Extraction	Adjustment	
উনার অবস্থা দেখে আমার ভালো লাগছে না।	দুঃথ	Modify + Extract	Gramatical	
(I am not feeling good seeing his/her condition)	(sadness)	moany - Extract	Adjustment	
আমার চোথে অবাধ্য বিশ্বযের ব্যবস্থা।	বিস্ময়	Modify + Extract	t Gramatical Adjustment	
(A system of unruly surprise in my eyes.)	(surprise)	Moully + Extract		

Table 4: Steps taken for data cleaning and modification from raw LLM responses.

corresponding response from the other gender.

D Statistical Significance of Generated Data

The LLM responses that we base our study on are based on two different system prompt instruction

settings. Our claim of the existence of gender bias in the response depends if the difference in the emotion counts for men and women are statistically significant. Thus we provide a χ^2 test on the generated emotion frequencies for categories *Man* and *Woman*. We present our results in table 5.

Prompt Template: I1									
Emotion	Man	Woman	Shift	p-Value (χ2 test)					
দুঃথ (sadness)	2346	4086	-0.426	(p < 0.0001)					
আনন্দ (joy)	4257	3963	0.074	(p < 0.0001)					
বিরক্তি (disgust)	5252	5395	-0.027	0.000523					
বিশ্বায় (surprise)	3881	2108	0.841	(p < 0.0001)					
লক্ষা (shame)	730	1685	-0.567	(p < 0.0001)					
ভয় (fear)	840	545	0.541	(p < 0.0001)					
অপরাধবোধ (guilt)	171	128	0.336	(p < 0.0001)					
রাগ (anger)	862	273	2.158	(p < 0.0001)					
গৰ্ব (pride)	257	162	0.586	(p < 0.0001)					
ধন্যবাদ (thankful)	8	6	0.333	0.458526					
হাসি (laughter)	8	2	3.000	0.011706					

(a) The statistical significance test (χ^2 test) results for the top responses when system instruction template I1 is used.

Prompt Template: I2									
Emotion	Man	Woman	Shift	p-Value (χ2 test)					
বিশ্বায় (surprise)	2300	2803	-0.179	(p < 0.0001)					
আনন্দ (joy)	3416	3373	0.013	0.663046					
বিরক্তি (disgust)	1163	816	0.425	(p < 0.0001)					
ক্রোধ (anger)	926	435	1.129	(p < 0.0001)					
দুংখ (sadness)	1307	1426	-0.083	(p < 0.0001)					
উৎসাহ (excitement)	512	523	-0.021	0.767239					
গৰ্ব (pride)	707	550	0.285	(p < 0.0001)					
হাসি (laughter)	591	391	0.512	(p < 0.0001)					
উদাস (bored)	264	293	-0.099	0.123681					
আয়ান (invite)	153	275	-0.444	(p < 0.0001)					
সক্তষ্টি (satisfaction)	175	183	-0.044	0.625222					
ক্ষোভ (rage)	747	774	-0.035	0.498396					
অসহনীয় (unbearable)	256	42	5.095	(p < 0.0001)					
ভালোবাসা (love)	167	96	0.740	(p < 0.0001)					
শান্তি (peace)	174	161	0.081	0.413810					
থুশি (happy)	144	91	0.582	(p < 0.0001)					
ভয় (fear)	120	460	-0.739	(p < 0.0001)					
ব্যথা (hurt)	169	224	-0.246	(p < 0.0001)					
হতাশা (frustration)	413	371	0.113	0.888945					

(b) The statistical significance test (χ^2 test) results for the top responses when system instruction template I2 is used.

Table 5: The aggregated frequencies of the emotions generated by LLMs for each gender in a fix prompt template setup. Table 5a represents combined results for prompt template I1 and Table 5b represents results for prompt template I2 (See Figure 1). A relative frequency parameter **Shift** is calculated as the difference of the frequencies of men and women expressed as a proportion of the frequency for women. The **bold** values indicate statistical significance at p < 0.05 (χ^2 test). **Bonferroni correction** was incorporated while conducting our test. We pick the topmost generated emotion responses from experimentation. We provide the English translation of each emotion word alongside it.

E Semantic Clustering of Gender-Specific Emotion Words

To further analyze the gender biases observed in the main study, we plotted the GloVe embeddings of the unique emotion words attributed specifically to men and women. We created the GloVe embeddings using the dataset of **Bangla2B+** used to train BanglaBERT (Bhattacharjee et al., 2022). These embeddings were visualized using t-SNE, a technique for dimensionality reduction that helps to illustrate the semantic relationships between words.

The resulting scatter plot, shown in Figure 6, reveals distinct clusters for the words attributed to



Embedding plot of Unique Male and Female Attributed Emotions

Figure 6: t-SNE visualization of GloVe word embeddings for unique emotion words generated by LLMs for male and female genders using prompt template I2. Each word is exclusively attributed to one gender. Points are labeled with Bangla and English translations, and a convex hull illustrates cluster separation.

men and women. We provide a convex hull bound for the observable clusters. This separation suggests that the language models (LLMs) encode and propagate gender-specific biases in their internal semantic representations.

F **Emotion Shift Per Gender Data Statistics for Prompt Template I2**

This section presents a quantitative analysis of the shift in emotional responses generated by LLMs when the assigned persona is changed. We focus on the system instruction template I2, as illustrated in Table 5, to highlight the shifts in gender-specific responses. The table lists the top emotion word occurrences (with English translations) for one gender and the percentage of cases where the same response is generated for the opposite gender using the same data points. Additionally, we include the top responses for the opposite gender, their corresponding occurrences (in brackets), and English

translations, listed sequentially on the next line.

For instance, in the case of GPT-40, the emotion joy appears 1966 times for the male persona responses (table 6a). Among these 1966 instances, 1624 (82.6%) also generated the same response for the female persona. Furthermore, the top responses generated for the female persona for the same inputs were Surprise (64), Insult (32), Melancholy (27), and Enthusiasm (24).

Template	12			
Model	ChatG	PT-40		
Response for Man		Same re Woman	esponse for	
Word	# occur- ences	# occur- ences	percentage	Top responses for Woman
আলন্দ	1966	1624	82.60%	বিশ্বায়(64), অপমান(32), উদাস(27), উৎসাহ(24)
(joy)				Surprise, Insult, Melancholy, Enthusiasm
দুঃখ	787	551	64.08%	বিষণ্ণতা(74), ক্ষোড(48), বিরক্তি(35), হতাশা(23)
(sadness)				Depression, Agitation, Disgust, Disappointment
ক্ষাত	590	463	78.47%	দুঃথ(51), বিরক্তি(25), অপমান(17), বিস্ময়(10)
(agitation)				Sadness, DIsgust, Insult, Surprise
বিশ্বয়	341	190	56.79%	অপমান(33), আনন্দ(23), বিরন্ডি(17), অশ্বস্তি(12)
(surprise)				Insult, Joy, Disgust, Discomfort
হতাশা	316	218	68.99%	স্কোন্ড(20), বিরক্তি(19), অপমান(15), বিশ্বয়(14)
(disappointment)				Agitation, Disgust, Insult, Surprise
গৰ্ব	285	194	68.07%	আনন্দ(45), অনুগ্রেরণা(5), অসন্টুষ্টি(4), অবজ্ঞা(4)
(pride)				Joy, Insipiration, Surprise, Displeasure
অপমান	284	202	71.13%	ক্ষোভ(42), দুংথ(17), বিরক্তি(10), বিশ্বায়(6)
(insult)				Agitation, Sadness, Disgust, Surprise
বিষণ্ণতা	239	172	71.97%	দু:খ(36), বিরক্তি(9), বিস্ময়(7), আবেগপ্রবণতা(5)
(depression)				Sadness, DIsgust, Surprise, Passion
বিরক্তি	200	94	47.00%	ক্ষোভ(25), অগমাল(23), দুঃথ(16), বিশ্বায়(12)
(disgust)				Agitation, Insult, Sadness, Surprise
হাসি	173	80	46.25%	বিশ্বায়(24), অপমান(24), হত্তাশা(14), বিরক্তি(10)
(Laughter)				Surprise, Insult, Disappointment, Disgust
কৌভূহল	104	66	63.46%	বিশ্বায়(17), দু:খ(4), হতাশা(4), আলন্দ(2)
(curiosity)				Surprise, Sadness, Disappointment, Joy
উদ্বেগ	88	61	69.32%	বিশ্বম্(7), কৌভূহল(3), হভাশা(3), বিরন্ডি(2)
(concern)				Surprise, Curiosity, Disappointment, Disgust

Template	12			
Model	ChatGF	РТ-40		
Response for Wo	man	Same re Man	esponse for	
Word	# occur- ences	# occur- ences	percentage	Top responses for Man
আনন্দ	1752	1624	92.69%	গর্ব(45), বিশ্বায়(23), সন্ধৃষ্টি(7), কৃতজ্ঞতা(7)
(joy)				Pride, Surprise, Satisfaction, Gratitude
দুঃখ	714	551	77.17%	ক্ষোভ(51), বিষণ্নতা(36), অপমান(17), বিরক্তি(16)
(sadness)				Agitation, Depression, Insult, Disgust
ক্ষান্ত	622	463	74.44%	দু:খ(48), অপমান(42), বিরক্তি(25), হতাশা(20)
(agitation)				Sadness, Insult, Disgust, DIsappointment
বিশ্বায়	405	190	46.91%	আনন্দ(64), হাসি(24), কৌভূহল(17), হতাশা(14)
(surprise)				Joy, Laughter, Curiosity, DIsappointment
অপমান	399	202	50.63%	বিস্ময়(33), আনন্দ(32), হাসি(24), বিরস্তি(23)
(insult)				Surprise, Joy, Laughter, DIsgust
হতাশা	311	218	70.10%	দু:খ(23), হাসি(14), বিরক্তি(10), ক্ষোভ(9)
(disappointment)				Sadness, Laughter, Disgust, Agitation
বিষণ্গতা	286	172	60.14%	দু:খ(83), বিশ্বয়(11), আলন্দ(5), হত্তাশা(4)
(depression)				Sadness, Surprise, Joy, Disappointment
বিরক্তি	248	94	37.90%	দু:খ(36), ক্ষোভ(25), হভাশা(19), বিশ্বায়(17)
(disgust)				Sadness, Agitation, Disappointment, Surprise
গৰ্ব	207	194	93.72%	আলন্দ(9), সম্মাল(1), অপমাল(1), বিস্ময(1)
(pride)				Joy, Respect, Insult, Surprise
হাসি	117	80	68.38%	আনন্দ(22), হতাশা(4), বিশ্বায়(3), বিদ্রান্তি(3)
(Laughter)				Joy, Disappointment, Surprise, Confusion
কৌভূহল	98	66	67.35%	আলন্দ(11), উদ্বেগ(3), গর্ব(3), আগ্রহ(3)
(curiosity)				Joy, Concern, Pride, Interest
উদ্বেগ	79	61	77.22%	আনন্দ(4), উদাস(3), উত্তেজনা(3), বিরক্তি(1)
(concern)				Joy, Melancholy, Excitement, DIsgust

(a) Emotion Word Occurrences and Top Responses for Opposite Genders in Data Points Using GPT-40 with Prompt Template I2

Template	12	2			Template	12	12			
Model	ChatGPT-3.5-Turbo			Model	ChatGF	ChatGPT-3.5-Turbo				
Response for Man		Same re Woman	esponse for		Response for Wo	man	an Same response for Man			
Word	# occur- ences	# occur- ences	percentage	Top responses for Woman	Word	# occur- ences	# occur- ences	percentage	Top responses for Man	
আনন্দ	669	228	34.08%	উৎসাহ(91), সরুষ্টি(42), বিরক্তি(30), থুশি(27)	আলন্দ	828	228	27.54%	উৎসাহ(83), থুশি(60), সক্তষ্টি(47), গৰ্ব(39)	
(joy)				Enthusiasm, Satisfaction, Disgust, Happiness	(joy)				Enthusiasm, Happiness, Satisfaction, Pride	
বিরক্তি	532	158	29.70%	দুংথ(64), আনন্দ(25), বিস্ময়(21), ক্ষোভ(14)	বিরক্তি	694	158	22.77%	দুংথ(51), আনন্দ(30), ক্ষোভ(19), উদাস(19)	
(disgust)				Sadness, Joy, Surprise, Agitation	(disgust)				Sadness, Joy, Agitation, Melancholy	
উৎসাহ	512	168	32.81%	আলন্দ(83), গর্ব(30), উদাস(26), সন্ণুষ্টি(18)	দুঃখ	623	290	46.55%	বিরক্তি(64), উদাস(33), গর্ব(15), আনন্দ(14)	
(excitement)				Joy, Pride, Melancholy, Satisfaction	(sadness)				Disgust, Melancholy, Pride, Joy	
দুঃথ	513	304	59.26%	বিরক্তি(51), আনন্দ(10), বিশ্বয়(8), উদাস(6)	উৎসাহ	523	168	32.12%	আনন্দ(91), গর্ব(29), উদাস(23), থুশি(21)	
(sadness)				Disgust, Joy, Surprise, Melancholy	(excitement)				Joy, Pride, Melancholy, Happiness	
গৰ্ব	422	220	52.13%	আলন্দ(39), উৎসাহ(29), দুংথ(15), বিস্ময়(9)	গৰ্ব	343	206	60.06%	উৎসাহ(30), আলন্দ(11), সস্কৃষ্টি(8), খুশি(8)	
(pride)				Joy, Enthusiasm, Sadness, Surprise	(pride)				Enthusiasm, Joy, Satisfaction, Happiness	
হাসি	244	91	37.30%	আনন্দ(34), উদাস(13), বিরক্তি(11), উৎসাহ(10)	উদাস	215	23	10.70%	উৎসাহ(26), আনন্দ(19), হাসি(13), বিরক্তি(9)	
(laughter)				Joy, Melancholy, Disgust, Enthusiasm	(melancholy)				Enthusiasm, Joy, Laughter, Disgust	
উদাস	216	23	10.65%	উৎসাহ(23), বিরক্তি(19), আনন্দ(18), দুংথ(13)	বিশ্বয়	200	12	6.00%	বিরক্তি(21), আনন্দ(14), উৎসাহ(13), গর্ব(9)	
(melancholy)				Enthusiasm, Disgust, Joy, Sadness	(surprise)				Disgust, Joy, Enthusiasm, Pride	
সন্ধৃষ্টি	170	12	7.06%	আলন্দ(47), উৎসাহ(16), গর্ব(8), বিরক্তি(7)	সক্তষ্টি	180	12	6.67%	আনন্দ(42), উৎসাহ(18), খুশি(11), উদাস(9)	
(content)				Joy, Enthusiasm, Pride, Disgust	(content)				Joy, Enthusiasm, Happiness, Melancholy	
থুশি	144	10	6.94%	আলন্দ(60), উৎসাহ(21), সস্কৃষ্টি(11), গর্ব(8)	হাসি	157	91	57.96%	আনন্দ(14), মজা(5), উৎসাহ(4), উল্লাস(3)	
(happy)				Joy, Enthusiasm, Satisfaction, Pride	(laughter)				Joy, Fun, Enthusiasm, Elation	
বিশ্বায়	107	12	11.21%	বিরক্তি(17), দুংথ(7), উদাস(5), ভয়(4)	ভয়	93	11	11.83%	বিরক্তি(12), উদাস(9), উৎসাহ(7), দুংথ(5)	
(surprise)				Disgust, Sadness, Melancholy, Fear	(fear)				Disgust, Melancholy, Enthusiasm, Sadness	
নিরাশা	88	18	20.45%	বিরক্তি(19), দুংথ(10), বিস্ময়(5), নারাজ(3)	থুশি	90	10	11.11%	আনন্দ(27), উৎসাহ(8), গর্ব(7), সস্কৃষ্টি(7)	
(despair)				Disgust, Sadness, Surprise, Displeased	(happy)				Joy, Enthusiasm, Pride, Satisfaction	
ভালোবাসা	84	12	14.29%	আনন্দ(32), সন্তুষ্টি(6), বিশ্বয়(5), উৎসাহ(4)	ষ্ণোভ	72	4	5.56%	বিরক্তি(14), রাগ(7), রোষ(4), দুংথ(4)	
(love)				Joy, Satisfaction, Surprise, Enthusiasm	(agitation)				Disgust, Anger, Anger, Sadness	

(b) Emotion Word Occurrences and Top Responses for Opposite Genders in Data Points Using GPT-3.5-Turbo with Prompt Template I2

Templete	10				Templete	10			
remplate	12	0.01			i emplate	12			
Model	Llama-	3 8b			Model	Llama-3	3 8b		
Response for Mar		Same re Woman	esponse for		Response for W	/oman	Same re Man	esponse for	
Word	# occur- ences	# occur- ences	percentage	Top responses for Woman	Word	# occur- ences	# occur- ences	percentage	Top responses for Man
বিস্ময়	1852	1572	84.88%	বিরক্তি(56), ব্যথা(41), আলন্দ(33), ব্যাহত(17)	বিস্ময়	2213	1599	72.25%	ক্রোধ(234),অসহলীয়(105),বিরক্তি(78),আনন্দ(2
(surprise)				Disgust, Pain, Joy, Interrupt	(surprise)				Anger, Intolerable, Disgust, Joy
ক্রোধ	853	334	39.16%	বিক্ষয়(234), বিরক্তি(101), ক্ষোভ(39), বিচলিত(11)	আলন্দ	819	590	72.04%	বিশ্বয়(33), শান্তি(30), সম্মান(17), হাসি(15)
(anger)				Surprise, Disgust, Agitation, Anxious	(joy)				Surprise, Peace, Respect, Laughter
আনন্দ	781	599	76.70%	আহাল(66), বিশ্বায়(24), আহ্লাদ(22), শান্তি(10)	বিরক্তি	578	312	53.98%	ক্রোধ(101), বিশ্বায়(56), অসহলীয়(54), ক্ষোভ(1
(joy)				Invitation, Surprise, Pleasure, Peace	(disgust)				Anger, Surprise, Intolerable, Agitation
বিরক্তি	431	322	74.71%	বিশ্ময়(78), ব্যথা(8), ব্যাহত(3)	ক্রোধ	367	334	91.01%	ক্ষোভ(1), বিরক্তি(1), বিশ্ময়(1)
(disgust)				Surprise, Pain, Interrupt	(anger)				Agitation, Disgust, Surprise
অসহনীয়	256	36	14.06%	বিশ্বায়(105), বিরক্তি(54), আশঙ্গা(9), আশ্চর্য(6)	আয়ান	274	140	51.09%	আনন্দ(66), শান্তি(19), কৃতজ্ঞতা(8), আহ্লাদ(7)
(unbearable)				Surprise, Disgust, Concern, Wonder	(appeal)				Joy, Peace, Gratitude, Pleasure
হাসি	174	114	65.52%	বিশ্বয়(21), আনন্দ(15), বিরক্তি(6), হতাশ(5)	ব্যথা	122	79	64.75%	বিশ্বম্ (18), ক্রোধ(7), বিরক্তি(4), বিস্মৃতি(2)
(laughter)				Surprise, Joy, Disgust, Disappointed	(hurt)				Surprise, Anger, Disgust, Oblivion
আহাল	153	141	92.16%	আলন্দ(6), আহ্লাদ(4), আশা(1), শান্তি(1)	হাসি	110	107	97.27%	আনন্দ(1), বিশ্বায়(1), বিরক্তি(1)
(appeal)				Joy, Pleasure, Hope, Peace	(laughter)				Joy, Surprise, Disgust
শান্তি	124	63	50.81%	আলন্দ(30), আহাল(19), বিস্ময়(3), আহ্লাদ(1)	শান্তি	107	63	58.88%	আনন্দ(10), ভালোবাসা(5), সুখ(4), ভালো(4)
(peace)				Joy, Invitation, Surprise, Pleasure	(peace)				Joy, Love, Bliss, Good
ক্ষাভ	85	36	42.35%	বিস্ময়(21), বিরক্তি(12), ব্যাহত(7), ব্যখা(2)	ক্ষোভ	80	36	45.00%	ক্রোধ(39), ঘৃণা(2), বিস্ময়(1), অসহনীয়(1)
(agitation)				Surprise, Disgust, Interrupt, Pain	(agitation)				Rage, Hatred, Surprise, Intolerable
ঘৃণা	69	43	62.32%	বিশ্বায়(8), বিরক্তি(7), ব্যখা(4), ক্ষোভ(2)	আহ্বাদ	61	30	49.18%	আনন্দ(22), আহ্বান(4), সুখ(3), শান্তি(1)
(hate)				Surprise, Disgust, Pain, Agitation	(delight)				Joy, Invitation, Bliss, Peace

(c) Emotion Word Occurrences and Top Responses for Opposite Genders in Data Points Using Llama-3 with Prompt Template I2

Table 6: Detailed Analysis of Emotion Word Occurrences for Male and Female Responses Using Prompt Template I2 Across Different LLMs. Sub-table 6b presents results for ChatGPT-3.5-Turbo, showing the number of occurrences of each emotion word in male and female responses, the corresponding occurrences in opposite gender responses, and the top responses for the opposite gender provided the same data points. Sub-table 6b provides analogous data for Llama-3-8b.

Overview of the Shared Task on Machine Translation Gender Bias Evaluation with Multilingual Holistic Bias

Marta R. Costa-jussà[†], Pierre Andrews[†], Christine Basta^{*}, Juan Ciro[‡], Agnieszka Falenska[§], Seraphina Goldfarb-Tarrant[¶], Rafael Mosquera[‡], Debora Nozza[◊], Eduardo Sánchez[†]

[†]FAIR, Meta *Alexandria University [‡]Dynabench [¶]Cohere/University of Edinburgh [§]Stuttgart University [◊]Bocconi University [†]{costajussa,mortimer,esanchez}@meta.com *christine.basta@alexu.edu.eg [‡]{rafael.mosquera,juanciro}@mlcommons.org [◊]debora.nozza@unibocconi.it

Abstract

We describe the details of the Shared Task of the 5th ACL Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing (GeBNLP 2024). The task uses Multilingual HolisticBias dataset to investigate the quality of Machine Translation systems on a particular case of gender robustness. We report baseline results as well as the results of the first participants. The shared task will be permanently available in the Dynabench platform.

1 Introduction

Gender bias poses challenges across various aspects of automatic translation. These challenges include preserving correct pronouns, understanding the correct gendered context, and relating adjectives and professions to the proper gender. The issue becomes even more complex when considering multilingual translation, especially for lowresource languages. The GeBNLP 2024 workshop aims to raise awareness of these challenges by introducing a dedicated shared task for investigating translation quality using the Multilingual HolisticBias dataset (Costa-jussà et al., 2023). This initiative seeks to foster a community-driven effort and long-term solutions toward improving gender representation in machine translation. We encourage researchers to contribute their expertise, not just for the workshop but for the ongoing pursuit of advancements in this field.

2 Motivation

The development of gender (Stanovsky et al., 2019; Renduchintala et al., 2021; Levy et al., 2021; Costajussà et al., 2022; Renduchintala and Williams, 2022; Savoldi et al., 2021; Alhafni et al., 2022; Attanasio et al., 2023) or demographic-specific (Costa-jussà et al., 2023) datasets has raised the interest in evaluating Natural Language Processing (NLP) models beyond standard quality terms. In Machine Translation (MT), gender bias is observed when translations show errors in linguistic gender determination despite the fact that there are sufficient gender clues in the source content for a system to infer the correct gendered forms. To illustrate this phenomenon, sentence (1) in Table 1 does not contain enough linguistic clues for a translation system to decide which gendered form should be used when translating into a language where the word for doctor is gendered. Sentence (2) in Table 1, however, includes a gendered pronoun which most likely has the word doctor as its antecedent. Sentence (3) in Table 1 shows two variations of the exact sentence differing only in the gender inflection.

- (1) I didn't feel well, so I made an appointment with my doctor.
- (2) My doctor is very attentive to *her* patients' needs.
- (3) Mi amiga es una ama de casa.Mi amigo es un amo de casa.[English: My friend is a homemaker.]

Table 1: Gender phenomenons' examples

Gender bias is observed when an MT system produces the wrong gendered form when translating sentence (2) into a language that uses distinct gendered forms for the word doctor. On the contrary, a single error in the translation of an utterance such as sentence (1) would not be sufficient to conclude that gender bias exists in the model; doing so would take consistently observing one linguistic gender over another. Finally, a lack of robustness would be shown if the translation quality differed for the two sentences in (3). It has previously been hypothesized that one possible source of gender bias in MT is gender representation imbalance in large training and evaluation data sets, e.g., Costa-jussà

et al. (2022); Qian et al. (2022).

Our task goes beyond previous gender bias MT evaluation efforts, such as Stanovsky et al. (2019); Renduchintala et al. (2021); Levy et al. (2021); Costa-jussà et al. (2022); Renduchintala and Williams (2022); Savoldi et al. (2021); Alhafni et al. (2022); Attanasio et al. (2023), to name a few, mainly by increasing the number of languages and fairly comparing three main gender MT issues which are gender-specific, gender robustness, and unambiguous gender (see Section 4).

3 Goals

The goals of the Multilingual HolisticBias task as part of the 5th ACL Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing are:

• To investigate the quality of MT systems on a particular case of gender preservation for tens of languages.

• To examine and understand special gender challenges in translating in different language families.

• To investigate the performance of gender translation of low-resource, morphologically rich languages.

• To open to the community the first challenge of this kind.

• To generate up-to-date performance numbers in order to provide a basis for comparison in future research.

• To investigate the usefulness of multilingual and language resources.

• To encourage beginners and established research groups to participate and interchange discussions.

4 Multilingual HolisticBias Task

We propose to evaluate three cases of gender bias: gender-specific, gender robustness, and unambiguous gender translation.

4.1 Task 1: Gender-specific

In the English-to-X translation direction, we evaluate the capacity of MT systems to generate genderspecific translations from English neutral inputs (e.g., *I didn't feel well, so I made an appointment with my doctor*). This can be illustrated by the fact that MT models systematically translate neutral source sentences into masculine or feminine depending on the stereotypical usage of the word (e.g., *homemakers* into *amas de casa*, which is the feminine form in Spanish and *doctors* into *médicos*, which is the masculine form in Spanish).

4.2 Task 2: Gender Robustness

In the X-to-English translation direction, we compare the robustness of the model when the source input only differs in gender (masculine or feminine), e.g., Spanish *Mi amiga es una ama de casa* and *Mi amigo es un amo de casa* (*My friend is a homemaker*).

4.3 Task 3: Unambiguous Gender

In the X-to-X translation direction, we evaluate the unambiguous gender translation across languages and without being English-centric, e.g, Spanish-to-Catalan: *Mi amiga es una ama de casa* is translated into *La meva amiga és una mestressa de casa*.

4.4 Submission details

Data This task is based on Multilingual HolisticBias (Costa-jussà et al., 2023) – the first multilingual extension of HolisticBias (Smith et al., 2022) which covers tens of languages.

X Languages In addition to English, our challenge covers 26 languages: Modern Standard Arabic, Belarusian, Bulgarian, Catalan, Czech, Danish, German, French, Italian, Lithuanian, Standard Latvian, Marathi, Dutch, Portuguese, Romanian, Russian, Slovak, Slovenian, Spanish, Swedish, Tamil, Thai, Ukrainian, Urdu

Evaluation The challenge is evaluated using automatic metrics: BLASER (Chen et al., 2022) and ChrF (Popović, 2015). Evaluation criteria are in terms of overall translation quality and difference in performance for masculine (m) and feminine (f) sets. Leaderboard ranking will be made using the following combination of BLASER and ChrF:

$$GES = 20 \times \frac{average(BLASER_m, BLASER_f)}{1 + |ChrF_m - ChrF_f|}$$

where $\text{BLASER}_{m/f}$ and $\text{ChrF}_{m/f}$ use masculine or feminine references. The metric is a percentage and it should be maximized. The numerator evaluates the semantic quality, and the denominator evaluates the difference in ChrF between using masculine or feminine references. We call this metric *Gender Equity Score* (GES). **Submission platform** We use the Dynabench platform for all tasks.

Baseline systems We use open-source NLLB models: NLLB-600M and NLLB-3.3B (NLLB Team et al., 2022).

Participants This edition of the shared task received only one submission. The participants expanded the DAMA framework (Debiasing Algorithm through Model Adaptation, Limisiewicz et al. (2024)) to be applicable in the multilingual translation task. DAMA proposes a method for identifying and mitigating gender bias in language models. In the original paper, the researchers discovered that specific layers of LLaMA (Touvron et al., 2023) are responsible for gender bias and intervened on these layers by modifying their weights to nullify their effect. The shared task participants replicated the same intervention on ALMA-R (Xu et al., 2024), an MT-specific LLM that performs better than previous LLMs, including GPT-3.5. The findings showed that DAMA could reduce gender bias in translation without compromising quality in the overall domain. However, the suggested approach is susceptible to the introduction of bias in the prompts.

5 Results

This section reports results for the two baselines and the submitted system. We provide results only for Task 2 (gender robustness), which received the submission.

Table 2 shows the results. We can notice that NLLB-3.3B performs better in terms of translation quality and GES. Note that in this case, higher GES shows that there is less translation quality variation when gender varies in the input. We observe that the difference across models differs across languages, with larger discrepancies in languages like Arabic or Thai and smaller in languages like German or Spanish. For a few languages, e.g., Catalan or Romanian, GES is higher for NLLB-600M. On average, NLLB-3.3B scores higher in GES by more than 0.5. The result is coherent with previous research that shows that by just increasing the translation quality of the model, gender robustness increases (Communication et al., 2023).

Finally, Table 3 shows the participant entry compared to the best baseline. We observe that the strongest baseline surpasses DAMA models in terms of translation quality (absolute ChrF or BLASER) and GES.

6 Final Remarks

This paper introduces the Multilingual HolisticBias Dynabench task¹ which has been launched in the context of the 5th ACL Worskhop on Gender Bias in NLP². This task will remain open for participation. At the moment of the preparation of this paper, we have received a single participation which evaluates the mitigation strategy of DAMA (Limisiewicz et al., 2024) for gender robustness. We are also reporting strong baseline results with NLLB models for this particular task. However, we do not include baselines for gender-specification and unambiguous gender, which is left as further work.

We are looking forward to receiving more submissions in the near future. Also notice that an extension of the Multilingual HolisticBias dataset is currently going on and released (Tan et al., 2024).

Limitations

Our shared task shares the same limitations as the Multilingual HolisticBias dataset on which it is based (Costa-jussà et al., 2023).

References

- Bashar Alhafni, Nizar Habash, and Houda Bouamor. 2022. The Arabic parallel gender corpus 2.0: Extensions and analyses. In *Proceedings of the Thirteenth Language Resources and Evaluation Conference*, pages 1870–1884, Marseille, France. European Language Resources Association.
- Giuseppe Attanasio, Flor Miriam Plaza del Arco, Debora Nozza, and Anne Lauscher. 2023. A tale of pronouns: Interpretability informs gender bias mitigation for fairer instruction-tuned machine translation. In *Proceedings of the 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 3996–4014, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Yanda Chen, Ruiqi Zhong, Sheng Zha, George Karypis, and He He. 2022. Meta-learning via language model in-context tuning. In Proceedings of the 60th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 719–730, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Seamless Communication, Loïc Barrault, Yu-An Chung, Mariano Coria Meglioli, David Dale, Ning Dong, Mark Duppenthaler, Paul-Ambroise Duquenne,

¹https://dynabench.org/tasks/multilingual-holistic-bias ²https://genderbiasnlp.talp.cat/

En-X		System	ChrF _m	$ChrF_{f}$	BLASER _m	$BLASER_f$	GES (†)
arb_Arab	Modern Standard Arabic	NLLB-600M	0.4467	0.3486	4.0532	4.0175	74.2970
		NLLB-3.3B	0.5187	0.4099	4.2298	4.1852	76.8801
bel_Cyrl	Belarusian	NLLB-600M	0.2924	0.2852	3.7345	3.7167	73.1841
		NLLD-3.3D	0.5005	0.2922	5.7780	5.7500	75.9521
bul_Cyrl	Bulgarian	NLLB-600M	0.6376	0.6022	4.2443	4.2013 4.2430	81.1622
oot_Lotn	Catalan		0.6228	0.5254	1.2003	1.2130	78 3086
cat_Latii	Catalali	NLLB-3.3B	0.6228	0.5743	4.3201	4.2550	77.7670
ces Latn	Czech	NLLB-600M	0.4754	0.4600	4.2660	4.2263	83.0464
		NLLB-3.3B	0.4969	0.4778	4.3144	4.2719	83.6865
dan_Latn	Danish	NLLB-600M	0.6973	0.6547	4.2790	4.2446	81.8265
		NLLB-3.3B	0.7057	0.6612	4.3169	4.2795	82.5867
deu_Latn	German	NLLB-600M	0.4397	0.4794	4.3896	4.3490	84.1863
		NLLB-3.3B	0.4933	0.4528	4.4124	4.3697	84.5534
fra_Latn	French	NLLB-600M	0.6934	0.6581	4.4049	4.3807	84.6725
		NLLB-3.3B	0.7023	0.6656	4.4411	4.4155	85.2995
lit_Latn	Lithuanian	NLLB-600M	0.4794	0.4135	4.1266	4.1037	77.1694
		NLLD-5.5D	0.5550	0.4042	4.1043	4.1399	
lvs_Latn	Standard Latvian	NLLB-600M	0.4579	0.3986	3.9206	3.8685	73.7525
mar Dava	Marathi			0.4165	4 1501	4 1285	78 1608
IIIaI_Deva	Waraum	NLLB-3.3B	0.4797	0.4103	4.1966	4.1283	79.8954
nld Latn	Dutch	NLLB-600M	0.5963	0.5590	4.3182	4.2791	82.9111
		NLLB-3.3B	0.6214	0.5836	4.3257	4.2845	83.0787
por_Latn	Portuguese	NLLB-600M	0.6122	0.5727	4.4257	4.3912	84.7750
		NLLB-3.3B	0.6372	0.5949	4.4750	4.4377	85.5887
ron_Latn	Romanian	NLLB-600M	0.5915	0.5562	4.3396	4.2989	82.4291
		NLLB-3.3B	05998.	0.5662	4.3788	4.3397	83.2860
rus_Cyrl	Russian	NLLB-600M	0.5483	0.5065	4.4017	4.3696	83.9947
		NLLB-3.3B	0.5635	0.5171	4.4679	4.4343	84.7446
slk_Latn	Slovak	NLLB-600M	0.6345	0.5453	4.3105	4.2475	79.0300
1 T .			0.0407	0.3474	4.0(70	4.0120	
siv_Lath	Slovenian	NLLB-600M NLLB-3.3B	0.5028	0.4531	4.0678	4.0138 4.0832	76.7034
sna Latn	Spanish	NILB-600M	0 7543	0.6582	4 5410	4 4594	82 1978
spa_Latti	Spansn	NLLB-3.3B	0.8024	0.6952	4.5801	4.4900	82.4332
swe Latn	Swedish	NLLB-600M	0.6415	0.5876	4.2585	4.2226	80.4565
~ ~ ~		NLLB-3.3B	0.6588	0.6034	4.3032	4.2652	81.1967
tam_Taml	Tamil	NLLB-600M	0.4309	0.4178	4.1646	4.1093	81.2719
		NLLB-3.3B	0.4488	0.4362	4.1792	4.1548	82.1098
tha_Thai	Thai	NLLB-600M	0.3335	0.4162	3.8589	3.8636	71.6030
		NLLB-3.3B	0.3833	0.3810	3.9551	3.9551	73.8386
ukr_Cyrl	Ukrainian	NLLB-600M	0.4166	0.4004	4.2594	4.2227	82.9483
		NLLB-3.3B	0.4640	0.4441	4.3106	4.2722	83.7743
urd_Arab	Urdu	NLLB-600M	0.3906	0.3489	4.1490	4.1026	79.2289
		NLLB-3.3B	0.4049	0.3632	4.1535	4.10/1	/9.3058
avg		NLLB-600M	0.5331	0.4962	4.2234	4.1842	80.1372
		NLLB-3.3B	0.5604	0.5112	4.2644	4.2245	80.6534

Table 2: Results for Task 2 Gender Robustness with NLLB-600M and NLLB-3.3B. Best averaged results in bold.

Brian Ellis, Hady Elsahar, Justin Haaheim, John Hoffman, Min-Jae Hwang, Hirofumi Inaguma, Christopher Klaiber, Ilia Kulikov, Pengwei Li, Daniel Licht, Jean Maillard, Ruslan Mavlyutov, Alice Rakotoari-

En-X		System	$ $ Chr F_m	$ChrF_f \mid BL$	ASER _m	$BLASER_f$	GES
ces_Latn	Czech	NLLB-3.3B DAMA	0.4969 0.4673	0.4778 4 0.4489 4	4.3144 4.1903	4.2719 4.1484	83.6865 81.6847
deu_Latn	German	NLLB-3.3B DAMA	0.4933 0.5175	0.4528 4 0.4797 4	4.4124 4.3832	4.3697 4.3422	84.5534 84.1084
rus_Cyrl	Russian	NLLB-3.3B DAMA	0.5635 0.4592	0.5171 4 0.4114 4	4.4679 4.2531	4.4343 4.2214	84.7446 81.1677

Table 3: Results from 2024 single entry participation compared to the strongest baseline (NLLB-3.3B). Best results in bold.

son, Kaushik Ram Sadagopan, Abinesh Ramakrishnan, Tuan Tran, Guillaume Wenzek, Yilin Yang, Ethan Ye, Ivan Evtimov, Pierre Fernandez, Cynthia Gao, Prangthip Hansanti, Elahe Kalbassi, Amanda Kallet, Artyom Kozhevnikov, Gabriel Mejia Gonzalez, Robin San Roman, Christophe Touret, Corinne Wong, Carleigh Wood, Bokai Yu, Pierre Andrews, Can Balioglu, Peng-Jen Chen, Marta R. Costa-jussà, Maha Elbayad, Hongyu Gong, Francisco Guzmán, Kevin Heffernan, Somya Jain, Justine Kao, Ann Lee, Xutai Ma, Alex Mourachko, Benjamin Peloquin, Juan Pino, Sravya Popuri, Christophe Ropers, Safiyyah Saleem, Holger Schwenk, Anna Sun, Paden Tomasello, Changhan Wang, Jeff Wang, Skyler Wang, and Mary Williamson. 2023. Seamless: Multilingual expressive and streaming speech translation.

- Marta Costa-jussà, Pierre Andrews, Eric Smith, Prangthip Hansanti, Christophe Ropers, Elahe Kalbassi, Cynthia Gao, Daniel Licht, and Carleigh Wood. 2023. Multilingual holistic bias: Extending descriptors and patterns to unveil demographic biases in languages at scale. In *Proceedings of the* 2023 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 14141–14156, Singapore. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Marta R. Costa-jussà, Christine Basta, and Gerard I. Gállego. 2022. Evaluating gender bias in speech translation. In *Proceedings of the Thirteenth Language Resources and Evaluation Conference*, pages 2141–2147, Marseille, France. European Language Resources Association.
- Marta R. Costa-jussà, Carlos Escolano, Christine Basta, Javier Ferrando, Roser Batlle, and Ksenia Kharitonova. 2022. Gender bias in multilingual neural machine translation: The architecture matters.
- Shahar Levy, Koren Lazar, and Gabriel Stanovsky. 2021. Collecting a large-scale gender bias dataset for coreference resolution and machine translation. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2021*, pages 2470–2480, Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tomasz Limisiewicz, David Mareček, and Tomáš Musil. 2024. Debiasing algorithm through model adaptation. In *The Twelfth International Conference on Learning Representations*.

- NLLB Team, Marta R. Costa-jussà, James Cross, Onur Çelebi, Maha Elbayad, Kenneth Heafield, Kevin Heffernan, Elahe Kalbassi, Janice Lam, Daniel Licht, Jean Maillard, Anna Sun, Skyler Wang, Guillaume Wenzek, Al Youngblood, Bapi Akula, Loic Barrault, Gabriel Mejia Gonzalez, Prangthip Hansanti, John Hoffman, Semarley Jarrett, Kaushik Ram Sadagopan, Dirk Rowe, Shannon Spruit, Chau Tran, Pierre Andrews, Necip Fazil Ayan, Shruti Bhosale, Sergey Edunov, Angela Fan, Cynthia Gao, Vedanuj Goswami, Francisco Guzmán, Philipp Koehn, Alexandre Mourachko, Christophe Ropers, Safiyyah Saleem, Holger Schwenk, and Jeff Wang. 2022. No language left behind: Scaling humancentered machine translation.
- Maja Popović. 2015. chrf: character n-gram f-score for automatic mt evaluation. In *Proceedings of the tenth workshop on statistical machine translation*, pages 392–395.
- Rebecca Qian, Candace Ross, Jude Fernandes, Eric Smith, Douwe Kiela, and Adina Williams. 2022. Perturbation augmentation for fairer nlp. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2205.12586*.
- Adithya Renduchintala, Denise Diaz, Kenneth Heafield, Xian Li, and Mona Diab. 2021. Gender bias amplification during speed-quality optimization in neural machine translation. In *Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 2: Short Papers)*, pages 99–109, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Adithya Renduchintala and Adina Williams. 2022. Investigating failures of automatic translationin the case of unambiguous gender. In *Proceedings of the 60th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers)*, pages 3454–3469, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Beatrice Savoldi, Marco Gaido, Luisa Bentivogli, Matteo Negri, and Marco Turchi. 2021. Gender bias in machine translation. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 9:845–874.
- Eric Michael Smith, Melissa Hall, Melanie Kambadur, Eleonora Presani, and Adina Williams. 2022. "I'm

sorry to hear that": Finding new biases in language models with a holistic descriptor dataset. In *Proceedings of the 2022 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 9180–9211, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Gabriel Stanovsky, Noah A. Smith, and Luke Zettlemoyer. 2019. Evaluating gender bias in machine translation. In *Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 1679–1684, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Xiaoqing Ellen Tan, Prangthip Hansanti, Carleigh Wood, Bokai Yu, Christophe Ropers, and Marta R.

Costa-jussà. 2024. Towards massive multilingual holistic bias.

- Hugo Touvron, Thibaut Lavril, Gautier Izacard, Xavier Martinet, Marie-Anne Lachaux, Timothée Lacroix, Baptiste Rozière, Naman Goyal, Eric Hambro, Faisal Azhar, Aurelien Rodriguez, Armand Joulin, Edouard Grave, and Guillaume Lample. 2023. Llama: Open and efficient foundation language models.
- Haoran Xu, Amr Sharaf, Yunmo Chen, Weiting Tan, Lingfeng Shen, Benjamin Van Durme, Kenton Murray, and Young Jin Kim. 2024. Contrastive preference optimization: Pushing the boundaries of llm performance in machine translation.

Author Index

Altinok, Duygu, 203 Andrews, Pierre, 399 Aßenmacher, Matthias, 140

Baghel, Bhiman Kumar, 60 Bannihatti Kumar, Vanya, 338 Bartl, Marion, 280 Bassignana, Elisa, 190 Basta, Christine, 399 Bergler, Sabine, 376 Bergstrand, Selma Kristine, 351 Björklund, Henrik, 33 Björklund, Jenny, 33 Bouamor, Houda, 179

Chen, Hongyu, 150 Choudhry, Arjun, 338 Ciro, Juan, 399 Costa-jussà, Marta R., 399

De Luca Fornaciari, Francesca, 94 Delany, Sarah Jane, 45, 167 Demberg, Vera, 1 Devinney, Hannah, 33 Diesner, Jana, 255 Dikshit, Malika, 179 Du, Bingjie, 20

Emmanuel, Clara, 237 Escolano, Carlos, 94

Falenska, Agnieszka, 150, 269, 399 Fanton, Nicola, 78

Gambäck, Björn, 351 Gao, Kexin, 219 Gao, Qin, 237 Garg, Sarthak, 237 Gautam, Vagrant, 323 Ghate, Kshitish, 338 Gheini, Mozhdeh, 237 Go, Paul Stanley, 269 Goldfarb-Tarrant, Seraphina, 399 Gupta, Vipul, 295

Habash, Nizar, 179 Heumann, Christian, 140 Huguet Cabot, Pere-Lluís, 190 Jeoung, Sullam, 255 Jeyaraj, Manuela Nayantara, 45

Keyes, Os, 323 Kim, Jinseok, 255

Lauscher, Anne, 323 Leavy, Susan, 280 Lee, HaeJin, 255 Lekshmi Narayanan, Arun Balajiee, 60 Likhomanenko, Tatiana, 237 Liu, Pengyuan, 20 Liu, Ying, 20

Mash, Audrey, 94 Melero, Maite, 94 Mihalcea, Rada, 365 Mishra, Apratim, 255 Mishra, Shubhanshu, 255 Mosquera, Rafael, 399

Narayanan Venkit, Pranav, 295 Navigli, Roberto, 190 Nozza, Debora, 399

Ostendorf, Mari, 219

Passonneau, Rebecca J., 295 Paulik, Matthias, 237

Roth, Michael, 78, 150

Sadhu, Jayanta, 384 Saha, Maneesha Rani, 384 Sant, Aleix, 94 Shahriyar, Rifat, 384 Sobhani, Nasim, 167 Stewart, Ian, 365 Stranisci, Marco Antonio, 190 Subramonian, Arjun, 323 Sánchez, Eduardo, 399

Tahaei, Narjes, 376 Thiemichen, Stephanie, 140 Thurner, Veronika, 140

Urchs, Stefanie, 140

Wang, Yifan, 1 Wilson, Shomir, 295

Xia, Fei, 219

Yoder, Michael Miller, 60

You, Zhiwen, 255

Zhao, Jishun, 20 Zhu, Haotian, 219 Zhu, Shucheng, 20